THE SPECIAL FUNCTIONS AND THEIR APPROXIMATIONS

Volume I

MATHEMATICS IN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING
A series of monographs and textbooks
Edited by RICHARD BELLMAN, University of Southern California

A complete list of the books in this series appears at the end of this volume

This is Volume 53 in

THE SPECIAL FUNCTIONS AND THEIR APPROXIMATIONS

Yudell L. Luke

MIDWEST RESEARCH INSTITUTE KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI

VOLUME I



ACADEMIC PRESS New York and London

COPYRIGHT © 1969, BY ACADEMIC PRESS, INC.

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED
NO PART OF THIS BOOK MAY BE REPRODUCED IN ANY FORM,
BY PHOTOSTAT, MICROFILM, OR ANY OTHER MEANS, WITHOUT
WEITTEN PERMISSION FROM THE PUBLISHERS

ACADEMIC PRESS, INC 111 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10003

United Kingdom Edition published by ACADEMIC PRESS, INC (LONDON) LTD Berkeley Square House, London W 1

LIBRARY OF CONCRESS CATALOG CARD NUMBER 68-23498

To My Wife

PREFACE

These volumes are designed to provide scientific workers with a self-contained and unified development for many of the mathematical functions which arise in applied problems, as well as the attendant mathematical theory for their approximations. These functions are often called the special functions of mathematical physics or more simply the special functions.

Although the subject of special functions has a long and varied history, we make no attempt to delve into the many particulars of Bessel functions, Legendre functions, incomplete gamma functions, confluent hypergeometric functions, etc., as these data are available in several sources. We have attempted to give a detailed treatment of the subject on a broad scale on the basis of which many common particulars of the above-named functions, as well as of others, can be derived. Hitherto, much of the material upon which the volumes are based has been available only in papers scattered throughout the literature.

The core of special functions is the Gaussian hypergeometric function ${}_2F_1$ and its confluent forms, the confluent hypergeometric functions ${}_1F_1$ and ψ . The confluent hypergeometric functions slightly modified are also known as Whittaker functions. The ${}_2F_1$ includes as special cases Legendre functions, the incomplete beta function, the complete elliptic functions of the first and second kinds, and most of the classical orthogonal polynomials. The confluent hypergeometric functions include as special cases Bessel functions, parabolic cylinder functions, Coulomb wave functions, and incomplete gamma functions. Numerous properties of confluent hypergeometric functions flow directly from a knowledge of the ${}_2F_1$, and a basic understanding of the ${}_2F_1$ and ${}_1F_1$ is sufficient for the derivation of many characteristics of all the other above-named functions. A natural generalization of the ${}_2F_1$ is the generalized hypergeometric function, the so-called ${}_pF_q$, which in turn is generalized by Meijer's G-function. The theory of the ${}_pF_q$ and the G-function is fundamental in the applications, since they contain as special cases all the commonly used functions of analysis. Further, these functions

PRECACE are the building blocks for many functions which are not members

V111 of the hypergeometric family

The class of hypergeometric series and functions and G-functions considered in these volumes are functions of only a single variable

include basic hypergeometric series, hypergeometric series in two or more variables, and G-functions of two or more variables. These and other possible generalizations have many important applications, but are not taken up here in view of space requirements. Further, the theory of approximations for the above named generalizations analogous to that for functions of a single variable remains to be developed fully

Volume I develops the ${}_{2}F_{1}$, ${}_{1}F_{1}$, ${}_{2}F_{q}$, and the G functions Volume II is mainly concerned with approximations of these functions by series of hypergeometric functions with particular emphasis on expansions in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind, and with the approximations of these functions by the ratio of two polynomials. We call the coefficients in the above Chebyshev polynomial expansions "Chebyshev coefficients" Tables of Chebyshev coefficients for numerous special functions are given in Volume II. There we also present coefficients. sents which enter into rational anoroximations for certain special functions

The present work is primarily intended as a reference tool. However, much of the material can be used as a text for an advanced undergraduate or graduate course in the special functions and their approximations A two-semester course could be based on the material in Chapters I V and selected topics in Chapters VIII-XI The usual mathematical topics up to and including the residue calculus of complex variable theory are a prerequisite Proofs of many of the key results are given in detail or sketched. In a few cases the reader is referred to other sources for proof Often, results are simply stated without proof as they follow essentially from previous results. Thus opportunities for exercises are plentiful

In a work of this type, special precautions have been taken to ensure accuracy of all formulas and tables. It is a pleasure to acknowledge with thanks the valuable assistance rendered by Mrs. Geraldine Coombs and Miss Rosemary Moran in the preparation of the mathematical tables I am particularly grateful to Miss Moran for her assiduous help in proofreading and in preparing the bibliography and indices In spite of all checks imposed to ensure accuracy, it is not reasonable to believe that the text is error-free I would appreciate receiving from readers any criticisms of the material and the identification of any errors

To acknowledge all sources to which some debt is due is virtually

PREFACE ix

impossible. The bibliography is extensive. For a critical reading of a large portion of the manuscript and numerous suggestions leading to improvement of the text I am indebted to my colleagues Dr. Wyman Fair, Dr. Jerry Fields, and Dr. Jet Wimp. It has been most rewarding to have worked with these same colleagues on many technical papers.

Finally, I am pleased to thank the typist, Mrs. Louise Weston, for her painstaking efforts and devotion to detail in the expert preparation of the manuscript.

YUDELL L. LUKE

Kansas City, Missouri October, 1968

CONTENTS

Preface		vii
Contents of Volume II		xv
Intro	Introduction	
1. A	symptotic Expansions	
1.1.	The Order Symbols O and o	1
1.2.	Definition of an Asymptotic Expansion	2 3
1.3.	Elementary Properties of Asymptotic Series	
1.4.	Watson's Lemma	4
11. '	The Gamma Function and Related Functions	
2.1.	Definitions and Elementary Properties	8
2.2.	Analytic Continuation of $\Gamma(z)$	10
2.3.	Multiplication Formula	11
2.4.	The Logarithmic Derivative of the Gamma Function	12
2.5.	Integral Representations for $\psi(z)$ and $\ln \Gamma(z)$	13
2.6.	The Beta Function and Related Functions	15
2.7.	Contour Integral Representations for Gamma and Beta Functions	16
2.8.	Bernoulli Polynomials and Numbers	18
	The D and δ Operators	24
2.10	Power Series and Other Expansions	26
2.11	Asymptotic Expansions	31
m.	Hypergeometric Functions	
3.1.	Elementary Hypergeometric Series	38
3.2.	A Generalization of the ₂ F ₁	41
3.3.		43
3.4.	•	44
3.5.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	48
3.6.	•	57
3.7.	Differential Equations for the 2F1	64
3.8.		67
3.9.	Analytic Continuation	69

CONTENTS

2.10 The Complete Solution

3 11	Kummer Type Relations for the Logarithmic Solutions	85
3 12	Quadratic Transformations	92
3 13	The estF, for Special Values of the Argument	99
IV.	Confluent Hypergeometric Functions	
	** *	
41	Introduction	115
42	Integral Representations	117
43	Elementary Relations for the Confluent Functions	119
44	Confluent Differential Equation	121
4.5	The Complete Solution	124
46	Kummer Type Relations for the Logarithmic Solutions	127
47	Asymptotic Expansions for Large #	129
48	Asymptotic Behavior for Large Parameters and Variable	134
49	Other Notations and Related Functions	154
	The Generalized Hypergeometric Function and the	
•	G-Function	
11	The F. Differential Equation	136
52	The G Function	143
53	Analytic Continuation of G. (2)	148
54	Elementary Properties of the G-Function	149
55	Multiplication Theorems	152
	Integrals Involving G Functions	157
57	Asymptotic Expansion of $G_{x}^{s,1}(z)$ and $G_{x}^{s,0}(z)$ for Large z	178
58		181
59		183
	Asymptotic Expansions of $G_{x,z}^{m}(z)$	189
5 11	Asymptotic Expansions of $_{x}F_{x}(z)$ for Large z	195
VI	Identification of the F and G-Functions with the	
	Special Functions of Mathematical Physics	
61	Introduction	209
62	Named Special Functions Expressed as "F. s	209
63	The F. Expressed as a Named Function	224
64	Named Functions Expressed in Terms of the G Function	225
65	The G Function Expressed as a Named Function	230
VII	Asymptotic Expansions of Fq for Large Parameters	
71	Introduction	235
72	The *F1	235
73	Some Generalizations of the F Formulas	242
74	Extended Jacobs Polynomials	247

VIII	l. Orthogonal Polynomials	
8.1.	Orthogonal Properties	26
8.2.	Jacobi Polynomials	274
8.3.	Expansion of Functions in Series of Jacobi Polynomials	283
8.4.	Evaluation and Estimation of the Coefficients in the Expansion of a	
	Given Function $f(x)$ in Series of Jacobi Polynomials	280
8.5.	Chebyshev Polynomials	296
8.6.	Differential and Integral Properties of Expansions in Series of	
	Chebyshev Polynomials of the First Kind	314
8.7.	A Nesting Procedure for the Computation of Expansions in Series of	
	Functions Where the Functions Satisfy Linear Finite Difference Equations	325
Bib	liography	330
Note	ation Index	330

Subject Index

CONTENTS

xiii

344

CONTENTS OF VOLUME II

Chapter IX Expansions of Generalized Hypergeometric Functions in Series of Functions of the Same Kind

Chapter X The \(\tau\)-Method

Chapter XI Polynomial and Rational Approximations to Generalized Hypergeometric Functions

Chapter XII Recursion Formulas for Polynomials and Functions Which Occur in Infinite Series and Rational Approximations to Generalized Hypergeometric Functions

Chapter XIII Polynomial and Rational Approximations for $E(z) = {}_{2}F_{1}(1, \sigma; \rho + 1; -1/z)$

Chapter XIV Polynomial and Rational Approximations for the Incomplete Gamma Function

Chapter XV Trapezoidal Rule Integration Formulas

Chapter XVI Applications

Chapter XVII Tables of Coefficients

Bibliography

NOTATION INDEX

Subject Index to Volumes I and II

INTRODUCTION

To indicate the extent and scope of the present work, and to identify its point of view, a synopsis of the chapters is presented.

Chapter I is devoted to the elements of asymptotic expansions, while Chapter II takes up the gamma function and related functions. The ${}_2F_1$ is studied in Chapter III. There the ${}_pF_q$ is also introduced because many results valid for the ${}_pF_q$ are merely a notational change of results for the ${}_2F_1$. This chapter contains two special features. One is a section on the confluence principle giving conditions so that nontrivial results known for a ${}_pF_q$ can be readily extended to deduce results for an ${}_rF_s$, $r \leq p$, $s \leq q$. The other feature is the development of Kummer-type relations for the logarithmic solutions of the differential equation satisfied by the ${}_2F_1$, quadratic transformation formulas associated with the logarithmic solutions and evaluation of these solutions for special values of the argument. The features just noted and other relations appear in book form for the first time. Chapter IV studies confluent hypergeometric functions. It is shorter than Chapter III since many results for the confluent functions readily follow from those for the ${}_nF_1$.

The generalized hypergeometric function ${}_pF_q$ and the G-function are the subject of Chapter V. This is a rather long chapter, and by far and large, most of the material has hitherto been available only in research papers. Topics covered include elementary properties, multiplication theorems, integral transforms of the G-function, series of G-functions, expansion theorems, asymptotic expansions of the G-function, and specialization of these results to the asymptotic expansions of the ${}_pF_q$. Results on the G-function are most important since each expression developed becomes a master or key formula from which many results are readily deduced for the more common special functions.

In the applications it often happens that one might know the name of a special function, for example, Struve's function (we call this a "named function"), and would like to know of its properties. It is, therefore, important to identify Struve's function as a $_1F_2$. More generally, it is convenient to have an index so that a named function can be identified as a $_pF_q$ or as a G-function. On the of

a $_{F_q}$ or a G-function, we would find it helpful to know whether it is one of the well known named special functions. To assist the applied worker, we have compiled a list of formulas which serve to identify the $_{F_q}$ and $_{F_q}$ -function notation with the named special functions. These are presented in Chapter VI. There we also give without proof some key properties of Bessel functions, Lommel functions, and the immorphete gamma function and related functions.

Asymptotic expansions of the pFg for large parameters is the subject of Chapter VII The material selected for this chapter is taken from various research papers and is largely governed by results needed in the development of the approximations studied in Volume II

Key properties of the classical orthogonal polynomials are set forth in Chapter VIII These are given without proof, since almost all the results are special cases of data given for the F, in Chapter III Topics pertinent to the approximation of functions are presented Special emphasis is given to the evaluation and estimation of coefficients in the expansion of a given function in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind. Minimax approximations (that is, best approximations in the Chebyshev sense) are considered and compared with the corresponding truncated expansion in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind. The latter are best in the mean square sense. Differential and integral characteristics of such expansions are enumerated. A nesting procedure is developed to evaluate expeditiously a series of functions where the functions satisfy a linear finite difference equation. Thus, expansions in series of orthogonal polynomials can be evaluated in a manner closely akin to the technique used to sum an ordinary polynomial The differential and integral properties of expansions in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind together with the nesting procedure for their evaluation is most important for the applications, since one can operate with such expansions directly as one does with ordinary polynomials without first converting such expansions to an ordinary polynomial

The first eight chapters constitute Volume I in Volume II, expansions of generalized hypergeometric functions and G-functions in series of functions of the same kind is the subject of Chapter IX. As special cases we defunette expansions of all the common special functions previously noted in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind. These results form the basis for the development of the numerical values of Chebysheve coefficients which are given in Chapter XVII Expansions for many of the special functions in series of Bessel functions are also listed in Chapter IX.

Study of rational approximations begins in Chapter X. There the

 τ -method is introduced and used to get polynomial and rational approximations for the exponential function. For certain values of free parameters, it is shown that the rational approximations coalesce with the approximations which lie on the main diagonal of the Padé table. Padé approximations to the solution of the first-order Riccati equation and to the solution of a generalized second-order Riccati equation are developed. The results for the exponential function are generalized in Chapter XI to get polynomial and rational approximations for the ${}_pF_q$ and for a certain class of G-functions. When p=2, q=1, and one of the numerator parameters is unity, by a special choice of free parameters we recover well-known Padé approximations. These approximations which are equivalent to the truncated continued fractions of Gauss are analyzed in Chapter XIII. Padé approximations for the incomplete gamma functions are detailed in Chapter XIV.

When $p \leqslant q$, the ${}_{p}F_{q}(z)$ series converges for all z. But when p = q + 1, we have convergence only in the unit disk. However, the function for which the $a+1F_0(z)$ series representation is valid only in the unit disk is well defined for all z, $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$. This analytically continued function is also called $_{q+1}F_q(z)$. The polynomial and rational approximations developed for the $_pF_q(z)$ converge for all z when $p \leq q+1$, except that if p=q+1, we must have the restriction $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$. Thus, the approximations in the p=q+1 case converge in a domain where the $_{q+1}F_q(z)$ series deverges. If p>q+1, and the ${}_{p}F_{q}(-z)$ series does not terminate, then it diverges for all $z \neq 0$. In this event, the ${}_{p}F_{q}(-z)$ series is the asymptotic expansion of a certain G-function. If p = q + 2, the approximations converge for $|\arg z| < \pi/2$ (if p = 0 and one of the numerator parameters is unity, we have convergence for $|\arg z| < \pi$), and if p = q + 3, we have convergence for z > 0. The situation for $p \geqslant q + 2$ is not fully understood. Nonetheless, the information available covers a vast number of special functions. We previously remarked that for a special ₂F₁ and its confluent forms, the rational approximations are of the Padé class. Because both the numerator and denominator polynomials of a Padé approximation satisfy the same three-term recurrence formula, it is natural to inquire if our rational approximations for the ${}_{n}F_{n}$ enjoy a similar property. The answer is in the affirmative, and this and related topics are taken up in Chapter XII.

Truncated Chebyshev expansions of Chapter IX are best in the mean square sense, but are not best in the Chebyshev or minimax sense. For virtually all functions of interest in the applications, there is little difference. The Chebyshev coefficients for expansions of the ${}_{p}F_{q}$ and for a certain class of G-functions are members of the hypergeometric

family and asymptotic estimates of these coefficients are available. Thus a priori evaluation of the effectiveness of such approximations is known. In contrast the minimax approximations are not known in closed form except for a few elementary transcendents. Thus, in general finite algorithms for the desired coefficients are not available and so they must be found by an iteration process. Here tabular values of the function being approximated are required A common way of computing certain transcendents is by Taylor series. These are in general only efficient near the point about which the expansion is based. Nontheless, these expansions have the very desirable feature that the (n+1)th approximation follows from the rith approximation plus ample addition. The rational approximations described above have a like characteristic A striking virtue of the Chebyshev coefficients for the $p_{\rm q}^2$ and for a certain class of G-functions is that they obey a recursion formula of finite length (Chapter XII), and further, in virtually all instances this recursion formula when used in the backward direction can produce numerical values of these coefficients in an efficient manner.

For numerous transcendents characterized by definite integrals, use of trapezoidal type integration rules provides an efficient scheme for their computation (Chapter XV)

We have already remarked that expansions in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind can be used in as natural a manner as one uses ordinary polynomial expansions. The same is essentially true for the rational approximations. Our philosophy of approximations is that they should be as widely applicable in nature as possible. They should have application not only for evaluation of the functions and computation of zeros of functions, but they also should be useful to get solutions of differential equations, integral equations, and to invert transforms. The potential of these approximations is illustrated with a number of examples in Chapter XVI

In Chapter or examples in Chapter ATA

In Chapter XVII, we present tables of Chebyshev coefficients for many special functions of both hypergeometric and nonhypergeometric type For a number of special functions of hypergeometric type, coefficients in their rational approximations are presented. Some other kinds of coefficients are also given The set of Chebyshev coefficients is the most complete ever assembled. Many of these as well as virtually all the coefficients in the rational approximations appear here for the first time.

Chapter I ASYMPTOTIC EXPANSIONS

1.1. The Order Symbols O and o

Let z and z_0 be points in a region R of the complex plane. We consider two functions f(z) and g(z) with $g(z) \neq 0$.

If there exists a number A independent of z so that $|f(z)|g(z)| \leq A$ for all z in R, then we say that

$$f(z) = O(g(z))$$
 as $z \to z_0$ in R . (1)

Often, where there is no confusion, we omit the qualifying statement " $z \to z_0$ in R." The point z_0 may be at infinity so that we may have $|z| \to \infty$ with arg z suitably restricted. In illustration, with $f(z) = (1 - \cos z)/z$ and g(z) = z,

$$(1 - \cos z)/z = O(z)$$
 as $z \to 0$.

Also

$$\begin{split} z(1-\sin z) &= O(z) \qquad \text{as} \quad z \to \infty, \quad z \text{ real,} \\ e^{-z} &= O(z^b), \quad 0 < |z| < \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi/2 - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0, \quad b \text{ arbitrary,} \\ e^{-z} &= O(z^b) \quad \text{as} \quad |z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi/2, \quad R(b) \geqslant 0. \end{split}$$

If $\lim f(z)/g(z) \to 0$ as $z \to z_0$ in R, then we say that

$$f(z) = o(g(z))$$
 as $z \to z_0$ in R . (2)

Thus, for a previous example, we have

$$(1-\cos z)=o(z)$$
 as $z\to 0$.

Also

$$e^{-z} = o(z^a)$$
 as $|z| \to \infty$, $|\arg z| \le \pi/2 - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$, a arbitrary.

2

1.2 Definition of an Asymptotic Expansion

It is convenient to first record what it means when a convergent power series represents the function being expanded. If

$$F(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^k, \quad |z| < r,$$
 (1)

$$S_{\mathbf{x}}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} a_k z^k,$$
 (2)

then the series on the right of (1) represents F(z) for each fixed z, $\mid z\mid < r$, in the sense that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} (F(z) - S_n(z)) = 0$$
 (3)

Thus for z fixed, we can approximate F(z) as closely as we desire by $S_n(z)$ with n sufficiently large. Using the order symbols, we have

$$F(z) - S_n(z) = O(z^n)$$
 $|z| \le r - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0$ (4)

$$F(z) - S_n(z) = o(z^{n-1}), \quad z \to 0$$
 (2)

Most always, asymptotic series are of descending type. We define an asymptotic power series representation of F(z) as $z\to\infty$, z in some region R, and write

$$F(z) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k x^{-k}$$
 as $z \to \infty$ in R , (6)

$$S_n(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} a_k z^{-k}, \tag{7}$$

if for n fixed,

$$\lim z^{n-1}R_n(z) = \lim z^{n-1}(F(z) - S_n(z)) = 0$$
 as $z \to \infty$ in R (8)

That is, we can make $|z^{n-1}R_n(z)| < \epsilon$ with ϵ arbitrarily small and z sufficiently large, z in R. Thus for each π fixed, we can approximate F(z) as closely as we desire by taking z sufficiently large, z in R. Alternative notations are

$$F(z) = S_n(z) + O(|z^{-n}|)$$
 as $z \to \infty$ in R , (9)

$$F(z) = S_n(z) + o(|z^{1-\alpha}|)$$
 as $z \to \infty$ in R (10)

In the above F(z) is said to be asymptotic in the Poincaré sense and the a_k 's are the Poincaré coefficients. Asymptotic series are usually divergent, though there is no reason to insist upon this in the definition.

For an illustration, partial integrations show that

$$F(z) = ze^{z} \int_{z}^{\infty} t^{-1}e^{-t} dt = S_{n}(z) + R_{n}(z),$$

$$S_{n}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-)^{k}k! z^{-k},$$

$$R_{n}(z) = (-)^{n}n! ze^{z} \int_{z}^{\infty} t^{-n-1}e^{-t} dt.$$
(11)

The integral for F(z) is defined for all $z, z \neq 0$, $|\arg z| \leq \pi/2$. By rotating the path of integration, see the remarks following 1.4(4), we have

$$F(z) = ze^{z} \int_{z}^{\infty} \exp[i(\theta + \arg z)] t^{-1}e^{-t} dt, \qquad -\pi < \theta < \pi, \quad |\theta + \arg z| < \pi/2.$$
(12)

We see that $R_n(z) = O(|z^{-n}|)$ for $|z| \to \infty$, uniformly in arg z, $|\arg z| \le 3\pi/2 - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$, and so

$$F(z) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k k! \, z^{-k}, \qquad |z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant 3\pi/2 - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0. \quad (13)$$

The asymptotic series is divergent. If z is real and positive, then the error committed when using $S_n(z)$ to approximate F(z) does not exceed in magnitude the last term in $S_n(z)$, and is of opposite sign to this last term. The error is also smaller in magnitude than the first term neglected in the series for F(z), and is of the same sign as this first neglected term.

1.3. Elementary Properties of Asymptotic Series

It is easily shown that if F(z) has an asymptotic expansion in R, it is unique. However, whole classes of functions may have the same asymptotic expansion. To illustrate, in the example 1.2(11), F(z) and $F(z) + e^{-z}$ have the same asymptotic expansion if $|\arg z| < \pi/2$. Of course, F(z) may have a different asymptotic expansion in a region other than R. If as $z \to \infty$ in R,

$$F(z) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^{-k}, \qquad G(z) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_k z^{-k},$$

then as $z \to \infty$ in R,

$$\begin{split} F(z) + G(z) &\sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k x^{-k}, & F(z)G(z) &\sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} d_k x^{-k}, \\ c_k &= c_k + b_k, & d_k &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k b_{n-k} \end{split} \tag{1}$$

A similar result holds for division of F(z) by G(z) provided that $b_0 \neq 0$ Asymptotic expansions may be integrated termwise. If as $z \to \infty$ in R,

$$F(z) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^{-k}$$

then as $z \to \infty$ in R.

$$\int_{t}^{\infty} [F(t) - a_0 - a_1 t^{-1}] dt \sim \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} a_k z^{-k+1} i(k-1)$$
 (2)

If F(z) is differentiable and has the asymptotic expansion as in 1 2(6), and if F'(z) has an asymptotic expansion, then as $z \to \infty$ in R,

$$F'(z) \sim -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k a_k z^{-k-1}$$
 (3)

If F(z) is analytic, the assumption that F'(z) has an asymptotic expansion is not necessary

For proof of (1)-(3), and for a detailed treatment of asymptotic expansions and related topics, see Erdelyt (1956) See also Copson (1965), de Brunjn (1958), Erdelya and Wyman (1963), Evgrafow (1961), Ford (1960), Froman and Froman (1965) Heading (1962), Jeffreys (1962), Lauwener (1966), Oliver (1954), Wasow (1965), Widox (1964), Wyman (1964), and references quoted in these sources

14 Watson's Lemma

In this volume, we do not in general discuss methods for obtaining asymptotic expansions. This is taken up in the references cited. However, it is of interest to examine one special procedure which is applicable when a function is defined by a Laplace integral, since this covers many excess which arise in analysis. The result is known as Mixton's lemma

Lemma 1. Let f(t) satisfy the following two conditions:

(a)
$$f(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k t^{(k/r)-1}, \quad |t| \leqslant c + \delta,$$

where r, c, and & are positive.

(b) There exist positive constants M and b independent of t such that

$$|f(t)| < Me^{bt}, |t| \geqslant c.$$

Then

$$F(z) = \int_0^\infty e^{-zt} f(t) dt \sim \sum_{k=1}^\infty a_k \Gamma(k/r) z^{-k/r},$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \le \pi/2 - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$
(1)

PROOF. We see from the hypotheses that given a fixed positive integer N, we can determine a constant C so that

$$\left| f(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k t^{(k,r)-1} \right| \leqslant C t^{(N+1-r)/r} e^{bt}$$

holds for $t \ge 0$ independent of the above inequalities between t and c. If

$$F(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-zt} a_{k} t^{(k r)-1} dt + R_{N}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_{k} \Gamma(k, r) z^{-(k r)} + R_{N},$$

the result follows once we show that $z^{N/r}R_V \to 0$ as $|z| \to \infty$, $|\arg z| \le \pi/2 - \epsilon$. With z = x + iy,

$$|R_N| = \left| \int_0^\infty e^{-zt} \left| f(t) - \sum_{k=1}^N a_k t^{(k/r)-1} \right| dt \right| \le \int_0^\infty e^{-zt} C t^{(N-1-r)/r} e^{bt} dt$$

$$= \frac{C\Gamma[(N+1)/r]}{(x-b)^{(N-1)/r}}$$

provided that (x - b) > 0. The assumption $|\arg z| \le \pi/2 - \epsilon$ implies that $x \ge |z| \sin \epsilon$. So (x - b) > 0 if $|z| > b \csc \epsilon$, and under these conditions

$$|z^{N_r r} R_N| < \frac{C\Gamma[(N+1)/r]|z|^{N_r r}}{(|z|\sin\epsilon - b)^{(N+1)/r}} = O(z^{-1/r}),$$

and the lemma is proved.

We now state and prove a result very much akin to Watson's lemma which is in a form convenient for numerous applications

Lemma 2. Let g(t) satisfy the following two conditions

(a) g(t) is analytic in the sector | arg t | $< \theta$, and

$$g(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k t^k, \quad \{t\} < r$$

(b) $g(t) = O(e^{bt})$ uniformly in arg t for some b as $|t| \to \infty$ in the sector $|\arg t| < \theta$. Then for

$$F(z) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-zt}t^{\sigma} \frac{1}{2}g(t) dt, \quad R(\sigma) > 0$$

$$F(z) \sim \Gamma(\sigma)z^{-\sigma} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k(\sigma)z^{-k}, \qquad (2)$$

$$\Rightarrow \infty \quad |\arg(z - b)| \leq \pi |2 + \theta - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0$$

PROOF The proof of this statement for $|\arg(z-b)| < \pi/2$ is immediate from Watson's lemma. We now show that the result also holds in the more extended domain as stated. Consider the completely closed contour C which starts from the origin O and proceeds along the real axis to A = (R, 0), R > O, and goes from A to B along a circular arc of radius R with center at the origin, $\arg B = BOA = \varphi, -\theta < \varphi < \theta$, and then returns to O along the straight line BO Clearly the integral whose integrand is that of F(z) around C must vanish. Now along the zer AR.

$$I = \int_{AB} e^{-it} t^{a-1} g(t) dt = tR^{a} \int_{0}^{a} \exp\{-R|z-b| \exp[i[\omega + \arg(z-b)]]\}$$

$$\times e^{i\omega a} \exp\{-Rb^{a} \omega\} d[Re^{i\omega}] d\alpha$$

× c cxp(-noe /g(r

and for
$$R_0>R$$
,
$$|I|\leqslant MR_q^{-s}\int_0^\infty\exp\{-R_0!\,z-b\,|\cos[\omega+\arg(z-b)]\}\,d\omega$$

where M is a constant independent of R_b If $| \varphi + \arg(z - b) < \pi/2$, $l \to 0$ as $R \to \infty$ Hence, as $-\theta < \varphi < \theta$.

$$F(z) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-zt_{\ell} t} \frac{1}{2} \xi(t) dt = \int_{0}^{\infty e^{+z_{\ell}}} e^{-zt_{\ell} t} \frac{1}{2} [t] dt$$

$$= e^{+i\omega} \int_{0}^{\infty} \exp(-zte^{+z}) t^{-1} \xi(te^{+\omega}) dt, \qquad (3)$$

$$R(\phi) > 0 \qquad | \arg(z - b)| \le \pi/2 + \theta - \epsilon, \qquad \epsilon > 0$$

This shows that the domain of validity of the Laplace integral can be extended by rotating the path of integration. The hypotheses of Watson's lemma for the last integral in (3) are satisfied, and so

$$F(z) \sim e^{i\varphi\sigma} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k e^{i\varphi k} \int_0^{\infty} \exp\{-zte^{i\varphi}\} t^{\sigma+k-1} dt$$

which leads to (2).

Note that in the example 1.2(11), if we replace t by z(1 + t), then

$$F(z) = z \int_{0}^{\infty} [e^{-zt}/(1+t)] dt.$$
 (4)

Now $f(t) = (1+t)^{-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k t^k$ if |t| < 1, and so

$$f(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k t^k \quad \text{if} \quad |t| \leqslant \frac{2}{3}.$$

Thus in the notation of Watson's lemma, $a_k = (-)^k$, $c = \frac{1}{2}$, $\delta = \frac{1}{6}$. Also r = 1. If $t \ge \frac{1}{2}$, $f(t) \le \frac{2}{3} < \frac{2}{3}e^{bt}$ and in the notation of Watson's lemma, $M = \frac{2}{3}$ and b > 0, but arbitrarily small. The hypotheses of Watson's lemma are fulfilled and we get 1.2(11) for $|\arg z| \le \pi/2 - \epsilon$, and by rotating the path of integration, see (3), the asymptotic expansion is valid in the extended domain $|\arg z| \le 3\pi/2 - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$.

Chapter II THE GAMMA FUNCTION AND RELATED FUNCTIONS

21, Definitions and Elementary Properties

The gamma function can be defined by Euler's integral

$$\Gamma(z) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t}t^{s-1} dt, \quad R(z) > 0$$
 (1)

or equivalently by the Laplace integral

$$\Gamma(z) = p^z \int_0^\infty e^{-pt} t^{z-1} dt$$
, $R(p) > 0$, $R(z) > 0$, $R(p) = 0$ if $0 < R(z) < 1$ (6)

By rotating the path of integration, see 1 4(3), we have

$$\Gamma(z) = p^z \int_0^{\infty} e^{-pt} t^{s-1} dt$$
 (3)

$$\mid \theta + \arg p \mid < \pi/2, \quad R(z) > 0, \qquad \mid \theta + \arg p \mid = \pi/2 \quad \text{if} \quad 0 < R(z) < 1$$

Partial integration of (1) shows that $\Gamma(z)$ satisfies the difference equation $\Gamma(z+1) = z\Gamma(z)$

 $I'(n+1) = 1 \ 2 \ n = n!$

and since
$$\Gamma(1) = \Gamma(2) = 1$$
.

(4)

(5)

It is convenient to introduce the notation

$$(a)_k = a(a+1) \quad (a+k-1), \quad (a)_k = 1$$
 (6)

Then the formulas

$$(a)_{k} = \Gamma(a+k)/\Gamma(a), \tag{7}$$

$$(a)_{n+k} = (a+n)_k(a)_n, (8)$$

$$(a)_{n-k} = \frac{(-)^{n+k}}{(1-a)_{-n}(1-a-n)_k} = \frac{(-)^k (a)_n}{(1-a-n)_k},$$
(9)

$$(a)_{nk} = k^{nk} \left(\frac{a}{k}\right)_n \left(\frac{a+1}{k}\right)_n \cdots \left(\frac{a+k-1}{k}\right)_n, \tag{10}$$

are easily proved for integer values of n and k. However, (7)-(9) have meaning for general values of n and k so long as the gamma functions involved are defined. The binomial coefficient is defined by

$$\binom{n}{k} = \frac{n!}{k! (n-k)!} = \frac{(-)^k (-n)_k}{k!}.$$
 (11)

 $\Gamma(z)$ can also be defined by the formulas

$$\Gamma(z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{n! \, n^z}{z(z+1) \cdots (z+n)} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{n^z}{z(1+z)(1+\frac{1}{2}z) \cdots (1+z/n)}$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{[(1+1)(1+\frac{1}{2}) \cdots (1+(1/n-1))]^z}{z(1+z/n)[(1+z)(1+\frac{1}{2}z) \cdots (1+(z/n-1))]}$$

$$= z^{-1} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1+1/n)^z (1+z/n)^{-1}, \qquad (12)$$

$$1/\Gamma(z) = ze^{\gamma z} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[(1+z/n)e^{-z/n} \right], \tag{13}$$

where γ is the Euler-Mascheroni constant, and

$$\gamma = \lim_{m \to \infty} a_m, \quad a_m = \sum_{k=1}^m k^{-1} - \ln m.$$
(14)

The a_m 's form a decreasing sequence since

$$a_{m+1} - a_m = \frac{1}{m+1} + \ln\left(1 - \frac{1}{m+1}\right) = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[(n+1)(m+1)^{n+1}\right]^{-1} < 0.$$

If $m \ge 2$, $m^{-1} < \int_{m-1}^{m} t^{-1} dt < (m-1)^{-1}$ and by summation of these inequalities, it follows that $m^{-1} < a_m < 1$. Thus γ exists and $0 < \gamma < 1$. We will prove the equivalence of (1), (12), and (13), but first we note

from the latter that $\Gamma(z)$ is analytic everywhere in the bounded complex plane save for z a negative integer or zero, at which points I'(z) has simple poles The point z = 00 is an essential singularity of I'z From (13),

$$\begin{split} 1/I(z) &= z \lim_{m \to \infty} \left[\exp((1 + \frac{1}{2} + \cdots + 1 / m - \ln m) z) \prod_{n=1}^{m} (1 + z / n) e^{-z / n} \right] \\ &= z \lim_{m \to \infty} \left[m^{-z} \prod_{i=1}^{m} (1 + z / m) \right] \end{split}$$

and this is the reciprocal of the first equality in (12) Thus (12) and (13) are the same If n is a positive integer and R(z) > 0, then repeated integration by parts gives

$$\int_{a}^{n} (1-t,n)^{n} t^{s-1} dt = b_{n}, \quad b_{n} = \frac{n! \, n^{s}}{z(z+1) \, (z+n)}$$

Now

$$\Gamma(z) - b_n = \int_0^n \{e^{-t} - (1 - t^{\prime}n)^n\}^{t^{n-1}} dt + \int_0^\infty e^{-t}t^{n-1} dt,$$

and the second integral approaches 0 as $n \to \infty$ The same is true for the first integral, see Whittaker and Watson (1927, p 242) or Rainville (1960, pp 15-18) Thus the equivalence of (1) and (12) follows

In place of (12) we can also write

$$I(z) = \lim_{x \to z} \frac{(n-1)^{1} n^{2}}{z(z+1) (z+n-1)} = \lim_{n \to z} \frac{(n-1)! n^{2}}{(z)_{n}}$$
(15)

in view of (7), and this implies that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{(n-1)! \, n^s}{I(z+n)} = 1 \tag{16}$$

2.2. Analytic Continuation of I(z)

We now show how values of $\Gamma(z)$ for z in the left half-plane can be deduced from values of $\Gamma(z)$ for z in the right half-plane From 2 1(12) and a known result on an infinite product [see Copson (1955, p. 150)].

$$\{\Gamma(z)\Gamma(-z)\}^{-1} = -z^2 \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (1-z^2/n^2) = -(z/\pi) \sin \pi z,$$

wheree

$$\Gamma(z)\Gamma(-z) = -(\pi/z)\csc\pi z$$

Thus also,

$$\Gamma(z)\Gamma(1-z) = \pi \csc \pi z, \tag{2}$$

$$\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} + z)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - z) = \pi \sec \pi z, \tag{3}$$

$$\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \pi^{1/2}.\tag{4}$$

Further,

$$|\Gamma(n+1+iy)| = \{(\pi y/\sinh \pi y)(1^2+y^2)(2^2+y^2)\cdots(n^2+y^2)\}^{1/2},\tag{5}$$

$$|\Gamma(n+\frac{1}{2}+iy)| = \{(\pi/\cosh \pi y)(\frac{1}{4}+y^2)(\frac{9}{4}+y^2)\cdots[(n-\frac{1}{2})^2+y^2]\}^{1/2}.$$
 (6)

2.3. Multiplication Formula

We now prove that

$$\Gamma(mz) = (2\pi)^{\frac{1}{2}(1-m)} m^{mz-\frac{1}{2}} \prod_{r=0}^{m-1} \Gamma(z+r/m), \tag{1}$$

which for m = 2 is the duplication formula

$$\Gamma(2z) = 2^{2z-1}\Gamma(z)\Gamma(z+\frac{1}{2})/\pi^{\frac{1}{2}} = 2^{2z-1}(1)_{z}(\frac{1}{2})_{z}.$$
 (2)

For the proof, let

$$A(z) = \frac{m^{mz} \prod_{r=0}^{m-1} \Gamma(z + r/m)}{m\Gamma(mz)},$$

and combine this with 2.1(15) to write

$$A(z) = \frac{m^{mz} \prod_{r=0}^{m-1} \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{(n-1)! \ n^{z+r/m}}{(z+r/m)_n}}{m \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{(nm-1)! \ (nm)^{mz}}{(mz)_{nm}}}.$$

Now use 2.1(9) with a = mz and k = m. Thus,

$$A(z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{m^{nm-1}[(n-1)!]^m n^{(m-1)/2}}{(nm-1)!}$$

12

which is independent of z and so a constant. To evaluate the constant, put z = 1/m. Thus,

$$A(1/m) = \prod_{r=0}^{m-1} I^r_1(1+r)/m! = \prod_{r=0}^{m-1} I^r_1(m-r)/m!,$$

$$[A(1/m)]^2 = \prod_{r=0}^{m-1} I^r_1(r/m)I^r_1(1-r/m) = \pi^{m-1} \int_{1-r}^{m-1} \sin(\pi r/m)$$

in view of 2 2(2) Now

$$x^{2n} - 2x^m \cos m\theta + 1 = \prod_{r=1}^{m} \{x^2 - 2x \cos(\theta + 2(r-1)\pi/m) + 1\}$$

since $x = \exp[\pm i(\theta + 2(r-1)\pi/m)]$, r = 1, 2, , m are the (2m) zeros of the left-hand side of the latter equation. Let x = 1. We find that

$$\prod_{r=1}^{m-1} \sin\left(\frac{\theta}{2} + \frac{r\pi}{m}\right) - \frac{m}{2^{m-1}} \left(\frac{\sin m\theta/2}{m\theta/2}\right) \left(\frac{\theta/2}{\sin \theta/2}\right),$$

and so $A(1/m) = (2\pi)^{(m-1)/2} m^{-1/2}$ and (1) follows

2.4. The Logarithmic Derivative of the Gamma Function

This is notated as b(z) Thus.

$$\psi(z) = (d dz) \ln \Gamma(z) = \Gamma(z)/\Gamma(z)$$
 or $\ln \Gamma(z) = \int_{-1}^{2} \psi(t) dt$ (1)

Numerous results for $\psi(z)$ follow by differentiation of formulas for $\Gamma(z)$ Thus from 2 1(12–13),

$$\psi(z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\ln n - \sum_{k=0}^{n} (z+k)^{-1} \right], \tag{2}$$

$$\psi(z) = -\gamma - 1/z + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} z \, k(z+k)$$

$$= -\gamma + (z - 1) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} [(k+1)(z+k)]^{-1}$$
 (3)

Clearly $\psi(z)$ is analytic everywhere in the bounded complex plane except for simple poles at z=0,-1,-2, Also

$$\psi(1) = -\gamma$$
 (4)

The following are easily proved from results for $\Gamma(z)$; we omit details:

$$\psi(z+n) = 1/z + 1/(z+1) + \dots + 1/(z+n-1) + \psi(z),$$

$$n = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
 (5)

$$\psi(1+n) = 1 + \frac{1}{2} + \dots + (1/n) - \gamma. \tag{6}$$

$$\psi(z) - \psi(-z) = -\pi \cot \pi z - 1/z. \tag{7}$$

$$\psi(z) - \psi(1-z) = -\pi \cot \pi z. \tag{8}$$

$$\psi(\frac{1}{2} + z) - \psi(\frac{1}{2} - z) = \pi \tan \pi z. \tag{9}$$

$$\psi(mz) = m^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \psi(z + k/m) + \ln m. \tag{10}$$

With $z = \frac{1}{2}$ and m = 2, the latter gives

$$\psi(\frac{1}{2}) = -\gamma - 2 \ln 2. \tag{11}$$

This is a special case of the formula

$$\psi(p/q) = -\gamma - \ln q - \frac{1}{2}\pi \cot(\pi p/q) + \sum_{n=1}^{\lfloor \frac{1}{4}q \rfloor} \cos(2\pi pn/q) \ln[2 - 2\cos 2\pi n/q],$$
(12)

where p and q are positive integers, 0 . The prime attached to the summation index indicates that if <math>q is even, the last term in the sum is taken with half weight. For proof, see Erdélyi et al. (1953, Vol. 1, p. 19), or Nielsen (1965, Vol. 1, p. 20).

If m and k are positive integers or zero,

$$\lim_{z \to -m} [\psi(z)/\Gamma(z-k)] = (-)^{m+k+1}(m+k)!, \tag{13}$$

$$\lim_{z \to -m} (z)_k (\psi(z+k) - \psi(z)) = (-m)_k (\psi(1+m-k) - \psi(1+m)) \quad \text{if} \quad k \leqslant m$$

$$= (-)^m m! (k-m-1)! \quad \text{if} \quad k > m.$$
(14)

2.5. Integral Representations for $\psi(z)$ and In $\Gamma(z)$

Of numerous integral representations for $\psi(z)$, we prove

$$\psi(z) = \int_0^\infty \left[t^{-1} e^{-t} - (1 - e^{-t})^{-1} e^{-tz} \right] dt, \qquad R(z) > 0, \quad (1)$$

$$\psi(z) = \ln z + \int_0^\infty [t^{-1} - (1 - e^{-t})^{-1}] e^{-tz} dt, \qquad R(z) > 0, \quad (2)$$

$$\psi(z) = \ln z - \frac{1}{2}z^{-1} - \int_0^\infty \left[(e^t - 1)^{-1} - t^{-1} + \frac{1}{2} \right] e^{-tz} dt, \qquad R(z) > 0.$$
 (3)

14

The formula

$$\ln n = \int_{0}^{\infty} (e^{-t} - e^{-nt})t^{-1} dt$$
 (4)

follows by integration of

$$x^{-1} = \int_0^\infty e^{-\epsilon t} dt$$

with respect to x from 1 to π . Use the latter with x=z+k and (4) in 24(2) to get

$$\begin{aligned} \psi(z) &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\{ (e^{-1} - e^{-nt})t^{-1} - \sum_{k=0}^{n} e^{-(t+k)} \right\} dt \right], \\ \psi(z) &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\{ t^{-1}e^{-t} - (1 - e^{-t})e^{-tt} \right\} dt \right] \\ &- \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-nt} \left\{ t^{-1} - (1 - e^{-t})^{-1} e^{-(t+1)} \right\} dt \end{aligned}$$

Here, the first integral is independent of n, and the second integral approaches zero as $n \to \infty$ This proves (1) Now use (4) with n = z and (1) to obtain (2) Equation (3) is a simple rearrangement of (2) Next we prove that

 $\ln \Gamma(z) = (z - \frac{1}{2}) \ln z - z + \frac{1}{2} \ln(2\pi) + \int_{0}^{\infty e^{-\beta}} [(e^{t} - 1)^{-1} - t^{-1} + \frac{1}{2}] t^{-1} e^{-tz} dt,$ $-\pi 2 < \theta < \pi/2 \qquad -(\pi 2 + \theta) < \arg z < \pi/2 - \theta \qquad (5)$

From 24(1) and (3), we get

$$\ln \Gamma(z) = (z - \frac{1}{2}) \ln z - z + 1 + \int_0^\infty h(t) t^{-1} e^{-tz} dt - \int_0^\infty h(t) t^{-1} e^{-t} dt,$$

$$h(t) = [\{e^t - 1\}^{-1} - t^{-1} + \frac{1}{2}]$$

Put $z = \frac{1}{2}$ and use 2 2(4) Let J and I be $\int_0^\infty h(t)e^{-tt} dt$ with $z = \frac{1}{2}$ and z = 1, respectively. Then

$$\frac{1}{2}(\ln \pi - 1) = \int -I = \int_0^{\infty} h(t)t^{-1}e^{-t} dt - \int_0^{\infty} h(t)t^{-1}e^{-t} dt$$

$$= \int_0^{\infty} [h(t) - h(t/2)]t^{-1}e^{-t} dt = \int_0^{\infty} [t^{-1}e^{-t} t - (e^t - 1)^{-1}]t^{-1} dt$$

Hence,

$$J = \int_{0}^{\infty} [t^{-1}(e^{-t/2} - e^{-t}) - \frac{1}{2}e^{-t}]t^{-1} dt$$

$$= -\int_{0}^{\infty} (d dt)[t^{-1}(e^{-t/2} - e^{-t})] dt + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} [e^{-t} - e^{-t/2}]t^{-1} dt$$

Thus in view of (4), $J=(1-\ln 2)/2$ and so $I=1-\frac{1}{2}\ln(2\pi)$ and (5) follows for $\theta=0$. The more general statement obtains by rotating the path of integration. Another expression for $\ln \Gamma(z)$ is

$$\ln \Gamma(z) = (z - \frac{1}{2}) \ln z - z + \frac{1}{2} \ln(2\pi) + 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} [\arctan(t/z)] (e^{2\pi t} - 1)^{-1} dt.$$
 (6)

For proof, see Erdélyi et al. (1953, Vol. 1, p. 22).

2.6. The Beta Function and Related Functions

The beta function is defined by

$$B(\alpha, \beta) = \int_0^1 t^{\alpha-1} (1-t)^{\beta-1} dt, \qquad R(\alpha) > 0, \quad R(\beta) > 0, \tag{1}$$

or in trigonometric form

$$B(\alpha,\beta) = 2 \int_0^{\tau/2} (\sin \theta)^{2\alpha-1} (\cos \theta)^{2\beta-1} d\theta, \qquad R(\alpha) > 0, \quad R(\beta) > 0. \quad (2)$$

Clearly $B(\alpha, \beta) = B(\beta, \alpha)$ and we prove that

$$B(\alpha, \beta) = \Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)/\Gamma(\alpha + \beta). \tag{3}$$

From 2.1(1),

$$\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t}t^{\alpha-1} dt \int_0^\infty e^{-u}u^{\beta-1} du.$$

In the integrands, replace t by x^2 and u by y^2 , and then transfer to polar coordinates with $x = r \cos \theta$, $y = r \sin \theta$. Thus, we can write

$$\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta) = 2\int_0^\infty e^{-r^2} r^{2\alpha+2\beta-1} dr 2 \int_0^{\pi/2} \cos^{2\alpha-1}\theta \sin^{2\beta-1}\theta d\theta$$
$$= \left(\int_0^\infty e^{-t} t^{\alpha+\beta-1} dt\right) B(\beta, \alpha) = \Gamma(\alpha+\beta)B(\beta, \alpha)$$

which proves (1).

Consider $\int_C (z^{-1} - z)^a z^{s-1} dz$ where C is the contour consisting of the semicircle |z| = 1 in the upper half-plane and its diameter with indentations of radius ϵ at the points $z = 0, \pm 1$. Let $\epsilon \to 0$ and get

$$\int_0^{\tau} (\sin t)^3 e^{i\beta t} dt = \frac{\pi e^{\frac{1}{2}i\tau\beta} \Gamma(1+\alpha)}{2^3 \Gamma[1+\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+\beta)] \Gamma[1+\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-\beta)]}, \qquad R(\alpha) > -1, \qquad (4)$$

Now consider $\int_C (z^{-1} + z)^a z^{a-1} dz$ where C is the semicircle |z| = 1 in the right half-plane and its diameter with indentations of radius ϵ at the points z = 0, $\pm \epsilon$ Let $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$ and obtain

$$\int_{\theta}^{\pi/2} (\cos t)^a \cos \beta t \, dt = \frac{\pi I[1 + \alpha)}{2^{a+1}I[1 + \frac{1}{2}(\alpha + \beta)]I[1 + \frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \beta)]},$$

$$R(\alpha) > -1 \qquad (5)$$

27. Contour Integral Representations for

We use the notation $f_{i}^{(9s)}f(t)$ dt to designate a loop integral where the path of integration C starts at σ_{i} energies the origin once in the counter-lockwise direction, and returns to σ_{i} . We suppose that no singularities of f(t) except those at t=0 are within the contour If $\sigma=-R,R>0$, then C may be taken as a line from -R to -r, with $t=ue^{-t}$, the circle $t=rt^{it}$, $-\pi\leqslant\theta\leqslant\pi_{i}$ and the line from -r to -R with $t=ue^{-t}$, if $f(t)=e^{it}r^{it}$.

$$\int_{-\infty}^{(0+)} e^{t} t^{-a} dt = -e^{iau} \int_{-\infty}^{a} e^{-a} u^{-a} du - e^{-iau} \int_{a}^{\infty} e^{-a} u^{-a} du$$

$$- sr^{1-a} \int_{-\infty}^{a} \exp[\tau e^{ia}] e^{ik(1-a)} d\theta$$

If R(x) < 1, the third integral goes to zero with r, and so with the aid of 2 1(1) and 2 2(2), we have

$$[\Gamma(x)]^{-1} = \pi^{-1}(\sin \pi x)\Gamma(1-x) = (2\pi i)^{-1}\int_{0}^{(0+x)} e^{ix-x} dt, \quad |\arg t| \leq \pi \quad (1)$$

Note that each side of the equations in (1) represent entire functions of z. Thus the restriction R(z) < 1 may be dropped and (1) is valid for all z. Replace z by (1-z) in (1) Then

$$2t(\sin \pi x)\Gamma(x) = \int_{0}^{(0+)} e^{t}t^{2-1} dt$$
 $|\arg t| \leq \pi$ (2)

Also

$$2i(\sin \pi z)\Gamma(z) = -\int_{-1}^{(0+)} e^{-z}(-1)^{z-1} dt \quad |\arg(-1)| \leq \pi$$
 (3)

Now consider (2m) ¹ $\int_0^a f(t) dt$ where B is a completely closed contour composed of a line from $c - \iota R$ to $c + \iota R$, c > 0, R > 0, a line from

c+iR to iR, a quarter circle in the upper left half-plane with radius R and center at the origin, the reverse of the contour C described above with $\sigma=-R$, a quarter circle in the lower left half-plane with radius R and center at the origin, and the line from -iR to c-iR.

Again let $f(t) = e^{t}t^{-z}$. Then

$$\int_{c+iR}^{iR} f(t) \, dt = e^{iR} \int_{c}^{0} e^{u} (u + iR)^{-z} \, du$$

which goes to zero as $R \to \infty$, if R(z) > 0. For the integral along the quarter circle in the upper half-plane with $t = Re^{i\theta}$, we get

$$V = -R^{1-z}e^{-i\pi z/2} \int_0^{\pi/2} \exp\{-R\sin\varphi + iR\cos\varphi + i\varphi(1-z)\} \, d\varphi.$$

Now $2/\pi \leqslant (\sin \varphi)/\varphi \leqslant 1$ for $0 \leqslant \varphi \leqslant \pi/2$. Hence with M a positive number independent of R,

$$\begin{split} \mid V \mid & \leqslant M \mid R^{1-z} \mid \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \exp(-R \sin \varphi) \ d\varphi < M \mid R^{1-z} \mid \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \exp(-2R\varphi/\pi) \ d\varphi, \\ \mid V \mid & < \pi M \mid R^{-z} \mid (1 - e^{-R}). \end{split}$$

So if R(z) > 0, the integrals taken round the quarter circles vanish when $R \to \infty$. It follows from Cauchy's theorem that

$$(2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} e^{t} t^{-z} dt = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{-\infty}^{(0+)} e^{t} t^{-z} dt,$$

$$c > 0, \quad |\arg t| \leqslant \pi, \quad 0 < R(z) < 1. \tag{4}$$

From (1) and (4),

$$[\Gamma(z)]^{-1} = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} e^{t} t^{-z} dt, \qquad c > 0, \quad R(z) > 0, \tag{5}$$

where that part of the restriction R(z) < 1 may be dropped by analytic continuation.

The integrals (1)-(3) may be generalized by rotating the path of integration. Thus consider $\int_{-\infty e^{i\delta}}^{(0+)} t^{z-1}e^{-at} dt$ where the initial and final values of arg t are $\delta - \pi$ and $\delta + \pi$, respectively. Then

$$\Gamma(z) = \sigma^{z} (e^{2\pi i z} - 1)^{-1} \int_{-\infty e^{i\delta}}^{(0+)} t^{z-1} e^{-\sigma t} dt,$$

$$\pi/2 - \delta < \arg \sigma < 3\pi/2 - \delta, \quad \delta - \pi \leqslant \arg t \leqslant \delta + \pi, \quad z \neq 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...,$$
(6)

and upon replacing z by (1 - z), we find that for all values of z,

$$2\pi i (\sigma e^{-t\sigma})^{\epsilon-1} [I'(\pi)]^{-1} = \int_{-\infty e^{i\theta}}^{(0+)} t^{-\epsilon} e^{-\epsilon t} dt,$$

$$\pi/2 - \delta < \arg \sigma < 3\pi/2 - \delta, \quad \delta - \pi \le \arg t \le \delta + \pi$$
(7)

Now consider $f_{e-f}(t)$ dit, $f(t) = t^{e-f}(1-t)^{e-1}$, where the contour C starts from a point B on the real axis between t=0 and t=1 and consists of a loop around t=1 in the positive direction, a loop around t=0 in the positive direction, and a loop around t=1 on the negative direction, and a loop around t=0 in the negative direction, so that f(t) returns to B with its initial value. Let the loop around t=1 be the line from B to $1-\rho$, the circle $|t-t|=\rho$, and the line from B to ρ to B, and similarly for the other loops. Let $\rho \to 0$. Then with the notation $\{\rho(f)t\}$ the $\{h^{e+h}e^{-h}e^{-h}f(t)\}$ dive he have

$$B(x, y) = -\frac{e^{-ix(x+y)}}{4\sin \pi x \sin \pi y} \int_{0}^{(1+\theta+1-\theta)} t^{x-1} (1-t)^{y-1} dt,$$
 (8)

provided that neither x nor y is an integer or zero

Similarly, B(x, y) can be represented by single loop integrals. Thus,

$$B(x, y) \approx (2i)^{-1} \csc \pi y \int_{0}^{(1+i)} t^{x-1}(t-1)^{y-1} dt,$$

 $|\arg(t-1)| \leq \pi, \quad R(x) > 0, \quad y \neq 0 \pm 1, \pm 2,$ (9)

$$B(x, y) = -(2t)^{-1} \csc \pi x \int_{1}^{(0+)} (-t)^{y-1} (1-t)^{y-1} dt,$$

 $|\arg(-t)| \le \pi, \quad R(y) > 0, \quad x \ne 0, +1, +2,$ (10)

In (9), let $t = e^{\alpha}$ so that t = 0 corresponds to $-\infty e^{i\alpha}$ with δ real and $|\delta| < \pi/2$. Then

$$B(x, y) = (2i)^{-1} \csc \pi y \int_{-e^{-i\phi}}^{(0+)} e^{\pi x} (e^{y} - 1)^{y-1} dv,$$

 $-\pi/2 < \delta < \pi/2$
 $\delta - \pi < \arg(e^{x} - 1) \le \delta + \pi, \quad R(tx^{i\phi}) > 0 \quad y \ne 1, 2, 3, \quad (11)^{i\phi}$

28. Bernoulli Polynomials and Numbers

The generalized Bernoulli polynomials $B_k^{(a)}(x)$ can be defined by the generating formula

$$\frac{1^{\alpha}e^{\alpha t}}{(\epsilon^{1}-1)^{\alpha}}=\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\frac{t^{k}}{k!}B_{k}^{(\alpha)}(x), \qquad |t|<2\pi$$
 (1)

Since

$$\begin{split} B_k^{(a)}(x) &= \frac{d^k}{dt^k} \left\{ \left(\frac{t}{e^t - 1} \right)^a e^{xt} \right\}_{t = 0} = \sum_{j = 0}^k \binom{k}{j} \left\{ \frac{d^{k-j}}{dt^{k-j}} (e^{xt}) \frac{d^j}{dt^j} \left(\frac{t}{e^t - 1} \right)^a \right\}_{t = 0} \\ &= \sum_{j = 0}^k \binom{k}{j} x^{k-j} \left\{ \frac{d^j}{dt^j} \left(\frac{t}{e^t - 1} \right)^a \right\}_{t = 0} \end{split}$$

it follows that $B_k^{(a)}(x)$ is a polynomial in x of degree k. We write $B_k^{(a)}(0) \equiv B_k^{(a)}$. Thus,

$$B_k^{(a)} = \frac{d^k}{dt^k} \left\{ \left(\frac{t}{e^t - 1} \right)^a \right\}_{t=0}$$

and so $B_k^{(a)}$ is a polynomial in a of degree k.

If a=1, we have the Bernoulli polynomials $B_k^{(1)}(x) \equiv B_k(x)$, and if, further, x=0, we have the Bernoulli numbers $B_k(0) \equiv B_k$. Clearly

$$B_h^{(0)}(x) = x^k$$
 and $B_0^{(a)}(x) = 1$. (2)

The first six generalized Bernoulli polynomials are as follows:

$$B_{0}^{(a)}(x) = 1, B_{1}^{(a)}(x) = x - \frac{a}{2}, B_{2}^{(a)}(x) = x^{2} - ax + \frac{a(3a - 1)}{12},$$

$$B_{3}^{(a)}(x) = x^{3} - \frac{3a}{2}x^{2} + \frac{a(3a - 1)}{4}x - \frac{a^{2}(a - 1)}{8},$$

$$B_{4}^{(a)}(x) = x^{4} - 2ax^{3} + \frac{a(3a - 1)}{2}x^{2} - \frac{a^{2}(a - 1)}{2}x$$

$$+ \frac{a}{240}(15a^{3} - 30a^{2} + 5a + 2),$$

$$B_{5}^{(a)}(x) = x^{5} - \frac{5a}{2}x^{4} + \frac{5a(3a - 1)}{6}x^{3} - \frac{5a^{2}(a - 1)}{4}x^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{a(15a^{3} - 30a^{2} + 5a + 2)}{48}x - \frac{a^{2}(a - 1)(3a^{2} - 7a - 2)}{96},$$

$$B_{6}^{(a)}(x) = x^{6} - 3ax^{5} + \frac{5a(3a - 1)}{4}x^{4}$$

$$- \frac{5a^{2}(a - 1)}{2}x^{3} + \frac{a(15a^{3} - 30a^{2} + 5a + 2)}{16}x^{2}$$

$$- \frac{a^{2}(a - 1)(3a^{2} - 7a - 2)}{16}x$$

$$+ \frac{a(63a^{5} - 315a^{4} + 315a^{3} + 91a^{2} - 42a - 16)}{4032}.$$

For a short table of $B_{2k}^{(2\rho)}(\rho)$, see 2.11(17).

Recall that the Bernoulli polynomials are $B_k^{(1)}(x) \equiv B_k(x)$ Thus,

$$B_0(x) = 1$$
, $B_1(x) = x - \frac{1}{2}$, $B_2(x) = x^2 - x + \frac{1}{4}$,
 $B_1(x) = x^3 - 3x^2/2 + x/2$, $B_2(x) = x^4 - 2x^2 + x^2 - 1/30$,
 $B_2(x) = x^2 - 5x^2/2 + 5x^2/3 - x^4/6$, (4)
 $B_2(x) = x^2 - 3x^2 + 5x^2/2 - x^2/2 + 1/42$

The Bernoulli numbers are $B_k \equiv B_k(0)$ Note that $B_k = 0$ when k is odd. k > 1 Some additional values of the Bernoulli numbers are

$$B_8 = -1/30$$
, $B_{10} = 5/66$, $B_{12} = -691/2730$, $B_{14} = 7/6$. $B_{14} = -3617/510$ (5)

For further tables of Bernoulli polynomials and numbers, see Fletcher et al (1962, pp 65-117) For a detailed study of Bernoulli polynomials and numbers, see Norland (1954, 1961)

Numerous properties of the polynomials follow directly from the generating formula Thus in (1), replace x by (a - x) and t by -t. Then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^k t^k}{k!} B_k^{(a)}(\alpha - x) = \left(\frac{-t}{e^{-t} - 1}\right)^a e^{-t(\alpha - x)} = \frac{t^n e^{xt}}{(e^t - 1)^n}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^k}{k!} B_k^{(a)}(x),$$

and upon equating like powers of t. we have

$$B_{k}^{(a)}(x) = (-)^{k}B_{k}^{(a)}(a-x)$$
 (6)

Upon differentiating both sides of (1) with respect to t, we are led to the recursion formula

$$aB_k^{(a+1)}(x) = (a-k)B_k^{(a)}(x) + k(x-a)B_{k-1}^{(a)}(x)$$
 (7)

The following are easily derived from (7)

$$B_k^{(k+1)}(x) = (x-k)B_{k-1}^{(k)}(x) = (-)^k(1-x)_k$$
 (8)

$$(x)_k = (-)^{k-1}xB_k^{(k)}(-x)$$
 (9)

$$aB_k^{(a+1)}(a) = (a-k)B_k^{(a)}(a)$$
 (10)

and with the aid of (6),

$$aB_k^{(a+1)}(1) = (a - k)B_k^{(a)} = a(-)^kB_k^{(a+1)}(a)$$
 (11)

Multiply (1) by itself with a and x replaced by b and y, respectively, and equate like powers of t. Thus,

$$B_k^{(a+b)}(x+y) = \sum_{r=0}^k {k \choose r} B_{k-r}^{(a)}(y) B_r^{(b)}(x), \qquad (12)$$

$$B_k^{(a)}(x+y) = \sum_{k=0}^k {k \choose r} B_{k-r}^{(a)}(y) x^r, \qquad (13)$$

$$\frac{d^m B_k^{(a)}(x)}{dx^m} = \frac{k!}{(k-m)!} B_{k-m}^{(a)}(x). \tag{14}$$

Let a = k + 1 and y = 0 in (13), and combine with (8) to get

$$(x-1)(x-2)\cdots(x-k) = \sum_{r=0}^{k} {k \choose r} B_{k-r}^{(k+1)} x^r, \tag{15}$$

$$(x)_k x^{-k} = \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} (-)^r {k-1 \choose r} B_r^{(k)} x^{-r}.$$
 (16)

If we subtract (1) from itself with x replaced by x + 1, then

$$\Delta B_k^{(a)}(x) = k B_{k-1}^{(a-1)}(x), \qquad \Delta^m B_k^{(a)}(x) = \frac{k!}{(k-m)!} B_{k-m}^{(a-m)}(x), \tag{17}$$

where Δ is the forward difference operator with respect to x. Hence,

$$B_k^{(a)}(x+y) = \sum_{r=0}^k {k \choose r} B_{k-r}^{(a-r)}(y) x(x-1) \cdots (x-r+1), \qquad (18)$$

$$x^{k} = \sum_{r=0}^{k} {k \choose r} B_{k-r}^{(-r)} x(x-1) \cdots (x-r+1). \tag{19}$$

To obtain a representation for $B_k^{(a)}(x)$ when a is a negative integer, replace k by k + m in (17) and set a = 0. Thus,

$$B_k^{(-m)}(x) = \frac{k!}{(k+m)!} \Delta^m x^{k+m} = \frac{k!}{(k+m)!} \sum_{s=0}^m (-)^s {m \choose s} (x+m-s)^{k+m}. \quad (20)$$

From (14) with m = 1 and k replaced by (k + 1), we have

$$B_{k+1}^{(a)}(x) = (k+1) \int_0^x B_k^{(a)}(t) dt + B_{k+1}^{(a)}.$$
 (21)

22

This is very convenient to generate the Bernoulli polynomials when a is independent of x, provided that the numbers $B_{k+1}^{(a)}$ are readily available We now establish the recurrence formula

$$B_{k+1}^{(a)}(x) = B_1^{(a)}(x)B_k^{(a)}(x) - a \sum_{r=0}^{\lceil (k-1)/2 \rceil} \frac{\binom{k}{2r+1}B_{tr+2}}{(2r+2)}B_{k-2r-1}^{(a)}(x)$$
 (22)

Let

$$g(t) = \frac{t^a}{(e^t - 1)^a} e^{xt}$$

Then upon taking the logarithm of both sides and differentiating, we get a(t) = a(t)h(t).

$$h(t) = x + \frac{a}{t} \left(1 - \frac{t}{1 - c^{-1}} \right) = B_1^{(a)}(x) - a \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{t^{2r+1}B_{2r+2}}{t^{2r} + 2W}$$

since $B_{2r+1} = 0$ if r > 1 Now

$$h(0) = B_1^{(a)}(x), \quad h^{(2s)}(0) = 0 \quad \text{for } s > 0,$$

 $h^{(2s+1)}(0) = -(aB_{2s+2})(2s+2)$ $g^{(s)}(0) = B^{(a)}(x)$

and upon substituting these quantities into

$$g^{(k+1)}(0) = \sum_{k=1}^{k} {k \choose r} h^{(r)}(0)g^{(k-r)}(0),$$

which is Leibnitz's rule, we get (22). As a corollary, we see that when a = 2x, $B_1^{(2x)}(x) = 0$ and so by induction $B_{1k+1}^{(2x)}(x) = 0$ for k = 0, 1, 2, ...,a result which also follows from (6)

From (21) and (17),

$$\int_{x}^{y} B_{k}^{(a)}(t) dt = \left[B_{k+1}^{(a)}(y) - B_{k+1}^{(a)}(x) \right] (k+1), \tag{23}$$

$$\int_{R}^{x+1} B_{x}^{(a)}(t) dt = B_{x}^{(a-1)}(x)$$
(24)

In particular, if a = 1,

$$B_k(x+1) - B_k(x) = kx^{k-1},$$
 (25)

$$\int_{x}^{x+1} B_k(t) dt = x^k \tag{26}$$

Thus from (25) and (6),

$$B_k(1) = B_k = (-)^k B_k, \quad k \ge 2,$$
 (27)

which shows that except for B_1 , the Bernoulli numbers of odd index are zero. It follows from (26) and (23) that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} r^k = \int_0^m B_k(t) \, dt = [B_{k+1}(m) - B_{k+1}]/(k+1). \tag{28}$$

The Bernoulli polynomials may be expressed as a Fourier series. Consider

$$\int_C f(z) dz, \quad f(z) = z^{-k} e^{xz} (e^z - 1)^{-1}, \quad k > 0,$$

where C is a large circle with center at the origin and radius $(2N+1)\pi$, N an integer. The points $z_r=2\pi i r$, $r=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...$ are poles of f(z), and the residue of f(z) at z_r , $r\neq 0$, is $(2\pi i r)^{-k} e^{2\pi i r x}$. From (1) with a=1, the residue at z=0 is $B_k(x)/k!$. So long as $0 \le x \le 1$, the integral around C tends to zero as $N\to\infty$. It follows that

$$B_{2k}(x) = \frac{2(-)^{k+1}(2k)!}{(2\pi)^{2k}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} r^{-2k} \cos 2\pi r x, \qquad k > 0, \ 0 \leqslant x \leqslant 1, \quad (29)$$

$$B_{2k+1}(x) = \frac{2(-)^{k+1}(2k+1)!}{(2\pi)^{2k+1}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} r^{-2k-1} \sin 2\pi r x, \quad k > 0, \ 0 \leqslant x \leqslant 1;$$

$$k = 0, \ 0 < x < 1. \quad (30)$$

Thus,

$$B_{2k+1} = 0, \qquad B_{2k} = \frac{2(-)^{k+1}(2k)!}{(2\pi)^{2k}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} r^{-2k}, \qquad k > 0.$$
 (31)

From (1), we readily deduce that

$$z \cot z = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n 2^{2n} B_{2n}}{(2n)!} z^{2n}, \qquad |z| < \pi,$$
 (32)

$$\frac{\tan z}{z} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n 2^{2n+2} (2^{2n+2} - 1) B_{2n+2}}{(2n+2)!} z^{2n}, \quad |z| < \pi/2, \quad (33)$$

$$z \csc z = 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n (1 - 2^{2n-1}) B_{2n}}{(2n)!} z^{2n}, \qquad |z| < \pi,$$
 (34)

$$\ln \cos z = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n 2^{2n-1} (2^{2n} - 1) B_{2n}}{(2n)! \, n} z^{2n}, \qquad |z| < \pi/2.$$
 (35)

2.9. The D and & Operators

These convenient symbols are defined by

$$\delta = zD$$
, $D = d/dx$ (1)

(2)

The following elementary properties are easily proved

$$\delta_{\cdot} = y^{-1}\delta_{\cdot}$$
 $\delta_{\cdot} = z \, d/dz, \quad z = ax^{-1}$

$$(\delta + a)x^r = x^r(v + a),$$
 $\prod_{i=1}^{p} (\delta + a_i)x^r = x^r \prod_{i=1}^{p} (v + a_i),$ (3)

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} (\delta + \nu + h - 1) f(z) = z^{1-\nu} D^{n}(z^{\nu+n-1}f(z))$$
(4)

Thus from (3)

$$\delta(\delta-1)$$
 $(\delta-n+1)x^{\mu}=x^{\mu}y(\nu-1)$ $(\nu-n+1)=x^{\mu}D^{\mu}x^{\mu}$

which implies that

$$z^{n}D^{n} = \delta(\delta - 1) \quad (\delta - n + 1) \tag{5}$$

The right-hand side of (5) may be interpreted as an algebraic quantity, and with the aid of 2 8(15), we have

$$z^{n}D^{n} = \sum_{r=0}^{n} {n-1 \choose r-1} B_{n-r}^{(n)} \delta^{r} = \sum_{r=0}^{n} {n-1 \choose r} B_{r}^{(n)} \delta^{n-r}$$
 (6)

Using 28(19) and (5), we get

$$\delta^{n} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} {m \choose k} B_{n-k}^{(-k)} z^{k} D^{k} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} {m \choose k} B_{k}^{(k-n)} z^{n-k} D^{n-k}$$
 (7)

Thus,

$$\delta = zD, \quad \delta^2 = z^2D^2 + zD, \quad \delta^3 \approx z^2D^3 + 3z^3D^2 + zD.$$

 $\delta^4 = x^4 D^4 + 6x^2 D^2 + 7x^2 D^2 + xD,$

$$\delta^3 = z^5D^5 + 10z^4D^4 + 25z^2D^3 + 15z^4D^2 + zD,$$

$$\delta^6 = z^5D^6 + 15z^5D^5 + 65z^4D^4 + 90z^2D^3 + 31z^4D^2 + zD.$$
(8)

To compute higher powers of &, write

$$\delta^{a} = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \delta_{k}^{(a)} x^{n-k} D^{a,k}, \quad \delta_{k}^{(a)} = {n \choose k} B_{k}^{(k-n)}$$
(9)

Then operating on both sides of this equation by δ , we find the recursion formula

$$b_k^{(n+1)} = b_k^{(n)} + (n+1-k)b_{k-1}^{(n)}$$
, $b_0^{(n)} = b_{n-1}^{(n)} = 1$, $b_k^{(n)} = 0$ for $k > n$. (10)

It can be readily shown by induction that

$$\prod_{i=1}^{p} (\delta + a_i) = \sum_{m=0}^{p} c_{p,m} z^m D^m, \quad c_{p,m} = \sum_{t=0}^{p-m} {p-t \choose p-t-m} B_{p-t-m}^{(-m)} S_t(a_p),$$

$$c_{p,p} = 1, \quad c_{p,p-1} = \frac{p(p-1)}{2} + S_1(a_p),$$

$$c_{p,p-2} = \frac{p(p-1)(p-2)(3p-5)}{24} + \frac{(p-1)(p-2)}{2} S_1(a_p) + S_2(a_p),$$

$$c_{p,p-3} = \frac{p(p-1)(p-2)^2(p-3)^2}{48} + \frac{(p-1)(p-2)(p-3)^2}{24} S_1(a_p) + \frac{(p-1)(p-2)(p-3)}{24} S_2(a_p) + S_3(a_p),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$c_{p,0} = S_p(a_p),$$

where $S_0(a_p) = 1$, and for m > 0, $S_m(a_p)$ are the symmetric polynomials

$$S_{m}(a_{p}) = \sum a_{t_{m}} a_{t_{m-1}} \cdots a_{t_{1}}, \qquad t_{m} > t_{m-1} > \cdots > t_{1},$$

$$t_{j} \in \{1, 2, \dots, p\}, \qquad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$
(12)

These polynomials may also be implicitly defined by

$$\prod_{i=1}^{p} (x + a_i) = \sum_{m=0}^{p} S_m(a_p) x^{p-m}.$$
 (13)

We can give an alternative representation for the coefficients $c_{p,m}$ in (11). Let $\prod_{i=1}^{p} (\delta + a_i)$ operate on z^x , x independent of z. Then

$$\prod_{i=1}^{p} (x+a_i) = \sum_{m=0}^{p} c_{p,m} x(x-1) \cdots (x-m+1),$$

$$c_{p,m} = (1/m!) \Delta^m \left\{ \prod_{i=1}^{p} (x+a_i) \right\}_{x=0}.$$

Since

$$(1/m!) d^m \left\{ \prod_{i=1}^{n} (x + a_i) \right\}_{n=0} = (1/m!) d^m \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{n} S_{p-n}(a_p) z^i \right\}_{p=0}$$

$$= 1/m! \sum_{i=0}^{n} S_{p-n}(a_p) \left\{ (-)^m \sum_{i=0}^{n} [((-m)_p/r!)^{p}] \right\}_{n=0}$$

in view of 2 8(20), we have

$$c_{p,m} = \frac{(-)^m}{m!} \sum_{r=0}^m \frac{(-m)_r}{r!} \sum_{j=0}^p a_p \, f^j = \frac{(-)^m}{m!} \sum_{r=0}^m \frac{(-m)_r}{r!} \prod_{i=1}^p (r+a_i), \tag{14}$$

$$c_{p,m} = \frac{(-)^m}{m!} \left(\prod_{i=1}^p a_i \right)_{p+1} F_p \left(-m, 1+a_p \mid 1 \right),$$

in the notation of 3 2(1) Since $\Delta^m x^p = 0$ for m > p,

$$_{p+1}F_{p}\left(\frac{-m, 1+a_{p}}{a_{-}} | 1 \right) = 0, \quad m > p$$
 (15)

2.10 Power Series and Other Expansions

2 10 1 Power Series Expansions

From the second form of 2 4(3), we have

$$\phi(z+1) = -\gamma + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} {1 \choose k} - \frac{1}{z+k}$$
 (1)

and so by differentiation

$$\phi^{(n)}(z+1) = d^n \phi(z+1)/dz^n = (-)^{n+1} n! \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (z+k)^{-n-1}, \quad n > 0 \quad (2)$$

Thus

$$\ln \Gamma(z+1) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} [(-)^k S_k z^k / k], \quad |z| < 1,$$

$$S_1 = -\phi(1) = \gamma$$
, $S_k = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} r^{-k}$, $k = 2, 3, ,$ (3)

$$\psi(z + 1) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{2} S_{i} z^{k-1}, \quad |z| < 1$$
 (4)

For references to tables of S_k , see Fletcher *et al.* (1962, Vol. 1, p. 84). We note from 2.8(31) that

$$S_{2k} = \frac{(-)^{k+1}(2\pi)^{2k}B_{2k}(0)}{2(2k)!}, \qquad k > 0.$$
 (5)

Thus

$$\psi'(1) = S_2 = \pi^2/6$$
, $S_4 = \pi^4/90$, $S_6 = \pi^6/945$, etc. (6)

The function S_k is a special case of the Riemann zeta function

$$\zeta(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-z}, \qquad R(z) > 1.$$
 (7)

Let

$$1/\Gamma(z+1) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^k, \quad a_0 = 1, |z| < \infty.$$
 (8)

Take the logarithmic derivative of (8) and compare with (3). Then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (k+1)a_{k+1}z^k = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^k\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k S_{k+1} z^k\right),$$

and upon equating like powers of z, we find

$$ra_r = \sum_{k=1}^r (-)^{k+1} S_k a_{r-k} .$$
 (9)

In a similar fashion, if

$$\Gamma(z+1) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_k z^k, \quad b_0 = 1, |z| < 1,$$
 (10)

then

$$rb_r = -\sum_{k=1}^r (-)^{k+1} S_k b_{r-k}.$$
 (11)

Clearly

$$\sum_{k=0}^{r} a_k b_{r-k} = 0, \qquad r \geqslant 1.$$
 (12)

From (10).

$$\Gamma(z+1) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 1/(z+r) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[b_k - (-)^k \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} r^{-k-1} \right] z^k, \quad |z| < m \quad (13)$$

The coefficients a_k and the Taylor series coefficients for I(x+3), which are easily derived from the a_k 's, are given to 20d in Chapter XVII, Table 6 These have been rounded from 25d tables which were developed using the 32d values of S_k given by Peters (1957). The latter 25d tables were then employed with the aid of 84 2(15) to get coefficients for the expansion of I'(x+3) and the reciprocal of I'(x+1) in series of the shifted Chebyshe polynomials of the first kind, valid for $0 \le x \le 1$. These coefficients rounded to 20d are presented in Chapter XVII, Tables 8 and 1, respectively

2 10 2 CHEBYSHEV EXPANSIONS FOR In I'(s) AND ITS DERIVATIVES

Here we apply the developments of 8 4 1(19, 20) [see also Wimp (1961)] to derive expansions for $\ln \Gamma(z)$ and its derivatives in series of shifted Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind. From 2.5(1),

$$\psi^{(m)}(z) = (-)^{m+1} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-zt} t^m (1 - e^{-t})^{-1} dt$$
 $R(z) > 0, m > 0,$ (1)

so that if

$$\psi^{(m)}(x + a) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n^{(m)} T_n^{*}(x), \quad 0 \leqslant x \leqslant 1,$$
 (2)

$$C_n^{(m)} = \epsilon_n \exp[i\pi(n-\frac{1}{2})/2](-2)^{m+1} \mathcal{H}^{\ell}\{t^{m-\frac{1}{2}} \exp[-(2a+1)t](1-e^{-2t})^{-1}, e^{(n/2}, n\}$$

Since

$$(1 - e^{-2t})^{-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} e^{-2kt} + (1 - e^{-2t})^{-1}e^{-2Nt},$$
 (4)

we find that $C_n^{(m)}$ can be represented by the infinite series

$$C_n^{(m)} = -2(-)^n \epsilon_n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_n^{(m)}(a), \quad n+m > 0,$$
 (5)

where

$$\begin{split} f_n^{(a)}(a) &= \frac{d^m}{da^m} \frac{\{[p^* + (p^* - 1)]^{n-1}\}}{\{(p^* - 1)^{n-1}\}}, & p = 2k + 2a + 1, \\ &= \frac{(-)^m(m + n)! 2^{-m-1}}{n! \sinh^{m+1} \theta} F_2 \left\{ \prod_{n = 1}^{m} \frac{m + 1}{n + 1} \left[\frac{1 - \cosh \theta}{2} \right], \\ &= \cosh \theta \end{split}$$

The coefficients $C_n^{(m)}$ are tabulated in Chapter XVII, Table 8, for a=3 and m=0(1)6. We also give coefficients for $\ln \Gamma(x+3)$. It is of interest to briefly describe how these coefficients were obtained. It is readily seen that the series in (5) converges very slowly for n and msmall. Even for moderate n and m the convergence is not too rapid. However, the situation can be remedied in part by use of the Euler-Maclaurin summation formula [see Steffensen (1950)]. In this manner we computed $C_n^{(m)}$ for m=3 and n=6(1)26 to an accuracy of about 28d. To evaluate $C_n^{(m)}$ for m=3 and n=0(1)5, we made use of known values of $\psi^{(3)}(z)$ and its integrals to write six equations involving the above six coefficients. The coefficients $C_n^{(m)}$ for m=0,1,2 and the coefficients for $\ln \Gamma(x+a)$ were evaluated by successive integration of (2) with the aid of 8.6.1(7). The coefficients $C_n^{(m)}$ for m=4,5, and 6 were determined by differentiation of (2) [see 8.6.1(6)]. In all the computations 28d were carried. The integration process produced essentially no loss in the accuracy. However, each step of the differentiation process produced a loss of about three decimals. The coefficients were rounded to 20d for presentation in Chapter XVII, Table 8.

2.10.3. An Expansion for $\Gamma(z+1)$

The following development is due to Lanczos (1964). We start with 2.1(1), replace z by $z + \frac{1}{2}$ and t by $(z + \sigma + \frac{3}{2})(1 - \ln v)$ where σ is arbitrary except as noted below and v is the new variable of integration. Thus,

$$\Gamma(z + \frac{1}{2}) = (z + \sigma + \frac{1}{2})^{z + \frac{1}{2}} \exp[-(z + \sigma + \frac{1}{2})] F(z),$$

$$F(z) = \int_0^c [v(1 - \ln v)]^{z - \frac{1}{2}} v^{\sigma} dv, \quad R(z + \sigma + \frac{1}{2}) > 0.$$
(1)

Next, introduce the transformation

$$v(1 - \ln v) = \cos^2 \theta, \quad dv/d\theta = \sin 2\theta/\ln v$$
 (2)

where v=0, 1, and e correspond to $\theta=-\pi/2$, 0, and $\pi/2$, respectively. Thus,

$$F(z) = \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} \cos^{2z} \theta f(\theta) d\theta, \quad f(\theta) = (2v^{\sigma} \sin \theta) / \ln v, \ R(z + \sigma + \frac{1}{2}) > 0. \quad (3)$$

To compute F(z) in an efficient manner, expand $f(\theta)$ in a Fourier cosine series. This series is simplified since the transcendental equation in (2) implies that v can be written as a convergent power series in $\cos^2 \theta = (1 + \cos 2\theta)/2$, so that only cosine terms of even index appear.

30

In this Fourier series, express $\cos 2k\theta$ in powers of $\cos \theta$ [see 8 5 1(7)] and then use 2 6(5) to get

$$\Gamma(z+1) = (2\pi)^{1/2}(z+\sigma+\tfrac{1}{2})^{n+1}\exp[-(z+\sigma+\tfrac{1}{2})]\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}g_kH_k(z),$$

$$R(z + \sigma + \frac{1}{2}) > 0,$$
 (4)

$$g_k = (2\pi)^{-1} 2e^{a}e_k(-)^k \sum_{r=0}^{k} (-)^r {k \choose r} (k)_r (\frac{e}{r+\sigma+\frac{1}{2}})^{r+\frac{1}{2}},$$

$$\epsilon_0 = 1, \quad \epsilon_k = 2 \quad \text{for } k = 1, 2, ,$$

$$H_0(z) = 1$$
, $H_k(z) = \{(z + 1)_k(z + 1)_{-k}\}^{-1}$

$$= \frac{(-)^k(-z)_k}{(z + 1)_k} = \frac{z(z - 1)}{(z + 1)(z + 2)} \frac{(z - k + 1)}{(z + k)}$$
 (6)

We also have

$$\frac{H_k(z+1)}{H_k(z)} = \frac{(z+1)^3}{(z+1)^2 - k^2}, \quad \frac{H_{k+1}(z)}{H_k(z)} = \frac{z - k}{z+k+1}$$
 (7)

Note that if x is a positive integer, (4) terminates in view of (6) and we find

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-)^{k}(-n)_{k}}{(n+1)_{k}} g_{k} = \frac{(2\pi)^{-1/2} \exp(n+\sigma+\frac{1}{2})n!}{(n+\sigma+\frac{1}{2})^{n+\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(8)

which affords an alternative method for the evaluation of the g_k 's Indeed, in practice we found (8) more efficient than (5) From the asymptotic nature of $\Gamma(z)$ for z large, we deduce that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} g_k = 1 \tag{9}$$

If m (4), we put $z = n - \frac{1}{2}$, then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[(n+\frac{1}{2})_k (n+\frac{1}{2})_{k} \right]^{-1} g_k = \left[2^{-1/2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \right)_n e^{n+\alpha} \right] (n+\alpha)^n, \quad (10)$$

and for n = 0 and n = 1, we have the respective equations

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k g_k = 2^{-1/2} e^{\varphi} \tag{11}$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{k+1} g_k}{4k^2 - 1} = \frac{2^{1/2} e^{\alpha+1}}{4(\alpha + 1)},$$
(1)

which are useful for checking numerical values of the gk's

From the theory of Fourier series [see, for example, Zygmund (1959)], the series for F(z) and hence also for $\Gamma(z+1)$, converges for all z, $R(z+\sigma+\frac{1}{2})>0$. Notice that the infinite series portion of (4) mimics the poles of $\Gamma(z+1)$. That the infinite series is slowly convergent is to be expected for though $\sin\theta/\ln v$ [see (3)] has a limit when $\theta\to -\pi/2$, its derivative there is infinite. The role of σ in the expression for $f(\theta)$ is to smooth out this irregularity. Thus the larger we take $\sigma>0$, the smoother $f(\theta)$ and some of its higher derivatives. The magnitude of the coefficients g_k increase with σ and more terms in the series are required before reaching the stage where the g_k 's fail to diminish rapidly. If we truncate the series nearly where the g_k 's begin to level off, we can expect to achieve good accuracy in the right half-plane. Now the maximum error incurred when $f(\theta)$ is approximated by n terms of its Fourier series, call it $f_n(\theta)$, occurs near $\theta=-\pi/2$, since for this value of θ , $f(\theta)$ fails to be analytic. Thus,

$$r_n = \max|f(\theta) - f_n(\theta)| \sim 2^{1/2} \rho_n$$
, $\rho_n = 2^{-1/2} e^{\sigma} - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-)^k g_k$. (13)

If $S_n(z)$ is the error in the infinite series portion of (4) truncated after n terms, we find that

$$\Gamma(z+1) = (2\pi)^{1/2} (z+\sigma+\frac{1}{2})^{z+\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left[-(z+\sigma+\frac{1}{2})\right] \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} g_k H_k(z) + S_n(z)\right],$$

$$R(z+\sigma+\frac{1}{2}) > 0,$$

$$|S_n(z)| \leq U_n(z), \qquad U_n(z) \sim V_n(z) = \pi \left|\frac{\rho_n \Gamma(z+1)}{\Gamma(z+\frac{1}{2})}\right| \frac{\Gamma(z+\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(z+1)},$$

$$z = R(z) > 0.$$
(14)

This estimate is found to be quite conservative in practice. For $\sigma = 5$, the coefficients g_k are recorded to 20d in Chapter XVII, Table 9. There we also tabulate ρ_n and offer other comments on the accuracy of the approximation to $\Gamma(z+1)$.

2.11. Asymptotic Expansions

If we combine 2.5(5) and 2.8(1), and use Watson's lemma (see 1.4), then with the aid of 2.1(3), we get

$$\ln \Gamma(z) = (z - \frac{1}{2}) \ln z - z + \frac{1}{2} \ln(2\pi) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} B_{2k} [(2k-1)(2k)z^{2k-1}]^{-1} + O(z^{-2n-1}),$$

$$|\arg z| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$
(1)

This is equivalent to

$$\Gamma(z) = e^{-z} z^{z-1} (2\pi)^{1/2} \left[1 + \frac{z^{-1}}{12} + \frac{z^{-2}}{288} - \frac{139z^{-3}}{51840} + O(z^{-4}) \right],$$

$$|z| z z \le \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$
(2)

or

$$\Gamma(z) = (2\pi)^{1/2} \left[\exp \left\{ -z + (z - \frac{1}{2}) \ln z + \frac{z^{-1}}{12} \right\} \right] \left[1 - \frac{z^{-2}}{360} + O(z^{-1}) \right],$$

$$|\arg z| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0$$
(3)

Barnes (1899) and Rowe (1931) have shown that

In
$$I(x + a) = (x + a - \frac{1}{2}) \ln x - x + \frac{1}{2} \ln 2\pi$$

 $+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-)^{k+1}B_{k+1}(a)}{k(k+1)} x^{-k} + O(x^{-n-1}),$ (4)

 $|\arg x| \le \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$

If $a = \frac{1}{2}$, $B_k(a)$ vanishes if k is odd, see 28(6) and

$$\ln \Gamma(x+\frac{1}{2}) = x(\ln x - 1) + \frac{1}{2} \ln 2\pi + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{B_{2k}(\frac{1}{2})}{2k(2k-1)} x^{1-2k} + O(x^{-2n-1}),$$

$$|\arg x| \le \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0$$
(5)

An elementary proof of (4) communicated to me by J L Fields follows From (1), if a is bounded, we can write

$$\ln I(z+a) \sim (z+a-\frac{1}{2}) \ln z - z + \frac{1}{2} \ln 2\pi + (z+a-\frac{1}{2}) \ln \left(1 + \frac{a}{z}\right) - a + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{B_{2i}}{(2k-1)(2k(z+a)^{2k-1})},$$

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \Gamma(z + a) \sim (z + a - \frac{1}{2}) \ln z - z + \frac{1}{2} \ln 2\pi + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-)^{k+1} P_{k+1}(a)}{k(k+1)} z^{-k}$$

uniformly in a, a near zero, for $|\arg(z+a)| \le \pi - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$, where to complete the proof, $P_k(a)$ must be identified as $B_k(a)$ Now

$$\psi(z+a) = (d/dz) \ln \Gamma(z+a) \Rightarrow (d da) \ln \Gamma(z+a)$$

Performing the indicated operations and equation like powers of z, we have $P_0(a)=1$, $P_1(a)=a-\frac{1}{2}=B_1(a)$ and

$$(d da)P_{k}(a) = kP_{k-1}(a)$$

Since $P_k(0) = B_k$, it follows by induction from 2.8(14) that $P_k(a) = B_k(a)$. We have the limiting forms,

$$\lim_{z\to\infty} e^z z^{\frac{1}{2}-z} \Gamma(z) = (2\pi)^{1/2}, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0, \quad (6)$$

$$\lim_{|y| \to \infty} e^{\frac{1}{4}\pi|y|} |y|^{\frac{1}{4}-x} |\Gamma(x+iy)| = (2\pi)^{1/2}, \quad x, y \text{ real.}$$
 (7)

Differentiating (1), (4), and (5), respectively, gives

$$\psi(z) = \ln z - (2z)^{-1} - \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} B_{2k} z^{-2k} / 2k + O(z^{-2n}),$$

$$|\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$
(8)

$$\psi(z+a) = \ln z - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-)^{k+1} B_{k+1}(a)}{k+1} z^{-k-1} + O(z^{-n-1}),$$

$$|\arg z| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$
(9)

$$\psi(z+\frac{1}{2}) = \ln z - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{B_{2k+2}(1/2)}{2k+2} z^{-2k-2} + O(z^{-2n-2}),$$

$$|\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$
(10)

From (2),

$$\frac{\Gamma(z+a)}{\Gamma(z+b)} = z^{a-b} \left[1 + \frac{(a-b)(a+b-1)}{2z} + \frac{(a-b)(a-b-1)}{24z^2} \right]
\times \left\{ 3(a+b-1)^2 - a+b-1 \right\} \left[1 + O(z^{-3}) \right], \qquad (11)$$

$$|\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$

We now present a generalization of (11) due to Tricomi and Erdélyi (1951) [see also Nörlund (1961)]. Thus,

$$\frac{\Gamma(z+a)}{\Gamma(z+b)} = z^{a-b} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \frac{(-)^k B_k^{(a-b+1)}(a)(b-a)_k}{k!} z^{-k} + z^{a-b} O(z^{-N}),$$

$$|\arg(z+a)| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$
(12)

where a and b are bounded complex numbers and $B_k^{(a-b+1)}(a)$ is the generalized Bernoulli polynomial (see 2.8). If b-a=1-N, then (12) is exact. That is, we can ignore the $O(z^{-N})$ term and the restriction on arg z. Further, if b-a is a positive integer m, and $z > \max\{|a|, |b-1|\}$, then with $N \to \infty$ the power series is convergent and sums to $[(z+a)(z+a+1)\cdots(z+a+m-1)]^{-1}$. Thus in this case also, the $O(z^{-N})$ term and the restriction on arg z can be omitted. A convergent factorial expansion for $\Gamma(z+a)/\Gamma(z+b)$ of the same general character as (12) has been given by Nörlund [1961, Eq. (43)].

For the proof of (12) we use 2.7(11) with x = z + a and y = b - a. Then with the aid of 2.6(3) and 2.2(2),

$$\frac{\Gamma(z+a)}{\Gamma(z+b)} = \frac{\Gamma(a+1-b)}{2^{-\alpha}} \int_{-c_0+b}^{(b+1)} e^{itf}(c) dc, \quad f(c) \approx e^{it}(c^{\alpha}-1)^{b-\alpha-1},$$

$$-r/2 < \delta < \sigma < 2 \qquad \delta - \pi \leqslant \arg(c^{\alpha}-1) \leqslant \delta + \pi, \quad (13)$$

$$\arg(z+a) \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0, \quad b-a \neq 1, 2, 3,$$

Now use 2.8(1) to represent f(v) From the discussion in 1.4, Watson's lemma is applicable to the loop integral in (13), and termwise integration with the aid of 2.7(2) leads to (12)

Recently, Fields (1966) has shown that

$$\frac{\Gamma(z + a)}{\Gamma(z + b)} \simeq (z + a - \rho)^{-b} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \frac{B_{2k}^{(2k)}(\rho)(b - a)_{2k}(z + a - \rho)^{-2k}}{(2k)!} + (z + a - \rho)^{a-k}O((z + a - \rho)^{-k}O),$$

$$2\rho = 1 + a - b : \arg(z + a) \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$
(14)

where $B_{2k}^{rep}(\rho)$ is the generalized Bernoulli polynomial (see 2.8) Note that this series is essentially an even one. The proof readily follows from (13), which we rewrite in the form

$$\frac{\Gamma(z + a)}{\Gamma(z + b)} = \frac{\Gamma(2a)}{2\pi i} \int_{-a^{2}}^{(b+c)} e^{iz+a-a)} e^{-2a}h(v) dv,$$

$$h(v) = e^{aa}v^{2a}(e^{a} - 1)^{-2a} = \left[\frac{2\sinh v/2}{a^{2a}}\right]^{-2a},$$
(15)

with the same conditions as in (13) Next employ 2.8(1) to represent h(t) and (14) follows upon application of Watson's lemma and termwise integration

A short enumeration of $B_{2k}^{(t_0)}(\rho)$, which are polynomials in ρ of degree k, follows

$$B_0^{\text{Lol}}(\rho) = 1$$
, $E_1^{\text{Lol}}(\rho) = -\frac{\rho}{6}$ $B_1^{\text{Lol}}(\rho) = \frac{\rho(5\rho + 1)}{60}$,
 $E_1^{\text{Lol}}(\rho) = -\frac{\rho}{904}(35\rho^2 + 21\rho + 4)$,
 $B_0^{\text{Lol}}(\rho) = \frac{\rho}{2160}(175\rho^3 + 210\rho^2 + 101\rho + 18)$ (16)
 $B_0^{\text{Lol}}(\rho) = -\frac{\rho}{166}[385\rho^4 + 770\rho^2 + 671\rho^2 + 286\rho + 48]$,

$$B_{12}^{(2a)}(\rho) = \frac{\rho}{7.86240} \left[1.75175\rho^5 + 5.25525\rho^4 + 7.15715\rho^3 + 5.31531\rho^2 + 2.07974\rho + 331681 \right]$$

To generate further polynomials, use

$$B_{2k}^{(2\rho)}(\rho) = -2\rho \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} \frac{\binom{2k-1}{2r+1} B_{2r+2}}{2r+2} B_{2k-2r-2}^{(2\rho)}(\rho), \tag{17}$$

which is readily derived from 2.8(22).

The formulas (12) and (14) are valid even though $\Gamma(z+a)/\Gamma(z+b)$ has poles at z=-a-n, n a positive integer or zero, if |z| is sufficiently large, $|\arg(z+a)| < \pi$. But the approximation will break down when used for moderate values of z if z is near one of these poles. To obviate this difficulty, use the reflection formula for gamma functions to write

$$\frac{\Gamma(z+a)}{\Gamma(z+b)} = \frac{\sin \pi(z+b)}{\sin \pi(z+a)} \frac{\Gamma(1-z-b)}{\Gamma(1-z-a)},$$

and then use the asymptotic expansion for the ratio of the gamma functions on the right of the latter equation for $|\arg(-z)| \le \pi - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$.

With z = n, a = -x, and b = 1, we get from (12) and (14) useful expressions for the binomial coefficient. Thus (12) gives

$${\binom{x}{n}} \sim \frac{(-)^n n^{-(x+1)}}{\Gamma(-x)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(x+1)_k B_k^{(-x)}}{k! \, n^k},$$

$${\binom{x}{n}} \sim \frac{(-)^n n^{-(x+1)}}{\Gamma(-x)} \left[1 + \frac{(x)_2}{2n} + \frac{(x)_3 (3x+1)}{24n^2} + \frac{(x)_4 (x)_2}{48n^3} + \frac{(x)_5}{5760n^4} (15x^3 + 30x^2 + 5x - 2) + \cdots \right],$$
(18)

and from (14),

$${\binom{x}{n}} \sim \frac{(-)^n (n-x/2)^{-(x+1)}}{\Gamma(-x)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2k}^{(2n)}(\rho)(x+1)_{2k}}{(2k)! (n-x/2)^{2k}}, \qquad \rho = -\frac{x}{2},$$

$${\binom{x}{n}} \sim \frac{(-)^n (n-x/2)^{-(x+1)}}{\Gamma(-x)} \left[1 + \frac{(x)_3}{24(n-x/2)^2} + \frac{(x)_5(5x-2)}{5760(n-x/2)^4} + \frac{(x)_7(35x^2 - 42x + 16)}{29\ 03040(n-x/2)^6} + \cdots \right].$$
(19)

It is clear that (14) is more powerful than (12). In illustration, suppose that we put $x = -\frac{1}{2}$ in (18) and (19). We get the respective equations

$$\pi = \frac{(n!)^4 2^{4n}}{n[(2n)!]^2} \left[1 - \frac{1}{8n} + \frac{1}{128n^2} + \frac{5}{1024n^3} + O(n^{-4}) \right]^2, \qquad n \to +\infty,$$
(20)

$$\pi = \frac{4(a^{1})^{1}2^{4a}}{y((2a)^{1})^{2}} \left[1 - \frac{1}{4y^{2}} + \frac{21}{32y^{2}} - \frac{671}{128y^{4}} + \frac{180323}{2048y^{4}} - \frac{208\,98423}{8192y^{4a}} + \frac{74263\,62705}{65536y^{33}} - \frac{187\,4094\,65055}{262144y^{14}} + O(y^{-10})\right]^{3}, \quad (21)$$

If n = 20, use of the first three terms in (20) gives π with an error of 0.38 10^{-5} If $\pi = 10$, use of the first three terms in (21) gives π with an error of -0 69 10-9, while use of all the terms in (21) gives m with an error of 0.56 10-16

Next we turn to a generalization of (12) Let

$$_{g}h_{g}(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{g} \Gamma(\alpha_{j}z + \alpha_{j}) / \prod_{i=0}^{g} \Gamma(\beta_{i}z + b_{i})$$

 $z \neq -(\alpha_{j} + t)_{j}\alpha_{j}, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., p, \quad i = 0, 1, 2,...,$
(22)

and write

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{2}(p - q) + \sum_{i=0}^{n} b_i - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j, \quad \beta = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j^n \prod_{j=0}^{n} \beta_j^{-q_j},$$

$$\mu = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \beta_i - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j, \quad \nu = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j^{n-1} \prod_{j=0}^{n} \beta_j^{n-k_j},$$
(23)

If $\mu > 0$, there exist computable constants h, such that

$$\rho h_i(z) = (2\pi)^{1/2(p-4)} \beta^i \mu^{4+\alpha} + \{ \sum_{i=1}^{N-4} \frac{1}{I(\mu z + \alpha + 1)} + O\left(\frac{1}{I(\mu z + \alpha + N)} \right) \},$$

$$h_0 = 1, \quad z \neq -(\alpha + N + i)/\mu, \quad z = 0, 1, 2, \quad (24)$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad ^{1} \exists z \neq (s \neq -\epsilon, \epsilon > 0)$$

This may be deduced from (2) [see E M Wright (1935) and Braaksma (1963)] We also have for $\mu > 0$,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{J}_{n}(z) &= \prod_{i=0}^{n} I(1-b_{i}-\beta_{i}z) / \prod_{i=1}^{n} I(1-a_{i}-a_{i}z), \\ &x \neq (1-b_{i}+i)\beta_{i}, \quad j=0,1, \quad q, \quad i=0,1,2, \\ &\beta_{n}(z) &= (2\pi)^{1/(n-2n)}\beta_{1}^{n} x^{n+n} + 1 \\ &\times \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{n} (-)^{i}\beta_{i}I(1-\mu x - \alpha - i) + O(I(1-\mu x - \alpha - K)) \right\}, \end{split}$$

$$z \neq (1 - \alpha - N + i) \mu, \quad i = 0, 1, 2, \quad (25)$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg(-z)| \le \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$

$$\frac{1}{z^{k_{q}}(-z)} = (2\pi)^{1/2(q-p)} \nu \beta^{-z} \mu^{-\mu z + \alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \Gamma(\mu z + 1 - \alpha) \\
\times \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \frac{h_{j}}{(-\mu z + \alpha)_{j}} + O\left(\frac{1}{(-\mu z + \alpha)_{N}}\right) \right\}, \\
z \neq -(1 - b_{j} + i)/\beta_{j}, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., q, \quad (26) \\
z \neq (\alpha + N + i)/\mu, \quad i = 0, 1, 2, ..., \\
|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$

Note that if in ${}_{p}k_{q}(-z)$, b_{j} and a_{j} are replaced by $1-b_{j}$ and $1-a_{j}$, respectively, then $[{}_{p}h_{q}(z)]^{-1}$ obtains.

An important special case occurs when each α_j and β_j is unity. In this event, with an obvious change in notation, let us write

$$pg_{q}(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{p} \Gamma(z + \alpha_{j}) / \prod_{j=0}^{q} \Gamma(z + \rho_{j}),$$

$$p \leq q, \quad \beta = q + 1 - p, \quad \varphi = (\beta - 1)/2 + \sum_{j=1}^{p} \alpha_{j} - \sum_{j=0}^{q} \rho_{j}.$$
(28)

Then there exist computable constants c_k ,

$$c_k \equiv c_k \left(p, q + 1 \, \middle| \, \begin{array}{c} \alpha_p \\ \rho_0, \rho_q \end{array} \right), \qquad c_0 = 1, \tag{29}$$

such that

$${}_{r}g_{q}(z) = (2\pi)^{(1-\beta)/2}\beta^{\beta z-q-\frac{1}{2}} \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} \frac{c_{k}}{\Gamma(\beta z-\varphi+j)} + O\left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta z-\varphi+N)}\right) \right\},$$

$$z \neq -(\alpha_{j}+i), \quad j=1,2,...,p, \quad (30)$$

$$z \neq -(N+i-\varphi)/\beta, \quad i=0,1,2,..., \quad |z| \to \infty,$$

$$|\arg z| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$

The c_k 's can be generated by a recurrence formula, but this investigation is deferred to 5.11.5.

Chapter III HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTIONS

31 Elementary Hypergeometric Series

A vast body of special functions belong to the hypergeometric family or are related to functions of this class. To introduce the subject, we record some well-known elementary expansions. For the exponential function.

$$e^{z} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^{k}}{k!}, \quad |z| < \infty,$$
 (1)

and for the binomial function.

$$(1+z)^{\alpha} = 1 + az + a(\alpha - 1)(z^{2}/2!) + a(\alpha - 1) \quad (a-k+1)(z^{k}/k!) + . \quad |z| < 1,$$

or with the aid of 2 1(7).

$$(1+z)^a = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-a)(-z)^k}{k!}, \quad |z| < 1$$
 (3)

Put a = -1 in (3) and integrate Then

$$z^{-1}\ln(1+z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-z)^k}{k+1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1)_k(1)_k(-z)^k}{(2)_k t!}, \quad |z| < 1$$
 (4)

Again put a = -1 in (3), replace z by z^2 and integrate. Thus,

$$z^{-1} \arctan z = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1)_i (\frac{1}{2})_{i} (-z^i)^k}{(\frac{1}{2})_{i} k!} \qquad z \mid < 1$$
 (5)

Multiply (1) by z a 1 and integrate Then

$$az^{-a}\int_0^a t^{a-1}e^t dt = \sum_{k=0}^\infty \frac{(a)_k z^k}{(a+1)_k k!}, \quad R(a) > 0 \quad |z| < \infty$$
 (6)

In

$$\cos z = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^k z^{2k}}{(2k)!}, \quad |z| < \infty, \tag{7}$$

use 2.1(10) or 2.3(2) to get

$$\cos z = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-z^2/4)^k}{(1/2)_k k!}, \quad |z| < \infty.$$
 (8)

Similarly,

$$z^{-1}\sin z = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-z^2/4)^k}{(3/2)_k k!}, \quad |z| < \infty.$$
 (9)

The Bessel function of the first kind of order ν can be defined by the expansion

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu}}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-z^2/4)^k}{(\nu+1)_k k!}, \qquad |z| < \infty,$$
 (10)

and we immediately see that

$$\cos z = (\pi z/2)^{1/2} J_{-1/2}(z), \quad \sin z = (\pi z/2)^{1/2} J_{1/2}(z).$$
 (11)

In each of the above expansions, the general term is of the form

$$(u)_k(v)_k x^k / (v)_k k! \tag{12}$$

provided we understand that if as in $\cos z$, $(u)_k$ and $(v)_k$ are not present, then these quantities are said to be empty and are treated as unity. Thus for $\cos z$, $x = -z^2/4$ and $w = \frac{1}{2}$. Likewise for z^{-1} arc $\tan z$, $x = -z^2$, u = 1, $v = \frac{1}{2}$, $w = \frac{3}{2}$. In (12), x is called the variable. Also u and v are called numerator parameters while w is a denominator parameter.

The preceding discussion suggests that we consider the form

$$_{2}F_{1}(a, b; c; z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} [(a)_{k}(b)_{k}z^{k}/(c)_{k}k!].$$
 (13)

Often, as a space saver, we write

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z) = {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a,b\\c \end{pmatrix}z$$
, (14)

and where no confusion can arise, we simply refer to the latter as a F_1 . Some authors drop the subscripts attached to F. However, we shall not follow this practice. In illustration,

$$z^{-1}\ln(1+z) = {}_{2}F_{1}(1,1,2,-z),$$
 (15)

$$z^{-1}$$
 arc tan $z = {}_{2}F_{1}(1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{4}, -z^{2})$ (16)

Affixation of the subscripts to F is useful, for it is easy to have a notation for sums of terms like (12) where only one or a numerator term is present or only one or no denominator term is present. Thus,

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a \\ c \end{pmatrix}z\rangle = {}_{2}F_{1}(a,c,z) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \{(a)_{i}x^{i}/(c)_{i}k!\},$$
 (17)

and so

$$ax^{-a}\int_{0}^{t}t^{a-1}e^{t} dt = {}_{1}F_{1}(a, a+1, z)$$
 (18)

Similarly,

$$\Gamma(\nu + 1)(z/2)^{-\nu} f_{\nu}(z) = {}_{0}F_{1}(\nu + 1, -z^{2}/4),$$
 (19)

$$e^z = {}_0F_0(x) = {}_1F_1(a, a, x)$$
 (20)

In the latter formula as well as in (13), if a numerator and denominator parameter coalesce, the parameter can be omitted and the subscripts attached to F are each reduced by unity. Thus,

$$(1 + z)^a = {}_{z}F_1(-a, b, b, -z) = {}_{z}F_0(-a, -z)$$
 (21)

Clearly (13) is symmetric in a and b If a = -m, m a positive integer or zero, then (13) is a polynomial provided e is not a negative integer or zero. Thus

$$_{2}F_{1}(-m,b,c,z) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} [(-m)_{k}(b)_{k}z^{k}/(c)_{k}k!]$$
 (22)

An alternative representation for (22) follows by turning the series around Thus,

$$_{2}F_{1}(-m,b,c,z) = \frac{(b)_{m}(-)^{m}z^{m}}{(c)_{m}} {}_{2}F_{1}(-m,1-m-c,1-m-b,z^{-1}),$$

c not a negative integer or zero (23)

If c is a negative integer or zero, say $c = -\pi$, and if for convenience to

simplify the discussion we suppose that b is not a negative integer or zero, then

$${}_{2}F_{1}(-m,b;-n;z) \quad \text{is not defined if } n < m, \tag{24}$$

$${}_{2}F_{1}(-m,b;-n;z) = {}_{1}F_{0}(b;z) = (1-z)^{-b} \quad \text{if } n = m, \tag{25}$$

$${}_{2}F_{1}(-m,b;-n;z) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(-m)_{k}(b)_{k}z^{k}}{(-n)_{k}k!} + \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \frac{(-m)_{k}(b)_{k}z^{k}}{(-n)_{k}k!}$$

$$= \frac{(n-m)!(b)_{m}z^{m}}{n!} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\frac{-m}{1-m-b} | z^{-1} \right) + \frac{(n-m)!m!(b)_{n+1}(-)^{m+n}z^{n+1}}{n!(n+1)!} \times {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\frac{n+1-m,n+1+b}{n+2} | z \right), \quad \text{if } n > m. \tag{26}$$

3.2. A Generalization of the ₂F₁

Instead of discussing the ${}_2F_1$, ${}_1F_1$, etc., we might just as well study a generalized hypergeometric series with an arbitrary number of numerator and denominator parameters. We therefore consider

$${}_{p}F_{q}(\alpha_{1}, \alpha_{2}, ..., \alpha_{p}; \rho_{1}, \rho_{2}, ..., \rho_{q}; z) = {}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{1}, \alpha_{2}, ..., \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{1}, \rho_{2}, ..., \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} z$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[\prod_{h=1}^{p} (\alpha_{h})_{k} z^{k} / \prod_{h=1}^{q} (\rho_{h})_{k} k! \right]. \qquad (1)$$

The latter is formal in the sense that for the present we do not consider the convergence of the series. This aspect is taken up in 3.3. Where no confusion can arise, we simply refer to (1) as a $_pF_q$. It is often convenient to employ a contracted notation and write (1) in the abbreviated form

$$_{p}F_{q}(\alpha_{p};\rho_{q};z) = _{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix}z = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} [(\alpha_{p})_{k}z^{k}/(\rho_{q})_{k}k!].$$
 (2)

Thus $\Gamma(\alpha_p + k)$ is interpreted as $\prod_{j=1}^p \Gamma(\alpha_j + k)$; $(\alpha_p)_k$ as $\prod_{j=1}^p (\alpha_j)_k$; α_p as $\prod_{j=1}^p \alpha_j$, etc. An empty term is treated as unity so that, for example, if p = 2, $(\alpha_h)_k = 1$ for h > 2. The α_h 's and α_h 's are called numerator and denominator parameters, respectively, and α_h is called the variable. The α_h 's symmetric in its numerator parameters, and likewise in its denominator parameters. If a numerator parameter and a denominator

parameter coalesce, then omit the parameter, whence the ${}_pF_q$ becomes a ${}_p$, ${}_pF_{r-1}$. The ${}_pF_q$ series terminates and, therefore, is a polynomal if a numerator parameter is a negative integer or zero, provided that no denominator parameter is a negative integer or zero. The results 31(23–26) are easily generalized.

$$\sum_{s,i,F_{s+1}} {m \choose c} \frac{\alpha_{\rho_c}}{\rho_c} |z| = \frac{(\alpha_{\rho_c}) - T^{\alpha_s}}{(c)_{\rho}(\rho_c)_{\sigma_c}} \times \prod_{1-m-\alpha_p} \frac{(-1)^{p+s+1}}{z}$$
(3)

where neither c nor any ρ_h is a negative integer or zero. If no ρ_h is a negative integer or zero, if, for convenience, to simplify the discussion, no α_h is a negative integer or zero, and if c is a negative integer or zero, c = -n then

$$_{p+1}F_{q+1}\left(\frac{-m}{n}\frac{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{q}}\left| z\right)$$
 is not defined if $n < m$, (4)

$$_{p+1}F_{q+1}\begin{pmatrix} -m & \alpha_p \\ -n & \rho_q \end{pmatrix}z = _{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_p \\ \rho_q \end{pmatrix}z$$
 if $n=m$ (5)

$${}_{\mathfrak{p}+1}F_{\mathfrak{q}+1}\begin{pmatrix} -m & \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} \\ -n & \rho_{\mathfrak{q}} \end{pmatrix}z\Big) = \frac{(n-m)!(\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}})_mz^m}{n!(\rho_{\mathfrak{q}})_m}$$

$$\times {}_{\mathfrak{e}*2}F_{\mathfrak{p}} \left(-\frac{m}{1} \frac{n+1-m}{1-m-\alpha_{\mathfrak{p}}} \frac{(-)^{\mathfrak{p}+\mathfrak{p}+1}}{2} \right) \\ + \frac{(n-m)^{\mathfrak{p}} m^{\mathfrak{p}}(\alpha_{\mathfrak{p})_{n+1}}(-)^{m+n} z^{n+1}}{n^{\mathfrak{p}}(n+1)^{\mathfrak{p}}(\rho_{\mathfrak{p}+1})}$$

$$n^{n}(n+1)^{n}(p_{q})_{n+1} \times \sum_{p+1}^{n+1} F_{q+1} \binom{n+1-m}{n+2} \binom{n+1+\alpha_{p}}{n+1+p_{q}} z$$
 if $n > m$ (6)

If in (3), we let $\epsilon = -m + \epsilon$ compose the finite sums as indicated, and then let $\epsilon \to 0$, we see that the truncated hypergeometric series (1) may be expressed as a hypergeometric polynomial. That is,

$$y_m \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_p \\ \rho_q \end{pmatrix} z = \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{(\alpha_p)_k z^k}{(\rho_q)_k k!} = \frac{(\alpha_p)_m z^m}{(\rho_q)_m m!} \sum_{k=2}^m F_p \begin{pmatrix} -m & 1 - m - \rho_q & 1 \\ 1 - m - \alpha_p & 1 \end{pmatrix} \frac{(-)^{p+q+1}}{\pi}$$
(7)

where no ρ_A is a negative integer or zero

Thus chapter for the most part deals with the ${}_{2}F_{1}$ The ${}_{1}F_{1}$ and ${}_{3}F_{1}$ cases are the subjects of Chapter IV, while the ${}_{F}F_{2}$ and a generalization of the ${}_{2}F_{2}$ are studied in Chapter V However, in some instances where theorems for a general ${}_{2}F_{2}$ differ essentially from those for a ${}_{2}F_{1}$ by notation only, then we state results for the general case in this chapter

It calls for us to remark that the literature is vast with information on the ${}_2F_1$, ${}_1F_1$, and ${}_0F_1$ cases. Much less can be said for the general ${}_pF_q$, and for this reason one studies the former cases independently of the latter.

We have already noted in 3.1 some elementary functions which can be expressed by the ${}_2F_1$ symbol. Other important cases of this family are Legendre functions (see 6.2.3) and the classical orthogonal polynomials (see Chapter VIII). For ease in the applications, we have prepared a table of the most common functions of mathematical physics which may be characterized by the ${}_pF_q$ symbol. This is given in Chapter VI.

Some general sources for material on the $_pF_q$ and its special cases are Erdélyi et al. (1953), Kratzer and Franz (1960), Kuznecov (1965), Lebedev (1965), Luke (1962a), MacRobert (1962a), Mitrinović and Djoković (1964), Poole (1960), Rainville (1960), Schäfke (1963), Slater (1966), Sneddon (1956), Snow (1952), Watson (1945), and Whittaker and Watson (1927). See also the references given in 4.1, 6.2.3, 6.2.6, 8.1, and the references quoted in the handbook edited by Abramowitz and Stegun (1964). Other useful handbooks are Byrd and Friedman (1954), Erdélyi et al. (1954). Gröbner and Hofreiter (1949, 1950), Magnus and Oberhettinger (1948, 1954, 1966), Mangulis (1965), Oberhettinger (1957), and Ryshik and Gradstein (1957, 1965). For descriptions of numerical mathematical tables embracing the entire spectrum of transcendental functions, see Fletcher et al. (1962), Lebedev and Feodorova (1956), and Burunova (1959). See also the handbook edited by Abramowitz and Stegun (1964) cited above.

3.3. Convergence of the Fa Series

We suppose that none of the numerator or denominator parameters of 3.2(1) is a negative integer or zero. Let u_k be the coefficient of z^k in 3.2(1). Then

$$\frac{u_{k+1}z^{k+1}}{u_kz^k} = \frac{z(k+\alpha_p)}{(k+\rho_q)(k+1)} = zk^{p-q-1} \left\{ 1 + \frac{\eta-1}{k} + O(k^{-2}) \right\},
\eta = \sum_{h=1}^p \alpha_h - \sum_{h=1}^q \rho_h.$$
(1)

Application of the ratio test shows that the series

converges for all finite
$$z$$
 if $p \le q$,
converges for $|z| < 1$ if $p = q + 1$,
diverges for all z , $z \ne 0$ if $p > q + 1$.

Following Bromwich (1949, pp. 41, 241) or Knopp (1949, p. 401), we can show that the ... Fo series is

absolutely convergent for |z| = 1 if R(n) < 0. conditionally convergent for |z| = 1, $z \neq 1$ if $0 \leq R(\eta) < 1$. (3) divergent for |z| = 1 if $1 \le R(n)$

3.4 Elementary Relations

We infer from the examples considered in 3.1 that derivatives of hypergeometric series are series of the same kind. The following relations are of this type

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} {}_p F_q \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_p \\ \rho_q \end{pmatrix} z = \frac{(\alpha_p)_n}{(\rho_q)_n} {}_p F_q \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_p + n \\ \rho_q + n \end{pmatrix} z$$
(1)

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left[z^{\delta}_{\ \rho} F_{\varrho} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_p \\ \varrho_n \end{pmatrix} z \right] = (\delta - n + 1)_n z^{\delta - n}_{\ \rho + 1} F_{\varrho + 1} \begin{pmatrix} \delta + 1, \alpha_p \\ \delta + 1, \dots, n \end{pmatrix} z \right) \quad (2)$$

If $(\delta + 1 - n)$ is a negative integer or zero, a more convenient form of (2) 19

$$\begin{split} &\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}}\left[z^{s}_{p}F_{q}^{\left(\alpha_{p}\right)}|z\right]\\ &=\frac{\left(\sigma_{0}^{1}, \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{1}\right)^{s+1}F_{q+1}}{\left(\sigma_{0}^{1}, \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{1}\right)^{s+1}F_{q+1}}\left(\rho_{q}+n-\delta, n+1-\delta\right|z\right) \end{split} \tag{2}$$

$$\frac{d^{\alpha}}{dz^{\alpha}} \left[z^{\sigma+\alpha} \stackrel{1}{}_{p+1} F_{\sigma} \left(\stackrel{\sigma}{\rho_{\sigma}} \middle| z \right) \right] \\ = \left(\sigma_{\beta} z^{\sigma} \stackrel{1}{}_{p+1} F_{\sigma} \left(\stackrel{\sigma}{\rho_{\sigma}} \middle| z \right) - \frac{\sigma}{\rho_{\sigma}} \right] z$$
(4)

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left[z^{\alpha-1} {}_{\nu} F_{e+1} \left(\frac{\alpha_p}{\rho_q} \right| z \right) \right] \\ &= \left(\sigma - n \right)_e z^{\alpha-1} {}_{\nu} F_{e+1} \left(\frac{\alpha_g}{\sigma - n} \frac{1}{\rho_g} \right| z \right) \end{aligned} \tag{5}$$

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left[z^n (1-z)^{n+b} \circ {}_z F_1 \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \right]$$

$$= (\delta - n + 1)_n z^{k-n} {}_i F_2 \begin{pmatrix} c - a & c - b, \delta + 1 \\ c & \delta + 1 - n \end{pmatrix} z$$
(6)

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left[z^{n+c} \cdot \mathbb{I}(1-z)^{n+a+b-c} z F_1 \begin{pmatrix} a+n,b+n \\ c+n \end{pmatrix} z \right]$$

$$= (c)_n z^{c-1} (1-z)^{a+b-c} z F_1 \begin{vmatrix} a,b \\ z \end{vmatrix} z$$

$$(2n+b)_n z^{c-1} (1-z)^{a+b-c} z F_2 \begin{vmatrix} a,b \\ z \end{vmatrix} z$$

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}} \left[z^{c-a+n-1} (1-z)^{a+b-c} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \right]
= (c-a)_{n} z^{c-a-1} (1-z)^{a+b-c-n} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a-n, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \right).$$
(8)

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}} \left[z^{c-1} (1-z)^{a+b-c} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \right]
= (c-n)_{n} z^{c-n-1} (1-z)^{a+b-c-n} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a-n, b-n \\ c-n \end{pmatrix} z \right).$$
(9)

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}} \left[(1-z)^{a+b-c} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \right] \\
= \frac{(c-a)_{n}(c-b)_{n}}{(c)_{n}} (1-z)^{a+b-c-n} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c+n \end{pmatrix} z \right).$$
(10)

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}} \left[z^{\alpha} (1-z)^{\beta} \right] \\
= (\alpha - n + 1)_{n} z^{\alpha - n} (1-z)^{\beta - n} {}_{2} F_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} -n, \alpha + 1 + \beta - n \\ \alpha + 1 - n \end{array} \middle| z \right), \\
\alpha \text{ not an integer } < n, \tag{11}$$

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left[z^s (1-z)^{\beta} \right] \\
= \frac{n!(-\beta)_{n-s}}{(n-s)!} (1-z)^{\beta-n} {}_2F_1 \left(\begin{matrix} -s, \beta+1 \\ n-s+1 \end{matrix} \middle| z \right), \\
s \text{ an integer, } s \leqslant n. \tag{12}$$

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}} \left[z^{c-1} (1-z)^{b-c+n} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \right]
= (c-n)_{n} z^{c-1-n} (1-z)^{b-c} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a-n, b \\ c-n \end{pmatrix} z \right).$$
(13)

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}} \left[(1-z)^{a+n-1} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \right] \\
= \frac{(-)^{n}(a)_{n}(c-b)_{n}}{(c)_{n}} (1-z)^{a-1} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a+n, b \\ c+n \end{pmatrix} z \right).$$
(14)

$$A(z) = {}_{2}F_{1} {v + 1, \nu + \mu + 1 \mid z \choose \nu + \mu + \lambda + 2 \mid z}$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{\mu+1}(\nu + \mu + \lambda + 1)!}{\lambda! \nu!(\nu + \mu)! (\mu + \lambda)!} \frac{d^{\nu+\mu}}{dz^{\nu+\mu}} \left[(1 - z)^{\mu+\lambda} \frac{d^{\lambda}}{dz^{\lambda}} \left\{ z^{-1} \ln(1 - z) \right\} \right], \quad (15)$$

where ν , μ , λ are positive integers or zero. Note that the right-hand side of (15) gives the analytic continuation of the $_2F_1$ on the left throughout the entire complex plane, the positive real axis from 1 to ∞ excluded. Equation (15) is readily proved from (1) and (10) with the aid of 3.1(15).

Equations (1)-(5) follow by differentiation To prove (6), first transform the ₄F, on the left using 3 8(2) and then apply (1) Equations (7)-(12) are special cases of (6) The proofs for (13), (14) are not so direct We derive these equations and as a by-product get alternative proofs of (9), (10)

It is convenient to set

$$A = \frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left\{ z^n (1-z)^{\beta} {}_2F_1 \left(\begin{matrix} a,b \\ c \end{matrix} \right) z \right) \right\}$$

We first assume that α is not an integer less than n Use (11) with α replaced by $\alpha+k$ Then

$$A = z^{\alpha} \cdot (1 - z)^{k} \cdot \sum_{i=0}^{n} \frac{(a)_{i}(b)_{k}}{(c)_{i}k^{i}} (a = k + 1 - n)_{n}z^{k}$$

$$\times \sum_{m=0}^{n} \frac{(-n)_{m}(a + k + 1 - n + \beta)_{m}}{(a + k + 1 - n)_{m}z^{i}}z^{m},$$

$$A = z^{\alpha} \cdot (1 - z)^{k} \cdot (a + 1 - n)_{n} \cdot \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(a)_{k}(b)_{k}(a + 1)_{k}z^{k}}{(c)_{k}(a + 1 - n)_{k}i}$$

$$\times A^{2} \cdot (k - n + 1 - c - k - n - \alpha - \beta - k + 1)$$

$$\times A^{2} \cdot (k - n + 1 - c - k - n - \alpha - \beta - k + 1)$$

$$\times A^{2} \cdot (k - n + 1 - c - k - n - \alpha - \beta - k + 1)$$
(16)

If $\alpha=c-1$ and $\beta=n+b-c$, the ${}_4F_3$ becomes a ${}_2F_1$ which is readily summed using 3 13 [(1), and A reduces to (13) If $\alpha=c-1$ and $\beta=a+b-c$, the ${}_4F_3$ becomes a Saalschützian ${}_2F_2$ which can be summed by 3 13 3(2) This leads to the proof of (9)

Suppose now that α is an integer, say x, and $x \le \pi$. We could get an expansion for A like (16) starting from (12). However, the desired expansion can be obtained from (16) if there $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is replaced by $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}$. We have

$$A = (1 - z)^{\delta} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{k+n}}{(c)_{k+n}} \frac{s^{2}(1 + k + n)z^{k}}{(c + k - n - z)k^{n}}$$

$$\times {}_{\delta}F_{\delta} \left(\frac{-k - n + s, -n, 1 - c - k - n + s, -\beta - k}{1 - a - k - n + s, 1 - b - k - n + s, -k - n} \right) 1, \quad (17)$$

where the F_a is to be interpreted as the sum of the (n+k+1-s) or (n+1) terms whichever is least if s=0 and $\beta=a+n-1$, the F_a becomes a ${}_aF_1$. Sum this using 3.13 i(1) whence A gives (14) If s=0 and $\beta=a+b-c$, the F_a reduces to a ${}_aF_a$ which is Saabschitzman Use 3.13 3(2) to sum the ${}_aF_a$, and A reduces to (16)

The six functions

$$_{2}F_{1}(a \pm 1, b; c; z), \quad _{2}F_{1}(a, b \pm 1, c; z), \quad _{2}F_{1}(a, b; c \pm 1; z)$$
 (18)

are called contiguous to ${}_2F_1(a,b;c;z)$. We use the notation ${}_2F_1(a+)$ and ${}_2F_1(a-)$ to designate the ${}_2F_1$ with a replaced by (a+1) and (a-1), respectively, etc. Gauss proved that between the ${}_2F_1$ and any two functions contiguous to it, there exists a linear relation with coefficients which are linear in z. There are fifteen relations of this kind. Only four of the fifteen are really independent, as all others may be obtained by elimination and use of the fact that the ${}_2F_1$ is symmetric in a and b. In view of symmetry, it is sufficient to record only nine of the fifteen relations. They are as follows:

$$(c-a)_{2}F_{1}(a-) + (2a-c-az+bz)_{2}F_{1} + a(z-1)_{2}F_{1}(a+) = 0.$$
 (19)
$$c(c-1)(z-1)_{2}F_{1}(c-)$$

$$+c[c-1-(2c-a-b-1)z]_{2}F_{1}+(c-a)(c-b)z_{2}F_{1}(c+)=0.$$
 (20)

$$c[a + (b - c)z]_{2}F_{1} - ac(1 - z)_{2}F_{1}(a+) + (c - a)(c - b)zF(c+) = 0.$$
 (21)

$$c(1-z)_2F_1-c_2F_1(a-)+(c-b)z_2F_1(c+)=0. \quad (22)$$

$$(b-a)_2F_1 + a_2F_1(a+) - b_2F_1(b+) = 0.$$
 (23)

$$(c-a-b)_2F_1+a(1-z)_2F_1(a+)-(c-b)F(b-)=0. (24)$$

$$(c-a-1)_2F_1 + a_2F_1(a+) - (c-1)_2F_1(c-) = 0.$$
 (25)

$$(b-a)(1-a)_{2}F_{1}-(c-a)_{2}F_{1}(a-)+(c-b)_{2}F_{1}(b-)=0.$$
 (26)

$$[a-1+(b+1-c)z]_{2}F_{1} + (c-a)_{2}F_{1}(a-) - (c-1)(1-z)_{2}F_{1}(c-) = 0.$$
 (27)

These are readily verified by expanding in power series and showing that the coefficients of all powers of z vanish.

If m, n, and s are integers, then ${}_2F_1(a+m,b+n;c+s;z)$ can be expressed by repeated application of the contiguous relations as a linear combination of ${}_2F_1$ and one of its contiguous functions with coefficients which are rational functions of a, b, c, and z.

Formulas (1)-(5) give rise to difference-differential equations. Many such properties for the ${}_{2}F_{1}$ follow upon combining most of the results in Eqs. (1)-(10) with (19)-(27).

We can invoke the confluence principle [see 3.5(6)] to get recursion relations for the $_1F_1$. Thus in (19), replace z by z/b and let $b \to \infty$.

$$(c \quad a)_1F_1(a-) + (2a-c+z)_1F_1 - a_1F_1(a+) = 0$$
 (28)

Similarly.

1)
$$F_1(c-) + c(1-c-z) F_1 + (c-a)z F_1(c+) = 0$$
, (29)

and from this we deduce

 $de = 11[-aF_1(e-) + aF_1] + z_0F_1(e+) = 0$

In particular, see 3 1(19)

$$L_{-1}(z) + I_{-1}(z) = (2\nu/z)L(z),$$
 (31)

(30)

(4)

and from (1).

$$zJ_{\nu}(z) - \nu J_{\nu}(z) = -zJ_{\nu+1}(z)$$
 (32)

Contiguous and difference-differential properties for the $_3F_2$ and $_4F_3$ have been given by Bailey (1954) Results of this type for the F, have been studied by Rainville (1960, pp 80-85) Recursion and difference differential formulas for a form simply related to $F_i(-n, n + \lambda, \beta + 1, z)$ are given in 82 A recursion formula for a generalization of the latter is given in 12.2 See Sections 12.3 12.4 for the development of recursion systems for other types of hypergeometric functions

3.5 The Confluence Principle

With a bounded.

$$\lim_{\sigma \to z} (1 - z/\sigma)^{-\sigma} = \lim_{\sigma \to z} \exp[-\sigma \ln(1 - z/\sigma)]$$

$$= e^z \lim_{\sigma \to z} \exp[(z^2/2\sigma)[1 + O(z/\sigma)]] = e^z, \quad (1)$$

and in our hypergeometric notation

$$\lim_{\sigma \to \infty} {}_{z}F_{0}(\sigma z/\sigma) = {}_{0}F_{0}(z) = e^{z} \qquad z \text{ bounded}$$
 (2)

We can get this result from another point of view. Now the general term in the expansion of (1 - z/o)-0 is

$$v_k z^k / k! = \Gamma(\sigma + k) z^k / \Gamma(\sigma) \sigma^k k!$$
 (3)

and from 2 11(11), with k fixed,

 $\lim_{t\to\infty} v_t = 1$

Thus with z fixed,

$$\lim_{|\sigma| \to \infty} (1 - z/\sigma)^{-\sigma} = \lim_{|\sigma| \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (v_k z^k / k!) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (z^k / k!) \lim_{|\sigma| \to \infty} v_k$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} z^k / k! = e^z.$$
(5)

Again, if in ${}_2F_1(a,b;c;z)$, z is replaced by z/b, we get a power series in z whose radius of convergence is |b|. The latter defines an analytic function with singularities at z=0, b, and ∞ [see 3.7(1)]. Let $|b| \to \infty$. The limiting form defines an entire function with a singularity at $z=\infty$ which is a confluence of the two singularities b and ∞ of ${}_2F_1(a,b;c;z/b)$. Thus,

$$\lim_{\|b\|\to\infty} {}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z/b) = {}_{1}F_{1}(a;c;z)$$
 (6)

and the $_1F_1$ is a confluent form of the $_2F_1$. For this reason, the $_1F_1$ is called a confluent hypergeometric function. A rather thorough study of the $_1F_1$ is given in Chapter IV. A natural generalization of (6) is the statement

$$\lim_{|\sigma| \to \infty} \inf_{p+1} F_{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p}, \sigma \\ \rho_{\sigma} \end{pmatrix} z / \sigma = \inf_{p} F_{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{\sigma} \end{pmatrix} z , \qquad q \geqslant p. \tag{7}$$

This limit process is called a confluence with respect to σ and the resulting limit of such a process is called a confluent limit. The importance of the result (7) lies in the fact that known representations for $_{p+1}F_q$ may be used to deduce similar type representations for $_pF_q$ which do not follow from the former by an obvious suppression of a numerator parameter.

In (7), the confluence is with respect to a numerator parameter of the $_{p+1}F_q$. However, the limit process can be invoked with respect to a denominator parameter, and it can be proved that

$$\lim_{|\beta| \to \infty} {}_{p} F_{q+1} \left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \\ , \beta \end{array} \middle| \beta z \right) = {}_{p} F_{q} \left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \\ \end{array} \middle| z \right), \quad p \leqslant q+1,$$

$$|\arg \beta| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad 0 < \delta \leqslant \pi/2,$$

$$|z| < R \quad \text{if} \quad |\arg \beta| \leqslant \pi/2,$$

$$|z| < |\sin(\arg \beta)| R \quad \text{if} \quad \pi/2 \leqslant |\arg \beta| \leqslant \pi - \delta.$$
(8)

where R = 1 if p = q + 1 and $R = \infty$ if $p \le q$.

The results (7), (8) are special cases of some general theorems proved by Fields (1966) We next present a summary of his findings

Theorem 1. Let

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k z^k < \infty \qquad |z| < R \tag{9}$$

Then

$$F(z, \sigma) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} [a_k(\sigma)_k/k!](z/\sigma)^k, \quad |z/\sigma| < R,$$
 (10)

and F(z, o) can be rearranged to read

$$F(z, \sigma) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} g_i(z)\sigma^{-i}, \quad |z/\sigma| < R$$
 (11)

That is, $F(z, \sigma)$ converges for $|z|\sigma| < R$, where the g(z) are entire functions of z given explicitly by (16) below Further, for $1 \ge 1$, g(z) can be expressed in terms of the derivatives of $g_d(z) = g(z)$

PROOF From the ratio test and (9), it follows that $F(z, \sigma)$ converges for $|z| < |\sigma|R$ For $\sigma \neq 0$, k an integer ≥ 0 .

$$(\sigma)_k / \sigma^k = (1 + k / \sigma)^{-1} \prod_{j=0}^k (1 + j / \sigma) = \sum_{j=0}^k \alpha_{j,k} \sigma^{-j}, \quad \alpha_{j,k} > 0$$
 (12)

Clearly F(z, o) is majorized by the convergent series

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{|a_k||z|^k}{k!} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \alpha_{j,k} |\sigma|^{-j} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{|a_k|(|\sigma|)_k}{k!} |z/\sigma|^k, \quad |z/\sigma| < R \quad (13)$$

Thus $F(z, \sigma)$ can be rearranged in descending powers of σ and since σ is arbitrary, the $g_i(z)$ converge for arbitrary z We next identify the $\alpha_{i,k}$ in (12) From 2 11(12), with z = a, a = k, and b = 0, we have with the aid of 28(6, 11).

$$\alpha_{j,k} = [(1-k)_j/j!]B_j^{(k)}$$
(14)

Note that $\alpha_{i,k} = 1$ if j = 0, $k \ge 0$

$$= 0$$
 if $j \ge 1$ $k = 0$ or $k = 1$ (15)

It follows that

$$g_{j}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{v_{k} v_{j}}{k!} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{v_{k} (1 - k^{2} j_{j} D_{j}^{(k)})}{j! k!} z^{k}$$
(16)

Now for $k, j \ge 1$, $k^{-1}B_j^{(k)}$ is a polynomial in k of order (j-1). If Δ denotes the forward difference operator with respect to k, and m is an integer ≥ 0 , the relation

$$\Delta^{m}(1+j-k)_{r}=(-r)_{m}(1+j-k)_{r-m}$$

implies that for $j \ge 1$,

$$B_{j}^{(k)} = k \sum_{r=0}^{j-1} \frac{(-)^{r}(1+j-k)_{r}}{r!} \left[\Delta^{r} \left(\frac{B_{j}^{(k)}}{k} \right) \right]_{k=j+1}.$$
 (17)

Combining (16) and (17), we see that for $j \ge 1$,

$$g_{j}(z) = \sum_{r=0}^{j-1} \frac{z^{1+j+r}}{j!} g_{0}^{(1+j+r)}(z) \left[\Delta^{r} \left(\frac{B_{j}^{(k)}}{k} \right) \right]_{k=j+1}, \tag{18}$$

and this completes the proof of Theorem 1.

Since the coefficients of $z^{1+j+r}g_0^{(1+j+r)}(z)$ in (18) are independent of $g_0(z)$, the coefficients can be deduced from the special case

$$F(z,\sigma) = (1-z/\sigma)^{-\sigma} = e^z \exp \left\{ \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} (\sigma/j)(z/\sigma)^j \right\}, \quad g_0(z) = e^z.$$
 (19)

The first few $g_j(z)$ are as follows:

$$g_{0}(z) = g(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_{k} z^{k} / k!, \qquad g_{1}(z) = (z^{2} / 2) g^{(2)}(z),$$

$$g_{2}(z) = (z^{3} / 3) g^{(3)}(z) + (z^{4} / 8) g^{(4)}(z),$$

$$g_{3}(z) = (z^{4} / 4) g^{(4)}(z) + (z^{5} / 6) g^{(5)}(z) + (z^{6} / 48) g^{(6)}(z),$$

$$g_{4}(z) = (z^{5} / 5) g^{(5)}(z) + (13z^{6} / 72) g^{(6)}(z) + (z^{7} / 24) g^{(7)}(z) + (z^{8} / 384) g^{(8)}(z).$$

$$(20)$$

By virtue of Theorem 1 and 3.4(1), we have

$$F_{\sigma}(\alpha_{p}, \sigma \mid z/\sigma) = {}_{p}F_{\sigma}(\alpha_{p} \mid z) + \frac{A_{2}(z)}{2\sigma} + \frac{1}{24\sigma^{2}}(8A_{3}(z) + 3A_{4}(z)) + \frac{1}{48\sigma^{3}}(12A_{4}(z) + 8A_{5}(z) + A_{6}(z)) + \frac{1}{5760\sigma^{4}} \times (1152A_{5}(z) + 1040A_{6}(z) + 240A_{7}(z) + 15A_{8}(z)) + \cdots,$$

$$A_{r}(z) = z^{r} \frac{d^{r}}{dz^{r}} {}_{p}F_{\sigma}(\alpha_{p} \mid z) = \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{r}z^{r}}{(\rho_{q})_{r}} {}_{p}F_{\sigma}(\alpha_{p} + r \mid z),$$

$$p = q, |z| < |\sigma|; p < q, |z| < \infty. \tag{21}$$

Another kind of confluence is suggested by the classical relationship connecting the Jacobi polynomial $P_n^{(n,\beta)}(z)$ [see 8 2(2)] and the Bessel function $I_n(z)$.

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \pi^{-s} P_n^{(s,\beta)}(1-z^2,n^2) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{n^{-s}(n+1)_s}{\Gamma(1+\alpha)} {}_tF_1\left(\frac{-n,n+\alpha+\beta+1}{\alpha+1} \left\{\frac{z^2/4n^2}{2}\right\}\right)$$

$$= \left[\Gamma(1+\alpha)\right]^{-1} {}_0F_1\left(\frac{1+\alpha}{2}\right)^{-2}I_2\left(\frac{1+\alpha}{2}\right) = I_2\left(\frac{1+\alpha}{2}\right)^{-2}I_2\left(\frac{1+\alpha}{2}\right)$$

This is a special case of the following theorem

Theorem 2 Let

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_k z^k < \infty, \quad |z| < R \tag{23}$$

Then

$$G(z \nu, \lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{b_k(-\nu)_k(\nu + \lambda)_k}{(k!)!!} \left(-\frac{z}{d(u + \lambda)} \right)^k, \quad |z| < |\nu(\nu + \lambda)|R, \quad (24)$$

and $G(z, v, \lambda)$ can be rearranged in descending powers of $v(v + \lambda)$ to yield

$$G(z,\nu,\lambda) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} h_n(z,\lambda)[-\nu(\nu+\lambda)]^{-1}, \quad |z| < |\nu(\nu+\lambda)|R, \quad (25)$$

where the $h_i(z,\lambda)$ are polynomials in λ of order j whose coefficients are entire functions of z. Further, for $j\geqslant 1$, $h_j(z,\lambda)$ can be expressed in terms of the derivatives of $h_0(z,\lambda)=h(z)$

The proof is much akin to Theorem 1 and we omit details To construct $h_j(z,\lambda)$, we write

$$h_{j}(z \lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{b_{k}c_{j,k}(\lambda)z^{k}}{(k!)^{\frac{2}{k}}}$$
 (26)

(27)

Now

$$\frac{(-)^{h}(-\nu)_{h}(\nu+\lambda)_{h}}{[\nu(\nu+\lambda)]^{k}} = (1-k\nu)^{-1} \prod_{j=0}^{k} (1-j\nu) \left(1 + \frac{k}{\nu+\lambda}\right)^{-1} \prod_{j=0}^{k} \left(1 + \frac{j}{\nu+\lambda}\right)$$

$$= \left(1 + \frac{k(k+\lambda)}{(-\nu)(\nu+\lambda)}\right)^{-1} \prod_{j=0}^{k} \left(1 + \frac{j(j+\lambda)}{(-\nu)(\nu+\lambda)}\right)$$

 $= \sum_{k} c_{j,k}(\lambda)[(-\nu)(\nu + \lambda)]^{-j}$

Multiply both sides of (27) by $(\nu - k)(\nu + \lambda + k)[\nu(\nu + \lambda)]^{-1}$, and so obtain the recursion formula

$$c_{j,k+1}(\lambda) - c_{j,k}(\lambda) = k(k+\lambda)c_{j-1,k}(\lambda), \qquad k, j \geqslant 0, \tag{28}$$

and by summation

$$c_{j+1,k}(\lambda) = \sum_{m=0}^{k-1} m(m+\lambda)c_{j,m}(\lambda), \quad c_{0,m}(\lambda) = 1, \quad m \geqslant 0.$$
 (29)

Employing the same type of factorization as used to write $g_i(z)$ in terms of the derivatives of $g_0(z)$, we have for the first three $c_{i,k}(\lambda)$,

$$c_{0,k}(\lambda) = 1, \qquad c_{1,k}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{6}[k(k-1)][2(k-2)+3] + \frac{1}{2}[k(k-1)]\lambda,$$

$$c_{2,k}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{360}[k(k-1)(k-2)][20(k-3)(k-4)(k-5) + 204(k-3)(k-4) + 495(k-3) + 240] + \frac{1}{6}[k(k-1)(k-2)][(k-3)(k-4) + 6(k-4) + 6]\lambda + \frac{1}{24}[k(k-1)(k-2)][3(k-3) + 8]\lambda^{2}.$$
(30)

Thus,

$$h_0(z) = h(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_k z^k / (k!)^2, \qquad h_1(z) = (1+\lambda)(z^2/2)h^{(2)}(z) + (z^3/3)h^{(3)}(z),$$

$$h_2(z) = (2+3\lambda+\lambda^2)(z^3/3)h^{(3)}(z) + (11+8\lambda+\lambda^2)(z^4/8)h^{(4)}(z)$$

$$+ (17+5\lambda)(z^5/30)h^{(5)}(z) + (z^6/18)h^{(6)}(z).$$
(31)

Note that Theorems 1 and 2 are related by the fact that when $b_k = k! \, a_k$,

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} G(z, \nu, \lambda) = F(z, -\nu). \tag{32}$$

If in Theorem 2,

$$b_{k} = (\alpha_{p})_{k}(1)_{k}/(\rho_{q})_{k}, \tag{33}$$

then

$$G(z, \nu, \lambda) = {}_{p+2}F_{\sigma}\left(\begin{array}{c} -\nu, \nu + \lambda, \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{array} \middle| -\frac{z}{\nu(\nu + \lambda)}\right),$$

$$h(z) = {}_{p}F_{\sigma}\left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{array} \middle| z\right), \qquad h^{(r_{1})}(z) = \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{m}}{(\rho_{q})_{m}} {}_{p}F_{\sigma}\left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{p} + m \\ \rho_{\sigma} + m \end{array} \middle| z\right),$$

$$(34)$$

and the expansion (25) is valid when

$$p = q - 1$$
 $|z| < \nu(\nu + \lambda)$, $p < q - 1$, $|z| < \infty$ (35)

We next turn our attention to three theorems dealing with asymptotic confluent expansions. We omit proofs and refer the reader to the work of Fields (1966). The following is a generalization of the statement (8).

Theorem 3 Let

$$f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k z^k < \infty, \quad |z| < R$$
 (36)

Then

$$T(z, \beta) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} [c_k l(\beta)_k] (\beta z)^k \qquad (37)$$

converges for all $z, \beta \neq 0, -1, -2,$, and

$$T(z|\beta) \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} f_j(z)(-\beta)^{-j} \qquad |\beta| \to \infty, \quad |\arg \beta| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad 0 < \delta \leqslant \pi/2,$$
$$|z| < R \quad \text{if} \quad |\arg \beta| \leqslant \pi/2.$$

$$|z| < |\sin(\arg \beta)|R \text{ if } \pi/2 \le |\arg \beta| \le \pi - \delta,$$
 (38)

where the $f_i(z)$ are analytic functions in |z| < R and are given by (41) below

For $j \ge 1$, $f_j(z)$ can be expressed in terms of the derivatives of $f_0(z) = f(z)$. Let us write

$$\beta^{k}(\beta)_{k} = \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} (1 + j\beta)^{-1} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \gamma_{j,k} \beta^{-j}$$
 (39)

From 2 11(12)

$$\gamma_{j,k} = \frac{(-)^{j}(k)_{j}}{j!} B_{j}^{(t-k)} j+k > 0,$$

= 1, $t=k=0$ (40)

Also

$$f_i(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k(-)^k \gamma_{i,k} z^k = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_k(k)_l B_j^{(l-k)}}{i!} z^k$$
 (41)

Now $(k)_j B_j^{(1-k)}$ is a polynomial in k of degree (2j) and vanishes for k = 0 and k = 1. As in Theorem 1, let Δ denote the forward difference operator with respect to k. If m is a positive integer or zero, the relation

$$\Delta^{m}(k-1-r)_{r} = (-r)_{m}(k-1-r+m)_{r-m} \tag{42}$$

implies that for $i \ge 1$,

$$(k)_{j}B_{j}^{(1-k)} = \sum_{r=0}^{2j-1} \frac{(k-r-1)_{r+2}}{r!} \left[\Delta^{r} \left(\frac{(k)_{j}B_{j}^{(1-k)}}{k(k-1)} \right) \right]_{1-2}, \quad j \geqslant 1. \quad (43)$$

Thus,

$$f_{j}(z) = \sum_{r=0}^{2j-2} \frac{z^{r+2}}{j! \ r!} f_{0}^{(r+2)}(z) \left[\Delta^{r} \left(\frac{(k)_{j} B_{j}^{(1-k)}}{k(k-1)} \right) \right]_{k=2}, \qquad j \geqslant 1.$$
 (44)

The first few $f_{i}(z)$ are as follows:

$$f_{0}(z) = f(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{k} z^{k}, \qquad f_{1}(z) = (z^{2}/2) f^{(2)}(z),$$

$$f_{2}(z) = (z^{2}/2) f^{(2)}(z) + (2z^{3}/3) f^{(3)}(z) + (z^{4}/8) f^{(4)}(z),$$

$$f_{3}(z) = (z^{2}/2) f^{(2)}(z) + 2z^{3} f^{(3)}(z) + (3z^{4}/2) f^{(4)}(z)$$

$$+ (z^{5}/3) f^{(5)}(z) + (z^{6}/48) f^{(6)}(z),$$

$$f_{4}(z) = (z^{2}/2) f^{(2)}(z) + (14z^{3}/3) f^{(3)}(z) + (61z^{4}/8) f^{(4)}(z) + (62z^{5}/15) f^{(5)}(z)$$

$$+ (131z^{6}/144) f^{(6)}(z) + (z^{7}/12) f^{(7)}(z) + (z^{8}/384) f^{(8)}(z).$$

$$(45)$$

It follows that (8) is the limiting form of the asymptotic expansion,

$${}_{p}F_{q+1}\left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{array}, \beta \ \middle| \ \beta z \right) = {}_{p}F_{q}\left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{array} \middle| \ z \right) - \frac{A_{2}(z)}{2\beta} + \frac{1}{24\beta^{2}}\{12A_{2}(z) + 16A_{3}(z) + 3A_{4}(z)\}$$

$$- \frac{1}{48\beta^{3}}\{24A_{2}(z) + 96A_{3}(z) + 72A_{4}(z) + 16A_{5}(z) + A_{6}(z)\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{5760\beta^{4}}\{2880A_{2}(z) + 26880A_{3}(z) \qquad (46)$$

$$+ 43920A_{4}(z) + 23808A_{5}(z) + 5240A_{6}(z)$$

$$+ 480A_{7}(z) + 15A_{8}(z)\} + O(\beta^{-5}),$$

$$|\beta| \to \infty, \quad p \leqslant q, \quad |\arg \beta| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad 0 < \delta \leqslant \pi/2,$$

$$p = q + 1, \quad |z| < 1 \quad \text{if} \quad R(\beta) \geqslant 0$$

and

$$|z| < \sin \delta$$
, $0 < \delta \le \pi/2$ if $R(\beta) \le 0$,

where $A_{\epsilon}(z)$ is defined as in (21)

If n is an integer $\geqslant 0$, the functions F(z, -n) and $G(z, n, \lambda)$ defined in Theorems 1 and 2 are polynomish in z of degree n and so are always well defined Under weaker conditions than stated, Theorems 1 and 2 yield the asymptotic expansion of F(z, -n) and $G(z, n, \lambda)$, respectively, as $n \to \infty$ These results are even by Theorem 2.

Theorem 4. Let

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_k}{k!} z^k < \infty, \quad |z| < S, \qquad \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{b_k}{(k!)^3} z^k < \infty, \quad |z| < S$$
 (47)

Then for n an integer, $n \ge 0$,

$$F(z, -n) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{a_{2}(-n)_{k}}{k!} \left(-\frac{z}{n}\right)^{k} \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} g_{j}(z)(-n)^{-j},$$

$$n \to \infty, \quad |z| < S, \quad (48)$$

and

$$G(x, n, \lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{b_{k}(-n)_{k}(n+\lambda)_{k}}{(k!)^{2}} \left(-\frac{x}{n(n+\lambda)}\right)^{k} \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h_{j}(x, \lambda)[-n(n+\lambda)]^{-j},$$

 $n \to \infty$, |z| < S, (49)

where the g(z) are analytic in |z| < S and are defined by (16), and where the $h_i(z,\lambda)$ are analytic in |z| < S and are defined by (26)

Another interesting asymptotic confluent expansion is given by Theorem 5 $\,$

Theorem 5. Let

$$v(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} d_k z^k < \infty, \quad |z| < R$$
 (50)

Then

$$S(z, \sigma, a, b) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{d_k(\sigma + a)_k z^k}{(\sigma + b)_k} < \infty,$$

$$|z| < R \qquad \sigma + b \neq 0, -1, -2,$$
(51)

and can be rearranged in the region |z| < R/2 to give the expansion

$$S(z, \sigma, a, b) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b-a)_j(-z)^j}{(\sigma+b)_j j!} v^{(j)}(z), \qquad |z| < R/2.$$
 (52)

However, if a and b are bounded, then (52) is valid asymptotically in the larger region |z| < R. Thus, if n is an integer >0,

$$S(z, \sigma, a, b) = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \frac{(b-a)_j(-z)^j}{(\sigma+b)_j j!} v^{(j)}(z) + O(\sigma^{-n}),$$

$$|\sigma| \to \infty, \quad |\arg(\sigma+b)| \le \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0, \quad |z| < R. \quad (53)$$

If $[(\sigma + b)_j]^{-1}$ is expanded in reciprocal powers of σ , then (53) is a confluent expansion in $1/\sigma$.

Note that if (b-a) = -(m-1), m a positive integer, (52) terminates and is valid for |z| < R, a result noticed for hypergeometric series by C. Fox (1927). Theorem 5 includes Kummer's formula 3.8(3). For another special case of Theorem 5, see 9.1(34).

3.6. Integral Representations

We first prove Euler's formula

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c-a)\Gamma(a)} \int_{0}^{1} t^{a-1} (1-t)^{c-a-1} (1-zt)^{-b} dt,$$

$$R(c) > R(a) > 0, \quad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi. \tag{1}$$

The series on the left converges if |z| < 1, but the integral on the right is single valued and analytic if $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$, and so the integral gives the analytic continuation of the ${}_2F_1$. If |zt| < 1, the binomial expansion for $(1-zt)^{-b}$ is uniformly convergent and with the aid of 2.6(1), (1) follows by termwise integration. In the integrand of (1) replace t by t/(1+t). Then

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-a)} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{a-1} (1+t)^{b-c} (1+t-zt)^{-b} dt,$$

$$R(c) > R(a) > 0, \quad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi, \quad (2)$$

or

$${}_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c} a,b\\ a+b+1-c \end{array} \middle| 1-z\right)$$

$$=\frac{\Gamma(a+b+1-c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b+1-c)} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{a-1} (1+t)^{c-a-1} (1+zt)^{-b} dt,$$

$$R(a) > 0, \quad R(b+1-c) > 0, \quad |\arg z| < \pi.$$
 (3)

From the differential equation satisfied by the $_{2}F_{1}$ [see 3 7(1)] the formula

$$(1 z)[\delta(\delta + c - 1) - z(\delta + a)(\delta + b)][e^{-1}(1 - t)^{c-a-1}(1 - zt)^{-b}]$$

$$= -b(\partial_c \partial_t)[t^a(1 - t)^{c-a}(1 - zt)^{-b-1}]$$
(4)

furnishes an alternative proof of (1) and (3) More generally, 3 7(1) is satisfied by

$$\int_{C} f(t) dt, \quad f(t) = t^{n-1} (1-t)^{c-n-1} (1-xt)^{-n}$$
(5)

if C is either closed on the Riemann surface of the integrand or terminates at the zeros of $z^4(1-i)^{n-4}(1-zi)^{-k-1}$ Expand $(1-zi)^{-k}$ by the binomial series and use the contour integrals for the beta function (see 2.7) to get

$$_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & z \end{pmatrix} = \frac{t\Gamma(c)e^{i\pi(a-c)}}{2\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-a)\sin\pi(c-a)}\int_{a}^{(1+)}f(t)\,dt,$$
 (6)

if R(b) > 0, (c - a) is not a positive integer, $|\arg(1 - x)| < \pi$,

$$_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z = -\frac{i\Gamma(c)e^{-i\tau a}}{2\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-a)\sin \pi a} \int_{1}^{(0+)} f(t) dt,$$
 (7)

if R(c) > R(a), b is not a positive integer, $|\arg(-z)| < \pi$,

$$_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & c \end{pmatrix}z = -\frac{\Gamma(c)e^{-i\pi c}}{4\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-a)\sin\pi a\sin\pi(c-a)}\int^{(1+,0+1-0-1)}f(t)\,dt,$$
 (8)

if nonco fthe numbers a, 1 - c, c - a is a positive integer, $|\arg(-x)| < \pi$ In (6)-(8), the path of integration begins at a point of the Riemann surface of f(t) (see (5)), t real, 0 < t < 1, and t^* , $(1 - t)^{-c}$ adonte the principal values of these functions. Also $(1 - xt)^{-b}$ is such that it approaches 1 if a approaches b.

The following are generalizations of (1)

$$\begin{array}{l}
\underset{s+i}{\underset{r+1}{F_{s+1}}} \left(\frac{\beta_i \cdot \alpha_s}{\beta + \sigma_i \cdot \beta_s} \right)^2 \\
= \frac{\Gamma(\beta + \sigma)z^{1-\beta-\sigma}}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\sigma)} \int_{-1}^{1} t^{\beta-1} (z - t)^{\alpha-1} {}_{p} F_{\bullet} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_s \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix} t \right) dt
\end{array} (9)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_{\alpha}^{1} i^{3-1}(z-t)^{\alpha-1} \, _{\alpha}F_{\alpha} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ \varphi_{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} i \, di \qquad (9)$$

$$\Gamma(\beta+\alpha) \, _{\alpha}^{1} \qquad (9)$$

$$=\frac{\Gamma(\beta+\sigma)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\sigma)}\int_{0}^{1}t^{\beta-1}(1-t)^{\sigma-1}{}_{\sigma}F_{\tau}\left(\frac{\sigma_{\sigma}}{\rho_{\sigma}}\Big|zt\right)dt$$
(10)

$$=\frac{2\Gamma(\beta+\sigma)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\sigma)}\int_{0}^{\pi/2} (\sin\theta)^{2\delta-1}(\cos\theta)^{2\sigma-1} {}_{\theta}F_{\pi}\binom{\alpha_{\theta}}{\rho_{\theta}} [x\sin^{2}\theta] d\theta \tag{11}$$

$$=\frac{2\Gamma(\beta+\alpha)}{\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\alpha)}\int_{0}^{\sqrt{\alpha}}(\cos\theta)^{2\beta-1}(\sin\theta)^{2\alpha-1} {}_{\sigma}F_{\sigma}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{\sigma}\\\alpha_{\sigma}\end{pmatrix}z\cos^{2}\theta\,d\theta. \tag{12}$$

under the conditions

$$p \le q+1$$
, $R(\beta) > 0$, $R(\sigma) > 0$; $|z| < 1$ if $p = q+1$.

Integrals like the above with ${}_{p}F_{q}$ replaced by an arbitrary function are sometimes called beta transforms. Representations for the ${}_{p+1}F_{q+1}$ above may be written as loop integrals [see (20), (21)].

The Laplace transform and the inverse Laplace transform of a $_pF_q$ are also members of the hypergeometric family. Thus,

$${}_{p+1}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \sigma, \alpha_{p} & \omega/z \end{pmatrix} = \frac{z^{\sigma}}{\Gamma(\sigma)} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-zt} t^{\sigma-1} {}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} & \omega t \end{pmatrix} dt \tag{13}$$

is valid under the five cases listed below. In each case $R(\sigma) > 0$ and $\alpha \neq 0$. It is convenient to set down the following conditions:

$$R(\sigma - \alpha_j) < 1, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., p,$$
 (14)

$$\nu = \sum_{h=1}^{p} \alpha_h - \sum_{h=1}^{q} \rho_h. \tag{15}$$

CASE 1. p < q, $| \arg z | < \pi/2$.

CASE 2.
$$p = q - 1$$
, $|\arg z| = \pi/2$, $\arg \omega = \pi$, (14), $R(4\sigma + 2\nu) < 3$.

CASE 3. p=q, $|\arg z|<\pi/2$, $R(z)>R(\omega)$ or $R(z)=R(\omega)$, $z\neq\omega$ and $R(\sigma+\nu)<1$.

CASE 4.
$$p = q$$
, $|\arg z| = \pi/2$, $\pi/2 < |\arg \omega| < 3\pi/2$, (14).

CASE 5.
$$p = q$$
, $|\arg z| = |\arg \omega| = \pi/2$, $z \neq \omega$, (14), $R(\sigma + \nu) < 1$.

In Cases 3 and 5, we can have $z = \omega$ if $R(\sigma + \nu) < 0$.

The above conditions arise to insure that the integral is convergent and, aside from the condition $R(\sigma) > 0$, are derived using the asymptotic properties of the ${}_{p}F_{q}$ for large argument [see 5.11 and the statement 5.3(3)]. A generalization of (13) is given by 5.6.3(1). Using the latter, we find that for $zy \neq 0$,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-zt} t^{\sigma-1} {}_{p} F_{p-1} \left(\frac{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{p-1}} \middle| -yt \right) dt = \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p-1}) z^{-\sigma}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} G_{p,p+1}^{p+1,1} \left(\frac{z}{y} \middle| \frac{1}{\sigma}, \rho_{p-1} \right),$$

$$R(\sigma) > 0, \quad |\arg y| < \pi, \quad |\arg z| < \pi/2 \quad \text{or}$$

$$|\arg z| = \pi/2 \quad \text{and} \quad R(\sigma - \alpha_{j}) < 1, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., p. \tag{16}$$

In (13) and (16) we supposed that $z \neq 0$ By appropriate use of limiting forms we can let $z \rightarrow 0$ Thus

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{s-1} \, p F_{0} \begin{pmatrix} x_{0} \\ p_{0} \end{pmatrix} - \pi l \right) dt - \frac{\pi^{-1} \Gamma(p) \Gamma(x_{0} - q) \Gamma(p_{0})}{\Gamma(x_{0}) \Gamma(p_{0} - q)},$$

$$0 < R(p) < R(x_{0}) \quad j = 1 \ 2 \quad p \quad \gamma \neq 0$$

$$q - p + 1 \quad R(p + 2p) < \frac{1}{2} \quad \gamma > 0$$

$$q \quad p \quad |\arg \gamma| < \pi | 2 \quad \text{or} \quad |\arg \gamma = \pi | 2 \quad \text{if} \quad R(p + q) < 1 \quad (17)$$

$$q = p \quad 1 \quad |\arg \gamma| < \pi$$

where ν is given by (15) We also have for $R(\sigma) > 0$ and $z \neq 0$,

also have for
$$R(\sigma) > 0$$
 and $x \neq 0$,
 $\rho : F_{\pi}\left(\frac{\sigma}{\rho_{\pi}} + \frac{1}{\sigma_{\pi}}\right) d_{\pi} v_{1}^{2}(x) = \frac{\pi}{\Gamma(\sigma)} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-it_{2}\sigma \cdot 1} {}_{\pi}F_{\pi}\left(\frac{\sigma_{\pi}}{\rho_{\pi}}\right) e^{it_{2}t} dt$

$$\rho \leqslant q \quad 2 \qquad \arg x \mid < \pi/2$$

$$p - q - 1 \quad (a) \quad R(z) > 2|R(\omega)| > 0 \quad \text{or}$$

$$(b) \quad R(z) > 2|R(\omega)| > 0 \quad \text{or}$$

$$(c) \quad R(z) + v \mid < -\frac{1}{2} \quad \text{or}$$

$$(c) \quad R(z) = R(\omega) = 0$$

$$R(\sigma + v) < -\frac{1}{2}$$

$$R(\sigma \quad 2\pi_{0}) < 1 \quad h \quad 12 \quad p$$

where v is as in (15)

The inverse Laplace transform is given by

$$\omega^{g_1} {}_{g}F_{g_1} \left(\frac{\alpha_g}{\beta} \rho_g \middle| \omega z \right) = \frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{2\pi i} \int_{e-i\infty}^{e+i\infty} e^{ist} t {}^{g}{}_{g}F_{g} \left(\frac{\alpha_g}{\beta_g} \middle| z/t \right) dt$$

 $\omega \text{ real } \omega \neq 0 \quad R(\beta) > 0 \quad c > 0 \quad p \leq q \quad (19)$

Also $|\arg(1-z/c)| < \pi \text{ if } p - q + 1$

Next we turn to some loop and other integrals involving the ${}_{p}F_{q}$ From 2.7(9)

$${}_{\mathfrak{p}+1}F_{\mathfrak{p}+1}\left(\begin{smallmatrix} \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} & \beta \\ \rho_{\mathfrak{q}} & \sigma+\beta \end{smallmatrix} \middle| z \right) = \frac{\Gamma(\sigma+\beta)\Gamma(1-\sigma)}{2\pi i\Gamma(\beta)} \int_{\mathfrak{p}}^{(n+)} t^{\theta-1}(t-1)^{n-1} {}_{\mathfrak{p}}F_{\mathfrak{p}}\left(\begin{smallmatrix} \alpha_{\mathfrak{p}} \\ \rho_{\mathfrak{q}} \end{smallmatrix} \right) zt \right) dt$$

$$R(\beta) > 0 \quad p \le q \quad p \quad q+1 \text{ if } |z| < 1$$
 (20)

and so also

$$F_{q+1}F_{q+1}\left(\begin{matrix} \alpha_{p}, \beta \\ \rho_{q}, \sigma + \beta \end{matrix} \middle| z^{-1}\right) = -\frac{\Gamma(\sigma + \beta)\Gamma(1 - \sigma)}{2\pi i \Gamma(\beta)}$$

$$\times \int_{-\infty}^{(1+)} t^{-\sigma - \beta} (1 - t)^{\sigma - 1} {}_{p}F_{q}\left(\begin{matrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{matrix} \middle| (zt)^{-1}\right) dt,$$

$$R(\beta) > 0, \quad p \leq q; \qquad p = q + 1 \quad \text{if} \quad |z| < 1. \quad (21)$$

Further loop integrals may be derived using 2.7(8, 10). The following loop integral is easily proved from 2.7(3). Thus under the conditions given for (13) but without $R(\sigma) > 0$,

$${}_{p+1}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \sigma, \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} \omega/z = -\frac{\Gamma(1-\sigma)z^{\sigma}}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{(0+)} e^{-zt} (-t)^{\sigma-1} {}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} \omega t dt. \quad (22)$$

Similarly, from 2.7(1),

$$\omega^{\beta-1} {}_{p}F_{q+1} \left(\alpha_{p} \atop \rho_{q}, \beta \middle| \omega z \right) = \frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{2\pi i} \int_{-\infty}^{(0+)} e^{\omega t} t^{-\beta} {}_{p}F_{q} \left(\alpha_{p} \middle| z/t \right) dt, \tag{23}$$

where $\omega > 0$ and $p \leqslant q$. Equation (23) is also valid if p = q + 1 provided that the radius of the circular part of the contour $(-\infty, 0+)$ in the t-plane is greater than |z|. This radius is arbitrary if $p \leqslant q$. This radius is arbitrary if $p \leqslant q$.

The integral

$$\int_{-\infty}^{(0+)} (-t)^{\sigma-1} {}_{p} F_{q} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} - \eta t dt = -\frac{2\pi i \eta^{-\sigma} \Gamma(\alpha_{p} - \sigma) \Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(1 - \sigma) \Gamma(\alpha_{p}) \Gamma(\rho_{q} - \sigma)}, \quad (24)$$

is valid under the same conditions as for (17), but without the restriction $R(\sigma) > 0$. Also, for $\eta \neq 0$,

$$\int_{-c-i\infty}^{-c+i\infty} (-t)^{\sigma-1} {}_{\nu}F_{q} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} -\eta t dt = \frac{2\pi i \eta^{-\sigma} \Gamma(\alpha_{p}-\sigma)\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(1-\sigma)\Gamma(\alpha_{p})\Gamma(\rho_{q}-\sigma)},$$

$$c > 0, \qquad R(\sigma-\alpha_{h}) < 0, \qquad h = 1, 2, ..., p,$$

$$q = p, \qquad \eta > 0, \qquad R(\sigma+\nu) < 1,$$

$$q = p - 1, \qquad |\arg \eta| < \pi/2, \qquad c < R(1/\eta), \qquad (25)$$

where ν is defined by (15), and under these same conditions

$$\int_{-c-t\infty}^{-c+t\infty} (-t)^{\sigma-1} f_{+2} F_{g+1} \left(-\frac{n}{\beta}, \frac{n+\lambda}{\beta}, \gamma_f \left| -\frac{\omega}{t} \right|_{p} F_{q} \left(\frac{\alpha_p}{\rho_q} \left| -\eta t \right| \right) dt \\
= \frac{2\pi i \eta^{-\sigma} \Gamma(\alpha_p - \sigma) \Gamma(\rho_q)}{\Gamma(1-\sigma) \Gamma(\alpha_p) \Gamma(\rho_q - \sigma)^{p+f+2}} F_{q+g+2} \left(-\frac{n}{\beta}, \frac{n+\lambda}{\beta}, \gamma_f, \frac{\alpha_p - \sigma}{\beta} \left| \omega \eta \right| \right), \tag{26}$$

$$\int_{-\epsilon-\epsilon n}^{\epsilon+in} (-1)^{\alpha} f_{,\epsilon} F_{\epsilon-1} \left(\beta + 1 \delta_{\epsilon} \right) - \frac{\omega}{\epsilon} \right) F_{\epsilon} \left(\beta_{\epsilon} \right) - \eta \epsilon \right) dt$$

$$= \frac{2\pi \eta^{\alpha} \Gamma(a_{\epsilon} - \alpha) \Gamma(a_{\epsilon})}{\Gamma(1 - \alpha) \Gamma(a_{\epsilon}) \Gamma(a_{\epsilon} - \alpha)} e^{-\mu \epsilon_{\epsilon} \beta_{\epsilon}} F_{\epsilon+\epsilon+\epsilon} \left(\beta + 1, \delta_{\epsilon}, 1 - \alpha, \rho_{\epsilon} - \alpha \right) \omega \eta \right)$$
(27)

For generalizations of Eqs. (9)-(27) see 5.6

One of the most useful representations for the ${}_{x}F_{1}$, and indeed for the ${}_{y}F_{q}$ as well as a generalization of the latter [see 5 2(1)], is an integral of the Mellin-Barnes type. We consider

$$\frac{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)}{\Gamma(c)} {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a,b \\ c \end{pmatrix} z = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{-c_{0}}^{c_{0}} \frac{\Gamma(a+t)\Gamma(b+t)\Gamma(-t)(-z)^{t}}{\Gamma(c+t)} dt,$$

$$|arg(-z)^{t}| < \pi, \qquad (28)$$

where the path of integration is indented so that the poles due to $\Gamma(-t)$ lie to the right of the path while those due to $\Gamma(a+t)$ and $\Gamma(b+t)$ lie to the left of the path Such a contour is always possible provided that neither a nor b is a negative integer or zero. We further suppose that (b-a) is not an integer or zero so that the poles are simple. For the case when this does not hold, see the discussion surrounding 3 10(14, 5).

If U is the integrand of (28), we can write, in virtue of 2 2(2),

$$U = -\frac{\pi \Gamma(a+t)\Gamma(b+t)(-x)^t}{\Gamma(c+t)\Gamma(1+t)\sin \pi t}$$

Let t = u + iv on the path of integration Then

$$\left| \frac{(-z)^t}{\sin \pi t} \right| = \left| \frac{|z|^t \exp[tt \arg(-z)]}{\sin \pi t \cosh \pi v + t \cos \pi u \sinh \pi v} \right|$$

$$= \frac{\exp[u(\ln z) - v \arg(-z)]}{\{\sin^2 \pi u \cosh^2 \pi v\} + cos^2 \pi u \sinh^2 \pi v\}^{1/2}}$$

Using 2 11(11), we see that

$$|U| = O(|t^{a+b-e-1}| \exp[u(\ln |x|)] \exp[-|v|[x \pm \arg(-x)]])$$
 (29)

as $t \to \pm \infty$ on the contour Thus U is an analytic function of z provided that $|\arg(-z)| \le \pi - \epsilon$ where ϵ is arbitrarily small but positive Now let

$$I = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{-1}^{1} U dt$$

where C is a semicircle to the right of the imaginary axis with center at the origin and radius $N + \frac{1}{2}$, N a large positive integer. Let

 $t = (N + \frac{1}{2})e^{i\theta}$ on C. Then by an analysis similar to that which led to (29), we have

$$|U| = O((N + \frac{1}{2})^{R(a+b-c-1)} \exp\{(N + \frac{1}{2})[\cos\theta \ln|z| - \epsilon|\sin\theta|]\})$$

as $N \to \infty$. If |z| < 1 so that $\ln |z|$ is negative, since $-\pi/2 \le \theta \le \pi/2$ and $\epsilon > 0$, it follows that U is an exponential decay whence

$$\lim_{N\to\infty} |V| = 0.$$

By Cauchy's theorem

$$\int_{-1\infty}^{+\infty} U \, dt - \left\{ \int_{-1\infty}^{-(N+\frac{1}{2})t} U \, dt + \int_{C} U \, dt + \int_{(N+\frac{1}{2})t}^{+\infty} U \, dt \right\}$$

equals the negative of $(2\pi i)$ times the residues of U at the points t = 0, 1, ..., N. As $N \to \infty$ the last three integrals tend to zero. Since

$$\lim_{t\to N}(t-N)U=-\frac{\pi\Gamma(a+N)\Gamma(b+N)(-z)^N}{\Gamma(c+N)N!\,(d/dt)(\sin\pi t)|_{t=N}}=\frac{\Gamma(a+N)\Gamma(b+N)z^N}{\Gamma(c+N)N!},$$

we get 3.1(13) for |z| < 1. This last restriction may now be removed by the principle of analytic continuation.

Next suppose that

$$W = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_D U dt$$

where D is a semicircle to the left of the imaginary axis with center at the origin and radius $N + \delta$, N a large positive integer, and δ is such that none of the poles of $\Gamma(a+t)$ and $\Gamma(b+t)$ lie on D. Then by an analysis used to prove (28), we get

$$\frac{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b-a)}{\Gamma(c-a)}(-z)^{-a} {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a, 1+a-c \\ 1+a-b \end{pmatrix} z^{-1}$$

+ a like expression with a and b interchanged

$$= (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{\Gamma(a+t)\Gamma(b+t)\Gamma(-t)(-z)^t}{\Gamma(c+t)} dt, \quad |\arg(-z)| < \pi, \quad (30)$$

where the path of integration is as in (28). Coupling (28) and (30), we get 3.9(1), a formula connecting three ${}_{2}F_{1}$'s. This is an important relation for it serves as the analytic continuation of ${}_{2}F_{1}(a, b; c; z)$ into the domain where |z| > 1. A rather complete discussion of analytic continuation is given in 3.9.

37 Differential Equations for the 3F1

The unique second order linear differential equation with three isolated regular singularities at $z=0.1\,$ and so can be written in the form

$$[z(1-z)D^2 + (c - (a+b+1)z)D - ab]w = 0 D = d/dz ($$

or by virtue of 2 9(1)

$$[\delta(\delta + \epsilon - 1) \quad z(\delta + a)(\delta + b)] \omega = 0 \quad \delta = zD$$
 (2)

We call (1) or (2) the Gaussian hypergeometric equation. For a discussion of the second order linear differential equation with three isolated regular singularities located at arbitrary points and related data see Erdely et al. (1953). Norlund (1963) and Poole (1960).

Integration of (2) leads to

generally the differential equation

$$[(\delta+c-1)-z(\delta+b)-z(a-1)]\ w-(a-1)(b-1)\int_0^t w(t)\ dt=c-1$$
(3)

so that if b = 1, w satisfies the first order nonhomogeneous differential equation

$$[(\delta + c - 1) - z(\delta + 1) - z(\alpha - 1)] w = c - 1$$
(4)

We shall presently show that ${}_{2}F_{1}(a \ b \ c \ z)$ is a solution of (1) More

$$\frac{h(h-1)}{(h)^2} J^* + \left\{ \frac{h(h-1)}{(h)^2} \left(\frac{2ah}{x} + 2fh - h^* \right) + \frac{(a+b+1)h - c}{h} \right\} J + \left\{ \binom{a+b+1}{x} + f \right\} \left\{ \frac{(a+b+1)h - c}{h} + \frac{h(h-1)}{(h)^2} \left[-c(\frac{a-1}{x}) \frac{h}{x} + \frac{2cfh}{x} + f'h + (f)^2 h - \frac{ah^2}{x} fh^* \right] + ab \right\} J = 0$$
(5)

with h = h(z) f = f(z) and y = y(z) is satisfied by

$$y(z) = z^{-a_E fls} {}_2F_1 \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & h(z) \end{pmatrix} \qquad (6)$$

By the method of Frobenius assume the solution of (1) in the form

$$w = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k x^{k-m}$$
 (1)

Combine (2) with (7) and employ 2.9(3). Then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} u_k \{ (m+k)(m+k+c-1) z^k - (m+k+a)(m+k+b) z^{k+1} \} = 0.$$
 (8)

The coefficient of u_0z^0 set to zero is the indicial equation which has two zeros, which we suppose are distinct. Denote these by m_h , h=0, 1, so that $m_0=0$ and $m_1=1-c$. Equating like powers of z in (8), we get the recursion relation

$$u_{k+1} = \frac{(k+m_h+a)(k+m_h+b)}{(k+m_h+c)(k+m_h+1)} u_k, \tag{9}$$

and so

$$u_k = \frac{(m_h + a)_k (m_h + b)_k}{(m_h + c)_k (m_h + 1)_k} u_0.$$
 (10)

For each m_h , we can take $u_0 = 1$ and so the linearly independent solutions of (1) in the vicinity of the origin are proportional to

$$w_1 = {}_2F_1(a, b; c; z),$$
 (11)

and

$$w_2 = z^{1-c} {}_2F_1(1+a-c, 1+b-c; 2-c; z),$$
 (12)

provided that c is not an integer or zero. Each series converges for |z| < 1, and appeal to 3.3(3) shows that w_1 and w_2 are

absolutely convergent for |z| = 1 if R(a + b - c) < 0,

conditionally convergent for |z| = 1, $z \neq 1$ if $0 \leq R(a+b-c) < 1$, (13)

divergent if
$$|z| = 1$$
 and $1 \le R(a + b - c)$.

It is clear that we must enlarge the definition of the solutions of (1) when c is an integer or zero. First we note that w_1 is a polynomial of degree m, a positive integer or zero if either a = -m or b = -m. Throughout our discussion, since w_1 is symmetric in a and b, if one of these is specialized, we will let it be a. If a = -m and c is a negative integer, m + c < 1, then a well-defined solution of (1) is

$$(a, b; c; z) = \sum_{k=0}^{-a} \frac{(a)_k (b)_k z^k}{(c)_k k!} = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(-m)_k (b)_k z^k}{(1-s)_k k!}$$

$$= \frac{(s-1-m)!}{(s-1)!} \frac{(b)_m z^m}{z} {}_2F_1 \left(\frac{-m, s-m}{1-m-b} \middle| z^{-1} \right),$$

$$c = 1-s, \quad s \text{ a positive integer}, \quad m < s, \tag{14}$$

and this is independent of w_1 . Likewise, if a and c are positive integers, a < c, then

$$z^{2} \cdot f(1 + a - c, 1 + b - c, 2 - c, z)$$

$$= z^{-c} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(m - t)_{k}(b - t)_{k}z^{k}}{(1 - t)_{k}k!}$$

$$= \frac{(m - 1)^{2} \Gamma(b - m) z^{-m}}{(r - 1)^{2} \Gamma(b - z)} z F_{1} \left(\frac{m - r, m}{1 + m - b} \right) z^{-2} \right), \quad (15)$$

a=m a positive integer, c=1+s, s=a positive integer or zero, m<s+1, is a well-defined solution of (1) and is independent of w_1 In (14) and (15), the $_2F_1$ notation applies only when (1-m-b) and (1+m-b), respectively, are not negative integers

If a = c, $w_1(a) = (1 - a)^{-b}$ and a second solution is given by (12) provided that a is not a positive integer. When a = c, it can be shown that a solution of (1) is

$$u \approx (1-a)(1-z)^{-b} \int_{-a}^{z} t^{-a}(1-t)^{b-1} dt$$
 (16)

In particular, if m and n are positive integers or zero, and the constant of integration in (16) is ignored,

$$u = x^{-n} \cdot \{(1-x)\} \cdot \sum_{k=0}^{n-n} \frac{(n-n)_k}{(-n)_k} \left(\frac{x}{x-1}\right)^k,$$

$$c = a = n + 2, \quad b = n - m + 1, \quad n \ge m,$$

$$u = (1-m)(1-x)^{-n-n-1} \cdot \begin{cases} \sum_{k=0}^{n+n} \frac{(-j)^k (n+k)}{k} x^{k+1-m} \\ \frac{1}{k} - m \end{cases} \cdot \frac{(-j)^k (n+k)}{k+1-m} \cdot \frac{(-j)^{n-1} (n+k)}{(n-1)^{n-1}} \ln x^{k+1-m}$$

$$c = a = m, \quad b = m + n + 1$$
(18)

If c is a negative integer or zero, say c = -m, w_1 is undefined. In this event, a solution can be taken proportional to

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{w_1}{f(k)} = \frac{(a)_{m+1}(b)_{m+1}z^{m+1}}{(m+1)!} {}_2F_1(m+a+1,m+b+1,m+2,z) \quad (19)$$

However, this is proportional to w_2 with c = -m It is convenient to defer a full investigation of the complete solution of (1) to 3 10

3.8. Kummer's Solutions

Kummer's 24 solutions of 3.7(1) are as follows:

$$w_1 = {}_2F_1(a, b; c; z)$$
 (1)

$$= (1-z)^{c-a-b} {}_{o}F_{1}(c-a,c-b;c;z)$$
 (2)

$$= (1-z)^{-a} {}_{o}F_{1}(a,c-b;c;z/(z-1))$$
(3)

$$= (1-z)^{-b} {}_{0}F_{1}(c-a,b;c;z/(z-1)). \tag{4}$$

$$w_2 = z^{1-c} {}_2F_1(1+a-c, 1+b-c; 2-c; z)$$
(5)

$$= z^{1-c}(1-z)^{c-a-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(1-a,1-b;2-c;z)$$
(6)

$$= z^{1-c}(1-z)^{c-a-1} {}_{2}F_{1}(1+a-c,1-b;2-c;z/(z-1))$$
 (7)

$$=z^{1-c}(1-z)^{c-b-1}{}_{2}F_{1}(1+b-c,1-a;2-c;z/(z-1)).$$
 (8)

$$w_3 = {}_2F_1(a,b;a+b+1-c;1-z)$$
(9)

$$= z^{1-c} {}_{o}F_{1}(a+1-c,b+1-c;a+b+1-c;1-z)$$
 (10)

$$= z^{-a} {}_{2}F_{1}(a, a+1-c; a+b+1-c; 1-z^{-1})$$
 (11)

$$= z^{-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(b, b+1-c; a+b+1-c; 1-z^{-1}).$$
 (12)

$$w_4 = (1-z)^{c-a-b} {}_2F_1(c-a,c-b,c+1-a-b;1-z)$$
 (13)

$$=z^{1-c}(1-z)^{c-a-b}{}_{2}F_{1}(1-a,1-b;c+1-a-b;1-z)$$
 (14)

$$= z^{a-c}(1-z)^{c-a-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(c-a,1-a;c+1-a-b;1-z^{-1})$$
 (15)

$$= z^{b-c}(1-z)^{c-a-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(c-b,1-b;c+1-a-b;1-z^{-1}).$$
 (16)

$$w_{5} = (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{a} {}_{2}F_{1}(a, a+1-c; a+1-b; z^{-1})$$
(17)

$$= (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{c-b}(1-z)^{c-a-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(1-b,c-b;a+1-b;z^{-1})$$
(18)

$$= (1-z)^{-\alpha} {}_{2}F_{1}(a,c-b;a+1-b;(1-z)^{-1})$$
(19)

$$= (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{c-1}(1-z)^{c-1-a} {}_{2}F_{1}(1-b,a+1-c;a+1-b;(1-z)^{-1}). (20)$$

$$v_6 = (z^{-1}e^{i\tau})^b {}_2F_1(b, b+1-c; b+1-a; z^{-1})$$
 (21)

$$= (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{c-a}(1-z)^{c-a-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(1-a,c-a;b+1-a;z^{-1})$$
 (22)

$$= (1-z)^{-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(b,c-a;b+1-a;(1-z)^{-1})$$
(23)

$$= (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{c-1}(1-z)^{c-1-b} {}_{2}F_{1}(1-a,b+1-c;b+1-a;(1-z)^{-1}). (24)$$

The formulas (1)-(4) follow by transformation of the variable in 3 $\mathcal{H}(1)$. They may also be proved from the integral representation 3 $\mathcal{H}(1)$. There replace t by (1-u)/(1-uz), 1-uz, and u/(1-uz) to get (2), (3), and (4), respectively. That (3) and (4) are identical follows since w, is symmetric in the parameters a and b

In 3 7(1) replace z by (1-z) whence we get (1) with c replaced by (a+b+1-c) Thus in the neighborhood of z=1, linear independent solutions of 3 7(1) are proportional to 9) and (13) provided (a+b+1-c) is not an integer or zero. As in the case for w_1 and w_2 , we get the formulas (9)-1(16)

ionimizes (97(0)), replace z by 1/z and w by $x^{\infty}w$ whence δ must be replaced by $(-\delta + a)$ [see 2.9(2, 4)]. We then get an equation of the type 3.7(1), and in the neighborhood of infinity, hierar independent solutions of 3.7(1) are proportional to w_0 and w_0 provided that (a + 1 - b) is not an integer of zero. We therefore get the eight formulas (170 - b).

The above 24 solutions of 3.7(1) are known as Kummer's solutions. The conditions for convergence may be inferred from the discussion about 3.7(13) and are summarized in Table 3.1.

TABLE 11

		TABLE 31			
Formula	Absolute convergence			Except st	
(1) (5)	z < 1	R(s) < 0	$0 \le R(x) < 1$	z = 1	
(2) (6)	1 > 4	R(z) > 0	-1 < R(a) < 0	2 = 1	
(3) (7)	$R(z) < \frac{1}{4}$	$R(\beta) < 0$	$0 \le R(\beta) < 1$	z ł	
(4) (8)	$R(z) < \frac{1}{4}$	$R(\beta) > 0$	$-1 < R(\beta) < 0$	$z = \hat{i}$	
(9) (13)	1-x < i	$R(\gamma) < 0$	$0 \leqslant R(r) \leqslant 1$	a - 0	
(10) (14)	1-2 <1	$R(\gamma) > 0$	-1 < R(y) < 0	r - 0	
(11) (15)	$R(x) > \frac{1}{4}$	$R(\beta) < 0$	$0 \le R(\beta) < 1$	z - 00	
(12) (16)	$R(z) > \frac{1}{4}$	$R(\beta) > 0$	$-1 < R(\beta) < 0$	x - x	
(17) (21)	# > t	R(x) < 0	0 < R(z) < 1	g - 1	
(18) (22)	\$ >1	R(2) > 0	-1 < R(s) < 0	z - 1	
(19) (23)	1 2 > 1	$R(\gamma) < 0$	$0 \le R(\gamma) < 1$	z - 0	
(20) (24)	1-=>1	$R(\gamma) > 0$	-1 < R(y) < 0	z - 0	

From Table 3 1 we see that the pairs (3), (4) and (7), (8) furnish the analytic continuation of v_0 and v_x , respectively, from the interior of the unit circle with center at the origin to the half-plane $R(z) < \frac{1}{2}$ Similarly, the pairs (11), (12) and (15), (16) give the analytic continuation

of w_3 and w_4 , respectively, from the interior of the unit circle with center at z=1 to the half-plane $R(z)>\frac{1}{2}$, and the pairs (19), (20) and (23), (24) provide the analytic continuation of w_5 and w_6 , respectively, from the exterior of the unit circle with center at the origin to the interior of this circle which lies in the left half-plane.

It follows from Kummer's solutions that if c is not an integer or zero, one of the fundamental solutions of 3.7(1) is composed of only a finite number of terms whenever at least one of the numbers a, b, c-a, c-b is an integer or zero. This is the same as saying that at least one of the eight numbers $\pm(c-1) \pm (a-b) \pm (a+b-c)$ is an odd integer. Such solutions are called degenerate.

3.9. Analytic Continuation

The integrals 3.6(1, 6) define single valued analytic functions of z in the domain $|\arg(1-z)|<\pi$, and so serve for the analytic continuation of the ${}_2F_1$ hypergeometric series into this domain. It is convenient to denote the analytic continuation of the ${}_2F_1$ series by ${}_2F_1$, and this means the principal branch of the analytic function generated by the hypergeometric series. Similarly, the integrals 3.6(7, 8, 28) serve for the analytic continuation of the ${}_2F_1$ series into the domain $|\arg(-z)| < \pi$.

We suppose for the moment that w_1 and w_2 , w_3 and w_4 , and w_5 and w_6 (see 3.8) are the fundamental solutions of 3.7(1) about z=0, 1, and ∞ , respectively. Clearly all six of these quantities cannot be independent, and any three must be linearly related. This gives rise to twenty relations. Let the triplet of numbers (p, q, r) stand for the relation between w_p , w_q , and w_r . Thus (1, 5, 6) signifies the equation connecting w_1 , w_5 , and w_6 . This expression, given by (1) below, has already been proved [see 3.6(28-30)]. In 3.6(30), we have replaced $(-z)^{-a}$ and $(-z)^{-b}$ by $(z^{-1}e^{i-})^a$ and $(z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^b$, respectively, so that z is now restricted by $0 < \arg z < 2\pi$. In (1, 5, 6), replace a, b, and c by 1 + a - c, 1 + b - c, and 2 - c, respectively, to get (2, 5, 6) [see (2)]. By elimination, we find (1, 2, 5) and (1, 2, 6) [see (3) and (4)], respectively.

Next we show how to get the four relations involving w_1 , w_2 , w_3 , and w_4 . Suppose that

$$w_3 = B_1 w_1 + B_2 w_2$$

where B_1 and B_2 are constants to be determined. We require that $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$ and temporarily suppose that R(a+b-c) < 0 and R(c-1) < 0 so that w_1 and w_2 converge at z=1 and w_3 converges at z=0. Let $z\to 0$ from the right. Then $w_1=1$, $w_2=0$, and B_1

70

follows from 3 13 1(1) Let z - 1 from the left Again use 3 13 1(1) and B. readily follows The formula (1, 2, 3) is given by (5) The restrictions on the parameters used in its proof can be relaxed by analytic continuation, provided, of course, that we stay away from the singular points z = 0 and z = 1 The (1, 2, 3) formula may also be derived from a Mellin-Barnes contour integral, see Whittaker and Watson (1927, p. 290) Replace a and b by (c-a) and (c-b), respectively, in (1, 2, 3) to get (1, 2, 4) [see (6)] Then (1, 3, 4) and (2, 3, 4) [see (7) and (8)] follow by elimination

We have thus far obtained eight of the twenty relations. The remaining twelve can be found by elimination. Thus, for example, (3, 4, 5) follows from (1, 3, 4), (2, 3, 4), and (1, 2, 5) If D, D, and D, represent the domains |z| < 1, |z-1| < 1, and |z| > 1, respectively, then (1)-(4) and (5)-(8) give the relations connecting the functions in D, and D. and D, and D., respectively The formulas (9)-(12) serve for analytic continuation between D2 and D3 There remain eight expressions which involve series that converge in a different domain. These are given by (13)-(16) In (1)-(4) and (13)-(16), $0 < \arg z < 2\pi$ In (5)-(9), $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$ The right hand sides of (11), (12) are given with the wrong sign in Erdelyi et al [1953, p. 107, Eqs. (38), (40)]

$$w_1 = \frac{\Gamma(b-a)\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(b)\Gamma(c-a)}w_5 + \frac{\Gamma(a-b)\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-b)}w_4 \qquad (1)$$

$$w_t = \frac{\Gamma(b-a) \Gamma(2-c) e^{ix(1-c)}}{\Gamma(1-a) \Gamma(1+b-c)} w_b + \frac{\Gamma(a-b) \Gamma(2-c) e^{ix(1-c)}}{\Gamma(1-b) \Gamma(1+a-c)} w_b$$
 (2)

$$w_{a} = \frac{\Gamma(1+a-b)\Gamma(1-c)}{\Gamma(1-b)\Gamma(1+a-c)}w_{1} + \frac{\Gamma(1+a-b)\Gamma(c-1)e^{av(c-1)}}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-b)}w_{2}$$
(3)

$$w_{6} = \frac{\Gamma(1+b-a)\Gamma(1-c)}{\Gamma(1-a)\Gamma(1+b-c)}w_{1} + \frac{\Gamma(1+b-a)\Gamma(c-1)e^{i\pi(c-1)}}{\Gamma(b)\Gamma(c-a)}w_{2}$$
(4)

$$w_3 = \frac{\Gamma(a+b+1-c)\Gamma(1-c)}{\Gamma(b+1-c)\Gamma(a+1-c)}w_1 + \frac{\Gamma(a+b+1-c)\Gamma(c-1)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)}w_2$$
 (5)

$$w_4 = \frac{\Gamma(c+1-a-b)\Gamma(1-c)}{\Gamma(1-a)\Gamma(1-b)}w_1 + \frac{\Gamma(c+1-a-b)\Gamma(c-1)}{\Gamma(c-a)\Gamma(c-b)}w_2 \qquad (6)$$

$$w_1 = \frac{\Gamma(c-a-b)\,\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c-a)\,\Gamma(c-b)}\,w_3 + \frac{\Gamma(a+b-c)\,\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\,\Gamma(b)}\,w_4 \tag{7}$$

$$w_1 = \frac{\Gamma(c - a - b) \Gamma(2 - c)}{\Gamma(1 - a) \Gamma(1 - b)} w_0 + \frac{\Gamma(a + b - c) \Gamma(2 - c)}{\Gamma(a + 1 - c) \Gamma(b + 1 - c)} w_4$$
(8)

$$w_{3} = \frac{\Gamma(b-a) \Gamma(a+b+1-c) e^{-i\pi a}}{\Gamma(1+b-c) \Gamma(b)} w_{5} + \frac{\Gamma(a-b) \Gamma(a+b+1-c) e^{-i\pi b}}{\Gamma(1+a-c) \Gamma(a)} w_{6}.$$

$$\tag{9}$$

$$w_4 = \frac{\Gamma(b-a) \Gamma(c+1-a-b) e^{i\pi(b-c)}}{\Gamma(1-a) \Gamma(c-a)} w_5 + \frac{\Gamma(a-b) \Gamma(c+1-a-b) e^{i\pi(a-c)}}{\Gamma(1-b) \Gamma(c-b)} w_6.$$
(10)

$$w_{5} = \frac{\Gamma(c-a-b) \Gamma(1+a-b) e^{i\pi a}}{\Gamma(1-b) \Gamma(c-b)} w_{3} + \frac{\Gamma(a+b-c) \Gamma(1+a-b) e^{i\pi(c-b)}}{\Gamma(1+a-c) \Gamma(a)} w_{4}.$$
(11)

$$w_{6} = \frac{\Gamma(c-a-b) \Gamma(1+b-a) e^{i\pi b}}{\Gamma(1-a) \Gamma(c-a)} w_{3} + \frac{\Gamma(a+b-c) \Gamma(1+b-a) e^{i\pi(c-a)}}{\Gamma(1+b-c) \Gamma(b)} w_{4}.$$
(12)

$$\frac{\Gamma(b) \Gamma(c-b)}{\Gamma(c)} w_1 = \frac{\Gamma(b) \Gamma(1+a-c) e^{i\pi b}}{\Gamma(a+b+1-c)} w_3 - \frac{\Gamma(c-b) \Gamma(1+a-c) \exp[i\pi(1+b-c)]}{\Gamma(1+a-b)} w_5;$$
(13)

interchange a and b to get the relation connecting w_1 , w_3 , and w_6 .

$$\frac{\Gamma(1+b-c)\Gamma(1-b)}{\Gamma(2-c)}w_2 = \frac{\Gamma(1+b-c)\Gamma(a)\exp[i\pi(1+b-c)]}{\Gamma(a+b+1-c)}w_3 - \frac{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(1-b)\exp[i\pi(1+b-c)]}{\Gamma(1+a-b)}w_5;$$
(14)

interchange a and b to get the relation connecting w_2 , w_3 , and w_6 .

$$\frac{\Gamma(c-a)\,\Gamma(a)}{\Gamma(c)}\,w_1 = \frac{\Gamma(c-a)\,\Gamma(1-b)\,\exp[i\pi(c-a)]}{\Gamma(1+c-a-b)}\,w_4 - \frac{\Gamma(a)\,\Gamma(1-b)\,\exp[i\pi(1-a)]}{\Gamma(1+a-b)}\,w_5;$$
(15)

interchange a and b to get the relation between w_1 , w_4 , and w_6 .

$$\frac{\Gamma(1-a)\Gamma(1+a-c)}{\Gamma(2-c)}w_{2} = \frac{\Gamma(c-b)\Gamma(1-a)\exp[i\pi(1-a)]}{\Gamma(1+c-a-b)}w_{4} - \frac{\Gamma(1+a-c)\Gamma(c-b)\exp[i\pi(1-a)]}{\Gamma(1+a-b)}w_{5};$$
(16)

interchange a and b to get the relation between w_2 , w_4 , and w_6 .

3.10 The Complete Solution

We now take up the question of obtaining the complete solution to the hypergeometric equation 37(1) in the singular cases previously mentioned Recall that w, and w, are not independent or one of these is not defined if c is an integer or zero, and none of the numbers a. b. c-a, c-b is an integer. The same may be said for the pairs w_3 , w_4 and w_a , w_b if (a+b+1-c) and (a+1-b), respectively, are integers or zero. In the degenerate cases where any of the numbers a. b. c = a, c = b is an integer, fundamental solutions are easily picked out from Kummer's set of 24 solutions, see the concluding remarks of 3.8 In this section we develop expansions which are solutions of 3 7(1) when the denominator parameters of the 2F1's appearing in w1, w2, w5 are integers. Thus, for example, we develop expansions which satisfy 3.7(1) and which are independent of w, when c is a positive integer or zero Furthermore, the analytic continuation of these solutions is automatically provided. Except in some of the degenerate cases, the solutions involve logarithms and are called logarithmic solutions. In this connection, the degenerate solutions are a simple by-product of the logarithmic solutions A rable listing the degenerate solutions and the logarithmic solutions for various choices of the parameters a, b, and c is given in Erdelvi et al (1953, Vol 1, pp 71-73) We have made several improvements on this table which we present at the end of this section. In this connection, see also Norlund (1963)

To simplify the analysis, consider

$$\begin{split} V(z) &= (ze^{-4z})^{-a_1}z\Gamma_1\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 + a_1 - b_0 & 1 + a_1 - b_1\\ 1 + a_1 - a_2 \end{array}\right)z^{-1} \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(b_0 - b_1)\Gamma(1 + a_1 - a_2)}{\Gamma(b_0 - a_2)\Gamma(1 + a_1 - b_2)}(ze^{-4z})^{-1}b_2^{1}z\Gamma_1\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 + a_1 - b_0 & 1 + a_2 - b_2\\ 1 + b_1 - b_0 \end{array}\right)z^{1} \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(b_1 - b_2)\Gamma(1 + a_1 - a_2)}{\Gamma(b_1 - a_2)\Gamma(1 + a_2 - b_2)}(ze^{-4z})^{-1}b_1^{1}z\Gamma_1\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 + a_2 - b_1 & 1 + a_2 - b_1\\ 1 + b_0 - b_1 \end{array}\right)z^{1} \\ 0 &< avg \times 4 - zv \end{split}$$

$$(1)$$

This is advantageous as it can represent any of the formulas 3 9(1-4) by making the substitutions in the accompanying tabulation

V(z)	Equation	2	ø,	a,	ō,	ė,	
m,	3 9(1)	z lebet	0	1 - c	1 0	1 - 6	
ginte tipo,	3 9(2)	y-lelat	1-0	0	1 - a	1 - b	(2)
ec,	3 9(3)	2	a	ь	1	c	` '
10.	3 9(4)	*	b	a	1	c	

Similarly Eqs. 3.9(5-8) are given by

$$W(z) = {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} 1 + a_{1} - b_{0} , b_{1} - a_{2} \\ 1 + a_{1} - a_{2} \end{array} \middle| z \right)$$

$$= \frac{\Gamma(b_{0} - b_{1}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - a_{2})}{\Gamma(b_{0} - a_{2}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - b_{1})} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} 1 + a_{1} - b_{0} , b_{1} - a_{2} \\ 1 + b_{1} - b_{0} \end{array} \middle| 1 - z \right),$$

$$+ (1 - z)^{b_{0} - b_{1}} \frac{\Gamma(b_{1} - b_{0}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - a_{2})}{\Gamma(b_{1} - a_{2}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - b_{0})} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} 1 + a_{1} - b_{1} , b_{0} - a_{2} \\ 1 + b_{0} - b_{1} \end{array} \middle| 1 - z \right),$$

$$|\arg(1 - z)| < \pi. \tag{3}$$

W(z)	Equation	æ	a_1	a ₂	b_0	b_1	
tv ₃	3.9(5)	1 - =	а	c-b	1	с	
$(1-z)^{a+b-c}w_4$	3.9(6)	1 - =	c - a	b	1	c	
v_1	3.9(7)	æ	а	1 + a - c	1	a+b+1-c	
$z^{c-1} \tau v_2$	3.9(8)	æ	a + 1 - c	а	1	a+b+1-c	

To represent 3.9(9-12), it is convenient to use two formulas:

$$T(z) = {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + a_{1} - b_{0}, 1 + a_{1} - b_{1} \\ 1 + a_{1} - a_{2} \end{pmatrix} | 1 - z \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \exp[i\pi(b_{0} - 1 - a_{1})] \frac{\Gamma(b_{0} - b_{1}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - a_{2})}{\Gamma(b_{0} - a_{2}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - b_{1})} (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{1+a_{1}-b_{0}}$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + a_{1} - b_{0}, b_{1} - a_{2} \\ 1 + b_{1} - b_{0} \end{pmatrix} | z^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \exp[i\pi(b_{1} - 1 - a_{1})] \frac{\Gamma(b_{1} - b_{0}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - a_{2})}{\Gamma(b_{1} - a_{2}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - b_{0})} (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{1+a_{1}-b_{1}}$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + a_{1} - b_{1}, b_{0} - a_{2} \\ 1 + b_{0} - b_{1} \end{pmatrix} z^{-1} , \quad 0 < \arg z < 2\pi.$$
(5)

$$T(z) \qquad \text{Equation} \qquad a_1 \qquad a_2 \qquad b_0 \qquad b_1$$

$$tv_3 \qquad 3.9(9) \qquad a \qquad c-b \qquad 1 \qquad 1+a-b \qquad (6)$$

$$(1-z)^{a+b-c}tv_4 \qquad 3.9(10) \qquad c-a \qquad b \qquad 1 \qquad 1+b-a$$

Note that

$$z^{1+a_1-b_0}T(z) = W(1-z^{-1}). \tag{7}$$

$$\begin{split} U(s) &= \left(z^{-a_1^{l,p}}\right)^{a_1a_2} b_1 \cdot \xi^a_1 \left(\begin{matrix} 1+a_1-b_2\cdot b_1\cdots a_2\\ 1+a_1-a_2\end{matrix} \right| z^{-1} \right) \\ &\simeq \frac{\prod(b_2-b_1)\prod(1+a_1-a_2)}{\prod(b_2-a_2)\prod(1+a_1-b_2)} \exp[i\pi(1+a_1-b_2)] \\ &\times z^F_1 \left(\begin{matrix} 1+a_1-b_2\\ 1+b_1-b_2\end{matrix} \right) -1 + a_2-b_2 \right) \\ &+ \frac{\prod(b_1-b_2)\prod(1+a_1-a_2)}{(a_1a_2)\prod(1+a_2-b_2)} \exp[i\pi(1+a_1-b_1)](1-z)^{b_1-b_2} \\ &\times z^F_1 \left(\begin{matrix} 1+a_1-b_2\\ 1-b_2\end{matrix} \right) + \frac{1}{\prod(b_1-b_2)\prod(1+a_1-a_2)} \exp[i\pi(1+a_1-b_1)](1-z)^{b_1-b_2} \\ &\times z^F_1 \left(\begin{matrix} 1+a_1-b_1\\ 1-b_2-b_1\end{matrix} \right) -1 + a_2-b_2 \\ &1+b_2-b_1\end{matrix} \right] -1 -z \right), \quad 0 < \arg z < 2\pi \end{split}$$

U(z)	Equation	a_t	a ₁	b_0	b_1	
wı	3 9(11)	a	ь	1	1+a+b-c	(9)
to.	3 9(12)	ъ	٥	1	1+a+b-c	٠,

Note that

$$\exp(-i\pi a_i)(1-z)^{-b_s}U(z) = V((1-z)e^{2\pi i})$$
 (10)
In $V(z)$, suppose that $b_1 - b_0 = s + \epsilon$ where s is a positive integer

or zero We further suppose that neither of the numbers $1+a_1-b_0$ nor $1+a_2-b_0$ is a negative integer or zero. Then

$$\begin{split} F(z) &= \frac{\Gamma(\alpha - \epsilon_1) \Gamma(1 + \epsilon_2 - \epsilon_3)}{\Gamma(\delta_1 - \epsilon_3) \Gamma(1 + \epsilon_1 - \delta_2)} (\varepsilon e^{-\epsilon_1})^{(1 + \epsilon_3)} \varepsilon_F \left[1 + \epsilon_1 - \delta_2, 1 + \epsilon_2 - \delta_3 \right] z \right) \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(t + \epsilon_1) \Gamma(1 + \epsilon_3 - \epsilon_3)}{\Gamma(\delta_1 - \epsilon_3) \Gamma(1 + \epsilon_1 - \delta_3)} (\varepsilon e^{-\epsilon_1})^{(1 + \epsilon_2)} \varepsilon_F \left[1 + \epsilon_2 - \delta_1, 1 + \epsilon_4 - \delta_4 \right] z \right) \\ &- \frac{\Gamma(\epsilon_3 - \epsilon_3) \Gamma(1 + \epsilon_3 - \delta_3)}{\Gamma(1 + \epsilon_1 - \delta_3)} (\varepsilon e^{-\epsilon_1})^{(1 + \epsilon_2)} \varepsilon_F \right] \end{split}$$
(11)

Now the second ${}_{4}F_{1}$ can be expressed as two sums, viz., $\sum_{k=0}^{k-1}$ and $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}$. In the first sum we can let $\epsilon \to 0$. The second sum can be expressed in the form $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}$, and with

$$\begin{split} V_1(z) &= \frac{(zz^{-1}y^{(1)} + 3)[T(1 + a_1 - a_2)}{T(b_1 - a_1)T(1 + a_1 - b_1)} \\ &\times \sum_{l=a}^{\infty} \frac{(1 + a_1 - b_1)_k(1 + a_2 - b_1)_k(t - 1 - k)!(-)^k z^k}{T(b_1 - a_2)T(1 + a_1 - b_2)_k(1 + a_2 - b_1)_{-1}} \\ &= \frac{(z^{-2}z^{(k)})_kT(1 + a_1 - a_2)[1 + a_1 - b_2)_k(1 + a_2 - b_1)_{-1}}{T(b_1 - a_2)T(1 + a_1 - b_2)(t - 1)!} \\ &\times F_2\left(\frac{1}{1} + \frac{1}{b_2 - a_2}, \frac{1}{1} + \frac{1}{b_2 - a_2}\right]z^{-1}\right), \end{split}$$
(1)

we can write

$$V(z) - V_{1}(z) = \frac{(-)^{s+1}\Gamma(1-\epsilon)\Gamma(1+a_{1}-a_{2})(ze^{-i\pi})^{(1-b_{0})}}{\epsilon(1+\epsilon)_{s}\Gamma(b_{0}-a_{2})\Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{1})}$$

$$\times \left\{ {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} 1+a_{1}-b_{0}, 1+a_{2}-b_{0} & z \\ 1+s+\epsilon & z \end{pmatrix} - \frac{(ze^{-i\pi})^{-\epsilon}(1+s)_{\epsilon}(1+a_{1}-b_{0})_{-\epsilon}(1+a_{2}-b_{0})_{-\epsilon}\sin\pi(b_{0}-a_{2}+\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)\sin\pi(b_{0}-a_{2})} \right\}$$

$$\times {}_{3}F_{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1+a_{1}-b_{0}-\epsilon, 1+a_{2}-b_{0}+\epsilon, 1 & z \\ 1-\epsilon, 1+s \end{pmatrix} .$$

Now let $\epsilon \to 0$. Then by L'Hospital's theorem

$$V(z) = V_{1}(z) + \frac{(-)^{s+1}(ze^{-i\pi})^{(1-b_{0})}\Gamma(1+a_{1}-a_{2})}{s! \Gamma(b_{0}-a_{2}) \Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{1})}$$

$$\times \left\{ \left[\gamma + \ln(ze^{-i\pi}) + \psi(1+a_{1}-b_{0}) + \psi(b_{0}-a_{2}) - \psi(1+s) \right] \right.$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 + a_{1} - b_{0} & 1 + a_{2} - b_{0} \\ 1 + s \end{array} \right) z \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1+a_{1}-b_{0})_{k}(1+a_{2}-b_{0})_{k}z^{k}}{(1+s)_{k}k!}$$

$$\times (\psi(1+a_{1}-b_{0}+k) - \psi(1+a_{1}-b_{0})$$

$$+ \psi(1+a_{2}-b_{0}+k) - \psi(1+a_{2}-b_{0})$$

$$- \psi(1+s+k) + \psi(1+s) - \psi(1+k) + \psi(1) \right\}, \qquad (13)$$

 $b_1 = b_0 + s$, s is a positive integer or zero,

 $1 + a_1 - b_0$ is not a negative integer or zero,

 $1 + a_2 - b_0$ is not an integer or zero,

$$0 < \arg z < 2\pi$$
.

It is understood that if s = 0, $V_1(z)$ is nil, i.e., $\sum_{k=0}^{s-1}$ is nil if s = 0. This convention is retained throughout.

We can also derive (13) from the Mellin-Barnes contour integral 3.6(28). For example, if $V(z) = w_1$, then a = b + s. The integrand of 3.6(28) (there replace t by u) has simple poles at u = -b - k, k = 0, 1, ..., s - 1,

s>0 If u=-b-s-k, k=0,1, , these are poles of the second order Now

$$A = \frac{\Gamma(a+u)\Gamma(b+u)\Gamma(-u)(-z)^u}{\Gamma(c+u)} = \frac{\pi\Gamma(a+u)\Gamma(-u)(-z)^u}{\sin \pi(b+u)\Gamma(c+u)\Gamma(1-b-u)}$$

and the residue of A at u = -b - k is

$$\frac{d}{du}\{(u+b+k)A\}_{u=-b-k} = \frac{(ze^{-(c)})^b\Gamma(b+k)(1-b-c)_k(z-1-k)^b(-z)^{-k}}{\Gamma(c-b)\,k!} \tag{44}$$

Again, we can write

$$A = \frac{(-)^t \pi^2 \Gamma(-u)(-z)^u}{\sin^2 \pi(a+u) \Gamma(1-a-u) \Gamma(1-b-u) \Gamma(c+u)}.$$

and the residue of A at u = -a - k is

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{du} \{ (u + a + k)^{2} A \}_{u = u - k} &= \frac{(-)^{u + k} \{ r \cdot k^{u} \} F \{ a + k \} (1 + a - c)_{n} r^{-k}}{\Gamma(c - a)(r + k)^{2} k^{2}} \\ &\times \{ \ln(x^{-1} e^{t a}) + \psi(a + k) \\ &+ \psi(c - a - k) - \psi(1 + k) - \psi(1 + s + k) \} \end{split}$$
(15)

When the contour integral is evaluated as a sum of the residues of its integrand due to the poles enumerated above, (14) leads to the polynomial $V_1(z)$ and (15) leads to the series expansion for $V(z) - V_1(z)$, all of this for V(z) = w, as cited

We now consider the restrictions imposed on $1 + a_1 - b_0$ and $1 + a_2 - b_0$ in (13) If $1 + a_1 - b_0$ is a negative integer or zero, then from (12), $V_1(2) = 0$ and with the aid of 2 4(13),

$$V(z) = \frac{(-)^m (m+s)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma(1+a_1-a_2)}{s^{\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma(b_0-a_2)} (ze^{-(s)})^{\frac{1}{2}} b_0 {}_2F_1 \left(\begin{array}{cc} m & 1+a_2-b_0 \\ 1+s \end{array} \right| z \right)$$

$$1 + a_1$$
 $b_0 = m$, m a positive integer or zero, (16)

which is the statement (1)

If $(b_0 - a_2)$ is a negative integer or zero, a similar analysis gives

$$V(z) = V_1(z) + \frac{\{-\}^{n_1+i_1}(m-1)^{i_1}\Gamma(1+a_1-a_2)}{z^{i_1}\Gamma(1+a_1-b_1)} (z\ell^{i_2})^{(1-b_2)} \times {}_{\chi}F_1\begin{pmatrix} m & 1+a_1-b_0\\ & 1+z \end{pmatrix} z \},$$
(17)

$$\begin{split} V_{1}(z) &= \frac{(s-1)! \; \Gamma(1+a_{1}-a_{2})(ze^{-i\pi})^{(1-b_{1})}}{(s-m)! \; \Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{0})} \\ &\times \sum_{k=0}^{s-m} \frac{(m-s)_{k}(1+a_{1}-b_{1})_{k}z^{k}}{(1-s)_{k}k!} \\ &= \frac{(m-1)! \; \Gamma(1+a_{1}-a_{2}) \; \Gamma(a_{1}-a_{2})}{(s-m)! \; \Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{0}) \; \Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{1})} \; (ze^{-i\pi})^{(1-b_{1})}z^{s-m} \\ &\times {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\left. \begin{array}{c} m-s, m \\ m+b_{0}-a_{1} \end{array} \right| z^{-1} \right), \\ &b_{0}-a_{2}=1-m, \qquad m \text{ a positive integer,} \end{split}$$

and this too could be deduced directly from (1). In (17), the second form for $V_1(z)$ follows from 3.2(7). Note that $V_1(z)$ vanishes for m > s.

Now suppose that $(b_0 - a_2)$ is a positive integer. Then application of 2.4(14) to (13) gives

$$V(z) = V_{1}(z) + \frac{(-)^{s-1}(ze^{-i\pi})^{(1-b_{0})}\Gamma(1+a_{1}-a_{2})}{s! \ m! \ \Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{1})}$$

$$\times \left\{ \left[\gamma + \ln(ze^{-i\pi}) + \psi(1+a_{1}-b_{0}) + \psi(1+m) - \psi(1+s) \right] {}_{2}F_{1} \left(-\frac{m}{1+s}, \frac{1+a_{1}-b_{0}}{1+s} \right) \right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(-m)_{k}(1+a_{1}-b_{0})_{k}z^{k}}{(1+s)_{k}k!}$$

$$\times (\psi(1+a_{1}-b_{0}+k) - \psi(1+a_{1}-b_{0}) + \psi(1+m-k) - \psi(1+m)$$

$$- \psi(1+s+k) + \psi(1+s) - \psi(1+k) + \psi(1)) + (-)^{m}m!$$

$$\times \sum_{k=m+1}^{\infty} \frac{(1+a_{1}-b_{0})_{k}(k-m-1)! \ z^{k}}{(1+s)_{k}k!} \right\},$$

$$b_{1} = b_{0} + s, \qquad 1+a_{2} - b_{0} = -m, \qquad 0 < \arg z < 2\pi,$$

$$(18)$$

where m and s are positive integers or zero. Note that the last infinite series in (18) can be expressed in terms of a $_3F_2$.

Thus (13) is valid without the restrictions on $(1 + a_1 - b_0)$ and $(1 + a_2 - b_0)$. The point is that without these conditions, the expansion is free of logarithms unless $(b_0 - a_2)$ is a positive integer.

If $a_1 = b_0 + \nu$, $a_2 = b_0 - \mu - \lambda - 1$, and $b_1 = b_0 - \mu$, or if $a_1 = b_0 + \nu + \mu$, $a_2 = b_0 - \lambda - 1$, and $b_1 = b_0 + \mu$, where μ , ν , and λ are positive integers or zero, then the logarithmic solution for V(z) can be put in the form 3.4(15). If $b_0 = a_2$ or $b_1 = a_2$, see 3.7(16).

For IV(z) we have

$$W_1(z) = \frac{(1-z) \cdot I'(1+a_1-a_2)}{I'(b_1-a_2)I'(1+a_1-b_2)}$$

$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{k-1} \frac{(1+a_1-b_1)_k(b_2-a_2)_k(t-1-b_1)^*(-1)^k(1-z)^k}{k!}$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{k+1}I'(1+a_1-a_2)(1+a_1-b_2)_{k+1}(b_2-a_2)_{k+1}}{(1-z)!(b_2-a_2)^*(1+a_1-b_2)(z-1)!}$$

$$\times F^2 \left(1 + b_2 - a_1, 2 - b_1 + a_1 - \frac{1}{1-z}\right), \qquad (19)$$

$$IV(z) = W_1(z) + \frac{(-)^{k+1}I'(1+a_1-a_2)}{iI'(b_2-a_2)I'(1+a_2-b_1)}$$

$$\times \left[(p + \ln(1-z) + \psi(1+a_2-b_1) + \psi(b_1-a_2) - \psi(1+i)\right]$$

$$\times F^2 \left(1 + \frac{1}{4a_1-b_2}, \frac{1}{4b_2}, \frac{1}{4a_2}\right)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{a} \frac{(1+a_2-b_2)_k(b_1-a_2)_k(1-z)^k}{(1+i)_k^{k+1}}$$

$$\times (\psi(1+a_1-b_2)_k(b_1-a_2)_k(1-z)^k$$

$$\times (\psi(1+a_1-b_2)_k(b_1-a_2)_k(1-z)^k$$

$$+ \psi(1+a_1-b_2)_k(b_1-a_2)_k(1+a_2-b_2)$$

$$+ \psi(1+a_1+b_2)_k(1+a_2-b_2) + \psi(b_2-a_2+b_2) - \psi(1+a_2+b_2) + \psi(1+a_2-b_2) + \psi(1+a_2+b_2) + \psi(1+a_2-b_2)$$

$$+ \psi(1+a_1+b_2)_k(1+a_2-b_2) + \psi(1+a_2-b_2) +$$

where $b_1 = b_0 + s$, s is a positive integer or zero, neither of the numbers $1 + a_1 - b_0$ nor $b_1 - a_2$ is a negative integer or zero, and $|\arg(1 - z)| < \pi$ If $(1 + a_1 - b_0)$ is a negative integer or zero, then directly from (3), and without the restriction that b_1 is a positive integer, we have

$$W(z) = {}_{z}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} -m, b_{1} - a_{1} \\ 1 - m - a_{2} \end{pmatrix} z \end{pmatrix} = \frac{(b_{1})_{m}}{(a_{2})_{m}} {}_{z}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} -m, b_{1} - a_{1} \\ b_{2} \end{pmatrix} 1 - z \end{pmatrix},$$

$$a_{1} = -m, \quad m \text{ a positive integer or zero} \quad (21)$$

If $(b_1 - a_2)$ is a negative integer or zero, we again arrive at the form (21) since W(x) is symmetric in its numerator parameters

Suppose now that $\delta_0 = b_1 + s_1$ a positive integer or zero. Then W(z) is given by the right-hand side of (20) if there we interchange the

roles of \hat{b}_0 and \hat{b}_1 and multiply throughout by $(1-s)^*$ If $a_1 = v + 1$, $a_2 = -\mu - \lambda$, and $b_1 = v - \lambda + 1$, or if $a_1 = v + \mu + 1$, $a_2 = -\lambda$, and $b_1 = v - \lambda + 1$, where μ_1 , and λ are positive integers or zero, then the logarithmic solution is also given by 3 4(15) If $b_0 = a_1$ or $b_1 = 1 + a_2$, see 3 7(16) Similarly, from (5)

$$T_{1}(z) = \frac{\exp[i\pi(b_{1} - 1 - a_{1})] \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - a_{2})(z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{1 + a_{1} - b_{1}}}{\Gamma(b_{1} - a_{2}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - b_{0})}$$

$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \frac{(1 + a_{1} - b_{1})_{k}(b_{0} - a_{2})_{k}(s - 1 - k)! (-)^{k}z^{-k}}{k!}$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{s+1}z^{b_{0}-a_{1}}\Gamma(1 + a_{1} - a_{2})(1 + a_{1} - b_{1})_{s-1}(b_{0} - a_{2})_{s-1}}{\Gamma(b_{1} - a_{2}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - b_{0})(s - 1)!}$$

$$\times {}_{3}F_{2} \left(\begin{vmatrix} 1 - s, 1, 1 \\ 1 + b_{0} - a_{1}, 2 + a_{2} - b_{0} \end{vmatrix} z \right), \qquad (22)$$

$$T(z) = T_{1}(z) + \frac{(-)^{s+1}\Gamma(1 + a_{1} - a_{2}) z^{b_{0}-a_{1}-1}}{s! \Gamma(b_{0} - a_{2}) \Gamma(1 + a_{1} - b_{1})}$$

$$\times \left\{ [\gamma - \ln z + \psi(1 + a_{1} - b_{0}) + \psi(b_{1} - a_{2}) - \psi(1 + s)] \right\}$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\begin{vmatrix} 1 + a_{1} - b_{0}, b_{1} - a_{2} \\ 1 + s \end{vmatrix} z^{-1} \right) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 + a_{1} - b_{0})_{k}(b_{1} - a_{2})_{k}z^{-k}}{(1 + s)_{k}k!}$$

$$\times (\psi(1 + a_{1} - b_{0} + k) - \psi(1 + a_{1} - b_{0})$$

$$+ \psi(b_{1} - a_{2} + k) - \psi(b_{1} - a_{2}) - \psi(1 + s + k)$$

$$+ \psi(1 + s) - \psi(1 + k) + \psi(1) \right\}, \qquad (23)$$

where $b_1 = b_0 + s$, s is a positive integer or zero, neither of the numbers $1 + a_1 - b_0$ nor $b_1 - a_2$ is a negative integer or zero, and $0 < \arg z < 2\pi$. The restriction on the numbers $1 + a_1 - b_0$ and $b_1 - a_2$ is not essential. In the absence of this restriction, T(z) is not logarithmic and the forms for T(z) can be deduced directly from (5). The discussion is like that for W(z) in view of (7).

If $a_1 = \nu + 1$, $a_2 = -\mu - \lambda$, and $b_1 = -\mu + 1$ or if $a_1 = \nu + \mu + 1$, $a_2 = -\lambda$, and $b_1 = \mu + 1$, where μ , ν , and λ are positive integers or zero, then the logarithmic solution for T(z) follows from 3.4(15). If $b_0 = a_2$ or $b_1 = a_2$, see 3.7(16).

For U(z) [see (8)] we have

$$U_{1}(z) = \frac{\Gamma(1+a_{1}-a_{2}) \exp[i\pi(1+a_{1}-b_{1})](1-z)^{-s}}{\Gamma(b_{1}-a_{2}) \Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{0})} \times \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \frac{(1+a_{1}-b_{1})_{k}(1+a_{2}-b_{1})_{k}(s-1-k)! (-)^{k}(1-z)^{k}}{k!} = \frac{\exp[i\pi(a_{1}-b_{0})] \Gamma(1+a_{1}-a_{2})(1+a_{1}-b_{1})_{s-1}(1+a_{2}-b_{1})_{s-1}}{(1-z) \Gamma(b_{1}-a_{2}) \Gamma(1+a_{1}-b_{0})(s-1)!} \times {}_{3}F_{2} \left(\frac{1-s, 1, 1}{1+b_{0}-a_{1}, 1+b_{0}-a_{2}} \left| \frac{1}{1-z} \right| \right),$$
(24)

$$\begin{split} U(z) &= U_1(z) + \frac{(-)^{n+1}[(1+a_1-a_2) \exp[in(1+a_1-b_2)]}{i! f(1+a_1-b_1) f(b_2-a_2)} \\ &\times \left[(y + \ln(1-z) e^{ix} + \psi(1+a_1-b_2) + (b_2-a_2) - \psi(1+i) \right] \\ &\times \mathcal{F}_1 \left(\begin{matrix} 1+a_1-b_2 & 1+a_2-b_2 \\ 1+i \end{matrix} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{(1+a_1-b_2)(1+a_2-b_2)(1-z)^k}{(1+i)k!} \end{split}$$

$$\times \left(\psi(1+a_1-b_0+k) - \psi(1+a_1-b_0) + \psi(1+a_2-b_0+k) \right. \\ \left. - \psi(1+a_2-b_0) - \psi(1+s+k) + \psi(1+s) - \psi(1+k) + \psi(1) \right) \bigg\},$$

$$b_1 = b_0 + \epsilon$$
, a positive integer or zero. (25)

$$1 + a_1 - b_0$$
 is not a negative integer or zero.

 $1 + a_n - b_n$ is not an integer or zero.

 $0 < \arg z < 2\pi$

If $b_0 = b_1 + s$, s as in (25), then U(z) is given by the right-hand side of (25) if there we interchange the roles of bo and bi and multiply throughout by (1 - z)

Concerning the restrictions in (25), if $(1 + a_1 - b_2)$ is a negative integer or zero, or if $(b_0 - a_2)$ is a negative integer or zero, then U(z)is not logarithmic, and the forms for U(z) can be inferred directly from (8) The discussion is akin to that for V(z) in view of (10) Also

$$U(z) = U_1(z) + \frac{(-)^{m+1}Y(1 + a_1 - a_2) \exp[i\pi(1 + a_2 - b_2)]}{m^2(1 + a_1 - b_1)}$$

$$\times \left[(y + \ln(1 - z) e^{ix} + \psi(1 + a_1 - b_1) + \psi(1 + m) - \psi(1 + i) \right]$$

$$\times z^{F_1} \left(-\frac{m_1}{1 + a_1} - \frac{b_2}{a_1} \right) \left[1 - z \right) + \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(-m)_k(1 + a_1 - b_2)_k(1 - z)^k}{(1 + a_1)^k}$$

$$\times (\psi(1 + a_1 - b_1 + k) - \psi(1 + a_1 - b_3) + \psi(1 + m - k)$$

$$-\psi(1 + m) - \psi(1 + i + k) - \psi(1 + k) + \psi(1)$$

$$+ (-)^{m_1} \sum_{l=m+1}^{m} \frac{(k - m - l)^l(1 + a_1 - b_2)_k(1 - z)^k}{(1 + i)^{k+1}}$$

$$b_1 = b_2 + t, \quad 1 + a_2 - b_3 = -m, \quad 0 < \arg z < 2\pi,$$

where m and s are positive integers or zero

TABLE 3.2

Table of Solutions in the Degenerate Case⁴

	Logarithmic solution	Ţ	l	1	Ĭ	$w_{2,2} = x^{1-c}(1-z)^s W(z)$, see (3) and (20), with $b_0 = 1, b_1 = s+1, a_1 = m+1, 1+a_1-a_2 = 2-c$	$w_{1,1} = W(z)$, see (3) and (20) with b_1 and b_0 interchanged, and then put $b_0 = 1$, $b_1 = s+1$, $1+a_1-b_1 = m+1$, $1+a_1-a_2 = c$	$w_{2,2} = z^{1-\epsilon}(1-z)^{-s} W(z)$, see (3) and (20) with b_1 and b_0 interchanged, and then put $b_0 = 1$, $b_1 = s+1$, $1+a_1-b_1 = m+1$, $a_2 = b$	$w_{1,1} = W(z)$, see (3) and (20) with $b_0 = 1$, $b_1 = s+1$, $a_1 = m+1$, $1+a_1-a_2 = c$	$w_{1,1} = V(z)$, see (1) and (17) with $b_0 = -m - s$, $b_1 = -m$, $a_1 = 0$, $a_2 = 1 - c$, and z replaced by $z^{-1}e^{2\pi t}$	
	Second	w _{2,2}	w _{1,1}	$w_{2,1}$	$w_{1,2}$	$w_{2,2}$	w _{1,1}	27.23	1,102	<i>w</i> 1,1	
Dogen.	erate Second solution solution	w _{1,1} w _{2,2}	$w_{2,2}$	20,1,2	$w_{2,1}$	$w_{1,1}$	w _{2,2}	201,1	w _{2,2}	$w_{2,2}$	
	c-a-b	n.i.	n.i.	n.i.	n.i.	ν,	ч	ຳ	S	n.i.	
	v	1.5		i.		n.i.	n.i.	n.i.	n.i.	n.i.	
	q		i	; ; <u>.</u>		n.i.	n.i.	i.	n.i.	m+1+s	
	8		# -	7 44 7	# 	4 c-m-1 5 -m	6 #+1	# -	m+1	9 m+1	
	Case a	•	→ (7 ,	ο.	4 ν	9	7	∞	6	

^a See Notation on p. 84 for explanation of table symbols.

	Logar thrme solution		$m_{k,1} = x^k \cdot (1-x)^{\epsilon} \Rightarrow V(x)$ see (1) and (17) with $b_k = -m-\epsilon$ $b_k = m$ $a_1 = 0$ $a_k = \epsilon-1$ and x replaced by x , $e^{i \pi \epsilon}$	1	$w_{t+} = (xe^{-x})^x (1-x)^x \stackrel{a=1}{=} V(x)$ see (1) and (17) with $b_0 = 1 b_1 = x+1 a_1 = 1-a a_2 = 1-b$	$ta_{1} = (1-x)^{m+1} P(x)$ see (1) and (17) with $b_{1} = 1 b_{1} = x+1$ $a_{1} = m++1$	$w_{11} = (se^{-i\tau}) \ V(z)$ see (1) and (17) with $b_0 = 1$ $b_1 = s+1 \ a_1 = m+s+1 \ 1+a_1-a_2 = m+2 \ b$	$w_{s,1} = V(s)$ see (1) and (17) with $b_0 = 1$ $b_1 = s+1$ $a_1 = m+s+1$ $a_2 = b$. 1	1021 = A(3) see 34(13) with v = m+2 µ = n
£	Degen erate Second solut on solution	8 p 1 0		gap to	• • •	•	ž.	1,0	gap	1100
TABLE 32 (cont)	Degen erate solut on	1,03	1101 1101	100	i s	11/21	:	e e	2011 1011 deg	
	c a-b	ī	Ē	ï	ā	ā	ï	Ē	ŭ	-2m-n-1-1
	•	ē	2	1-11-1	Ī	Ŧ	Ì	Ŧ	m+s+2	Ŧ
	٠	-	E	ē	ā	Ē	ē	ĭ	ĭď	m+s+n+1 s+1

13 -- 11-1

82

14 -- 11 15 m+1

12

Case a

16 m+++1

18 #+1+1

17 m+1

 $m_{s,1} = A(x)$ see 3.4(13) with $\nu = m+z$ $\mu = n$ $\lambda = m$ and a replaced by 1-x

	$w_{1,1} = A(z)$, sec 3.4(15) with $\nu = m$, $\mu = s$, and $\lambda = n$	$w_{0.2} = (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{m+i+1} (1-z)^{m-n} A(z)$ where $A(z)$ is given by 3.4(15) with $\nu = m, \mu = s, \lambda = n,$ and z replaced by z^{-1}		$w_{4,1} = (1-z)$ 3.4(15) with $\nu = m+s$, $\mu = n$, $\lambda = m$, and z replaced by $1-z$	$w_{2,3} = z^{m+n+s+1}(1-z)^{m-s} A(z)$ where $A(z)$ is given by 3.4(15) with $\nu = m, \ \mu = n, \ \text{and} \ \lambda = s$	$w_{4,1} = x'(1-x)^{m+2n+s+1} A(x)$ where $A(x)$ is given by 3,4(15) with $v = n+s$, $\mu = m$, $\lambda = n$, and x replaced by $1-x$	Vita invited by	$w_{0,1} = (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{n+1} A(z)$ where $A(z)$ is given 3.4(15) with $\nu = n$, $\mu = s+1$, $\lambda = m$, and z replaced by z^{-1}	——————————————————————————————————————	$w_{3,2} = z^{s+1}A(z)$ where $A(z)$ is given by sorting with $v = m+s+1$, $\mu = n$, $\lambda = m$, and z replaced by $1-z$	
we, 2 deg.	$w_{1.1}$	20,02	win deg.	<i>w</i> 4,1	$w_{2,2}$	W2.1 W4.2	$w_{6,1}$ deg.	w _{6,1}	w3,1 deg.	203.3	
20,1,3	20,01	w _{1.1}	w _{1,1}	$w_{1,1}$	206.1	w _{2.1}	$w_{2,1}$	w _{2.1}	102.2	w _{2,2}	
-m-s-1		т п	m+s+1	2m+n+s+1	m-s	m + 2n + s + 1	m + n + 1	<i>m-m</i>	-m-s-1 -n-s-2	-2m-n-s-2	
	m+n+s+2 $n-m$	\$ 1-	n+s+2	s+1	s-u-u-s	1-5	-n-s-1	ĩ	-m-s-1	۶ ا	
m + s + n + 2 $m + n + 2$	m+s+1	n+s+1	n+1	# 	Ħ	s-u-	2 – n	n+1	<i>n</i> +1	m+n+1	
, ,	19 m+1 20 m+1	#	Ħ	-m-n	24 -m-n	2-11-11-12-13-13-13-13-13-13-13-13-13-13-13-13-13-	26 -11-11-5-2 -11	-m-s-1	#-	m+1	
ç	19 m+1 20 m+1	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	78	29	ļ

If $a_1 = v + 1$, $a_2 = -\mu - \lambda$, and $b_1 = v - \lambda + 1$ or if $a_1 = v + \mu + 1$, $a_2 = -\lambda$, and $b_1 = v - \lambda + 1$, where μ , ν , and λ are positive integers or zero, then the logarithmic solution for U(z) can be expressed by the form 34(15) If $b_1 = a_2$ or $b_1 = 1 + a_2$, see 37(16)

Notation for the Table of Solutions in the Degenerate Case (Table 3 2)

It is convenient to introduce some notation

m, n, s Denotes nonnegative integers

n 1 Means that the quantity is not an integer

(see 3 8(1-24))

As previously noted we have the 24 series of Kummer These may be divided into six sets, each set consisting of four equations. We have already called the sets w_i , i = 1, 2, 6. We now use w_i , to designate the jth equation in the rih set Thus w_1 , w_2 , and w_2 , stand for Eq. 3 8(1).

3 8(6), and 3 8(22), respectively

deg Denotes that the second solution is also degenerate

Note that all degenerate solutions can be expressed
in terms of the f notation, see 3 7(14)

Since the hypergeometric equation is symmetric in a and b, we assume that

- (1) If a or b is an integer, then a is an integer
 - (2) If c a or c b is an integer, then c a is an integer
 - (3) If b-a is an integer, then $b-a\geqslant 0$

If a = c, see 3 7(16)

Wronskians

Let

$$W_{ij} = W(w_i, w_j) \approx w_i(z) w_j(z) - w_i(z) w_j(z),$$
 (27)

$$A = z^{-\epsilon}(1-z)^{\epsilon-a-b-1}$$
 (28)

Then

$$W_{13} = (1 - c) A$$
 $W_{13} = -\frac{\Gamma(a + b + 1 - c) \Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a) \Gamma(b)} A,$ (29)

$$W_{14} = -\frac{\Gamma(c+1-a-b)\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c-a)\Gamma(c-b)}A$$
, $W_{15} = \frac{\Gamma(1+a-b)\Gamma(c)e^{i\pi c}}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-b)}A$,

$$W_{23} = -\frac{\Gamma(a+b+1-c)\Gamma(2-c)}{\Gamma(a+1-c)\Gamma(b+1-c)}A, \quad W_{24} = -\frac{\Gamma(c+1-a-b)\Gamma(2-c)}{\Gamma(1-a)\Gamma(1-b)}A,$$
(31)

$$W_{25} = -\frac{\Gamma(1+a-b)\,\Gamma(2-c)}{\Gamma(1-b)\,\Gamma(1+a-c)}A, \qquad W_{34} = -(c-a-b)\,A, \tag{32}$$

$$W_{35} = \frac{\Gamma(a+b+1-c)\Gamma(1+a-b)e^{i\pi(c-b)}}{\Gamma(a+1-c)\Gamma(a)}A,$$

$$W_{45} = \frac{\Gamma(c+1-a-b)\Gamma(1+a-b)e^{i\pi a}}{\Gamma(1-b)\Gamma(c-b)}A,$$
(33)

$$W_{56} = (b - a) e^{i\pi c} A. (34)$$

To get W_{i6} for i = 1, 2, 3, 4 simply interchange the roles of a and b in W_{i5} .

3.11. Kummer-Type Relations for the Logarithmic Solutions

3.11.1. Introduction

The Kummer relations for ${}_2F_1(a,b;c;z)$ are given by 3.8(1-4). Here we develop similar-type relations for the logarithmic solutions V(z) and W(z) [see 3.10(13, 20)]. The analysis is due to Nörlund (1963), and in the main it is convenient to adopt his notation. The connection between the notations is given by 3.11.2(7-11).

3.11.2. THE CASE WHERE c IS A POSITIVE INTEGER

We assume that

$$c = s + 1$$
, s a positive integer or zero,
neither a nor b is one of the numbers 1, 2,..., s. (1)

Let

$$G_{1}(a,b;c;z) = (-)^{s+1}z^{-s}(a)_{-s}(b)_{-s}s! \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \frac{(a-s)_{k}(b-s)_{k}(s-1-k)! (-)^{k}z^{k}}{k!}$$

$$= \frac{s}{z(a-1)(b-1)} {}_{3}F_{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1-s,1,1\\2-a,2-b \end{pmatrix} z^{-1}, \qquad (2)$$

$$G(a, b, c, x) = G_1(a, b, c, x) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_k(b)_k x^k}{(x+1)_k k!} \times \{\ln x + \psi(a+k) - \psi(a) + \psi(b+k) - \psi(b) \}$$

$$+ \phi(1+s) - \phi(1+s+k) - \phi(1+k) + \phi(1)$$
,
 $|s| < 1, |s| < \pi.$ (3)

$$g(a, b, c, z) = G_1(a, b, c, z) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(a)_i(b)_i z^2}{(c+1)_i b!}$$

$$\times \{\ln x + \psi(a+k) + \psi(b+k) - \psi(1+s+k) - \psi(1+k)\},\$$

|z| < 1, $|\arg z| < \pi$, (4)

$$g_0(a, b, c, x) = G_1(a, b, c, x) + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_i(b)_i x^k}{(s+1)_i k!}$$

 $\times \{\ln z + \psi(1 - a - k) + \psi(1 - b - k)$ $-\psi(1 + s + k) - \psi(1 + k)\}.$

$$-\psi(1+x+x)-\psi(1+x),$$

$$|x|<1, \quad |\arg x|<\pi, \quad |\arg(1-x)|<\pi, \quad (5)$$

 $g_1(a, b, c, z) = G_1(a, b, c, z) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_k(b)_k z^k}{(z+1)_k k!}$

$$\times \left\{ \ln(ze^{-iax}) + \psi(1-a-k) + \psi(b+k) \right\}$$

$$-\phi(1+s+k)-\phi(1+k)$$
,

$$|z| < 1$$
, $\epsilon = \pm 1$, $-(1 - \epsilon)\pi < \arg z < (1 + \epsilon)\pi$ (6)

We now identify the Norlund notation with our V(z) and W(z) notation In 3 $\mathbb{I}0(1,2)$ let $a_1=b,a_2=a,b_3=1,b_1=c=s+1,1$ i.e. $V(z)=w_0$. For this set of parameters, snitead of V(z) and $V_1(z)$, write V(a,b,c,z), and $V_1(a,b,c,z)$, respectively. Then

$$V_1(a, b, c, z) = \frac{(-)^{n+1}\Gamma(1 + b - a)}{s!} G_1(a, b, c, z),$$
 (7)
 $V(a, b, c, z) = (ze^{-cs})^{-1} zF_1\left[\frac{b}{b}, 1 + b - c\right]\frac{1}{z}$
 $= \frac{(-)^{n+1}\Gamma(1 + b - a)}{s!} F_1\left[\frac{b}{b}, 1 + b - c\right] \frac{1}{z}$ (8)

Agam, in 1 (0/3, 4), let $a_1=a$, $a_2=c-b$, $b_0=1$, $b_1=c=c+1$, and replace z by 1-z, that is, $W(z)=w_0$. For this set of parameters,

instead of W(z) and $W_1(z)$, write W(a, b; c; z) and $W_1(a, b; c; z)$, respectively. Then

$$W_1(a,b;c;z) = \frac{(-)^{s+1}\Gamma(a+b-s)}{s! \Gamma(a-s)\Gamma(b-s)} G_1(a,b;c;z), \tag{9}$$

$$V_1(a,b;c;z) = \frac{(-)^s \Gamma(1+a-b) \Gamma(a)}{\Gamma(1+s-a) \Gamma(a+b-s)} W_1(a,b;c;z), \qquad (10)$$

$$W(a, b; c; z) = {}_{2}F_{1}(a, b; 1 + a + b - c; 1 - z)$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{s+1}\Gamma(a + b - s)}{s! \Gamma(a - s) \Gamma(b - s)} g(a, b; c; z).$$
(11)

Note that each of the equations (3)-(6) satisfies 3.7(1). If either a or b is a negative integer or zero (4) is not defined. So that a and b can assume all possible values, except for those noted in (1), is the reason for considering the solutions g_0 and g_1 . In (5) we suppose that neither a nor b is a positive integer, while in (6) we assume that a is not a positive integer and b is not an integer $\leq s$.

In view of 2.11(8),

$$\psi(a+k) + \psi(b+k) - \psi(1+s+k) - \psi(1+k) = (a+b-s-2)/k + O(k^{-2}),$$

so that (4) converges for z = 1 if R(a + b) < s + 2 or if a + b = s + 2. It is easily shown that

$$g(a, b; c; z) = G(a, b; c; z) + [\psi(a) + \psi(b) - \psi(c) - \psi(1)]_{2}F_{1}(a, b; c; z),$$

$$|\arg z| < \pi, \tag{12}$$

$$g_0(a, b; c; z) = G(a, b; c; z) + [\psi(1-a) + \psi(1-b) - \psi(c) - \psi(1)] {}_2F_1(a, b; c; z),$$

$$|\arg z| < \pi, \qquad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi, \qquad (13)$$

$$g_1(a, b; c; z) = G(a, b; c; z) + [\psi(1-a) + \psi(b) - \psi(c) - \psi(1) - \epsilon i\pi] {}_{2}F_1(a, b; c; z),$$

$$\epsilon = \pm 1, \qquad -(1-\epsilon)\pi < \arg z < (1+\epsilon)\pi, \tag{14}$$

$$g_0(a, b; c; z) - g(a, b; c; z) = \frac{\pi \sin \pi (a + b)}{\sin \pi a \sin \pi b} {}_2F_1(a, b; c; z),$$

$$|\arg z| < \pi, \qquad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi,$$
 (15)

$$g_1(a, b; c; z) - g(a, b; c; z) = \frac{\pi e^{-\delta_1 \tau a}}{\sin \pi a} {}_{2}F_1(a, b; c; z),$$

$$\delta = \pm 1, \qquad -(1 - \delta) \pi/2 < \arg z < (1 + \delta) \pi/2,$$

$$g_0(a, b, c, z) - g_1(a, b, c, z) = \frac{\pi e^{-b + \delta}}{\sin \pi b} z^F_1(a, b, c, z)$$

$$\delta = \pm 1, \quad -(1 - \delta)\pi/2 < \arg z < (1 + \delta)\pi/2$$

By differentiation of the power series, we have

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dx^{n}}g(a \ b, c, z) = \frac{(a)_{n}(b)_{n}}{(c)}g(a + n, b + n \ c + n, z), \quad (18)$$

$$\frac{d^n}{2\pi^n} \{z^{a+n} \mid g(a,b,c,z)\} = (a)_n z^{a-1} g(a+n,b,c,z),$$
(19)

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dc_{n}} \{z^{c-1}g(a, b, c, z)\} = (-)^{n}(1-c)_{n}z^{c-n-1}g(a, b, c-n, z)$$
(20)

Equations (18)—(20) are the analogs of 3 4(1, 4, 5), respectively, suitably

specialized Clearly in (18)–(20), g may be replaced by g_0 , g_1 , or G. It is readily verified that both G(a, b, c, z) and $(1 - z)^{-b}G(c - a, b, c, z)/(z - 1)$) satisfy the differential equation 3 7(1). Further, for x small, t, the coefficient of x is the same for both solutions. Hence, there must

$$\{1-z\} {}^{b}G(\varepsilon-a,b,\varepsilon,z)(z-1)\} - G(a,b,\varepsilon,z) = C {}_{a}F_{1}(a,b,\varepsilon,z),$$
 (21)

where C is a constant Expand both sides of (21) in powers of z and equate the constant terms. We find that

$$C = -\delta \iota \pi + A_{\epsilon}$$

where δ is as in (16), and A, can be put in the form

$$A_1 = \frac{s}{a-1} {}_3F_2 \left(\frac{1-s}{2-a}, \frac{1}{2} \right) = \psi(1-a) - \psi(1-a+s)$$

in view of 3 13 3(42) Thus,

be a relation of the form

$$G(a, b, c, z) = (1 - z)^{b}G(c - a, b, c, z)(z - 1))$$

 $+ [\delta m + \psi(1 - a + z) - \psi(1 - a)]_{z}F_{1}(a, b, c, z),$
 $\delta = \pm 1, \quad -(1 - \delta)m/2 < \arg z < (1 + \delta)m/2$ (22)

Now G(a, b, c, z) is symmetric in the parameters a and b. So

$$G(a \ b, c, z) = (1 - z)^{-a}G(a, c - b, c, z)(x - 1)) + [\delta i\pi + \phi(1 - b + s) - \phi(1 - b)] {}_{2}F_{i}(a, b, c, z)$$
(23)

and combining the latter two formulas, we get

$$G(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{c-a-b}G(c - a, c - b; c; z) + [\psi(1 - a + s) - \psi(1 - a) + \psi(1 - b + s) - \psi(1 - b)] {}_{2}F_{1}(a, b; c; z), \quad |\arg z| < \pi,$$
(24)

and in particular if c = 1, i.e., s = 0, we have

$$G(a, b; 1; z) = (1 - z)^{1-a-b}G(1 - a, 1 - b; 1; z), \quad |\arg z| < \pi.$$
 (25)

The combination (12) and (22) produces

$$g(a,b;c;z) = (1-z)^{-b}g\left(c-a,b;c;\frac{z}{z-1}\right) - \frac{\pi e^{-\delta i\pi a}}{\sin \pi a} {}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z), \quad (26)$$

a not an integer and δ as in (22). If we use (16), (26) becomes

$$g_1(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{-b}g(c - a, b; c; z/(z - 1)).$$
 (27)

In a similar fashion, we see that

$$g_1(b, a; c; z) = (1 - z)^{-a}g(a, c - b; c; z/(z - 1)),$$
 (28)

$$g_1(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{-a}g_0(a, c - b; c; z/(z - 1)),$$
 (29)

$$g_1(b, a; c; z) = (1 - z)^{-b}g_0(c - a, b; c; z/(z - 1)),$$
 (30)

$$g(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{-b}g_1(c - a, b; c; z/(z - 1)),$$
(31)

$$g_0(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{-a}g_1(a, c - b; c; z/(z - 1)).$$
 (32)

Combining these formulas, we get

$$g(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{c-a-b}g_0(c - a, c - b; c; z),$$
(33)

$$g_0(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{c - a - b} g(c - a, c - b; c; z), \tag{34}$$

$$g_1(a, b; c; z) = (1 - z)^{c-a-b}g_1(c - b, c - a; c; z).$$
 (35)

It can be shown that g(a, b; c; z) and ${}_{2}F_{1}(a, b; c; z)$ satisfy the same contiguous relations 3.4(19-27). For this and related items, see Kovalenko (1967).

Finally, we record Mellin-Barnes integral representations for the functions g, g_0 , and g_1 :

$$g(a,b;c;z) = \frac{(-)^{s+1}s!}{2\pi i \Gamma(a) \Gamma(b)} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \Gamma(a-t) \Gamma(b-t) \Gamma(t) \Gamma(t-s) z^{-t} dt,$$

$$|\arg z| < 2\pi, \qquad (36)$$

where the path of integration is indented if necessary so that the poles of $\Gamma(t)\Gamma(t-s)$ lie to the left and the poles of $\Gamma(a-t)\Gamma(b-t)$ lie to

the right of it Computing the integral as $2\pi i$ times the sum of the residues of the integrand due to the simple poles at t = s - 1, s - 2, 1, and due to the double poles at t = 0, -1, -2, we get the series (4)

The representation (11) is equivalent to

$$\begin{split} g(a,b,c,z) &= \frac{(-)^{s+1}t!\,\Gamma(a-s)\,\Gamma(b-s)}{2\pi i\Gamma(a)\,\Gamma(b)} \\ &\times \int_{-ta}^{ta} \frac{\Gamma(a-t)\,\Gamma(b-t)\,\Gamma(t)(z-1)^{-t}}{\Gamma(a+b-s-t)}\,dt, \\ &|\, \arg(z-1)| < \sigma, \end{split} \tag{37}$$

where the contour passes between the poles of $\Gamma(t)$ and the poles of $\Gamma(a-t)\Gamma(b-t)$ Thus follows by evaluating the integral as 2m times the sum of the residues of the integrand due to the poles at t=0, -1, -2.

We also have

$$g(a \ b, c, z) = \frac{(-)^{a+b}z! \ z^{-a}}{2\pi t} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{\Gamma(a-t) \Gamma(b-t) \Gamma(t-s)(z-1)^{a-t}}{\Gamma(a+b-t)} dt,$$

$$|are(z-1)| < \pi, \quad (38)$$

where the path of integration separates the poles of I'(a-t) and I'(b-t) from those of I'(t-s). This is again readily proved using the residue calculus and (4).

Next we have

$$\xi_{\theta}(a, b, \epsilon, x) = \frac{(-)^{s+2} \prod \Gamma(1-a) \Gamma(1-b)}{2\pi i}$$

$$\times \int_{u+1}^{u+1+6n} \frac{\Gamma(t) \Gamma(t-s) \pi^{-t}}{\Gamma(1+t-a) \Gamma(1+t-b)} dt,$$

$$0 < s < 1, R(a+b) < t + 2$$
(39)

Here the path of integration is a straight line parallel to the imaginary axis and crossing the real axis at s+1. Evaluate the integral in (39) as the sum of residues of its integrand at the poles, t=s, s-1, or toget (5). Note that the integral in (39) vanishes for x>1, and diverges if x is negative or complex.

In a similar fashion,

$$g_i(a, b, c, z) = \frac{(-)^{i+1}I^*(I - a)}{2\pi\Gamma(b)}$$

$$\times \int_{a+1-aa}^{a+1+aa} \frac{\Gamma(i) \Gamma(i - a) \Gamma(b - i)(-a)^{-1}}{\Gamma(i - a + 1)} dt,$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi\Gamma(-a)^{-1}} (40)$$
(40)

In this instance the contour is a line parallel to the imaginary axis so that the poles at t = b, b + 1,..., lie to the right of the path while those at t = s, s - 1,..., lie to the left of the path. Application of the Cauchy residue calculus leads to the representations (6) and (8).

3.11.3. THE CASE WHERE c IS A NEGATIVE INTEGER OR ZERO

Recall that if c is not an integer, w_1 and w_2 are linearly independent solutions of 3.7(1). If c is a negative integer or zero, and both a and b never coincide with the numbers 0, -1, ..., c, then the Kummer-type relations follow from those of the previous section with an appropriate change of notation as the roles of w_1 and w_2 are interchanged.

Let us now suppose that c is a negative integer, and that either a or b is one of the numbers 0, -1, ..., c. In particular let

$$c = 1 - s$$
, $a = -m$, $m < s$,
s a positive integer, m a positive integer or zero. (1)

If b is also one of the numbers 0, -1, ..., c, then assume $-b \le m$. Let

$$f(a,b;c;z) = \sum_{k=0}^{-a} \frac{(a)_k(b)_k z^k}{(c)_k k!} = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(-m)_k(b)_k z^k}{(1-s)_k k!}.$$
 (2)

Also, see 3.7(14),

$$f(a, b; c; z) = \frac{(s - 1 - m)! (b)_m z^m}{(s - 1)!} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} -m, s - m \\ 1 - m - b \end{pmatrix} z^{-1},$$

$$b \neq 1, \quad 1 - m - b \quad \text{is not a negative integer or zero.}$$
(3)

Now both (2) and $(1-z)^{-a}f(a, c-b; c; z/(z-1))$ satisfy 3.7(1). As w_2 is also a solution, there exists a relation of the form

$$(1-z)^{-a}f(a,c-b;c;z/(z-1)) - f(a,b;c;z)$$

$$= Cz^{1-c} {}_{2}F_{1}(1+a-c,1+b-c;2-c;z), \tag{4}$$

where C is a constant. If we expand and equate like powers of z^{1-c} , we find

$$C = \frac{(b)_s}{s!} \sum_{k=0}^{s-m-1} \frac{(m+1-s)_k(-s)_k}{(1-s)_k k!} = \frac{(-)^{s-m-1}(b)_s(s-m-1)! \ m!}{s! \ (s-1)!}$$
(5)

in view of 3.13.1(5). Similarly,

$$(1-z)^{-a}f(a,c-b;c;z/(z-1)) = f(a,b;c;z), a = 0, -1,...,c, b$$
arbitrary. (6)

0, -1, c

Thus from (4) and (6),

$$(1-z)^{c-a} {}^{b}f(c-a,c-b,c,z) - f(a,b,c,z)$$

= $Cz^{1-c} {}_{a}F_{1}(1+a-c,1+b-c,2-c,z),$ (7)

C as in (5), and therefore

$$f(a,b,c,z) = (1-z)^{-b}f(b,c-a,c,z/(z-1))$$

 $= (1-z)^{c-a} \, {}^{b}f(c-a,c-b,c,z) \tag{8}$

 $= (1 - z)^{n-\alpha} y(c - a, c - a, c, z)$ where both a and b are one (but not necessarily the same) of the numbers

3.12. Quadratic Transformations

The formulas 3 8(1 24) may be viewed as a transformation of the $_{\rm s}F_1$ in the variable, actually a linear fractional transformation. Put another way, Lummer's solutions arise from a study of transformations of 3 7(1) into itself under projective transformations of the independent variable. It is natural to inquire of there exist quadratic and higher transformations It can be shown that if and only if the number of the control of th

$$+(1-c), +(a-b), +(a+b-c)$$

are such that one of them is $\frac{1}{2}$ or that two of them are equal, then a quadratic transformation exists. The basic formulas are due to Gauss and hummer and a complete list is due to Goursat, see Erdélyi et al (1953, Vol. 1, pp. 64-68, 110-113). Some examples follow

$$_{2}F_{1}(2a \ 2a-c+1,c,z)=(1+z)^{2a} _{2}F_{1}\left(a \ a+\frac{1}{2},c,\frac{4z}{(1+z)^{2}}\right)$$
 (1)

$$_{3}F_{3}(2a \ 2a - c + 1 \ c \ z) = (1 - z)^{-2a} \, _{2}F_{3}\left(a, c - a - \frac{1}{2}, c, -\frac{4z}{(1 - z)^{3}}\right),$$
(2)

$$_2F_1(a, a + \frac{1}{2}(1 - c), \frac{1}{2}(c + 1), z^2) = (1 + z)^{-2a} {}_2F_1\left(a, \frac{4z}{(1 + z)^2}\right),$$
 (3)

$${}_{2}F_{1}(2a \ 2b, a+b+\frac{3}{2}, z) = {}_{2}F_{1}(a, b, a+b+\frac{3}{2}, 4z(1-z)), \tag{4}$$

(6)

$$_{2}F_{1}(2a-1,2b-1,a+b-\frac{1}{2},z)=(1-2z)_{2}F_{1}(a,b,a+b-\frac{1}{2},4z(1-z))$$

$$_{2}F_{1}(a,1-a,c,z)=(1-z)^{c-1}_{2}F_{1}(b(c-a),b(c+a-1),c,4a(1-z))$$

$$_{2}F_{1}(a, b; 2a; z) = \left(\frac{2}{1+y}\right)^{2b} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(b, b + \frac{1}{2} - a; a + \frac{1}{2}; \left(\frac{1-y}{1+y}\right)^{2}\right),$$

$$y = (1-z)^{1/2}, \quad (7)$$

$$_{2}F_{1}(a, b; 2a; 2z) = (1-z)^{-b} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{1}{2}b, \frac{1}{2}(b+1); a+\frac{1}{2}; \left(\frac{z}{1-z}\right)^{2}\right).$$
 (8)

Sometimes (4)-(6) are given with 2z and 4z(1-z) replaced by (1-y) and z, respectively, y as in (7). All formulas are valid near z=0 and $(1-z)^{\delta}>0$ if δ is real and z<1. Many other forms can be derived from (1)-(8) by use of Kummer's formulas 3.8(1-4).

For the proof of (1), recall that ${}_{2}F_{1}(a, b; c; x)$ satisfies

$$x(1-x)\frac{d^2v}{dx^2} + [c - (a+b+1)x]\frac{dv}{dx} - abv = 0.$$
 (9)

If we write

$$x = \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}, \quad v = (1+z)^{2a}w,$$

Eq. (9) becomes

$$z(1-z)\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} + [c - (4b - 2c)z + (c - 4a - 2)z^2]\frac{dw}{dz} - 2a[2b - c + (2a - c + 1)z]w = 0.$$
 (10)

With $b = a + \frac{1}{2}$, the latter reduces to

$$z(1-z)\frac{d^2w}{dz^2} + [c - (4a - c + 2)z]\frac{dw}{dz} - 2a(2a + 1 - c)w = 0, \quad (11)$$

which is satisfied by ${}_{2}F_{1}(2a, 2a + 1 - c; c; z)$. It follows that both sides of (1) satisfy the same differential equation and that at z = 0, both sides of (1) have the same value. If c is not a negative integer or zero, the differential equations (9) and (11) have only one solution which is regular at z = 0 and (1) follows. Now apply 3.8(3) to the right-hand side of (1) to establish (2). If in (10) we put b = c/2 and replace z^2 by x, we obtain a differential equation satisfied by the left-hand side of (3). Then, provided that c is not a negative integer or zero, a similar argument for the proof of (1) leads to the statement (3). The differential equation approach can also be used to prove (4)-(8). Equation (4) may also be derived from (2). There replace c by $a + b + \frac{1}{2}$, z by z/(z - 1), and apply 3.8(2) to the left-hand side. A generalization of (7) is given by 9.5(1).

The combination (4) and 3 9(7) yields

$$_{2}F_{2}\left(\frac{2a,2b}{a+b+\frac{1}{2}}\left[\frac{z+1}{2}\right] = \frac{\Gamma(a+b+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(a+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(b+\frac{1}{2})}r_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{a+b}{2}\right]r_{2}^{b} + 2z\frac{\Gamma(a+b+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)}z_{1}F_{1}\left(a+\frac{1}{2},b+\frac{1}{2}\right]z_{1}^{b}\right)$$
(12)

For cubic and higher order transformations, see Erdélyi et al (1953,

Vol I, p 67), and the references given there

Quadratic transformations for the logarithmic solutions of (9) and (11) have been discussed by Norlund (1963), see 3.11. In the sequel c = s + 1, s a positive integer or zero, whenever the functions G, p, g_0 , or g_1 are involved, and c = 1 - s, s a positive integer, whenever the function f is involved Now $G(a, a + \frac{1}{2}, \epsilon, x)$ satisfies (9) with $b = a + \frac{1}{2}$ and G(2a, 2a + 1 - c, c, z) satisfies (11) Hence, if neither a nor b is one of the numbers 1, 2, , s,

$$G\left(a, a + \frac{1}{2}c, \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = (1+z)^{2\alpha}[C_1G(2a, 2a-c+1, c, z) + C_2F_3(2a, 2a-c+1, c, z)]$$
(13)

where C and C, are constants. Divide both sides of (13) by 21-c or by $\ln z$ if c = 1 Let $z \to 0$ and find $C_1 = 1$ Now let $z \to 1$, and use 3 13 1(1,9) Then

$$C = \psi(1 + s - 2a) - \psi(1 - 2a) + 2 \ln 2$$
, $R(2a) < s + \frac{1}{2}$ (14)

In a similar fashion, if $R(2a) > s + \frac{1}{4}$, then use of 3 13 1(2, 12) gives C as in (14) Hence,

$$G\left(a \ a + \frac{1}{4}, c, \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = (1+z)^{2\alpha}[G(2a, 2a - c + 1, c, z) + C_2F_3(2a, 2a - c + 1, c, z)]$$

$$= 2a \neq 1, 2, ... 2s. \quad (1)$$

$$2a \neq 1, 2, , 2s,$$
 (15)

and with the aid of 3 11 2(12) or 3 11 2(13), we have

$$g\left(a \ a + \frac{1}{2}, c, \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = (1+z)^{2a}g(2a, 2a - c + 1, c, z)$$

$$= (1+z^{-1})^{2a}g(2a, 2a - c + 1, c, z^{-1}),$$

$$2a \neq 1, 2, ... 2r \quad (16)$$

and a like relation with g replaced by g_0 under the stronger restriction that 2a is not a positive integer. Note that $(4z)/(1+z)^2$ is unchanged if z is replaced by 1/z. From 3.11.2(16), (1), and (16), we have

$$(1+z)^{-2a}g_1\left(a, a+\frac{1}{2}; c; \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = g_1(2a, 2a-c+1; c; z) + \frac{\pi}{\sin 2\pi a} {}_2F_1(2a, 2a-c+1; c; z),$$
2a not an integer. (17)

Next we consider the rational solutions, and so suppose that c is a nonpositive integer, that is, c = 1 - s, s a positive integer. Now (9) has the solution $f(a, a + \frac{1}{2}; c; x)$, and (11) has the solutions f(2a, 2a - c + 1; c; x) and $z^{1-c} {}_2F_1(2a - c + 1, 2a - 2c + 2; 2 - c; z)$, provided that 2a is one of the numbers 0, -1, ..., -(2s - 1). Hence, we have a relation of the form

$$(1+z)^{-2a}f\left(a, a+\frac{1}{2}; c; \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right)$$

$$= C_1 f\left(2a, 2a-c+1; c; z\right)$$

$$+ C_2 z^{1-c} {}_2 F_1(2a-c+1, 2a-2c+2; 2-c; z). (18)$$

Let $z \to 0$, then the coefficient of the ${}_2F_1$ vanishes and each of the f functions approach unity, and so $C_1 = 1$. To determine C_2 , we consider two cases. First suppose that 2a is one of the numbers 0, -1, ..., 1 - s. Then the left side and the coefficient of C_1 on the right side of (18) are polynomials in z of degree -2a, but the coefficient of C_2 contains higher powers of z. Hence, $C_2 = 0$, and

$$(1+z)^{-2a}f\left(a, a+\frac{1}{2}; c; \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = f\left(2a, 2a-c+1; c; z\right)$$

$$= z^{-2a}f\left(2a, 2a-c+1; c; z^{-1}\right),$$

$$c = 1-s, \qquad s = 1, 2, ..., \qquad 2a = 0, -1, ..., 1-s. \tag{19}$$

Now assume that 2a is one of the numbers -s, -s - 1, ..., -(2s - 1). Then the ${}_{2}F_{1}$ in (18) is a polynomial in z of degree (c + 1 - 2a), and it can be seen that

$$z^{1-c} {}_{2}F_{1}(2a-c+1,2a-2c+2;2-c;z)$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{c-2a-1}\Gamma(1-c)\Gamma(2-c)}{\Gamma(2a-2c+2)\Gamma(1-2a)} z^{-2a}f(2a,2a-c+1;c;z^{-1}).$$
(20)

Multiply both sides of (18) by z^{2a} and let $z \to \infty$. Then C_2 is the reciprocal of the coefficient of z^{-2af} on the right side of (20). Hence,

$$\begin{split} &(1+a)^{-5\eta}f(a\alpha+\frac{1}{2},\epsilon,\frac{4\pi}{(1+a)^2})\\ &=f(2a\ 2a-\epsilon+1\ \epsilon,x)+(-)^{\epsilon-2\alpha+1}\frac{\Gamma(2a-2\epsilon+2)\,\Gamma(1-2a)}{\Gamma(1-\epsilon)\,\Gamma(2-\epsilon)}\\ &\times x^{1-\alpha}\,F(12a-\epsilon+1,2a-2\epsilon+2,2-\epsilon,x) \end{split}$$

c=1-s, s=1,2, 2a is a negative integer, $s-1<-2a\leqslant 2s-1$, (21) and under the same conditions,

$$f\left(a \ a + \frac{1}{2}, c, \frac{4x}{(1+x)^2}\right) = (1+x)^{2\alpha} f\left(2a \ 2a - c + 1, c, x\right) + (1+1/x)^{2\alpha} f\left(2a, 2a - c + 1, c, 1/x\right)$$
(22)

Consider now the transformations for the logarithmic solutions suggested by (2) Thus from 3 11 2(23), we have

$$G\left(a, a + \frac{1}{2}, c, \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = \left(\frac{1+z}{1-z}\right)^{2\alpha}G\left(a, c - a - \frac{1}{2}, c, -\frac{4z}{(1-z)^2}\right) \\ + (8\pi + \psi(\frac{1}{2} - a + z) - \psi(\frac{1}{2} - a)) \\ \times {}_{1}F_{1}\left(a - a + \frac{1}{2}, c, \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right),$$

$$\delta = \pm 1, \qquad -(1-\delta)\pi/2 - \alpha \pi z < (1+\delta)\pi/2, \quad (23)$$

where c = 1 + s, s a positive integer or zero. The combination (15), (23) gives

$$\begin{split} G\left(a,c-a-\frac{1}{2},c,-\frac{4z}{(1-z)^2}\right) &= (1-z)^{2\alpha}G(2a,2a-c+1,c,z) \\ &+ \left[-8i\pi+2\ln 2+\psi(z+1-2a)\right. \\ &-\psi(1-2a) \\ &-\psi(1+\frac{1}{2}-a)+\psi(\frac{1}{2}-a)\right] \\ &\times {}_2F_1\left(a,c-a-\frac{1}{2},c,-\frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right). \end{split}$$

provided that $2a \neq 1, 2, ..., 2s$ Application of the transformation 3 11 2(31) to (16) yields

$$g_1\left(c-a-\frac{1}{2}a,c,-\frac{4\pi}{(1-x)^2}\right)=(1-x)^{2\alpha}g(2a,2a-c+1,c,x)$$
 (25)

provided that $2a \neq 1, 2,..., 2s$. If 2a is not a positive integer, we can replace g by g_0 in (25). Similarly 3.11.2(32) and (17) give

$$g_0\left(a, c-a-\frac{1}{2}; c; -\frac{4z}{(1-z)^2}\right) = (1-z)^{2a}g_1(2a, 2a-c+1; c; z) - (1-1/z)^{2a}g_1(2a, 2a-c+1; c; 1/z),$$
2a not an integer, (26)

Let c = 1 - s and use 3.11.3(4). Then from (19) and (22), we get

$$f\left(a, c-a-\frac{1}{2}; c; -\frac{4z}{(1-z)^2}\right) = (1-z)^{2a} f\left(2a, 2a-c+1; c; z\right) + (1-1/z)^{2a} f\left(2a, 2a-c+1; c; 1/z\right),$$

$$-2a = s, s+1, \dots, 2s-1, \tag{27}$$

$$f\left(a,c-a-\frac{1}{2};c;-\frac{4z}{(1-z)^2}\right)=(1-z)^{2a}f\left(2a,2a-c+1;c;z\right)$$
$$=(1-1/z)^{2a}f\left(2a,2a-c+1;c;1/z\right),$$

$$2a$$
 is a nonpositive integer $\geqslant 1 - s$, (28)

$$f\left(a, c-a-\frac{1}{2}; c; -\frac{4z}{(1-z)^2}\right)$$

$$= (1-z)^{2c-2a-1}f\left(c-2a, 2c-2a-1; c; z\right)$$

$$+ (1-1/z)^{2c-2a-1}f\left(c-2a, 2c-2a-1; c; 1/z\right),$$
2a is an odd integer, $0 > 2a \ge 1-s$. (29)

Finally we consider relations analogous to (3) and (4). We state results and omit details as the proofs are much akin to those above.

$$g\left(a, \frac{1}{2}c; c; \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = \frac{1}{2}(1+z)^{2a}g(a, a+\frac{1}{2}(1-c); \frac{1}{2}(1+c); z^2), \quad (30)$$

where c is an odd positive integer, a is not an integer < c.

$$f\left(a, \frac{1}{2}c; c; \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = (1+z)^{2a}f\left(a, a + \frac{1}{2}(1-c); \frac{1}{2}(1+c); z^2\right) + (1+1/z)^{2a}f\left(a, a + \frac{1}{2}(1-c); \frac{1}{2}(1+c); 1/z^2\right),$$
(31)

where c is an odd negative integer, $a = \frac{1}{2}(c-1), \frac{1}{2}(c-3),...,c$.

$$f\left(a, \frac{1}{2}c; c; \frac{4z}{(1+z)^2}\right) = (1+z)^{2a}f\left(a, a + \frac{1}{2}(1-c); \frac{1}{2}(1+c); z^2\right)$$
$$= (1+1/z)^{2a}f\left(a, a + \frac{1}{2}(1-c); \frac{1}{2}(1+c); 1/z^2\right), \quad (32)$$

where c is an odd negative integer, a = 0, -1. 4(1 + c)

$$\begin{split} g(2a, 2b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}[1-(1-z)^{1/2}]) &= g(a, b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}, z) \\ &+ (\pi/\sin 2\pi a) \, _2F_1(a, b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}, z), \end{split}$$

where $c = a + b + \frac{1}{2}$ is a positive integer, 2a is not an integer

$$G(2a \ 2b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}[1-(1-z)^{1/2}]) = G(a, b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}, z) + v \, _aF(a, b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}; z).$$

where $c = a + b + \frac{1}{2}$ is a positive integer, $2a \neq 1, 2, 2c - 2$

$$v = \psi(a) + \psi(b) - \psi(2a) - \psi(2b) + (\pi/\sin 2\pi a)$$

$$=\sum_{k=1}^{s-2}\frac{(-)^k}{2a-k}-2\ln 2=\sum_{k=1}^{s-2}\frac{(-)^k}{2b-k}-2\ln 2. \tag{34}$$

 $g(2a, 2b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}(1+(1-z)^{2/2})) = -(\pi/\sin 2\pi a) \cdot F_2(a, b, a+b+\frac{1}{2}, z)$

where ϵ and α are as in (33)

$$f(2a, 2b, c, \frac{1}{2}[1 - (1-x)^{3/2}]) = f(a, b, c, z) + Cx^{1-c}x^{F_1}(1+a-c, 1+b-c, 2-c; z),$$

where $c = a + b + \frac{1}{2}$ is a negative integer, 2a = 0, -1, ..., 2c - 1C = 0 if a or b is one of the numbers 0, -1, -1 c | [2], and

$$C = -\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - b)\Gamma(1 - a)\Gamma(1 - b)}{\pi\Gamma(1 - c)\Gamma(2 - c)} \quad \text{if } a = -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, \quad , \frac{1}{2} + [\frac{1}{2}c]$$
(36)

$$f(2a, 2b, c, \frac{1}{2}[1 - (1-x)^{1/2}]) = (1-x)^{1/2}f(a+\frac{1}{2}, b+\frac{1}{2}, c, x), \quad (37)$$

where c is as in (36), and a or b is one of the numbers $-\frac{1}{2}$, $-\frac{3}{2}$, $\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}$

$$f(2a, 2b, c; \frac{1}{2}[1 - (1-z)^{1/2}]) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - b) \Gamma(1 - b)}{\Gamma(1 - c) \Gamma(a - b + 1)} (z^{-1}e^{ix})^{a} \times {}_{2}F_{1}(a, \frac{1}{2} - b, a - b + 1, 1/z), (38)$$

where c is as in (36), 2a = 0, -1, c, and $0 < \arg z < 2\pi$

3.13. The p+1Fp for Special Values of the Argument

3.13.1. The Regular and Logarithmic Solutions of the Gaussian Differential Equation Near z=1

Put z = 1 in 3.6(1). The integral is readily evaluated using 2.6(3), and so

$${}_2F_1(a,b;c;1) = \frac{\Gamma(c)\,\Gamma(c-a-b)}{\Gamma(c-a)\,\Gamma(c-b)},$$
 c not a negative integer or zero, $R(c-a-b)>0.$ (1)

From 3.8(2) and (1),

$$\lim_{z \to 1} (1-z)^{a+b-c} {}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z) = \frac{\Gamma(c) \Gamma(a+b-c)}{\Gamma(a) \Gamma(b)},$$
c not a negative integer or zero, $R(a+b-c) > 0.$ (2)

We also have

$$_{2}F_{1}(-n,b;c;1) = \frac{(c-b)_{n}}{(c)_{n}},$$
 (3)

$$_{2}F_{1}(-n, n+\lambda; c; 1) = \frac{(-)^{n}(1+\lambda-c)_{n}}{(c)_{n}},$$
 (4)

where n is a positive integer or zero and c is not a negative integer or zero. If c is a negative integer or zero, say c = -m, and m > n, then

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-n)_k (b)_k}{(-m)_k k!} = \frac{(m-n)! (m+b+1-n)_n}{m!},$$
 (5)

which is known as Vandermonde's theorem.

We next consider the behavior of the logarithmic solutions to 3.7(1) as $z \to 1$. From 3.11.2(11),

$$g(a, b; c; 1) = \frac{(-)^{s+1}s! \ \Gamma(a-s) \ \Gamma(b-s)}{\Gamma(a+b-s)} \tag{6}$$

and using 3.11.2(34), we have

$$\lim_{z \to 1} (1-z)^{a+b-c} g_0(a,b;c;z) = \frac{(-)^{s+1} s! \ \Gamma(1-a) \ \Gamma(1-b)}{\Gamma(1+s-a-b)}. \tag{7}$$

Here and throughout the remainder of this section except in (16),

c=s+1, s a positive integer or zero. Combining 3.11.2(8) and (1), we obtain

$$g_1(a,b,c,1) = \frac{(-)^{s+2s} \Gamma(b-s) \Gamma(1+s-a-b)}{\Gamma(1+s-a)} e^{\pm i \tau b}, \quad R(a+b) < 1+t,$$
(8)

where the upper or lower sign is taken according as z tends to unity from the upper or lower edge of the cut from 0 to ∞ From 3 11 2(13),

$$G(a \ b, c, 1) = \frac{s! \ \Gamma(1 + s - a - b)}{\Gamma(1 + s - a) \ \Gamma(1 + s - b)} [\psi(1 + s) + \psi(1) - \psi(1 - a) - \psi(1 - b)]$$
(9)

where neither a nor b is a positive integer, R(a+b) < 1 + s If a is a positive integer > s and b is restricted as in (9), then the right-hand side of (9) is defined in view of 2 4(13). In particular,

$$G(c+n\ b,c,1) = \frac{(-)^{s+1}c^{1}\ n!\ f(b-s)}{f(1+b+n)} \quad n=0,1,2,\ ,\ R(b)<-n\ \ (10)$$

It is clear from (1) that ${}_2F_1(1+n+s,b,1+s,z)$ vanishes when $z \to 1$ provided that R(n+b) < 0, and hence from 3.11.2(12).

$$g(c+n,b-c,1) = G(c+n,b,c;1)$$
 $R(n+b) < 0$ (1)

In a similar fashion, the combination (2), (9), and 3 11 2(24) yields

$$\lim_{s\to 1} (1-z)^{a+b-c} G(a,b,c,z) = \frac{s! \Gamma(a+b-1-s)}{\Gamma(a) \Gamma(b)}$$

$$\times [\psi(1+s) + \psi(1) - \psi(a) - \psi(b)],$$

 $R(a+b) > 1+s$ (12)

$$R(a+b) > 1+s$$
 (12)

Next we turn to the situation when a+b=1+s If s=0 in 3 11 2(11), then with the aid of 3 11 2(4), we find

$$\lim_{z \to 1} \frac{z F_1(a \ b \ a + b, z)}{\ln(1 - z)} = -\frac{\Gamma(a + b)}{\Gamma(a) \Gamma(b)},\tag{13}$$

and from 3 11 2(12).

$$\lim_{s\to 1} \frac{G(a\ b, a+b, z)}{\ln(1-z)} = \frac{s!}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} [\psi(a) + \psi(b) - \psi(1+s) - \psi(1)] \quad (1-s)$$

From 3.11.2(4)

$$\lim_{z \to 0} z^{c-1} g(a, b; c; z) = (-)^{s+1} s! (s-1)! (a)_{-s} (b)_{-s} \quad \text{if} \quad s > 0,$$

$$\lim_{z \to 0} \frac{g(a, b; c; z)}{\ln z} = 1 \quad \text{if} \quad s = 0.$$
(15)

Finally, using 3.11.3(2) and (5), we have

$$f(a,b;c;1) = \frac{(s-1-m)! \Gamma(b+s)}{(s-1)! \Gamma(b+s-m)},$$
 (16)

where c = 1 - s, a = -m, m + 1 < s, and (s - 1) and m are positive integers.

3.13.2. Special Values Related to the Quadratic Transformation Formulas

Put z = -1 in 3.12(2) and use 3.13.1(1). Then

$$_{2}F_{1}(2a, 2a-c+1; c; -1) = \frac{2^{-2a}(c-a)_{a}}{\binom{1}{2}a}, \quad c \neq 0, -1, -2, \dots$$
 (1)

Similarly with $z = \frac{1}{2}$ in 3.12(4) and 3.12(6) we get, respectively,

$$_{2}F_{1}(2a, 2b; a + b + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{\pi^{1/2}\Gamma(a + b + \frac{1}{2})}{\Gamma(a + \frac{1}{2})\Gamma(b + \frac{1}{2})},$$

$$a + b + \frac{1}{2} \neq 0, -1, -2,...,$$
(2)

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a, 1-a; c; \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{2^{1-c}\pi^{1/2}\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma[(c+a)/2]\Gamma[(c-a+1)/2]},$$

$$c \neq 0, -1, -2, \dots.$$
(3)

From 3.1(23),

$$_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c}-n,c\\2c\end{array}\middle|2\right) = \frac{(-)^{n}2^{n}(c)_{n}}{(2c)_{n}} \,_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c}-n,1-n-2c\\1-n-c\end{array}\middle|\frac{1}{2}\right), \quad c \neq 1,2,...,$$
 (4)

and with the aid of (2), the latter is nil if n is odd, while

$$_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c|c}-2n,c\\2c\end{array}\middle|2\right)=\frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)_{n}}{\left(c+\frac{1}{2}\right)_{n}}, \quad c\neq 0,-1,-2,\dots$$
 (5)

Similar results for f, g, g_1 , and G follow from the results given in 3.12. These are presented below without proof. See Nörlund (1963) for details.

$$f(2a, 2b; c; \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - a) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - b)}{\pi^{1/2} \Gamma(1 - c)},$$
 (6)

where $c = a + b + \frac{1}{2}$ is a negative integer, a or b = 0, -1, -[] c /[2],

$$f(2a \ 2b, c, \frac{1}{2}) = 0,$$
 (7)

where c is as in (6), a or $b = -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{3}{2}, , \frac{1}{2} + \lceil \frac{1}{2}c \rceil$ $f(2a \ 2a - c + 1, c, -1) = \frac{2^{-2a-c}(1-c)_a}{(1-c)_a}$

$$f(2a \ 2a - c + 1, c, -1) = \frac{c_1 c_2 c_3}{(\frac{1}{4} - a)_6},$$
(8)
where c is a negative integer, a is a nonpositive integer $\ge c/2$, $\epsilon = 0$,

2a = c - 1, c - 2, 2c - 1, $\epsilon = 1$.

$$f(a, 1-a, c, \frac{1}{4}) \approx \frac{\Gamma(1-(a+c)/2) \Gamma((1+a-c)/2)}{2^{c_{\pi}^{1/4}}\Gamma(1-c)},$$

where a is an integer, $c \le a \le 1 - \epsilon$, ϵ a negative integer In the following formulas, c = s + 1, s a positive integer or zero

$$g(2a, 2b, c, \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{(-)^{n+1} s^{1/2}}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} + a) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} + b) \cos \pi(a - b)},$$
 (10)

where $c = a + b + \frac{1}{2}$, and neither 2a nor 2b is an integer

$$G(2a, 2b, c, \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{s^{\frac{1}{2}}\pi^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\Gamma(a + \frac{1}{2})\Gamma(b + \frac{1}{2})} \left[\psi(1 + s) + \psi(1) - \psi(1 - a) - \psi(1 - b) - 2 \ln 2 + \sum_{k=0}^{2a} \frac{(-)^{k}}{2a - k} \right],$$

$$c = a + b + \frac{1}{2}, \quad 2a \neq 1, 2, , 2s$$
 (11)

$$= \frac{2^{2a_{2a}t_{2b}t}}{\Gamma(a+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(a+1-a)} [\pm tr - 2 \ln 2 + \psi(1+s) + \psi(1) \\ - \psi(1-a) - \psi(\frac{1}{2}+a) \\ - \psi(r+1-2a) + \psi(1-2a)],$$

 $2a \neq 1, 2, 2s$ (12)

(9)

$$g(2a, 2a-c+1, c, -1 \pm i0) = \frac{(-)^{s+1}2^{-3c}s! + \frac{1}{a^{1/2}}\Gamma(a-s)}{\Gamma(a+\frac{1}{2})} e^{\pm ins}, \quad (13)$$

where 2a is not an integer <2s+1

$$g(2a, 2a - c + 1, c, -1 + i0) - g(2a, 2a - c + 1, c, -1 - i0)$$

= $\frac{(2\pi i) s! \pi^{1/2 - 2a}}{\Gamma(a + 1) \Gamma(i + c - a)}$, (14)

and this formula is also valid if g is replaced by G.

$$G(a, 1-a; c; \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{s! \pi^{1/2} 2^{-s}}{\Gamma[(s+2-a)/2] \Gamma[(s+1+a)/2]} \times [\psi(1+s) + \psi(1) - 2\psi(a) + \pi \tan \pi[(s+1+a)/2],$$

$$a \neq 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ..., \pm (s-1), s. \tag{15}$$

$$g(a, 1-a; c; \frac{1}{2}) = (-)^{s+1} s! \pi^{-1/2} 2^{-s-1} \Gamma[(1-s-a)/2] \Gamma[(a-s)/2],$$
a is not an integer. (16)

$$g_1(a, 1-a; c; \frac{1}{2} \pm i0) = \frac{s! \pi^{1/2} 2^{-s} \Gamma[(1-s-a)/2]}{\Gamma[(s+2-a)/2]} \exp \left[\mp \frac{i\pi}{2} (a+s+1)\right],$$

$$(a+s) \text{ is not a positive integer.}$$
(17)

3.13.3. Special $_{p+1}F_{p}$'s, p>1 of Unit Argument

Write 3.8(2) in the form

$$(1-z)^{a+b-c} {}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z) = {}_{2}F_{1}(c-a,c-b;c;z), \tag{1}$$

expand both sides in powers of z, and equate like coefficients of z^n . We get Saalschütz's formula

$$_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} -n, a, b \\ c, 1+a+b-c-n & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{(c-a)_{n}(c-b)_{n}}{(c)_{n}(c-a-b)_{n}},$$
 $n \text{ a positive integer or zero.}$ (2)

We also have

$$_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} -n, n+a, b\\ c, a+b+1-c \end{array} \middle| 1\right) = \frac{(c-b)_{n}(a-c+1)_{n}}{(c)_{n}(a+b+1-c)_{n}}.$$
 (3)

If in $_{p+1}F_p(a_{p+1}; b_p; z)$, the parameters are such that

$$1 + \sum_{j=1}^{p+1} a_j = \sum_{j=1}^p b_j, \qquad (4)$$

then the $_{n+1}F_n$ is said to be Saalschützian. Thus the series in (2) and (3) are Saalschützian of the terminating type. If

$$1 + a_1 = b_1 + a_2 = \dots = b_p + a_{p+1}, \tag{5}$$

then the series is said to be well poised, and if all but one of these equalities are true, the series is said to be nearly poised. By Dixon's

theorem, see Bailey (1935) or Slater (1966), every well-poised ${}_{2}F_{2}$ of unit argument can be summed. Thus,

$${}_{2}F_{4}\begin{pmatrix} a,b,c \\ 1+a-b,1+a-c \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{I(1+\frac{1}{2}0)I(1+a-b)}{I(1+a)I(1+\frac{1}{2}a-b)} \times \frac{I(1+a-c)I(1+\frac{1}{2}a-b-c)}{I(1+\frac{1}{2}a-c)I(1+a-b-c)},$$

$$R(a-2b-2a) > -2 \quad (6)$$

Two other theorems which sum a 2F, of unit argument are

$${}_{2}F_{4}\left(\underbrace{\{(a+b+1), 2c \mid 1\}}_{\{(a+b+1), 2c \mid 1\}} = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}a+\frac{1}{2}b)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}a+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{2}a+\frac{1}{2}b)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{2}a+c)} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{$$

$$_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{vmatrix} a & 1-a,c \\ f & 2c+1-f \end{vmatrix} 1 \right)$$

$$= \frac{\pi \Gamma(f) \Gamma(2c+1-f)}{2^{2a-1}\Gamma(c+\frac{1}{2}(a+1-f)) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(a+f)) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(a+f)) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(a+f)) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(a+f)) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(a+f))}{R(c) > 0}$$
(8)

Equations (7) and (8) are due to Watson and Whipple, respectively (see Bauley (1935)] Now the left-hand aide of (8) is meaningful if ϵ is a negative integer or zero in this event its value is not given by the night-hand side of (8) unless α is an integer or zero as pointed out by Darbasjan (1964) who shows that

$${}_{2}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} -n, a & 1-a \\ f, -2n-f+1 \end{pmatrix} | 1 = \frac{2^{2n}(\frac{1}{2}a + \frac{1}{2}f)_{n}(\frac{1}{2}a - \frac{1}{2}f + \frac{1}{2} - n)_{n}}{(f)_{n}(1 - 2n - f)_{n}}$$
 (9)

The following account of transformations of $_2F_2$ series of unit argument is adapted from Bailey (1935), see also Slater (1966). The first formula is

$${}_{2}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} a,b,c\\ e,f \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(e)\Gamma(f)\Gamma(s)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(s+b)\Gamma(s+c)} {}_{2}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} e-a,f-a,s\\ s+b,s+c \end{pmatrix} |1\rangle,$$

$$s=e+f-a-b-c, \quad s\neq 0$$
(10)

A second important relation is

$${}_{\mathbf{a}}F_{\mathbf{a}}\begin{pmatrix}a,b,c\\e,f\end{pmatrix}1 = \frac{P(1-a)P(e)P(f)P(e-b)}{P(e-b)P(f-b)P(1+b-a)P(e)} \times {}_{\mathbf{a}}F_{\mathbf{a}}\begin{pmatrix}b&e+e+1,b-f+1\\1+b-c,1+b-a\end{pmatrix}1$$

+ a similar expression with b and c interchanged

These are two of many relations involving $_3F_2$'s of unit argument. Let r_i , i = 0(1)5, be parameters such that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{5} r_i = 0. (12)$$

Let

$$\alpha_{lmn} = \frac{1}{2} + r_l + r_m + r_n, \quad \beta_{mn} = 1 + r_m - r_n,$$
 (13)

$$F_{p}(u; v, w) = \left[\Gamma(\alpha_{xyz}) \Gamma(\beta_{vu}) \Gamma(\beta_{wu})\right]^{-1} {}_{3}F_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} \alpha_{vwx}, \alpha_{vwy}, \alpha_{vwz} \\ \beta_{vu}, \beta_{wu} \end{array}\right] 1 \right), \quad (14)$$

$$F_n(u; v, w) = \left[\Gamma(\alpha_{uvw}) \Gamma(\beta_{uv}) \Gamma(\beta_{uw}) \right]^{-1} {}_3F_2 \left(\begin{matrix} \alpha_{uyz}, \alpha_{uzx}, \alpha_{uxy} \\ \beta_{uv}, \beta_{uw} \end{matrix} \middle| 1 \right), \quad (15)$$

where the subscripts u, v, w, x, y, and z are distinct and all must take on one of the numbers 0, 1,..., 5, and where the α 's and β 's are defined in terms of the parameters a, b, c, d, e, f, and s = e + f - a - b - c in Tables 3.3-3.5. Observe that (14), (15) are symmetric in x, y, and z and also in v and w. It may be shown that

$$F_n(u; v_1, w_1) = F_n(u; v_2, w_2),$$
 (16)

$$F_n(u; v_1, w_1) = F_n(u; v_2, w_2), \tag{17}$$

and the condition for convergence of (16) and (17) is $R(\alpha_{xyz}) > 0$ and $R(\alpha_{uv}) > 0$, respectively. Observe that F_n comes from the corresponding F_p by changing the sign of all the r_i 's.

 ${\rm TABLE~3.3^a}$ Expressions for α 's and β 's in Terms of a,b,c,e,f (s = e + f - a - b - c)

α		β				
α $\alpha_{012} = 1 - c$ $\alpha_{013} = 1 - b$ $\alpha_{014} = 1 - f + a$ $\alpha_{015} = 1 - c + a$ $\alpha_{023} = 1 - a$ $\alpha_{024} = 1 - f + b$ $\alpha_{024} = 1 - c + b$	$\alpha_{123} = s$ $\alpha_{124} = e - c$ $\alpha_{125} = f - c$ $\alpha_{134} = c - b$ $\alpha_{135} = f - b$ $\alpha_{145} = a$ $\alpha_{234} = e - a$	$\beta_{01} = 2 - s - a$ $\beta_{02} = 2 - s - b$ $\beta_{03} = 2 - s - c$ $\beta_{04} = 2 - c$ $\beta_{05} = 2 - f$ $\beta_{10} = s + a$ $\beta_{12} = 1 + a - b$	$ \beta_{20} = s + b \beta_{21} = 1 - a + b \beta_{22} = 1 + b - c \beta_{24} = 1 - a - c + f \beta_{25} = 1 - a - c + e \beta_{30} = s + c \beta_{31} = 1 + c - a $	$\beta_{40} = e$ $\beta_{41} = 1 + b + c - f$ $\beta_{42} = 1 + a + c - f$ $\beta_{43} = 1 + a + b - f$ $\beta_{45} = 1 + e - f$ $\beta_{50} = f$ $\beta_{51} = 1 + b + c - e$		
$ \alpha_{034} = 1 - f + c $ $ \alpha_{033} = 1 - c + c $ $ \alpha_{043} = 1 - s $	$\alpha_{235} = f - a$ $\alpha_{245} = b$ $\alpha_{345} = c$	$ \beta_{13} = 1 + a - c $ $ \beta_{14} = 1 - b - c + f $ $ \beta_{15} = 1 - b - c + e $	$ \beta_{32} = 1 - b + c $ $ \beta_{34} = 1 - a - b + f $ $ \beta_{35} = 1 - a - b + e $	$ \beta_{52} = 1 + a + c - e $ $ \beta_{53} = 1 + a + b - e $ $ \beta_{54} = 1 - e + f $		

^a From W. N. Bailey, "Generalized Hypergeometric Series." Cambridge Univ. Press, London and New York, 1935. Reprinted with permission.

TABLE 3 4*

	t w		Numerator parameters			Denominator parameters	
	(4 5	a	ь		,	1	
$P_{\bullet}(0)$	{23			f-a	s+b	1+6	
	114	•	e-b	e-c		1+0	
	(0 2	1-0+6	1-f+b	1	1+b a	2-1-0	
$F_{\mathfrak{p}}(1)$	0 4	1-1	1 - f + b	1-f+c	1+6+4-5	2-1-0	
(F,(2) and F,(3)	2,3	e- 6	f-a	t−a	1 4+6	1-0+0	
are of this type]	2 4	ь	e-a	1-1+6	1+6+6-1	1+b-a	
	4 5	1-1	ь	£	1+6+6-5	1+6+0-0	
	/0 1	1-++0	1 6	1 =	2	1+1-6-6	
F _* (4)	lo s	1 ++a	1 ++6	1 +++	2-s	1-e+f	
(F,(5) is of this type	112	f-c	l c		1+f-a-c	1+5-6-6	
	115	1-e+a	1-0	1-6	[+f−e	1+f b-c	

From W. N. Bailey Generalized Hypergeometric Series Cambridge Univ Press
 London and New York 1935 Reprinted with permission

TABLE 3 50 Numerator parameters Denominator parameters 7 10 1-0 2--2-1 1 -- f + a 2 4-6 7-1-6 1---1-0+0 2--2 1-0 1-a1 + a - bs+a $F_{\bullet}(1)$ 1-6-6+6 1+4 IF.(2) and F.(3) 1-f+a 1 + a - b1+0-6 1-e+aare of this type] f - b1-6-c+f 14a h 1-8 1 ++ 0 1-b-c+f b-c+e 1-5 1-1+6+c 1+e-f 1-----1-1 1-l+a+c1 - f + b + c

1 - f + b

1-/+++

1+e-f

^{*}From W B Bailey Generalized Hypergeometric Series Cambridge Univ Press London and New York, 1935 Reprinted with permission.

Thus (10) is the same as

$$F_p(0; 2, 3) = F_p(0; 4, 5)$$
 (18)

and (14) states that all ten of the functions $F_p(0; v, w)$, v, w = 1, 2, ..., 5, $v \neq w$, are equal to each other. We therefore refer to these functions as simply $F_p(0)$. Likewise, the statement

$$F_n(2; 1, 5) = F_n(2; 3, 4)$$
 (19)

means that

$${}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{vmatrix} e-a, 1-f+b, 1-a\\ 1-a+b, 1-a-c+e \end{vmatrix} 1\right) = \frac{\Gamma(f-c)\Gamma(1-a+b)\Gamma(1-a-c+e)}{\Gamma(e-a)\Gamma(1-c+b)\Gamma(1-a-c+f)} \times {}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{vmatrix} f-c, 1-e+b, 1-c\\ 1-c+b, 1-a-c+f \end{vmatrix} 1\right), (20)$$

and by a change of notation this is equivalent to (10). We also have that all ten of the functions $F_n(2; v, w)$, $v, w = 0, 1, 3, 4, 5, v \neq w$, are equal to each other, and we refer to these functions as $F_n(2)$.

We next consider the relation (11). In our present notation this becomes

$$\frac{\sin \pi \beta_{23}}{\pi \Gamma(\alpha_{023})} F_{\nu}(0) = \frac{F_{n}(2)}{\Gamma(\alpha_{134}) \Gamma(\alpha_{135}) \Gamma(\alpha_{345})} - \frac{F_{n}(3)}{\Gamma(\alpha_{124}) \Gamma(\alpha_{125}) \Gamma(\alpha_{245})}. \quad (21)$$

Similarly, by changing the signs of the r_i terms,

$$\frac{\sin \pi \beta_{32}}{\pi \Gamma(\alpha_{145})} F_n(0) = \frac{F_p(2)}{\Gamma(\alpha_{025}) \Gamma(\alpha_{024}) \Gamma(\alpha_{012})} - \frac{F_p(3)}{\Gamma(\alpha_{035}) \Gamma(\alpha_{034}) \Gamma(\alpha_{013})}. \quad (22)$$

Upon combining three equations like (21), we get

$$\frac{\sin \pi \beta_{45}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{012}) \Gamma(\alpha_{013}) \Gamma(\alpha_{023})} F_{p}(0) + \frac{\sin \pi \beta_{50}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{124}) \Gamma(\alpha_{134}) \Gamma(\alpha_{234})} F_{p}(4) + \frac{\sin \pi \beta_{04}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{125}) \Gamma(\alpha_{135}) \Gamma(\alpha_{235})} F_{p}(5) = 0, \quad (23)$$

and with a change of notation, we have

$$\frac{\sin \pi \beta_{54}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{345}) \Gamma(\alpha_{245}) \Gamma(\alpha_{145})} F_n(0) + \frac{\sin \pi \beta_{05}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{035}) \Gamma(\alpha_{025}) \Gamma(\alpha_{015})} F_n(4) + \frac{\sin \pi \beta_{40}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{034}) \Gamma(\alpha_{024}) \Gamma(\alpha_{014})} F_n(5) = 0. \quad (24)$$

Now eliminate $F_n(2)$ from the equation of the type (21) which connects $F_p(5)$, $F_n(0)$, and $F_n(2)$, and from the equation of type (22) which connects $F_n(2)$, $F_n(0)$, and $F_n(5)$ Then

$$\begin{split} \frac{F_{s}(0)}{\Gamma(z_{1:q})\,\Gamma(z_{1:k})\,\Gamma(z_{2:0})\,\Gamma(z_{1:k})\,\Gamma(z_{2:0})} \\ + \frac{\sin\pi\beta_{cc}F_{s}(0)}{\pi\Gamma(z_{1:k})\,\Gamma(z_{1:k})\,\Gamma(z_{2:k})\,\Gamma(z_{2:k})} = K_{0}F_{s}(5) \end{split}$$

 $\pi^{3}K_{0} \approx (\sin\pi\alpha_{145})(\sin\pi\alpha_{245})(\sin\pi\alpha_{345})$

+
$$(\sin \pi \alpha_{323})(\sin \pi \beta_{43})(\sin \pi \beta_{50})$$
, (25)

and likewise

$$\frac{F_{a}(0)}{P(a_{344}) P(a_{124}) P(a_{125}) P(a_{225}) P(a_{225})} + \frac{sin \pi \beta_{02} F_{a}(0)}{\pi P(a_{325}) P(a_{225}) P(a_{325})} = K_{0} F_{a}(5) \quad (26)$$

All the three-term relations between the 120 hypergeometric series are typified by (21)-(26)

To further illustrate use of the tables, consider

$$_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} a & b & \epsilon \\ e & f \end{pmatrix} 1 = \frac{P(e)P(e - a - b)}{P(e - a)P(e - b)} _{2}F_{3}\begin{pmatrix} a & b & f - \epsilon \\ a + b & - \epsilon & 1 & f \end{pmatrix} 1$$

$$+ \frac{P(e)P(f)P(a + b - a)P(e + f - a - b - c)}{P(a)P(b)P(f - c)P(e + f - a - b - c)}$$

$$\times _{3}F_{3}\begin{pmatrix} e - a & e - b & e + f - a - b & \epsilon \\ a - b & 1 & e + f - a - b & 1 \end{pmatrix} 1$$
(27)

This is equivalent to

$$F_s(0, 4.5) = \frac{\pi}{\sin \pi \beta_{33}} \frac{\Gamma(z_{203})}{\Gamma(z_{213})} F_{(5)23} F_{s}(5, 0, 3)$$

 $+ \frac{\pi}{\sin \pi \beta_{33}} \frac{\Gamma(z_{213})}{\Gamma(z_{123})} F_{(5)23} F_{s}(3, 0.5),$ (28)

which in turn is the same as (21) if there we interchange the indices 2 and 5. Suppose that in (21), e + f = a + b + c + 1. Then the ${}_2F_2$ on the left is Saalschutzian and the first series on the right becomes a ${}_2F_1$, which can be summed.

Thus,

$${}_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} a,b,e+f-a-b-1 \\ e,f \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(e)\Gamma(f)\Gamma(e-a-b)\Gamma(f-a-b)}{\Gamma(e-a)\Gamma(e-b)\Gamma(f-a)\Gamma(f-b)} + \frac{\Gamma(e)\Gamma(f)}{(a+b-e)\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)\Gamma(e+f-a-b)} \times {}_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} e-a,e-b,1 \\ e-a-b+1,e+f-a-b \end{pmatrix} 1,$$

$$e+f=a+b+c+1. (29)$$

If a or b is a negative integer, the second term on the right-hand side of this equation is nil and we get Saalschütz's formula (2).

If c in ${}_{3}F_{2}(a, b, c; e, f; 1)$ is a negative integer, say c = -m, we can reverse the series [see 3.2(3)] and with $\alpha_{345} = -c = m$, we have

$$\Gamma(\alpha_{124}) \Gamma(\alpha_{125}) F_n(0) = (-)^m \Gamma(\alpha_{023}) \Gamma(\alpha_{013}) F_n(3). \tag{30}$$

This is a degenerate form of (21). In all there are eighteen terminating series. Three of these are $F_p(0; 4, 5)$, $F_p(0; 3, 5)$, and $F_p(0; 3, 4)$, which when reversed give $F_n(3; 1, 2)$, $F_n(4; 1, 2)$, and $F_n(5; 1, 2)$, respectively. The relations between the eighteen series are described by

$$\Gamma(\alpha_{123}) \Gamma(\alpha_{124}) \Gamma(\alpha_{125}) F_p(0) = \Gamma(\alpha_{0g3}) \Gamma(\alpha_{0g4}) \Gamma(\alpha_{0g5}) F_p(3-g), \qquad g = 1, 2,$$

$$\Gamma(\alpha_{123}) \Gamma(\alpha_{124}) \Gamma(\alpha_{125}) \Gamma(\alpha_{1$$

$$\Gamma(\alpha_{123}) \Gamma(\alpha_{124}) \Gamma(\alpha_{125}) F_{p}(0)$$

$$= (-)^{m} \Gamma(\alpha_{12h}) \Gamma(\alpha_{02h}) \Gamma(\alpha_{01h}) F_{n}(h), \qquad h = 3, 4, 5.$$
(32)

The other series, such as $F_n(0)$, do not give any specially simple formulas. For an application of formulas (11), (14), (16), (31), see the discussion surrounding 8.2(60-68).

Some miscellaneous results now follow. From 3.2(7),

$$y_m \binom{a,b}{c} | 1 = \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{(a)_k (b)_k}{(c)_k k!} = \frac{(a)_m (b)_m}{(c)_m m!} {}_{3}F_{2} \left(\frac{-m, 1-m-c, 1}{1-m-a, 1-m-b} | 1 \right).$$
(33)

If c=a+b+1, the ${}_3F_2$ is Saalschützian and so may be summed by (2). If c=a+b, $y_m\to\infty$ as $m\to\infty$ in view of 3.13.1(2). We now prove that

$$y_{m} {a,b \choose a+b} 1 = \frac{\Gamma(a+b)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \{ \psi(b+m+1) + \psi(1) - \psi(a) - \psi(b) - \frac{b(1-a)}{(b+m+1)} {}_{1}F_{3} {b+1,2-a,1,1 \choose b+m+2,2,2} 1 \},$$
(34)

and so from 2 11(8).

$$y_{m}\begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ x + b \end{pmatrix} = \frac{I(a + b)}{I(a)I(b)} \left[\ln(b + m + 1) + \psi(1) - \psi(b) - \psi(a) - \frac{1 + b(1 - a)}{b + m + 1} - \frac{(3b(b + 1)(1 - a)(2 - a) + 1)}{12(b + m + 1)^{2}} + O((b + m + 1)^{2}) \right]$$
(35)

Let c > 0 Then

$$y_m \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ a + b + \epsilon \end{pmatrix} 1 = \epsilon F_1 \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ a + b + \epsilon \end{pmatrix} 1 - \frac{(a)_{m+1}(b)_{m+1}}{(a + b + \epsilon)_{m+1}(1)_{m+1}} \times {}_{3}F_1 \begin{pmatrix} a + m + 1, b + m + 1, 1 \\ a + b + \epsilon + m + 1, m + 2 \end{pmatrix} 1$$

and using 3 13 I(I) and (10), we obtain

$$y_{m}\begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ a+b+\epsilon \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(a+b+\epsilon)\Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\epsilon} \frac{1}{\Gamma(a+\epsilon)\Gamma(b+\epsilon)}$$

$$-\frac{(b)_{m+1}}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b+m+1+\epsilon)\Gamma(\epsilon+1)}$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} b+\epsilon, 1-a, \epsilon \\ -a, \epsilon \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Next split off the first term in the expansion of the latter ${}_3F_2$ and let $\epsilon \to 0$ Then (34) follows

If in a_3F_2 form, a numerator parameter exceeds a denominator parameter by a positive integer, say m, the $_2F_3$ may be expressed as the sum of $(m+1)_2F_1$'s If the latter can be summed, then so can the $_3F_3$ In illustration, since

$$sF_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a, b & c + 1 \\ d & c \end{pmatrix} z = \sum_{c}^{c} \frac{(a)_{b}(b)_{c}(c + b) z^{c}}{(d)_{b}k^{1}c} = sF_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ d & d \end{pmatrix} z + \frac{abz}{cd} sF_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a + 1, b + 1 \\ d + 1 \end{pmatrix} z + \frac{ab}{cd} sF_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a + 1, b + 1 \\ d + 1 \end{pmatrix} z + \frac{ab}{cd} sF_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a + b - b \\ d + 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \frac{ab}{c(d + b + 1 - d)} \end{bmatrix} s$$

$$sF_{2} \begin{pmatrix} a, b & c + 1 \\ d, c \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{bmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(d)\Gamma(d - a)\Gamma(d - b)}{\Gamma(d - a)\Gamma(d - b)} \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \frac{ab}{c(d + b + 1 - d)} \end{bmatrix} s$$

$$R(d - a - b) > 1$$
(37)

This is a special case of 9 1(34)

The formula

$${}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{matrix} a,b,c\\ d+1,c+1 \end{matrix} \middle| z\right) = \frac{c}{c-d} {}_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{matrix} a,b\\ d+1 \end{matrix} \middle| z\right) - \frac{d}{c-d} {}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{matrix} a,b,c\\ d,c+1 \end{matrix} \middle| z\right),$$
(38)

can be used to prove

$${}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{matrix} -n, n+2\nu, \mu+\nu+1\\ 2\nu+1, \mu+\nu+2 \end{matrix} \middle| 1\right) = \frac{(2\nu) \, n! \, (\nu-\mu-1)_{n}}{(\nu-\mu-1)(2\nu)_{n}(\mu+\nu+2)_{n}}, \quad n>0.$$
(39)

By integration of 3.1(13) and 3.6(1), or otherwise, we get

$$z_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} a, b, 1 \\ c, 2 \end{pmatrix} z = \frac{(c-1)}{(a-1)(b-1)} \left[{}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a-1, b-1 \\ c-1 \end{pmatrix} z \right) - 1 \right], \tag{40}$$

and so

$${}_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} a, b, 1 \\ c, 2 \end{pmatrix} 1 = \frac{(c-1)}{(a-1)(b-1)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(c-1)\Gamma(c-a-b+1)}{\Gamma(c-a)\Gamma(c-b)} - 1 \right],$$

$$a \neq 1, \quad b \neq 1, \quad R(c-a-b) > -1. \quad (41)$$

By L'Hospital's theorem,

$$_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} a, 1, 1 \\ c, 2 \end{pmatrix} 1 = \frac{(c-1)}{(a-1)} [\psi(c-1) - \psi(c-a)], \ a \neq 1, R(c-a) > 0, \quad (42)$$

$$_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix}1,1,1\\c,2\end{pmatrix}1 = (c-1)\psi'(c-1), \qquad R(c) > 1.$$
 (43)

Again, integration of (40) leads to

$$z^{2} {}_{3}F_{2} {a, b, 1 \atop c, 3} | z) = \frac{2(c-2)_{2}}{(a-2)_{2}(b-2)_{2}} \left[{}_{2}F_{1} {a-2, b-2 \atop c-2} | z) - 1 \right] - \frac{2z(c-1)}{(a-1)(b-1)}, \tag{44}$$

which in turn yields

$${}_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} a, b, 1 \\ c, 3 \end{pmatrix} | 1 = \frac{2(c-2)_{2}}{(a-2)_{2}(b-2)_{2}} \left[\frac{\Gamma(c-2)\Gamma(c-a-b+2)}{\Gamma(c-a)\Gamma(c-b)} - 1 \right] - \frac{2(c-1)}{(a-1)(b-1)},$$

$$a \neq 1, 2; \quad b \neq 1, 2; \quad R(c-a-b) > -2. \quad (45)$$

Results for a = 1, 2, etc., can be found by use of L'Hospital's theorem

Next we show how to evaluate a certain terminating 4F3 of unit argument The technique seems novel in this context, and we develop the process in some detail. The result is due to J. L. Fields and Y. L. Luke We prove that

$$\epsilon^{\mathbf{F_3}}\left(\frac{-n,f+1}{\epsilon},\frac{f(n+\epsilon-1)+z(\epsilon-1-f)}{n+f}\Big|^{\mathbf{I}}\right) = \frac{z(n+f)(\epsilon-1)}{f(z-n)(n+\epsilon-1)}$$

n a positive integer or zero, $f(z-n)(n+e-1) \neq 0$ (46)

For particular values of the parameters in (46), limiting forms of the left hand side must be taken. The same is true in what follows. Consider

$$V(z) = (-z)^{-1} {}_{4}F_{3} \begin{pmatrix} -n, b, c, d + hz \\ c, f, 1 - z \end{pmatrix} 1$$
 (47)

Clearly V(z) is a rational function of z with poles at $z=0,1,\dots,n$. To develop the partial fraction decomposition of V(z) we proceed as follows If

$$y_k(z) = \frac{(d+hz)_k}{-z(1-z)_k}, \quad k=0,1, ,n$$

then by residue theory

$$y_k(z) = \sum_{r=0}^k \frac{(-)^r (d+hr)_k}{(r-z)^r r! (k-r)!},$$

so that

$$V(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-n)_{k}(b)_{k}(c)_{k}}{(c)_{k}(f)_{k}k^{\dagger}} \sum_{r=0}^{k} \frac{(-)^{r}(d+hr)_{k}}{(r-z)^{r}(k-r)!}$$

Upon interchanging the order of summations, we find

$$I(z) = \sum_{r=0}^{n} \frac{(-)^{r}(-n)_{r}(k)_{r}(c)_{r}(d+hr)_{r}}{(r-n)_{r}(r)_{r}(f)_{r}(r)^{2}} q_{r}$$

$$q_{r} = {}_{r}I_{2}\left(\frac{r-n, r+b, r+c, d+(h+1)_{r}}{r+c, r+f, r+1}\right) 1$$
(48)

Next we specialize the parameters so as to obtain a particularly simple form for q, Thus let c=1, and b=f+1 Then from (37), we find

$$q_r = \frac{\Gamma(r+e)\Gamma(n+e-d-r(h+1))}{\Gamma(n+e)\Gamma(e-d-rh)} \times \left\{1 - \frac{(r-n)(d+r(h+1))}{(r+f)(-n+d+1-e+r(h+1))}\right\}$$

Now set

$$d + r(h+1) = \rho(r+f), \qquad -n+d+1-e+r(h+1) = \rho(r-n),$$

$$\rho = h+1, \qquad r = 1, 2, ..., n-1.$$

Thus with

$$h = (e - f - 1)/(n + f),$$
 $d = f(n + e - 1)/(n + f),$

we have

$$q_r = 0, \quad r = 0, 1, ..., n - 1, \quad q_n = 1,$$

and (46) readily follows. The following special cases are worth noting:

$$_{4}F_{3}\left(\begin{matrix} -n,\beta+1,1,z+2\beta\\n+2\beta+1,\beta,1-z\end{matrix}\middle|1\right) = \frac{z(n+2\beta)}{2\beta(z-n)}, \quad n=0,1,2,..., \quad \beta(z-n)\neq 0.$$
 (49)

$$_{3}F_{2}\left(\frac{-n,f+1,1}{f,1-z}\left|\frac{z+f}{n+f}\right| = \frac{z(n+f)}{f(z-n)}, \quad n=0,1,2,..., f(z-n) \neq 0.$$
 (50)

$$_3F_2\left(f+1,1,(\lambda+1)f+\lambda z\mid -\frac{1}{\lambda}\right)=-\frac{\lambda z}{f(\lambda+1)},$$

$$f(\lambda + 1) \neq 0$$
, $|\lambda| > 1$ or $|\lambda| = 1$ and $R(\{(\lambda + 1)(f + z)\}) < -1$. (51)

Equations (50), (51) are the limiting forms of (46) with $e \to \infty$ and $e = z + \lambda n$, $n \to \infty$, respectively. Actually (50) is (51) with $\lambda = -(n+f)/(z+f)$. Note that the limiting form $z \to \infty$ gives nothing new as (46) is symmetric in the parameters e and 1-z. Also $f \to \infty$ is not recorded as it is a special case of (3). If in (50), we let $n \to \infty$, we get the curious result

$$_{2}F_{2}\left(\frac{f+1,1}{f,1-z}\Big|-(z+f)\right) = -z/f, \quad f \neq 0,$$
 (52)

and with f = 1,

$$_{1}F_{1}(2; 1-z; -1-z) = -z \text{ or } _{1}F_{1}(-1-z; 1-z; 1+z) = -ze^{1+z}.$$
 (53)

The evaluation of

$$_{p+1}F_{p}\left(\frac{-m,1+a_{p}}{a_{p}}\right) 1$$

for m a positive integer has already been given, see 2.9(11–15). In a similar fashion if $m \ge \sigma$, σ an integer ≥ 0 ,

$$Q(x) = \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{m-\sigma} (x + \sigma + \mu - 1 + t)}{(x + \sigma + \mu - 1)} \prod_{j=1}^{p} (x + a_j),$$

a polynomial in x of degree $(p + m - \sigma)$, then the mth difference of O(x)is nil if $m > m + p - \sigma$ or $p < \sigma$, and this leads to the result that if σ and m are integers.

$$\left[\frac{(a_p)}{\Gamma(\mu + \sigma)}\right]_{p+2}F_{p+1}\left(\begin{array}{c} -m, m + \mu & 1 + a_p \\ \mu + \sigma & a_p \end{array}\right|1) = 0, \quad 0 \leq p < \sigma \leq m \quad (5.6)$$

Note that 2 9(15) is the special case $\sigma = m$ From 12 2(40, 41) with t = p, $\delta = m + \mu$, and $\omega_h = a_h$, we have

$$\begin{split} & \left[\frac{(a_g)}{\Gamma(\mu + p + 1)} \right]_{g \approx 2} F_{g + 1} \left(\frac{m, m + \mu, 1 + a_g}{p + 1 + \mu, a_g} \right) 1) \\ &= \frac{(-)^2 (m + \mu - a_g)}{(p - m)!} \frac{m}{\Gamma(2m + \mu + 1)} \sum_{s \approx 2} F_{s + 1} \left(\frac{m - p, m + \mu, 1 + m + \mu - a_g}{2m + \mu + 1, m + \mu - a_g} \right) 1) \end{split} \tag{55}$$

Note that (54) and (55) are the same when $\sigma = b + 1$ and $m \ge b + 1$ In connection with (54) and (55), see 12 2(28-29) See also 12 2(12-15) and 12 4(5-8)

For a Saalschutzian F, of unit argument, Bailey (1935) has proved that

$$\epsilon F_3 \left(\begin{array}{c} n & x, y, z \\ u, v, w \end{array} \right| 1 = \frac{(v - z)_s (w - z)_s}{(v)_s (w)_s} \epsilon F_3 \left(\begin{array}{c} -n, u - x, u & y, z \\ u, 1 - v + z - n, 1 - w + z - n \end{array} \right| 1 \right),$$

$$x + y + z + 1 - n = y + v + w$$
(56)

For some other transformation formulas for $p_{-1}F_n$'s, p > 3, see Bailey (1935) and Slater (1966) See these same sources for the summation of

some "+1F" s of argument other than unity For instance, ${}_{4}F_{3}\left(\begin{array}{cccccc} a & 1 + \frac{1}{2}a, b, c \\ 1a & 1 + a - b, 1 + a - c \end{array}\right) - 1 = \frac{(1 + a - b - c)_{b}}{(1 + a - b)}$ (57)

$$_{4}F_{3}\left(\frac{a}{2}a\frac{1+a-b,c}{1+a-b,1+a-c}\right)-1\right)=\frac{(1+a-b-c)_{b}}{(1+a-b)_{b}}$$
 (57)

Finally from 25(1) and 36(1), we have

$${}_{2}F_{1}(1, 2a, 2a + 1, -1) = a[\psi(a + \frac{1}{2}) - \psi(a)]$$
 (58)

Chapter IV CONFLUENT HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTIONS

4.1. Introduction

In Chapter III, we gave some discussion of the ${}_{1}F_{1}(a;c;z)$ hypergeometric series, and in 3.5 we showed how this series follows from that of the ${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z/b)$ by the confluence principle. We remarked that this concept is useful to deduce properties of the ${}_{1}F_{1}$ from those of the ${}_{2}F_{1}$. In particular, see 3.4(28, 29), we used this notion to deduce two recursion formulas for the ${}_{1}F_{1}$. In this chapter, we set down other properties and concepts useful for our approximation studies. Our discussion is rather curt, and proofs for the most part are only sketched. For references, see Buchholz (1953), Erdélyi et al. (1953, Vol. I, Chapter 6; Vol. II, Chapters 7-9), Luke (1962a), Slater (1960), Tricomi (1954), Watson (1945), and Whittaker and Watson (1927). See also the references noted at the end of 3.2.

4.2. Integral Representations

The analog of Euler's formula [see 3.6(1)] is

$$_{1}F_{1}(a; c; z) = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a) \Gamma(c-a)} \int_{0}^{1} e^{zt} t^{a-1} (1-t)^{c-a-1} dt,$$

$$R(c) > R(a) > 0. \tag{1}$$

This is a special case of 3.6(10) and may be used to prove Kummer's formula 4.4(12). The combination 3.6(13) and 3.1(10) gives

$${}_{1}F_{1}(\sigma; \nu+1; -\lambda^{2}/4z^{2}) = \frac{2\Gamma(\nu+1) z^{2\sigma}}{\Gamma(\sigma)(\lambda/2)^{\nu}} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-z^{2}u^{2}} u^{2\sigma-\nu-1} J_{\nu}(\lambda u) du,$$

$$R(\sigma) > 0, \qquad R(z^{2}) > 0. \tag{2}$$

416

From 3 6(19).

$$\lambda^{\epsilon-1} {}_{i}F_{i}(a, \epsilon, \lambda z) \approx (2\pi i)^{-1}\Gamma(\epsilon) \int_{\gamma-i\infty}^{\gamma+i\infty} e^{2i}t^{-\epsilon}(1-z|t)^{-\epsilon} dt,$$

$$\lambda \operatorname{real} \quad \lambda \neq 0, \quad R(\epsilon) > 0, \quad \nu > 0 \quad |\operatorname{are}(1-z|\nu)| < \pi,$$

and the Mellin Barnes integral representation [see 3 6(28)] is

$$\frac{\Gamma(a)}{\Gamma(c)} {}_{1}F_{1}(a, c, z) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{\gamma-i\infty}^{\gamma+i\infty} \frac{\Gamma(a+s)}{\Gamma(c+1)} \frac{\Gamma(-s)(-z)^{s}}{\Gamma(c+1)} ds,$$

$$0 > v > -R(a), \quad ||aref(-z)|| < \pi/2$$
(4)

The formula

$$z^{-1}[\delta(\delta + \epsilon - 1) - z(\delta + a)][\epsilon^{-z}t^{z-1}(1 + \epsilon)e^{-z-1}] = -(\partial/\partial t)[\epsilon^{-z}t^{z}(1 + \epsilon)e^{-z}],$$

 $\delta = z d/dz$ (5)

shows that

$$\int_{C} e^{-st}t^{a-1}(1+t)e^{-a-1} dt$$
(6)

(3)

is a solution of 44(1) if C is either closed on the Riemann surface or terminates at the zeros of $e^{xt}t^{\alpha}(1+t)^{c-\alpha}$ Thus we can recover (1) If R(a) > 0, R(z) > 0, a choice for C is the infinite ray starting from the origin Hence a solution of 4 4(1) is

$$\psi(a \ c \ z) = [\Gamma(a)]^{-1} \int_{a}^{\infty} e^{-ct} t^{a-1} (1+t)^{c-1} dt, \quad R(a) > 0, \quad R(z) > 0$$
 (7)

We can extend the domain of definition by rotating the path of integration Thus.

$$\psi(a, c, z) = [\Gamma(a)]^{-1} \int_0^{c_0} e^{-ct} t^{a-t} (1+t)^{c-a-1} dt,$$

$$D(a) \geq 0 \quad (a + c) = (a + c) + (a$$

$$R(a) > 0$$
 ($\theta \mid < \pi$, $\mid \theta + \arg z \mid < \pi/2$, i.e. $\mid \arg z \mid < 3\pi/2$ (8)

Now.

$$(1+t)^{c-a-1} = (2\pi t)^{-1} \int_{y-i\infty}^{y+i\infty} (1+a-c) {}_{s} I^{c}(-s) t^{s} ds \qquad 0 > y > R(c-a)$$
(9)

and if this is combined with (8), and the order of integration is interchanged, which is permissible when v + R(a) > 0, we get

$$\psi(a, \epsilon, z) = [2\pi i \Gamma(a)]^{-1} \int_{\gamma-i\infty}^{\gamma+\infty} (1 + a - \epsilon)_s \Gamma(-s) \int_0^{\infty} e^{-2it^{p+a-1}} dt ds,$$
 (10)

and so from 2.1(2),

$$\psi(a;c;z) = (2\pi i z^a)^{-1} \int_{\gamma-i\infty}^{\gamma+i\infty} (a)_s (1+a-c)_s \Gamma(-s) z^{-s} ds, \qquad (11)$$

and with a minor change in notation,

$$\psi(a; c; z) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{\gamma - i\infty}^{\gamma + i\infty} \frac{\Gamma(a+s) \Gamma(-s) \Gamma(1-c-s) z^{s}}{\Gamma(a) \Gamma(a-c+1)} ds,$$

$$-R(a) < \gamma < \min(0, 1 - R(c)), \quad |\arg z| < 3\pi/2. \tag{12}$$

In the derivation, more stringent requirements on the variable and parameters are needed, but these may be relaxed by analytic continuation. Also, the conditions imposed on the parameters may be further relaxed. As in 3.6(28), (4) is valid for any γ if a is not a negative integer or zero, and if the integration contour is indented when necessary so that poles due to $\Gamma(-s)$ lie to the right of the path while those due to $\Gamma(a+s)$ lie to the left of the path. Again, (12) is valid for all γ as long as neither a nor 1+a-c is a negative integer or zero, provided that the path of integration separates the poles of $\Gamma(a+s)$ from those of $\Gamma(-s)\Gamma(1-c-s)$.

4.3. Elementary Relations for the Confluent Functions

The following formulas are either special cases of results in 3.4 or may be deduced from expressions given there by use of the confluence principle.

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} {}_{1}F_{1}(a;c;z) = \frac{(a)_n}{(c)_n} {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\begin{matrix} a+n \\ c+n \end{matrix} \middle| z \right). \tag{1}$$

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n}\left[z^{\delta}{}_1F_1(a;c;z)\right] = (\delta - n + 1)_n z^{\delta - n}{}_2F_2\left(\begin{matrix} a, \delta + 1 \\ c, \delta + 1 - n \end{matrix} \middle| z\right). \quad (2)$$

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} [z^{a+n-1} {}_1F_1(a;c;z)] = (a)_n z^{a-1} {}_1F_1(a+n;c;z).$$
(3)

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}}\left[z^{\delta} e^{-z} {}_{1}F_{1}(a;c;z)\right] = (\delta - n + 1)_{n} z^{\delta - n} {}_{2}F_{2} {c - a, \delta + 1 \choose c, \delta + 1 - n} - z\right). \tag{4}$$

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} \left[z^{n+c-1} e^{-z} {}_1 F_1 \begin{pmatrix} a+n \\ c+n \end{pmatrix} z \right] = (c)_n z^{c-1} e^{-z} {}_1 F_1 (a;c;z). \tag{5}$$

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} [z^{c-a+n-1} e^{-z} {}_1F_1(a; c; z)] = (c-a)_n z^{c-a-1} e^{-z} {}_1F_1 {\begin{pmatrix} a-n \\ c \end{pmatrix}} z$$
 (6)

118

$$\frac{dz_n}{dz_n} (z + 1) = (0 - n + 1)_n z^n + 1_{n-1} (s + 1 - n)^n$$
(8)

For contiguous relations, we have

$$(c-a)_1F_1(a-) + (2a-c+z)_2F_1 - a_2F_1(a+) = 0,$$
 (9)

$$-d(c-1) \cdot F(c-1) + d(c-1+z) \cdot F_1 - (c-a)z \cdot F_1(c+) = 0,$$
 (10)

$$c(a+z)_1F_1 - ac_2F_1(a+) - (c-a)z_2F_1(c+) = 0,$$
 (11)

$$c_1F_1 - c_1F_1(a-) - z_1F_1(c+) = 0,$$
 (12)

$$(c-a-1)_1F_1 + a_1F_1(a+) - (c-1)_1F_1(c-) = 0,$$
 (13)

$$(a-1+z)_1F_1+(c-a)_1F_1(a-)-(c-1)_1F_1(c-)=0$$
 (14)

Clearly, if m and n are integers, $F_i(n+m,c+n,z)$ can be expressed as a linear combination of ${}_iF_i$ and one of its contiguous functions with coefficients which are rational functions of a, c, and z. Note that (1)-(8), or the latter in combination with (9)-(14), give rise to different properties

The following formulas for the ψ function may be proved from appropriate integral representations in 4.2 or from the representation 4.5(2) and results in (1)-(14)

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n}\psi(a,c,z)=(-)^n(a)_n\psi(a+n,c+n,z) \tag{15}$$

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}}\left[z^{c-1}\psi(a,c,z)\right] = (-)^{n}(1+a-c)_{n}z^{c-n-1}\psi(a,c-n,z) \tag{16}$$

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dz^{n}}[z^{a+n-1}\psi(a,c,z)] = (a)_{n}(1+a-c)_{n}z^{a-1}\psi(a+n,c,z)$$
 (17)

$$\frac{d^n}{dx}\left[e^{-s}\psi(a,c,z)\right] = (-)^n e^{-s}\psi(a,c+n,z). \tag{18}$$

$$\frac{d^{n}}{ds^{n}} \{e^{-z}z^{c-n+n-1}\psi(a,c,z)\} = (-)^{n} e^{-c}z^{c-n-1}\psi(a-n,c,z)$$
(19)

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dx^{n}}\left[e^{-x}z^{c-1}\psi(a,c,x)\right] = (-)^{n}e^{-x}z^{c-a-1}(1-a)_{n}\psi(a-n,c-n,x)$$
(20)

$$\psi(a-) - (2a-c+z)\psi + a(a-c+1)\psi(a+) = 0$$
 (21)

$$(c-a-1)\psi(c-) - (c-1+z)\psi + z\psi(c+) = 0.$$
 (22)

$$(a+z)\psi + a(c-a-1)\psi(a+) - z\psi(c+) = 0.$$
 (23)

$$(c-a)\psi + \psi(a-) - z\psi(c+) = 0.$$
 (24)

$$\psi - a\psi(a+) - \psi(c-) = 0.$$
 (25)

$$(a-1+z)\psi - \psi(a-) + (a-c+1)\psi(c-) = 0.$$
 (26)

Here $\psi(a\pm)$ stands for $\psi(a\pm 1; c; z)$, etc.

4.4. Confluent Differential Equation

The linearly independent solutions of

$$[zD^2 + (c-z)D - a]w(z) = 0, D = d/dz,$$
 (1)

or

$$[\delta(\delta+c-1)-z(\delta+a)] w(z) = 0, \qquad \delta=zD, \tag{2}$$

are proportional to

$$w_1 = {}_{1}F_1\begin{pmatrix} a \\ c \end{pmatrix}z$$
 and $w_2 = z^{1-c}{}_{1}F_1\begin{pmatrix} 1+a-c \\ 2-c \end{pmatrix}z$, (3)

provided c is not an integer or zero. Sometimes the notation

$$\Phi(a;c;z) = {}_{1}F_{1}(a;c;z)$$
(4)

is used (see also 4.9). It follows from (1) that the differential equation

$$hy'' + \left\{ \frac{2\alpha h}{z} + 2f'h - \frac{hh''}{h'} - hh' + ch' \right\} y'$$

$$+ \left\{ h' \left(\frac{\alpha}{z} + f' \right) (c - h) + h \left[\frac{\alpha(\alpha - 1)}{z^2} + \frac{2\alpha f'}{z} + f'' + (f')^2 - \frac{h''}{h'} \left(\frac{\alpha}{z} + f' \right) \right] - a(h')^2 \right\} y = 0$$

is satisfied by

$$y = z^{-\alpha} e^{-f(z)} {}_{1}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a \\ c \end{pmatrix} h(z)$$
 (5)

where f = f(z), etc.

As remarked in 3.1(10), the Bessel function of the first kind $J_{\rm s}(z)$ can be expressed in terms of a $\rho F_{\rm s}$, and the latter may be viewed as a confluent form of the $_1F_1$. The function $J_{\rm s}(z)$ can also be expressed in terms of a $_1F_2$. We have the two representations

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu}}{I(\nu+1)} \circ F_{1}(\nu+1, -z^{2}/4)$$
 $I_{\nu}(z) \approx \frac{(z/2)^{\nu}}{I(\nu+1)} \circ F_{1}(\nu+1, z^{2}/4),$
(6)

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu} e^{\pm iz}}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} {}_{\nu}F_{\nu}(\frac{1}{2}+\nu,1+2\nu,\mp2iz)$$
(7)

$$I_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu} e^{\pm z}}{P(\nu + 1)} {}_{2}F_{1}(\frac{1}{2} + \nu, 1 + 2\nu, \mp 2z)$$

Other special cases of confluent hypergeometric functions and appropriate references are noted in 4.9, and properties of these and Bessel functions are listed in Chapter VI. Here we remark that the differential equation

$$ky' + \left[\frac{2\beta k}{z} + 2k_g - \frac{k'k}{k} + k\right]y$$

 $+ \left[k\left[\frac{\beta(\beta - 1)}{z^2} + \frac{2\beta g}{z} + g' + (g)^3 - \frac{k'}{k}\left[\frac{\beta}{z} + g'\right]\right]$
 $+ k\left[\frac{\beta}{z} + g\right] + k(k)^3\left\{1 - \frac{\lambda^2}{z^2}\right\}\left\{y = 0$ (5)

is satisfied by

$$y = z^{-\beta} e^{-\beta(z)} C_s(k), \qquad (9)$$

(10)

where y = y(z), etc., and $C_s(z) = AJ_s(z) + BY_s(z)$, A and B are independent of z, and $Y_s(z)$ is the Bessel function of the second kind. We return to the solutions of (1) If a = -m, m a positive integer or

We return to the solutions of (1) If a = -m, m a positive integer or zero, and c is a negative integer such that m + c < 1, then a well defined solution of (1) is

$$f(a, \epsilon, z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)kz^k}{(\epsilon)k^k} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-m)z^k}{(1-\epsilon)k^k}$$

$$= \frac{(r-1-m)^2z^m}{(r-1)^k} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} F_0(-m \ \epsilon - m, -z^{-3})$$

$$\epsilon = 1 - z, \quad \text{3 a positive integer}, \quad m < s$$

and this is independent of w_2 . Again if a and c are positive integers, a < c, then

$$z^{1-c}f(1+a-c;2-c;z) = z^{-s} \sum_{k=0}^{s-m} \frac{(m-s)_k z^k}{(1-s)_k k!}$$
$$= \frac{(m-1)! z^{-m}}{(s-1)!} {}_2F_0(m-s,m;-z^{-1}),$$

a = m, m a positive integer,

$$c = 1 + s$$
, s a positive integer or zero, $m < s + 1$, (11)

is a well-defined solution of (1) and is independent of w_2 . Observe that (10), (11) are confluent forms of 3.7(14, 15), respectively. A thorough study of the complete solution of (1) is deferred to 4.5.

From 3.8(2) and the confluence principle, or directly from 4.2(1),

$$w_1 = {}_1F_1(a; c; z) = e^z {}_1F_1(c - a; c; -z),$$
 (12)

$$w_2 = z^{1-c} {}_1F_1(1+a-c;2-c;z) = z^{1-c} e^z {}_1F_1(1-a;2-c;-z).$$
 (13)

This is known as Kummer's transformation.

4.5. The Complete Solution

If c is not an integer, then 4.4(12, 13) are independent solutions of 4.4(1). The function $w_3 = \psi(a; c; z)$ is also a solution, and from 4.2(12), we see that

$$w_3 = \psi(a; c; z) = z^{1-c}\psi(1 + a - c; 2 - c; z).$$
 (1)

These three solutions cannot be independent. If c is not an integer, the poles of the integrand in 4.2(12) are simple, and evaluation of this integral as a sum of residues at these poles gives

$$w_{3} = \psi(a; c; z) = \frac{\Gamma(1-c)}{\Gamma(1+a-c)} w_{1} + \frac{\Gamma(c-1)}{\Gamma(a)} w_{2},$$

$$w_{1} = {}_{1}F_{1} {a \choose c} z, \qquad w_{2} = z^{1-c} {}_{1}F_{1} {1+a-c \choose 2-c} z.$$
(2)

If we replace a by c-a and z by $ze^{-i\epsilon n}$, $\epsilon=\pm 1$, and use 4.4(12, 13), then

$$w_4 = e^z \psi(c-a; c; ze^{-i\epsilon\pi}) = \frac{\Gamma(1-c)}{\Gamma(1-a)} w_1 - \frac{\Gamma(c-1)}{\Gamma(c-a)} e^{i\epsilon\pi c} w_2, \qquad (3)$$

122

and by elimination,

$$w_{t} = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c-a)} e^{ic\pi u} w_{t} + \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)} e^{ic\pi(a-c)} w_{t}, \qquad (4)$$

$$w_2 = e^{i\alpha \pi(a-c)} \left\{ -\frac{\Gamma(2-c)}{\Gamma(1-a)} w_2 + \frac{\Gamma(2-c)}{\Gamma(1+a-c)} w_4 \right\}$$
 (5)

In (4), (5), the convention

$$\epsilon = \operatorname{sign}(I(z)) = 1$$
 if $I(z) > 0$,
 $= -1$ if $I(z) < 0$. (6)

is often used

Thus any two of the four quantities w_1 , w_2 , w_3 , and w_4 form a fundamental system if a, c, and c - a are not integers If a is a negative integer or zero, w_3 and w_4 differ only by a constant multiple. The same is true for w_3 and w_3 if c - a is a positive integer. Again if a is a positive integer w_4 is a constant multiple of w_3 , and is different equal to a, if c - a is a negative integer or zero. If c is an integer, zero included, either w_4 is w_4 or one of these is not defined. If c is a negative integer or zero, say c = 1 - a, n = 1, 2, 3, then

$$\lim_{c \to -\infty} \frac{w_1}{F(c)} = \frac{(a)_n}{n!} z^n {}_{2}F_{1}(a+n,1+n,z)$$
 (7)

satisfies 4 4(1), but this is a multiple of \mathbf{r}_n , and so we get no new solution. The derivation of (2) assumes that c is not an integer, but clearly this is not essential, for by continuity it holds also for integer c. Indeed, as in the ξF_i studies, we can use (2) to derive a logarithmic solution of 4 4(1) when c is an integer For the present situation, we can use the developments for $\mathbf{r}_n = W(c)$ [see 3 10(5, 4, 20)] provided we treat all terms involving a_i as empty. That is, if a term involving a_i appears as a product, treat it as unity, and if it appears as a sum, treat it as zero. We find

$$\omega_{a} = \psi(a \ 1 + i, z) = \frac{z^{-a}}{\sum_{k=0}^{a} \sum_{k=0}^{b} \frac{1}{k!} (i - 1 - k)!(-)^{2}z^{k}}$$

$$+ \frac{(-)^{b+1}}{i! I(a - i)} \left[[y + \ln z + \psi(a) - \psi(1 + i)] \,_{a}F_{1}\left(\frac{a}{i + 1}\right]z \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{a} \frac{(a)_{2}x^{k}}{(1 + i)_{k}!} (\psi(a + k) - \psi(a) - \psi(1 + i + k) + \psi(1 + i)$$

$$- \psi(1 + k) + \psi(1) \right] \qquad (5)$$

where a is not a negative integer or zero and s is a positive integer or zero

An alternative proof of (8) follows from 4.2(12) in the same manner as 3.10(13) follows from 3.6(28); see 3.10(14, 15).

If a is a positive integer and $a \le s$, then only the polynomial part of (8) remains. In this event, $w_3 = \psi(a; 1 + s; z)$ is a multiple of w_2 truncated after s terms as may be deduced from (2), or with an apparent change of notation, w_3 is proportional to 4.4(11). Thus the restriction on a is not essential. The point is that we have no logarithmic solution if a is not so restricted.

The logarithmic solution for $\psi(a; 1 - s; z)$ follows readily from (8) in view of (1).

In a similar fashion from the developments for $w_6 = V(z)$ [see 3.10(1, 2, 13)] we get

$$w_{4} = e^{z}\psi(1+s-a; 1+s; ze^{-i\epsilon\pi})$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{s}z^{-s}}{\Gamma(1+s-a)} \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \frac{(a-s)_{k}(s-1-k)!(-)^{k}z^{k}}{k!}$$

$$+ \frac{(-)^{s+1}}{s!\Gamma(1-a)} \left\{ \left[\gamma + \ln(ze^{-i\epsilon\pi}) + \psi(1-a) - \psi(1+s) \right] {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{a}{1+s} \right| z \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{k}z^{k}}{(1+s)_{k}k!} \left(\psi(a+k) - \psi(a) - \psi(1+s+k) + \psi(1+s) - \psi(1+k) + \psi(1) \right) \right\}, \tag{9}$$

where a is not an integer or zero and s is a positive integer or zero.

If a is a positive integer, then w_4 is a linear combination of both w_1 and w_2 unless a > s, in which case w_4 is a multiple of w_1 . This follows from (2) and may also be deduced from (9). If a is a negative integer or zero, then from (9) and 2.4(13, 14) or from 3.10(18), we have

$$e^{z}\psi(1+s+m;1+s;ze^{-i\epsilon\pi}) = \frac{(-)^{s}z^{-s}}{(m+s)!} \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \frac{(-m-s)_{k}(s-1-k)!(-)^{k}z^{k}}{k!} + \frac{(-)^{s+1}}{s!m!} \left\{ \left[\gamma + \ln(ze^{-i\epsilon\pi}) + \psi(1+m) - \psi(1+s) \right] {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\frac{-m}{1+s} \right| z \right) + \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(-m)_{k}z^{k}}{(1+s)_{k}k!} \left(\psi(1+m-k) - \psi(1+m) - \psi(1+s+k) + \psi(1) \right) + (-)^{m}m! \sum_{k=m+1}^{\infty} \frac{(k-m-1)!}{(1+s)_{k}k!} \right\}, \quad (10)$$

where m and s are positive integers or zero.

Similar expansions for $e^{i\phi}(1-s-a,1-s,ze^{-i\epsilon s})$ can be obtained

from (9) and (10) in view of (1)

Let IV. denote the Wronskian of the solutions w, and w, Thus,

$$W_{ij} = W(w_i, w_i) = w_i(z)w_i(z) - w_i(z)w_i(z)$$
 (11)

Also let

$$R = e^{-6\mu^2}$$
 (12)

Then.

$$W_{12} = (1 - c) B, W_{13} = -\frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c)} B,$$
 (13)

$$W_{14} = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)}e^{iave}B$$
 $W_{22} = -\frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(1+a-c)}B,$ (14)

$$W_{24} = -\frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(1-a)}B$$
 $W_{34} = \frac{B}{\sin \pi c}[e^{ic\pi c}\sin \pi(c-a) + \sin \pi a]$ (15)

€ as in (6)

46 Kummer-Type Relations for the Logarithmic Solutions

461 INTRODUCTION

The Kummer relations for the $_{*}F_{*}$ and the $_{*}$ functions which are solutions to 44(1) are given by 44(12) and 45(1), respectively. Here the corresponding relations are developed for the logarithmic solutions to 44(1). Again the analysis is due to Norlund, and closely parallels the developments for the $_{*}F_{*}$ case (see 311)

462 THE CASE WHERE ε IS A POSITIVE INTEGER

Throughout this section we assume that

$$c = s + 1$$
, s a positive integer or zero, $a \neq 1 \ 2$, s, (1)

unless stated to the contrary Let

$$G_1(a, c, z) = \{-\}^{n+2}z^{-s}(a)_{-p^2}\sum_{k=0}^{r-1}\frac{(a-c)_k(c-1-k)!(-1^kz^k)}{k!}$$

$$= \frac{c}{z(a-1)}z^{r}\sum_{l=0}^{l-1}\frac{(l-c)_{-l}}{2-a}|-z|^{-1}$$
(2)

$$G(a; c; z) = G_1(a; c; z) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_k z^k}{(s+1)_k k!} \times \{\ln z + \psi(a+k) - \psi(a) + \psi(1+s) - \psi(1+s+k) - \psi(1+k) + \psi(1)\},$$
(3)

$$g(a; c; z) = G_1(a; c; z) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_k z^k}{(s+1)_k k!} \times \{\ln z + \psi(a+k) - \psi(1+s+k) - \psi(1+k)\}. \tag{4}$$

In (3), (4), $| \arg z | < \pi$.

$$g_{1}(a; c; z) = G_{1}(a; c; z) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_{k} z^{k}}{(s+1)_{k} k!}$$

$$\times \{ \ln(ze^{-i\epsilon\pi}) + \psi(1-a-k) - \psi(1+s+k) - \psi(1+k) \},$$

$$\epsilon = \pm 1, \quad -(1-\epsilon)\pi < \arg z < (1+\epsilon)\pi.$$
(5)

Then,

$$g(a; c; z) = G(a; c; z) + [\psi(a) - \psi(c) - \psi(1)] {}_{1}F_{1}(a; c; z),$$

$$|\arg z| < \pi, \tag{6}$$

$$g_1(a; c; z) = G(a; c; z) + \left[-\delta i\pi + \psi(1-a) - \psi(c) - \psi(1)\right] {}_{1}F_1(a; c; z),$$
(7)

 $g_1(a; c; z) - g(a; c; z) = \frac{\pi e^{-i\delta\pi a}}{\sin \pi a} {}_1F_1(a; c; z),$

$$\delta = \pm 1, \quad -(1 - \delta) \pi/2 < \arg z < (1 + \delta) \pi/2,$$
 (8)

and from 4.5(8, 9),

$$g(a; c; z) = (-)^{s+1} s! \Gamma(a-s) \psi(a; 1+s; z), \tag{9}$$

$$g_1(a; c; z) = (-)^{s+1} s! \Gamma(1-a) e^z \psi(1+s-a; 1+s; ze^{-i\epsilon \pi}). \tag{10}$$

In (4), (6), and (9), a is not a negative integer or zero; in (5), (7), and (10), a is not a positive integer; and in (8), a is not an integer. Clearly each of the equations (3)–(10) satisfies 4.4(1).

Relations analogous to 4.3(1) and to 4.3(4) (there put $\delta = c - 1$) are

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n}g(a;c;z)=\frac{(a)_n}{(c)_n}g(a+n;c+n;z), \qquad (11)$$

$$\frac{d^n}{dz^n} \{ z^{c-1} g(a; c; z) \} = (-)^n (1 - c)_n z^{c-n-1} g(a; c - n; z), \tag{12}$$

as may be verified by differentiation. In (11), (12), g may be replaced by g_1 or G

Since $e^{\epsilon}G(\epsilon = a, \epsilon, -z)$ is also a solution of 44(1), then after the manner of proving 3 11 2(22), or by confluence, we find with δ as in (8),

$$G(a, c, z) = e^{c}G(c - a, c, -z) + [\delta i\pi + \psi(1 - a + z) - \psi(1 - a)] {}_{2}F_{1}(a, c, z)$$
(13)

Also.

$$g(a, c, z) = e^{z}g_{1}(c - a, c, -z),$$
 a not an integer $\leq z$, (14)

$$g_1(a, c, z) = e^z g(c - a, c, -z),$$
 a not a positive integer, (15)

$$g(a, t, z) = e^{\epsilon}g(\epsilon - a, \epsilon, -z) - \frac{\pi e^{-\delta \epsilon a}}{\sin \pi a} {}_{1}F_{1}(a, \epsilon; z),$$
 (16)

$$g_1(a, \epsilon, z) = \epsilon^1 g_1(\epsilon - a, \epsilon, -z) + \frac{\pi e^{-\delta i \pi z}}{\sin \pi a} {}_1F_1(a, \epsilon, z),$$
 (17)

where in (16), (17) a is not an integer and δ has the same meaning as in (8). Both g(a,c,z) and ${}_1F_1(a,c,z)$ satisfy the same contiguous relations 4.3(9-14).

463 THE CASE WHERE c IS A NEGATIVE INTEGER OR ZERO

If c is not an integer, w_1 and w_2 [see 4.4(3)] are independent solutions of 4.4(1). If c is a negative integer or zero, and a does not coalesce with the numbers 0, -1, ..., c, then the Kumner-type relations follow from those of the previous section as the roles of w_1 and w_2 are essentially interchanged Indeed, with

$$c = 1 - s$$
, s a positive integer or zero, (1)

$$z^{1-\epsilon}g(1+a-\epsilon,2-\epsilon,z)=(-)^{s+1}s!l'(a)\psi(a,1+s,z),$$
 (2)

where a is not a negative integer or zero, and

$$z^{1} e_{3}(1 + a - c, 2 - c, z) = -si\Gamma(1 - s - a)e^{-i\phi}(1 - s - a, 1 - s, ze^{-ic\epsilon}),$$
(3)

provided (a + s) is not a positive integer

Let us now suppose that c = 1 - s is a negative integer and that a = -m, m a positive integer or zero with m < s. Then using the notation of 44(10), we have

$$f(a \ \epsilon, z) = e^{z}f(c - a, c, -z)$$

 $+ \frac{(-)^{m+\ell}(s - m - 1)^{\ell}m^{\ell}z^{1-\epsilon}}{c^{\ell}(s - 1)!} {}_{1}F_{1}(1 + a - c, 2 - c, z)$ (4)

4.7. Asymptotic Expansions for Large z

The representation 4.2(7) satisfies the conditions of 1.4(2) and so upon expanding $(1+t)^{c-a-1}$ by the binomial series and termwise integrating, we find that

$$\psi(a; c; z) \sim z^{-a} {}_{2}F_{0}(a, 1 + a - c; -z^{-1}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leq 3\pi/2 - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0. \tag{1}$$

The ${}_2F_0$ is divergent but has significance in that it is the asymptotic representation of $z^a\psi(a;c;z)$. Later we shall see that every nonterminating ${}_pF_q$, p>q+1, is the asymptotic expansion of a well-defined function in some sector of the complex plane. To get an estimate of the error when the asymptotic expansion is truncated after n terms, we notice that

$$(1+t)^{c-a-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{(1+a-c)_k(-)^k t^k}{k!} + S_n(t),$$

$$S_n(t) = \frac{(1+a-c)_n(-)^n t^n (1+t)^{-1}}{n!} {}_2F_1 \begin{pmatrix} c-a, 1 \\ n+1 \end{pmatrix} \frac{t}{t+1}.$$

Thus,

$$\psi(a;c;z) = z^{-a} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{(a)_k (1+a-c)_k (-)^k z^{-k}}{k!} + R_n(z),$$

$$R_n(z) = \frac{(-)^n (1+a-c)_n}{\Gamma(a) n!} \int_0^\infty \frac{e^{-zt} t^{a+n-1}}{(1+t)} {}_2F_1 \begin{pmatrix} c-a, 1 & t\\ n+1 & t+1 \end{pmatrix} dt.$$
(2)

Clearly $R_n(z) = O(|z^{-a-n}|)$, $|z| \to \infty$, $|\arg z| \le \pi/2 - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$, and by rotation of the path of integration, we get the statement (1). Now in the integrand of (2),

$$_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} c-a,1\\n+1\end{pmatrix}\frac{t}{t+1}=1+O(n^{-1})$$

and so,

$$|R_n(z)| \leq \left| \frac{(1+a-c)_n(a)_n}{n!} \right| x^{-a_1-n}, \quad x = R(z) > 0, \quad a_1 = R(a).$$
 (3)

Thus if a, c, and z are real, the error does not exceed the first term neglected and is of the same sign as the first term neglected.

The asymptotic expansion for ${}_{1}F_{1}(a \ c \ z)$ follows from 4 5(4)

$$_{i}F_{i}(a \ c \ z) \sim \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c-a)}(\pi^{-1}e^{is})^{a} {}_{z}F_{0}(a \ 1+a-c-z^{-1}) + \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)}e^{iz} {}_{z}F_{0}(c-a \ 1-a \ z^{-1})$$

 $\epsilon = 1$ if I(z) > 0 $\epsilon = -1$ if I(z) < 0 $|z| \rightarrow \infty$ $|\arg z| < \pi$ (4)

$${}_{1}F\left(a \in z\right) \sim \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c)} e^{i}z^{a}$$
 as $R(z) \to \infty$ (5)

$$_1F_1(a \in z) \sim \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c-a)}(z)^{-a} \text{ 2s } R(z) \rightarrow -\infty$$
 (6)

We can also write

$$_{1}F_{1}(a \in z) \sim \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)} e^{i}z^{a} e^{z}F_{0}(c - a \cdot 1 - a \cdot z^{-1}) + \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c - a)} z^{-a}e^{-i\delta a a} _{2}F_{0}(a \cdot 1 + a - c - z^{-1})$$

$$|z| \rightarrow \infty$$
 $\delta = \pm 1$ $-(2+\delta)\pi/2 < \arg z < (2-\delta)\pi/2$ (7)

If $|\arg z| < \pi/2$ the apparent discrepancy in (7) is a case of Stoke's phenomena See Erdelyi (1956) Heading (1962) Jeffreys (1962) and Uatson (1945)

From 4 6 2(9) and (1) we have

$$g(a \ c \ z) \sim (-)^{s+1} s^{1} \Gamma(a-s) z^{-\alpha} {}_{z} F_{0}(a \ a-s-z^{-1})$$
 (8)

where $|z| \to \infty$ | arg z | $< 3\pi/2$ a and s are as in 4.6.2(9) Similarly 4.6.2(10) and (1) yield

$$g(a \in z) \sim \frac{e^{-\alpha d_1 l} l'(1-a) e^z}{z^{1+a}} {}_2F_0(1+s-a \ 1-a \ z^{-1})$$
(9)

where $|z| \rightarrow \infty$ $\epsilon = \pm 1$ | $\arg(ze^{-\epsilon})$ | < 3π 2 ϵ and ϵ are as in 4.6.2(10). The combination 4.6.2(6). (7) and (8) gives

$$G(a \in z) \sim \frac{s!(\psi(1+z) + \psi(1) - \psi(a)) e^{z}}{I(a)z^{\frac{1}{2} - a}} {}_{2}F_{0}(1+z \quad a \quad 1-a \quad z^{-1})$$

$$+ \frac{(\quad)^{a+|z|} I'(a-z)}{(z^{aa'z})^{a}}$$

$$\times \begin{cases} e^{baa} \quad \{\psi(1+z) + \psi(1) \quad \psi(a)\} \frac{\sin \pi a}{1 + a} \} {}_{2}F_{0}(a \quad a-z \quad z^{-1}) \end{cases}$$

$$|z| \to \infty$$
 $\delta = \pm 1$ $-(2 + \delta) \pi/2 < \arg z < (2 - \delta) \pi/2$ (10)

4.8. Asymptotic Behavior for Large Parameters and Variable

From 4.4(12),

$$_1F_1(a; c; z) = 1 + O(c^{-1}),$$
 a, z bounded, $c \to \infty$, (1)

$$_{1}F_{1}(a; c; z) = e^{z}[1 + O(c^{-1})], \quad c - a, z \text{ bounded}, \quad c \to \infty.$$
 (2)

The behavior of $\psi(a; c; z)$ in these cases follows from 4.5(1, 2) and 2.11(2, 11). It is sufficient to record

$$\psi(a; c; z) = (-c)^{-a} [1 + O(c^{-1})] + \frac{(2\pi)^{1/2} z^{1-c}}{\Gamma(a)} \exp[z - c + (c - 3/2) \ln c] [1 + O(c^{-1})],$$

$$a, z \text{ bounded}, \quad c \to \infty, \quad |\arg + c| \le \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0. \tag{3}$$

The expansion 3.5(46) affords another representation. We have

$${}_{1}F_{1}(a; c; z) = v^{a} \left[1 - \frac{a(a+1)}{2c} (uv)^{2} + \frac{a(a+1)}{24c^{2}} (uv)^{2} \left\{ 12 + 16(a+2) uv + 3(a+2)(a+3)(uv)^{2} \right\} \right] + O(c^{-3}),$$

$$u = z/c, \quad v = (1-u)^{-1}; \quad |z| < |c| \quad \text{if} \quad R(c) \ge 0;$$

$$|z| < |c| \sin \delta, \quad 0 < \delta \le \pi/2 \quad \text{if} \quad R(c) \le 0. \tag{4}$$

The case when $a \to \infty$ is quite complicated. Here we can deduce an interesting representation from 3.5(21). There put p = 0, q = 1, $\rho_1 = c$, $\sigma = a$, and replace z by az. Then in terms of the modified Bessel function [see 4.4(6)] we have

$$_{1}F_{1}(a; c; z) = \Gamma(c)(az)^{-(c-1)/2}[I_{c-1}(2(az)^{1/2}) + (z/2)I_{c+1}(2(az)^{1/2}) + \cdots],$$

$$|az| < \infty.$$
(5)

This is a special case of a result due to Tricomi (1954). Let

$$E_{\nu}(z) = z^{-\nu/2} J_{\nu}(2z^{1/2}). \tag{6}$$

Then

$$\frac{e^{-hz}}{\Gamma(c)} {}_{1}F_{1}(a;c;z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C_{m} z^{m} E_{m+c-1}(\omega z), \qquad |z| < \infty, \qquad (7)$$

130

$$_{a}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c \end{pmatrix} \frac{z}{hx + \omega} = \epsilon^{-1}(1 + hz|\omega)^{b} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(b)_{m}}{(c)_{m}} C_{m}(z|\omega)^{m} \times {}_{2}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} c & -b \\ m & c \end{pmatrix} z,$$

$$|z| < |\omega|r$$
, $r = \min(|h|^{1}), |(1-h)^{-1}|$, (8)

$$(1 + hz)^{\alpha} {}^{\alpha}[1 + (h-1)z]^{-\alpha} e^{-\alpha} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C_m z^m, \quad \{z \mid < r,$$
 (9)

where C_m depends only on the parameters a, c, h, and ω By direct computation

$$C_0 = 1$$
, $C_1 = \omega + a - \epsilon h$, $2C_2 = C_1^2 + \epsilon h^2 - 2ah + \sigma$, (10)
and we have the recurrence formula

$$(m+1) C_{m+1} = \{C_1 - m(2h-1)\} C_m$$

 $+ [\omega(2h-1) - h(h-1)(m+c-1)] C_{m-1}$
 $+ \omega h(h-1) C_{m-2}$ (11)

Here ω and h are free parameters. This freedom permits the development of expansions useful for the evaluation of the confluent function for large values of the parameters a and c. The following cases are of interest

CASE I h=1/2, $\omega=k=c/2-a$

$$\frac{e^{-z/t}}{\widehat{I(c)}} {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a \\ c \end{pmatrix} z = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} B_{m}(z/2)^{m}E_{s+m-1}(kz), \quad (12)$$

$$B_6 = 1$$
, $B_1 = 0$, $B_2 = \epsilon/2$, $B_3 = -2k/3$, $B_4 = \epsilon/\epsilon + 2)/8$, $B_5 = -\frac{k(5\epsilon + 6)}{55}$, $B_6 = \frac{\epsilon/\epsilon + 2)(\epsilon + 4)}{55} + \frac{2k^2}{5}$,

$$(m+1)B_{m+1} = (m+c-1)B_{m-1} - 2kB_{m-n}$$
 (13)

$$(m+1)B_{m+1} = (m+c-1)B_{m-1} - 2cB_{m-4}$$
 (13)

CASE II $\omega = -a$

$$\frac{e^{-\lambda z}}{\Gamma(c)} {}_{z}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a \\ c \end{pmatrix} z = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} A_{m} z^{m} E_{m+c-1}(-az), \qquad (14)$$

$$A_0 = 1$$
, $A_1 = -hc$, $A_2 = h^2c(c+1)/2 + a(\frac{1}{2} - h)$

$$(m+1)A_{m+1} = [m(1-2h) - ch]A_m$$

$$+ [a(1-2h) - h(h-1)(m+c-1)]A_{m-1}$$

 $-th(h-1)A_{m-2}$. (15)

Note that (13) and (15) reduce to three-term recursion formulas if h = 0 or 1. If h = 0, (14) and (5) are the same.

We first establish (7)-(11) formally and then prove convergence under the conditions stated. If we expand both sides of (7) in powers of z, it is easy to see that the coefficients C_0 , C_1 , and C_2 are as noted in (10). Multiply both sides of (7) by $z^{b-1}e^{(h-s)z}$ and integrate with respect to z from 0 to ∞ . Then using 3.6(13) and 4.4(12), we arrive at (8) when we replace s by $(hz + \omega)/z$. The conditions for validity of the transforms and for expansion of the ${}_2F_1$ on the left of (8) in powers of its argument are

$$R(b) > 0$$
, $|hz + \omega| > |z|$, $R(z/\omega) > 0$.

Next we notice from (7) that the coefficients C_m are independent of b. Put b = c in (8). Then with z replaced by ωz , we get (9).

To see that the series on the right of (7) converges for all z, we observe that the radius of convergence of the two series

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m z^m E_{\alpha+m}(z) \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m z^m / m!$$

is the same. For since

$$E_{\nu}(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} [1 + O(|\nu^{-1}|)], \qquad \frac{m!}{\Gamma(m+\alpha)} = m^{1-\alpha} [1 + O(m^{-1})],$$

we have

$$|a_m E_{\alpha+m}(z)|^{1/m} = \left|\frac{a_m}{m!}\right|^{1/m} e^{(1-\alpha)(\ln m)/m} [1 + O(m^{-1})]^{1/m},$$

and so,

$$\overline{\lim_{m\to\infty}}\mid a_m E_{\alpha+m}(z)|^{1/m}=\overline{\lim_{m\to\infty}}\mid a_m/m!\mid^{1/m}.$$

Now the series in (9) has nonzero radius of convergence, and so the radius of convergence of a series whose general term is $C_m z^m/m!$ is infinite and so (7) converges for all z.

For the convergence of the series on the right of (8), we can prove as above that the two series

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m z^m {}_1F_1(a; c+m; z) \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m z^m$$

have the same radius of convergence. Thus the series on the right of (8)

132

converges for $|z| < \omega |r|$ Now in the derivation of (8) from (7) we can write

$${}_{x}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & l \end{pmatrix} \frac{x}{hx + \omega}) = e^{-t} \left(1 + \frac{hx}{\omega}\right)^{b} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{C_{m}(b)_{m}}{(\epsilon)_{m}} \left(\frac{x}{\omega}\right)^{m} {}_{x}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} \epsilon & -b \\ m + e \end{pmatrix} z)$$

$$+ \frac{F(c)}{I(b)} \left(1 + \frac{x}{\omega}\right)^{b} \left(\frac{-\omega}{\omega}\right)^{b} \int_{0}^{\infty} R_{n}(t) dt$$

$$R_{n}(t) = t^{b} {}_{x}e^{-\omega} \cdot \sum_{m}^{\infty} C_{m}t^{m}E_{n-k-1}(\omega t)$$

Let ω and c be real and positive Then

$$|E_{m+c-1}(z)| \leqslant \frac{1}{\Gamma(c+m)}$$

By Cauchy's inequality see Knopp (1949 p 408) it follows from (9) that

$$|C_m| \leqslant M \rho^m \qquad 0 < \rho < r$$

where M is a number which |f(z)| never exceeds along the path $|z|=\rho$. Hence

$$|R_n(t)| \leqslant t^{R \cdot b - 1} \exp[-tR(\omega/\omega)] M \sum_{m=n}^{\infty} \frac{(t \cdot \rho)^m}{\Gamma(\varepsilon + m)}$$

$$\frac{t^{R \cdot b} - t \exp(-tR(\omega z))(t/\rho)^n \cdot H}{\Gamma(c + n)} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(t \cdot \rho)^m}{(c + n)_m}$$

$$|R_n(t)| \le \frac{t^{R-b-1} \exp[t/\rho - tR(\omega z)](t \rho)^n M}{\Gamma(c+n)}$$

and so

$$\left| \int_{0}^{\infty} R_{n}(t) dt \right| \leqslant \frac{M\Gamma(R(b) + n) \rho^{R b}}{\Gamma(c + n)(\rho R(\omega/2) - 1)^{R b - n}}$$

which approaches zero as $n \to \infty$ of $pR(\omega/z) > 2$ is if $R(z|\omega) < r/2$. Thus (8) is valid in the left part of the circle $|z|\omega| - r$ However inside this circle as both sides of (8) are analytic functions of x and of the parameters this last condition as well as the conditions imposed on δ is and ω may be wared on appear to the principle of analytic continuation

This completes the proof of (8). Finally, to get (11) multiply both sides of the derivative of (9) with respect to z by [1 + hz][1 + (h - 1)z] and equate like powers of z.

Some convergent expansions of the $_1F_1$ in series of Bessel functions are given in 9.4.3. If a = -n, and n is a large positive integer, c is fixed and |z| < n, an asymptotic expansion for the $_1F_1$ may be deduced from 7.4.6(2, 3) with p = 0.

For our work on rational approximations for the incomplete gamma function $\Gamma(v, z)$, we need some uniform representations of the confluent functions where (c/2 - a) and z are large. These are given in 14.9. For other developments when a is large, and when the parameters and variable are large, see Buchholz (1953), Erdélyi et al. (1953), and Slater (1960).

Finally, we formally deduce a uniform asymptotic representation for the ${}_{1}F_{1}$ when c is large and (c/2 - a) is bounded. With

$$y = e^{-z/2} {}_{1}F_{1}(a; c; z) \sim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_{n}(z)/u^{n}, \quad d_{0}(z) = 1, \quad u = \frac{1}{2}(c-1), \quad (16)$$

$$zy'' + cy' + (k - z/4)y = 0, k = c/2 - a,$$
 (17)

and the d_n 's can be generated by

$$d_{n+1}(z) = -\frac{1}{2}z d'_n(z) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^z (t/4 - k) d_n(t) dt.$$
 (18)

For example,

$$d_1(z) = \frac{z^2}{16} - \frac{kz}{2}, \qquad d_2(z) = \frac{z^4}{512} - \frac{kz^3}{32} + \frac{z^2(2k^2 - 1)}{16} + \frac{kz}{4}, \tag{19}$$

$$d_3(z) = \frac{z^6}{24576} - \frac{kz^5}{1024} + \frac{z^4(4k^2 - 3)}{512} - \frac{k(4k^2 - 13)z^3}{192} - \frac{z^2(3k^2 - 1)}{16} - \frac{kz}{8}.$$

If we write

$$d_n(z) = \sum_{r=1}^{2n} a_r^{(n)} z^r, \tag{20}$$

then

$$a_{r}^{(n+1)} = -\frac{r}{2}a_{r}^{(n)} - \frac{ka_{r-1}^{(n)}}{2r} + \frac{1}{8r}a_{r-2}^{(n)}, \qquad (21)$$

and in particular,

$$a_{z_{\alpha}}^{(a)} = \frac{1}{16^{n}z^{1}}$$
 $a_{z_{\alpha}}^{(a)} = \frac{k}{(2)!\delta^{n-1}(n-1)!}$ $a_{z_{\alpha}}^{(a)} = \frac{(-)^{n}}{2} \left[\frac{2(2^{n-1}-1)k^{2}}{2^{n-2}} - 1\right], \quad a_{z_{\alpha}}^{(a)} = \frac{(-)^{n}k}{2^{n}}$ (22)

The expressions (16)-(18) can also be deduced from some results of Oiver (1954, 1956) who shows that when the second expansion in (16) is truncated after n terms, the remainder is $O(u^{-n})$ uniformly in z for $|R(z)| \leq b$, b fixed but arbitrary

49 Other Notations and Related Functions

In the literature, a notation introduced by Whittaker is often used to designate solutions of the confluent hypergeometric differential equation. These functions are called Whittaker functions. The connection between these functions and the μ - μ and ψ functions are outlined below

$$M_{k,n}(z) = e^{-z/2}z^{-2} {}_k F_3(a \ \epsilon, z)$$
 (1)
 $\Pi_{k,n}(z) = \Pi_{k,n}(z) = \frac{\Gamma(-2n)}{\Gamma(k-m-k)} M_{k,n}(z) + \frac{\Gamma(2n)}{\Gamma(k+m-k)} M_{k,n}(z)$

Here and throughout this discussion

$$k = c 2 - a$$
 $m = (c - 1) 2$ (3)

(2)

$$\Pi_{x,a}(z) = e^{-z/2}z^{c/2}b(a|c,z),$$
 (4)

$$M_{k,m}(ze^{i\pi/2}) = \exp[\pi (m+1)] M_{m,m}(ze^{-i\pi/2})$$
 (5)

$$W_{k,m}(ze^{iz/2}) = \frac{\pi}{\sin 2\pi r} \left[-\frac{\exp[i\pi(k+\pi r)]}{\Gamma(k-m-k)\Gamma(1+2m)} M_{-k-m}(ze^{-iz/2}) + \frac{\exp[i\pi(k-m)]}{\Gamma(k+m-k)\Gamma(1-2m)} M_{-k-m}(ze^{-iz/2}) \right]$$
(6)

$$M_{-k} = \exp[\pm i\pi(\frac{1}{2} + m)] M_{k} = (2)$$
 (7)

$$\Pi_{-k,m}(ze^{+i\sigma}) = \frac{\pi}{\sin 2m\tau} \left\{ -\frac{\exp[\pm i\tau(\frac{1}{2}+m)]}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m+k)} M_{k,m}(z) + \frac{\exp[\pm i\pi(\frac{1}{2}-m)]}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m+k)} M_{k,m}(z) \right\}$$
(8)

Difference-differential properties follow from 4.3 We omit details A complete description is given by Slater (1960) The confluent functions have many important special cases. The tabulation below gives a list of such transcendents and references to further information.

Function	See
Bessel functions: $J_{\nu}(z)$, $Y_{1}(z)$, $C_{1}(z)$, $I_{\nu}(z)$, $K_{1}(z)$, $H_{1}^{(1)}(z)$, $H_{2}^{(2)}(z)$	6 2.7
Incomplete gamma functions and the special cases, the exponential integral, cosine- and sine-integrals, error functions, and Fresnel integrals	6211, Chapter XIV
Laguerre polynomials	8.1.(33)
Hermite polynomials	8.1(34)
Coulomb wave functions	6 2.6(2-4)
Parabolic cylinder functions	6 2.6(5)

Chapter V THE GENERALIZED HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTION AND THE G-FUNCTION

5.1. The F Differential Equation

In 32, we defined the generalized hypergeometric series

$$_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{p}\\\rho_{q}\end{vmatrix}z\rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\frac{(\alpha_{p})_{k}z^{k}}{(\rho_{q})_{k}k!},$$
 (1)

and in Sections 3.2.3.6 we discussed many of its properties. In this chapter we study other aspects of (I) and take up a generalization which is called the G-function

Consider the differential equation

$$[\delta(\delta + \rho_q - 1) - z(\delta + \alpha_p)]U(z) = 0, \quad \delta = zD, \quad D = d dz,$$
 (2)

where the notation is compact as in 3 2(2). That is, $(\delta + \alpha_p)$ stands for $\prod_{j=1}^p (\delta + \alpha_j)$, etc. For connections between the δ and D operators and other related data, see 2.9.

The order of (2) is $\max(p,q+1)$. If p < q+1, the singular points of 2x = 0, 2x = 0 is a regular singularity, $x = \infty$ an irregular singularity. If p = q+1, x = 0, x = 1, and $x = \infty$ are regular singularities. To get a set of fundamental solutions near x = 0, we assume (2) has a solution of the form

$$U = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \tau_k z^{m+k}$$
(3)

Put this in (2) and get

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} v_k \{ (m+k)(m+k+\rho_0-1) z^k - (m+k+\alpha_0) z^{k+1} \} = 0$$
 (4)

The coefficient of τ_0 set to zero is known as the indicial equation. Let m_h , h=0,1, , q denote its roots, which we suppose distinct. Thus,

$$m_0 = 0$$
, $m_h = 1 - \rho_h$, $h = 1, 2, , q$ (5)

If in (4), $m = m_h$ and we equate like powers of z, we find

$$v_k = \frac{(m_h + \alpha_p)_k v_0}{(m_h + 1)_k (m_h + \rho_q)_k}.$$
 (6)

If $p \leq q+1$, no p_h is a negative integer or zero and no two of the p_h 's differ by an integer or zero, then the (q+1) fundamental or linearly independent solutions of (2) near z=0 are proportional to

$$U_0 = {}_{p}F_{q} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} z \Big),$$

$$U_{1} = z^{1-\rho_{1}} {}_{p} F_{q} \left(\frac{1 + \alpha_{p} - \rho_{1}}{2 - \rho_{1}, 1 + \rho_{2} - \rho_{1}, \dots, 1 + \rho_{q} - \rho_{1}} \middle| z \right), \tag{7}$$

$$U_2 = z^{1-\rho_2} {}_p F_q \left(\frac{1 + \alpha_p - \rho_2}{1 + \rho_1 - \rho_2}, \frac{2 - \rho_2}{2 - \rho_2}, \frac{1 + \rho_3 - \rho_2}{1 + \rho_3 - \rho_2}, \dots, \frac{1 + \rho_q - \rho_q}{2 - \rho_2} \right) z \right), \quad \text{etc.}$$

If we agree to modify (2) so that there are $(q+1) \rho_h$'s, ρ_0 , ρ_1 ,..., ρ_q , with the understanding that $\rho_0 = 1$, then with $p \leq q+1$, the (q+1) fundamental solutions near z = 0 of

$$[(\delta + \rho_{q+1} - 1) - z(\delta + \alpha_p)] U(z) = 0$$
(8)

are proportional to

$$U_h(z) = z^{1-\rho_h} {}_p F_q \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \alpha_p - \rho_h \\ 1 + \rho_q - \rho_h^* \end{pmatrix} z \end{pmatrix}, \qquad h = 0, 1, ..., q, \tag{9}$$

provided that no two of the ρ_h 's differ by an integer or zero. Here and elsewhere, the asterisk sign (*) indicates that the term $1 + \rho_j - \rho_h$ is omitted when j = h.

If we divide (8) by z and integrate, then

$$F(z) = {}_{p}F_{q} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} z$$
 (10)

satisfies

$$\left[(\delta + \rho_q - 1) - z \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} f_k g_{k+2} \right] F(z) - f_p \int_0^z F(t) dt = (\rho_q - 1),$$

$$(\rho_{\sigma}-1)=\prod_{h=1}^{N}(\rho_{h}-1), \text{ etc., } g_{k}=(\delta+\alpha_{k})(\delta+\alpha_{k+1})\cdots(\delta+\alpha_{p}), g_{p+1}=1,$$

$$f_0 = 1, \quad f_k = (\alpha_1 - 1)(\alpha_2 - 1) \cdots (\alpha_k - 1).$$
 (11)

If a numerator parameter is unity, say $\alpha_1=1$, then F(z) satisfies a nonhomogeneous differential equation of order $\max(p-1,q)$. Thus,

$$[(\delta + \rho_q - 1) - z(\delta + \alpha_2) \quad (\delta + \alpha_g)]F(z) = (\rho_q - 1),$$

$$F(z) = {}_{\sigma}F_q\left(\stackrel{1}{l}, \stackrel{\alpha_g}{l}, \stackrel{\gamma}{l}, \stackrel{\alpha_g}{l}z\right) \quad (12)$$

We also have

 $[\delta(\delta + \rho_s - 1) - z(\delta + \alpha_g)] A(z) = \mu(\mu + \rho_g - 1) z^{\mu}$

$$A(z) = z^{\mu}_{g+1}F_{g+1}\left(\frac{1}{\mu+1}, \mu+\rho_{g}|z\right),$$
 (13)

$$[(\delta + \mu)(\delta + \mu + \rho_q - 1) - z(\delta + \mu + \alpha_p)] B(z) = \mu(\mu + \rho_q - 1),$$

 $B(z) = x^{-\alpha}A(z)$ (14)
If $p \ge q + 1$ and no two of the α 's differ by an integer or zero, there

are p fundamental solutions of (8) near
$$x = \infty$$
 proportional to
$$V_{\lambda}(z) = z^{-k} *_{k+1} F_{k+1} \left(\frac{1}{1} + a_k - \rho_k + \frac{1}{1} - \rho_k + \frac{$$

Here again, at least one of the ρ_h terms is unity. To prove this, observe that if in (8), z is replaced by 1/z, δ must then be replaced by $-\delta$ whence

$$\{(\delta + (1 - \alpha_p) - 1) - (-)^{n+1-p}x(\delta + 1 - \rho_0)\} U(1/x) = 0,$$
 (16)

and (15) follows by an obvious change of notation. We may also deduce

(15) by the usual power series approach In the singular cases just mentioned, e.g., when two or more of the ρ_k's differ by an integer or zero, independent solutions proportional to the respective U_k's do not cast. In this event, we will construct solutions via limiting processes.

First, we observe that $U_{\lambda}(z)$ is not defined if for some $j, j \neq h$, $(1 + \rho_1 - \rho_h)$ is a negative integer or zero. However, the function

$$\bar{U}_{\lambda}(z) = z^{2-\rho_{\lambda}} {}_{q}\varphi_{q} \left(\frac{1}{1} + \alpha_{q} - \rho_{\lambda}}{1 + \rho_{q} - \rho_{\lambda}} | z \right)$$

$${}_{q}\varphi_{q}(\alpha_{p}, \rho_{q}, z) = \left\{ \Gamma(\rho_{q}) \right\}^{-1} {}_{p}F_{q}(x_{p}, \rho_{q}, z) \qquad (17)$$

satisfies (8) and is defined for all values of the denominator parameters

In particular, if $\rho_1 = -n$, n a positive integer or zero, and no other ρ_h is a negative integer or zero, then

$${}_{p}\varphi_{q}(\alpha_{p}; \rho_{q}; z) = \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{n+1}z^{n+1}}{(\beta_{q})_{n+1}\Gamma(\beta_{q})}{}_{p}F_{q}(\alpha_{p}+n+1; \beta_{q}+n+1; z),$$

$$\beta_{1} = 1, \quad \beta_{j} = \rho_{j} \quad \text{for } j = 2, 3, ..., q,$$
(18)

which is $U_1(z)$ except for a constant factor. Thus no new solution obtains. Now consider the G-function defined by

$$G_{p,q+1}^{m+1,n}\left(z\exp[-i\pi(m+n+1-p)] \middle| \begin{array}{l} 1-\alpha_{1},...,1-\alpha_{p}\\ 1-\rho_{0},...,1-\rho_{q} \end{array}\right)$$

$$=G_{p,q+1}^{m+1,n}\left(z\exp[-i\pi(m+n+1-p)] \middle| \begin{array}{l} 1-\alpha_{p}\\ 1-\rho_{q} \end{array}\right) = \sum_{h=0}^{m} A_{h}^{(m)}U_{h}(z)$$

$$=\sum_{h=0}^{m} \frac{(z\exp[-i\pi(m+n+1-p)])^{(1-\rho_{h})} \prod_{j=0}^{m} \Gamma(\rho_{h}-\rho_{j})^{*} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}-\rho_{h})}{\prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(1+\rho_{j}-\rho_{h}) \prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(\rho_{h}-\alpha_{j})}$$

$$\times {}_{p}F_{q}\left(\frac{1+\alpha_{p}-\rho_{h}}{1+\rho_{q}-\rho_{h}^{*}} \middle| z\right),$$

$$0 \leqslant m \leqslant q$$
, $0 \leqslant n \leqslant p$; $p < q+1$ or $p = q+1$ and $|z| < 1$, (19)

where $U_h(z)$ is given by (9) and the definition of $A_h^{(m)}$ is obvious. Note that if in (19), the G-function is defined without any reference to the functions $U_h(z)$, then ρ_0 need not be unity.

A more detailed analysis of the G-function will be given later, see 5.2. However, a special case has already been encountered. For if m = n = q = 1 and p = 2, then [see 3.10(1)],

$$V(z) = \frac{\Gamma(1+a_1-a_2)}{\Gamma(1+a_1-b_0)\Gamma(1+a_1-b_1)} G_{2,2}^{2,1} \left(ze^{-i\pi} \left| \begin{array}{c} 1-a_1, 1-a_2 \\ 1-b_0, 1-b_1 \end{array} \right). \quad (20)$$

Indeed, our discussion concerning independent solutions of (8) when two ρ_h 's differ by an integer or zero is akin to that given for the ${}_2F_1$. For each m=0,1,...,q, (19) gives linearly independent solutions of (8) provided that none of the ρ_h 's differ by an integer or zero, and that $(1+\alpha_j-\rho_h), j=1,2,...,n$, is not a negative integer or zero. The latter requirement is not restrictive insofar as solutions of (8) are concerned, since solutions are only known to within an arbitrary constant. Further, n is arbitrary, so that we could arrange the parameters to have $\Gamma(\rho_i-\alpha_k)$ appear in the denominator of the right-hand side of (19) if $(1+\alpha_k-\rho_i)$ is a negative integer or zero. In this connection, we should note that the G-function is symmetric in the parameters: $\alpha_1,...,\alpha_n$;

147

αn+1, , αn, ρn, , ρm, and ρm+1, , ρo Thus a shuffling of the param eters on the nghthand side of (19) may necessitate a change in the arrangement of the parameters of the G function on the left But as previously remarked, this does not affect our approach to writing solutions which satisfy (8)

If $m \ge 1$, $A_a^{(m)}U_a(z)$ and $A_a^{(m)}U_a(z) + A_1^{(m)}U_s(z)$ with $\rho_1 - \rho_0 = s + \epsilon$. s a positive integer or zero, are linearly independent solutions of (8) If $\epsilon = 0$, we invoke L'Hospital's theorem to get a solution independent of $U_n(z)$ by evaluating

$$\Pi_1(z) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \{A_0^{(m)}U_0(z) + A_1^{(m)}U_1(z)\}$$
 (21)

We prove that

$$\begin{split} & \Pi_{1}(z) = T_{p+1}^{m+1} \left(z \exp\left[-t n(m+n+1-p)\right] \left[\frac{1}{n}, \frac{1+p_{0}-p_{0}}{1+p_{0}-\alpha_{p}}\right] \\ & - \frac{\left(-\right)^{m+1} \left(z \exp\left[-t n(m+n+1-p)\right]\right)^{m+1} \prod_{i=0}^{m} I(p_{i}-p_{i}) \prod_{i=0}^{n} I(1+\alpha_{i}-p_{0})}{1! \prod_{i=0}^{n} I(1+p_{0}-p_{0}) \prod_{i=0}^{n} I(1+\alpha_{i}-p_{0})} \end{split}$$

$$\times \left\{ \left[\gamma + \ln(z \exp\{-r(m + \pi + 1 - p)\}) - \sum_{p=1}^{m} \phi(\rho_{0} - \rho_{1}) - \sum_{p=m+1}^{m} \phi(1 + \rho_{1} - \rho_{2}) + \sum_{p=1}^{m} \phi(1 + \alpha_{1} - \alpha_{p}) + \sum_{p=1}^{m} \phi(\rho_{0} - \alpha_{2}) - \phi(1 + s) \right\} \left[F_{0} \left(\frac{1}{s} + \frac{\alpha_{1}}{s} - \frac{\alpha_{p}}{s} \right) \right] \right\}$$

$$\frac{\rho_0}{\rho_0} = \frac{\rho_0}{\rho_0} \left(\frac{1 + \alpha_p - \rho_0}{1 + \alpha_p - \alpha_0} \frac{1 + \alpha_p - \rho_0}{1 + \alpha_p - \alpha_0} \frac{1}{\rho_0} \right), \quad \rho_1 = \rho_0 + s \quad (22)$$

where

$$\begin{split} & \mathcal{T}_{\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}}^{*} \left(z\right) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 + \tau_{\mathbf{x}} - \tau_{\mathbf{x}} \\ 1 & -\sigma_{\mathbf{y}} - \tau_{\mathbf{x}} \end{bmatrix} \\ & = & T_{\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}}^{*} \left(z\right) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 + \tau_{\mathbf{x}} - \tau_{\mathbf{x}} \\ 1 & -\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} - \tau_{\mathbf{x}} \end{bmatrix}, 1 + \tau_{\mathbf{x}} - \tau_{\mathbf{x}} \\ 1 & + \sigma_{\mathbf{x}} - \tau_{\mathbf{x}} \end{bmatrix}, 1 + \tau_{\mathbf{x}} - \tau_{\mathbf{x}} \end{bmatrix} \\ & = & z^{*} \frac{\prod_{k=1}^{n} I(r_{\mathbf{y}} - \tau_{\mathbf{y}}) \prod_{k=1}^{n} I(1 + \tau_{\mathbf{y}} - \sigma_{\mathbf{y}})}{\prod_{k=1}^{n} I(r_{\mathbf{y}} - \tau_{\mathbf{y}}) \prod_{k=1}^{n} I(\sigma_{\mathbf{y}} - \sigma_{\mathbf{y}})} \end{split}$$

$$\times \sum_{r=1}^{s-1} \frac{(1+r_1-\sigma_s)_k (s-1-k)!}{(1+r_1-r_1)_{r-1} (1+r_2-r_1)_{r-1} k!} e^{-\frac{1}{2}k(\sigma_1-\sigma_1)_{r-1} k!}$$

$$=\frac{z^{r_1}[z\exp[i\tau(m+n+1-p)]]^{s-1}z^{m+n-p-2}\prod_{j=1}^{p}\Gamma(r_2-\sigma_j)\prod_{j=n+1}^{p}\sin\tau(\sigma_j-r_j)}{(s-1)!\prod_{i=1}^{p}\Gamma(r_2-\tau_j)\prod_{j=n}^{m}\sin\tau(r_j-\tau_j)}$$

$$\times_{q \mapsto 1} F_{p} \begin{pmatrix} 1, 1 + \tau_{q} - \tau_{q} \\ 1 + \sigma_{q} - \tau_{q} \end{pmatrix} \frac{(-)^{q + q}}{2} \qquad \tau_{q} - \tau = s \qquad (23)$$

and

$${}_{p}^{u}F_{q}^{v}\begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{p} & \gamma_{u} \\ \tau_{q} & \delta_{v} \end{pmatrix} z = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\sigma_{p})_{k}z^{k}}{(\tau_{q})_{k}k!} \{ \psi(\gamma_{u}+k) - \psi(\gamma_{u}) - \psi(\delta_{v}+k) + \psi(\delta_{v}) \}.$$
 (24)

In the latter, $\psi(\gamma_u)$ is short for $\sum_{j=1}^u \psi(\gamma_j)$, etc.

Note that in the ${}^{p}_{p}F_{q}^{q+1}$ symbol in (22), $1 + \rho_{q} - \rho_{0}$ stands for 1, 1 + s, $1 + \rho_{2} - \rho_{0}$, ..., $1 + \rho_{q} - \rho_{0}$, and $1 + \rho_{q} - \rho_{0}^{*}$ is the same with 1 omitted. Again in (23), $1 + \tau_{q} - \tau_{2}$ stands for 1 - s, $1, 1 + \tau_{3} - \tau_{2}$,..., $1 + \tau_{q} - \tau_{2}$. To get the polynomial expansion for $T_{p,q+1}^{m+1,n}$ in (22) from that of $T_{p,q}^{m,n}$ in (23), in the latter replace m by m+1, q by q+1, σ_{h} by $1 - \alpha_{h}$, τ_{1} by $1 - \rho_{1}$, τ_{2} by $1 - \rho_{0}$, and τ_{h+1} by $1 - \rho_{h}$ for h=2,3,...,q. Then replace z by $z \exp[-i\pi(m+n+1-p)]$.

For the proof of (22) we write $A_1^{(m)}U_1(z)$ in the form C+D where $C=\sum_{k=0}^{s-1}$ and $D=\sum_{k=s}^{\infty}$. Then $\lim_{\epsilon\to 0}C$ is given by (23) and

$$D = \frac{\left[(-)^{s} (z \exp[-i\pi(m+n+1-p)])^{(1-\rho_{1}+s)} \Gamma(1+\epsilon) \times \prod_{j=2}^{m} \Gamma(\rho_{1}-\rho_{j}-s) \prod_{j=n}^{n} \Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}-\rho_{1}+s) \right]}{\times \Gamma(1+s) \prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(1+\rho_{j}-\rho_{1}+s) \prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(\rho_{1}-\alpha_{j}-s)} \times {}_{p+1}F_{q+1} \left(1-\epsilon, 1+s, 1+\rho_{2}-\rho_{1}+s, ..., 1+\rho_{q}-\rho_{1}+s \right) z \right). \quad (25)$$

Also,

$$A_0^{(m)}U_0(z)$$

$$= \frac{\left[(-)^{s+1} (z \exp[-i\pi(m+n+1-p)])^{(1-\rho_1+s+\epsilon)} \Gamma(1-\epsilon) \Gamma(1+\epsilon) \right]}{\times \prod_{j=2}^{m} \Gamma(\rho_1-\rho_j-s-\epsilon) \prod_{j=1}^{n} (1+\alpha_j-\rho_0+s+\epsilon)} \\ = \frac{\left[(-)^{s+1} (z \exp[-i\pi(m+n+1-p)])^{(1-\rho_1+s+\epsilon)} \Gamma(1-\epsilon) \Gamma(1+\epsilon) \right]}{\epsilon \Gamma(1+s+\epsilon) \prod_{j=m+1}^{m} \Gamma(1+\rho_j-\rho_1+s+\epsilon) \prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(\rho_1-\alpha_j-s-\epsilon)} \\ \times {}_{p}F_{q} \left(\frac{1+\alpha_p-\rho_1+s+\epsilon}{1+s+\epsilon,1+\rho_2-\rho_1+s+\epsilon} + \frac{1}{p} z \right).$$
(26)

Now evaluate $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \{D + A_0^{(m)} U_0(z)\}$ and (22) readily follows.

If another pair of the ρ_j 's differ by a positive integer or zero, say $\rho_2 - \rho_3 = r$, but ρ_2 and ρ_1 do not differ by an integer or zero, then a solution independent of $U_3(z)$ follows on application of the above analysis to $A_2^{(m)}U_2(z) + A_3^{(m)}U_3(z)$. If three or more of the ρ_j 's differ by an integer or zero, the previous analysis can be readily extended to get linearly independent solutions. Later, we define the G-function by a Mellin-Barnes integral and after the manner of deriving 3.10(13) as in 3.10(14, 15), we can deduce (22). This same type of analysis may be used to get a representation when three or more of the ρ_j 's differ by an integer or zero. Equation (22) has been previously given by Luke (1962a).

There on p 15, in (2), for $-\psi(1+\beta_0+k)+\psi(1+\beta_0)$ read the same

with β_q replaced by δ_s . See also MacRobert (1961, 1962b) for an analysis when two or more of the ρ_s 's differ by an integer or zero

We now consider (15) If $\alpha_2 - \alpha_3 = s_1 s_3$ positive integer or zero, and no other α_3 differs from α_3 by an integer or zero, then $V_2(a)$ is defined and $V_1(a)$ is not defined unless s = 0, in which case $V_1(a) = V_2(a)$ if s > 0, as well defined solution may be written using the p_{ij} symbol [see the remarks around (17)]. However, this leads to a solution proportional to $V_1(a)$ For our later work, it is convenient to writte

$$G_{\text{ext}, p}^{2, 1} \left\{ (ze^{-ip})^{-1} \middle| f_{0}^{p} f_{0}^{p}, f_{0}^{p} \right\} = \sum_{k=1}^{p} B_{k}^{(2)} V_{k}(z)$$

$$= \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{p} f(\alpha_{k}) \prod_{j=1}^{p} f(\alpha_{j} - \alpha_{k})^{*} (ze^{-ip})^{\alpha_{k}}}{\prod_{j=1}^{p} f(p_{j} - \alpha_{k})} \times_{ext} F_{p-1} \left[\frac{1}{1} + \alpha_{k} - \frac{\alpha_{k}}{2} \middle| \frac{(-)^{p+1-p}}{2} \right],$$

$$q + 1 1, \qquad (27)$$

where $V_A(x)$ is given by (15) in which event we take $\rho_0=1$. The definition of $B_0^{(p)}$ is obvious. If we omit reference to the functions $V_A(x)$, then (27) is valid without $\rho_0=1$, see S(211) with an appropriate change of notation. If $\rho_0=1$, the above relation is notated $L_{p,q}(xe^{-t}e)$ [see $S(111)^{(p)}$].

To derive a solution independent of $V_2(z)$, we set $\alpha_2 - \alpha_1 = s + \epsilon$ and evaluate

$$X(z) = \lim_{z \to 0} \{B_1^{(z)}V_1(z) + B_2^{(z)}V_2(z)\}$$
 (28)

After the manner of deriving (22), we find that

$$X(z) = T_{q+1,p}^{-1} \left\{ (ze^{-i\alpha}) \cdot \left[\frac{1}{1 + \alpha_p - \alpha_2} \right] + \frac{1}{p_{q_p} - \alpha_2} \right] + \frac{(-)^{q+1}(ze^{-i\alpha}) - q_1^2(\alpha_p) \prod_{p_{q_p}}^{p_{q_p}} I_{q_p}^{p_{q_p}} (p_{q_p}) \prod_{p_{q_p}}^{p_{q_p}} I_{q_p}^{p_{q_p}} - \alpha_2}{1 \prod_{p_{q_p}}^{p_{q_p}} I_{q_p}^{p_{q_p}} - \alpha_2} \times \left[\left[y + \ln(ze^{-i\alpha}) \cdot \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} \psi(\alpha_p) - \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} \psi(\alpha_p) - \alpha_2} + \sum_{p_{q_p}}^{q_p} \psi(\rho_p - \alpha_2) - \psi(1 + t) \right] \times \sup_{q_{q_p}} \left[\frac{1}{1 + \alpha_2} - \frac{\rho_q}{\alpha_p} \left[\frac{1 - p_1^2 + p_1}{2} \right] + \sup_{q_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} + \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} + \sum_{q_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} + \sum_{q_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} \left[\frac{1 - p_1^2 + p_1}{2} \right] + \sup_{q_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} + \sum_{q_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} + \sum_{q_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} + \sum_{q_{q_p}} \frac{1}{p_{q_p}} \left[\frac{1 - p_1^2 + p_1}{2} \right] \right\}$$
(29)

where the $T_{p,q}^{m,n}$ and ${}_{p}^{u}F_{q}^{r}$ symbols are given by (23) and (24), respectively. For convenience the polynomial portion of (26) may be expressed in the form

$$T_{q+1,p}^{p,1}\left((ze^{-i\pi})^{-1} \left| \begin{array}{c} 1, 1+\alpha_{p}-\alpha_{2} \\ 1+\rho_{q}-\alpha_{2} \end{array} \right) \right.$$

$$= \left(ze^{-i\pi}\right)^{-\alpha_{1}} \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \frac{(s-1-k)! \ \Gamma(\alpha_{1}+k) \prod_{j=3}^{p} \Gamma(\alpha_{j}-\alpha_{1}-k)}{k! \prod_{j=1}^{q} \Gamma(\rho_{q}-\alpha_{1}-k) z^{k}}$$

$$= \frac{e^{i\pi\alpha_{1}z^{1-\alpha_{2}}\Gamma(\alpha_{2}-1) \prod_{j=1}^{p} \Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}-\alpha_{2})}{(s-1)! \prod_{j=1}^{q} \Gamma(1+\rho_{j}-\alpha_{2})} {}_{p+1}F_{q+1} \left(\begin{array}{c} 1, 1+\alpha_{p}-\alpha_{2} \\ 2-\alpha_{2}, 1+\rho_{q}-\alpha_{2} \end{array} \right| z \right).$$
(30)

Clearly (29) may be deduced from (22) with a change of notation. As previously remarked, the point z = 1 is a regular singularity of (2) when p = q + 1. For fundamental solutions near this singularity, we refer the reader to the excellent work of Nörlund (1955).

5.2. The G-Function

In 3.6(28) and 4.2(4) we gave an integral representation of the Mellin-Barnes type for the $_2F_1$ and $_1F_1$ functions, respectively. With these as patterns, we could write down and prove a similar representation for the $_pF_q$. It is more convenient, however, to deal with a function which includes the $_pF_q$ as a special case. Such a transcendent is the G-function which we now define as

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid a_{1},...,a_{p}\right) = G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid a_{p}\right)$$

$$= (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{L} \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma(b_{j}-s) \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1-a_{j}+s)}{\prod_{j=n+1}^{q} \Gamma(1-b_{j}+s) \prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(a_{j}-s)} z^{s} ds.$$
(1)

Where no confusion can result, we often refer to the latter as $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$. Here an empty product is interpreted as unity, $0 \le m \le q$, $0 \le n \le p$, and the parameters a_h and b_h are such that no pole of $\Gamma(b_j - s)$, j = 1, 2, ..., m, coincides with any pole of $\Gamma(1 - a_k + s)$, k = 1, 2, ..., n. Thus $(a_k - b_l)$ is not a positive integer. We retain these assumptions throughout. Also $z \ne 0$.

There are three different paths L of integration

L goes from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$ so that all poles of $R(b_1-s)$, $j=1,2,\ldots,m$, he to the right of the path and all poles of $R(1-a_2+i)$, $k=1,2\ldots,n$ he to the left of the path For the integral to converge we need $\delta=m+n=-\frac{1}{2}p+q)>0$, $|\sin x|=(-\delta=1)$ (I gag $x=(-\delta=1)$ (I gag $x=(-\delta=1)$), $\delta=0$, the integral converges absolutely when p=q if R(k)<-1, and when $p\neq q$, if with $z=q+i\pi$, and $\tau=1$ as z for one so that for $\tau=+\infty$.

$$(a-p)a>R(p)+1-\frac{1}{2}(a-p).$$

where was given by (6) below

L is a loop beginning and ending at $+\infty$ and entircling all poles of $\Gamma(b_j-s)$ j=1,2, m, once in the negative direction, but none of the poles of $\Gamma(1-a_k+s)$, k=1 2, n The integral converges if $q\geqslant 1$ and either p< q or p=q and |z|<1

L is a loop beginning and ending at $-\infty$ and enertching all poles of $\Gamma(1-a_k+1), k=1,2$, n, once in the positive direction, but none of the poles of $\Gamma(b_1-b)$ j=1,2, n The integral converges if $\delta > 1$ and either b > 0 or b = q and [a] > 1.

For later considerations, it is informative to verify the statements given in (2) Let

$$B(s) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(b_{j} - s) \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1 - a_{j} + s) \pi^{s}}{\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1 - b_{j} + s) \prod_{j=n+1}^{n} \Gamma(a_{j} - s)},$$
 (5)

(3)

and let $s = \sigma + \epsilon r$, σ and τ real, on the path of integration Employing 2.11(12), we find $|B(t)| \leq C \exp[-(\delta \sigma |\tau| + \tau \arg z)] |\tau|^{\frac{1}{2}} |1 + \eta(\tau) O(\tau^{-1})|.$

$$C = (2\pi)^{a} \exp \left[\frac{\pi}{2} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{a} |I(\delta_{j})| + \sum_{j=1}^{a} |I(a_{j})| \right\} \right],$$

 $\theta = R(r) + (\sigma + \frac{1}{2})(p - q) \quad r = \sum_{j=1}^{a} \delta_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{a} a_{j},$
 $\delta = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p + q)$ (6)

where $\eta(\tau)$ is bounded for all τ If $\delta > 0$ and $|\arg z| < \delta \pi$, B(s) is of exponential decay for large τ on the path of integration and so the

integral converges. If $|\arg z| = \delta \pi$, $\delta \ge 0$, the integral will converge absolutely provided that for τ sufficiently large, $\theta < -1$ and this leads to the statement (2).

It is supposed that the parameters a_h , b_h , and the variable z are such that at least one of the definitions (2)-(4) makes sense. Where more than one of the definitions has meaning, they lead to the same result so that no confusion arises.

If we use (3), the integral can be evaluated as a sum of residues. If no two of the b_h terms, h = 1, 2, ..., m, differ by an integer or zero, all poles are simple, and

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid a_{p}\right) = \sum_{h=1}^{m} \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma(b_{j} - b_{h})^{*} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1 + b_{h} - a_{j}) z^{b_{h}}}{\prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(1 + b_{h} - b_{j}) \prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(a_{j} - b_{h})} \times {}_{p}F_{q-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 + b_{h} - a_{p} \\ 1 + b_{h} - b_{q}^{*} \end{pmatrix} (-)^{p-m-n} z \end{pmatrix},$$

$$p < q \text{ or } p = q \text{ and } |z| < 1.$$
(7)

If m = 0, and we use (3), the integrand is analytic on and within the contour and so

$$G_{p,q}^{0,n}\left(z \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q}\right) = 0. \tag{8}$$

It is clear that the G-function is a many valued function of z with a branch point at the origin. For further discussion of the singularities of the G-function, see the remarks surrounding 5.3(1) and 5.8(1).

If in (7), we replace m by m+1, q by q+1, and a_h by $1-\alpha_h$, b_h by $1-\rho_h$ and z by $z \exp\{-i\pi(m+n+1-p)\}$, we get 5.1(19). Again replace p by q+1 and a_h by ρ_{h-1} , h=1,...,q+1, with $\rho_0=1$, replace q by p and b_h by α_h , h=1,2,...,p, take m=p,n=1, and replace z by $(ze^{-i\pi})^{-1}$. We then get 5.1(27).

If only two of the b_h 's differ by an integer or zero, then as in our previous studies, we can use L'Hospital's theorem on the pertinent portion of the right-hand side of (7) to get a series representation for the G-function on the left. The final result can be deduced from 5.1(22) by making appropriate substitutions for the parameters and variable previously noted. Suppose that $b_2 - b_1 = s$, s a positive integer or zero. Write (7) in the form

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c}a_p\\b_q\end{array}\right)=\sum_{h=1}^mC_h^{(m)},\qquad m\geqslant 2,\tag{9}$$

where the meaning of $C_{\Lambda}^{(m)}$ is evident. Then

145

$$\begin{split} G_{p,q}^{n,n}\left(z\left|\frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}}\right.\right) &= \sum_{k=0}^{n} C_{k}^{(n)} + T_{p,n}^{n,n}\left(z\left|\frac{1}{1} + b_{q} - b_{z}\right.\right) \\ &+ \frac{\left(-\right)^{p+1} 2^{k} \prod_{j=0}^{n} \frac{T(j-b_{j}-b_{j}) \prod_{j=1}^{n} T(1+b_{j}-a_{j})}{1 \prod_{j=n+1}^{n} T(1+b_{j}-b_{j}) \prod_{j=n+1}^{n} T(b_{j}-b_{j})} \\ &\times \left[\left\{(y+\ln z) - \sum_{j=4}^{n} \psi(b_{j}-b_{j}) + \sum_{j=4}^{n} \psi(1+b_{j}-a_{j}) \right. \\ &- \sum_{j=n+1}^{n} \psi(1+b_{j}-b_{j}) + \sum_{j=n+2}^{p} \psi(a_{j}-b_{j}) - \psi(1+z)\right\} \\ &\times {}_{p}F_{e-1}\left(\frac{1+b_{j}-a_{j}}{1+b_{j}-b_{j}} \left(-\right)^{p-n} {}_{n}z\right) \\ &+ {}_{p}F_{q-1}\left(\frac{1+b_{j}-a_{j}}{1+b_{j}-b_{j}} \left[\frac{1+b_{j}-a_{j}}{1+b_{j}-b_{j}} \left(-\right)^{p-n} {}_{n}z\right)\right], \\ b_{2} - b_{1} + t, \end{split}$$

$$(10)$$

where the $T_{n,n}^{m,n}$ and pF_{n-1}^{q} notations are defined by 5 1(23) and 5 1(24). respectively Equation (10) can also be deduced from the contour integral (1) See the remarks following 5 1(26) If no two of the a_h terms, h = 1, , n, differ by an integer or zero,

then use of (4) leads to $G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid \frac{a_p}{b}\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(a_h - a_j)^* \prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(b_i - a_h + 1) z^{a_h - 1}}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(1 + a_i - a_i) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \Gamma(a_i - b_i)}$ $\times {}_{q}F_{p-1}\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 + b_{q} - a_{h} \\ 1 + a_{p} - a_{p} \end{array} \right) \frac{(-)^{q-m-n}}{n},$ q < p or q = p and |z| > 1

It is clear from (7) and (11) that the $_{n}F_{o}$ can be expressed as a G-function We have the following relations

$$G_{s,a}^{1}\left(z\left|\frac{a_{g}}{b_{q}}\right| = \frac{\prod_{l=1}^{p} \Gamma(1+b_{l}-a_{l})z^{h}}{\prod_{l=1}^{q} \Gamma(1+b_{l}-b_{l})\prod_{l=1}^{q} \Gamma(s-b_{l})} \times {}_{s}F_{s}\cdot\left(\frac{1+b_{l}-a_{g}}{1+b_{l}-b_{q}^{*}}|(-)^{p-1}z_{l}^{*}\right),$$

$$p < q \text{ or } p = q \text{ and } |z| < 1, \quad (12)$$

(11)

(17)

$${}_{p}F_{q}\left(\begin{matrix} 1+\alpha_{p}-\rho_{0}\\ 1+\rho_{q}-\rho_{0}^{*} \end{matrix} \middle| z\right) = \frac{\left[\begin{matrix} \prod_{j=1}^{q}\Gamma(1+\rho_{j}-\rho_{0})\prod_{j=n+1}^{p}\Gamma(\rho_{0}-\alpha_{j})\\ & \times \{z\exp[-i\pi(n+1-p)]\}^{(\rho_{0}-1)}\right]}{\prod_{j=1}^{n}\Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}-\rho_{0})} \\ & \times G_{p,q+1}^{1,n}\left(z\exp[-i\pi(n+1-p)]\middle| \begin{matrix} 1-\alpha_{p}\\ 1-\rho_{0},1-\rho_{1},...,1-\rho_{q} \end{matrix}\right), \\ p\leqslant q \text{ or } p=q+1 \text{ and } |z|<1; \end{cases}$$

$$p \leqslant q \text{ or } p=q+1 \text{ and } |z|<1;$$

$$p \leqslant q \text{ or } p=q+1 \text{ and } |z|<1.$$

$$p \leqslant q \text{ or } p=q+1 \text{ and } |z|<1.$$

$$(13)$$

We remind the reader that in (13), ρ_0 need not be unity.

$$G_{p,q}^{m,1}\left(z \mid a_{p} \atop b_{q}\right) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma(b_{j} - a_{1} + 1) z^{a_{1} - 1}}{\prod_{j=2}^{p} \Gamma(1 + a_{j} - a_{1}) \prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(a_{1} - b_{j})} \times {}_{q}F_{p-1}\left(\frac{1 + b_{q} - a_{1}}{1 + a_{p} - a_{1}^{*}} \middle| \frac{(-)^{q-m-1}}{z}\right),$$

$$q 1.$$
(15)

$${}_{p}F_{q}\left(\frac{1+\alpha_{p}-\rho_{0}}{1+\rho_{q}-\rho_{0}^{*}}\,\middle|\,z\right) = \frac{\left[\prod_{j=1}^{q}\Gamma(1+\rho_{j}-\rho_{0})\prod_{j=n+1}^{p}\Gamma(\rho_{0}-\alpha_{j})\right] \times \left\{z\exp\left[-i\pi(n+1-p)\right]\right\}^{(\rho_{0}-1)}}{\prod_{j=1}^{n}\Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}-\rho_{0})} \times G_{q+1,p}^{n,1}\left(z^{-1}\exp\left[i\pi(n+1-p)\right]\,\middle|\,\rho_{0},\rho_{1},...,\rho_{q}\right),$$

$$p \leqslant q \quad \text{or} \quad p = q+1 \quad \text{and} \quad |z| < 1. \tag{16}$$

$${}_{p}F_{q}\left(\frac{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{q}}\,\middle|\,z\right) = \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})}G_{q+1,p}^{p,1}\left(-z^{-1}\,\middle|\,\frac{1,\rho_{q}}{\alpha_{p}}\right),$$

The combination (7) and (12) yields the expansion formula

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid a_{p} \atop b_{q}\right) = \sum_{h=1}^{m} \frac{\left[\prod_{j=1}^{m} \left\{\Gamma(b_{j} - b_{h})^{*} \Gamma(1 + b_{h} - b_{j})^{*}\right\} \times \exp[-i\pi b_{h}(p + 1 - m - n)]\right]}{\prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \left\{\Gamma(a_{j} - b_{h}) \Gamma(1 + b_{h} - a_{j})\right\}}$$

 $p \le q$ or p = q + 1 and |z| < 1.

$$\times G_{p,q}^{1,p}\left((-)^{p+1-m-n}z \mid a_{p} \atop b_{h}, b_{q}^{*}\right). \tag{18}$$

Similarly, from (11) and (15)

$$G_{p,q}^{n}\left\{z\left|\begin{array}{l}a_{p}\\b_{q}\end{array}\right.\right\} = \sum_{k=1}^{n}\frac{\left[\prod_{i=1}^{n}\left\{\Gamma(a_{i}-a_{i})^{k}\Gamma(1+a_{i}-a_{i})^{k}+\Gamma(1+a_{i}-a_{i})^{k}+C(1+a_{i}-a_{i})\right\}\right]}{\prod_{i=n+1}^{n}\left\{\Gamma(a_{i}-b_{i})\Gamma(1+b_{i}-a_{i})\right\}}$$

$$\leq G_{k}\left\{\left(-b_{k}\right)^{2}-n,n\right\}\left\{a_{k},a_{p}^{*}\right\}$$
(10)

$$\times G_{p,q}^{q,1}\left((-)^{q+1-m-n}z\right) \frac{a_h, a_p^*}{b_q}$$
 (19)

For generalizations of (18), (19) and other series, see 5 9 3

Originally the G-function was defined by Mener (1936) by the series (7) Later, see Mener (1941a, p. 83, 1946), the series definition was replaced by one in terms of the Mellin-Barnes integral (1) where the path L is as defined in (2) and (3), respectively. The complete definition (1)-(4), except for the discussion involving $| \arg \pi | = \delta \pi$. δ ≥ 0. in (2), is due to Erdély; et al (1953, Vol 1, p 207)

The E-function introduced by MacRobert (1937, 1938) can be defined by

$$E(a_1, a_2, ..., a_p, b_1, b_2, ..., b_q, z) = E(a_p, b_q, z) = G_{q+1,p}^{p,1}(z | \frac{1, b_q}{a_p})$$
 (20)

Both MacRobert's E-function and Mener's G-function arose from an attempt to give meaning to the $_{p}F_{q}$ symbol when p>q+1

5 3. Analytic Continuation of Gara(z)

It is readily shown from 5 2(1) that

$$G_{\frac{p-q}{2}}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\frac{a_p}{b_q}\right) = G_{\frac{q-p}{2}}^{m,n}\left(z^{-1}\left|\frac{1-b_q}{1-a_p}\right), \quad \arg\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) = -\arg z$$
 (1)

This is an important relation, for in the discussion of the G-function we can without loss of generality suppose that $p \le q$ If p = q in 5 2(1) and L is defined as in 5 2(3), then we require 0 < |z| < 1, whereas if L is given by 52(4), |z| > 1 When L is the path in 52(2), we have a representation valid for all $z, z \neq 0$, provided $m + n \ge b + 1$ and $|\arg z| < (m+n-p)\tau$ When |z| < 1, we can, without altering the value of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$, bend the contour in (2) around so that it coincides with the contour in (3) From 5 8(1), Gn (2) satisfies a linear differential equation of order p and every finite point in the z-plane is an ordinary point save z = 0 and $z = (-)^{m+n-p}$ which are regular singularities To define the $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ function outside the unit circle, we introduce a cross cut in the z-plane along the straight line from

$$(-)^{m+n-p}$$
 to $(-)^{m+n-p}(1+\infty e^{i\mu}), \quad -\pi/2 \leqslant \mu \leqslant \pi/2.$ (2)

In (2), we most always take $\mu=0$. Then in the cut plane $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ has no singularity except for the branch point at z=0. If $m+n \ge p+2$, the sector $|\arg z| < (m+n-p)\pi$ contains the point $(-)^{m+n-p}$. But in this situation, as noted above, $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ is regular at $z=(-)^{m+n-p}$. Thus, if $m+n \ge p+2$ and $|\arg z| < (m+n-p)\pi$, the cross cut is superfluous. We have, therefore, proved that if $m+n \ge p+1$ and $|\arg z| < (m+n-p)\pi$, then $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ can be continued analytically from inside the unit disc with center at the origin to the outside of this disc by means of the expansion 5.2(11) with q=p. It readily follows that

$$F_{p+1}F_{p}\begin{pmatrix} a_{p+1} \\ b_{p} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(b_{p})}{\Gamma(a_{p+1})} \sum_{h=1}^{p+1} \Gamma(a_{h}) \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{p+1} \Gamma(a_{j} - a_{h})^{*} (z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{a_{h}}}{\prod_{j=1}^{p} \Gamma(b_{j} - a_{h})} \times_{p+1}F_{p}\begin{pmatrix} 1 + a_{h} - b_{p}, a_{h} \\ 1 + a_{h} - a_{p+1}^{*} \end{pmatrix} z^{-1},$$

$$0 < \arg z < 2\pi, \tag{3}$$

and this furnishes the analytic continuation of the $_{p+1}F_p$ on the left from inside the unit circle to the outside of this circle. We have therefore completely generalized the $_2F_1$ results of Chapter III with respect to solutions of 5.1(2) about the singular points z=0 and $z=\infty$, and the connection between these solutions. In the $_{p+1}F_p$ situation for p>1, the solutions about the singular point z=1 are not of hypergeometric type and so are rather complicated. We shall not deal with this aspect of the problem. Instead, we refer the reader to the excellent memoir by Nörlund (1955).

For further discussion on the analytic continuation of the function $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$, see 5.7(10, 11) and 5.10(21-23).

5.4. Elementary Properties of the G-Function

As previously remarked, the G-function is an analytic function of x with a branch point at the origin. It is symmetric in the parameters $a_1, ..., a_n$; $a_{n+1}, ..., a_p$; $b_1, ..., b_m$; and $b_{m+1}, ..., b_q$. Thus, if one of the a_h 's, h = 1, 2, ..., n, is equal to one of the b_j 's, j = m + 1, ..., q, the G-function reduces to one of lower order. For example,

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid \frac{a_1, ..., a_p}{b_1, ..., b_{q-1}, a_1}\right) = G_{p-1,q-1}^{m,n-1}\left(z \mid \frac{a_2, ..., a_p}{b_1, ..., b_{q-1}}\right), \quad n, p, q \geqslant 1.$$
 (1)

Similarly, if one of the a_k 's, h=n+1, , p, is equal to one of the b_j 's, $j=1,2,\ldots,m$, then the G-function reduces to one of lower order For example,

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \middle| \begin{array}{ccc} a_1 & a_{p-1} & b_1 \\ b_1 & b_2 & b_q \end{array}\right) = G_{p-1,q-1}^{m-1,n}\left(z \middle| \begin{array}{ccc} a_1 & a_{p-1} \\ b_2 & b_q \end{array}\right) & m, p, q \geqslant 1$$
 (2)

The important relation

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c}a_p\\b_z\end{array}\right)=G_{q,p}^{m,n}\left(z^{-1}\left|\begin{array}{c}1-b_q\\1-a\end{array}\right),\quad\arg\left(\begin{array}{c}1\\\widetilde{z}\end{array}\right)=-\arg z,$$
 (3)

has already been noted Its significance hes in the fact that in the discussion of the G-function we can, without loss of generality, suppose that $p\leqslant q$. Another important result easily proved from 5.2(1) is that

$$z^{\alpha} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a_p \\ b \end{vmatrix} \right) = G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a_p + \sigma \\ b + \omega \end{vmatrix} \right)$$
 (4)

If in the integrand of 5 2(1), we replace s by ks, k a positive integer, and use 2 3(1), then

$$G_{p,e}^{m,n}\left(x\left|\frac{a_{s}}{b_{q}}\right) = (2\pi)^{n}k^{n}G_{pk}^{mk,n}\left(\left|\frac{x^{k}}{k^{k(n-p)}}\right|^{k}\left|\frac{c_{1k},c_{2k}}{d_{1k},d_{2k}}\right|,\frac{c_{nk}}{d_{2k}}\right),$$

$$u = (k-1)[\frac{1}{2}(p+q) - m - n] \quad v = \sum_{s}^{n}b_{s} - \sum_{s}^{n}a_{s} + \frac{1}{2}(p-q) + 1, \quad (5)$$

where ϵ_{hk} and d_{hk} stand respectively for the set of parameters

$$\frac{a_k}{k} = \frac{a_k + 1}{k} \qquad \frac{a_k + k - 1}{k}, \quad h = 1, 2, \quad p,$$

$$\frac{b_k}{k}$$
, $\frac{b_k+1}{k}$, $\frac{b_k+k-1}{k}$, $h\approx 1,2$, q

The following identities are readily proved from 5 2(1)

$$G_{p+1}^{m+1} \stackrel{k}{\leftarrow} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a & a_p \\ a & b_q \end{vmatrix} \right) = (-)^r G_{pq}^{m,k} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a_p \\ b_q \end{vmatrix} \right),$$
 $a_k = a + r, \quad r \text{ an integer}$
(6)

$$G_{p+1\,q+1}^{m\,n+1}\left(z\left|\frac{d,\,a_p}{b_q\,,\,b}\right)=(-)^p\,G_{p+1\,q+1}^{m+1\,n}\left(z\left|\frac{a_p\,,\,a}{b,\,b_q}\right)\right.\qquad q\geqslant m,\quad a-b=r,$$

$$(1 - a_1 + b_1) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \Big| \, \begin{array}{c} a_p \\ b_q \end{array} \right) = G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \Big| \, \begin{array}{c} a_1 - 1, a_2, ..., a_p \\ b_q \end{array} \right) + G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \Big| \, \begin{array}{c} a_p \\ b_1 + 1, b_2, ..., b_q \end{array} \right),$$

$$m, n \ge 1.$$
 (8)

$$(a_{h} - a_{1}) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \middle| \, \begin{array}{c} a_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{array} \right) = G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \middle| \, \begin{array}{c} a_{1} - 1, a_{2}, \dots, a_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{array} \right) + G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \middle| \, \begin{array}{c} a_{1}, \dots, a_{p-1}, a_{p} - 1 \\ b_{q} \end{array} \right), \\ 1 \leq n \leq p - 1, \quad h = p. \quad (9)$$

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\frac{a_p}{b_q}\right) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \left\{ \exp(i\pi b_{m+1}) G_{p,q}^{m+1,n} \left(ze^{-i\tau} \left|\frac{a_p}{b_q}\right) - \exp(-i\pi b_{m+1}) G_{p,q}^{m+1,n} \left(ze^{i\tau} \left|\frac{a_p}{b_q}\right)\right|, m \leqslant q - 1.$$
 (10)

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid a_{p} \atop b_{q}\right) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \left\{ \exp(i\pi a_{n+1}) G_{p,q}^{m,n+1} \left(ze^{-i\pi} \mid a_{p} \atop b_{q}\right) - \exp(-i\pi a_{n+1}) G_{p,q}^{m,n+1} \left(ze^{i\tau} \mid a_{p} \atop b_{q}\right) \right\},$$

$$n \leq p-1, \qquad (11)$$

$$\frac{d}{dz} \left\{ z^{-b_1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \Big| \, \frac{a_p}{b_q} \right) \right\} = - z^{-1-b_1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \, \Big| \, \frac{a_p}{1+b_1}, \, b_2, ..., b_q \right). \tag{12}$$

$$\frac{d}{dz} \left\{ z^{-b_h} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \mid a_p \right) \right\} = z^{-1-b_h} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \mid a_p \mid b_1, \dots, b_{q-1}, 1+b_q \right) \\
m < q, \quad h = q. \quad (13)$$

$$\frac{d}{dz}\left\{z^{1-a_1}G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\mid a_p\right)\right\} = z^{-a_1}G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\mid a_1-1,a_2,...,a_p\right), \qquad n\geqslant 1. \quad (14)$$

$$\frac{d}{dz}\left\langle z^{1-a_{h}}G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c}a_{p}\\b_{q}\end{array}\right)\right\rangle = -z^{-a_{h}}G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c}a_{1},...,a_{p-1},a_{p}-1\\b_{q}\end{array}\right),$$

$$n < p, \quad h = p. \tag{15}$$

The latter four expressions can be put into alternative forms by actually performing the differentiations on the left. Thus, for example, (14) is equivalent to

$$z \frac{d}{dz} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a_p \\ b_q \end{vmatrix} \right) = G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a_1 - 1, a_2, \dots, a_p \\ b_q \end{vmatrix} \right) + (a_1 - 1) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a_p \\ b_q \end{vmatrix} \right),$$

$$n \geqslant 1. \tag{16}$$

We also have

$$z^k \frac{d^k}{dz^k} \left[G_{p,\tau}^{m,s} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} a_p \\ b_q \end{pmatrix} \right] = G_{p+1,q+1}^{m,n+1} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} 0 & a_p \\ b_q & k \end{vmatrix} \right),$$
 (17)

$$z^{k} \frac{d^{k}}{dz^{k}} \left\{ G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z^{-1} \middle| b_{p}^{d_{p}} \right) \right\} = (-)^{k} G_{p+1,q+1}^{m,n+1} \left(z^{-1} \middle| 1 - k, a_{p} \right)$$
 (18)

In most of the above relations, we must omit the branch point at z=0. This can be relaxed for special values of the parameters. Thus (12) is valid for $z \approx 0$ if m=1 and b, is a positive integer.

valid for z = 0 if m = 1 and θ_1 is a positive integer. Note that many known relations for the ${}_2F_1$, ${}_2F_1$, and more generally the ${}_pF_q$, can be readily deduced from the formulas of this section in view of the connecting formulas in 5.2(12-17).

5.5 Multiplication Theorems

Throughout this section $z \neq 0$ and m, n, p, and q are integers with

$$q \ge 1$$
, $0 \le n \le p \le q$, $0 \le m \le q$

Then we prove that

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zw\begin{vmatrix} a_p\\b_p \end{vmatrix}\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(w-1)^k}{k!} G_{p+1,q+1}^{m,n+1}\left(z\begin{vmatrix} 0, a_p\\b_q, k \end{vmatrix}\right),$$
 (1)

valid under the five cases enumerated below

CASE 1
$$p < q, |w - 1| < 1$$

CASE 2
$$p = q, (-)^{m+n-p}z \neq 1, |w-1| < 1 \text{ if } (-)^{m+n-p}R(z) \leqslant \frac{1}{2},$$

$$|w-1| < |1-\frac{(-)^{m+n-p}}{2}| \text{ if } (-)^{m+n-p}R(z) \geqslant \frac{1}{2}.$$

CASE 3
$$p=q$$
, $m+n-p\geqslant 1$, $|\arg z|\leqslant (m+n-p-\frac{1}{2})\pi$,

CASE 3
$$p = q$$
, $m + n - p \ge 1$, $|\arg z| \le (m + n - p - \frac{1}{2})\pi$, $|w - 1| < 1$

CASE 4 $m=1, p< q, b_1$ is a nonnegative integer. That is, under these restrictions (1) is valid for all z and w

CASE 5
$$m = 1, p = q, b_1$$
 is a nonnegative integer,

$$(-)^{l+n-p}z \neq 1, \quad |w-1| < \left|1 - \frac{(-)^{l+n-p}}{z}\right|$$

REMARKS. In each case, the values of the multivalued functions $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(zw)$ and $G_{p+1,q+1}^{m,n+1}(z)$ are connected in the following way. For a chosen value of arg z, the value of arg zw is determined in a prescribed fashion so that the values of the respective G-functions are uniquely determined by means of the integral representation 5.2(1). Thus for Case 1,

$$\arg zw = \arg z + \arg w, \quad |\arg w| < \pi/2.$$
 (2)

In Case 2, we make a cross cut in the z-plane along the straight line from $(-)^{m+n-p}$ to $(-)^{m+n-p}+\epsilon i\infty$ where $\epsilon=+1$ or -1 according as $I(z) \leq 0$ or ≥ 0 , respectively. If I(z)=0, we may take $\epsilon=1$ or $\epsilon=-1$ in which event $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(zv)$ and $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ may depend on the choice of ϵ . For a chosen value of arg z, the values of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z/2|z|)$ and $G_{p+1,p+1}^{m,n+1}(z/2|z|)$ are uniquely determined by 5.2(1). The values of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ and $G_{p+1,p+1}^{m,n+1}(z)$ are derived from those of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z/2|z|)$ and $G_{p+1,p+1}^{m,n+1}(z/2|z|)$, respectively, by analytic continuation in the cut plane along the straight line, suitably indented at $(-)^{m+n-p}$ if necessary, which joins z/2|z| to z. The value of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(zw)$ is obtained from that of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ by analytic continuation in the cut plane along the straight line from z to zw.

In Case 3, the values of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(zw)$ and $G_{p+1,p+1}^{m,n+1}(z)$ are connected as follows. For a chosen value of arg z, $|\arg z| \leq (m+n-p-\frac{1}{2})\pi$, the value of $\arg(zw)$ follows from (2) and the values of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(zw)$ and $G_{p+1,p+1}^{m,n+1}(z)$ follows from 5.2(1). The values of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(zw)$ $\{G_{p+1,p+1}^{m,n+1}(zw)\}$ are gotten from those of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(zw,2|zw|)$ $\{G_{p-1,p+1}^{m,n+1}(zw/2|zw|)\}$ by analytic continuation along the straight line which joins zw/2|zw| to zw $\{z/2|z|$ to $z\}$, respectively.

For Case 5, the plane is cut as in Case 2 with m = 1. In connection with this case, see also (8).

Note that Case 3 gives a better result than Case 2 when $m+n-p\geqslant 1$ and $|\arg z|\leqslant (m+n-p-\frac{1}{2})\pi$, for if, also, $(-)^{m+n-p}R(z)>\frac{1}{2}$, which is possible only when $m+n-p\geqslant 2$, the domain defined by |w-1|<1 includes that defined by $|w-1|<|1-[(-)^{m+n-p}/z]|$. Similarly, Case 5 gives a better result than Case 2 when m=1 and b_1 is a positive integer or zero, for when $(-)^{1+n-p}R(z)\leqslant \frac{1}{2}$, the region defined by |w-1|<1 is included in the region defined by $|w-1|<|1-[(-)^{1+n-p}/z]|$.

PROOF. By Taylor's theorem

$$G_{p,q}^{r_1,n}\left(x \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q}\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(x-\xi)^k}{k!} \frac{d^k}{d\xi^k} G_{p,q}^{r_1,n}\left(\xi \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q}\right). \tag{3}$$

Replace x and ξ by zw and z, respectively, in (3) and use 5.4(17) to get (1) formally. To complete the proof, we need to determine the radius

of the largest circle in the x-plane with center at & such that the G-function on the left-hand side of (3) is analytic everywhere on and within this circle

It is convenient to first treat Cases 1 and 4 together If p < q the

only singularity of $G_{n,n}^{m}(x)$ is a branch point at the origin unless m = 1 and b, is a positive integer or zero, in which event $G_{n,n}^{m}(x)$ is analytic at the origin. In the latter situation (3) is valid for all values of x and E. and this leads to Case 4 We now exclude the Case 4 hypothesis Let and this leads to Case 4. We now exclude the Case 4 hypothesis Let $\xi \neq 0$ be an arbitrary point in the x-plane. The point ξ does not necessarily have its principal value. Then $G_p^m q(x)$ is analytic in the interior of a circle C with center at ξ and radius $|\xi|$ for every x in C provided that are x is uniquely determined by some appropriate agreement Let us agree that

$$|\arg x - \arg \xi| < \pi/2$$

Then (3) is valid for $|x - \xi| < |\xi|$ and this proves Case 1

Next we turn to the proof of Cases 2 and 5 If p = q, then $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(x)$ has a singularity at $x = (-)^{m+n-p}$ and a branch point at the origin unless m = 1 and b_1 is a nonnegative integer, in which event $G_p^{m,n}(x)$ is analytic at the origin. Let us cut the x plane and choose arg x, etc. as in the above remarks associated with Case 2 (There put x = x and $w = \xi$) Let $\xi \neq 0$, $\xi \neq (-)^{m+n}$ be an arbitrary point in the x plane If there is a branch point at the origin and & is not farther from the origin than it is to $(-)^{m+n}$, that is $|\xi| \le |\xi - (-)^{m+n}$, which implies that $(-)^{m+n}$ $PR(\xi) \le \frac{1}{2}$, then (3) is valid for $|x - \xi| < |\xi|$ and we get the first part of the statement in Case 2 Suppose now that $(-)^{m+n} {}^{p}R(\xi) \ge \frac{1}{2}$ Then (3) holds for $|x-\xi| < |(-)^{m+n} {}^{p}-\xi|$ and we have the second part of Case 2 and Case 5

For Case 3, in view of the above remarks, with $m + n - p \ge 1$ The case of m and sector so that $G_{n,n}^{m}(x)$ is analytic in the interior of this circle and Case 3 follows This completes the proof of (1)

Equation (1) was first given by Meijer (1941c) See also Meijer (1952 1956, 1952, p 376), knottnerus (1960) It is a generalization of well known results for Bessel functions, confluent hypergeometric functions, and hypergeometric functions

It is clear from the discussion surrounding Cases 2 and 5 of (1) that the conditions of validity depend on the manner in which the complex z-plane is cut to insure that the G function is single valued. It is of interest to take a closer look at this situation for a particular case of (1)

Let m=1, n=p, and replace q by q+1. Let $b_1=\mu, 1+b_1-a_j=\alpha_j$, j=1,2,...,p, and $1+b_1-b_{h+1}=\rho_h$, h=1,2,...,q. Finally, replace z by -z. Then (1) becomes

$$w^{\mu}{}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} xw = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-w)^{k}(-\mu)_{k}}{k!}{}_{p+1}F_{q+1}\begin{pmatrix} \mu+1, \alpha_{p} \\ \mu+1-k, \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} x$$
(4)

The conditions of validity are:

$$p \le q$$
, $|w-1| < 1$ unless μ is a positive integer or zero, in which case the expansion is valid for all z and w ; $p = q + 1$, $z \ne 1$, $|w-1| < 1$ if $R(z) \le \frac{1}{2}$, $|w-1| < |1 - 1/z|$ if $R(z) \ge \frac{1}{2}$, (5) unless μ is a positive integer or zero, in which event the expansion is valid for $|w-1| < |1 - 1/z|$.

Here, when p=q+1, the z-plane is cut along the straight line from 1 to $1+\epsilon i\infty$ where $\epsilon=+1$ or -1 according as $I(z)\leqslant 0$ or $\geqslant 0$, respectively. For the $p+1F_p(z)$ function, when p=1, our usual practice has been to cut the plane along the real axis from 1 to $+\infty$ [see 3.6(1, 6)]. If we follow this procedure for the development of (4), then for p=q+1, the conditions of validity are:

$$z \neq 1$$
, $|w-1| < 1$ if $R(z) \leq \frac{1}{2}$, $|w-1| < |1-1/z|$ if $\frac{1}{2} \leq R(z) \leq 1$, $|w-1| < |I(z)|/|z|$ if $R(z) \geqslant 1$, unless μ is a positive integer or zero, in which event (4) is valid for $z \neq 1$, (6) $|w-1| < |1-1/z|$ if $R(z) \leq 1$, $|w-1| < |I(z)|/|z|$ if $R(z) \geqslant 1$.

Let us now reconsider (1) in the general situation when p=q. Suppose we cut the z-plane along the real axis from $(-)^{m+n-p}$ to $(-)^{m+n-p} \infty$. Then for a chosen value of $\arg z$, the value of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(zw)$ is obtained from that of $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ by analytic continuation along any path connecting z and zw which does not intersect the cross cut. Let ξ be an arbitrary point in the x-plane, $\xi \neq 0$, $\xi \neq (-)^{m+n-p}$. If $(-)^{m+n-p}R(\xi) \leqslant 1$, then (3) is valid for $|x-\xi| < M$, $M=\min(|\xi|,|\xi-(-)^{m+n-p}|)$. If $(-)^{m+n-p}R(\xi) \geqslant 1$, then (3) is valid for $|x-\xi| < |I(\xi)|$. With x and ξ replaced by zw and z, respectively, and the complex plane cut as above, we have that (1) is valid for $Cases 2^*$ and 5^* as follows.

CASE
$$2^*$$
. $p = q$, $z \neq (-)^{m+n-p}$, $|w-1| < 1$ if $(-)^{m+n-p} R(z) \leqslant \frac{1}{2}$; $|w-1| < |1 - [(-)^{m+n-p}/z]|$ if $\frac{1}{2} \leqslant (-)^{m+n-p} R(z) \leqslant 1$; $|w-1| < |I(z)|/|z|$ if $(-)^{m+n-p} R(z) \geqslant 1$.

CASE 5* m = 1, p = q b, is a nonnegative integer,

$$(-)^{n+n-p}z \neq 1$$
, $|w-1| < |1 - \frac{(-)^{l+n-p}}{z}|$ if $(-)^{l+n-p}R(z) \leq 1$,

$$|w-1| < \frac{|I(z)|}{|z|}$$
 if $(-)^{1+n-p}R(z) \ge 1$ (8)

This concludes our discussion of (1)

With m, n, p, and q as in (1), then

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zw\begin{vmatrix} a_p \\ b_q \end{vmatrix}\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(1-1/w)^k}{k!} G_{p+1}^{m,n+1}\left(z\begin{vmatrix} 1-k, a_p \\ b_q, 1 \end{vmatrix}\right), \quad z \neq 0,$$
 (9)

is valid under the following three cases

(ASF 1 $t_1 < a$ $R(t_1) > \frac{1}{4}$

CASE 2
$$p = q, (-)^{m+n-p}z \neq 1, R(w) > \frac{1}{2} \text{ if } \{1 - (-)^{m+n-p}z \} \geqslant 1,$$

$$|1/w - 1| < |1 - (-)^{m+n-p} z|$$
 if $|1 - (-)^{m+n-p} z| \le 1$ (10)

CASE 3
$$p = q + n - p \ge 1$$
, $|\arg z| \le (m + n - p - \frac{1}{2})\pi$, $R(w) > \frac{1}{2}$.

We omit proof

Some other useful expansions can be derived from (1) and (9) We first consider (1) with m < q If $b_h = 0$ for h = q, in view of the symmetric properties of the G-function [see 5 4(1)], we have

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(aw \middle|_{b_{q-1},0}\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(w-1)^k}{k!} G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(x \middle|_{b_{q-1},k}\right)$$
 (11)

Multiply the latter by z^a and use 54(4) With an obvious change of notation, we get

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(zw \mid b_q) = w^{b_k} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(w-1)^k}{k!} G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z \mid b_{q-1}, k+b_q), \quad h = q$$
 (12)

From 54(7), we see that (1) can be replaced by

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zw \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q}\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-w)^k}{k!} G_{p+1,q+1}^{m+1,n}\left(z \mid \frac{a_p,0}{k,b_q}\right)$$
 (13)

and if $b_1 = 0$, we get

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zw\left|_{0,b_{p,n},b_{p}}\right.\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-w)^{k}}{k!} G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|_{k,b_{m,n},b_{p}}\right.\right)$$
 (14)

The latter is also valid for m = 0 since both sides vanish. Multiply both sides of (14) by z^{β} , use 5.4(4), change notation, and so find

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zv \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q}\right) = v^{b_1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-v)^k}{k!} G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid \frac{a_p}{k+b_1}, b_2, ..., b_q\right). \tag{15}$$

Similarly, from (9), if $n \ge 1$, we have

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zw \mid \frac{1, a_2, ..., a_p}{b_q}\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - 1/v)^k}{k!} G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid \frac{1 - k, a_2, ..., a_p}{b_q}\right), \tag{16}$$

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zv \mid a_p \atop b_q\right) = v^{a_1-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-1/v)^k}{k!} G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid a_1-k, a_2, ..., a_p \atop b_q\right). \tag{17}$$

Finally, if n < p, (9) can be replaced by

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(zv\left|\begin{array}{c} a_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{array}\right) = v^{a_{\lambda}-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1/w-1)^{k}}{k!} G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c} a_{1},...,a_{p-1},a_{p}-k \\ b_{q} \end{array}\right), \\ h = p. \tag{18}$$

For generalizations of the expansions of this section, see 9.2(3, 5).

5.6. Integrals Involving G-Functions

5.6.1.
$$\int_0^\infty y^{s-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} (\eta y \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q}) dy$$

From the definition of the G-function, 5.2(1), and the Mellin inversion formula [see Titchmarch (1948)] we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} y^{s-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta y \, \middle| \, \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dy = \frac{\eta^{-s} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma(b_{j}+s) \prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1-a_{j}-s)}{\prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(1-b_{j}-s) \prod_{j=m+1}^{p} \Gamma(a_{j}+s)}, \tag{1}$$

valid under the seven cases enumerated below. We put

$$\delta = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p+q), \quad \xi = m + n - p.$$
 (2)

We have need for the following conditions:

$$-\min_{1 < h < m} R(b_h) < R(s) < 1 - \max_{1 < j < m} R(a_j), \tag{3}$$

$$-\min_{1 \le h \le m} R(b_h) < R(s) < 1 - \max_{1 \le j \le p} R(a_j), \tag{3*}$$

$$R\left\{\sum_{h=1}^{p} a_h - \sum_{h=1}^{q} b_h\right\} + \frac{1}{2}(q+1-p) > (q-p)R(s). \tag{4}$$

152 V GENERALIZED HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTION AND G-FUNCTION

It is understood that if n = 0, that part of (3) involving $1 - \max R(a)$ is treated as empty. Thus (3) becomes $-\min R(b_h) < R(s), 1 \le h \le m$

Similar conventions are employed throughout

The given conditions in the cases for the validity of (1) in the main stem from the requirements that the integrand of (1) has proper behavior near the origin and infinity to insure that the integral is convergent We omit details for the derivation of the various cases, but we present a sketch of how they are obtained. The behavior of the G-function pear the origin is governed by 5 2(7) and if the G-function near infinity is algebraic as in Theorems 1, 6 L, and 7 of 5 10, then the integral in (1) converges provided that (3) holds This situation is covered by Case I When n = 0 and arg η is suitably restricted, the G-function for large argument is an exponential decay (see Theorem 2 of 510) and this situation is covered by Case 2. When the G-function near infinity is algebraic and sinusoidal, we get Case 3. Here the descriptive properties of the G-function can be deduced from 5 10(2 5, 9, 12, 13) In these situations condition (4) arises, since for a > 0.

$$\left| \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x^{\alpha} e^{i\beta x^{\gamma}} dv \right| < \infty \quad \text{if} \quad \beta > 0, \quad 0 < \gamma \leqslant 1, \quad R(\alpha) < \gamma - 1$$
 (5)

Note that the latter integral is finite when $\beta = 0$ if $R(\alpha) < -1$ When q = p + 2, q = p + 1, or q = p, the restrictions on arg η can be changed provided we also after the condition (3) to (3*) The behavior of the G-function near infinity in these situations can be deduced from 5 10(16, 17, 19, 20, 22, 23) and conditions for the validity of (1) are given by the additional Cases 4-7

In all the following cases, $p \le q$ If $p \ge q$, then

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} y^{-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta y \left| \begin{array}{c} d_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{array} \right) dy = \int_{0}^{\infty} y^{s-1} G_{q,p}^{n,n} \left(\frac{1}{\eta y} \right) \left| \begin{array}{c} 1 - b_{q} \\ -a_{q} \end{array} \right) dy$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{s-1} G_{q,p}^{n,n} \left(\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ \gamma \end{array} \right) \left| \begin{array}{c} 1 - b_{q} \\ -a_{q} \end{array} \right) dx \qquad (6)$$

Thus conditions for the validity of (1) when $p \ge q$ follow from the cases for $p \le q$ by an appropriate change of notation, that is, $p \leftrightarrow q$, $m \leftrightarrow n$, replace ξ , a_h , b_h , s, and arg η by m+n-q, $1-b_s$, $1-a_h$, -s, and -arg n, respectively

The cases for the validity of (1) are as follows

 $1 \le n \le p < q, 1 \le m \le q, (3), \delta > 0, \eta \ne 0, |\arg \eta| < \delta n$ Equation (1) is also valid under the conditions (3), $\delta > 0$, $n \neq 0$. $|\arg \eta| < \delta \pi \text{ for } p \ge 1, 0 \le \pi \le p, 1 \le m \le q = p + 1 \text{ (but exclude)}$ n=0 and m=p+1), or $p\geqslant 1$, $0\leqslant n\leqslant p$, $0\leqslant m\leqslant q=p$ provided in this last instance we exclude $|\arg \eta| = (\delta - 2k)\pi$, $k = 0, 1, ..., [\delta/2]$.

CASE 2. $n=0, 1 \leq p+1 \leq m \leq q, (3), \delta > 0, |\arg \eta| < \delta \pi.$

CASE 3. $0 \le n \le p < q, 1 \le m \le q, (3), (4), \delta > 0, |\arg \eta| = \delta \pi$ or $0 \le n \le p \le q - 2, (3), (4), \delta = 0, \arg \eta = 0.$

ADDITIONAL CASES. If q = p + 2, q = p + 1, or if q = p, the restrictions on arg η in the above cases can be altered provided that in (3) the inequality involving $R(a_j)$ holds for $1 \le j \le p$. Thus condition (3) becomes (3*) as noted. In the sequel, λ is an integer (positive or negative) or zero.

CASE 4. $0 \le n \le p$, $1 \le m \le q = p + 2$, (3^*) , (4), $\eta \ne 0$, arg $\eta = (\delta + 2\lambda)\pi$, λ is arbitrary if $\delta \le 0$, but if $\delta \ge 1$, $\lambda \ge 0$ or $\lambda \le -(1 + \delta)$. However, if $\delta \ge 0$, and $\lambda = 0$, then replace (3^*) by (3).

CASE 5. $p \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p$, $1 \le m \le q = p + 1$, (3^*) , $\eta \ne 0$, $(\delta + 2\lambda - 1)\pi < \arg \eta < (\delta + 2\lambda)\pi$, λ arbitrary, but exclude $n = \lambda = 0$ and m = p + 1 which is covered by Case 2. Also $(\delta + 2\lambda)\pi \le \arg \eta < (\delta + 2\lambda + 1)\pi$ if $\xi \ge 2$ and $-\xi < \lambda < 0$ or $\arg \eta = (\delta + 2\lambda - 1)\pi$ if $\xi \ge 2$, $1 - \xi < \lambda < 1$. However, if $n \ge 1$, $\xi \ge 1$, and $1 - \xi \le \lambda \le 0$ then replace (3^*) by (3).

CASE 6. $p \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p$, $1 \le m \le q = p + 1$, (3^*) , (4), $\eta \ne 0$, arg $\eta = (\delta + 2\lambda)\pi$, λ is arbitrary if $\xi \le 1$, but if $\xi \ge 2$, $\lambda \ge 0$ or $\lambda \le -\xi$. Also arg $\eta = (\delta + 2\lambda - 1)\pi$, λ is arbitrary if $\xi \le 1$, but if $\xi \ge 2$, $\lambda \ge 1$ or $\lambda \le 1 - \xi$.

CASE 7. $p \ge 1, 0 \le n \le p, 0 \le m \le q = p, (3^*), \eta \ne 0, (\delta + 2\lambda - 2)\pi < \arg \eta < (\delta + 2\lambda)\pi$, λ is arbitrary, but if $\delta \ge 1$ and $1 - \delta \le \lambda \le 0$, then replace (3^*) by (3) and exclude $|\arg \eta| = (\delta - 2k)\pi$, $k = 0, 1, ..., [\delta 2]$.

5.6.2. Integral of the Product of Two G-Functions

We prove that

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta x \, \middle| \, \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) G_{\sigma,\tau}^{\mu,n} \left(\omega x \, \middle| \, \frac{c_{\sigma}}{d_{\tau}} \right) dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{\eta} G_{q+\sigma,p+\tau}^{n+\mu,m+1} \left(\frac{\omega}{\eta} \, \middle| \, -b_{1}, ..., -b_{m}, c_{\sigma}, -b_{m+1}, ..., -b_{q} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\omega} G_{p+\tau,q+\sigma}^{n+\mu,n+\mu} \left(\frac{\eta}{\omega} \, \middle| \, \frac{a_{1}, ..., a_{n}, -d_{\tau}, a_{n+1}, ..., a_{p}}{b_{1}, ..., b_{m}, -c_{\sigma}, b_{m+1}, ..., b_{q}} \right), \tag{1}$$

is valid under nine cases enumerated below.

PROOF Replace G. "(wx) in the above integrand by its integral represent-PROOF Replace $G_{\nu}^{*}(xx)$ in the above integrand by its integral representation 5.2(1), interchange the order of integration, and evaluate the inner integral using 5.6.1(1). Then apply 5.2(1) to the integral which remains. To reverse the order of integration, we require that the integral involved be absolutely convergent. However, once (1) is established, the conditions required for absolute convergence can be weakened on appeal to the theory of analytic continuation. The same remarks apply to all theorems of 5.6 involving change of order of integration unless. stated to the contrary. In this connection, the conditions we give for validity of the integrals are most always weaker than those given by the authors we muote

Equation (1) is due to Meijer (1941a) who gives five cases for its validity. Our conditions for validity described below seem to be the most thoroughly known

The given conditions arise in much the same way as those for 5 6 1(1) Again details of proof are omitted, but we sketch how they are found The behavior of the G-functions near the origin is governed by 5 2(7), which leads to the condition (3) Near infinity, we make use of the asymptotic behavior and analytic continuation of the G-function as presented in 5 10 From these considerations the condition (4), or (4) suitably modified, see later discussion, always arises. In Case I the behavior of both G functions near infinity is algebraic but not sinusoidal. and the conditions arise in the same manner as for Case I of 5 6 I(I) When $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(\eta,x)$ is algebraic but not sinusoidal as in Case I, and $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(\eta,x)$ is algebraic and sinusoidal, we get Case 2 Case 3 arises when both G-functions are algebraic and sinusoidal

When v = 0 and arg ω is suitably restricted, $G_{\omega}^{*}(\omega x)$ is an exponential decay for $x \to +\infty$, see Theorem 2 of 5 10 In this event the integral decay for $x \to +\infty$, see Theorem 2 of 5 10. In this event the integral in (1) with lower limit a > 0 is defined and converges for all meaningful values of m, n, etc., provided $G_p^{m} q(\gamma x)$ is not exponentially increasing as $x \to +\infty$, unless $q - p > r - \sigma$. This situation is covered by Case 4. The conditions of validity for (1) when $G_p^{m} q(x)$ and $G_p^{m} q(x)$ are exponentially decreasing and increasing, respectively, for $x \to +\infty$ and for $q - p = r - \sigma$, are detailed in Case 5. The conditions under which the G-function is exponentially increasing for large argument can be deduced from 5 10(6-8, 10, 11, 14, 15, 18). In Cases 1-4, the restrictions on arg q can be altered if q = p + 2,

q=p+1, or q=p as in Cases 4-7 of 56 l(1), provided that in the present instance, condition (4) holds for j=1,2, p Likewise, if $\tau=\sigma+1$ or $\tau=\sigma+2$, the inequalities involving arg ω can be changed as in Cases 4-7 of 56 l(1), fin that notation, m, n, p, g, g.

and ξ are replaced by μ , ν , σ , τ , ρ , and ζ , respectively, provided that condition (4) holds for $h=1,2,...,\sigma$. Obviously the inequalities involving arg η and arg ω can be altered simultaneously as noted if (4) is true for j=1,2,...,p, $h=1,2,...,\sigma$. We omit these details.

In Cases 1-5, $p \leqslant q$ and $\sigma \leqslant \tau$. Suppose $p \geqslant q$ and $\sigma \leqslant \tau$. Then the left-hand side of (1) may be expressed as

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} G_{q,r}^{n,m} \left(\frac{1}{\eta x} \left| \begin{array}{c} 1 - b_{q} \\ 1 - a_{r} \end{array} \right) G_{\sigma,\tau}^{\mu,\nu} \left(\omega x \left| \begin{array}{c} c_{\sigma} \\ d_{r} \end{array} \right) dx.$$

The conditions of validity for this situation are described by Cases 6-9. Here neither of the G-functions for large values of its argument can be of exponential growth. If $p \ge q$ and $\tau \ge \sigma$, then in view of 5.4(3, 4) the left-hand side of (1) can be expressed as

$$(\eta\omega)^{-1}\int_0^\infty G_{q,p}^{n,m}\left(\frac{x}{\eta}\Big|\begin{array}{c}-b_q\\-a_p\end{array}\right)G_{\tau,\sigma}^{v,\mu}\left(\frac{x}{\omega}\Big|\begin{array}{c}-d_\tau\\-c_\sigma\end{array}\right)dx,$$

so that with appropriate change of notation Cases 1-5 may be applied. It is convenient to put

$$\delta = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p+q), \qquad \rho = \mu + \nu - \frac{1}{2}(\sigma + \tau),$$

$$\xi = m + n - p, \qquad \zeta = \mu + \nu - \sigma.$$
(2)

We have need for the following conditions:

$$R(b_j + d_h) > -1, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., m, \quad h = 1, 2, ..., \mu.$$
 (3)

$$R(a_j + c_h) < 1, j = 1, 2, ..., n, h = 1, 2, ..., \nu.$$
 (4)

$$a_j - b_h$$
 is not a positive integer, $= 1, 2, ..., n, h = 1, 2, ..., m.$ (5)

$$c_j - d_h$$
 is not a positive integer, $j = 1, 2, ..., \nu$, $h = 1, 2, ..., \mu$. (6)

$$\eta \neq 0, \quad \omega \neq 0.$$

$$R\left\{\sum_{h=1}^{\sigma}c_{h}-\sum_{h=1}^{\tau}d_{h}\right\}+\frac{1}{2}(\tau+1-\sigma)>(\tau-\sigma)R(a_{j}), \quad j=1,2,...,n. \quad (8)$$

$$R\left\{\sum_{h=1}^{p}a_{h}-\sum_{h=1}^{q}b_{h}\right\}+\frac{1}{2}(q+1-p)>(q-p)R(c_{j}), \quad j=1,2,...,\nu.$$
 (9)

$$u = \frac{R(\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i - \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_i)}{q - p} \quad v = \frac{R(\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i - \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i)}{\tau - \sigma},$$

$$a = \frac{1}{q - p}, \quad b = \frac{1}{\tau - \sigma},$$

$$a + u - b + \sigma > 0 \quad \text{if } a \ge b,$$

$$-a + u + b + \sigma > 0 \quad \text{if } a \le b$$
(10)

It is understood that if either n or v is zero, then condition (4) is treated as empty, and similarly for the other conditions The cases for the validity of (1) follow

CASE 1 $1 \le n \le p < q, 1 \le m \le q, 1 \le \nu \le \sigma < \tau, 1 \le \mu \le \tau, (3)$ -(7). $\delta > 0$, | arg η | $< \delta \pi$, $\rho > 0$. | arg ω | $< \rho \pi$ | Equation (1) is also valid under these same conditions if the inequalities involving m, n, p, and q are replaced by $p \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p$, $1 \le m \le q = p + 1$ (but exclude n=0 and m=p+1), or $p\geqslant 1, 0\leqslant n\leqslant p$, $0\leqslant m\leqslant q=p$ provided in this last instance we exclude $|\arg\eta|=(\delta-2k)\pi$, k = 0, 1, [8 2] Likewise (1) is valid if in the latter statement we interchange the roles of m, n, etc., with u, v, etc. Further, (1) is valid if we simultaneously alter the inequalities $m, n, \text{ etc. } \mu, \nu, \text{ etc.}$ as above

CASE 2 Let m, n, p, q, δ , and η be as in Case I, $0 \le \nu \le \sigma < \tau$, $1 \le \mu \le \tau$, (3)-(8), $\rho > 0$, $|\arg \omega| = \rho \pi$ Under the same circumstances (1) is also valid for $0 \le \nu \le \sigma \le \tau - 2$, $\rho = 0$, arg $\omega = 0$ Likewise (1) is valid if the roles of m, n, etc., and u, v, etc., are interchanged, whence the conditions (3)-(8) are replaced by (3)-(7), (9)

CASE 3 $0 \leqslant n \leqslant p < q$, $1 \leqslant m \leqslant q$, $\delta > 0$, $|\arg \eta| = \delta \pi$ (or $0 \le n \le p \le q-2$, $\delta = 0$, $\arg \eta = 0$), $0 \le \nu \le \sigma < \tau$, $1 \le \mu \le \tau$, $\rho > 0$, $|\arg \omega| = \rho \pi \text{ (or } 0 \le \nu \le \sigma \le \tau - 2$, $\rho = 0$, $\arg \omega = 0$), (3)-(10), unless a = b, $|\eta/\omega| = 1$ and $\arg \omega + \arg \eta = 0$ occur simultaneously in which event replace (10) by u + v - 2a > 0 Also, if a = b, we require $| \arg(1 - (-)^{k+s}(\eta/\omega))| < \pi$

CASE 4 Let m, n, p, q, δ , ξ , and arg η be as in any of the seven cases associated with 5.61(1) $\nu = 0.1 \le \sigma + 1 \le \mu \le \tau$, (3)-(7), $\rho > 0$, | arg ω | < ρπ Equation (1) is also valid for all other possibilities of m, n, etc., not enumerated above, provided a - b > t - a

The restrictions required for the validity of (1) for the Case 4 situation but with $q - p = \tau - \sigma$ are given by Case 5 below

First, we record some conditions which will be needed.

$$v = 0, \qquad \sigma + 1 \leqslant \mu \leqslant \tau,$$

$$\alpha = \frac{\arg \omega + \pi(\tau - \mu)}{\tau - \sigma} \qquad \text{if} \qquad 0 < \arg \omega < \rho \pi,$$

$$\alpha = \frac{\arg \omega - \pi(\tau - \mu)}{\tau - \sigma} \qquad \text{if} \qquad -\rho \pi < \arg \omega < 0,$$

$$\alpha = \frac{\pi(\tau - \mu)}{\tau - \sigma} \qquad \text{if} \qquad \arg \omega = 0 \quad \text{provided} \quad \rho > 0.$$

$$0 \leqslant n \leqslant \rho \leqslant q - 2, \qquad m + n - p \geqslant 1, \qquad \delta \leqslant 0,$$

$$\beta = \frac{\arg \eta + \pi(q - m - n)}{q - p} \qquad \text{if} \qquad 0 < \arg \eta < (m + n + 1 - p)\pi,$$

$$\beta = \frac{\arg \eta - \pi(q - m - n)}{q - p} \qquad \text{if} \qquad -(m + n + 1 - p)\pi < \arg \eta < 0,$$

$$\beta = \frac{\pi(q - m - n)}{q - p} \qquad \text{if} \qquad \arg \eta = 0 \quad \text{provided} \quad \delta < 0.$$

$$0 \leqslant n \leqslant \rho < q, \quad 1 \leqslant m \leqslant q, \quad \delta > 0,$$

$$\beta = \frac{\arg \eta + \pi(q - m - n)}{q - p} \qquad \text{if} \qquad \delta \pi < \arg \eta < (m + n - p + \epsilon)\pi,$$

$$\beta = \frac{\arg \eta - \pi(q - m - n)}{q - p} \qquad \text{if} \qquad -(m + n - p + \epsilon)\pi < \arg \eta < -\delta\pi,$$

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{2} \quad \text{if} \quad q = p + 1, \quad \epsilon = 1 \quad \text{if} \quad q > p + 1.$$

$$0 \leqslant n \leqslant \rho \leqslant q - 2, \quad 1 \leqslant m \leqslant q,$$

$$\beta = \frac{\arg \eta + \pi(q - m - n - 2\lambda)}{q - \rho} \qquad \text{if} \quad (m + n - p + 2\lambda - 1)\pi < \arg \eta < (m + n - p + 2\lambda + 1)\pi,$$

$$\beta = \frac{(q - p - 1)\pi}{q - \rho} \qquad \text{if} \quad \arg \eta = (m + n - p + 2\lambda - 1)\pi \quad \text{provided} \quad \rho < q - 2.$$

In (14), λ is an arbitrary integer if $m+n-p\leqslant 1$. If $m+n-p\geqslant 2$, λ is either an arbitrary integer $\geqslant 0$ or $\leqslant -(m+n-p)$.

$$p \geqslant 1, \quad 0 \leqslant n \leqslant p, \quad 1 \leqslant m \leqslant q = p + 1,$$

$$\beta = \frac{\arg \eta - \pi(m + n - p + 2\lambda - 1)}{q - p}$$
if
$$(m + n - p + 2\lambda - \frac{1}{2})\pi < \arg \eta < (m + n - p + 2\lambda + \frac{1}{2})\pi.$$
(15)

In (15) λ is an arbitrary integer ≥ 0 or $\leq -(m+n-p)$ if $m+n-p \geq 2$ If $m+n-p \leq 1$, λ is an arbitrary integer

CASE 5 Under the conditions $q - p = \tau - \sigma_1$ (3)-(7), and either of the combinations (11), (12), (11), (13), (11), (14), (11), (15), (1) is valid when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100-2}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or when $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$ or $\cos a + \eta \approx 10^{-100}\cos \beta > 0$

Next we present Cases 6-9 which give conditions for the validity of (1) when $p \ge q$ We have need for the condition

$$R\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{p} a_k - \sum_{k=1}^{q} b_k\right\} + (p-q)R(d_j) + \frac{1}{2}(p+1-q) > 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \quad \mu.$$
 (16)

CASE 7 Let m, n, p, q, δ , and $\arg \eta$ be as in Case 6, (3)-(8), $0 \leqslant \nu \leqslant \sigma < \tau$, $1 \leqslant \mu \leqslant \tau, \rho > 0$, $|\arg \omega| = \rho \pi$ or $0 \leqslant \nu \leqslant \sigma \leqslant \tau - 2$,

 $0 \le \nu \le \sigma < \tau$, $1 \le \mu \le \tau$, $\rho > 0$, $|\arg \omega| = \rho \pi$ or $0 \le \nu \le \sigma \le \tau - 2$, $\rho = 0$, $\arg \omega = 0$ CASE 8 Let μ , ν , σ , τ , ρ , and $\arg \omega$ be as in Case I. (3)–(7). (16).

 $0 \le m \le q < p, 1 \le n \le p, \delta > 0, |\arg \eta| = \delta \pi \text{ or } 0 \le m \le q

(ATE 9 m m at a constant of the state of the$

CASE 9 m, n, etc., as in Case 8, μ , ν , etc., as in Case 7, (3)–(8), (16)

By specializing the parameters in (1) and employing the tables in Chapter VI we get many important integrals involving the functions of mathematical physics. For example, with $\nu = \sigma$ and $\mu = 1$, in view of 5 2(12), we find

$$\begin{split} & \int_{0}^{a} y^{d_{1}} \mathcal{E}_{-1} \left(\frac{1+d_{1}-c_{2}}{1+d_{1}-d_{2}} \right) - \omega y \right) G_{p,a}^{a} \left(2y \left| \frac{a_{2}}{b_{1}} \right| dy \right) \\ & = \frac{\Gamma(1+d_{1}-d_{2})}{\Gamma(1+d_{1}-c_{2})} \omega^{-d_{1}-1} \mathcal{E}_{parameter}^{a + \alpha} \left(\frac{\pi}{\omega} \right) \frac{a_{n,1}}{b_{1}} \cdot \frac{a_{n,1}}{a_{n}} - d_{n,1} \frac{a_{n,n,1}}{a_{n+1}} \cdot \frac{a_{2}}{b_{2}} \right) \end{split}$$
(17)

valid under the conditions given for (1) (with $\mu = 1$ and $\nu = \sigma$) which we do not produce. In (17), put $\sigma = \tau = 1$. With an apparent change of notation, we get

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} y^{\alpha-1} (y+\beta)^{-\sigma} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(zy \mid a_{p} \atop b_{q} \right) dy = \frac{\beta^{\alpha-\sigma}}{\Gamma(\sigma)} G_{p+1,q+1}^{m+1,n+1} \left(\beta z \mid 1-\alpha, a_{p} \atop \sigma-\alpha, b_{q} \right). \tag{18}$$

The cases of validity for (18) can be derived from Cases 1, 4 (there interchange m, n., etc., with μ , ν , etc.), 6, and 8, with $\mu = \nu = \sigma = \tau = 1$, $d_1 = \alpha - 1$, $c_1 = \alpha - \sigma$, and $\omega = 1/\beta$.

The Hankel-, Y-, K-, and H transforms are

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{-a} J_{\nu}(2[\omega x]^{1/2}) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta x \left| \begin{array}{c} a_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{array} \right) dx$$

$$= \omega^{a-1} G_{p+2,q}^{m,n+1} \left(\frac{\eta}{\omega} \left| \begin{array}{c} a - \frac{1}{2}\nu, a_{p}, a + \frac{1}{2}\nu \\ b_{q} \end{array} \right), \tag{19}$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{-a} Y_{\nu}(2[\omega x]^{1/2}) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta x \mid \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dx$$

$$= \omega^{a-1} G_{p+3,q+1}^{m,n+2} \left(\frac{\eta}{\omega} \mid \frac{a + \frac{1}{2}\nu, a - \frac{1}{2}\nu, a_{p}, a + \frac{1}{2}\nu + \frac{1}{2}}{b_{q}, a + \frac{1}{2}\nu + \frac{1}{2}} \right), \tag{20}$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{-a} K_{\nu}(2[\omega x]^{1/2}) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta x \, \middle| \, \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dx$$

$$= \frac{\omega^{a-1}}{2} G_{p+2,q}^{m,n+2} \left(\frac{\eta}{\omega} \, \middle| \, \frac{a + \frac{1}{2}\nu, \, a - \frac{1}{2}\nu, \, a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right), \tag{21}$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} x^{-a} \mathbf{H}_{s}(2[\omega x]^{1/2}) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta x \left| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dx$$

$$= \omega^{a-1} G_{p+3,q+1}^{m+1,n+1} \left(\frac{\eta}{\omega} \right| \frac{a - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\nu, a_{p}, a - \frac{1}{2}\nu, a + \frac{1}{2}\nu}{a - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\nu, b_{q}} \right), \tag{22}$$

respectively. Again we omit conditions of validity as these are readily deduced from the cases associated with (1). For numerous examples of (1), see Meijer (1936, 1941a).

For a final transform, we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (z+y)^{-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\eta y^{2} \Big|_{b_{q}}^{a_{p}} \right) dy = (2\pi)^{-1} G_{p+2,q+2}^{m+2,n+2} \left(\eta z^{2} \Big|_{0, \frac{1}{2}, a_{p}}^{0, \frac{1}{2}, a_{p}} \right),$$

$$|\arg z| < \pi, \qquad (23)$$

148

be needed

valid under the three cases cited below. We have need for the conditions

$$R(b_{\hat{a}}) > -\frac{1}{2}$$
 or $R(b_{\hat{a}}) > 0$
according as $x \neq 0$ or $x = 0$, respectively,
 $h = 1, 2, m$ $R(a_{\hat{a}}) < 1, j = 1, 2, m$,
 $a_{\hat{a}} - b_{\hat{a}}$ is not a positive integer, j and h as above (24)

$$R\left(\sum_{i=1}^{q} b_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{p} a_{i}\right) < \frac{1}{2}(q+1-p)$$
 (25)

Let m, n, etc., be as in Cases I, 2, and 3 of 56 l(I) Then (23) is valid as for the latter cases provided there we replace conditions (3) and (4) by (24) and (25), respectively Further cases can be developed after the manner of the additional cases associated with 56 l(I) For a detailed discussion of (23) and an application, see Luke (1968a)

563 LAPLACE TRANSFORM AND INVERSE LAPLACE TRANSFORM

In 5 6 2(17), put $\sigma = 0$, $\tau = 1$, and $d_1 = -\alpha$ Then the Laplace transform of a G function is given by

$$\int_{a}^{x} e^{-\omega x} y^{-s} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(2y \middle| \frac{d_{p}}{b_{q}}\right) dy = \omega^{q-1} G_{p+1,q}^{m,n+1} \left(\frac{z}{\omega} \middle| \frac{\alpha, \alpha_{p}}{b_{q}}\right). \tag{1}$$

valid under the six cases stated below which may be readily found from the cases associated with 5 6 2(1). The following conditions will

$$\delta = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p + q) \tag{2}$$

$$R(b_1 - \alpha) > -1, \quad j = 1, 2, , m$$
 (3)

$$a_j - b_k$$
 is not a positive integer, $j = 1, 2, n, h = 1, 2, m$ (4)

$$z \neq 0$$
 $\omega \neq 0$ (5)

$$R(\alpha - a_i) > -1, \quad i = 1, 2, ...$$
 (6)

$$R\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{p} a_{k} - \sum_{k=1}^{q} b_{k}\right\} + \frac{1}{2}(q-p-1) + (q-p)R(\alpha) > 0, \quad p < q \quad (7)$$

$$R\left\{\sum_{h=1}^{p} a_h - \sum_{h=1}^{q} b_h\right\} + \frac{1}{2}(p+1-q) + (q-p)R(a) > 0, \quad p > q$$
 (8)

$$\mathbb{R}\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{p} a_k - \sum_{k=1}^{p+1} b_k + a\right\} > 1$$
 (9)

- CASE 1. Let m, n, p, q, δ, ξ , and $\arg z = \arg \eta$ be as in any of the seven cases associated with 5.6.1(1). Then (1) is valid under the conditions (3)-(5) and $|\arg \omega| < \pi/2$. Equation (1) is also valid for all other possibilities of m, n, etc., not enumerated above, provided q p > 1. See Case 4 below if q = p + 1.
- CASE 2. Let m, n, p, q, δ , and arg $\alpha = \arg \eta$ be as in Case 1 of 5.6.2(1). Then (1) is valid under the conditions (3)-(6) and $|\arg \omega| = \pi/2$.
- CASE 3. $0 \le n \le p < q$, $1 \le m \le q$, (3)-(7), $\delta > 0$, $|\arg z| = \delta \pi$, $|\arg \omega| = \pi/2$, unless q = p + 1, $|\eta/\omega| = 1$, and $\arg \omega + \arg z = 0$ happen together, in which situation (1) is valid if (7) is replaced by the condition (9) and $|\arg[1 (-)^{\delta + \frac{1}{2}}(z/\omega)]| < \pi$.
- CASE 4. Let m, n, etc., be as in 5.6.2(13 or 15) with q = p + 1 and $\eta = z$. Then (1) is valid under the conditions (3)-(5) and $|\arg \omega| < \frac{1}{2}\pi$ when $\cos \alpha + |z/\omega| \cos \beta > 0$, $\alpha = \arg \omega$, or when $\cos \alpha + |z/\omega| \times \cos \beta = 0$ and (9) holds, provided further that in all instances $|\arg[1 (-)^{6+\frac{1}{2}}(z,\omega)]| < \pi$.

The following cases, 5-7, give conditions for the validity of (1) when $p \ge q$.

- CASE 5. Let m, n, etc., be as in Case 6 associated with 5.6.2(1), with $\eta = z$. Then (1) is valid under the conditions (3)–(5) {(3)–(6)} and $|\arg \omega| < \pi/2$ { $|\arg \omega| = \pi/2$ }, respectively.
- CASE 6. Let m, n, etc., be as in Case 8 associated with 5.6.2(1), with $\eta = z$. Then (1) is valid under the conditions (3)-(6), (8) and $|\arg \omega| = \pi/2$.

Note that when m = 1, (1) can be reduced to 3.6(13) and 3.6(16). The inverse Laplace transform is given by

$$z^{-\alpha} G_{p,q+1}^{m,n+1} \left(zy \mid a_p \atop b_q, \alpha \right) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} e^{\omega z} \omega^{\alpha-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\frac{y}{\omega} \mid a_p \atop b_q \right) d\omega, \quad (10)$$

valid under the three cases described below. In each case c > 0, z is real, $z \neq 0$, $y \neq 0$. If $z \to 0$ and $R(b_h - \alpha) > 0$ for h = 1, 2, ..., m, then for $0 \leq n \leq p \leq q$ and $0 \leq m \leq q$, the value of the integral in (10) is nil when it converges. This follows from 5.2(7). See also (15) below. If $R(b_h) > 0$, h = 1, 2, ..., m, $z \neq 0$ and $y \to 0$, then both sides of (10) vanish. If m = 1, (10) can be reduced to 3.6(19).

Define δ by (2) We have need for the following conditions

$$R(\alpha - b_k) < 1, \quad h = 1, 2, , m$$
 (11)

$$a_j - b_k$$
 is not a positive integer, $j = 1, 2, ..., h = 1, 2, ..., m$ (12)

$$R\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{p} a_k - \sum_{k=1}^{q} b_k\right\} + \frac{1}{2}(p-q-1) > (p-q)R(\alpha)$$
 (13)

$$R\left\{\sum_{a=1}^{p} a_{a} - \sum_{a=1}^{q} b_{a} - \alpha\right\} > 1$$
 (14)

 $0 \le n \le p \le q$, $1 \le m \le q$, (11), (12), $\delta > 0$, $|\arg y| < \delta n$, $\epsilon > \max\{0, R[(-)^{m+n-p}v]\}$ if b = q

CASE 2 Let m, n, etc., be as in Case 6 of 5 6 2(1) Then (10) is valid under the conditions (11), (12), $\delta \ge 1$, $|\arg v| < (\delta - \frac{1}{6})\pi$ Under these same conditions, (10) is also valid for $m = 0, 1 \le a + 1 \le n \le b$

CASE 3 $1 \le m \le q < p$, $1 \le n \le p$, (11)-(13), $\delta \ge 1$, $|\arg y| =$ $(\delta - \frac{1}{2})\sigma$ But if $\rho = \rho + 1$ and $|z_v| = 1$ happen together, then replace condition (13) by (14) and impose the restriction $|\arg(1-(-)^{a+1}zy)| < \pi$ Under these same conditions, (10) is also valid for m = 0. $1 \le q + 1 \le n \le p$ Further, (10) is valid for $m = 0, 1 \le q + 1 \le n = p$. (12), (13), $\delta = \frac{1}{2}$, arg y = 0 unless |zy| = 1 in which event replace (13) by (14) and require | arg(1 + zy) < 7

 $\int_{0}^{c+\infty} t^{\alpha-1} F_{\alpha} \left(\frac{1+\sigma-c_{\alpha}}{1+\sigma-c_{\alpha}} \right) \eta t \right) G_{\alpha,\alpha}^{\alpha,\alpha} \left(\frac{z}{c} \right) \frac{a_{\alpha}}{b_{\alpha}} dt$

We also have

$$\begin{split} & = \frac{2\pi I \Gamma(1 + \sigma - d_1)}{\Gamma(1 + \sigma - d_2)} \, \eta^{-\sigma} \, C_{p,r+s+r+1}^{m \, m \, s+r} \left(\eta^{\sigma} \left| \begin{array}{c} t_r \, , \, a_p \\ b_q \, , \, d_s \, , \, o \end{array} \right), \\ & c > 0 \quad q \geqslant 1, \quad 0 \leqslant n \leqslant p \leqslant q \quad 0 \leqslant m \leqslant q, \\ & \quad \eta \neq 0, \quad z \neq 0, \quad c > |z| \quad \text{if} \quad p = q, \\ & \quad R(c_1 - b_3) < 1, \quad j = 1, 2, \quad r, \quad h = 1, 2 \quad , m, \\ & r = t, \quad \eta > 0, \quad R\left(\sigma + \sum_{i=1}^r d_i - \sum_{j=1}^r c_j - b_j\right) < 1, \quad h = 1, 2, \quad , m, \end{split}$$

(15)

 $\tau = s + 1$, $|\arg \eta| < \pi/2$, $c < R(1/\eta)$

This is readily proved from 5.2(1) and 3.6(26). Similarly,

$$\int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} t^{-\sigma} {}_{s}F_{r} \left(\frac{1+d_{s}-\sigma}{1+c_{r}-\sigma} \middle| \eta t \right) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(zt \middle| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dt$$

$$= \frac{2\pi i \Gamma(1+c_{r}-\sigma)}{\Gamma(1+d_{s}-\sigma)} \eta^{\sigma-1} G_{p+r+1,q+s}^{m+s,n} \left(\frac{z}{\eta} \middle| \frac{a_{p}, \sigma, c_{r}}{d_{s}, b_{q}} \right),$$

$$c > 0; \quad 0 \le n \le p \le q, \quad 1 \le m \le q,$$

$$\delta^{*} = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p+q+1) > 0; \quad \eta \ne 0, \quad z \ne 0,$$

$$|\arg z| < \delta^{*}\pi, \quad \text{if} \quad p = q \quad \text{exclude} \quad |\arg z|$$

$$= (\delta^{*}-2k) \pi, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots, [\delta^{*}/2];$$

$$R(a_{r}-d_{h}) < 1, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad h = 1, 2, \dots, s;$$

$$r = s, \quad \eta > 0, \quad R\left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{r} d_{r} - \sum_{j=1}^{r} c_{r} - \sigma + a_{h} \right\} < 1, \quad h = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

$$r = s - 1, \quad |\arg \eta| < \pi/2, \quad c < R(1/\eta).$$
(16)

Another Laplace transform is

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\beta x} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\alpha x^{2} \begin{vmatrix} a_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{vmatrix} \right) dx = \pi^{-1/2} \beta^{-1} G_{p+2,q}^{m,n+2} \left(\frac{4\alpha}{\beta^{2}} \begin{vmatrix} 0, \frac{1}{2}, a_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{vmatrix} \right),$$

$$\delta > 0, \quad |\arg \alpha| < \delta \pi, \quad R(\beta) > 0, \quad R(b_{j}) > -\frac{1}{2}, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., m, \quad (17)$$

 δ as in (2), provided further that condition (4) holds. We also have the Fourier transforms

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \cos \gamma x \, G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\alpha x^{2} \, \Big|_{b_{q}}^{a_{p}} \right) dx = \pi^{1/2} \gamma^{-1} \, G_{p+2,q}^{m,n+1} \left(\frac{4\alpha}{\gamma^{2}} \, \Big|_{b_{q}}^{1, a_{p}}, \frac{0}{b_{q}} \right), \quad \gamma > 0.$$

$$\delta > 0, \quad |\arg \alpha| < \delta \pi, \quad R(b_{j}) > -\frac{1}{2}, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., m, \quad R(a_{j}) < 1,$$

$$j = 1, 2, ..., n, \qquad (18)$$

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \sin \gamma x \, G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(\alpha x^{2} \, \Big|_{b_{q}}^{a_{p}} \right) dx = \pi^{1/2} \gamma^{-1} \, G_{p+2,q}^{m,n+1} \left(\frac{4\alpha}{\gamma^{2}} \, \Big|_{b_{q}}^{0, \, a_{p}, \, \frac{1}{2}} \right), \quad \gamma > 0,$$

$$\delta > 0, \quad |\arg \alpha| < \delta \pi, \quad R(b_{j}) > -1, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., m, \quad R(a_{j}) < 1,$$

$$j = 1, 2, ..., n, \tag{19}$$

again with δ as in (2) and with the additional condition (4). Other conditions for the validity of (17)–(19) can be enumerated, but we omit such details.

564 EULER AND RELATED TRANSFORMS

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-\delta}(y-1)^{\alpha+\delta-\lambda_{1}-\lambda_{2}-\delta} {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha-b_{1},\alpha-b_{1}\\ \alpha+\beta-b_{1}-b_{2} \end{pmatrix} (1-y)$$

$$\times G_{p,q}^{\alpha,q} \left(xy \Big|_{\alpha,\beta} b_{\lambda_{1}}, b_{\beta} \right) dy = \Gamma(\alpha+\beta-b_{1}-b_{2}) G_{p,q}^{\alpha,q} \left(x \Big|_{b_{1}}^{a_{2}} \right) \quad (1)$$

is valid under the cases described below. We always take $x \neq 0$ and $m \geqslant 2$. As before define $\delta = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p+q)$. The following conditions are needed

$$R(b_1 + b_2) < R(\alpha + \beta), R(a_j) < 1 + R(b_2), k = 1, 2, j = 1, 2, ,n$$
 (2)

$$a_j - b_k$$
 is not a positive integer, $j = 1, 2, ..., h = 1, 2, ..., m$ (3)

$$R\left\{\sum_{j=1}^{p}a_{j}-\sum_{j=0}^{q}b_{j}+(q-p)b_{k}\right\}+\frac{1}{4}(q-p+1)>R(\alpha+\beta), \quad k=1,2 \quad (4)$$

Let m, n, etc., be as in Case I associated with 56 I(I), save

that $m \ge 2$ Then (1) is valid under the conditions (2), (3), $\delta > 0$, $|\arg z| < \delta \pi$ CASE $2 \quad n = 0, m \ge 2, p + 1 \le m \le q$, (2), $\delta > 0$, $|\arg z| < \delta \pi$

CASE 3
$$0 \leqslant n \leqslant p < q$$
, $2 \leqslant m \leqslant q$, (2)-(4), $\delta > 0$, $|\arg z| = \delta \tau$

or
$$0 \leqslant n \leqslant p \leqslant q-2$$
, $m \geqslant 2$, (2)-(4), $\delta = 0$, $\arg z = 0$

CASE 4
$$1\leqslant n\leqslant p$$
, $2\leqslant m\leqslant q\leqslant p-1$, (2), (3), $\delta>0$, $|\arg z|<\delta r$

If q = p + 2, q = p + 1, or q = p, the restrictions on arg z can be altered as in Cases 4-7 of 5 6 1(1) provided that in (2), j = 1, 2, ..., p If $\beta = \beta_{+}$, (1) becomes

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-a}(y-1)^{a-b_1-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left\{ zy \left| \begin{array}{cc} a_p \\ \alpha,b_2,&b_q \end{array} \right\} dy = \Gamma(\alpha-b_1) G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left\{ x \left| \begin{array}{cc} d_p \\ b_q \end{array} \right\}, \quad (3)$$

valid under the cases above with $m \ge 1$

To prove (1), replace the G-function in the integrand by 5 2(1) and interchange the order of integration. The inner integral can be transformed into 36(10) with z=1 and so summed by 3 13 1(1). The remaining integral is readily identified from 5 2(1). See Meijer (1940, 1941b) for examples of (1).

941b) for examples of () In a similar fashion.

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} y^{-\alpha}(y-1)^{y-\beta-1} \left(G_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}^{m,\mathfrak{q}}\left(zy\left|\frac{a_{\mathfrak{p}}}{b_{\mathfrak{q}}}\right)dy\right.\right. = \Gamma(\alpha-\beta) \left(G_{\mathfrak{p},1,\mathfrak{q}+1}^{m+1,\mathfrak{q}}\left(z\left|\frac{a_{\mathfrak{p}}}{\beta_{\mathfrak{p}}},\frac{\alpha}{b_{\mathfrak{q}}}\right.\right)\right.\right)$$

(6)

is valid under the three cases described below. Again $z \neq 0$ and $\delta = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p + q)$. Here we need the conditions

$$R(a_j) - 1 < R(\beta) < R(\alpha), \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n,$$
 (7)

$$a_i - b_h$$
 is not a positive integer, $j = 1, 2, ..., n, h = 1, 2, ..., m,$ (8)

$$R\left\{\sum_{h=1}^{p} a_h - \sum_{h=1}^{q} b_h + (q-p)\beta\right\} > \frac{1}{2}(p-1-q). \tag{9}$$

CASE 1. Let m, n, etc., be as in Case 1 associated with 5.6.1(1). Then (6) is valid under the conditions (7), (8), $\delta > 0$, $| \arg z | < \delta \pi$.

CASE 2.
$$n = 0, p + 1 \le m \le q$$
, (8), $\delta > 0$, $|\arg z| < \delta \pi$.

CASE 3.
$$0 \le n \le p < q, 1 \le m \le q, (7)-(9), \delta > 0, |\arg z| = \delta \pi$$
 or $0 \le n \le p \le q - 2, (7)-(9), \delta = 0, \arg z = 0.$

Further cases may be developed as in Cases 4-7 of 5.6.1(1). Note that if $p \ge q$, the left-hand side of (6) can be put in the form

$$\int_{0}^{1} y^{\beta-1} (1-y)^{\alpha-\beta-1} G_{q,p}^{n,m} \left(\frac{y}{z} \middle| \begin{array}{c} 1-b_{q} \\ 1-a_{p} \end{array} \right) dy.$$

It is sufficient to record the result

$$\int_{0}^{1} y^{-\alpha} (1-y)^{\alpha-\beta-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(zy \left| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dy = \Gamma(\alpha-\beta) G_{p+1,q+1}^{m,n+1} \left(z \left| \frac{\alpha}{b_{q}}, \frac{a_{p}}{\beta} \right) \right.,$$

$$0 \leq n \leq p < q, \qquad 1 \leq m \leq q, \qquad R(\beta) < R(\alpha) < R(b_{j}) + 1$$
for $j = 1, 2, ..., m,$ (10)

provided further that (8) holds.

A generalization of (10) and so also of (6) is given by (13).

We also have the loop integrals

$$\int_{-\infty}^{(1+)} y^{-\alpha} (1-y)^{\alpha-\beta-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(zy \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q} \right) dy = -\frac{2\pi i}{\Gamma(1+\beta-\alpha)} G_{p+1,q+1}^{m+1,n} \left(z \mid \frac{a_p}{\beta, b_q} \right),$$
(11)

$$\int_{0}^{(1+)} y^{-\alpha} (1-y)^{\alpha-\beta-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(zy \mid a_{p} \right) dy = \frac{2\pi i}{\Gamma(1+\beta-\alpha)} G_{p+1,q+1}^{m,n+1} \left(z \mid a_{p}, a_{p} \right), \tag{12}$$

valid under the same conditions as for (6) and (10), respectively, with the inequality $R(\alpha - \beta) > 0$ omitted.

From the work of Sharma (1964), we have a generalization of (6) and (10) Thus,

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} x^{a_{1}...a_{r-1}}(x-1)^{2-s-a} \, _{2}F_{1}\left(-u,\beta,\gamma,\frac{1}{2}\right) G_{p}^{-a}\left(xx^{r} \middle| \frac{a_{r}}{a_{r}}\right) dx$$

$$= \frac{P(\gamma) \frac{\Gamma(\beta+1-\gamma)}{\Gamma(\gamma+u)}}{\Gamma(\gamma+u)} \frac{G_{p+1p+r+2}^{-a_{1}...a_{r-1}}(x \middle| \frac{c_{1}}{c_{1},\delta_{1}}, \frac{c_{2}}{c_{1}}, \frac{d_{1}}{c_{1}}\right),$$

$$c_{4} = \frac{\rho-\gamma-u+k}{s}, \quad d_{4} = \frac{\rho+\beta-\gamma+k}{s},$$

$$c_{5} = \frac{\rho+k-1}{s}, \quad f_{5} = \frac{\rho-\gamma+k}{s}, \quad k=1,2,...s, (13)$$

is valid under the three cases given below. Let z and δ be as in the conditions for (6). We suppose that ϵ is a positive integer and that u is a positive integer or zero. Let

$$R(\beta - \gamma) > u - 1$$
, $R(sa_i - \rho) < s$, $t = 1, 2, n$ (14)

Let none of the following quantities be a positive integer

$$a_j - b_k$$
 $a_j - \frac{\rho + \mu - 1}{t}$, $\frac{\rho - y - u + v}{t} - b_k$, $\frac{v - \mu - u + 1 - y}{t}$,
 $j = 1, 2, n$, $h = 1, 2, m$, $\mu, v = 1, 2, s$ (15)

We also need the condition

$$R\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{p} a_k - \sum_{k=1}^{q} b_k + \frac{p(q-p)}{s}\right\} > \frac{1}{2}(p-1-q)$$
 (16)

It is not necessary to actually enumerate the three cases for (13) as they are the same for (6) provided there the equations (7), (8), and (9) are replaced by (14), (15), and (16), respectively

If $p \ge q$, the left-hand side of (13) may be expressed as

$$\int_{0}^{1} y^{s-1} (1-y)^{s-u} {}_{2}F_{1}(-u, \beta, \gamma, y) G_{0}^{s-u} \left(\frac{3^{s}}{z} \right) \frac{1-b_{0}}{1-a_{0}} dy$$

and so it is sufficient to record the formula

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{1} x^{s-1} (1-x)^{\theta-s-\alpha} z^{p} I_{1}(-u \beta, y, \tau) G_{\sigma, \tau}^{m, \alpha} \left(zx^{s} \middle|_{b_{\sigma}}^{\theta}\right) d\tau \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(y) \Gamma(\beta+1-y) z^{\theta+s-\theta-1}}{\Gamma(y+u)} G_{\sigma, \tau}^{m+s+\alpha+1} \left(z \middle|_{b_{\sigma}, b_{\sigma}, b_{\sigma}}^{g, e}\right) d\tau \end{split}$$

$$\xi_{k} = \frac{k - \rho}{s}, \qquad h_{k} = \frac{\gamma - \rho + k - 1}{s},
i_{k} = \frac{\gamma + u - \rho + k - 1}{s}, \qquad j_{k} = \frac{\gamma - \rho - \beta + k - 1}{s}, \qquad k = 1, 2, ..., s,
0 \leqslant r \leqslant \rho < q, \quad 1 \leqslant r \leqslant q, \quad R(\beta - \gamma) > u - 1, \quad R(\rho + sb_{h}) > 0,
h = 1, 2, ..., m, \quad (17)$$

provided further that none of the following quantities are positive integers:

$$a_i - b_{\lambda}$$
, $a_i = \frac{\gamma - \rho \div u \div \mu - 1}{s}$, $\frac{v - \rho}{s} - b_{\lambda}$, $\frac{v - \mu - u \div 1 - \gamma}{s}$

where h, j, μ , and v take on the values as in (15).

An outline of the proof for (17) follows. Replace the G-function in the integrand by 5.2(1) and interchange the order of integration. The inner integral is readily evaluated from 3.6(10) and 3.13.3(2). The result is a product of gamma functions and a typical factor is $\Gamma(\rho + st)$ where t is the variable of integration for the outer integral. Now use the multiplication formula for gamma functions, 2.3(1), and the outer integral is easily identified from 5.2(1).

Two special cases of (17) which were proved by Saxena (1962) follow. With $x = \sin^2 \theta$, $\beta = u - 1$, $\gamma = \frac{3}{2}$, and the aid of 6.2.1(12),

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \sin^{2-\alpha}\theta \sin(2u-1)\theta G_{r,c}^{m,n} \left(z \sin^{2s}\theta \left| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{c}} \right) d\theta$$

$$= \left(\frac{\pi}{s}\right)^{1/2} G_{r-s,n-s}^{m-s,n-s} \left(z \left| \frac{g_{s}}{i_{s}}, \frac{a_{p}}{b_{c}}, \frac{h_{s}}{i_{s}} \right| \right). \tag{18}$$

and with x as above, $\beta = u$, $\gamma = \frac{1}{2}$, and the aid of 6.2.1(11),

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} (\sin^{2s-1}\theta, 2) \cos u\theta \, G_{p,c}^{n,\pi} \left(z \sin^{2s} \frac{\theta}{2} \left| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) d\theta \right)$$

$$= \left(\frac{\pi}{s} \right)^{1/2} G_{p+2s,q-2s}^{n+s,n+s} \left(z \left| \frac{g_{s} \cdot a_{p}}{i_{s}}, h_{s} \right|, j_{s} \right).$$
(19)

Sharma (1964) has also proved

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} x^{-s}(x-1)^{s-c-1} \, {}_{z}F_{1}(\alpha,\beta;\gamma;1'x) \, G_{r,c}^{m,n} \left(z(x-1)^{s} \, \Big| \, \frac{a_{r}}{b_{c}} \right) dx$$

$$= \frac{(2\pi)^{1-s} \, \Gamma(\gamma) \, s^{s-\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(s) \, \Gamma(\gamma-\alpha)} \, G_{r-s,n-2s}^{m-s,n-2s} \left(z \, \Big| \, \frac{r_{s} \, t_{s}, a_{p}}{e_{s}, b_{c}, f_{s}} \right),$$

$$r_{k} = e_{k} - (1-\beta) \, s, \qquad t_{k} = f_{k} + \alpha' s, \qquad k = 1, 2, ..., s, \qquad (20)$$

where e_k and f_k are defined in (13) To discuss conditions of validity, let

$$R(\beta) > R(\rho) > 0$$
, $R(\gamma - \alpha - \rho) > 0$, $R(\gamma - \alpha - \beta) > 0$, $R(y + \beta - \rho) > 0$, $h = 1, 2, ..., m$, (21)

R(sa. - a) < s, t = 1, 2, ..., nand suppose that none of the following quantities are positive integers:

$$a_i - b_k$$
, $a_j - \frac{\rho + \mu - 1}{s}$, $\frac{\rho - \gamma + \alpha + \nu}{s} - b_k$, $\frac{\rho - \beta + \sigma}{s} - b_k$, $\frac{\alpha - \gamma + 1 + \nu - \sigma}{s}$, $\frac{\sigma - \mu + 1 - \beta}{s}$, (22)

 $t = 1, 2, ..., h = 1, 2, ..., a, v, \sigma = 1, 2, ..., s$ Then conditions of validity for (20) are the same as for (6) provided that there the equations (7), (8), and (9) are replaced by (21), (22), and (16), respectively. In all these conditions $p \leq q$ If $p \geqslant q$, the left-hand side of (20) may be written as

$$\int_{a}^{1} y^{p-1} (1-y)^{d-p-1} {}_{0}F_{1}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,y) G_{0}^{n,m} \left(\frac{y^{n}(1-y)^{-n}}{2}\right) \left(\frac{1-b_{0}}{1-a_{0}}\right) dy.$$

It is therefore sufficient to record the result

$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{\alpha - 3} (1 - x)^{2 - \alpha - 1} e^{F_{\epsilon}}(x, \beta, \gamma, x) G_{\rho, \alpha}^{\alpha, \beta} \left(xx'(1 - x)^{-\delta} \left[\frac{\theta_{\rho}}{\theta_{\rho}} \right] dx \right)$$

$$= \frac{(2\pi)^{1 - \delta} \Gamma(\gamma) e^{2 - \alpha - \delta}}{\Gamma(\beta) \Gamma(\gamma - \alpha)} G_{\rho, \alpha}^{\alpha + 1, \alpha, \alpha + \delta} \left(x \left[\frac{\theta_{\rho}}{\theta_{\rho}}, \frac{\eta_{\rho}}{\eta_{\rho}}, \frac{\eta_{\rho}}{\theta_{\rho}} \right] \right)$$

$$w_k = \frac{\beta - \rho + k - 1}{\rho}, \quad y_k = \frac{\gamma - \alpha - \rho + k - 1}{\rho}, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, s. \quad (22)$$

where p. and h. are defined in (17), provided

$$1 \leqslant n \leqslant p \leqslant q, \quad 1 \leqslant m \leqslant q, \quad \delta = m + n - \frac{1}{2}(p+q) > 0, \quad |\arg x| \leqslant \delta n,$$

$$R(\beta) > R(\rho) > 0$$
, $R(\gamma - \alpha - \rho) > 0$, $R(\gamma - \sigma - \beta) > 0$, (24)
 $R(\rho + sb_h) > 0$, $h = 1, 2$, m ,

 $R(\rho - \beta + sa_i) < s_i$ t = 1.2...nand that none of the following quantities are positive integers

$$a_i - b_k$$
, $a_i = \frac{\beta - \rho - 1 + \nu}{1 + \rho}$, $a_i = \frac{\gamma - \alpha - \rho - 1 + \sigma}{1 + \rho}$, $\frac{\mu - \rho}{1 + \rho} - b_k$,

$$a_1 - b_k$$
, $a_1 - \frac{p - p - 1 + \nu}{s}$, $a_2 - \frac{\gamma - \alpha - p - 1 + \sigma}{s}$, $\frac{\mu - p}{s} - b_k$, $\frac{\mu - \nu + 1 - \beta}{s}$, $\frac{\mu - \sigma + \alpha - \gamma + 1}{s}$ with j, h, μ, ν , and σ as in (22) (25)

(25)

Proof of (23) is much like that of (17) and we omit details.

Two special cases of (23) are of interest. If $\beta = \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$, $\gamma = 2\alpha$, and we use 6.2.1(5), then

$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{\rho-1} (1-x)^{\alpha-\rho-3/2} [1+(1-x)^{1/2}]^{1-2\alpha} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z x^{s} (1-x)^{-s} \middle| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dx$$

$$= \frac{(2\pi)^{1-s} \left(\alpha - \frac{1}{2} \right) s^{-3/2}}{\pi^{1/2}} G_{p+2s,q+2s}^{m+2s,n+s} \left(z \middle| \frac{g_{s}, a_{p}, h_{s}}{w_{s}, y_{s}, b_{q}} \right). \tag{26}$$

Again in (23), replace α by $\alpha - \frac{1}{2}$, then set $\beta = \alpha$ and $\gamma = 2\alpha$, and use 6.2.1(5). Then

$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{\rho-1} (1-x)^{\alpha-\rho-1} [1+(1-x)^{1/2}]^{1-2\alpha} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z x^{s} (1-x)^{-s} \middle| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dx$$

$$= \frac{(2\pi)^{1-s}}{(\pi s)^{1/2}} G_{p+2s,q+2s}^{m+2s,n+s} \left(z \middle| \frac{g_{s}, a_{p}, h_{s}}{w'_{s}, y'_{s}, b_{q}} \right),$$

$$w'_{k} = \frac{\alpha-\rho+k-1}{s}, \qquad y'_{k} = \frac{\alpha-\rho+k-\frac{1}{2}}{s}, \qquad k=1,2,...,s. \quad (27)$$

The substitution $x = \mathrm{sech}^2 \theta$ transforms the left-hand side of the latter into

$$2\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\theta(2\alpha-1)} \left(\sinh\theta\right)^{2\alpha-2\rho-1} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \operatorname{csch}^{2s}\theta \mid b_{q}^{a_{p}}\right) d\theta. \tag{28}$$

From the work of Saxena (1963), we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{\lambda-1} (1+t)^{-1/2} [t^{1/2} + (1+t)^{1/2}]^{2\mu} G_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(zt^{r} \left\{ t^{1/2} + (1+t)^{1/2} \right\}^{2s} \left| \frac{a_{p}}{b_{q}} \right) dt \\
= \frac{(2\pi)^{1/2-r-s} 2^{1/2} r^{2\lambda-1/2}}{(r+s)^{\lambda+\mu} (r-s)^{\lambda-\mu}} \\
\times G_{p+2r,q+2r}^{m+r+s,n+2r} \left(\frac{zr^{2r}}{(r+s)^{r+s} (r-s)^{r-s}} \right| \frac{c_{2r}, a_{p}}{d_{r+s}, b_{q}, e_{r-s}}, \quad r > s, \quad (29)$$

$$= \frac{(2\pi)^{1/2-2r} 2^{1/2} r^{2\lambda-1/2}}{(r+s)^{\lambda+\mu} (s-r)^{\lambda-\mu}} \\
\times G_{p+r+s,q+r+s}^{m+r+s,n+2r} \left(\frac{zr^{2r} (s-r)^{s-r}}{(s+r)^{s+r}} \right| \frac{c_{2r}, a_{p}, f_{s-r}}{d_{r+s}, b_{q}}, \quad r < s, \quad (30)$$

$$= \frac{\pi^{1-2r} r^{\lambda-\mu-1/2}}{2^{\lambda+\mu+2r-3/2} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+\lambda-\mu)} G_{p+2r,q+2r}^{m+2r,n+2r} \left(\frac{z}{2^{2r}} \right| \frac{c_{2r}, a_{p}}{d_{r+s}, b_{r}}, \quad r = s, \quad (31)$$

where r and s are positive integers [s can be zero in (29)] and

$$c_r = \frac{v - 2\lambda}{2r},$$
 $v = 1, 2, 2r,$
 $d_r = \frac{2v - 1 - 2\mu - 2\lambda}{2r + 2i},$ $\sigma = 1, 2, r + r,$
 $e_m = \frac{2w - 1 + 2\mu - 2\lambda}{2r - 2r},$ $\omega = 1, 2, r - s,$
 $f_r = \frac{2v - 1 + 2\lambda - 2\mu}{2r - 2r},$ $\epsilon = 1, 2, r - r$

To simplify discussion of cases for the validity of (29)-(31), we suppose that $x\neq 0$, $\delta=m+n-\frac{1}{2}(p+g)$. We have need for the following conditions:

$$R(rb_h + \lambda) > 0,$$
 $h = 1, 2, , m,$
 $R(\lambda + \mu + (r + s) a_1) < r + s + \frac{1}{2},$ $j = 1, 2, , n$ (33)

None of the quantities

$$a_j - b_h$$
, $a_j - d_s$, $j = 1, 2, n$, $h = 1, 2, m$,
 $c_r - b_h$, $c_s - d_n$, $\sigma = 1, 2, r + s$, $v = 1, 2, 2r$, (34)

is a positive integer

$$R\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{p} a_k - \sum_{k=1}^{q} b_k + \frac{(q-p)}{r+s} (\frac{1}{2} - \lambda - \mu)\right\} > \frac{1}{2}(p-1-q) \tag{35}$$

$$R\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{p} a_k - \sum_{k=1}^{q} b_k + \frac{(p-q)\lambda}{r}\right\} > \frac{1}{4}(p-1-q)$$
 (36)

Three cases for the validity of (29)-(31) follow

CASE 1 Let m, n, etc., be as in Cases 1, 2, and 3 of 5 6 1(1) Then (29)-(31) are valid as for the latter cases with $\eta=z$, provided there we replace condition (3) by (33), (34) and (4) by (35), respectively

CASE 2
$$1 \leqslant m \leqslant q < p$$
, $1 \leqslant n \leqslant p$ or $q \geqslant 1$, $0 \leqslant m \leqslant q$, $1 \leqslant n \leqslant p \approx q+1$, $\delta > 0$, $|\arg z| < \delta \pi$

CASE 3 $0 \le m \le q < p$, $1 \le n \le p$, (33), (34), (36), $\delta > 0$, $|\arg z| < \delta \pi$, or $0 \le m \le q \le p - 2$, (33), (34), (36), $\delta = 0$, $\arg z = 0$

Equations (29)-(31) are proved from 5.2(1), 2.3(1), and the formula

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} t^{\lambda-1} (1+t)^{-1/2} \left[t^{1/2} + (1+t)^{1/2} \right]^{2\mu} dt = \frac{\Gamma(2\lambda) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - \lambda - \mu)}{2^{2\lambda-1} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} + \lambda - \mu)},$$

$$R(\lambda) > 0, \qquad R(\lambda + \mu) < \frac{1}{2}, \tag{37}$$

which may be proved from 6.2.1(5), 3.6(10), and 3.13.1(1).

5.6.5. Integral Transform Pairs Involving the G-Function

The functions f(x) and g(x) are said to form a pair of Fourier kernels if

$$g(x) = \int_0^\infty h(xy)f(y) \, dy, \qquad f(x) = \int_0^\infty h(xy)g(y) \, dy \tag{1}$$

are simultaneously satisfied. The kernels are called symmetric if k(x) = h(x), otherwise they are unsymmetric. Narain (1962, 1963) has shown that

$$k(x) = 2\gamma x^{\nu - 1/2} G_{p+q,m+n}^{m,p} \left(x^{2\nu} \middle| \begin{array}{c} a_p, b_q \\ c_m, d_n \end{array} \right), \tag{2}$$

$$h(x) = 2\gamma x^{\gamma - 1/2} G_{p+q,m+n}^{n,q} \left(x^{2\gamma} \middle| \begin{array}{c} -b_q, -a_p \\ -d_n, -c_m \end{array} \right), \tag{3}$$

are unsymmetrical kernels. If p = q, m = n, $a_j + b_j = 0$ for j = 1, 2, ..., p and $c_h + d_h = 0$ for h = 1, 2, ..., m, then the kernels are symmetric, a result previously derived by C. Fox (1961). For conditions of validity, see the sources cited.

The following pair of transforms are due to Wimp (1964). If

$$g(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} G_{p+2,q}^{m,n+2} \left(t \mid 1 - \nu + ix, 1 - \nu - ix, a_{p} \right) f(t) dt, \tag{4}$$

then

$$f(x) = i/\pi \int_{0}^{\infty} t e^{-\nu \pi i} \{ e^{\pi t} A(x e^{i\pi} \mid \nu + it, \nu - it) - e^{-\pi t} A(x e^{i\pi} \mid \nu - it, \nu + it) \} g(t) dt,$$

$$A(z \mid \alpha, \beta) = G_{p+2,q}^{q-m,p-n+1} \left(z \mid -a_{n+1}, -a_{n+2}, ..., -a_{p}, \alpha, -a_{1}, -a_{2}, ..., -a_{n}, \beta \right).$$
(5)

This set of relations contains some known important special cases. Thus the Kontorovich-Lebedev transform pair is

$$g(x) = (2/\pi^2) x \sinh \pi x \int_0^\infty t^{-1} K_{ix}(t) f(t) dt,$$
 (6)

$$f(x) = \int_0^\infty K_{it}(x) g(t) dt, \tag{7}$$

and the generalized Mehler transform pair is

478

$$g(x) = (x/\pi) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k + ix) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k - ix) \sinh \pi x \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} P_{ix-1/2}^{k}(t) f(t) dt$$
 (8)

$$f(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} P_{t-1,2}^k(x)g(t) dt \qquad (9)$$

In (6) (7) K (t) is the modified Bessel function see 6 2 7(8) and in (8) (9) P₁-t(t) is the Legendre function see 6 2 3 For proof and other special cases of 4d (5) see Wimp (1964) For Tather extensive tables of the transform pairs (6) (7) and (8) (9) see Erdely et al (1954) and Obserbettwore and Huevans (1964)

57 Asymptotic Expansion of G! (z) and G! (z) for Large z

To simplify the exposition in this section as well as in Sections 5.8-5.10 it is convenient to introduce some notation. We let

$$m+n p=\tau q m-n-\nu$$
 (1)

$$m-n$$
 $\frac{1}{2}(p+q)=\frac{1}{2}(r-\nu)$ ρ $\frac{3}{2}q-\frac{1}{2}p-m$ $n+2=\eta$ q $p=\sigma$

 $\epsilon = \frac{1}{2}$ if $\sigma = 1$ $\epsilon = 1$ if $\sigma > 1$ (2) Certain restrictions on the parameters a_{λ} and b_{λ} of the G function

enter the hypotheses of the theorems These are called (A), (B), and (C) and are as follows

(A)
$$a_j - b_k \neq 1 \ 2 \ 3$$
 for $j = 1 \ 2 \ n \ h = 1 \ 2 \ m$
(3)

(B)
$$a_j - a_t \neq 0 \pm 1 \pm 2$$
 for $j t = 1 2$ π $j \neq t$ (4)

(C)
$$a - a \neq 0 + 1 + 2$$
 for $1h - 12 \neq 1 \neq h$ (5)

Actually (B) can always be deleted from our assumptions provided we understand that when (B) does not hold a passage to the limit is required as in the discussion surrounding 5 1(27). A similar remark also holds

for (C) Define

$$G_{p,q}^{q,1}(x \parallel a_i) \approx G_{p,q}^{q,1} \left(x \mid a_i \quad a_i \quad a_{i-1} \quad a_{i+1} \quad a_p\right)$$
 (6)

Further with $1 \le t \le p < q$ let us formally write

$$E_{v,q}(z \parallel a_t) = \frac{z^{q-1}\Gamma(1+b_q-a_t)}{\Gamma(1+a_p-a_t)} e^{F_{p-1}} \left(\frac{1+b_q-a_t}{1+a_p-a_t^2}\right) - \frac{1}{z}$$
(7)

provided condition (A) [see (3)] holds with t = t and m = q

Theorem 1. If $1 \le t \le p < q$, (A), then

$$G_{p,q}^{q,1}(z \parallel a_t) \sim E_{p,q}(z \parallel a_t),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leq (\frac{1}{2}\sigma + 1)\pi - \delta, \quad \delta \geq 0.$$
(8)

Theorem 2. If $1 \le n \le p < q$, $1 \le m \le q$, (A) and (B), then with $\rho > 0$,

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim \sum_{t=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi(\nu+1) a_t] \Delta^{m,n}(t) E_{p,q}(z \exp[i\pi(\nu+1)] \| a_t),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \le \rho\pi - \delta, \quad \delta \ge 0, \tag{9}$$

where $\Delta^{m,n}_{g}(t)$ is defined by 5.9.2(1).

Formulas (8) and (9) are proved by evaluating the residues of the integrand in 5.2(1) which lie within the path described by 5.2(4). Note that the expressions on the right-hand sides of (9) and 5.2(11) are the same.

Theorem 3. If $m+n \ge p+1$, (A) and (B), and $|\arg z| < (m+n-p)\pi$, then $G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z)$ can be continued analytically outside the unit circle by the expansion

$$G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z) = \sum_{t=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi(p-m-n+1) a_t] \Delta^{m,n}_{p}(t)$$

$$\times E_{p,p}(z \exp[i\pi(p-m-n+1)] \parallel a_t).$$
(10)

Theorem 4. If (A) holds for n = 1 and m = p, and $|\arg z| < \pi$, then $G_{p,p}^{p,1}(z \parallel a_t)$ can be continued analytically outside the unit circle by the expression

$$G_{p,p}^{p,1}(z \parallel a_t) = E_{p,p}(z \parallel a_t). \tag{11}$$

Theorem 3 has been proved in 5.3. Theorem 4 is the special case n = 1 of Theorem 3.

Theorem 5.

$$G_{p,\sigma}^{q,0}\left(z\left|\frac{a_p}{b_\sigma}\right\rangle \sim H_{p,q}(z),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \le (\sigma + \epsilon)\pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0, \tag{12}$$

where a and e are defined in (1), (2) and where for brevity we write

$$H_{g,\epsilon}(z) = \frac{(2\alpha)^{(g-1)/2}}{\sigma^{1/2}} \exp\{-\sigma(z)^{1/a}\} z^{\delta} \sum_{k=0}^{n} M_{k}(z)^{-k/a},$$

$$M_{g} = 1, \quad \sigma = \{i(1-\sigma) + E_{1} - A_{1}\},$$

$$E_{1} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \delta_{k}, \quad A_{1} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_{k} \quad (13)$$

The M_k 's are independent of z and can be found from the theory in 511 5 For k = 1, we have

$$M_1 = (A_1 - \mathcal{E}_2) - \frac{(A_1 - \mathcal{E}_1)}{2\sigma} \left[\sigma(A_1 + \mathcal{E}_1) + (A_1 - \mathcal{E}_1) \right] - \frac{(\sigma^2 - 1)}{24\sigma},$$
 (14)

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{z} = \sum_{k=2}^{\sigma} \sum_{k=1}^{k-1} b_{k}b_{k}, \quad \Lambda_{z} = \sum_{k=1}^{\sigma} \sum_{k=1}^{k-1} a_{k}\sigma_{k}$$
 (15)

We sketch the proof of (12) as follows. Let $G_{\phi}^{\phi}(z)$ be defined by 5.2(1, 2). Note that except for z^{ϵ} , the integrand of this representation is $p_{\phi}(z)$ of 21(123) with an appropriate change of notation. There replace z by z, q by q-1, $1-b_{j-1}$ by b_j for $j=1,2,\dots,q$, and $1-a_j$ by a_j for $j=1,2,\dots,p$. It follows that

$$\begin{split} G^{*\,\sigma}_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}\left(z\left|\frac{\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}}{b_{\mathfrak{q}}}\right.\right) &= (2\pi i)^{-1}(2\pi i)^{(\sigma-1)/2}\,\sigma^{1/2-\sigma \ell} \left[\sum_{j=0}^{\Lambda-1}\left(-\frac{j}{2}\,h_{j}^{\,\mathfrak{p}}\,\int_{L}\sigma^{\sigma}z^{\mathfrak{q}}\Gamma(\sigma\theta-\sigma\tau-j)\right)d\tau\right. \\ &\left.\left.-\int_{-1}\sigma^{\sigma}z^{\mathfrak{q}}C(\Gamma(\sigma\theta-\sigma\tau-N))\,d\tau\right], \end{split}$$

where h_{j}^{∞} comes from h_{j} when the appropriate substitutions are made Now

$$(2\pi i)^{-1} \int \sigma^{\sigma s} z^{s} \Gamma(\sigma \theta - \sigma s - j) ds = \frac{(\sigma z^{1/\sigma})^{\sigma \theta}}{-1} \exp(-\sigma z^{1/\sigma})$$

in view of 5 2(1, 14) and 5 4(4) Hence,

$$G_{s, \bullet}^{q, \bullet}\left(z \left| \frac{\sigma_{s}}{b_{s}} \right) = \frac{(2 \cdot \gamma)^{(s-1) \cdot z}}{\sigma^{1/2}} \exp\{-\sigma(z)^{1 \cdot s}\} z^{s} \left[\sum_{j=0}^{\gamma-1} \frac{(-j)^{j} h_{j}^{j}(z)^{\cdot j \cdot s}}{\sigma^{j}} + R_{\gamma} \right]$$

It may be shown that $R_N = O(e^{-V/e})$ for arg x as in (12) and so we arrive at (12), (13) For complete details of the proof, see Braaksma (1963)

5.8. Differential Equation for $G_{0,a}^{m,n}(z)$

From 5.2(1) or 5.2(7), it follows that
$$y(z) = G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z \mid \frac{a_p}{b_q})$$
 satisfies
$$[(-)^r z(\delta - a_p + 1) - (\delta - b_q)] y(z) = 0, \quad \delta = z \, d/dz, \quad (1)$$

where τ is defined by 5.7(1). This equation is of order $\max(p,q)$ and in view of 5.4(3), we can suppose that $p \leq q$. If p < q, the only singularities of (1) are at z = 0, a regular singularity, and at $z = \infty$, an irregular singularity. If p = q, z = 0 and $z = \infty$ are regular singularities, and in addition there is a regular singularity at $z = (-)^{\tau}$. The solutions of (1) in the neighborhood of the singularities z = 0 and $z = \infty$ have been fully investigated by Meijer (1946, pp. 344-356). No fundamental system for the neighborhood of $z = (-)^{\tau}$ has been given in the literature. In this connection, see Nörlund (1955).

In the neighborhood of z = 0, the q functions

$$y_h(z) = \exp[i\pi(\tau+1) b_h] G_{p,q}^{1,p} \left(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau+1)] \middle| b_h, b_1, ..., b_{h-1}, b_{h+1}, ..., b_q\right),$$

$$h = 1, 2, ..., q,$$
(2)

form a fundamental system of solutions for (1) provided that no two of the b_h terms h = 1, 2, ..., m, differ by an integer or zero. This condition is really not essential, see the discussion surrounding 5.2(9). Clearly

$$y_{h}(z) = \frac{\Gamma(1 + b_{h} - a_{p})}{\Gamma(1 + b_{h} - b_{q})} z^{b_{h}} {}_{p}F_{q-1} \left(\begin{matrix} 1 + b_{h} - a_{p} \\ 1 + b_{h} - b_{q}^{*} \end{matrix} \right) (-)^{\tau} z ,$$

$$p \leq q - 1, \text{ or } p = q \text{ and } |z| < 1.$$
(3)

It follows that $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ is a linear combination of the functions (2). The pertinent expression is given by 5.2(18).

Next we consider solutions of (1) in the vicinity of the irregular singularity $z = \infty$. We distinguish two cases.

CASE 1. p < q. For every value of arg z, it is possible to find integers λ and ω such that

$$|\arg z + (\nu - 2\lambda + 1)\pi| < (\frac{1}{2}\sigma + 1)\pi, \tag{4}$$

$$|\arg z + (\nu - 2\psi)\pi| < (\sigma + \epsilon)\pi, \quad \psi = \omega, \omega + 1, ..., \omega + \sigma - 1,$$
 (5)

where ν , σ , and ϵ are defined in 5.7(1, 2).

If condition (C) [see 5.7(5)] holds, then the p functions

$$G_{p,q}^{q,1}(z \exp[i\pi(v-2\lambda+1)]||a_t|), \qquad t=1,2,...,p$$
 (6)

197

satisfy (1) From 5 7(7, 8) these functions tend algebraically to zero or infinity as $|z^+ \rightarrow \infty$, and further, for large values of |z|, are insarily independent because of condition (C) If (C) does not hold, we can get independent solutions via limit processes, as previously explained in this event, the algebraic character of the solutions is not altered as $|z| \rightarrow \infty$. Thus (6) gives rise to p solutions in the region of $z = \infty$. To get the remaining $\alpha = p - p$ solutions, consider

$$G_{p,q}^{c,0}\left(z\exp[i\pi(\nu-2\phi)]\right]_{b_{q}}^{a_{p}}$$
 $\psi=\omega,\omega+1, \omega+\sigma-1$ (7)

These functions also satisfy (1) and, in virtue of 5 7(12) and (5), tend exponentially to zero or to infinity as $|z| \to \infty$. Furthermore, the solutions (7) are linearly independent. We have thus proved that if q > p and the conditions (C), (4), (5) hold, then a fundamental system of (1) valid near $z = \infty$ is formed by the p functions (6) and the $\alpha = q - p$ functions (7)

CASE 2 p=q Again we assume that the a_k 's satisfy condition (C) We also suppose that

$$\arg z - \tau \pi \neq \pm 2k\pi, \quad k = 0 \ 1 \ 2$$
 (8)

Then from (4) we can find an integer A such that

$$|\arg z - (r + 2\lambda - 1)\pi| < \pi \tag{9}$$

In this case, (6) with q = p satisfies (1) Further, because of (C) and 5.7(7, 11), these b solutions are linearly independent

5 1/(1, 11), these p solutions are linearly independent. There may occur in a formula not the p functions (6), or the same set of functions with q = p, but only the first n of these, namely,

$$G_{n,n}^{q,1}(z \exp[\epsilon \pi (\nu - 2\lambda + 1)] a_n), \quad t = 1, 2, ..., n,$$
 (10)

or the latter set with q = p. For these to be linearly independent, condition (C) can be replaced by the less stringent condition (B)

condition (C) can be replaced by the less stringent condition (B) If we have to do with less than the σ functions $G_p^{\sigma} q^{\sigma}(z)$, namely, the $\sigma(\alpha < \sigma)$ functions

$$G_{p,q}^{a,0}(x \exp[i\pi(r-2\phi)]), \quad \phi = \omega, \omega + 1, \quad \omega + \alpha - 1,$$
 (11)

then the condition (5) need not be satisfied for $\psi = \omega, \omega + 1$.

 $\omega + \sigma - 1$, but only for $\phi = \omega, \omega + 1$, $\omega + \alpha - 1$

5.9. Series of G-Functions

5.9.1. Introduction

The multiplication theorems of 5.5. permit for the expansion of G-functions in series of G-functions. Another group of formulas of this kind is taken up in Chapter IX. Here we delineate four important expansions which express $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ as a finite sum of G-functions with the same p, q but with m = q and n = 0 or n = 1. For the most part, proofs are omitted. For complete details of the proof for the expansion theorems and generalizations of same, see Meijer (1946).

Corresponding to each expansion theorem there is a companion theorem (in one instance there is more than one companion theorem) which gives the conditions under which the expansion theorem expresses $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ in terms of fundamental solutions of 5.8(1) valid near $z = \infty$. These data coupled with the asymptotic expansions of $G_{p,q}^{q,0}(z)$ and $G_{p,q}^{q,0}(z)$ [see 5.7(8, 12)] lead to the asymptotic expansions for $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ which are developed in 5.10. The asymptotic expansion for the ${}_pF_q$ is treated in 5.11.

5.9.2. NOTATION

We freely use the notation of 5.7(1-6). Other notation follows. Let

$$\Delta^{m,n}_{q}(t) = (-)^{\nu+1} \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(a_t - a_j)^* \Gamma(1 + a_j - a_t)}{\prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(a_t - b_j) \Gamma(1 + b_j - a_t)}.$$
 (1)

Where no confusion can result, we simply write $\Delta(t)$. This practice of omitting super and subscripts when appropriate is usually adopted in the definitions which follow. Thus we define

$$A = A^{m,n}_{q} = (-)^{\nu} (2\pi i)^{-\nu} \exp\left\{ i\pi \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} - \sum_{j=m+1}^{q} b_{j} \right) \right\}.$$
 (2)

If in the right-hand side of (2), i is replaced by -i, the resulting expression is notated as $A^{m,n}$ or simply as A when appropriate. The bar over a letter convention also applies to the quantities defined in (3)-(5), (13)-(16) below. Thus,

$$B = B_p^{m,n} = (-)^{\tau} (2\pi i)^{\tau} \exp\left\{ i\pi \left(\sum_{j=1}^m b_j - \sum_{j=n+1}^p a_j \right) \right\}, \tag{3}$$

$$B = B_p^{m,n} = (2\pi i)^{\mathsf{T}} \exp\left\{-i\pi \left(\sum_{j=1}^m b_j - \sum_{j=n+1}^p a_j\right)\right\}. \tag{4}$$

In these and all other definitions, it is supposed that the parameters are such that the definitions make sense. Let

$$\frac{\prod_{i=1}^{k} \left[1 - x \exp(2\pi a_i)\right]}{\prod_{j=1}^{k} \left[1 - x \exp(2\pi a_j)\right]} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \Omega^{n} \tilde{q}(k) x^{k},$$

$$|x \exp(2\pi a_j)| < 1, \quad \Omega^{n} \tilde{q}(k) = \Omega(k)$$
(5)

We next present some developments to facilitate the computation of $\Omega(k)$

$$\xi_{k} = 1$$
 $\xi_{k} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \exp(2i\pi a_{i}), \quad \xi_{k} = \sum_{1 \le j \le k \le n}^{n} \exp[2i\pi (a_{j} + a_{k})], \quad ,$

$$\xi_{r} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \exp(2i\pi \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{k}), \quad r \ge 1,$$
(6)

$$\zeta_0 = 1, \quad \zeta_r = \sum_{i=1}^r \exp\left(2i\pi \sum_{i=1}^r b_{a_i}\right), \quad r \geqslant 1$$
 (7)

Then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (-)^{r} \zeta_{i} x^{r} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} (-)^{r} \xi_{i} x^{r}\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \Omega(k) x^{k}\right), \quad (8)$$

and so with $\Omega(0) = 1$, we have the recursion formula

$$\Omega(k) = (-)^{k} (\zeta_{k} - \xi_{k}) + \sum_{r=1}^{k-1} (-)^{r-1} \xi_{r} \Omega(k-r), \quad k \ge 1$$
 (9)

În particular,

$$\Omega(1) = \xi_1 - \zeta_1$$
 $\Omega(2) = \zeta_1 - \xi_2 + \xi_1 \Omega(1),$
 $\Omega(3) = \xi_3 - \zeta_3 + \xi_1 \Omega(2) - \xi_2 \Omega(1)$ (10)

For an alternative recurrence formula, we proceed as follows Let Ω stand for the left-hand side of (5) The logarithmic derivative of Ω gives

$$DQ = Q \left[-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\exp(2\pi i b_i)}{1 - x \exp(2\pi i b_i)} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\exp(2\pi i a_i)}{1 - x \exp(2\pi i b_i)} \right], \quad D \approx \frac{d}{dx}$$

and by Leibnitz's rule

$$D^{r+1}\Omega = \sum_{k=0}^{r} {r \choose k} k! (D^{r-k}\Omega)$$

$$\times \left[-\sum_{j=m+1}^{q} \frac{\exp[2i\pi b_j(k+1)]}{(1-x \exp[2i\pi b_j])^{k+1}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\exp[2i\pi a_j(k+1)]}{(1-x \exp[2i\pi a_j])^{k+1}} \right].$$

Since $D^k\Omega$ evaluated at x=0 is $k! \Omega(k)$, we find that

$$\Omega(k+1) = [1/(k+1)] \sum_{r=0}^{k} (S_{r+1} - T_{r+1}) \Omega(k-r), \tag{11}$$

where

$$S_r = \sum_{j=1}^n \exp(2i\pi a_j r), \qquad T_r = \sum_{j=m+1}^q \exp(2i\pi b_j r), \qquad r \geqslant 1.$$
 (12)

Observe that the ξ_r 's and the S_r 's are related by Newton's identities for symmetric functions, see Bochér (1936). Similar remarks pertain for the ζ_r 's and the T_r 's.

Let

$$\frac{\prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \left[1 - x \exp(2i\pi a_{j})\right]}{\prod_{j=1}^{m} \left[1 - x \exp(2i\pi b_{j})\right]} = \sum_{\lambda=0}^{\infty} E_{p}^{m,n}(\lambda) x^{\lambda},$$

$$|x \exp(2i\pi b_{j})| < 1, \qquad E_{p}^{m,n}(\lambda) = E(\lambda), \tag{13}$$

$$\frac{\prod_{j=n+1}^{p} [1 - x \exp(2i\pi a_{j})]}{[1 - x \exp(2i\pi a_{l})] \prod_{j=1}^{m} [1 - x \exp(2i\pi b_{j})]} = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \theta_{p}^{m,n}(l,r) x^{r},$$

$$|x \exp(2i\pi b_{j})| < 1, \qquad |x \exp(2i\pi a_{l})| < 1,$$

$$\theta_{p}^{m,n}(l,r) = \theta(l,r). \tag{14}$$

By appropriate change of notation, recursion formulas for the evaluation of $E(\lambda)$ and $\theta(l, r)$ follow from (6)-(12).

Let

$$\Phi_{r,q}^{m,n}(h,\lambda) = \sum_{r=0}^{h+\lambda-1} E(r) \, \Omega^{0,p}(h+\lambda-r-1), \qquad \Phi_{r,q}^{m,n}(h,\lambda) = \Phi(h,\lambda), \tag{15}$$

$$\psi_{p,\sigma}^{m,n}(h,\lambda) = \sum_{r=1}^{h} E(\lambda - r) \tilde{\Omega}_{q}^{0,p}(h-r), \qquad \psi_{p,\sigma}^{m,n}(h,\lambda) = \psi(h,\lambda),$$
(16)

$$R_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}^{m,n}(h,\lambda) \simeq A^{m,\mathfrak{q}}(h,\lambda) - A^{\mathfrak{q},\mathfrak{p}} \Phi(h,\lambda) - \lambda + 1, \qquad R_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}^{m,n}(h,\lambda) \simeq R(h,\lambda).$$

$$T_{p,q}^{m,n}(l,\lambda) = -\{\exp(i\pi a_i)B\theta(l,\lambda-1) + \exp(-i\pi a_i)B\bar{\theta}(l,-r-\lambda)\}$$
(17)

$$\times A^{0} \stackrel{\sigma_{\ell}}{\sim} (l) + \exp[i\pi \alpha_{\ell}(\tau + 2\lambda - 1)] A^{m} \stackrel{\sigma_{\ell}}{\sim} (l)$$

$$T_{\tau \sigma}^{m \sigma}(l, \lambda) = T(l, \lambda) \qquad (18)$$

$$D_{\frac{n}{2},q}^{m}(\lambda) = (-2m)^{n-\epsilon} \exp \left\{ \operatorname{tr} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{r} a_k - \sum_{k=1}^{r} b_k \right) \right\}$$

$$\times \left\{ B\mathcal{E}(\lambda) - B\tilde{\mathcal{E}}(-\tau - \lambda) \right\}, \qquad D_{\frac{n}{2},q}^{m}(\lambda) = D(\lambda)$$
(19)

5 9 3 EXPANSION THEOREMS

Theorem 1.1. Under conditions $\{A\}_i$ $\{B\}_i$ $1 \le n \le p \le q$, $1 \le m \le q$, $p+1 \le 0$, λ an arbitrary integer such that $0 \le \lambda \le -p-1$, then

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi a_i(\nu + 2\lambda + 1)] d(i) G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \exp[i\pi(\nu + 2\lambda + 1)]|a_i\rangle$$
 (1)

Theorem 1.2 Under conditions (A), (B), $1 \le n \le p < q$, $2 \le m \le q$, $\nu + 1 \le 0$, $i \arg x | < \rho \pi$, λ as in (1), $-\eta \pi < \arg x + 2\lambda \pi < \rho \pi$, then (1) expresses $G_{p,n}^{\pi}(z)$ in terms of fundamental solutions calld near $x = \infty$

Equation (1) is readily proved from 5.7(6) and 5.2(11, 15). The special case $\lambda=0$ of (1) is the statement 5.2(19). For the proof of (2), the inequality $-\eta = 4$ arg +2 $\lambda = -4$ or $\eta = 1$ mples that $|\arg z' + (\gamma + 1 + 2)\eta r| < (\frac{1}{4}\sigma + 1)^2$ whence 5.8(4) with λ replaced by $-\lambda$ holds for the functions G_2^2 , on the right of (1). Thus these functions are fundamental solutions

Theorem 21. Under conditions (A), (B), $q \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p \le q$, $0 \le m \le q$, r an arbitrary integer such that $r \ge \max(0, r+1)$, then

$$G_{p,q}^{m}(a) \simeq A \sum_{k=0}^{r-2} \Omega(k) G_{p,q}^{m}(a \exp[i\pi(\nu - 2k)])$$

 $+ \sum_{k=0}^{n} \exp[i\pi\alpha_{k}(2r - \nu - 1)] \Delta(t) G_{p,q}^{m}(a \exp[i\pi(\nu - 2r + 1)]) \alpha_{t})$ (3)

This expansion is also valid if i is replaced by -i

- Theorem 2.2. Under conditions (A), (B), $1 \le n \le p < q$, $2 \le m \le q$, $\nu + 1 \le 0$, $-\eta \pi < \arg z < (\tau + \epsilon) \pi$, r an arbitrary integer such that $r \ge 0$ and $-\rho \pi < 2r\pi \arg z < \eta \pi$, then (3) expresses $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ (4) in terms of fundamental solutions valid near $z = \infty$.
- Theorem 2.3. Under conditions (A), (B), $0 \le n \le p < q$, $1 \le m \le q$, $\frac{3}{4}p + \frac{1}{4}q \frac{1}{2}\epsilon < m + n \le q + 1$, $-\rho\pi < \arg z < (\tau + \epsilon)\pi$, r an arbitrary integer such that $r \ge \nu + 1$, $-\rho\pi < 2r\pi \arg z < \eta\pi$, then (3) expresses $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ in terms of fundamental solutions valid near $z = \infty$. (5)
- Theorem 2.4. Under conditions (A), (B), $1 \le n \le p < q$, $2 \le m \le q$, $v + 1 \le 0$, $-(\tau + \epsilon)\pi < \arg z < -\eta\pi$, r an arbitrary integer ≥ 0 such that $-p\pi < 2r\pi + \arg z < \eta\pi$, then (3) with i replaced by -i expresses $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ in terms of fundamental solutions valid near $z = \infty$. (6)
- Theorem 2.5. Under conditions (A), (B), $0 \le n \le p < q$, $1 \le m \le q$, $\frac{3}{4}p + \frac{1}{4}q \frac{1}{2}\epsilon < m + n \le q + 1$, $-(\tau + \epsilon)\pi < \arg z < \rho\pi$, r an arbitrary integer such that $r \ge \nu + 1$, $-\rho\pi < 2r\pi + \arg z < \eta\pi$, then (3) with i replaced by -i expresses $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ in terms of fundamental solutions valid near $z = \infty$. (7)

PROOF. First we take up proof of (3) for which we distinguish three cases. They are:

- CASE 1. $1 \leqslant n \leqslant p \leqslant q, \nu + 1 \leqslant 0, r \geqslant 0.$
- CASE 2. $1 \le n \le p \le q, 0 \le v + 1, r \ge v + 1$.
- CASE 3. $n = 0, q \ge 1, 0 \le p \le q, 0 \le m \le q, r \ge 1 + q m$.

We prove Case 1 only, as proof for the other cases is similar. The proof is by induction on r. Clearly when r = 0, (3) becomes (1). Let us assume that (3) is true with r replaced by r - 1. From 5.4(11),

$$G_{p,q}^{q,1}(z \exp[i\pi(\nu-2r+3)]||a_t) = \exp(2\pi i a_t) G_{p,q}^{q,1}(z \exp[i\pi(\nu-2r+1)]||a_t) - 2\pi i \exp(i\pi a_t) G_{p,q}^{q,0}(z \exp[i\pi(\nu-2r+2)]).$$

Put the latter into $\sum_{l=1}^{n}$ of (3) with r replaced by r-1. Then we get the sum $\sum_{l=1}^{n}$ in (3) and also the sum

$$-2\pi i \, G_{\mathfrak{p},q}^{q,0}(z \exp[i\pi(\nu-2r+2)]) \sum_{t=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi a_{t}(\nu-2r+2)] \, \Delta(t).$$

It may be shown from the definitions in 5.9.2 that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi a_{i}(\nu-2r-2)] A(t) = -(1/2\pi i)[A\Omega(r-1) - A\Omega(\nu+1-r)],$$

and in the present instance this reduces to

$$-(1/2m)A\Omega(r-1)$$

since $\Omega(\nu+1-r)$ vanishes when $\nu+1-r\leqslant -1$ Thus the sum $\sum_{k=0}^{r}$ on the right-hand side of (3) [recall we assumed (3) true with r replaced by r-1] becomes, because of the above substitution, the sum

 $\sum_{i=0}^{n}$ of (3) and proof of (3) for Case 1 as completed Next we turn to the proof of (4). After the manner of the proof of (2), it is clear that the G_{k+1}^{T} functions on the right-hand side of (3) are fundamental solutions. From the inequalities involving $\arg x$ in (4), $4\pi < 3(q - 3p + 2x + 4)$ which implies that t < q - p + 1. Hence, the number of functions G_{k+1}^{T} on the right-hand side of (3) as a most q - p. These functions satisfy 5 §(5) with $\psi = r$ and so are fundamental solutions. The proof of (5)-(7) is similar and we omit details

Theorem 3 1. Under conditions (A), (B), $q \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p \le q$, $0 \le m \le q$, $\nu + 1 \ge 0$, τ an arbitrary integer such that $0 \le \tau \le \nu + 1$,

$$G_s^{\alpha}{}_s^{\alpha}(s) = A \sum_{k=0}^{r} \Omega(k) G_s^{\alpha}{}_s^{\alpha}(es^{k(r-k)}) + A \sum_{k=0}^{r} \tilde{\Omega}(k) G_s^{\alpha}{}_s^{\alpha}(es^{-k(r-k)})$$

 $+ \sum_{k=0}^{n} \exp[i\pi a_k(2r - r - 1)] d(t) G_s^{\alpha}{}_s^{\alpha}(e \exp[i\pi (r - 2r + 1)]|a)$ (8)

This expansion formula is also valid if t is replaced by -t provided that $r \ge \max(0, \nu + 1)$

Theorem 3.2 Under conditions (A), (B), $0 \le n \le p < q$ $1 \le m \le q$,

 $p+1 \le m+n \le \frac{3}{4}q + \frac{1}{4}p - \frac{1}{4}e + \frac{1}{4}, \quad |\arg z| < (r+e)\pi, r$ an arbitrary integer such that $0 \le r \le \nu + \frac{1}{4}, \quad -p\pi < 2r\pi - \arg z < \eta\pi$, then (8) expresses $G_p^{\pi} \eta(z)$ in terms of funda

minutal solutions each diver $z = c \circ 0$.

Theorem 4.1. Under conditions (A), (C), $q \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p \le q$, $0 \le n \le q$, λ and μ arbitrary integers with $0 \le \mu \le q - p$, then

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) = \sum_{h=1}^{q-p-\mu} R(h,\lambda) G_{p,q}^{q,0}(z \exp[i\pi(\nu-2h-2\lambda+2)])$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\mu} R(k, -\tau - \lambda + 1) G_{p,q}^{a,0}(z \exp[i\pi(2p - q - m - n + 2k - 2\lambda)])$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{p} \exp[i\pi a_{k}(q - p - 2\mu)] T(k, \lambda)$$

$$\times G_{p,q}^{a,1}(z \exp[i\pi(2p - q - m - n - 2\lambda + 2\mu + 1)]|| a_{k}). \tag{10}$$

Theorem 4.2. Under conditions (A), (C), $0 \le n \le p < q, 0 \le m \le q$, λ and μ arbitrary integers such that $(\tau + \epsilon + 2\lambda - 2)\pi \le \arg z < (\tau + \epsilon + 2\lambda)\pi, (m + n - \frac{3}{2}p + \frac{1}{2}q + 2\lambda - 2)\pi < 2\mu\pi + \arg z < (m + n - \frac{5}{2}p + \frac{3}{2}q + 2\lambda)\pi$, then (10) expresses $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ in terms of fundamental solutions valid near $z = \infty$.

Proof of (8)-(11) is much like that for the previous theorems. We omit details and refer the reader to the papers by Meijer (1946).

5.10. Asymptotic Expansions of $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$

As previously noted, asymptotic expansions of $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ for all values of m, n, p, q (with p < q), and $\arg z$ for $|z| \to \infty$ can be derived from the theorems of 5.9.3 and Theorems 1 and 5 of 5.7. Indeed, in his work Meijer (1946) investigates all of the G-functions which appear on the right-hand side of the expansion formulas in 5.9.3, and from these he determines those which are dominant.

It is helpful to clarify the concept of dominance. We say that A(z) is dominant compared with B(z) or B(z) is subdominant with respect to A(z) if the order of the lead term of the asymptotic expansion of B(z) is less than the order of the error term in the asymptotic expansion of A(z). To illustrate, consider the asymptotic expansions

$$egin{align} A_1(z) &\sim e^z \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_{1k} z^{-k}, & A_2(z) &\sim z^6 \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_{2k} z^{-k}, \ & A_3(z) &\sim z^{1/2} \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_{3k} z^{-k}, & A_4(z) &\sim e^{iz} z^{-8} \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_{4k} z^{-k}, \ & A_5(z) &\sim e^{-z} \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_{5k} z^{-k}, & A_6(z) &\sim e^{-2z} \sum_{k=0}^\infty a_{6k} z^{-k}, \end{array}$$

where it is supposed that no a_{i0} , i = 1, 2, ..., 6, is zero. Assume z > 0. Then clearly $A_1(z)$ is dominant compared with $A_2(z), ..., A_6(z)$. Compared

V. GENERALIZED HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTION AND GEUNCTION

with $A_s(z)$ and $A_s(z)$, $A_s(z)$, $A_s(z)$, and $A_s(z)$ are dominant, and $A_s(z)$ is dominant compared with $A_s(z)$ However, $A_s(z)$ is not dominant compared with $A_1(z)$ and $A_2(z)$. Thus among the functions $A_2(z)$, $A_3(z)$. there are three dominants They are A.(z), A.(z), and A.(z) Qualitatively. we say that A.(z) is an exponential growth, A.(z) and A.(z) are exponentral decays, $A_s(z)$ and $A_s(z)$ are algebraic, and $A_s(z)$ is algebraic and ernnemdal

To get asymptotic expansions for $G_{\theta,\alpha}^{m,n}(z)$ it is only necessary to retain the dominant term or terms in the right-hand sides of the expansion formulas in 593, unless, of course, the coefficients of these dominants vanish. The coefficients depend on the parameters a, and b, and in general do not vanish. We suppose, therefore, that if there is only one dominant function, the coefficient of this function is not zero. If there are two or more dominants, then at least one of them has a nonvanishing coefficient If all the coefficients of the dominant functions vanish, it is necessary to further explore the nature of the above expansion formulas We omit such details

We follow Meyer and give only the dominant term or terms in the asymptotic expansions. However, for the benefit of the reader, we tell from which expansion theorems the results follow so that the complete expansion may be deduced if desired. This is illustrated later when we record the complete asymptotic expansion for the F_a , $p \leq q$ In the theorems which follow, we make free use of the notation introduced in 57 and 592

Theorem 1. Under conditions (A), (B), $1 \le n \le p < q$, $1 \le m \le q$, a > 0, then

$$G_{x,\varepsilon}^{m,\sigma}(z) \sim \sum_{i=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi\theta_i(x+1)] \Delta(t) E_{x,\varepsilon}(x \exp[i\pi(x+1)]|a_i),$$

$$|x| \to \infty, \quad |\arg x| \le p\pi - \delta \quad \delta > 0 \quad (1)$$

This is proved from 5 9 3(1, 2) if $\nu + 1 \le 0$ and from 5 9 3(3, 5) if

 $\rho > 0$ and $r + 1 \ge 0$

Theorem 2 If $1 \le p + 1 \le m \le q$, then

$$G_{p,q}^{\alpha,0}(z) \sim A_{p,q}^{\alpha,0}H_{p,q}(ze^{(a(q-\alpha))})$$
 of $m \leqslant q-1$,
 $|z| \to \infty$, $\delta \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (m-p+1)\pi - \delta$, $\delta > 0$. (2)

$$|z| \rightarrow \omega, \quad o \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (m-p+1)m-o, \quad o > 0, \quad (2)$$

$$G_p^{m,0}(z) \sim A^m \partial H_p \left(z e^{-(a(n-m))} \right) \quad \text{if} \quad m \leqslant q-1$$

$$(x) \rightarrow \infty$$
, $\delta - (m - p + 1) \pi \leqslant \arg x \leqslant -\delta$, $\delta > 0$, (3)

$$G_{p,q}^{m,0}(z) \sim A_{q}^{m,0} H_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi(q-m)}) + \bar{A}_{q}^{m,0} H_{p,q}(ze^{-i\pi(q-m)}),$$
if $m \leq (q-1), z \to +\infty$, that is $\arg z = 0$; (4)

 $G_{p,q}^{q,0}(z) \sim H_{p,q}(z),$

$$|z| \to \infty$$
, $|\arg z| \le (\sigma + \epsilon) \pi - \delta$, $\delta > 0$. (5)

Equations (2)-(4) are proved from 5.9.3(3). Equation (5) is the same as 5.7(12).

Theorem 3. Under conditions (A), $0 \le n \le p \le q-2$, $1 \le \tau \le \frac{1}{2}\sigma$ [or $p+1 \le m+n \le \frac{1}{2}(p+q)$], then

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim AH_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi r}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad \delta \leq \arg z \leq (r+1)\pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0; \quad (6)$$

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim \tilde{A}H_{p,q}(ze^{-i\pi\nu}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty$$
, $\delta - (\tau + 1) \pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant -\delta$, $\delta > 0$; (7)

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim AH_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi \nu}) + \bar{A}H_{p,q}(ze^{-i\pi \nu}) \quad \text{with} \quad 1 \leqslant \tau < \frac{1}{2}\sigma,$$

$$z \to +\infty, \quad \text{that is} \quad \arg z = 0; \tag{8}$$

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim AH_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi\nu}) + \bar{A}H_{p,q}(ze^{-i\pi\nu}) + \sum_{t=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi a_t(\nu+1)] \Delta(t) E_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi(\nu+1)} \| a_t)$$
(9)

with $\rho = 0$, condition (B) and $z \to +\infty$, that is, arg z = 0.

This is proved from 5.9.3(8, 9).

Theorem 4. Under conditions (A), $0 \le n \le p < q$, $1 \le m \le q$, $\rho > 0$, then

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim AH_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi r}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \qquad \delta + \rho\pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (\tau + \epsilon) \pi - \delta, \qquad \delta > 0; \quad (10)$$

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim AH_{p,q}(ze^{-i\pi r}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad \delta - (\tau + \epsilon)\pi < \arg z \leqslant -\rho\pi + \delta, \quad \delta > 0; \quad (11)$$

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim AH_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi v}) + \sum_{t=1}^{n} \exp[-i\pi a_t(v+1)] \Delta(t) E_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi(v+1)} || a_t),$$
 (12)

provided also that condition (B) holds, $|z| \rightarrow \infty$, arg $z = \rho \pi$,

197

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \sim dH_{p,q}(ze^{-i\alpha p}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \exp[i\pi a_i(r+1)] d(t) E_{p,q}(ze^{-i\alpha(p+1)} || a_i),$$
 (13)

provided also that condition (B) holds, $|z| \to \infty$, are $z = -p\pi$

Equations (10) and (12) follow from 5 9 3(3, 4, 5), respectively, while (11) and (13) follow from 5 9 3(3, 6, 7), respectively

Theorem 5. Under conditions $\{A\}$, $0 \le n \le p \le q-2$, $1 \le m \le q$, if $\tau \le 1$, λ is an arbitrary integer, if $\tau \ge 2$, λ is either an arbitrary integer ≥ 0 or an arbitrary integer $\le -\tau$, then

$$G_{\bullet,\bullet}^{n,n}(z) \sim D(\lambda) H_{\bullet,\bullet}(ze^{i\pi(\nu-p\lambda)})$$

$$|z| \rightarrow \infty$$
, $\delta_1 + (\tau + 2\lambda - 1)\pi \le \arg x \le (\tau + 2\lambda + 1)\pi + \delta_0$, (14)

where δ_1 and δ_2 are arbitrary small quantities whose signs are chosen so that the closed interval $\{\delta_1+a,\delta_2+b\}$ is contained in the open interval $\{a,b\}$,

$$G_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}^{m,n}(z) \sim D(\lambda) \, H_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}(z \exp[z\pi(\nu-2\lambda)]) + D(\lambda-1) \, H_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{q}}(z \exp[z\pi(\nu-2\lambda+2)]),$$

$$q > p + 2$$
, $|z| \rightarrow \infty$, $\arg z = (\tau + 2\lambda - 1)\pi$, (15)

$$G_{p,p+2}^{m,n}(z) \sim D_{p,p+2}^{m,n}(\lambda) H_{p,p+2}(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau+2\lambda-2)])$$

$$+ D_{p p+2}^{m n}(\lambda - 1) H_{p p+2}(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau + 2\lambda - 4)])$$

+
$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \exp[-2i\pi(\lambda + i) a_i] T_{p p+p(i)}^{m n}(t, \lambda) E_{p p+p(i)} \exp[-i\pi(\tau - 3)]|a_i\rangle$$
,
(16)

provided condition (C) holds, $|z| \to \infty$, and $z = (\tau + 2\lambda - 1)\pi$

This is proved from 5 9 3(10, 11) Note that the case m = 0 need not be considered in view of 5 2(8). For special values of τ and λ , Theorem 5 reduces to previous statements. These are enumerated as follows

If
$$\tau \ge 1$$
 and $\lambda = 0$, then (14) reduces to (6)

If
$$\tau \geqslant 1$$
 and $\lambda = -\tau$, then (14) reduces to (7)

If
$$\tau > 1$$
 and $\lambda = 0$, then (15) reduces to (6)

If
$$\tau = 1$$
 and $\lambda = 0$, then (15) reduces to (8) with $\tau = 1$

If
$$\tau > 1$$
 and $\lambda = 0$, then (16) reduces to (12) with $q = p + 2$
If $\tau = 1$ and $\lambda = 0$, then (16) reduces to (9) with $q = p + 2$

Theorem 6.1. Under the conditions (A), (C), $p \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p$, $1 \le m \le p+1$, λ an arbitrary integer, then

$$G_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(z) \sim \sum_{t=1}^{p} \exp[-i\pi a_t(2\lambda+1)] T_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(t,\lambda) E_{p,p+1}(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau-2)]||a_t),$$

$$|z| \to \infty$$
, $\delta_1 + (\tau + 2\lambda - \frac{3}{2})\pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (\tau + 2\lambda - \frac{1}{2})\pi + \delta_2$. (17)

This expansion is not valid when $n = \lambda = 0$ and m = p + 1. For n = 0 and m = p + 1, see (2)-(5). The expansion (17) is also valid if

$$\tau \geqslant 2$$
, $-\tau < \lambda < 0$, $(\tau + 2\lambda - \frac{1}{2})\pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (\tau + 2\lambda + \frac{1}{2})\pi + \delta_2$

or

$$\tau \geqslant 2$$
, $1-\tau < \lambda < 1$, $\arg z = (\tau + 2\lambda - \frac{3}{2})\pi$.

REMARK. If $1 \leqslant t \leqslant n$ and $1 - \tau \leqslant \lambda \leqslant 0$, then $T_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(t,\lambda) = \exp[i\pi a_t(\tau + 2\lambda - 1)] \Delta_{p+1}^{m,n}(t)$, and if $n+1 \leqslant t \leqslant p$ and $1 - \tau \leqslant \lambda \leqslant 0$, then $T_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(t,\lambda) = 0$, so that (17) with $n \geqslant 1$, $\tau \geqslant 1$, and $1 - \tau \leqslant \lambda \leqslant 0$ is the same as (1) with q = p + 1.

Theorem 6.2. Under the conditions (A), $p \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p$, $1 \le m \le p + 1$, $\tau \ge 2$, λ an arbitrary integer ≥ 0 or $\le -\tau$,

$$G_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(z) \sim D_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(\lambda) H_{p,p+1}(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau + 2\lambda - 1)]),$$

$$\delta_1 + (\tau + 2\lambda - \frac{1}{2}) \pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (\tau + 2\lambda + \frac{1}{2}) \pi + \delta_2.$$
(18)

This is also valid if $\tau \leq 1$ with λ an arbitrary integer.

Theorem 6.3. Under conditions (A), (C), $p \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p$, $1 \le m \le p + 1$, $\tau \ge 2$, λ an arbitrary integer ≥ 0 or $\le -\tau$,

$$G_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(z) \sim D_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(\lambda) H_{p,p+1}(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau+2\lambda-1)])$$

+
$$\sum_{t=1}^{p} \exp[-i\pi a_{t}(2\lambda+1)] T_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(t,\lambda) E_{p,p+1}(x \exp[-i\pi(\tau-2)]||a_{t}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty$$
, $\arg z = (\tau + 2\lambda - \frac{1}{2})\pi$. (19)

This is also valid if $\tau \leqslant 1$ and λ is an arbitrary integer.

Theorem 64. Under conditions (A), (C), $p \geqslant 1$, $0 \leqslant n \leqslant p$, $1 \leqslant m \leqslant p+1$, $\tau \geqslant 2$, λ an arbitrary integer $\geqslant 1$ or $\leqslant -\tau+1$,

$$G_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(z) \sim D_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(\lambda - 1) H_{p,p+1}(z \exp[-i\pi(r + 2\lambda - 3)])$$

 $+ \sum_{n=1}^{p} \exp[-i\pi a_n(2\lambda + 1)] T_{p,p+1}^{m,n}(\lambda) E_{p,p+1}(z \exp[-i\pi(r - 2)]) a_i),$

$$|z| \rightarrow \infty$$
, $\arg z = (\tau + 2\lambda - \frac{3}{4})\pi$ (20)

This is also valid if $\tau \leqslant 1$ and λ is an arbitrary integer

Equations (17)-(20) are proved from 5 9 3(10, 11)

The following and last theorem of this section concerns the analytic continuation of $G_n^m(z)$ in the general case

Theorem 7. Under conditions (A), (C), $p \ge 1$, $0 \le n \le p$, $0 \le m \le p$, λ an arbitrary integer such that $(r + 2\lambda - 2)\pi < \arg z < (r + 2\lambda)\pi$, then $G_p^m f_p^m(z)$ can be expressed in terms of fundamental solutions valid near $z = \infty$ by the formula

$$G_{p,p}^{m,n}(z) = \sum_{l=0}^{p} T_{p,p}^{m,n}(t,\lambda) G_{p,p}^{p,l}(s \exp[-i\pi(\tau+2\lambda-1)]||a_t|,$$
 (21)

and can be continued analytically outside the unit circle $\{z\} = 1$ by the expansion

$$G_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{p}}^{m,n}(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{\mathfrak{p}} \exp(-2i\pi\lambda a_i) T_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{p}}^{m,n}(i,\lambda) E_{\mathfrak{p},\mathfrak{p}}(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau-1)]||a_i)$$
 (22)

If $\tau = m + n - p \ge 1$ and $1 - \tau \le \lambda \le 0$, and we use the properties of $T_{p,p}^{m,n}(t, \lambda)$ as in the remark following (17), then

$$G_{\pi,p}^{m}(z) \approx \sum_{i=1}^{n} \exp[i\pi a_i(\tau-1)] d^{m,p}(t) E_{\pi,p}(z \exp[-i\pi(\tau-1)]||a_i|)$$

$$|\arg z| < \tau \pi$$
, $\arg z \neq (\tau - 2k)\pi$, $k = 1, 2, , [\tau/2]$ (23)

Observe that if p = q, $-\tau = v = \rho$ and the expansion in (23) is the same as that in (1) with p = q

Theorem 7 follows from 5 9 3(10, 11) It is essentially the same as the Theorem given by 5 7(10) though slightly less general for we have now excluded those values of z for which $\arg z = (\tau - 2k)\pi, k = 1, 2, \ , [\tau/2]$

5.11. Asymptotic Expansions of $_pF_q(z)$ for Large z

5.11.1. PRELIMINARY RESULTS

From 5.2(14), we have

$${}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} - z \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} G_{p,q+1}^{1,p} \left(z \middle| \begin{array}{c} 1 - \alpha_{p} \\ 1 - \rho_{q} \end{array} \right), \tag{1}$$

$${}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix}z = \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})}G_{p,q+1}^{1,p}\left(ze^{i\pi} \middle| \begin{array}{c} 1 - \alpha_{p} \\ 1 - \rho_{q} \end{array}\right),\tag{2}$$

where there are now $(q+1) \rho_h$'s and $\rho_0 = 1$. In 5.11.2 we give not only the dominant terms in the asymptotic expansion for ${}_pF_q(z)$ when p < q, but also the complete asymptotic expansion. These follow from 5.10(6-9) and 5.9.3(8, 9), respectively. In 5.11.3 we present the complete asymptotic expansion for ${}_pF_p(z)$ which follows from 5.9.3(3-7). The dominant terms in this last instance may be found from 5.10(1, 10-13).

In the theorems referenced above, let us put

$$m = 1,$$
 $n = p$ and replace q by $q + 1,$ (3)

$$a_h = 1 - \alpha_h$$
, $h = 1, 2, ..., p$,
 $b_1 = 0$, $b_h = 1 - \rho_{h-1}$, $h = 2, 3, ..., q + 1$. (4)

The parameter σ [see 5.7(1)] is now replaced by

$$\beta = q + 1 - p. \tag{5}$$

We suppose that none of the parameters α_h is a negative integer or zero [condition (A)] and that no two of the α_h 's differ by an integer or zero [condition (B)]. The latter condition can be relaxed. See the remark after (8).

The sum

$$\sum_{t=1}^{p} \exp[-i\pi\beta(1-\alpha_{t})] \Delta^{1,p}_{q+1}(t) E_{p,q+1}(ze^{-i\pi\beta} || 1-\alpha_{t})$$
 (6)

equals the same sum with i replaced by -i. This readily follows from the definition 5.7(7). With the aid of 5.9.2(1), (6) may be expressed formally in the form

$$L_{p,q}(z) = \sum_{t=1}^{p} L_{p,q}^{(t)}(z),$$

$$L_{p,q}^{(t)}(z) = \frac{z^{-\alpha_t} \Gamma(\alpha_t) \Gamma(\alpha_p - \alpha_t)^*}{\Gamma(\rho_q - \alpha_t)} {}_{q+1} F_{p-1} \left(\begin{matrix} \alpha_t & 1 + \alpha_t - \rho_q \\ 1 + \alpha_t - \alpha_t^* \end{matrix} \middle| \frac{(-)^{q-p}}{z} \right), \tag{7}$$

or formally from 5 2(11) or 5 1(27) without the restriction on p, q, and z,

$$L_{p,q}(z) = G_{q+1,p}^{p,1} \left(z^{-1}\right)^{1, \rho_q} {}_{q_-}$$
 (8)

Observe that if two or more of the a_k 's differ by an integer or zero, we can define $L_{p,q}(z)$ by a limit process See the discussion surrounding 5 1(27-30)

Next we consider the sum

$$A^{1} \stackrel{g}{\underset{q+1}{\circ}} \sum \Omega^{1} \stackrel{g}{\underset{q+1}{\circ}} (k) H_{g \stackrel{q+1}{\circ}} (x \exp[i\pi(q-p-2k)]),$$
 (9)

which is equal to the same sum with a replaced by -a in view of 5 9 2(2, 5) and 5 7(13) See also the statement following 5 9 3(3) From 5 9 2(5), and using (4), we have

$$\frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \{1 - x \exp(2i\pi\alpha_i)\}}{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \{1 - x \exp(-2i\pi\alpha_i)\}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{-4+1}^{1} \langle k \rangle x^k, \quad |x \exp(-2i\pi\alpha_i)| < 1, \quad (10)$$

and from 5.9.2(6-12), we easily recover corresponding results for $I^{TP}_{g+1}^{p}(k)$ of (10) Let

$$\xi_0 = 1$$
, $\xi_1 = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \exp(-2i\pi\alpha_j)$, $\xi_2 = \sum_{1 \le j \le k \le p}^{p} \exp[-2i\pi(\alpha_j + \alpha_k)]$, (11)

$$\xi_r \simeq \sum_{1 \le k_1 \le k_r \le k_{r-1} \le k_r}^{p} \exp\left(-2i\pi \sum_{j=1}^{r} \alpha_{k_j}\right), \quad r \geqslant 1,$$

$$\zeta_0 = 1$$
, $\zeta_r = \sum_{1 \le k_1 \le k_2 \le k_{r-1} \le k_r}^{4} \exp \left(-2i\pi \sum_{j=1}^{r} \rho_{k_j}\right)$, $r \geqslant 1$ (12)

Then

196

$$\sum_{r=0}^{6} (-)^{r} \zeta_{r} x^{r} = \left(\sum_{r=0}^{6} (-)^{r} \xi_{r} x^{r} \right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} I^{rk} \sum_{k=1}^{6} (k) x^{k} \right), \quad (13)$$

and so with $I^{1}_{a+1}(0) = 1$,

$$\Gamma^{1}_{\sigma+1}(k) = (-)^{k}(\zeta_{k} - \xi_{k}) + \sum_{r=1}^{k-1} (-)^{r-1} \xi_{r} \Gamma^{1}_{\sigma+1}(k-r), \quad k \ge 1,$$
 (14)

$$\Gamma^{1,p}_{q+1}(1) = \xi_1 - \zeta_1, \quad \Gamma^{1,p}_{q+1}(2) = \zeta_2 - \xi_2 + \xi_1 \Gamma^{1,p}_{q+1}(1),$$
(15)

$$\Gamma_{q+1}^{i,p}(3) = \xi_3 - \xi_3 + \xi_1 \Gamma_{q+1}^{i,p}(2) - \xi_2 \Gamma_{q+1}^{i,p}(1)$$

(18)

From 5.9.2(11, 12), we have

$$\Gamma^{1,p}_{q+1}(k+1) = \frac{1}{k+1} \sum_{r=0}^{k} (S_{r+1} - T_{r+1}) \Gamma^{1,p}_{q+1}(k-r),$$

$$S_r = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \exp(-2i\pi\alpha_j r), \qquad T_r = \sum_{j=1}^{q} \exp(-2i\pi\rho_j r), \qquad r \geqslant 1, \quad (16)$$

$$\Gamma^{1,p}_{q+1}(2) = \sum_{\substack{j,k=1\\j\neq k}}^{p} \exp[-2i\pi(\alpha_j + \alpha_k)] + \sum_{\substack{j,k=1\\j\neq k}}^{q} \exp[-2i\pi(\rho_j + \rho_k)]$$
$$-\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq k}}^{p} \sum_{k=1}^{q} \exp[-2i\pi(\alpha_j + \rho_k)]. \tag{17}$$

We return to (9). Now in our present notation,

$$K_{p,q}(z) = \frac{(2\pi)^{(1-\beta)/2}}{\beta^{1/2}} \left[\exp\{\beta z^{1/\beta}\} \right] z^{\gamma} \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} N_r z^{-r/\beta}, \qquad N_0 = 1,$$

 $A^{1,p}_{\sigma+1}H_{p,\sigma+1}(z\exp[i\pi(q-p-2k)]) = K_{p,\sigma}(z\exp[-i\pi(2k+1)]),$

$$\beta = q + 1 - p$$
, $\beta \gamma = (\beta - 1)/2 + B_1 - C_1$, $B_1 = \sum_{h=1}^{p} \alpha_h$, $C_1 = \sum_{h=1}^{q} \rho_h$. (19)

The N_r 's can be deduced from the developments in 5.11.5. If q = p + 1, see 5.11.5(19). For r = 1, from 5.7(15) and 5.11.5(1), we have

$$N_{1} = C_{2} - B_{2} + (2\beta)^{-1} (B_{1} - C_{1})[\beta(B_{1} + C_{1}) + B_{1} - C_{1} - 2]$$

$$+ (24\beta)^{-1} (\beta - 1)(\beta - 11),$$

$$B_{2} = \sum_{t=2}^{p} \sum_{t=1}^{s-1} \alpha_{s} \alpha_{t}, \qquad C_{2} = \sum_{t=2}^{q} \sum_{t=1}^{s-1} \rho_{s} \rho_{t}.$$

$$(20)$$

For convenience in the applications, we record

$$K_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi}) + K_{p,q}(ze^{-i\pi}) = \frac{2(2\pi)^{(1-\beta)/2}}{\beta^{1/2}} \left[\exp\{\beta z^{1/\beta} \cos \pi/\beta\} \right] z^{\gamma}$$

$$\times \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} N_r z^{-r/\beta} \cos(\pi r/\beta - \pi \gamma - \beta z^{1/\beta} \sin \pi/\beta). \quad (21)$$

It is clear that the substitutions (4) transform (9) into

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\tau-1} \Gamma^{1,p}_{q+1}(k) K_{p,q}(x \exp[-i\pi(2k+1)])$$
 (22)

which is equal to the same sum with a replaced by -a Notice that the expressions

$$A^{1}_{q+1}^{p}H_{p,q+1}(ze^{ix\theta})$$
 and $A^{1}_{q+1}^{p}H_{p,q+1}(ze^{-ix\theta})$

are equal and reduce to $K_{n,o}(z)$ when (4) is used

5 11 2 Asymptotic Expansion of
$${}_{p}F_{q}(z)$$
 for Large $z,\,0\leqslant p\leqslant q-1$

The asymptotic expansions for ${}_pF_q(z)$ are divided into two cases there we consider the case $0\leqslant p\leqslant q-1$, that is, $\beta\geqslant 2$. The case $p=q\geqslant 1$ is treated in 5 11 3. We omit proof, as this has been sufficiently detailed in 5 11 1. See this last section for all necessary notation. Some further representations are given in 5 11.4.

$$_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} = z \rangle \sim \frac{F(\rho_{p})}{F(\alpha_{p})} \sum_{k=0}^{j-1} \Gamma^{1}_{q-2}(k) K_{p-q}(x \exp[-rn(2k+1)]) + \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \Gamma^{1}_{q-2}(k) K_{p-q}(x \exp[en(2x+1)]) + L_{p-q}(x) \\ 0 \leqslant p \leqslant q - 1, \quad (1)$$

where $|z| \to \infty$, r an arbitrary integer such that $0 \le r \le \beta$,

$$|\arg z| \leqslant 2\pi - \delta \qquad \delta > 0$$

$$\delta_1 + (4r - 3\beta - 2)\pi/2 \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (4r - \beta + 2)\pi/2 + \delta_2$$

where δ_1 and δ_2 have the same meaning as in 5 10(14), and $\tilde{\Gamma}^{1}_{g+1}^{p}(k)$ is $\tilde{\Gamma}^{1}_{g+1}(k)$ with ϵ replaced by $-\epsilon$ If we take $r = [(\beta + 1)/2]$, then the restrictions on arg z are

$$\delta - 3\pi/2 \leqslant \arg z \leqslant 2\pi - \delta \quad \text{if} \quad \beta = 3$$

$$|\arg z| \leqslant 2\pi - \delta \quad \text{if} \quad \beta \neq 3, \quad \delta > 0,$$
(2)

while if $r = [\beta/2]$,

$$\delta - 2\pi \leqslant \arg x \leqslant 3\pi/2 - \delta$$
 if $\beta = 3$,
 $|\arg x| \leqslant 2\pi - \delta$ if $\beta \neq 3$, $\delta > 0$

If only the dominant terms are of interest, we get the following results

$${}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} z \end{pmatrix} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} K_{p,q}(z),$$

$$0 \leqslant p \leqslant q - 1, \quad |z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \quad (4)$$

$${}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} - z \end{pmatrix} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \{K_{p,q}(ze^{i\pi}) + K_{p,q}(ze^{-ir})\},$$

$$0 \leqslant p < q - 1, \quad \text{that is,} \quad \beta \geqslant 3;$$

$$z \to +\infty, \quad \text{that is,} \quad \arg z = 0. \quad (5)$$

The case $\beta = 2$ has many important applications. We record the asymptotic expansion for this situation in full:

$${}_{p}F_{p+1}\left(\begin{array}{c}\alpha_{p}\\\rho_{p+1}\end{array}\middle|-z\right)\sim\frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})}\left\{K_{p,p+1}(ze^{i\pi})+K_{p,p+1}(ze^{-i\pi})+L_{p,p+1}(z)\right\},$$

$$|z|\to\infty, \quad |\arg z|\leqslant 2\pi-\delta, \quad \delta>0. \tag{6}$$

To facilitate computations in (5), (6), see 5.11.1(21). For numerous applications it is convenient to replace z by $z^2/4$ and write

$${}_{p}F_{p+1}\left(\frac{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{p+1}} \middle| \frac{-z^{2}}{4}\right) \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \left\{ K_{p,p+1}([\frac{1}{2}ze^{i\tau/2}]^{2}) + K_{p,p+1}([\frac{1}{2}ze^{-i\pi/2}]^{2}) + L_{p,p+1}(z^{2}/4) \right\},$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{7}$$

Also

$${}_{p}F_{p+1}\left(\frac{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{p+1}}\left|\frac{z^{2}}{4}\right) \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})}\left\{K_{p,p+1}(\left[\frac{1}{2}z\right]^{2}\right) + K_{p,p+1}(\left[\frac{1}{2}ze^{i\epsilon\tau}\right]^{2})\right\} + L_{p,p+1}(\left[\frac{1}{2}ze^{i\epsilon\tau}\right]^{2})\right\},$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad \delta - (2+\epsilon) \pi/2 \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (2-\epsilon) \pi/2 - \delta, \quad \epsilon = \pm 1, \quad \delta > 0. \quad (8)$$

The apparent discrepancy in (8) when $|\arg z| < \pi/2$ is a case of Stoke's phenomenon.

Let us write

$$K_{p,p+1}([\frac{1}{2}z]^2) = \frac{e^z z^{2\gamma}}{2^{2\gamma+1}\pi^{1/2}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} d_k z^{-k}, \qquad d_0 = 1,$$

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} + \sum_{h=1}^{p} \alpha_h - \sum_{h=1}^{p+1} \rho_h \right\} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} + B_1 - C_1 \right\}. \tag{9}$$

We record below recursion formulas for the d_k 's in the cases p=0,1, and 2. In this situation observe that

$$d_k = 2^k N_k \tag{10}$$

and N_k is given by 5 11 5(19) for k = 1, 2, 3

CASE 1
$$p = 0$$
 If $\rho_1 = \nu + 1$,

$$d_k = \frac{(i + \nu)_k (i - \nu)_k}{2kk!}$$
(11)

See the comment following \$ 11 3(5)

CASE 2
$$p = 1$$

$$2(k+1) d_{k+1} = [3k^2 + 2k(1+C_1 - 3B_1) + 4N_1] d_k$$

$$- (k-2\gamma - 1)(k-2\gamma + 1 - 2\rho_1)(k-2\gamma + 1 - 2\rho_2) d_{k-1},$$

where B_1 , C_1 , and N_1 are defined by 5 11 1(19, 20) There q=p+1 and $\beta=2$

CASE 3
$$p=2$$
.

$$\begin{split} 2(k+1)\,d_{k+1} &= [5k^2+2k(3+B_1-3C_1-10\gamma)+4V_1]\,d_k \\ &= [4k^2-6k^2(C_1+4\gamma)+2k(2k^2+12\gamma C_1+C_1+4C_2-1)\\ &-32\gamma^2-24\gamma^2-4\gamma(C_1+4C_2-1)+2C_1+4C_1+6C_2-1]\\ &+(k-2\gamma-2)(k-2\gamma-2c_1)(k-2\gamma-2c_2)(k-2\gamma-2c_2)(k-2\gamma-2c_2)d_{k-2\gamma-1} \end{split}$$

where the notation is the same as in (12), 5.11 1(20), and $C_3 = \rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3$ Next we write the complete asymptotic expansion for the case $\beta = 3$ We have

 $_{p}F_{p+2}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{p+2} \end{pmatrix} -z \rangle \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+2})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \{U(z) + V(z) + L_{q-p+2}(z)\} \qquad |z| \to \infty, \quad (14)$

 $U(z) = K_{n \rightarrow r}(ze^{ix}) + K_{n \rightarrow r}(ze^{-ix}),$

[see 5 [1](20)] and either

where

$$V(z) = V_1(z) = \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} (1) K_{\pi/2+2}(ze^{-2i\pi}),$$

or $V(z) = V_{\pi}(z) = \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} (1) K_{\pi, \text{adv}}(\pi e^{2\pi t}), \qquad (15)$

according as $\delta - 3\pi/2 \leqslant \arg z \leqslant 2\pi - \delta$ or $\delta - 2\pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant 3\pi/2 - \delta$, respectively, $\delta > 0$. The apparent discrepancy in (15) when $|\arg z| < 3\pi/2$ is a case of Stoke's phenomenon. It is readily shown that

$$V_{1}(z) = \frac{\left[\sum_{j=1}^{p} \exp(-2i\pi\alpha_{j}) - \sum_{j=1}^{p+2} \exp(-2i\pi\rho_{j})\right]}{(2\pi) 3^{1/2}} \exp\{-3z^{1/3}\} z^{\gamma} e^{-3i\pi\gamma}$$

$$\times \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} (-)^{r} N_{r} z^{-r/3}. \tag{16}$$

When $\beta = 4$,

$${}_{p}F_{p+3}\left(\frac{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{p+3}} \middle| -z\right) \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+3})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \{A(z) + B(z) + L_{p,p+3}(z)\},$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant 2\pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0, \tag{17}$$

where

$$A(z) = K_{p,p+3}(ze^{i\pi}) + K_{p,p+3}(ze^{-i\pi}),$$

[see 5.11.1(21)] and

$$= \frac{\exp\{-4z^{1/4}\cos\pi/4\}z^{\gamma}}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} (-)^{r} N_{r} z^{-r/4} b_{r}(z),$$

$$b_{r}(z) = \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{p} \cos 2\pi\alpha_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{p+3} \cos 2\pi\rho_{j} \right\} \cos((\pi r/4) + 3\pi\gamma + 4z^{1/4} \sin \pi/4)$$

$$-\left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{p} \sin 2\pi\alpha_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{p+3} \cos 2\pi\rho_{j} \right\} \sin((\pi r/4) + 3\pi\gamma + 4z^{1/4} \sin \pi/4). \quad (18)$$

5.11.3. Asymptotic Expansion of ${}_{p}F_{p}(z)$ for Large z

 $B(z) = \Gamma^{1,p}_{p+4}(1) K_{p,p+3}(ze^{-3i\pi}) + \bar{\Gamma}^{1,p}_{p+4}(1) K_{p,p+3}(ze^{3i\pi})$

$${}_{p}F_{p}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{p}\end{pmatrix} - z \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \{K_{p,p}(ze^{-i\pi}) + L_{p,p}(z)\},$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad \delta - \pi/2 \leqslant \arg z \leqslant 3\pi/2 - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{1}$$

$${}_{p}F_{p}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{p}\end{pmatrix} - z \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \{K_{p,p}(ze^{i\pi}) + L_{p,p}(z)\},$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad \delta - 3\pi/2 \leqslant \arg z \leqslant \pi/2 - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{2}$$

We may also write

$${}_{p}F_{p}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{p} \end{pmatrix}z \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \{K_{p,p}(z) + L_{p,p}(ze^{i\epsilon \tau})\}, \qquad |z| \to \infty,$$

$$\delta - (2+\epsilon)\pi/2 \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (2-\epsilon)\pi/2 - \delta, \qquad \epsilon = \pm 1, \qquad \delta > 0. \quad (3)$$

If $| \arg z | < \pi/2$, the apparent discrepancy in (1), (2) and also in (3) is again a case of Stoke's phenomenon

is again a case of Stoke's phenomenon
We now put

$$K_{p,p}(2z) = e^{2z}(2z)^{\gamma} \sum_{k}^{\infty} d_k z^{-k}, \quad d_0 = 1, \quad \gamma = \sum_{k}^{p} (\alpha_k - \rho_k) = B_1 - C_1.$$
 (4)

In the sequel, we give the recursion formulas for d_k for the cases $p \approx 1$ and b = 2

CASE 1
$$p = q = 1$$

$$d_k = \frac{(\rho_1 - \alpha_1)_k (1 - \alpha_1)_k}{2kk!}$$
(5)

Note that if $\rho_1 = 2\alpha_1 = 2\nu + 1$, then (5) and 5 11 2(11) are the same and the d_k^2 's are coefficients associated with the asymptotic expansion of $I_k(z)$ [see 6 2 7(37)]

CASE 2 b = a = 2

$$4(k+1) d_{k+1} = 2[2k^2 - k(2\gamma + B_1 - 1) + N_1] d_k$$

$$-(k-1-\gamma)(k-\rho_1-\gamma)(k-\rho_2-\gamma) d_{k+1}.$$
 (6)

where N_1 is given by 5 II 1(20), with p=q=2 and $\beta=1$ If $\alpha_2=1$, $\rho_1=\alpha_1+\nu+\frac{1}{2}, \rho_2=\alpha_1-\nu+\frac{1}{2}$, then d_k is given by 5 II 2(11)

5114 Further Representations of $_pF_q(z)$ for Large $z,0\leqslant p\leqslant q-1$

We now give some results which follow from the analysis of $p_{+2}F_0(-n,n+\lambda,a_p,b_p,\pi)$ for large n given in 7.4 5 and 7.4 6. This is accomplished using the confluence principle. Thus from 3.5(33-35) and 7.4.5(4),

$$_{p}F_{e}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{e} \end{pmatrix} - z \end{pmatrix} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{p \to 0} F_{e}\begin{pmatrix} -n, n + \lambda & \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{e} \end{pmatrix} \frac{z}{n(n + \lambda)},$$
 (1)

$$_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{q} \\ \sigma_{q} \end{pmatrix} - 2 \rangle \sim \frac{I(\rho_{q})}{I(\sigma_{q})}L_{p}\epsilon(x) + \frac{2(2\pi)^{10}n^{2}I(\epsilon_{q})x^{2}}{I^{2}I^{2}I(\epsilon_{q})}\frac{g^{2}I^{2}I(\epsilon_{q})}{I^{2}I^{2}I(\epsilon_{q})} \times \exp[\beta_{2}^{10}\cos\pi\beta + \lambda_{p}x^{2}I^{2}\cos\pi\beta] + O(x^{-2\beta}) \times \exp[\beta_{2}^{10}\sin\pi\beta] + \eta(x^{-2\beta}) + (\beta_{2}^{-2})^{2}\exp[-i\pi\beta] + (\beta$$

$$\beta = q + 1 - p \ge 3$$
, $|z| \to \infty$, $|\arg z| \le \pi - \delta$, $\delta > 0$ (2)

Here γ and λ_3 are defined in 7.4.5(5) Also, γ is given by 5.11.1(19) and λ_3 is simply N, of 5.11.1(20)

Similarly, from 7.4.5(6), we have

$${}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix}\alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix}z = \lim_{n \to \infty} {}_{p+2}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix}-n, n + \lambda, \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{z}{n(n+\lambda)} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})}L_{p,q}(ze^{\epsilon\pi i})$$

$$+ \frac{(2\pi)^{(1-\beta)/2}\Gamma(\rho_{q})z^{\nu}}{\beta^{1/2}\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \exp\{\beta z^{1/\beta} + \lambda_{3}z^{-1/\beta} + O(z^{-2/\beta})\}$$

$$+ (\beta - 1) \quad \text{exponentially lower order terms,}$$

$$\beta = q + 1 - p \geqslant 3, \quad |z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0,$$

$$\epsilon = +(-) \quad \text{if} \quad \arg z \leqslant (>) 0, \quad (3)$$

and γ and λ_3 are as in (2).

From 7.4.6(2, 4), we get

$${}_{p}F_{p+1}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{p+1} \end{pmatrix} - z \end{pmatrix} \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} L_{p,p+1}(z) + \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1}) z^{\nu}}{\pi^{1/2}\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \exp\{\omega_{2}z^{-1} + O(z^{-2})\} \times \cos\{2z^{1/2} + \pi\gamma - \omega_{1}z^{-1/2} - \omega_{5}z^{-3/2} + O(z^{-5/2})\}, \\ |z| \to \infty, \quad \arg z \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0,$$
(4)

$${}_{p}F_{p+1}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{p+1} \end{pmatrix} z \sim \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} L_{p,p+1}(ze^{\epsilon \pi i}) + \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})z^{\gamma}}{\pi^{1/2}\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \exp\{-\omega_{2}z^{-1} + O(z^{-2})\} \times \cosh\{2z^{1/2} + \omega_{1}z^{-1/2} - \omega_{5}z^{-3/2} + O(z^{-5/2})\}$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0, \quad \epsilon \quad \text{as in (3)}, \quad (5)$$

where γ , ω_1 , ω_2 , and ω_5 are defined in 7.4.7(3). Also, γ and $\omega_1 = N_1$ are given by 5.11.1(19, 20), respectively, with $\beta = 2$.

Since the case p=0 of (5) is of particular interest in connection with Bessel functions, we develop that case further by recourse to the differential equation approach employed in 7.4.1. Thus assume that the differential equation satisfied by ${}_{0}F_{1}(\ ; 1+\nu; -z^{2}/4)$ [see 5.1(1, 2)] has a solution of the form

$$K \exp \left\{ c_0 z + 2c_1 \log z - \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \frac{c_m 2^m}{(m-1)} z^{1-m} \right\}$$
 (6)

where K and c_m are constants. Put (6) into this differential equation. Equate the coefficients of powers of z^{-1} to zero and get the recursion formulas

$$c_0^2 + 1 = 0,$$

$$(2\nu + 1 - m) c_m + 2 \sum_{l=0}^{m+1} c_l c_{m+1-l} = 0.$$
(7)

204

The two roots of the characteristic equation yield two different generally divergent series solutions of the differential equation Compansion of a linear combination of the two possible solutions of the form (6) with the known asymptotic expansion of $f_i(\pi)$ for large π then yields the formula

$$J_s(z) \sim \left(\frac{2}{\pi z}\right)^{1/2} \exp\{A_s(z)\} \cos\left|B_s(z) - \frac{\pi \nu}{2} - \frac{\pi}{4}\right|$$

 $|z| \to \infty \quad |\arg(z)| \le \pi - \delta \quad \delta > 0$ (8)

where

$$A_a(x) = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_{2n+1}}{m} \left(\frac{c_{2n}}{2}\right)^{2n}$$

$$= \frac{(\mu - 1)}{16x^2} \left\{ 1 + \frac{(\mu - 13)}{8x^2} + \frac{(\mu^2 - 53\mu + 412)}{48x^4} + O(x^4) \right\}$$

$$B(x) = \pi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{c_{2n}}{(2m - 1)} \left(\frac{c_{2n}}{2}\right)^{2n}$$

$$= \pi + \frac{(\mu - 1)}{2} \left\{ 1 + \frac{(\mu - 25)}{2x^2x^2} + \frac{(\mu^2 - 114\mu + 1073)}{2x^2x^2} \right\}$$
(9)

 $+\frac{(5\mu^3-1535\mu^2+54703\mu-375733)}{178z^6}+O(z^{-8}), \quad \mu=4\nu^3$

Note that (8) is exact for $\nu = +\frac{1}{2}$ Also

$$A_s(-z) = A_s(z)$$
 $A_{\rightarrow}(z) = A_s(z)$
 $B_s(-z) = -B_s(z)$ $B_{\rightarrow}(z) = B_s(z)$ (10)

Asymptotic expansions for other Bessel functions follow from 6 2 7(5 7 10) Thus $Y_{s}(z) \sim \left(\frac{2}{z}\right)^{1/2} \exp\{A(z)\} \sin\left\{B(z) - \frac{\pi \nu}{2}\right\} = \frac{\pi}{|z|}$

$$H^{D}(z) \sim \left(\frac{2}{nz}\right)^{1/2} \exp\left[A_{n}(z) + i\left[B_{n}(z) - \frac{n\tau}{2} - \frac{\pi}{4}\right]\right]$$

$$C_{n}(z) \sim \left(\frac{2}{nz}\right)^{1/2} \exp[A_{n}(z)] \cos\left[B_{n}(z) - \frac{n\tau}{2} - \frac{\pi}{4} \pm a\right]$$

$$\arg z i \leqslant \pi - \delta \qquad \delta > 0$$
(11)

$$C_r(z) = \int (z) \cos \alpha - 1_r(z) \sin \alpha$$
 (12)

It calls for remark that if x is held fixed in $\{8,11\}$ one needs the additional restriction |v| < |x| in order for the correction terms to remain small

The forms (8), (11) are useful to get zeros of the functions. Inverting the series $B_{\nu}(z) = w$, we have

$$z = \psi_1(v) = w - \frac{(\mu - 1)}{8w} \left\{ 1 + \frac{(7\mu - 31)}{48v^2} + \frac{(83\mu^2 - 982\mu + 3779)}{1920v^4} + O(w^{-6}) \right\}.$$
(13)

Thus, the jth positive zero of $C_{\nu}(z)$ occurs at $\psi_{\nu}[(\pi/4)(4j+2\nu-1)-\alpha]$, which corresponds to the McMahon expansions given in Watson (1945) and Olver (1960).

For a further application of the above results, we have

$$J_{-\nu}(\zeta) + J_{\nu}(\zeta) \sim 2\cos(\pi\nu/2)(2/\pi\zeta)^{1/2}\exp\{A_{\nu}(\zeta)\}\cos\{B_{\nu}(\zeta) - (\pi/4)\},$$

$$J_{-\nu}(\zeta) - J_{\nu}(\zeta) \sim -2\sin(\pi\nu/2)(2/\pi\zeta)^{1/2}\exp\{A_{\nu}(\zeta)\}\sin\{B_{\nu}(\zeta) - (\pi/4)\}, \quad (14)$$

$$|\zeta| \to \infty, \quad |\arg \zeta| \le \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0.$$

Thus the jth positive zeros of the first and second functions in (14) occur at $\psi_{\nu}[(\pi/4)(4j-1)]$ and $\psi_{\nu}[(\pi/4)(4j+1)]$, respectively. If $\nu=\frac{1}{3}$, (14) gives information on the Airy functions $A_i(-z)$ and $B_i(-z)$ [see 6.2.8(4, 5)].

5.11.5. Recursion Formulas for Coefficients in the Exponential Asymptotic Expansions for $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$ and ${}_{p}F_{q}(z)$

Here we develop recursion formulas for the coefficients c_k , M_k , and N_k which enter into the expansions for $pg_q(z)$, $H_{p,q}(z)$, and $K_{p,q}(z)$, respectively, defined by 2.11(28), 5.7(13), and 5.11.1(19), respectively.

It is sufficient to develop the recursion formula for c_k as the coefficients M_k and N_k are simply related to c_k . The relations are

$$\beta^{-k}c_{k}\left(p,q+1\left|\begin{array}{c}\alpha_{p}\\1,\rho_{q}\end{array}\right)=N_{k}=N_{k}\left(p,q\left|\begin{array}{c}\alpha_{p}\\\rho_{q}\end{array}\right),$$

$$M_{k}=M_{k}\left(p,q+1\left|\begin{array}{c}1-\alpha_{p}\\0,1-\rho_{q}\end{array}\right)=(-)^{k}N_{k}\left(p,q\left|\begin{array}{c}\alpha_{p}\\\rho_{q}\end{array}\right).$$
(1)

For the development of the recursion formula for c_k we follow E. M. Wright (1958). First, we notice from 2.11(28) that if

$$F(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} {}_{p}g_{q}(k) z^{k}, \quad p \leq q, |z| < 1 \text{ if } p = q + 1,$$
 (2)

then under the same conditions

$$F(z) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{p} \Gamma(\alpha_{j})}{\prod_{j=0}^{q} \Gamma(\rho_{j})} {}_{p+1}F_{q+1} \left(\frac{1, \alpha_{p}}{\rho_{0}, \rho_{q}} \middle| z \right). \tag{3}$$

Let $K_{p,a}^*(z)$ stand for the formal relation

$$K_{p,q}^{k}(z) = \frac{(2\pi)^{(1-\beta)/2}}{\beta^{1/2}} \left[\exp[\beta(z)^{1/\beta})](z)^{\gamma+(1-\rho_{q})/\beta} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{c_{k}z^{-k/\beta}}{\beta^{k}},$$
 (4)

β and γ as in 5 11 1(19) Then

$$F(z) \sim K_{\bullet, a}^*(z)$$
 $p \leqslant q - 1$, $|z| \rightarrow \infty$, $|\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \delta$, $\delta > 0$

Observe that if $p_0 = 1$, (3) becomes $a p F_q$ and (4) reduces to $K_p p(a)$ Clearly $K_p^* p(a)$ enters the asymptotic expansion of F(a) when p = q If $p \leq q$, $K_p p(a)$ formally satisfies a nonhomogeneous differential equation of order q + 1, see 5 1(12). So upon substituting (4) into this differential equation, we can discover a recursion formula to generate the e_a 's This is the idea used by E. M. Wright

Let

$$T(t) = \prod_{j=0}^{q} \{t + \omega_j\},$$
 $U(t) = \prod_{j=1}^{p} \{t + \lambda_j\},$ $\omega_t = \beta \rho_t - \beta + \beta \gamma + 1 - \rho_0,$ $\lambda_t = \beta \alpha_t + \beta \gamma + 1 - \rho_0,$ (6)

$$\beta \rho_i - \beta + \beta \gamma + 1 - \rho_0$$
, $\lambda_i = \beta \alpha_i + \beta \gamma + 1 - \rho_0$, (b)
 $T_i(-k) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(-)^{i-1}T(r-k)}{r!(r-r)!} = \frac{4^iT(-k)}{s!}$, (7)

where Δ is the forward difference operator with respect to t and in (7), t is replaced by -k after differencing. We also need to define $U_k(-k)$, which is given by (7) with T replaced by U. It may be shown that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d+1} T_{d+1-i}(t-k) c_{k-i} - \sum_{i=1}^{d} U_{p-i}(t-k) c_{k-i} = 0,$$
(8)

where ϵ_k is given by 2 11(29), that is,

$$c_k = c_k \left(p \ q + 1 \ \middle| \begin{array}{c} \alpha_p \\ \rho_0, \rho_q \end{array} \right) \tag{9}$$

In (8), $c_k = 0$ for k < 0 In view of the simple relations

$$T_{s+1}(-k) - U_s(-k) = 0$$
 $T_s(-k) - U_{s-1}(-k) = -\beta k$ (10)

$$\beta k c_k = \sum_{i=1}^{p} T_{q-i}(s-k) c_{k-i} - \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} U_{p-p-1}(s-k) c_{k-i}, \qquad (11)$$

where the second sum is nil if $p \le 1$

If the largest k for which c_k is required is near to q, the coefficients in (11) can be readily evaluated by computing T(t) for t = q - 1, q - 2,..., -k and then differencing these values up to (q - 1) times. If k is large with respect to q, then

$$T_{q-s}(s-k) = \sum_{r=0}^{s+1} \frac{(-)^{s+1-r} (q+1-r)! (k-r)! T_{q+1-r}(0)}{(k-s-1)! (q-s)! (s+1-r)!}$$
(12)

and so we need only to calculate $T_s(0)$ by differencing for s=0,1,...,q+1. The formula analogous to (12) for $U_{p-s-1}(s-k)$ is obvious.

If k is small with respect to q, the above methods for the evaluation of the coefficients of c_r in (11) are not very efficient. In this event E. M. Wright proposes the following. From (6) and 2.9(13), we can write

$$U(t) = \sum_{r=0}^{p} S_r^{(p)}(\lambda) t^{p-r}, \qquad T(t) = \sum_{r=0}^{q+1} S_r^{(q+1)}(\omega) t^{q+1-r}. \tag{13}$$

In particular,

$$S_0^{(p)}(\lambda) = S_0^{(q+1)}(\omega) = 1,$$

$$S_1^{(p)}(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^p \lambda_j = \beta \sum_{j=1}^p \alpha_j + p\{\beta\gamma + 1 - \rho_0\},$$

$$S_1^{(q+1)}(\omega) = \sum_{j=1}^q \omega_j = \beta \sum_{j=1}^q \rho_j + (q+1)\{-\beta + \beta\gamma + 1 - \rho_0\}.$$
(14)

Now

$$T(t-k) = \sum_{r=0}^{q+1} S_r^{(q+1)}(\omega) \sum_{v=0}^{q+1-r} (-)^v k^v \binom{q+1-r}{v} t^{q+1-r-v}$$
 (15)

and so

$$T_{q+1-s}(-k) = \sum_{r=0}^{s} S_r^{(q+1)}(\omega) \sum_{v=0}^{s-r} (-)^v k^v \binom{q+1-r}{v} \binom{q+1-r-v}{q+1-s} B_{s-r-v}^{(s-q-1)}, \tag{16}$$

$$U_{r-s}(-k) = \sum_{r=0}^{s} S_r^{(p)}(\lambda) \sum_{r=0}^{s-r} (-)^r k^r \binom{p-r}{v} \binom{p-r-v}{p-s} B_{s-r-v}^{(s-p)}, \tag{17}$$

where $B_k^{(a)}(x)$ is defined in 2.8.

In certain situations, we can identify the coefficients N_k , for k=1,2,3, with coefficients in 5.11.4(3, 4). For example, if $\exp(\lambda_2 z^{-1/\beta})$ is expanded

in the form $1 + \lambda_2 z^{-1/3} + O(z^{-1/3})$, and the exponential portion of 5 [1 4(3) is compared with 5 [1 2(4) and 5 [1 1(19)], we find that

$$N_1 = \lambda_2$$
 (18)

where I is onen by 7.4.5(5) In a similar fashion from 5.11.4(4) and

where λ_3 is given by 7.4.5(5). In a similar fashion, from 5.11.4(4) and the combination 5.11.2(6) and 5.11.1(21), we deduce that

$$N_1 = \omega_1$$
 $N_2 = \omega_1^2/2$ ω_2 , $N_3 = \omega_1^2/6 - \omega_1\omega_2$ ω_3 , $q = p + 1$, (19)

 $N_1 = \omega_1$ $N_2 = \omega_1 / 2$ ω_2 , $N_3 = \omega_1 / 2$ ω_2 ω_3 , V = P + 1, (1)

where ω_1 and ω_2 are given in 7.4 6(3) Riney (1956) and Van der Corput (1957, 1959) use essentially the functional equation of the gamma function to derive a recursive formula for the c_1 's a horse sophisticated solution to the same problem has been given by Riney (1958) and Norlund (1960). They show that the general case $p \in q$ can be deduced from the p = q case, and that the particular case p = q can be solved by considering the singular solution at z = 1of the differential equation satisfied by

$$\underset{\rho_{\theta},\,\rho_{q}}{\underset{\epsilon \leftarrow z}{F_{q-1}}} \left(\begin{matrix} 1 & \alpha_{\theta} \;,\; \frac{\alpha+1}{\beta} \;,\; \frac{\alpha+2}{\beta} \;,\;\; \frac{\alpha+\beta}{\beta} \; \middle| \; z \end{matrix} \right)$$

A recursion formula for the coefficients in the expansion of $[_{p}g_{q}(z)]^{-1}$ has also been studied by Van der Corput (1957, 1959) and Riney (1959)

Chapter VI IDENTIFICATION OF THE \$F, AND G-FUNCTIONS WITH THE SPECIAL FUNCTIONS OF MATHEMATICAL PHYSICS

6.1. Introduction

In Chapters III-V, we have developed numerous representations for the ${}_pF_q$ and its generalization, the G-function. A vast number of the special functions of mathematical physics are particular cases of this material. For instance, many properties of Bessel functions follow from Chapter IV. To facilitate use of our work in the applications, we identify the more important special functions with the ${}_pF_q$ and $G^{m,n}_{p,q}$ notation.

The exponential function e^z , the Bessel function $J_\nu(z)$, and the sine integral $\mathrm{Si}(z)$ are examples of named functions. Named functions are identified in terms of the ${}_pF_q$ notation in 6.2. Here we also delineate key properties of Bessel functions, Struve functions, and the important special cases of the incomplete gamma function which are useful for the applications and for our rational and Chebyshev approximations to these functions. It often happens that one has a ${}_pF_q$ and wishes to identify it as a named function. These data are set forth in 6.3.

In 6.4, named functions are expressed in terms of the G-function, while in 6.5 the G-function is expressed in terms of named functions.

6.2. Named Special Functions Expressed as pFq's

6.2.1. ELEMENTARY FUNCTIONS

$$e^z = {}_0F_0(z). (1)$$

$$(1+z)^a = {}_1F_0(-a; -z) = {}_2F_1(-a, b; b; -z), |z| < 1.$$
 (2)

$$(1+z)^{2a}+(1-z)^{2a}=2{}_{2}F_{1}(-a,\tfrac{1}{2}-a;\tfrac{1}{2};z^{2}), \qquad |z|<1. \quad (3)$$

$$(1+z)^{2a}-(1-z)^{2a}=4az_{2}F_{1}(\frac{1}{2}-a,1-a;\frac{3}{2};z^{2}), |z|<1. (4)$$

$$\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2}(1-z)^{1/2}]^{1-2\alpha} = {}_{2}F_{1}(\alpha, \alpha - \frac{1}{2}, 2\alpha, z), \quad |z| < 1$$
 (5)

$$(1+z)(1-z)^{-2a-1} = {}_{2}F_{1}(a+1,2a,a,z), |z| < 1$$
 (6)

$$(1+z)(1-z)^{-2a-1} = {}_{2}F_{1}(a+1,2a,a,z), \quad |z| < 1$$

(7)

(8)

(10)

(18)

$$\sum_{i=0}^{m} \frac{(a_2)_i x^k}{(a_i)_i k!} = \frac{(a_2)_m x^m}{(a_i)_m m!} \underbrace{+i F_2}_{i=1} \left(-m, 1 - m - a_2, \frac{1}{x}, \frac{(-)^{p+q+1}}{x} \right)$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (p_k) x^{2k} \qquad (p_k) x^{2k+1} \qquad (p_k) x^{2k$$

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a_j)_k \pi^k}{(a_j)_k H} = \frac{(a_j)_{m+j} x^{m+1}}{(a_j)_{m+1} (m+1)!} \prod_{j=1}^{m+1} F_{j+1} \left(a_j + m + 1, m + 2 \right) x_j^{m+1}$$

$$\sum_{k=m+1} \frac{(\alpha_p)_k \pi}{(\rho_q)_k k!} = \frac{(\alpha_p)_{m+1} \pi}{(\rho_q)_{m+1} (m+1)!} \pi^{+1} F_{q+1} \left(\frac{\alpha_p + m + 1}{\rho_q + m + 1}, m + 2 \right) z$$

$$p \leqslant q \quad \text{or} \quad p = q + 1 \quad \text{and} \quad |x| < 1$$

$$p \leqslant q$$
 or $p = q + 1$ and $|x| < 1$

$$\cos x = {}_{0}F_{4}(\cdot, \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}x^{2})$$

$$\cos z = {}_{0}F_{1}(\ , \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{4}z^{2})$$

$$\sin z = z \cdot F_1(\cdot, \hat{x}, -4z^2)$$

$$\sin x = x_0 F_1(1, \frac{3}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}z^2)$$

$$\cos 2az = {}_{z}F_{1}(-a,a,b,\sin^{2}z) \qquad (\sin z) < 1.$$

$$\cos 2az = {}_{2}F_{1}(-a, a, \frac{1}{2}, \sin^{2} z)$$
 | $\sin z$ | < 1.

$$\sin 2az = 2a \sin z \, _2F_1(\frac{1}{2} + a, \frac{1}{2} - a, \frac{3}{2}, \sin^2 z), \ |\sin z| < 1$$

$$\sin 2az = 2a \sin z \,_2 F_1(\frac{1}{2} + a, \frac{1}{2} - a, \frac{3}{2}, \sin^2 z), \ |\sin z| < 1$$

$$\sin 2ax = 2a \sin x_x F_1(\frac{1}{2} + a, \frac{1}{2} - a, \frac{1}{2}, \sin^2 x), \{\sin x \} < 1$$
 (12)
 $x \csc x = x F_1(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \sin^2 x), \text{ [sin } x \} < 1$ (13)

$$z \csc z = {}_{z}F_{z}(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2},\frac{3}{2},\sin^{2}z), \qquad |\sin z| < 1 \quad (1)$$

$$ln(1+z) = z_2 F_1(1, 1, 2, -z),$$
 (z) < 1 (14)

$$ln[(1+x)/(1-x)] = 2x_2F_2(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}), \qquad |x| < 1 \quad (15)$$

$$\ln[(1+x)/(1-x)] = 2x_2F_1(\frac{1}{2}, 1, \frac{1}{2}, x^2), \qquad |x| < 1$$
 (13)

are sin
$$x = x_2F_3(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{2}{3}, z^2)$$
, $|x| < 1$ (16)
are tan $x = x_2F_3(\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, -z^2)$, $|x| < 1$ (17)
See also 9 5(5-7) Equations (3), (4), (5), (14), (16), (17) are also valid

for
$$z = 1$$
, and (11), (12), (13) are valid for $z = \pi/2$ If $z = 1$ in (3), (4), require $R(a) > 0$
 $aB(a, b) x^{-a}(1-x)^{-b}I_x(a, b) = {}_{2}F_{1} {1, a+b \atop a+1} x$, $|x| < 1$,

$$x^{-a}(1-x)^{-b}I_x(a,b) = {}_{z}F_1\left(\frac{1,a+b}{a+1}\Big|x\right), \quad |s|<1,$$

$$B(a \ b) = \int_{-1}^{1} t^{a-1} (1-t)^{b-1} dt = \Gamma(a) \Gamma(b) / \Gamma(a+b),$$

$$B(a,b) L(a,b) = \int_{a}^{a} t^{a-1}(1-t)^{b-1} dt$$

$$B(a,b)I_x(a,b) = \int_0^x t^{a-1}(1-t)^{b-1}dt$$

 $I_s(a, b)$ is essentially the incomplete beta function

622 THE GAUSSIAN HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTION

See Chanter III

6.2.3. LEGENDRE FUNCTIONS

$$P_{\nu}^{\mu}(z) = [\Gamma(1-\mu)]^{-1}[(z+1)/(z-1)]^{\mu/2} \times {}_{2}F_{1}(-\nu,\nu+1;1-\mu;(1-z)/2), \tag{1}$$

$$Q_{\nu}^{\mu}(z) = \frac{e^{iz\mu_{\pi}1/2}\Gamma(\mu+\nu+1)}{2^{\nu+1}\Gamma(\nu+\frac{3}{2})} z^{-\mu-\nu-1} (z^{2}-1)^{\mu/2} \times {}_{\circ}F_{1}((\mu+\nu+1)/2, (\mu+\nu+2)/2; \nu+\frac{3}{2}; z^{-2}),$$
(2)

where the complex z-plane is cut along the real axis from -1 to 1.

$$P_{\nu}^{\mu}(x) = [\Gamma(1-\mu)]^{-1}[(1+x)/(1-x)]^{\mu/2} \times {}_{2}F_{1}(-\nu,\nu+1;1-\mu;(1-x)/2), \qquad -1 < x < 1.$$
 (3)

$$Q_{\nu}^{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{2}e^{-i-\mu}[e^{-i\pi\mu/2}Q_{\nu}^{\mu}(x+i0) + e^{i\pi\mu/2}Q_{\nu}^{\mu}(x-i0)], \qquad -1 < x < 1. \quad (4)$$

For references on Legendre functions, see Abramowitz and Stegun (1964), Erdélyi et al. (1953, Vol. 1, Chapter 3), Hobson (1955), Robin (1957), and Snow (1952).

6.2.4. ORTHOGONAL POLYNOMIALS

See Chapter VIII.

6.2.5. Complete Elliptic Integrals

$$K(k) = \int_0^{\pi/2} (1 - k^2 \sin^2 \theta)^{-1/2} d\theta = \frac{1}{2} \pi_2 F_1(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; 1; k^2), \quad |k^2| < 1. \quad (1)$$

$$E(k) = \int_0^{r/2} (1 - k^2 \sin^2 \theta)^{1/2} d\theta = \frac{1}{2} \pi_2 F_1(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}; 1; k^2), \quad |k^2| < 1. \quad (2)$$

For references on complete and incomplete elliptic integrals and related topics, see Abramowitz and Stegun (1964), Byrd and Friedman (1954), Cayley (1961), Erdélyi et al. (1953, Vol. 2), Milne-Thomson (1950), Neville (1951), Oberhettinger and Magnus (1949), and Tricomi (1948).

6.2.6. CONFLUENT HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTIONS AND WHITTAKER FUNCTIONS

In addition to the material given here, see Chapter IV, and in particular 4.9.

$${}_{1}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a \\ c \end{pmatrix} {}_{1}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a \\ c \end{pmatrix} -z \rangle = {}_{2}F_{3}\begin{pmatrix} a,c-a \\ c,\frac{1}{2}c,\frac{1}{2}(c+1) \end{pmatrix} \frac{z^{2}}{4}. \tag{1}$$

The so-called Coulomb wave functions are essentially confluent hypergeometric functions. Thus,

$$F_L(\eta, \rho) = C_L(\eta) \rho^{L+1} e^{-i\rho} {}_1F_1 \left(\frac{L+1-i\eta}{2L+2} \middle| 2i\rho \right),$$

 $C_L(\eta) = \frac{2^L e^{-i\eta \eta} | I(L+1+i\eta)|}{O(L+1)i}$
(2)

In view of 4 4(12), $F_L(\eta, \rho)$ is real if ρ , η , and L are real. In the applications L is usually a positive integer of zero

$$F_L(\eta, \rho) + iG_L(\eta, \rho) = \frac{(-)^{L+1}\Gamma(L + 1 - i\eta) e^{\pi i \eta}(2\rho)^{L+1}e^{-t\rho}}{|\Gamma(L + 1 - i\eta)|} \times i!(L + 1 - i\eta, 2L + 2, 2i\eta)$$
(3)

$$F_L(\eta, \rho) + iG_L(\eta, \rho) = \frac{\Gamma(L + 1 - i\eta) e^{\eta_0 t_0 L_0 t}}{|\Gamma(L + 1 - i\eta)|} W_{\eta_0 L_0 t}(2i\rho)$$
 (4)

For further material on Coulomb wave functions, see Abramowitz and Stegun (1964) and Curtis (1964) We have followed the notation of the former

The parabolic cylinder function is defined by

$$D_i(z) = 2^{(\nu-1)\Gamma_0}e^{-z^2/2}x_0^{2}((1-v)|2, 3/2, z^2/2)$$

$$= 2^{(\nu-1)\Gamma_0/2}e^{-1/2}W_{\nu-1/0/2-1/4}(z^2/2)$$

$$= 2^{\nu/2}e^{-z^2/4}\left[\frac{I(1/2)}{I(1-v)|2|}z^2F_1\left(\frac{-v/2}{|1/2|}z^2/2\right) + \frac{z\Gamma(-1/2)}{2^{\nu/2}\Gamma_0-2^{\nu/2}}z^2F_1\left(\frac{1-v/2}{2^{\nu/2}}z^2/2\right)\right]$$

$$+ \frac{z\Gamma(-1/2)}{2^{\nu/2}\Gamma_0-2^{\nu/2}}z^2F_1\left(\frac{1-v/2}{3/2}z^2/2\right)$$
(5)

For further material on (5), see Erdelyi et al. (1953, Vol. 2, Chapter 8) J. C. P. Miller (1955), and Abramowitz and Stegun (1964)

627 BESSEL FUNCTIONS

Definitions, Connecting Relations, and Power Series

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu}}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} {}_{0}F_{1}(\cdot, 1+\nu, -z^{2}/4)$$
 (1)

$$J_s(z) = \frac{(z/2)^s}{\Gamma(v+1)} {}_0F_1(\ ,\ 1+v\ z^2/4) = e^{-i\omega r/2} J_s(ze^{i\pi/2}), \ -\pi < \arg z \leqslant \pi/2$$

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu} e^{\mp iz}}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} {}_{1}F_{1}(\frac{1}{2}+\nu;1+2\nu;\pm 2iz). \tag{3}$$

$$I_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu} e^{\mp z}}{\Gamma(\nu+1)} {}_{1}F_{1}(\frac{1}{2}+\nu;1+2\nu;\pm 2z)$$

$$= [\Gamma(\nu+1) 2^{2\nu}(2z)^{1/2}]^{-1} M_{0,\nu}(2z). \tag{4}$$

$$Y_{\nu}(z) = (\csc \nu \pi) [(\cos \nu \pi) J_{\nu}(z) - J_{-\nu}(z)]. \tag{5}$$

$$\pi Y_n(z) = \left[\frac{\partial J_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} - (-)^n \frac{\partial J_{-\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \right]_{\nu=n}, \qquad (\pi/2) Y_0(z) = \left[\frac{\partial J_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \right]_{\nu=0}. \tag{6}$$

$$C_{\nu}(z) = A I_{\nu}(z) + B Y_{\nu}(z), \tag{7}$$

where A and B are independent of z.

$$K_{\nu}(z) = (\pi/2)(\csc \nu \pi)[I_{-\nu}(z) - I_{\nu}(z)]$$

= $\pi^{1/2}e^{-z}(2z)^{\nu} \psi(\frac{1}{2} + \nu; 1 + 2\nu; 2z) = (\pi/2z)^{1/2} W_{0,\nu}(2z).$ (8)

$$2K_n(z) = (-)^n \left[\frac{\partial I_{-\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} - \frac{\partial I_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \right]_{\nu=n}, \qquad K_0(z) = -\left[\frac{\partial I_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \right]_{\nu=0}. \tag{9}$$

$$H_{\nu}^{(1)}(z) = J_{\nu}(z) + iY_{\nu}(z), \qquad H_{\nu}^{(2)}(z) = J_{\nu}(z) - iY_{\nu}(z).$$
 (10)

$$K_{\nu}(z) = \frac{1}{2}\pi i \epsilon e^{i\epsilon\nu\pi/2} H_{\nu}^{(3-\epsilon)/2}(ze^{i\epsilon\pi/2}),$$

$$-(3+\epsilon)\pi/4 < \arg z \leq (3-\epsilon)\pi/4, \quad \epsilon = \pm 1. \tag{11}$$

$$Y_{\nu}(ze^{im\tau}) = e^{-im\tau}Y_{\nu}(z) + 2i(\sin m\nu\pi)(\cot \nu\pi) J_{\nu}(z), \tag{12}$$

$$K_{\nu}(ze^{im\pi}) = e^{-im\pi}K_{\nu}(z) - \frac{i\pi(\sin m\nu\pi)}{\sin \nu\pi}I_{\nu}(z),$$
 (13)

where m is an integer or zero.

$$Y_{n}(z) = (2/\pi)[\gamma + \ln(z/2)] J_{n}(z)$$

$$-\frac{(z/2)^{-n}}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{(n-k-1)!}{k!} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4}\right)^{k}$$

$$-\frac{(z/2)^{n}}{\pi} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^{k} \frac{[\psi(k+1) + \psi(n+k+1) - 2\psi(1)]}{k! (n+k)!} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4}\right)^{k}. \quad (14)$$

$$K_{n}(z) = (-)^{n+1}[\gamma + \ln(z/2)] I_{n}(z)$$

$$+ (1/2)(z/2)^{-n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-)^{k}(n-k-1)!}{k!} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4}\right)^{k}$$

$$+\frac{(-)^{n}}{2} (z/2)^{n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{[\psi(k+1) + \psi(n+k+1) - 2\psi(1)]}{k! (n+k)!} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4}\right)^{k}. \quad (15)$$

Difference-Differential Formulas

Let $W_s(z)$ represent any of the Bessel functions of the first three kinds or the modified Bessel functions. With each $W_s(z)$ we associate two parameters a and b as outlined in the following tabulation

Π _* (x)	a	ь	
J _s (z) Y _s (z) H' _s (z) H'' _s (z)	1	1	
$I_{s}(x)$	1	1	(16)
K,(z)	1	1	` '

$$a \Pi_{s+1}(z) + b \Pi_{s+1}(z) = (2s/z) \Pi_{s}(z)$$
 (17)

$$-a \Pi_{p_1}(z) + b \Pi_{p_1}(z) = 2 \Pi_p^p(z)$$
 (18)

$$z\Pi_{\nu}(z) + \nu\Pi_{\nu}(z) = bz\Pi_{\nu-1}(z)$$
 (19)

$$z\Pi_{s}(z) - \nu\Pi_{s}(z) = -az\Pi_{s+1}(z)$$
 (20)

$$(z^{-1}d\ dz)^{n}\{z^{-1}i,(z)\} = b^{n}z^{-n}ii_{-n}(z)$$
 (21)

$$(z^{-1}d dz)^{n} \{z^{-1}I_{*}(z)\} = (-a)^{n}z^{-m}I_{*,m}(z)$$
 (22)

$$\iint_{z}^{(m)}(z) = 2^{-m} \sum_{k=0}^{m} (\cdot)^{k} {m \choose k} a^{k} b^{m-k} \iint_{z=m+2k} (z)$$
 (23)

$$[z^2D^2 + zD + (abz^2 - \nu^2)] B_s(z) = 0$$
 $D = d dz$ (24)

If

$$y(z) \Rightarrow z^{-\epsilon} e^{-t/\epsilon} C_{\epsilon}[h(z)]$$

then with y = y(z) h = h(z) and f = f(z),

$$\begin{aligned} z^{k}y' + z(2s + z(2f - (h'/h) + (h/h)))y - ([s(s - 1) + 2sf z + f'z^{k} + (f)^{2}z^{k} - (h'/h)(sz + fz^{k})] \\ + (h/h)(sz + fz^{k}) \\ + (h/h)(sz + fz^{k}) \end{aligned}$$

$$+ (h/h)(sz + fz^{k})$$

$$+ (h/h)(sz + fz^{k}) y = 0 \quad (25)$$

Il ranskiane

We define

$$II\{u(z) \ v(z)\} = u(z) \ v(z) - u(z) \ v(z)$$
 (26)

(36)

Then

$$W\{J_{\nu}(z), J_{-\nu}(z)\} = -(2/\pi z) \sin \nu \pi, \tag{27}$$

$$IV\{J_{\nu}(z), Y_{\nu}(z)\} = 2/\pi z,$$
 (28)

$$W\{H_{\nu}^{(1)}(z), H_{\nu}^{(2)}(z)\} = -4i/\pi z, \tag{29}$$

$$W\{I_{\nu}(z), I_{-\nu}(z)\} = -(2/\pi z) \sin \nu \pi,$$
 (30)

$$W\{I_{\nu}(z), K_{\nu}(z)\} = -1/z. \tag{31}$$

Asymptotic Expansions

$$H_{\nu}^{(1)}(z) \sim (2/\pi z)^{1/2} \exp[i(z - \frac{1}{2}\nu\pi - \frac{1}{4}\pi)] {}_{2}F_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \nu, \frac{1}{2} - \nu; \frac{1}{2iz}\right),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad \delta - \pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant 2\pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{32}$$

$$H_{\nu}^{(2)}(z) \sim (2/\pi z)^{1/2} \exp[-i(z - \frac{1}{2}\nu\pi - \frac{1}{4}\pi)] {}_{2}F_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \nu, \frac{1}{2} - \nu; -\frac{1}{2iz}\right),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad \delta - 2\pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{33}$$

$$J_{\nu}(z) = (2/\pi z)^{1/2} [A(z)\cos\theta + B(z)\sin\theta], \tag{34}$$

$$Y_{\nu}(z) = (2/\pi z)^{1/2} [A(z) \sin \theta - B(z) \cos \theta],$$

$$\theta = z - \frac{1}{2}\nu \pi - \frac{1}{4}\pi,$$
(35)

 $|z| \to \infty$, $|\arg z| \le \pi - \delta$, $\delta > 0$.

$$A(z) \sim {}_{4}F_{1} \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\nu, \frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{2}\nu, \frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\nu, \frac{3}{4} - \frac{1}{2}\nu \right) - \frac{1}{z^{2}} ,$$

$$B(z) \sim \frac{\left(\frac{1}{4} - \nu^{2} \right)}{2z} {}_{4}F_{1} \left(\frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\nu, \frac{3}{4} - \frac{1}{2}\nu, \frac{5}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\nu, \frac{5}{4} - \frac{1}{2}\nu \right) - \frac{1}{z^{2}} ,$$

$$I_{1}(z) \sim \frac{e^{z}}{(2\pi z)^{1/2}} {}_{2}F_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \nu, \frac{1}{2} - \nu; \frac{1}{2z}\right) + \frac{\exp[-z - \epsilon(\frac{1}{2} + \nu) i\pi]}{(2\pi z)^{1/2}} {}_{2}F_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \nu, \frac{1}{2} - \nu; -\frac{1}{2z}\right),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \ \delta - (2 + \epsilon) \pi \leqslant \arg z \leqslant (2 - \epsilon) \pi - \delta,$$

$$\delta > 0, \ \epsilon = \pm 1. \tag{37}$$

$$K_{1}(z) \sim (\pi/2z)^{1/2} e^{-z} {}_{2}F_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2} + \nu, \frac{1}{2} - \nu; -\frac{1}{2z}\right),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leq 3\pi/2 - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{38}$$

Sec 5.11.4(6-14) for some other asymptotic expansions.

If ν is half an odd integer, the hypergeometric series in (32)-(38) terminate so that we may replace asymptotic equality by equality and omit the restrictions on arg z

Products of Bessel Functions

$$J_{n}(z) J_{n}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{n+\nu}}{\Gamma(\mu+1) \Gamma(\nu+1)} {}_{2}F_{2} \left\{ (\mu+\nu+1) 2, (\mu+\nu+2)/2 \right\} - z^{2},$$
(39)

$$J_{\nu}(z) J_{\nu+1}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{n+1}}{\Gamma(\nu+1) \Gamma(\nu+2)} {}_{1}F_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} \nu+3/2 \\ \nu+2, 2\nu+2 \end{array} \right| -z^{2} \right), \tag{40}$$

$$J_{\nu}^{2}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{2\nu}}{[\Gamma(\nu+1)]^{2}} {}_{1}F_{2}(\nu+\frac{1}{2},\nu+1,2\nu+1,-z^{2})$$
(41)

$$f_{\rightarrow}(z) f_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(\sin \nu \pi)}{\nu \pi} {}_{1}F_{2}(\frac{1}{2}, 1 + \nu | 1 - \nu, -z^{2})$$
 (42)

$$J_{s}(z)I_{s}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{2s}}{[I(v+1)]^{2}} {}_{0}F_{3}\left(,\frac{v+1}{2},\frac{v+2}{2},v+1,\frac{-2^{4}}{64}\right)$$
(43)

$$J_{-i}(z) J_{i}(z) = \frac{(\sin n\pi)}{r\pi} {}_{0}F_{2}\left(1 + \frac{1}{2}\nu, 1 - \frac{1}{2}\nu, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{-z^{4}}{64}\right)$$

$$- \frac{2(\sin \nu\pi)(z/2)^{3}}{\nu\pi(1 - \nu^{2})} {}_{0}F_{2}\left(\frac{3 + \nu}{2}, \frac{3 - \nu}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, -\frac{z^{4}}{64}\right)$$
(44)

Miscellaneous

$$\frac{\partial J_s(z)}{\partial r}\Big|_{r=1} \approx (2\pi z)^{1/2} \left\{e^z \operatorname{Et}(-2z) \mp e^{-z} \operatorname{Et}(2z)\right\}$$

$$\frac{\partial J_s(z)}{\partial r}\Big|_{r=1} = (2\pi z)^{1/2} \left[\operatorname{Ct}(2z) \sin z - \operatorname{St}(2z) \cos z\right],$$
(45)

(46)

$$\frac{\partial J_{z}(z)}{\partial z}\Big|_{z=1} = (2/\pi z)^{1/2} [C_{1}(2z)\cos z + S_{1}(2z)\sin z]$$

$$\sum_{i=-1/2} |_{i=-1/2}$$
ber_s(z) + s ber_s(z) = $\int_{I_s} (ze^{2i\pi \cdot t}) = e^{irx} \int_{I_s} (ze^{-i\pi/4})$ (47)

$$\ker_s(z) + i \ker_s(z) = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}i\pi\nu) K_s(ze^{i\nu/4}) = \frac{1}{2}i\pi H_s^{(1)}(ze^{2i\pi/4})$$
 (48)

On the left-hand side of (47), (48), the subscript is omitted when $\nu=0$ Bessel functions of order 1/3 are essentially Airy functions, see 6.2.8 For further material on Bessel functions, see Watson (1945), Erdelyi

et al (1953, Vol 2, Chapter 7), and Abramowitz and Stegun (1964)

6.2.8. AIRY FUNCTIONS

Let

$$\xi = \binom{2}{3} z^{3/2}. \tag{1}$$

$$\operatorname{Ai}(z) = (z^{1/2}/3)\{I_{-1/3}(\xi) - I_{1/3}(\xi)\} = \pi^{-1}(z/3)^{1/2} K_{1/3}(\xi). \tag{2}$$

$$Bi(z) = (z/3)^{1/2} \{ I_{-1/3}(\xi) + I_{1/3}(\xi) \}.$$
 (3)

$$Ai(-z) = (z^{1/2}/3)\{J_{-1/3}(\xi) + J_{1/3}(\xi)\}. \tag{4}$$

$$Bi(-z) = (z/3)^{1/2} \{ J_{-1/3}(\xi) - J_{1/3}(\xi) \}.$$
 (5)

$$Ai'(z) = -(z/3)\{I_{-2/3}(\xi) - I_{2/3}(\xi)\} = -(z/3^{1/2}\pi) K_{2/3}(\xi).$$
 (6)

$$Bi'(z) = 3^{-1/2}z\{I_{-2/3}(\xi) + I_{2/3}(\xi)\}.$$
 (7)

$$Ai'(-z) = -(z/3)\{J_{-2/3}(\xi) - J_{2/3}(\xi)\}.$$
 (8)

$$Bi'(-z) = 3^{-1/2}z\{J_{-2/3}(\xi) + J_{2/3}(\xi)\}.$$
(9)

For a complete development of Airy functions and associated Airy functions, see Luke (1962a).

6.2.9. LOMMEL FUNCTIONS, STRUVE FUNCTIONS, AND ASSOCIATED BESSEL FUNCTIONS

Definitions, Connecting Relations, and Power Series

$$s_{\mu,\nu}(z) = \frac{z^{\nu+1}}{(\mu - \nu + 1)(\mu + \nu + 1)} \times {}_{1}F_{2} \left(\frac{1}{2(\mu - \nu + 3), \frac{1}{2}(\mu + \nu + 3)} \middle| \frac{-z^{2}}{4} \right). \tag{1}$$

$$S_{\mu,\nu}(z) = s_{\mu,\nu}(z) + \{2^{\mu-1}\Gamma[\frac{1}{2}(\mu-\nu+1)]\Gamma[\frac{1}{2}(\mu+\nu+1)]\} \times \{\sin[(\mu-\nu)\pi/2]J_{\nu}(z) - \cos[(\mu-\nu)\pi/2]Y_{\nu}(z)\}.$$
 (2)

$$\mathbf{H}_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu+1}}{\Gamma(3/2) \Gamma(3/2+\nu)} {}_{1}F_{2} \left(\frac{1}{3/2, 3/2+\nu} \middle| \frac{-z^{2}}{4} \right) \\
= \left[\pi 2^{\nu-1} \left(\frac{1}{2} \right)_{\nu} \right]^{-1} s_{\nu,\nu}(z). \tag{3}$$

$$H_{i}(z) - Y_{i}(z) = [\pi 2^{\nu-1}(\frac{1}{2})_{\nu}]^{-1} S_{\nu,i}(z).$$
 (4)

$$L_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu+1}}{\Gamma(3/2) \Gamma(3/2+\nu)} {}_{1}F_{2} \left(\frac{1}{3/2, 3/2+\nu} \middle| \frac{z^{2}}{4} \right)$$

$$= \exp[-\frac{1}{2}(\nu+1) i\pi] H_{\nu}(ze^{i\pi/2}). \tag{5}$$

Equations (1) and (2) are Lommel functions H.(z) is the Strave function and L (2) is the modified Struve function

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \frac{\sin \nu \pi}{\pi} s_{\theta,\nu}(z) - \frac{\nu \sin \nu \pi}{\pi} s_{-1,\nu}(z)$$
 (6)

$$E_{r}(z) = -\frac{(1 + \cos \nu \pi)}{1 + \cos \nu \pi} s_{0,r}(z) - \frac{\nu(1 - \cos \nu \pi)}{1 + \cos \nu \pi} s_{-1,r}(z)$$
 (7)

$$\pi[\mathbf{E}_n(z) + \mathbf{H}_n(z)] = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\Gamma(k+1)(\frac{1}{2}z)^{n-2k-1}}{\Gamma(n+1-k)}$$
(8)

$$\pi(E_{-n}(z) + H_{-n}(z)) = (-)^{n+1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\Gamma(n-k-\frac{1}{2})(\frac{1}{2}z)^{-n+2k+1}}{\Gamma(k-\frac{1}{2}z)}$$
(9)

L(2) and E(2) are known as Anger-Weber functions

Difference-Differential Properties

Both s. (z) and S. (z) satisfy the following difference-differential equations

$$S_{\mu,\bullet}(z) = S_{\mu,\to}(z)$$
 (10)

$$S_{\mu+2,\nu}(z) = z^{\nu+1} - [(\mu+1)^2 - \nu^2] S_{\mu,\nu}(z) \quad (11)$$

$$S'_{\mu,\nu}(z) + (\nu(z) S_{\mu,\nu}(z) = (\mu+\nu-1) S_{\mu+1,\nu-1}(z) \quad (12)$$

$$S'_{-}(z) - (\nu/z) S_{-}(z) = (\mu - \nu - 1) S_{-}(-\mu/z)$$
 (13)

$$(2\nu/z) S_{\nu\nu}(z) = (\mu - \nu - 1) S_{\nu-1\nu+1}(z)$$

$$(2\nu/z) S_{\nu\nu}(z) = (\mu + \nu - 1) S_{\nu-1\nu+1}(z)$$
(15)

$$-(\mu - \nu - 1) S_{\mu-1} {}_{\nu+1}(z)$$
 (14)

$$2S_{\mu\nu}(z) = (\mu + \nu - 1) S_{\mu-1 \mu-1}(z) + (\mu - \nu - 1) S_{\mu-1 \mu-1}(x)$$
(15)

$$[z^2D^2 + zD + (z^2 - v^2)] S_a (z) = z^{a+1}, \quad D = d/dz$$
 (16)

$$H_{r-1}(z) + H_{r+1}(z) = (2\nu/z) H_r(z) + \frac{(z/2)^r}{I(1/2) I(\nu + 3/2)}$$
 (17)

$$H_{r-1}(z) - H_{r+1}(z) = 2H_r(z) - \frac{(z/2)^r}{\Gamma(1/2)\Gamma(z+3/2)}$$
 (18)

$$I_{r-1}(z) = I_{r+1}(z) = 2R_1(z) - \frac{1}{\Gamma(1/2)} \frac{1}{\Gamma(r+3/2)}$$
(10)
$$zH_1(z) + \nu H_2(z) = zH_{-1}(z)$$
(19)

$$zH(z) - vH(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{r+1}}{zH(z)} - zH(z)$$
 (2)

$$zH_{\nu}(z) - vH_{\nu}(z) = \frac{(z/2)^{\nu+1}}{I(3/2)I(\nu + 3/2)} - zH_{\nu+1}(z)$$
 (20)
 $(z^2D^2 + zD + z^2 - v^2)H_{\nu}(z) \approx \frac{A(z/2)^{\nu+1}}{I(1/2)I(I(D+v))}$ (21)

(21)

Asymptotic Expansions

$$S_{\mu,\nu}(z) \sim z^{\mu-1} \, {}_{3}F_{0}(1, (1-\mu+\nu)/2, (1-\mu-\nu)/2; -4/z^{2}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leq \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \quad (22)$$

$$H_{\nu}(z) - Y_{\nu}(z) \sim \frac{(z/2)^{\nu-1}}{\pi(1/2)_{\nu}} {}_{3}F_{0}(1, 1/2, 1/2 - \nu; -4/z^{2}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \delta, \quad \delta > 0.$$
(23)

$$I_{-\nu}(z) - \mathbf{L}_{\nu}(z) \sim \frac{(z/2)^{\nu-1}}{\pi(1/2)_{\nu}} {}_{3}F_{0}(1, 1/2, 1/2 - \nu; 4/z^{2}),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant \pi/2 - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{24}$$

The functions $S_{\mu,\nu}(z)$ and those related to it are often called associated Bessel functions. Two other associated Bessel functions are

$$h_{\mu,\nu}(z) = \frac{e^{-z}z^{\mu+1}}{(\mu-\nu+1)(\mu+\nu+1)} {}_{2}F_{2}\left(\frac{1,\mu+\frac{3}{2}}{\mu-\nu+2,\mu+\nu+2} \middle| 2z\right), \quad (25)$$

$$H_{\mu,\nu}(z) = h_{\mu,\nu}(z) - \frac{\Gamma(\mu-\nu+1)\Gamma(\mu+\nu+1)}{2^{\mu}(\frac{3}{2})_{\mu}}$$

$$\times \left[I_{\nu}(z) + \frac{K_{\nu}(z)\sin(\nu - \mu)\pi}{\pi\cos\mu\pi}\right],\tag{26}$$

which satisfy the differential equation

$$[z^2D^2 + zD - (z^2 + \nu^2)] H_{\mu,\nu}(z) = e^{-z}z^{\mu+1}.$$
 (27)

$$H_{\mu,\nu}(z) \sim -\frac{e^{-z}z^{\mu}}{2\mu+1} \, {}_{3}F_{1} \left(\begin{matrix} 1, \, -\mu+\nu, \, -\mu-\nu \\ \frac{1}{2}-\mu \end{matrix} \right) \left(\begin{matrix} -1 \\ 2z \end{matrix} \right),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leqslant 3\pi/2 - \delta, \quad \delta > 0. \tag{28}$$

Further material on Lommel and Struve functions is given in the references at the end of 6.2.7. Also, for the functions just named, and for a complete treatment of the functions (25), (26), see Luke (1962a).

6.2.10. Integrals of Bessel Functions and Struve Functions

$$\int_{0}^{z} t^{\mu} J_{\nu}(t) dt = \frac{z^{\mu+\nu+1}}{2^{\nu}(\mu+\nu+1) \Gamma(\nu+1)} {}_{1}F_{2}\left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}(\mu+\nu+1)}{\frac{1}{2}(\mu+\nu+3),\nu+1} \middle| \frac{-z^{2}}{4}\right),$$

$$R(\mu+\nu) > -1. \qquad (1)$$

$$\int_{0}^{z} t^{\mu} H_{\nu}^{(1)}(t) dt = (2^{\mu}/\pi) e^{\frac{1}{4}i(\mu-\nu)\pi} \Gamma\left[\frac{1}{2}(\mu-\nu+1)\right] \Gamma\left[\frac{1}{2}(\mu+\nu+1)\right] + (\mu+\nu-1) z H_{\nu}^{(1)}(z) S_{\mu-1,\nu-1}(z) - z H_{\nu-1}^{(1)}(z) S_{\mu,\nu}(z),$$

$$R(\mu\pm\nu) > -1. \quad (2)$$

See 6 2 9(2) for S, (2)

$$\int_{0}^{t} e^{t_{T^{n}}} f_{s}(t) dt \simeq \frac{x^{n+1}(\pi/2)^{n}}{(\mu + \nu + 1) \Gamma(\nu + 1)} s^{\frac{n}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \nu, \mu + \nu + 1 + 1 + \nu + 2 + 1 + \nu + 1 + 1 + \nu + 1 +$$

$$\begin{split} \int_{a}^{t} e^{i(t\mu H_{\mu}^{(0)}(t))} dt &= \frac{2}{\pi} \frac{e^{1i(t-t)\nu}\Gamma(\mu + \nu + 1)\Gamma(\mu - \nu + 1)}{2c()_{t}} \\ &+ \pi e^{i(t\mu}[(\mu - \nu)(\mu + \nu + 1)^{-1}H_{\mu}^{(0)}(z)H_{\mu + \nu}(ze^{-i(x)}) \\ &+ iH^{(0)}(z)H_{\mu}[(ze^{-i(x)}) + (\mu + \nu + 1)^{-1}H_{\mu}^{(0)}(z)H_{\mu + \nu}(ze^{-i(x)}) \end{split}$$

$$R(u+v) > -1$$

See 6 2 9(26) for H. .(z)

$$\int_{0}^{1} t^{2} \mathbf{H}_{s}(t) dt = \frac{z^{s-r+2}}{2^{s} z^{s}(\mu + \nu + 2)(\frac{1}{2})_{s}} \times {}_{2}F_{s}\left(\frac{1}{3/2}, \nu + \frac{3}{3/2} + (\mu + \nu)/2 \left| \frac{-z^{2}}{4} \right|, \left| \frac{1}{4} \right|, \left| \frac{1}{4} \right| + \frac{1}{3/2} \left|$$

With

$$f_{a,v}(x) \approx [I'(\alpha)]^{-1} \int_{0}^{x} (x-t)^{a-1} f_{v}(t) dt, \quad R(\alpha) > 0, \quad R(\nu) > -1, \quad (6)$$

$$f_{x,v}(z) = \frac{2^{n}(z/2)^{n+n}}{P(v+\alpha+1)}$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{3}\left(\frac{(\nu+1)/2}{(\nu+\alpha+1)/2}, \frac{(\nu+2)/2}{(\nu+\alpha+2)/2}\right) - z^{2}/4\right)$$
 (7)

(4)

If ν is a positive integer r, then $j_{+\nu}(z)$ is the rth repeated integral of $j_{+}(z)$. For the development of the above and many other results on integrals of Bessel functions, hypergeometric functions, and related topics, see Luke (1962a)

6211 THE INCOMPLETE GAMMA FUNCTION AND RELATED FUNCTIONS

Incomplete Gamma Functions

$$\gamma(a \ z) = \int_{0}^{1} t^{a} e^{-t} dt = a^{-1}z^{a}_{1}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} a \\ a+1 \end{pmatrix} - z$$

$$= a^{-1}z^{a}e^{-z}_{1}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ a+1 \end{pmatrix} z , \quad R(a) > 0$$

$$\Gamma(a,z) = \int_{z}^{\infty e^{i\delta}} t^{a-1}e^{-t} dt = \Gamma(a) - \gamma(a,z) = e^{-z}\psi(1-a;1-a;z)$$
$$= z^{a}e^{-z}\psi(1;a+1;z),$$

$$\delta$$
 real; $|\delta| < \pi/2$, $R(a) > 0$; $|\delta| = \pi/2$, $0 < R(a) < 1$. (2)

Here the path of integration lies in the branch of the cut plane determined by $|\arg z| < \pi$ and is the ray $\eta \exp(i\delta)$, $\eta \to \infty$, except for an initial finite path. If $z \neq 0$, the integral in (2) exists without the restriction on a. If $a \to 0$, we get the exponential integral [see (8)] and in this event, we exclude the origin in the path of integration.

$$\Gamma(a, z) \sim z^{a-1} e^{-z} {}_{2}F_{0}(1, 1; -1/z),$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \leq 3\pi/2 - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$
(3)

$$Ci(\alpha, z) + i Si(\alpha, z) = \int_0^z t^{-\alpha} e^{it} dt = e^{i\pi(1-\alpha)/2} \gamma (1 - \alpha, z e^{-i\pi/2}),$$

$$R(\alpha) < 1.$$
(4)

$$\int_{0}^{z} t^{-\alpha} \cos t \, dt = \frac{z^{1-\alpha}}{(1-\alpha)} {}_{1}F_{2} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{2}(1-\alpha)}{\frac{1}{2}(3-\alpha), \frac{1}{2}} \right| \frac{-z^{2}}{4} \right), \qquad R(\alpha) < 1. \quad (5)$$

$$\int_0^z t^{-\alpha} \sin t \, dt = \frac{z^{2-\alpha}}{(2-\alpha)} \, {}_1F_2\left(\frac{1}{2}(2-\alpha), \frac{3}{2}\right) \frac{-z^2}{4}, \qquad R(\alpha) < 2. \quad (6)$$

The incomplete gamma functions are special cases of confluent hypergeometric functions. They may also be viewed as a special case of an integral involving Bessel functions. For instance

$$\gamma(a,z) = (2/\pi)^{1/2} \int_0^z t^{a-1/2} K_{1/2}(t) dt, \qquad R(a) > 0.$$
 (7)

For further material on the functions of this section, see Abramowitz and Stegun (1964), Erdélyi et al. (1953, Vol. 2, Chapter 9), Luke (1962a), and Nielsen (1965).

The Exponential Integral

$$E_1(z) = -\text{Ei}(-z) = \int_{z}^{\infty e^{t\delta}} t^{-1}e^{-t} dt = \Gamma(0, z) = e^{-z}\psi(1; 1; z). \tag{8}$$

For the path of integration and other remarks, see (2) and the comments following it.

Ei(x) =
$$-\text{ P.V.} \int_{-x}^{\infty} t^{-1}e^{-t} dt$$

= $\text{ P.V.} \int_{-x}^{x} t^{-1}e^{t} dt = -\Gamma(0, -x) = e^{x}\psi(1; 1; -x), \quad x > 0.$ (9)

$$E_l(z) = E_l(-ze^{\pm i\pi}) \mp i\pi \qquad (10)$$

$$E_{i}(\pm 2\pi) = e^{\pm i (\pi \pi/2)^{1/2}} \left[\frac{\partial I_{i}(z)}{\partial z} \right] + \frac{\partial I_{i}(z)}{\partial z}$$
(11)

$$\int_{-1}^{1} t^{-1}(1-e^{-t}) dt = \lim_{n \to 0} \{a^{-1}x^n - \gamma(a, z)\}$$
(12)

$$= \lim_{n \to 0} a^{-1} \left\{ 1 - e^{-x} {}_1F_1 \left(\frac{1}{1+a} \left| z \right) \right\} \right. \tag{13}$$

$$= \lim_{z \to 1} \sigma^{-1} \left\{ 1 - {}_{1}F_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} a \\ 1 + \sigma \end{array} \right) - z \right\}$$
(14)

$$\int_{0}^{t} t^{-1}(1-e^{-t}) dt = e^{-t} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{[\psi(n+1) - \psi(1)] z^{n}}{n!}$$
(15)

$$\int_{1}^{1} t^{-1}(1 - e^{-t}) dt = z {}_{2}F_{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right) - z\right)$$
(16)

$$E_1(z) + (\gamma + \ln z) = \int_{-1}^{z} t^{-1} (1 - \varepsilon^{-1}) dt$$
 (1)

$$E_t(z) - (y + \ln z) \approx \int_{-\infty}^{z} t^{-1}(e^t - 1) dt$$
 (18)

Cosine and Sine Integrals

$$C_1(z) + i(\pi/2 - S_1(z)) \approx -\Gamma(0, ze^{i\pi/2}) = \int_{-1}^{z} t^{-1}e^{-it} dt$$
 (19)

$$C_1(z) - (\gamma + \ln z) = -\int_{-1}^{z} t^{-1}(1 - \cos t) dt$$

= $-(z^2/4) {}_2F_3\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, -z^2/4\right)$

$$\int_{0}^{t} t^{-1}(1-\cos t) dt = \lim_{n \to \infty} a^{-1}\{1-{}_{2}F_{n}(a|2,a|2+1,1|2,-x^{2}|4)\}$$
 (21)

(20)

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} (2a)^{-1} \{1 - {}_{1}F_{2}(a, 1, 1/2, -z^{2}/4)\}$$
 (22)

$$= \lim_{\alpha \to 0} \alpha^{-1} \left\{ 1 - \cos z_1 F_2 \left((\alpha + 1)/2, (\alpha + 2)/2 \right) - z^2/4 \right\}$$

$$-\frac{z\sin z}{(1+a)} {}_{1}F_{2}\left(\frac{1}{(a+2)/2,(a+3)/2} -z^{2}/4\right)$$
(23)

$$\int_{0}^{z} t^{-1} \sin t \, dt = \lim_{a \to 0} \left\{ \sin z \, {}_{1}F_{2} \left((a+1)/2, (a+2)/2 \, \middle| \, -z^{2}/4 \right) - \frac{z \cos z}{1+a} \, {}_{1}F_{2} \left((a+2)/2, (a+3)/2 \, \middle| \, -z^{2}/4 \right) \right\}.$$
(24)

$$\operatorname{si}(z) + \pi/2 = \operatorname{Si}(z) = \int_0^z t^{-1} \sin t \, dt = z \, {}_1F_2 \left(\frac{1/2}{3/2, \, 3/2} \right) - z^2/4 \right).$$
 (25)

$$\operatorname{Ci}(2z) = (\pi z/2)^{1/2} \left[\frac{\partial J_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \Big|_{\nu=1/2} \sin z + \frac{\partial J_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \Big|_{\nu=-1/2} \cos z \right].$$
(26)

$$\operatorname{Si}(2z) = (\pi z/2)^{1/2} \left[-\frac{\partial J_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \Big|_{\nu=1/2} \cos z + \frac{\partial J_{\nu}(z)}{\partial \nu} \Big|_{\nu=-1/2} \sin z \right]. \tag{27}$$

Ci(z) +
$$i \operatorname{si}(z) \sim -z^{-1}e^{iz}\{z^{-1}{}_{3}F_{0}(3/2, 1, 1; -4/z^{2}) + i {}_{3}F_{0}(1/2, 1, 1; -4/z^{2})\},$$

$$|z| \to \infty, \quad |\arg z| \le \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0. \quad (28)$$

Error Functions

$$\operatorname{Erf}(z) = \int_0^z e^{-t^2} dt = \frac{1}{2} \gamma(\frac{1}{2}, z^2) = z \, {}_1F_1(\frac{1}{2}; \frac{3}{2}; -z^2) = z e^{-z^2} \, {}_1F_1(1; \frac{3}{2}; z^2). \tag{29}$$

$$\operatorname{Erfc}(z) = \int_{z}^{\infty} e^{-t^{2}} dt = \frac{1}{2} \pi^{1/2} - \operatorname{Erf}(z) = \frac{1}{2} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}, z^{2}) = \frac{1}{2} e^{-z^{2}} \psi(\frac{1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; z^{2}).$$
 (30)

The notation $\operatorname{erf}(z) = (2/\pi^{1/2}) \operatorname{Erf}(z)$ is often used.

$$\operatorname{Erfi}(z) = -i \operatorname{Erf}(iz) = \int_0^z e^{t^2} dt.$$
 (31)

$$\operatorname{Erfc}(z) \sim (e^{-z^2}/2z) {}_{2}F_{0}(1, 1/2; -1/z^2) |z| \to \infty, | \arg z| \leq 3\pi/4 - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0.$$
 (32)

Erfi(z)
$$\sim (e^{z^2}/2z) {}_2F_0(1, 1/2; 1/z^2) - (i\pi^{1/2}\epsilon/2),$$

 $|z| \to \infty, -(3+2\epsilon) \pi/4 < \arg z < (3-2\epsilon) \pi/4, \epsilon = \pm 1.$ (33)

$$i^0 \operatorname{erfc}(z) = 2\pi^{-1/2} \operatorname{Erfc}(z), \qquad i^n \operatorname{erfc}(z) = \int_{z}^{\infty} i^{n-1} \operatorname{erfc}(t) dt.$$
 (34)

$$i^{n} \operatorname{erfc}(z) = \frac{e^{-z^{2}}}{2^{n}\Gamma(n/2+1)} {}_{1}F_{1} \left({n+1/2 \choose 1/2} \middle| z^{2} \right) - \frac{ze^{-z^{2}}}{2^{n-1}\Gamma[(n+1)/2]} {}_{1}F_{1} \left({n/2+1 \choose 3/2} \middle| z^{2} \right).$$
(35)

$$|z^{*} \operatorname{cric}(z) \sim \frac{2e^{-z^{*}}}{n^{2}} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} F_{0}((n+1)/2 n/2 + 1 - 1/2^{2})$$

$$|z| \mapsto \infty \qquad |z \in \mathbb{R} | |z| \le 3n/4 - \epsilon \qquad > 0 \qquad (36)$$

$$|z^{*} \operatorname{cric}(z)| = \frac{e^{-z^{*}}}{2^{*}} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} (1 + O(n^{-1})] \qquad z \text{ bounded} \qquad n \to \infty \qquad (37)$$

$$|z^{*} \operatorname{cric}(z)| + (z|n)z^{*} + \operatorname{cric}(z) - (2n) \frac{1}{2}z^{*} \operatorname{cric}(z) = 0 \qquad (38)$$

$$Frence Integrals$$

$$C(z) + iS(z) - (2n)^{-1} \int_{0}^{1} z^{*} \int_{0}^{1}$$

(42) $C(z) + \iota S(z) \sim (1 + \iota) 2 - (2\pi z)^{-1.5} e^{\iota \iota} \{(2z)^{-1.5} F_0(1 - 3/4 - 4/z^2)\}$

$$_{2}F_{0}(1 \ 1/4 \ 3/4 \ -4/z^{2})) \ |z| \rightarrow \infty \ |\arg z| < \pi \ (43$$

+ 1 gF	$\{(1 \ 1/4 \ 3/4 \ -4/z^2)\} \ z \to \infty \ \arg z < \pi $ (43)		
63 The Fe Expressed as a Named Function			
Funct on	Location		
$_{0}F_{0}(z)=e^{a}$			
$F_t(a z) = (1+z)^n$			
द < 1 √ (1 + ⊳ द³4)			
	621(910) 627(12) 628		
₁ F ₁ (a c z)	Chapter I' 6 2 6(1 2 5) 6 2 7(3 4) 6 2 11(1 13 14 29 35) 8 1(33)		
"F (sbc ≥)	Chapter III 621 (3 8 11 18) 623 625 8 1(25)		
P.(a b z)	47(1) 627(32 33 37 38) 62.11(3 32 33 36)		
$F_{a}\begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix}$	627(40-42) 629(1 3 5) 6210(1) 6211(5 6 21 25 39 40)		
$_{a}F_{a}\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}z$	6 2.9(25) 6 2 10(3) 6 2 11(16)		
to h cl s			

3 13 3

(4)

Function	Location
$_{3}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a, b, c \\ d \end{pmatrix} z$	6.2.9(28)
$_{3}F_{0}(a,b,c;z)$	6.2.9(22-24), 6.2.11(28, 41)
$_{0}F_{3}(;a,b,c\mid z)$	6.2.7(43, 44)
$_{2}F_{3}\begin{pmatrix} a,b\\c,d,e \end{pmatrix}z$	6.2.6(1), 6.2.7(39), 6.2.10(5, 7), 6.2.11(20), 10.4(29, 30)
$_{4}F_{3}\begin{pmatrix} a, b, c, d \\ c, f, g \end{pmatrix} z$	3.13.3(34, 46–49, 56, 57)
$_{4}F_{1}\left(\left \begin{array}{c} a,b,c,d\\ e \end{array} \right z \right)$	6.2.7(36), 16.1(29)

6.4. Named Functions Expressed in Terms of the G-Function

$${}_{p}F_{q} \binom{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{q}} | z) = \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} G_{p,q+1}^{1,p} \left(-z \left| \begin{array}{c} 1 - \alpha_{p} \\ 0, 1 - \rho_{q} \end{array} \right), \\ p \leqslant q \text{ or } p = q+1 \text{ and } |z| < 1. \end{array} \right)$$

$${}_{p}F_{q} \binom{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{q}} | z) = \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} G_{q+1,p}^{p,1} \left(-z^{-1} \left| \begin{array}{c} 1, \rho_{q} \\ \alpha_{p} \end{array} \right), \\ p \leqslant q \text{ or } p = q+1 \text{ and } |z| < 1. \end{array} \right)$$

$${}_{z}^{a}e^{z/2}M_{k,m}(z)$$

$$= z^{1/2}\Gamma(2m+1) \Gamma(k+\frac{1}{2}-m) G_{1,2}^{1,0} \left(z \left| \begin{array}{c} a+\frac{1}{2}+k \\ a+m,a-m \end{array} \right)$$

$$= \frac{(2\pi z)^{1/2} \Gamma(2m+1) \Gamma(k+\frac{1}{2}-m)}{2^{k-a}}$$

$$\times G_{2,4}^{2,0} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4} \left| \begin{array}{c} \frac{a+m}{2} + \frac{k}{2}, \frac{a}{2} + \frac{3}{4} + \frac{k}{2} \\ \frac{a+m}{2}, \frac{a+m+1}{2}, \frac{a-m}{2}, \frac{a-m+1}{2} \end{array} \right).$$

$$\times G_{2,4}^{2,0} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4} \left| \begin{array}{c} \frac{a+m}{2}, \frac{a+m+1}{2} - k \\ \frac{a+m}{2}, \frac{a+m+1}{2} - k \\ \frac{a+m}{\Gamma(k+\frac{1}{2}+m)} G_{1,2}^{1,1} \left(z \left| \begin{array}{c} a+\frac{1}{2}-k \\ a+m,a-m \end{array} \right) \right) \right).$$

$$= \frac{(z/2\pi)^{1/2} 2^{k+a} \Gamma(2m+1)}{\Gamma(k+\frac{1}{2}+m)} G_{1,2}^{1,1} \left(z \left| \begin{array}{c} a+\frac{1}{2}-k \\ a+m,a-m \end{array} \right)$$

 $\times G_{2,4}^{2,2}\left\{\begin{array}{c} z^2 \\ \hline 4 \end{array} \middle| \begin{array}{c} \frac{a}{2} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{k}{2}, \frac{a}{2} + \frac{3}{4} - \frac{k}{2} \\ \frac{a+m}{2}, \frac{a+m+1}{2}, \frac{a-m}{2}, \frac{a-m+1}{2} \end{array}\right\}.$

Zaz 12 VV . _(2) $= [\Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k + m) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k - m)]^{-1} G_{1}^{2} \left(x \middle|_{\alpha + \frac{1}{2} + m, \alpha + \frac{1}{2} - m} \right)$

$$= \frac{a^{1/3}2^{-2}}{(2\pi)^{3/2} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k + m) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k - m)} \times C_{3}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{a^{2}}{4} \left[\frac{a+m}{2}, \frac{a+\frac{1}{2} + \frac{k}{2} + \frac{3}{4} + \frac{k}{2}}{2}, \frac{a-m+1}{2}, \frac{a-m}{2}, \frac{a-m+1}{2} \right] \right). \tag{5}$$

20e-111 V. ...(2)

$$= z^{1/2} G_{12}^{20} \left(z \left| \begin{array}{c} a + \frac{1}{2} - k \\ a + m, a - m \end{array} \right. \right)$$

 $= (x/2\pi)^{1/2} 2^{a+k}$

$$\times G_{24}^{40} \left(\begin{array}{c} z^{2} \\ 4 \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} a + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{k}{2}, a + \frac{3}{4} - \frac{k}{2} \\ a + m, a + m + 1, a - m, a - m + 1 \end{array} \right)$$
 (6)

$$z^{\mu}J_{\nu}(z) = 2^{\mu} G_{0,2}^{1,0} \left(\frac{z^2}{4}\right] \frac{\mu + \nu}{2}, \frac{\mu - \nu}{2}$$
 (7)

$$z^{\mu}J_{\nu}(z) = 2^{2\mu} G_0^{\lambda \nu} \left(\frac{z^4}{256} \right) \frac{\mu + \nu}{4}, \frac{\mu + \nu + 2}{4}, \frac{\mu - \nu}{4}, \frac{\mu - \nu + 2}{4} \right)$$
 (8)

$$\pi^{1/2}e^{-\tau}(2z)^{\mu}I_{\tau}(z) = G_{12}^{12}\left(2\pi \left(\frac{1}{\mu} + \mu - \nu\right)\right)$$
 (9)

$$z^{\nu}Y_{\nu}(z) = (-)^{n} 2^{\nu} G_{12}^{*0} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4} \middle| \frac{\mu - \nu - 1}{\mu + \nu}, \frac{\mu - \nu}{2}, \frac{\mu - \nu - 1}{2} - m \right),$$

$$m = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \quad (10)$$

$$\pi^{\mu}K_{\mu}(x) = 2^{\mu-1} G_{0,2}^{2,0}\left(\frac{x^{2}}{4} \middle| \frac{\mu + \nu}{2}, \frac{\mu - \nu}{2}\right) \tag{11}$$

$$e^{-z}(2z)^{\mu}K_{\nu}(z) = \pi^{1/z}G_{12}^{z}\left(2z\right)_{\mu+\nu_{1}\mu-\nu}^{\frac{1}{2}+\mu}$$
 (12)

$$e^{z}(2z)^{\mu}K_{\nu}(z) = \pi^{-1/2}\cos\nu\pi G_{1\frac{\nu}{2}}^{2\frac{\nu}{2}}(2z\left|\frac{1}{\mu+\nu},\mu-\nu\right|)$$
 (13)

$$(z/2)^{\omega} s_{\mu,\nu}(z) = 2^{\mu-1} \Gamma[(\mu+\nu+1)/2] \Gamma[(\mu-\nu+1)/2] \times G_{1,3}^{1,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \middle| \frac{\mu+\omega+1}{2}, \frac{\omega+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\nu}{2} \right).$$
(14)

$$(z/2)^{\omega} \mathbf{H}_{\nu}(z) = G_{1,3}^{1,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \middle| \frac{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}}{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}, \frac{\omega + \nu}{2}, \frac{\omega - \nu}{2}} \right). \quad (15)$$

$$(z/2)^{\omega} S_{\mu,\nu}(z) = \frac{2^{\mu-1}}{\Gamma[(1-\mu+\nu)/2] \Gamma[(1-\mu-\nu)/2]} \times G_{1,3}^{3,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \middle| \frac{\frac{\mu+\omega+1}{2}}{\frac{\mu+\omega+1}{2}}, \frac{\omega+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\nu}{2} \right). \quad (16)$$

$$(z/2)^{\omega}[\mathbf{H}_{\nu}(z) - Y_{\nu}(z)] = \frac{\cos\nu\pi}{\pi^2} G_{1,3}^{3,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \middle| \frac{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}}{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}, \frac{\omega + \nu}{2}, \frac{\omega - \nu}{2}\right).$$
(17)

$$(z/2)^{\omega}[I_{\nu}(z) - L_{\nu}(z)] = \pi^{-1} G_{1,3}^{2,1} \left(\frac{z^{2}}{4} \left| \frac{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}}{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}}, \frac{\omega + \nu}{2}, \frac{\omega - \nu}{2} \right) \right).$$
(18)

$$(z/2)^{\omega}[I_{-1}(z) - \mathbf{L}_{\nu}(z)] = \pi^{-1}\cos\nu\pi G_{1,3}^{2,1}\left(\frac{z^2}{4} \middle| \frac{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}}{\frac{\nu + \omega + 1}{2}, \frac{\omega - \nu}{2}, \frac{\omega + \nu}{2}\right).$$
(19)

$$\operatorname{Ci}(z) + i\operatorname{si}(z) = -\frac{z^{-1}e^{iz}}{\pi^{1/2}} \left\{ 2z^{-1} G_{1,3}^{3,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \Big|_{\frac{3}{3}, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{3}} \right) + i G_{1,3}^{3,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \Big|_{\frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{3}} \right) \right\}.$$
 (20)

$$C(z) + iS(z) = \frac{1}{2}(1+i) - \frac{(2\pi z)^{-1/2}}{2^{1/2}\pi} \left\{ \left(\frac{2}{z}\right) G_{1,3}^{3,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \Big|_{\frac{3}{4},\frac{5}{4},1}\right) + i G_{1,3}^{3,1} \left(\frac{z^2}{4} \Big|_{\frac{1}{4},\frac{3}{4},1}\right) \right\}.$$

$$(21)$$

If IDENTIFICATION OF THE
$$\mathcal{F}_e$$
 AND GRUNCTIONS
$$z^a V_{\theta - m}(z) V_{\theta - m}(-z)$$

$$= \frac{2^a v_{\theta - m}^2 I[T(2m + 1)]}{I[1 + k + m) I[1 + k + m]}$$

$$= \frac{2^{a} m^{2} [I(2m+1)]}{I(\frac{1}{2} + k + m) I(\frac{1}{2} - k + m)} \times G^{\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 2^{\frac{1}{2}} & 2 + 1 \\ 2 & 2 + 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\times G_{21}^{12} \left(\frac{2^{1}}{4} \middle| \frac{a+1}{2} + n + \frac{a+1}{2} - n + \frac{a+1}{2} \right)$$

$$m(2) B_{12} m(2)$$

(22)

(23)

(24)

(25)

$$z^{a} M_{k m}(z) \iint_{z m}(z)$$

= $\frac{2^{a} \Gamma(2m+1)}{\pi^{1} {}^{2} \Gamma(4+k+m)}$

$$\begin{array}{c|c} x \cdot (cm+1) \\ \times G_{24}^{21} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} a \\ \frac{1}{4} \end{array} \right\} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} a$$

$$-\frac{2^a}{\pi^{1\,1}}\,G_{4}^{4\,0}\left(\frac{z^2}{4}\left|\frac{z}{2}+1+k\,\frac{a}{2}+1-k\,\frac{a+1}{2}+\frac{a+1}{2}+\frac{a+1}{2}\right.\right.$$

$$\frac{2^{a}}{\pi^{1} i \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k + m) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2} - k - m)}$$

$$n^{1} {}^{2}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-k+m)$$

$$\pi^{1} {}^{2}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-k+m)$$

$$\frac{2^{+1}}{7} + m \frac{a+1}{2}$$

$$\left(\frac{1}{2} + m \frac{u+1}{2} \right)$$

$$J_{s}(z)$$

$$\times G_{11}^{4} \left(\frac{z^{4}}{4} \middle| \frac{z^{4} + 1 + k \frac{a}{2} + 1 - k}{2 + 1 + m \frac{a+1}{2} - m \frac{a}{2} + 1 \frac{a+1}{2}} \right)$$

$$z^{a} J_{a}(z) J_{b}(z)$$

$$\frac{\omega+1}{2}\frac{\omega}{2}$$

$$\frac{\omega+1}{2}\frac{\omega}{2}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} z^{\dagger} \\ z^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\omega + \mu + \nu} \frac{\omega + \mu + \nu}{2} \xrightarrow{\omega + \mu + \nu} \frac{\omega + \mu + \nu}{2} \xrightarrow{\omega + \mu} \frac{\omega + \mu + \nu}{2}$$

$$= \pi^{-1/3} G_{24}^{11} \left(z^{\frac{1}{2}} \middle| \frac{\omega + \mu + \nu}{2} \frac{\omega + \mu}{2} \right)$$

$$z^{-1} J_{1}^{3}(z) = \pi^{-1/3} G_{12}^{11} \left(z^{\frac{1}{2}} \middle| \frac{\omega + \frac{1}{2}}{2} + \nu \frac{\omega}{2} \right)$$

$$(2i)$$

$$z^{\omega}J_{-\nu}(z) J_{\nu}(z) = \pi^{-1/2} G_{1,3}^{1,1} \left(z^{2} \middle| \frac{\frac{\omega+1}{2}}{\frac{\omega}{2}}, \frac{\omega+2}{2} + \nu, \frac{\omega}{2} - \nu \right). \tag{28}$$

$$z^{\omega}J_{\nu}(z)I_{\nu}(z) = \pi^{1/2}2^{3\omega/2}G_{0,4}^{1,0}\left(\frac{z^{4}}{64} \mid \frac{\omega+2\nu}{4}, \frac{\omega-2\nu}{4}, \frac{\omega}{4}, \frac{\omega+2}{4}\right). (29)$$

$$z^{\omega}J_{\nu}(z) Y_{\nu}(z) = -\pi^{-1/2} G_{1,3}^{2,0} \left(z^{2} \middle| \frac{\frac{\omega+1}{2}}{2} \right). \tag{30}$$

$$z^{\omega}I_{\nu}(z) K_{\mu}(z)$$

$$= (4\pi)^{-1/2} G_{2,4}^{2,2} \left(z^2 \middle| \frac{\frac{\omega}{2}, \frac{\omega+1}{2}}{\frac{\omega+\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega+\mu-\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu-\nu}{2}} \right).$$
(31)

$$z^{\omega} J_{\nu}(z) K_{\nu}(z) = \pi^{-1/2} 2^{3\omega/2 - 1/2} G_{0,4}^{3,0} \left(\frac{z^4}{64} \middle| \frac{\omega + 2\nu}{4}, \frac{\omega + 2}{4}, \frac{\omega}{4}, \frac{\omega - 2\nu}{4} \right).$$
(32)

$$z^\omega K_\mu(z) K_\nu(z)$$

$$= 2^{-1}\pi^{1/2} G_{2,4}^{4,0} \left(z^2 \middle| \frac{\frac{\omega}{2}, \frac{\omega+1}{2}}{\frac{\omega+\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega+\mu-\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu-\nu}{2} \right).$$
(33)

$$z^{\omega}H_{\nu}^{(1)}(z)H_{\nu}^{(2)}(z) = \pi^{-5/2}2\cos\nu\pi G_{1,3}^{3,1}\left(z^{2} \middle| \frac{\frac{\omega+1}{2}}{\frac{\omega}{2}+\nu, \frac{\omega}{2}-\nu, \frac{\omega}{2}}\right). \quad (34)$$

$$z^{\omega}[J_{\mu}(z) J_{\nu}(z) + J_{-\mu}(z) J_{-\nu}(z)]$$

$$= \{ [2\cos(\mu + \nu) \pi/2]/\pi^{1/2} \}$$

$$\times G_{2.4}^{2.1} \left(z^2 \middle| \frac{\frac{\omega+1}{2}, \frac{\omega}{2}}{\frac{\omega+\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu-\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega+\mu-\nu}{2}} \right). \tag{35}$$

$$= -\{[2\sin(\mu + \nu)\pi^{2}]/\pi^{1/2}\}$$

$$\times G_{\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(z^{\frac{1}{2}}\left|\frac{\omega}{\omega+\mu+\nu}, \frac{\omega-\mu-\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega+\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega+\mu-\nu}{2}\right.\right) (36)$$

 $z^{u}[H^{(1)}(z)H^{(1)}(z)-H^{(2)}(z)H^{(1)}_{z}(z)]$

$$= \frac{4}{t^{\alpha^{1/2}}} C_{k,\ell}^{4,0} \left(z^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \underbrace{\frac{\omega}{2}, \frac{\omega+1}{2}}_{\omega+\mu+\nu} \underbrace{\frac{\omega+\mu-\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega+\mu-\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu-\nu}{2}}_{\omega+\mu+\nu} \right) (37)$$

 $z^{\omega}[I_{\alpha}(z)I_{\beta}(z) - I_{-\alpha}(z)I_{-\alpha}(z)]$

$$= -\frac{\sin(\mu + r)\pi}{r^{3/2}}$$

$$\times G_{2,4}^{4}\left(z^{3}\left|\begin{array}{c}\frac{\omega}{2},\frac{\omega+1}{2}\\\frac{\omega+\mu+\nu}{2},\frac{\omega-\mu-\nu}{2},\frac{\omega-\mu+\nu}{2},\frac{\omega+\mu-\nu}{2}\end{array}\right)\right)$$
(38)

 $(z^{\omega}/2i)[e^{iz(z-\omega)/2}H_{\omega}^{(1)}(z)H_{\omega}^{(2)}(z)-e^{iz(z-\omega)/2}H_{\omega}^{(1)}(z)H_{\omega}^{(2)}(z)]$

$$\times C_{t}^{4,1}\left(z^{2} \left| \frac{\omega + \mu + \nu}{2}, \frac{\omega + \mu + \nu}{2}, \frac{\omega + \mu + \nu}{2}, \frac{\omega - \mu}{2} \right.\right)$$
(39)

 $\frac{1}{2}(z^{\omega})[e^{i\pi(z-z)/2}H^{(1)}(z)H^{(2)}(z) + e^{i\pi(z-z)/2}H^{(1)}(z)H^{(2)}(z)]$

$$\times G_{t,t}^{4} \left(z^{4} \right) \underbrace{\frac{\omega+1}{2}, \frac{\omega}{2}}_{\omega+\mu+\nu} \underbrace{\frac{\omega+\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu+\nu}{2}, \frac{\omega-\mu-\nu}{2}}_{\omega+\mu+\nu}$$

6.5. The G-Function Expressed as a Named Function

$$\begin{split} G_{\mathfrak{p},\bullet}^{n,\bullet}\left(z \mid \frac{a_{\mathfrak{p}}}{b_{\mathfrak{p}}}\right) &= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} I(b_{i}-b_{i})^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} I(1+b_{k}-a_{j}) z^{b_{k}}}{\prod_{j=n+1}^{n} I(1+b_{k}-b_{j}) \prod_{j=n+1}^{n} I(a_{j}-b_{k})} \\ &\times {}_{F}\mathbf{F}_{\bullet}\mathbf{1} \left\{ \begin{matrix} 1+b_{k}-a_{\mathfrak{p}} \\ 1+b_{k}-b_{\mathfrak{p}} \end{matrix} \right\} \left(-|\mathbf{r}^{-n-a}| z \right), \end{split}$$

$$p < q$$
 or $p = q$ and $|z| < 1$ (

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z \mid a_{p} \atop b_{q}\right) = \sum_{h=1}^{n} \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(a_{h} - a_{j})^{*} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma(b_{j} - a_{h} + 1) z^{a_{h}-1}}{\prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(1 + a_{j} - a_{h}) \prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(a_{h} - b_{j})} \times {}_{q}F_{p-1}\left(\frac{1 + b_{q} - a_{h}}{1 + a_{p} - a_{h}^{*}} \middle| \frac{(-)^{q-m-n}}{z}\right),$$

$$q 1.$$
 (2)

$$G_{p,q}^{1,n}\left(z \mid a_{p}^{p}\right) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} \Gamma(1+b_{1}-a_{j}) z^{b_{1}}}{\prod_{j=2}^{q} \Gamma(1+b_{1}-b_{j}) \prod_{j=n+1}^{p} \Gamma(a_{j}-b_{1})} \times {}_{p}F_{q-1}\left(\frac{1+b_{1}-a_{p}}{1+b_{1}-b_{q}^{*}} \mid (-)^{p-1-n} z\right),$$

$$p < q \quad \text{or} \quad p = q \quad \text{and} \quad |z| < 1. \tag{3}$$

$$G_{p,q}^{m,1}\left(z \mid a_{p}^{p}\right) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{m} \Gamma(b_{j} - a_{1} + 1) z^{a_{1} - 1}}{\prod_{j=2}^{p} \Gamma(1 + a_{j} - a_{1}) \prod_{j=m+1}^{q} \Gamma(a_{1} - b_{j})} \times {}_{q}F_{p-1}\left(\frac{1 + b_{q} - a_{1}}{1 + a_{p} - a_{1}^{*}} \mid \frac{(-)^{q-m-1}}{z}\right),$$

$$q < p$$
 or $q = p$ and $|z| > 1$. (4)

$$G_{1,2}^{1,1}\left(z\left|\frac{1-k}{\frac{1}{2}+m,\frac{1}{2}-m}\right) = \frac{e^{-z/2}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+k+m)}{\Gamma(2m+1)}M_{k,m}(z).$$
 (5)

$$G_{0,2}^{1,0}(z \mid a,b) = z^{\frac{1}{2}(a+b)} \int_{a-b} (2z^{1/2}).$$
 (6)

$$G_{1,2}^{1,0}\left(z \mid \frac{1}{a, -a}\right) = \pi^{-1/2}\left(\cos a\pi\right) e^{z/2} I_a(z/2). \tag{7}$$

$$G_{0,2}^{2,0}(z \mid a,b) = 2z^{\frac{1}{2}(a+b)}K_{n-b}(2z^{1/2}).$$
(8)

$$G_{1,2}^{2,0}\left(z \mid \frac{1}{b,-b}\right) = \pi^{-1/2}e^{-z/2}K_b(z/2). \tag{9}$$

$$G_{1.2}^{2.1}\left(z \mid \frac{1}{b, -b}\right) = \frac{\pi^{1/2}e^{z/2}}{\cos b\pi} K_b(z/2). \tag{10}$$

$$G_{1,2}^{2,0}\left(z \mid a \atop b, c\right) = z^{\frac{1}{2}(b+c-1)}e^{-z/2}W_{\frac{1}{2}(1+b+c-2a),\frac{1}{2}(b-c)}(z). \tag{11}$$

$$G_{1,2}^{2,1}\left(z \mid a \atop b, c\right) = \Gamma(b-a+1) \Gamma(c-a+1) \times z^{\frac{1}{2}(b+c-1)} e^{z/2} W_{\frac{1}{2}(2a-b-c-1),\frac{1}{2}(b-c)}(z).$$
 (12)

VI IDENTIFICATION OF THE J. AND G-FUNCTIONS

$$G_{0,4}^{1,0}(x) a + b/2 a a - b/2 a + 1/2) = \pi^{-1} 2^a J_3(x) J_4(x)$$

 $x = 2^3 2^{3/4}$ (13)

 $G_{0.6}^{1.0}(z) a + 1/2 \ a \ a + b/2 \ a - b/2$ $\frac{\pi^{-1.2}z^{d}}{2 \sin b\pi/2}$

2,32

 $\times \left[f_b(x) I_{-b}(x) - f_{-b}(x) I_b(x) \right]$

 $x = 2^{1} z_{2}^{14} (14)$

 $G_{0,4}^{2,0}(z \mid a \mid a + \frac{1}{2} \mid b \mid b + \frac{1}{2}) = z^{\frac{1}{2} \cdot a \cdot b} \int_{z \cdot a - b} (4z^{1-4})$ (15)

 $G_{0,4}^{a,b}(z \mid a = a \mid 0, \frac{1}{a}) = \frac{-\pi^{1/2}}{\sin 2\pi a} [J_{2a}(xe^{ix \cdot b}) J_{2a}(xe^{-ix \cdot b}) - J_{-2a}(xe^{-ix \cdot b})]$

 $T = 2^{3/2} z^{1/4}$ (16)

 $G_{0,i}^{2,0}(z \mid 0 \mid a - a) = \frac{\pi^{1,2}}{i \sin 2\pi a}$

 $\times [e^{2i\pi a}J_{2a}(xe^{-i\pi \cdot 4}) J_{2a}(xe^{i\pi \cdot 4})$

 $e^{-2 \times \alpha} \int_{2\alpha} (x e^{ix \cdot 4}) \int_{-2\alpha} (x e^{-ix \cdot 4})$

 $x = 2^{3/2}z^{1-4}$ $G_{0,4}^{0,0}(z) 3a = \frac{1}{2}a - a - \frac{1}{2}a - \frac{1}{2}) = \frac{2\pi^{1/2}z^{\alpha-1-2}}{2\pi^{1/2}} K_{40}(z)[f_{40}(z) + f_{-4a}(z)]$

 $x = 2^{3} 2x^{2}$ (18)

 $G_{0,1}^{3,0}(z \ 0 \ a \ \frac{1}{2} -a - \frac{1}{4} \ \frac{1}{4}) \ 4(\pi/x)^{1/2} K_{2n}(x)$

 \times [cas an $\int_{2a}(x) = \sin a\pi Y_{2a}(x)$]

 $x = 2^{3} z_{2}^{14}$ (19)

 $G_{0,4}^{3,6}(z) - \frac{1}{2}a - \frac{1}{2}a - \frac{1}{2}a - \frac{1}{2}0) = -4(\pi/z)^{1/2}K_{24}(x)$

 $\times \{\sin \pi a \}_{2a}(x) + \cos \pi a Y_{2a}(x)\}$

 $x = 2^{3} z^{\frac{1}{4}}$ (20)

 $G_{0,6}^{3,0}(z \mid a \mid b + \frac{1}{6} \mid b \mid 2b - a)$ $(2\pi)^{1/2} z^b K_{2,a-b}(x) \int_{2,a-b}(x)$

 $x = 2^{n_1} x^{n_2}$ (21)

$$G_{0,4}^{4,0}\left(z\mid a,a+\tfrac{1}{2},b,b+\tfrac{1}{2}\right)=4\pi z^{\frac{1}{2}(a+b)}K_{2(a-b)}(4z^{1/4}). \tag{22}$$

$$G_{0,4}^{4,0}(z \mid a, a + \frac{1}{2}, b, 2a - b) = 8\pi^{1/2}z^aK_{2(b-a)}(xe^{i\pi/4})K_{2(b-a)}(xe^{-i\pi/4}),$$

$$x = 2^{3/2}z^{1/4}. (23)$$

$$G_{2,4}^{4,0}\left(z^2 \middle| \begin{array}{l} \frac{1}{2} + k, \frac{1}{2} - k \\ 0, \frac{1}{2}, m, -m \end{array}\right) = \pi^{1/2} z^{-1} W_{k,m}(2z) W_{-k,m}(2z). \tag{24}$$

$$G_{2,4}^{4,1}\left(z^{2}\left|\begin{array}{c} \frac{1}{2}+k,\frac{1}{2}-k\\ 0,\frac{1}{2},m,-m \end{array}\right)=\pi^{1/2}z^{-1}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+m-k)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-m-k)$$

$$\times W_{k,m}(2iz) W_{k,m}(-2iz). \tag{25}$$

$$G_{1,3}^{1,1}\left(z \middle|_{0,a,-a}\right) = \pi^{1/2} J_a(z^{1/2}) J_{-a}(z^{1/2}). \tag{26}$$

$$G_{1.3}^{1.1}\left(z \mid \frac{1}{2} a, 0, -a\right) = \pi^{1/2} J_a^2(z^{1/2}). \tag{27}$$

$$G_{1.3}^{1.1}\left(z \mid \frac{a}{a, b, a - \frac{1}{2}}\right) = z^{(2a+2b-1)/4} \mathbf{H}_{a-b-1/2}(2z^{1/2}). \tag{28}$$

$$G_{1,3}^{2,0}\left(z \mid \frac{a-\frac{1}{2}}{a,b,a-\frac{1}{6}}\right) = z^{(a+b)/2}Y_{b-a}(2z^{1/2}).$$
(29)

$$G_{1.3}^{2.0}\left(z \middle| \frac{\frac{1}{2}}{-a, a, 0}\right) = \frac{\pi^{1/2}}{2\sin a\pi} \left[J_{-a}^{2}(z^{1/2}) - J_{a}^{2}(z^{1/2})\right]. \tag{30}$$

$$G_{1,3}^{2,0}\left(z\left|\frac{1}{0,a,-a}\right) = -\pi^{1/2}J_a(z^{1/2})Y_a(z^{1/2}). \tag{31}$$

$$G_{1,3}^{2,1}\left(z \mid \frac{1}{0, a, -a}\right) = 2\pi^{1/2}I_a(z^{1/2}) K_a(z^{1/2}). \tag{32}$$

$$G_{1,3}^{2,1}\left(z \mid \frac{1}{2} \atop a, -a, 0\right) = \frac{\pi^{3/2}}{\sin 2\pi a} \left[I_{-a}^2(z^{1/2}) - I_a^2(z^{1/2})\right]. \tag{33}$$

$$G_{1.3}^{2.1}\left(z \mid \frac{a+\frac{1}{2}}{a+\frac{1}{2},b,a}\right) = \frac{\pi z^{(a+b)/2}}{\cos(b-a)\pi} \left[I_{b-a}(2z^{1/2}) - \mathcal{L}_{a-b}(2z^{1/2})\right].$$
(34)

$$G_{1,3}^{2,1}\left(z\left|\frac{a+\frac{1}{2}}{a,a+\frac{1}{2},b}\right)=\pi z^{(a+b)/2}[I_{a-b}(2z^{1/2})-\mathbf{L}_{a-b}(2z^{1/2})]. \tag{35}$$

$$G_{1,3}^{3,0}\left(z \mid \frac{a+\frac{1}{2}}{a+b, a-b, a}\right) = 2\pi^{-1/2}z^a K_b^2(z^{1/2}).$$
(36)

$$G_{1,3}^{3,1}\left(z\left|\frac{a+\frac{1}{2}}{a+\frac{1}{2},-a,a}\right.\right) = \frac{\pi^2}{\cos 2\pi a}\left[\mathbf{H}_{2a}(2z^{1/2}) - Y_{2a}(2z^{1/2})\right]. \tag{37}$$

234 $G_{1\,\, s}^{3\,\, 1}\left(z\,\Big|_{a\ \ b.\ -b}^{\quad \ a}\right) = 2^{2\,\, 2a}\Gamma(1-a-b)\,\Gamma(1-a+b)S_{2a-1\,\, 2b}(2z^{1/2})$

(38) $G_{13}^{33}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c} a+\frac{1}{2} \\ k & 2a-b, a \end{array}\right) = \frac{\pi^{5/3}z^4}{2\cos(b-a)\pi}H_{b-a}^{(1)}(z^{1/2})H_{b-a}^{(2)}(z^{1/2})$ (39)

See 6 4(20, 21) for G-functions with m = q = 3, n = p = 1

 $G_{2,4}^{1,2}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c} a+\frac{1}{2},a\\ a+b,a-c,a+c,a-b \end{array}\right) = \pi^{1/2}z^{2}f_{b+c}(z^{1/2})f_{b-c}(z^{1/2})$ (40)

 $G_{z+1}^{2,2}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c} a, a+\frac{1}{2} \\ b, c, 2a-c, 2a-b \end{array}\right) = 2\pi^{1/2}z^{a}I_{b+c-2a}(z^{1/2})K_{b-c}(z^{1/2})$ (41)

 $G_{2,4}^{3,6}\left(z\Big|_{a,b,-b,-a}, \frac{0,\frac{1}{2}}{-b,-b,-a}\right) \approx (i\pi^{3/2}/4)[H_{a-b}^{(1)}(z^{3/2})H_{a+b}^{(1)}(z^{3/2})]$

- Ha (21/2) Ha (21/2)] (42)

 $\times M_{-1} = (2z^{1/2}) W_{1} = (2z^{1/2})$ (43)

 $G_{2,4}^{4,0}\left(z\left|\frac{\frac{1}{2}+a,\frac{1}{2}-a}{0,\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}-b}\right.\right)=\left(\pi/z\right)^{1/2}W_{a,b}(2z^{1/2})W_{-a,b}(2z^{1/2})$ (44)

 $G_{2,4}^{4,0}\left(z \mid_{a+b, a+c, a-c, a-b}\right) = 2\pi^{-1/2}z^{4}K_{b+c}(z^{1/2})K_{b-c}(z^{1/2})$ (45) $G_{2,4}^{4,1}\left(z\left|_{a,b},\frac{0,\frac{1}{2}}{-b}\right|_{a,b}\right) = \frac{i\pi^{5/2}}{4\sin \pi \sin \frac{1}{2}}$

 $\times \left[e^{-i*b}H^{(1)}_{---}(z^{1/2})H^{(2)}_{+-1}(z^{1/2})\right]$

 $-\epsilon^{i*b}H_{a+b}^{(1)}(z^{1/2})H_{a+a}^{(3)}(z^{1/2})]$

(46) $G_{2,4}^{4,1}(z) = \frac{4,0}{4 \cos 2\pi \cos 2\pi}$

 $\times \left[e^{-izb}H_{a_{1}a_{2}}^{(1)}(z^{1/2})H_{a_{2}a_{3}}^{(2)}(z^{1/2})\right]$ + elabH(1) (21/2) H(1) (21/2)] (47)

 $G_{i,i}^{a,i}\left(z\left(\frac{1}{2}+a,\frac{1}{2}-a\right)=(\pi/a)^{1/2}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}+b-a)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}-b-a)$

 $\times W_{-s}(2i\pi^{1/2})W_{-s}(-2i\pi^{1/2})$

Chapter VII ASYMPTOTIC EXPANSIONS OF F FOR LARGE PARAMETERS

7.1. Introduction

The behavior of ${}_{p}F_{q}$ for large values of the variable has been discussed in 5.11. The behavior for large values of the parameters is much more complicated. No complete theory is available, and there are many open questions, especially as concerns uniform asymptotic expansions with respect to the variable z. Some results bearing on the subject of this chapter have already been given in 3.5 and 4.8.

7.2. The ₂F₁

In the case of a large denominator parameter, we have

$${}_{2}F_{1}(a,b;c;z) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{(a)_{k}(b)_{k}z^{k}}{(c)_{k}k!} + R_{m+1},$$

$$R_{m+1} = O(c^{-m-1}), \quad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi,$$

$$|c| \to \infty, \quad |\arg c| \le \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$
(1)

where a, b, and z are fixed. For the proof, using 6.2.1(7, 8), 3.6(10), and 3.6(1), we have

$$R_{m+1} = \frac{\Gamma(c)\Gamma(a+m+1)z^{m+1}}{m! \ \Gamma(b)\Gamma(c-b)\Gamma(a)} \times \int_0^1 \int_0^1 t^{b+m} (1-t)^{c-b-1} (1-ztu)^{-a-n-1} (1-u)^m \ dt \ du,$$

valid for R(c-b) > 0, R(b+m) > -1, and $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$. We suppose m is sufficiently large so that the second inequality is true. If $0 \le t \le 1$, $0 \le u \le 1$, $|(1-ztu)^{-\alpha-m-1}| \le M^{-\alpha-m-1}$, $\alpha = R(a)$ where M depends on α and is either the max or min of |1-ztu|. Let $\beta = R(b)$ and $\gamma = R(c)$. Using 2.6(3) and 2.11(11), we find

$$|R_{m+1}| \leq \left|\frac{z}{M}\right|^{m+1} M^{-\alpha} \frac{(\alpha)_{m+1}(\beta)_{m+1}}{(m+1)!} \left|\frac{\Gamma(\beta)}{\Gamma(b)}\right| \left|\frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(c-b)}\right| \gamma^{-\beta-m-1} [1+O(\gamma^{-1})],$$

which proves (1) with $|R_{m+1}|$ instead of $O(e^{-m-1})$ provided m is sufficiently large But (1) is also valid for m = 1, 2, . since each term in the series on the right-hand side of (1) behaves like | Rman | Another representation for the F, for large denominator parameter is given by (12)-(15) See also 48(8) with h = 0

The case when a single numerator parameter of a .F. is large is of interest. This, however, as well as the situation described by (1) are special cases of some results due to Watson (1918) who studied the F where two or more of the parameters become large. To present some of his findings, we first need some definitions. Let

$$z = \cosh \xi$$
, $\xi = \mu + i\nu$, $\mu \ge 0$ $-\pi \le \nu \le \pi$

These conditions determine E uniquely for a given z except when z is real, z < 1 It is supposed that the arguments of z, z - 1, and z + 1are given their principal values (numerically not exceeding #), and in the special case when z - I is real and negative, it is supposed that z attains its value by a limiting process which then determines if arg(z - 1) is π or $-\pi$ The values of arg z and arg(z+1) are determined in this special case in the same manner. Thus,

$$e^{\pm t} = z \pm (z^z - 1)^{t/2} \tag{3}$$

(4)

We also put

$$(1-e^t)=(e^t-1)e^{\mp i\pi} \qquad (4)$$
 where the upper (lower) sign is taken if $I(x)>(<)0$ It is convenient to define two sectors in the complex λ -plane as follows

Sector P $|\arg \lambda| \leq \pi - \delta$. $\delta > 0$ Sector $Q = -\frac{1}{2}\pi - \omega_2 + \delta < \arg \lambda < \frac{1}{2}\pi + \omega_1 - \delta, \quad \delta > 0$

$$\omega_2 = \arctan(\nu/\mu),$$
 $-\omega_1 = \arctan(\nu/\mu),$ $\nu \geqslant 0$

$$\omega_3 = \arctan((\nu + \pi) \mu)$$
 $-\omega_1 = \arctan(\nu/\mu)$ $\nu \leqslant 0$
(6)

where are tan is given its principal value, that is, $| \arctan x | \le \pi/2$, x real

Watson proves that

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a+\lambda, 1+a-c+\lambda \\ 1+a-b+2\lambda \\ 1-a \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{i=0}^{2^{-k}} \frac{1}{\Gamma(1+a-b+2\lambda)(r_{i}-b+\lambda)} \times \frac{((c-1)/2)^{k+2}}{\Gamma(1+a-c+\lambda)\Gamma(c-b+\lambda)} = \sum_{i=0}^{k} f_{i}(E(\frac{1}{2}))^{k} \lambda^{k}, \quad (7)$$

valid when $|\lambda|$ is large over sector P [see (5)] and

$${}_{2}F_{1}\left(a+\lambda,b-\lambda \mid \frac{1-z}{2}\right) \sim \frac{2^{a+b-1}\Gamma(1-b+\lambda)\Gamma(c)(1+e^{-\xi})^{c-a-b-1/2}}{(\lambda\pi)^{1/2}\Gamma(c-b+\lambda)(1-e^{-\xi})^{c-1/2}} \times \left[e^{(\lambda-b)\xi} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_{k}(-\xi)(\frac{1}{2})_{k}\lambda^{-k} + \exp[\pm i\pi(c-\frac{1}{2})]e^{-(\lambda+a)\xi} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} f_{k}(\xi)(\frac{1}{2})_{k}\lambda^{-k}\right], \quad (8)$$

valid when $|\lambda|$ is large over sector Q, see (6). In the latter formula, the upper (lower) sign is taken if I(z) > (<) 0. $f_{\lambda}(\xi)$ is defined as follows:

$$(1 - e^{-2\xi})^{k} f_{k}(\xi) = \text{coefficient of } T^{2k} \text{ in the expansion of}$$

$$\left(1 - \frac{T}{1 - e^{-\xi}}\right)^{a-c} \left(1 + \frac{T}{1 + e^{-\xi}}\right)^{c-b-1}$$

$$\times (1 - T \operatorname{csch} \xi)^{-a} \left[\frac{1 - e^{-2\xi}}{T^{2}} \ln \left(1 + \frac{T^{2}}{1 - (T + e^{-\xi})^{2}}\right)\right]^{-k-1/2} \tag{9}$$

in ascending powers of T, T sufficiently small. Clearly $f_0(\xi) = 1$ and

$$f_1(\xi) = \frac{1}{2}(L + Me^{-\xi} + Ne^{-2\xi})/(1 - e^{-2\xi}),$$

$$L = (a + b - 2c + 1)^2 - a + b - \frac{1}{2}, \quad M = -2(a + b - 1)(a + b - 2c + 1),$$

$$N = (a + b - 1)^2 + a - b + \frac{1}{2}.$$
(10)

A generalization of (8) is given in 7.4.2(8). See also 8.2(33-40). For a future application, it is convenient to record

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a+\lambda, 1+a-c+\lambda & z \\ 1+a-b+2\lambda & z \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \frac{2^{a+b}\Gamma(1+a-b+2\lambda)(\pi/\lambda)^{1/2}e^{-(a+\lambda)\pi}(1-e^{-\pi})^{c-a-b-1/2}[1+O(\lambda^{-1})]}{\Gamma(1+a-c+\lambda)\Gamma(c-b+\lambda)z^{a+\lambda}(1+e^{-\pi})^{c-1/2}},$$

$$e^{\pm \pi} = [2-z\pm 2(1-z)^{1/2}]/z, \tag{11}$$

which is readily deduced from (7) if there we replace z by (z-2)/z. Watson also proves that when λ is large,

$${}_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{matrix} a,b\\c+\lambda\end{matrix}\middle|z\right) \sim \frac{\Gamma(c+\lambda)\lambda^{-b}}{\Gamma(c-b+\lambda)}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}h_{k}(z)(b)_{k}\lambda^{-k},$$
if $|1-z^{-1}| \leq 1$, λ is in sector P , see (5),
if $|1-z^{-1}| > 1$, λ is in sector Q , see (6),

and the coefficients $h_k(z)$ are defined by the relation

$$(1 - e^{-t})^{b-1}e^{-t(c-b)}(1 - z + ze^{-t})^{-a} = t^{b-1}\sum_{k}^{\infty} h_k(z)t^k, \quad |t| < 1 \quad (13)$$

Clearly $h_0(z) = 1$ and by direct computation

$$h_1(z) = az + \frac{1}{2}(b + 1 - 2c)$$
 (14)

Thus under the stated conditions,

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c + \lambda \end{pmatrix} x = 1 + (abx/\lambda) + (abx/2\lambda^{2})((a+1)(b+1)x - 2c) + O(\lambda^{-4})$$
(1)

In the reference cited, Watson gives a complete set of formulas to describe the asymptotic behavior of the ${}_{2}F_{1}$ in the form

$$_{x}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a+e_{1}\lambda,b+e_{2}\lambda\\c+e_{3}\lambda \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z \end{pmatrix}$$
 (16)

where e_1 , e_2 , e_3 have the values 0, ± 1 The various cases are essentially of four types, as shown in the accompanying tabulation. In the sequel, we consider only the type A and B situations

Type	4	e ₂	9	Case
	0)	-1	1	1
A	o {	ı	1	2
	0)	-1	~1	3
	1	G	0	4
	~1	0	0	5
	0 }	1	0	6
_	0 !	-1	0	7
В	1 1	1	Đ.	8
	-1 1	~1	0	9
	ı l	1	1	10
	-1	~1	-1	11
	-1)	1	0	12
	1 (-1	0	13
С	1 (-1	1	14
	-1)	~1	t	15
р	-1 1	1	1	16
D	s 3	-1	-1	17

Case 1 is given by (8). If we employ Kummer's formulas 3.8 and the analytic continuation formula in 3.9, together with the expansions (7), (8), we can get asymptotic formulas for Cases 2 and 3 in (17). We now illustrate this idea which is also applicable for the cases under types B, C, and D. Consider Case 2 of (17). From 3.8(3),

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a+\lambda,b+\lambda \\ c \end{pmatrix} = (1-z)^{-a-\lambda} {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a+\lambda,c-b-\lambda \\ c \end{pmatrix} \frac{z}{z-1}.$$
 (18)

Thus with an obvious change of notation, Case 2 stems from Case 1. For an alternative approach, using 3.9(3), and 3.8(1, 7, 17), we have

$$\frac{\Gamma(1+a-b)\Gamma(c-1)e^{i\pi(c-1)}}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-b)}z^{1-c}(1-z)^{c-a-1}{}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix}1+a-c,1-b\\2-c\end{pmatrix}\begin{vmatrix}z\\z-1\end{pmatrix}$$

$$=(z^{-1}e^{i\pi})^{a}{}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix}a,a+1-c\\a+1-b\end{vmatrix}z^{-1}-\frac{\Gamma(1+a-b)\Gamma(1-c)}{\Gamma(1-b)\Gamma(1+a-c)}{}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix}a,b\\c\end{vmatrix}z\}.$$
(19)

Now replace a, b, and c by $1 + a - c + \lambda$, $1 - b - \lambda$, and 2 - c, respectively. Then the ${}_2F_1$ on the left of (19) is of the form Case 2, while the first and second ${}_2F_1$'s on the right of (19) are of the form (7) and (8), respectively, when a slight change of notation is made. Again Case 3 may be obtained from Case 2 in view of 3.8(2). There are other possibilities. To enumerate these, it is convenient to use the notation $w_{i,j}$ defined in the introduction to the "Table of Solutions in the Degenerate Case" which appears in 3.10. Thus (19) is the relation which connects the solutions $w_{2,3}$, $w_{5,1}$, and $w_{1,1}$. In the sequel, we designate the function $w_{i,j}$ by the numerals ij for short, so that (19) connects the functions 23, 51, and 11. Similarly 3.8(3) connects 11 and 13. We form the following tabulation.

Coefficients of λ					
c ₁	e ₂	ϵ_3	Functions	Case	
1	-1	0	11, 12, 21, 22, 31, 32, 41, 42	1	•
1	1	0	13, 23, 33, 44	2	
-1	-1	0	14, 24, 34, 43	3	(20)
1	1	2	51, 52, 53, 54		()
- i	-1	-2	61, 62, 63, 64		

The first three columns give the coefficients of λ which define the functions to be investigated [see (16)]. These are listed in the fourth

column. The simplest procedure is to use the continuation formulas of 3 9 or the formulas of 3 8 as appropriate to express a function of the fourth column in terms of the fundamental solutions 11 and 51, and then connect 11 and 51 with (7) and (8), respectively. In our illustration of Case 2 we used functions 13 and 23, which are in the second row of the above table Alternatively, we could have used the relation connecting 33. II, and 51 which follows from 39(13)

HYPERGEOMETRIC FUNCTIONS OF TYPE B

			ξλ	Coefficients of A		
	Case	Functions	6,	*,	e,	
-	4	11 42	ı	0	0	
	5	22 31	t	0	Q.	
	6	52 53, 62 63	ó	1	0	
(2)	7	51 54 61 64	0	-1	0	
	8	13 14 43 44	ı	1	Q	
	9	23 24 33 34	-I	-1	0	
	10	12 41	1	1	1	
	11	21 12	-1	-1	-1	

The use of this table is like that for type A In the present instance the fundamental solutions are 11 and 42 Since both are included in Case 4, it is sufficient to have the asymptotic expansion of only one of these functions. The expansion for 11 is given by (12). To illustrate use of this table we develop the asymptotic expansion for $_{*}F_{*}(a,b+h,c,z)$, i.e., Case 6 Suppose we use function 52 As we need the relation between functions 52, 11, and 42, we employ the continuation formula 30(15) and use 38(1,14,18). In this relation, which is valid for $0 < \arg z < 2\pi$, replace a,b, and c by c - a, 1 - a, and $1 - a + b + \lambda$, respectively If z is replaced by z^+ , and e^+ is replaced by e^- , the resulting formula is also valid for $0 < \arg z < 2\pi$ We get

$$\frac{\Gamma(c-a)\Gamma(a)}{\Gamma(c)} {}_{a}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a,b+\lambda \\ c \end{pmatrix} z \rangle = \frac{\Gamma(1+b-c+\lambda)\Gamma(c-a)}{\Gamma(1+b-a+\lambda)} z^{a} {}_{1}^{a}(1-z)^{c-a+\lambda} \times z F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} c-a,1-a \\ c-a,1-a \\ c-a,1-a \end{pmatrix} z^{a}$$

$$\times z F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a+b-c+\lambda \end{pmatrix} z^{a}$$

$$+ \frac{\Gamma(1+b-c+\lambda)\Gamma(c-a)}{\Gamma(1+a+b-c+\lambda)} z^{aa} z^{a} \times z F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a,1+a-c \\ c-a,k-a \end{pmatrix} z^{a}$$

$$\times z F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a,1+a-c \\ c-a,k-a \end{pmatrix} z^{a}$$

$$\times z F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a+b-c \\ c-a,k-a \end{pmatrix} z^{a} + \frac{1}{2} (2z)$$

This could also be derived from the formula connecting the functions 11, 33, and 62. Now combine (22) with (12) and use 2.11(11) to get

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a, b + \lambda \\ c \end{pmatrix} z = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c-a)} \{\Gamma(c-a)(\lambda z)^{a-c}(1-z)^{c-a-b-\lambda}[1 + O(\lambda^{-1})] + \Gamma(a)(\lambda z e^{-i\pi})^{-a}[1 + O(\lambda^{-1})]\},$$

$$|\lambda| \to \infty, \quad \lambda \text{ in } Q \quad \text{if } |1-z| \neq 1, \quad \lambda \text{ in } P \quad \text{if } |1-z| = 1. \tag{23}$$

Note that (23) is exact when a = c and $[1 + O(1/\lambda)]$ is replaced by unity. Similarly from the formula connecting the functions 11, 43, and 51, we get

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a, b - \lambda \\ c \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(c)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(c - a)} \{\Gamma(a)(\lambda z)^{-a}[1 + O(\lambda^{-1})] + \Gamma(c - a)(\lambda z e^{-i\pi})^{a-c}(1 - z)^{c-a-b+\lambda}[1 + O(\lambda^{-1})]\},$$
(24)

valid under the same conditions as for (23). Equation (24) may also be found from (22) in view of 3.8(3).

For a final example, we consider Case 5 of (21). Here it is convenient to consider the formula connecting 11, 22, and 31, see 3.10(5) and 3.9(1, 6, 9) with c replaced by $c - \lambda$. Thus,

$${}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a,b \\ c-\lambda \end{pmatrix} z = \frac{\Gamma(a+1-c+\lambda)\Gamma(b+1-c+\lambda)}{\Gamma(a+b+1-c+\lambda)\Gamma(1-c+\lambda)} \times \left[{}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} a,b \\ a+b+1-c+\lambda \end{pmatrix} \frac{1-z}{1-z} \right]$$

$$-\frac{\pi\Gamma(a+b+1-c+\lambda)z^{1-c+\lambda}(1-z)^{c-a-b-\lambda}}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)\Gamma(2-c+\lambda)\sin\pi(\lambda-c)} \times {}_{2}F_{1}\begin{pmatrix} 1-a,1-b \\ 2-c+\lambda \end{pmatrix} z \right],$$

$$\lambda - c \neq 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ..., |\arg(1-z)| < \pi.$$
 (25)

It is convenient to take λ large and positive. Using (12) and 2.11(11), we have

$${}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{a,b}{c-\lambda} \mid z\right) = 1 - \frac{abz}{\lambda} + O(\lambda^{-2}) - \frac{\pi\lambda^{a+b-1}[z/(1-z)]^{\lambda-c}z}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)\sin\pi(\lambda-c)(1-z)^{a+b}} \times \left\{1 + \frac{(a+b-1)(a+b+2-2c)-2ab+2(1-a)(1-b)z}{2\lambda} + O(\lambda^{-2})\right\},$$

$$\lambda - c \neq 0, 1, 2, ..., \quad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi. \tag{26}$$

Now |z|(1-z) < 1 if $R(z) < \frac{1}{2}$ so that

$${}_{z}F_{z}\begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ c - \lambda \end{pmatrix} z = 1 - (abz/\lambda) + O(\lambda^{-2})$$
 (27)

uniformly in any finite subregion of $R(z) < \frac{1}{2}$ If $z = \frac{1}{2}$, (26) shows that

$$_{i}F_{i}\left(\frac{a,b}{c-\lambda}|\frac{1}{2}\right) = 1 - \frac{ab}{2\lambda} + O(\lambda^{-2}) - \frac{m(2\lambda)^{n+1}}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \sin \pi(\lambda - c)$$

$$\times \left\{1 + \frac{(a+b-1)(a+b+2-2a) - 2ab + (1-a)(1-b)}{2\lambda} + O(\lambda^{-a})\right\}$$

$$\lambda - c \neq 0, 1, 2, \quad (2a)$$

Perron (1915-1918) also studied the ${}_{2}F_{1}$ for large parameters and has proved that

$$|F|_{(c-r)} |z| \sim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_n(b)_n z^n}{(c-r)_n r!} + \frac{\pi \Gamma(a+b-c+r)}{\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)\Gamma(1-c+r) \sin \pi(c-r)} \times z^1 \cdot \cdots (1-z)^{n-b-r} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1-a)_n(1-b)_n(1-z)^n}{(c+1-a-b-r)_n r!},$$

$$r \to +\infty, \quad r - c \neq 0, 1, 2, \quad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi$$

This completes our discussion of functions of types A and B. The functions of types C and D do not seem to occur in the applications So we dispense with further comments and merely refer the reader to Watson (1918). See also Perron (1915-1918)

7.3 Some Generalizations of the .F. Formulas

Knottnerus (1960) has shown that for z fixed, r sufficiently large and positive,

$$p_{-1}F_{p}\begin{pmatrix} a_{1}+\tau, & a_{k-1}+\tau, a_{k} & a_{k+2} \\ b_{1}+\tau, & b_{k}+\tau, b_{k+1} & b_{k+1} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{n=0}^{m} t_{n} + O(r^{-n-1})$$

$$1 \leq k \leq p, \quad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi, \tag{1}$$

where t_n is the nth term in the $p+1F_p$ series expansion. From 7 2(12) and 3 8(2), for r sufficiently large and positive,

$$\begin{split} & _{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{a+r, b+r}{c+r} \right| z) \\ & = \{1-z\}^{c-b-r} \left[1 + \frac{(c-a)(c-b)z}{r} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{c_{k}}{z^{k}} + O(r^{-k-1}) \right], \\ & c_{k} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k} z^{s}, \quad 2 \leqslant k \leqslant \pi, \quad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi, \end{split}$$

(2)

where the $\alpha_{k,s}$ quantities depend only on a, b, and c, and more generally, Knottnerus shows that

$$a_{p+1}F_{p}\left(\frac{a_{p+1}+r}{b_{p}+r}\middle|z\right) = (1-z)^{\sigma}\left[1+(d_{1}z/2r)+\sum_{k=2}^{n}(d_{k}/r^{k})+O(r^{-n-1})\right],$$

$$\sigma = \sum_{j=1}^{p}b_{j}-\sum_{j=1}^{p+1}a_{j}-r, \qquad d_{1} = (\sigma+r)^{2}-\sum_{j=1}^{p+1}a_{j}^{2}+\sum_{j=1}^{p}b_{j}^{2},$$

$$d_{k} = \sum_{s=1}^{k}\beta_{k,s}z^{s}, \qquad 2 \leqslant k \leqslant n, \qquad |\arg(1-z)| < \pi.$$
(3)

Here the $\beta_{k,s}$ quantities depend only on the parameters a_h and b_h . We sketch the proof of (3) which is by induction. If p=1, (3) and (2) are the same. Assume (3) is true for some integer $p \ge 1$. In (3) replace z by zt, multiply both sides by $t^{a+r-1}(1-t)^{b-a-1}$, and integrate with the aid of 3.6(10) and use (2). It readily follows that (3) holds for p+1 instead of p under the stated conditions, provided further that R(b-a) > 0. This last condition may be relaxed. For this and other details see the reference cited.

Another formula of interest is that for all z, z fixed, and r sufficiently large and positive,

$${}_{p}F_{p}\left(\begin{matrix} a_{p}+r \\ b_{p}+r \end{matrix} \middle| z\right) = e^{z} \left[1 + (f_{1}z/r) + \sum_{k=2}^{n} (f_{k}/r^{k}) + O(r^{-n-1})\right], \quad p > 0,$$

$$f_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{p} (a_{j} - b_{j}), \quad f_{k} = \sum_{s=1}^{k} \gamma_{k,s}z^{s}, \quad 2 \leq k \leq n, \quad (4)$$

where $\gamma_{k,s}$ depends only on the parameters a_h and b_h . If p=1, (4) follows from 4.4(12). Proof of (4) by induction is much like that for (3) where use is made of 4.2(1). Also for z fixed and r sufficiently large and positive,

$${}_{p}F_{q}\left(\begin{matrix} a_{p}+r \\ b_{q}+r \end{matrix} \middle| z \right) = 1 + \sum_{k=0}^{n-2} t_{k} + O(r^{(p-q)n}), \qquad 0 \leqslant p < q,$$

$$t_{k} = \frac{(a_{p}+r)_{k+1}z^{k+1}}{(b_{q}+r)_{k+1}(k+1)!}, \tag{5}$$

where $\sum_{k=0}^{n-2}$ is nil if n=1. Both (4) and (5) have been given by Knottnerus (1960).

In (4) replace - by z/t multiply both s des by $e^{t}t^{-\theta}$, r and integrate with the aid of 3 6(19). Then

$$_{\nu}F_{\nu - 1}\left(\frac{a_{\rho} + r}{b_{\rho} + r} \beta + r\right)z\right) = _{\nu}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{cc} \beta + r & z \end{array}\right) + \frac{f_{1}z}{r(\beta + r)}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{cc} \beta + r + 1 & z \end{array}\right) + O(r^{2})$$
 (6)

valid for all $\sim x$ fixed r sufficiently large and positive. This process may be iterated. Note that each $_4F_1$ in (6) is related to x. Bessel function see 4.466.

The inverse Laplace transform is an excellent technique to get further formulas. Thus starting from (3) we can show that for all z a fixed and z sufficiently large and positive

For the proof use (3) with x replaced by x/t Multiply both sides by $e't^{-1-t}$ and apply 3 6(19) with c>|x| is on that the restriction argiz[xi] is slufflled on the path of integrat on Then (7) readily follows from 4 8(16) In a similar fashion we have from (5) that for all x x fixed and x sufficiently large and positive

$$_{p}F_{e}:\left(\frac{a_{p}+r}{2r+\lambda+1},\frac{a_{p}+r}{b_{e}+r}\right|z)=1+\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}t_{k}^{k}+O(r^{p-k-1}s)\quad 0\leqslant p\leqslant q$$

$$t_{k}^{*}=\frac{(a_{p}+r)_{e}z^{k+1}}{(b_{e}+r)_{e}(2r+\lambda+1)_{e}(k+1)!}$$
(8)

Next if r is sufficently large and positive z fixed $z \neq 0$ $z \neq 1$ arg $(1+z) < \pi$ then

$$\begin{array}{c} {}_{9} \, e^{F_{014}} \left(\frac{a_{g-1} + r \, a + r}{2r + \lambda + 1} \, \delta_{g-r} + 1 \right) \\ \\ \frac{2^{2} \, F(2r + \lambda + 1)(\pi \, r)^{3} \, \varepsilon_{g}}{F(1 + \lambda - \theta + r)F(\theta + r)z^{-\alpha} (1 + e^{-\theta})^{\alpha + 1 + 2}} \frac{z[1 + O(r^{-1})]}{(1 - e^{-\theta})^{\alpha + 1 + 2}} \end{array}$$

$$e^{a}$$
 [2 $z + 2(1 z)^{-2}]/z$ θ $\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} a \sum_{i=1}^{n} b$ (9)

To derive (9), use 3.6(10), (3), and 3.6(1). Thus,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\Gamma(\alpha+r)\Gamma(\lambda+1-\alpha+r)}{\Gamma(2r+\lambda+1)}_{p+2}F_{p+1}\left(\frac{a_{p+1}+r,\alpha+r}{2r+\lambda+1,b_{p}+r}\Big|z\right) \\ &= \int_{0}^{1}t^{\alpha-1+r}(1-t)^{\lambda-\alpha+r}_{p+1}F_{p}\left(\frac{a_{p+1}+r}{b_{p}+r}\Big|zt\right)dt \\ &\sim \int_{0}^{1}t^{\alpha-1+r}(1-t)^{\lambda-\alpha+r}(1-zt)^{-\theta-r}\left(1+\frac{d_{1}zt}{2r}+\frac{d_{2}}{r^{2}}+\cdots\right)dt, \\ &\stackrel{p+2}{=}F_{p+1}\left(\frac{a_{p+1}+r,\alpha+r}{2r+\lambda+1,b_{p}+r}\Big|z\right) \\ &\sim {}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{\alpha+r,\theta+r}{2r+\lambda+1}\Big|z\right)+\frac{d_{1}z(\alpha+r)}{2r(2r+\lambda+1)}{}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{\alpha+1+r,\theta+r}{2r+\lambda+2}\Big|z\right) \\ &+\frac{z(\alpha+r)}{r^{2}(2r+\lambda+1)}\left\{\beta_{2,1}{}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{\alpha+1+r,\theta+r}{2r+\lambda+2}\Big|z\right)\right. \\ &+\frac{\beta_{2,2}z(\alpha+r+1)}{(2r+\lambda+2)}{}_{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{\alpha+2+r,\theta+r}{2r+\lambda+3}\Big|z\right)\right\}+\cdots. \end{split}$$

Now employ 7.2(11) to get (9).

Generalization of the results 7.2(25-29) are also of interest. We prove that for z fixed and r sufficiently large and positive,

$$_{p}F_{q+1}\left(\begin{array}{c}a_{p}\\c-r,b_{q}\end{array}\middle|z\right)=\sum_{n=0}^{m}\frac{(a_{p})_{n}z^{n}}{(c-r)_{n}(b_{q})_{n}n!}+O(r^{-m-1}),$$

$$r-c \neq 0, 1, 2,...;$$
 $p \leq q+1$ or $p=q+2$ and $R(z) < \frac{1}{2}$, (10)

and

$$_{p}F_{q+2}\left(\begin{array}{c|c}a_{p}&(a_{p})_{n}z^{n}\\c-r,d+r,b_{q}&z\end{array}\right)=\sum_{n=0}^{m}\frac{(a_{p})_{n}z^{n}}{(c-r)_{n}(d+r)_{n}(b_{q})_{n}n!}+O(r^{-2m-2}),$$

$$r-c \neq 0, 1, 2,...; p \leq q+2 \text{ or } p=q+3 \text{ and } |\arg(1-z)| < \pi.$$
 (11)

For the proof, we start with 7.2(29). Replace z by zt, multiply by $t^{x-1}(1-t)^{\beta-1}$ and use 3.6(1, 10) and 3.8(2). Then we can write

$${}_{3}F_{2}\left({\begin{array}{*{20}{c}} {a,b,\alpha \atop c-r,\alpha+\beta}} \right|z\right) = U_{m} + V_{m} + W_{m} + X_{m}\,,$$

$$U_{m} = \sum\limits_{n=0}^{m} \frac{(a)_{n}(b)_{n}(\alpha)_{n}z^{n}}{(c-r)_{n}(\alpha+\beta)_{n}n!}\,,$$

$$V_{m} = \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)z^{m+1}}{r^{m+1}\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)} \int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{\alpha+m-1}(1-t)^{\beta-1}f(m,zt)\,dt\,,$$

for consider

$$\begin{split} W_{m} &= \frac{A\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(\alpha-c+r+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\alpha+\beta-c+r+1)} \left(\frac{z}{1-z}\right)^{1-\epsilon r} \\ &\times \sum_{n=0}^{m} h_{n}(1-z)^{n} {}_{z}F_{1} \left[\beta, \alpha+\beta+1-\alpha-b+n\right] z\right), \\ X_{m} &= \frac{A\Gamma(\alpha+\beta)}{r^{2\alpha+1}\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)} \int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{zt}{1-zt}\right)^{1-\epsilon r} (1-r)^{2-1}(1-zt)^{2\alpha+2-\beta}g(m,zt) dt, \\ A &= \frac{F(\alpha+\beta-c+r+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha)\Gamma(\beta)\Gamma(\beta-c+r+1)}, \quad h_{m} &= \frac{(1-\alpha)(1-b)_{m}}{(1-c+1-\alpha-b-r)} \frac{1}{r^{2\alpha+\beta}} \left(\frac{1-r}{r^{2\alpha+\beta}}\right)^{1-\epsilon r} dt, \end{split}$$

where f(m, z) and g(m, z) are bounded for all r uniformly in z, z fixed, $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$ Clearly $V_m = 0(r^{-m-2})$ If $R(z) < \frac{1}{2}$, |z|(1-z)| < 1 and W_m is subdominant to V_m . In the integrand of X_m , replace t by

 $\begin{aligned} (1-u) & |(1-u)| & \text{Then} \\ X_n & = \frac{dI(a+\beta)(1-z)^{n+s+s}}{r^{n+1}\Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)} \Big(\frac{z}{1-z}\Big)^{1-s+r} \\ & \times \Big\{\frac{1}{1-u}\frac{(1-u)^{n+s+s}a^{-1}}{1-uu} + g(n,\frac{z(1-u)}{1-uu})du, \end{aligned}$

and so X_m is also subdominant to V_m . This proves (10) for p=3 and q=1, provided R(a)>0, $R(\beta)>0$. These conditions may be relaxed by appropriate use of loop integrals given in 3.6 Equation (10) follows by induction for general p=q+2 by use of the beta transform Restrictions like R(a)>0. $R(\beta)>0$ may be removed in another way.

$${}_{3}F_{3}\left({\begin{array}{*{20}{c}} {a\,\,b,\alpha - m}\\ {c\,\,-\,\,r,\alpha + \beta - m} \end{array}|x} \right) = \sum\limits_{k = 0}^{m - 1} {\frac{{(a)_{k}(b)_{k}(\alpha - m)_{k}}}{{(c\,\,-\,\,r)_{k}(\alpha + \beta - m)_{m}}}}} \\ + \frac{{(a)_{m}(b)_{m}(\alpha - m)_{m}}}{{(c\,\,-\,\,r)_{m}(\alpha + \beta - m)_{m}m}} \\ \times {}_{4}P_{3}\left({\begin{array}{*{20}{c}} {a\,\,+\,m,b + m\,\,\alpha ,1}\\ {c\,\,-\,\,r,m - m\,\,-\,m\,\,\beta \,\,\beta \,\,1 \,\,+\,m} \end{array}|x} \right)$$

where m is a positive integer such that $0 < R(\alpha) < m$, $0 < R(\alpha + \beta) < m$ Now (10) is valid for the above $_{*}F_{3}$ and so also for the $_{*}F_{3}$. For the case $\rho \leqslant q+1$, (10) is readily proved using the inverse Laplace transform technique. For example, in (10) replace z by z|t, multiply by e^{t+2} and use 3 6(19) In the latter take c > 12z is othat on the path of integration $R(z|t) < \frac{1}{2}$. Then (10) readily follows for p = q+1 provided $R(\beta) > 0$. Thus can be relaxed to long as β is not a negative integer or zero by the

same argument used above to remove restrictions on the parameters incurred by use of the beta transform. Repeated use of 3.6(19) leads to the proof of (10) for p < q + 1.

Next we turn to the proof of (11). We proceed as in the proof of (10) but let $\beta = d - \alpha + r$. We then find that $V_m = O(r^{-2m-1})$. From 7.2(11), it follows that $W_m = O(e^{-rv})$, e^v as in (9), $|e^{-v}| < 1$ for $|\arg(1-z)| < \pi$. Thus W_m is subdominant to V_m . Since g(m, zt) is bounded, it is straightforward to show, with the aid of 3.6(1) and 7.2(11), that $X_m = O(e^{-rv})$. This proves (11) for p = 3 and q = 0. Proof of (11) for general p and q as stated is very much like that for (10) and we dispense with further details.

7.4. Extended Jacobi Polynomials

7.4.1. Preliminary Results

Here we are concerned with the behavior of

$$F_n(z) = {}_{p+2}F_q\left(\frac{-n, n+\lambda, \alpha_p}{\rho_q} \middle| z\right) \tag{1}$$

for large n. The subsequent developments follow closely the work of Fields and Luke (1963) and Fields (1965b).

If p = 0, q = 1, the asymptotic expansion for $F_n(z)$ for large n follows from 7.2(8). In this special case, $F_n(z)$ is essentially the Jacobi polynomial, see 8.2(46), if n is a positive integer. If q = p + 1, we call $F_n(z)$ a generalized Jacobi polynomial, and in general we call $F_n(z)$ the extended Jacobi polynomial.

In our work we need not insist that n be a positive integer unless $q , for otherwise (1) is a divergent series for all <math>z, z \neq 0$. Thus unless q or unless stated otherwise, we suppose that <math>n is a large complex parameter. We also suppose that none of the ρ_h 's, h = 1, 2, ..., q, is a negative integer or zero.

From 5.1(2),

$$[\delta(\delta + \rho_q - 1) + zN^{\beta}(\delta + \alpha_p) - z\delta(\delta + \lambda)(\delta + \alpha_p)]F_n(z) = 0,$$

$$N^{\beta} = n(n + \lambda), \quad \beta = q + 1 - p,$$
(2)

which is of order $M = \max(p + 2, q + 1)$.

For our later work, we need to consider a function of the form

$$G(z) = A \exp \left\{ N \int_{-\infty}^{z} \tau(N, t) dt \right\}, \tag{3}$$

where A is a constant. Where no confusion will result, we write

$$\tau(N, t) = \tau$$
 (4)

+ is defined later by (6)

By induction on k, it can be shown that with G = G(z).

By motition on
$$k$$
, it can be shown that with $O = O(-k)$,
 $G^{-1} \frac{d^2G}{dz^4} = (Nr)^k + N^{k-1} {k \choose 2} r^{k-1} r^{(k)} + N^{k-2} {k \choose 3} r^{k-2} r^{(k)} + 15 {k \choose 4} r^{k-4} (r^{(k)})^k]$

$$+ N^{k-2} {k \choose 4} r^{k-4} r^{(k)} + 10 {k \choose 5} r^{k-2} r^{(k)} r^{(k)} + 15 {k \choose 6} r^{k-4} (r^{(k)})^k]$$

$$+ N^{k-4} {k \choose 5} r^{k-2} r^{(k)} + 5 {k \choose 6} r^{k-4} (3r^{(k)} r^{(k)} + 2(r^{(k)})^k]$$

$$+ 105 {k \choose 1} r^{k-7} (r^{(k)})^2 r^{(k)} + 105 {k \choose 6} r^{k-4} (r^{(k)})^2 + H_{(-k)}(N), \quad (5)$$

where $\tau^{(m)}$ is the mth derivative of τ with respect to t, and $H_{k-5}(N)$ is a polynomial in N of degree (k-5) whose coefficients depend on $\tau^{(j)}, j=0,1,...,k$

Assume that

$$\tau(N t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\tau_k(t)}{N^k} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\tau_k}{N^k}$$
 (6)

With the sid of 2 9(11–13), (2) can be expressed in terms of the differential operator D If we assume that $P_{\epsilon}(x)$ is a function of the form of G of G as given by (3), and employ (3), formal substitution of these developments in (2) gives a power series in N equal to zero. Then, if x_i is chosen so that all ceefficients of powers of N are zero, and $\tau_0 \neq 0$, a generally divergent series (6) is obtained. With the help of this series and (3), formal solutions of (2) are obtained which serve as asymptotic representations of certain solutions of (2) in appropriate regions of the z-plane. The equation for x_i is called the characteristic equation of the differential equation, and its behavior changes radically as q = p + 1 (Case 1), $a \in S$, Clase 2), $a \in S$, $b \in S$ (Case 1), $a \in S$, Clase 2), $a \in S$, $b \in S$ (Case 2), $a \in S$, $b \in S$ (Case 2), $a \in S$, $b \in S$ (Case 2).

742 Case 1, q = p + 1

Here $\beta = 2$, and we take

$$N^s = n(n + \lambda) \tag{1}$$

Since infinity is a regular singular point of 7.4 I(2), $F_n(z)$ can be given as a linear combination of solutions around infinity of 7.4 I(2). Replacing

the solutions around infinity by their asymptotic representations for large n, we arrive at an asymptotic representation for $F_n(z)$, for large n.

A fundamental set of solutions for Case 1 of 7.4.1(2) contains M = p + 2 functions. There are p formal, algebraic, descending series solutions of 7.4.1(2) of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_t)}(z) = \frac{(\alpha_p)_{-\alpha_t}^*}{(\rho_{p+1})_{-\alpha_t}} (z)^{-\alpha_t} \times_{p+2} F_{p+1} \left(\frac{\alpha_t}{1 + \alpha_t + n, 1 + \alpha_t - n - \lambda, 1 + \alpha_t - \alpha_p^*} \left| \frac{1}{z} \right)$$
(2)

where t=1, 2,..., p and an asterisk means to delete the term when the subscripts t and p coincide. Observe that (2) and 5.11.1(7) differ only by a function independent of z if in the latter we replace p and q by p+2 and p+1, respectively, and set α_h equal to -n and $n+\lambda$ for h=p+1 and p+2, respectively. Note that (2) and the functions in 5.1(27) are also closely related. For |z|>1, the series defining $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_1)}(z)$ converge and are valid solutions of 7.4.1(2). Since n enters into two denominator parameters of the p+2 p+1 functions of (2), $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_1)}(z)$ may be considered as essentially an asymptotic expansion for large n of a valid solution of 7.4.1(2). Then for $0<|z|\leqslant 1$, these same functions also serve as asymptotic expansions for large n to valid solutions of 7.4.1(2), see Erdélyi (1956) and the references given there. The $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_1)}(z)$'s then correspond to the p identically vanishing roots of the equation for τ_0 , see 7.4.1(6). They are linearly independent if no two of the α_h 's differ by an integer or zero. However, as previously noted, we can always get linearly independent solutions by taking limiting forms, see 5.1(27-30).

The lead terms of the exponential asymptotic expansions of the remaining M-p=2 solutions of the fundamental set of solutions are computed by the formal procedure described above in the discussion surrounding 7.4.1(3-6), and are denoted by $\mathcal{K}_2^{(i)}(z)$, j=1,2. Here $\mathcal{K}_2^{(1)}(z)$ corresponds to the characteristic root $\tau_0=i[z(1-z)^{1/2}]$, and $\mathcal{K}_2^{(2)}(z)$ is $\mathcal{K}_2^{(1)}(z)$ with i replaced by -i. We may now write

$$F_n(z) \sim \sum_{t=1}^p A_t \mathcal{L}_{p+2, p+1}^{(\alpha_t)}(z) + A_{p+1} \mathcal{K}_2^{(1)}(z) + A_{p+2} \mathcal{K}_2^{(2)}(z), \tag{3}$$

where the A_i 's, t = 1, 2, ..., p + 2, are connecting constants independent of z but dependent on n. We next determine the lead terms of the asymptotic expansions of the A_i 's for $n \to \infty$. By the confluence

principle [see 3 5(34)], if $|z| < |n(n + \lambda)|$,

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} F_n\left(\frac{z}{n(n+\lambda)}\right) = \lim_{n\to\infty} \sum_{p\geq 1} F_{p+1}\left(-n, n+\lambda, \alpha_p \mid \frac{z}{n(n+\lambda)}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{p} F_{p+1}\left(\frac{\alpha_p}{\rho_{p+1}} \mid -z\right) \qquad (4)$$

Thus, if in (3), z is replaced by $z/n(n + \lambda)$ while $0 \leqslant |z| \leqslant n(n + \lambda)$, then the A/s can be found for large n by comparison with the asymptotic

representation of ${}_pF_{p+1}(x_p\,,\rho_{p+1}\,,\,-z)$ for large z, see 511 2(1) We find that

$$A_t \sim \frac{(n+\lambda)_{-a_t}}{(n+1)_{a_t}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_i^{(k)} N^{-j}, \quad c_0^{(k)} = 1, \quad t = 1, 2, ..., p,$$
 (5)

$$A_{p+1} \sim \frac{N^{2p}\Gamma(p_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\alpha_p)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \epsilon^{l_{p+1}} \exp \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^{p} [a_j + ib_j] N^{-j} \right\},$$
 (6)

and A_{p+1} is A_{p+1} with t replaced by -t In 743 we will show by Darboux's method that

$$c_i^{(t)} = 0, \quad j \ge 1, \quad t = 1, 2, ., p,$$

 $b_1 = b_2 = b_3 = b_4 = 0, \quad a_1 = a_3 = 0,$
(7)

and a_2 has the value given in (9) Thus,

$$\begin{split} \Pr_{p+2} F_{p+1} \left(-\frac{\pi_i \pi + \lambda_i \alpha_p}{\rho_{p+1}} | \pi \right) &\sim \sum_{i=1}^{p} \frac{(\pi + \lambda_i)_{n_i}}{(\pi + 1)_{n_i}} \frac{g_{i+\lambda_i}}{\rho_{p+1}}(x) \\ &+ \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(x_p) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} N^{n_0} [\sin \theta/2]^{n_0} [\cos \theta/2] \stackrel{p_{r-\lambda}}{\sim} \\ &\times \exp[N^{n_0} \mathbb{F}_p f_0] + \alpha_2 \right] + O(N^{-6}) \\ &\times \cos[N^{n_0} \mathbb{F}_p \pi + N^{-1} p_1(\theta) \\ &+ N^{n_0} p_1(\theta) + O(N^{-4})), \\ &\text{| } \arg \pi \mid \leqslant \pi - \varepsilon, \quad |\arg (1 - \pi)| \leqslant \pi - \varepsilon, \quad \varepsilon > 0. \end{cases} \tag{8}$$

where

$$\cos \theta = 1 - 2z$$
 or $z = \sin^2 \theta_1 2$,
 $N^2 = \pi(n + \lambda)$, $y = (4)^{-1}(1 + 2B_1 - 2C_1)$.

$$B_1 = \sum_{t=1}^{p} \alpha_t, \qquad C_1 = \sum_{t=1}^{p+1} \rho_t,$$

$$B_2 = \sum_{s=2}^{p} \sum_{t=1}^{s-1} \alpha_s \alpha_t, \qquad C_2 = \sum_{s=2}^{p+1} \sum_{t=1}^{s-1} \rho_s \rho_t,$$

$$B_3 = \sum_{r=3}^{p} \sum_{s=2}^{r-1} \sum_{t=1}^{s-1} \alpha_r \alpha_s \alpha_t, \qquad C_3 = \sum_{r=3}^{p+1} \sum_{s=2}^{r-1} \sum_{t=1}^{s-1} \rho_r \rho_s \rho_t, \quad \text{etc.}$$

$$\varphi_1(\theta) = (\mu_1 + \mu_2) \cot(\theta/2) - 2(\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_3) \cot \theta - \mu_1 \theta/2,$$

$$\varphi_2(\theta) = \mu_4 [\sec(\theta/2)]^2 + \mu_5 [\csc(\theta/2)]^2,$$

$$\varphi_3(\theta) = \frac{1}{3} [\mu_6 + \mu_7 + \mu_8 + \mu_9] \cot^3(\theta/2) + [\mu_8 + \mu_9 - \mu_6] \cot(\theta/2)$$

$$- \frac{8}{3} [\mu_6 + \mu_7 + \mu_8 + \mu_9 + \mu_{10}] \cot^3 \theta$$

$$- 2[\mu_7 + 2\mu_8 + 3\mu_9 + 4\mu_{10}] \cot \theta + \mu_6 \theta/2,$$

$$a_2 = -\lambda^2/16 + (2)^{-1}\lambda(C_2 - B_2 + (2)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)(B_1 + C_1 - 1))$$

$$+ (12)^{-1} \{3(B_1 + C_1) - 2(B_1^2 + B_1C_1 + C_1^2) - 1\}(B_1 - C_1)$$

$$+ (2)^{-1} \{B_2(B_1 - 1) + C_2(1 - C_1) + C_3 - B_3\},$$

$$\mu_1 = -\lambda^2/4,$$

$$\mu_2 = (2)^{-1}(C_1 - B_1)(2B_1 + \lambda - 1) + B_2 - C_2 + 1/4,$$

$$\mu_3 = (4)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)(3B_1 + C_1 - 2) + C_2 - B_2 - 3/16,$$

$$\mu_4 = (16)^{-1}(2\gamma + \lambda - 1)(2\gamma + \lambda) = -(4)^{-1}(\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_3),$$

$$\mu_5 = (16)^{-1}(C_1 - B_1)(8B_2 - 8B_1^2 + 11B_1 + C_1 - 2)$$

$$+ (4)^{-1}(C_2 - B_2)(2B_1 - 3) - (2)^{-1}(C_3 - B_3) + 3/64,$$

$$\mu_6 = -\lambda^4/64,$$

$$\mu_7 = (4)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)[4B_3 + 10B_2 - 8B_1B_2 + 7B_1 + 4B_1^3 - 10B_1^2$$

$$+ 2\lambda B_2 + 2\lambda B_1 - 2\lambda B_1^2 - \lambda^2 B_1/2 - \lambda^3/4 + \lambda^2/4 + \lambda/2 - 1/2]$$

$$+ (4)^{-1}(B_2 - C_2)[4B_2 - 4B_1^2 + 10B_1 + 2\lambda B_1 - 2\lambda + \lambda^2/2 - 7]$$

$$+ (2)^{-1}(2B_1 - \lambda - 5)(B_3 - C_3) + C_4 - B_4 + 3\lambda^2/32 - 1/16,$$

$$\mu_{10} = (64)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)[C_1^3 + 5B_1C_1^2 + 35B_1^2C_1 - 105B_1^3 + 236B_1^2$$

$$+ 160B_1B_2 - 24B_2C_1 - 8C_1C_2 - 40B_1C_1 - 4C_1^2 - 192B_2 - 64B_3$$

$$- 291B_1/2 - C_1/2 + 9] + (8)^{-1}(B_2 - C_2)[2C_2 - 10B_2 + 6C_1$$

$$- 30B_1 - 7B_1C_1 + 15B_1^2 + 73/4]$$

$$+ (2)^{-1}(B_3 - C_3)(C_1 - 3B_1 + 6) + B_4 - C_4 + 63/1024,$$

$$2\mu_2 + \mu_3 - \mu_{12} = (64)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)[2B_1 - 8\lambda^2B_1 - 8\lambda^2 + 4\lambda^2 + 2\lambda^2 - 1]$$
+ $(8)^{-1}[B_1 - C_1)^2[A_1 - 2\lambda B_1 - 3\lambda^4_1 / 4\lambda + 23)]6]$
+ $(64)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)^2(A - 2B_1 - C_1)$
+ $(8)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)(B_1 - C_1)^2$
+ $(B_1 - C_1)(B_1 - C_1)(A_1 - B_1)$
+ $(B_1 - C_1)(B_1 - C_1)(A_1 - C_1)^2$
+ $(B_1 - C_1)(B_1 - C_1)(A_1 - C_1)$
+ $(A_1 - A_1)(A_1 - A_1)(A_1$

 $\mu_0 + \mu_2 + \mu_3 + \mu_4 + \mu_{10} = -(64)^{-1}(2y + \lambda - 3)(2y + \lambda - 1)(2y + \lambda)(2y + \lambda + 2)$ = $(2)^{-1}\mu_4(3 - 8\mu_4)$,

$$\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_3 = -(4)^{-1}(2\gamma + \lambda)(2\gamma + \lambda - 1),$$

$$\mu_6 + \mu_7 + \mu_8 + \mu_9 + \mu_{10} = -(64)^{-3}(2y + \lambda + 2)(2y + \lambda)$$
× $(2y + \lambda - 1)(2y + \lambda - 3)$.

$$\mu_2 + 2\mu_0 + 3\mu_0 + 4\mu_{10} = 3(\mu_0 + \mu_0 + \mu_0 + \mu_0 + \mu_0)$$

$$= (2\mu_0 + \mu_0 - \mu_{10}) - 3\mu_0$$

The coefficient a_2 as given by Fields (1965b) deletes the factor $(B_1 - C_1)$ from the (12)-1{ } term

(9)

The restrictions on arg z in (8) arise since the real axis is the Stokes line for $_{p}F_{p+1}(a_{p}, \rho_{p+1}, -z)$, and the confluence on $F_{n}(z)$ effectively moves the singularity at unity of $F_{n}(z)$ out to infinity, along the positive real axis

By induction, it can be shown that with the exception of πy , only odd powers of N appear inside the cosine term of (8) with curly brackets, while only even powers of N appear in the exponential term

Representations valid along the negative real axis and positive real axis to the right of unity can be similarly constructed. The connecting constants in this instance are determined from (8) by comparing the dominant terms in those overlapping regions where both representations are valid. Hence

$$\sum_{p+2}^{p} \frac{(n+\lambda)_{-\alpha_{t}}}{(n+1)_{\alpha_{t}}} \mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_{t})}(z)$$

$$+ (-)^{n} \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})N^{2\gamma}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \left[\cosh(\eta/2)\right]^{2\gamma} \left[\sinh(\eta/2)\right]^{-2\gamma-\lambda}$$

$$\times \exp\{N^{-2}(\varphi_{2}(\pi+\eta i)+a_{2}] + O(N^{-4})\}$$

$$\times \cosh\{N\eta - iN^{-1}[\varphi_{1}(\pi+\eta i)+\mu_{1}\pi/2]$$

$$- iN^{-3}[\varphi_{3}(\pi+\eta i)-\mu_{6}\pi/2] + O(N^{-5})\},$$

$$\cosh \eta = 2z - 1, \quad |\arg(z-1)| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0. \quad (11)$$

Note that in the development of (8), we could only infer the value of a_2 upon appeal to Darboux's method (see 7.4.3) which postulates that $F_n(z)$ is a polynomial. However, in some recent work Fields (1968) has shown that the results of the Darboux analysis remain valid for n not an integer. It should also be pointed out that the expansions (8)–(11) are not uniform in z. The work of Fields mentioned above contains uniform expansions of $F_n(z)$ for $0 \le z \le 1$. In particular, it is shown that the polynomials have a uniform algebraic rate of growth when $0 \le z \le 1$. Also it turns out that (8) is valid for 0 < z < 1 and λ bounded so long as $N \sin \theta \to \infty$, and the first and second O-symbols in (8) are replaced by $O((N \sin \theta)^{-4})$ and $O((N \sin \theta)^{-5})$, respectively.

The representations (8)-(11) are essentially generalizations of 7.2(8) and agree in the p=0 case up to terms of $O(n^{-1})$. The difference comes in the choice of the large parameter. Classically one puts $N=n+\lambda/2$, but from the differential equation 7.4.1(2), it is much more natural to set $N^2=n(n+\lambda)$.

If λ is bounded, the expansions (8)-(11) can be improved as follows. Since

$$(n + \lambda/2) = N(1 + \lambda^2/4N^2)^{1/2},$$

$$N = n + \lambda/2 - N^{-1}(\lambda^2/8) + N^{-3}(\lambda^4/128) + O(N^{-5}),$$
(12)

the cos or cosh terms with curly brackets in (8), (10), and (11) can be rewritten, respectively, as follows:

$$\cos\{(n+\lambda/2)\theta + \pi\gamma + N^{-1}\Phi_1(\theta) + N^{-3}\Phi_3(\theta) + O(N^{-5})\},\tag{13}$$

$$\cosh\{(n+\lambda/2)\xi - iN^{-1}\Phi_1(\xi i) - iN^{-3}\Phi_3(\xi i) + O(N^{-5})\},\tag{14}$$

$$\cosh\{(n+\lambda/2)\eta - iN^{-1}\Phi_1(\pi+\eta i) - iN^{-3}\Phi_3(\pi+\eta i) + O(N^{-5})\}, \quad (15)$$

$$\Phi_1(\theta) = \varphi_1(\theta) - \lambda^2 \theta/8, \qquad \Phi_3(\theta) = \varphi_3(\theta) + \lambda^4 \theta/128. \tag{16}$$

The choice $N^2 = n(n+\lambda)$ is advantageous since N large leads to the dual interpretation that either n or λ or both n and λ are large. Suppose now

Except for those values of x explicitly excluded, and the singular points zero, one, and infinity, (8), (10), (11) hold for all fixed x values as $N \to \infty$ For N fixed and x varying, we require that the correction terms in the above representations be small. It appears sufficient to have the pragmatic restriction $N^2x \to \infty$, $N^3(1-x) \to \infty$, and $\ln |x| \leqslant O(N)$ for x near zero, unity, and infinity, respectively.

The case $0 < z \le 1$ has been studied by Fields (1965b) in a different manner using Darboux's method of generating functions, and we now turn to 743 for this development

743 An Alternative Method for q = p + 1

In this section we use Darboux's classical method of generating functions [see, for example, Courant and Hilbert (1955) and Szego (1959)] to deduce the lead terms of the asymptotic expansion of 7 4 1(1) for large n when $0 < z \leqslant 1$ We suppose that n is a positive integer (but see the comments following 7 4 2 (11)] and consider

$$G_{p,q}(t,z) = (1-t)^{-\lambda} \sum_{p+2} F_q \left(\alpha_p, \lambda / 2, (\lambda+1) / 2 \right) - \frac{4tz}{(1-t)^q}$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda)_n t^n}{n!} \sum_{p+2} F_q \left(-n, n+\lambda, \alpha_p \mid z \right)$$

which is proved in 9 1(36) If z is fixed and $p \le q + 1$, (1) is valid near t = 0 We temporarily assume that

$$\alpha_j$$
 is not a negative integer or zero $j = 1, 2, ..., p$,

$$\alpha_i - \alpha_i$$
 is not an integer or zero $i \neq 1, i = 1, 2, p$ (4)

We take $0 < z \le 1$, q = p + 1, and write G(t, z) for $G_{p, p+1}(z)$ Then G(t, z) as a power series in t has radius of convergence unity and singularities at t = 1 and $t = e^{\pm i\theta}$ where

$$z \approx (1 - \cos \theta)/2 = \sin^2 \theta/2 \tag{5}$$

(1)

In the Darboux analysis, we must know the behavior of G(t, z) near these singularities

The behavior of G(t, z) for t near unity $[-4tz/(1-t)^2$ near infinity] follows from 5.3(3). Thus with $\alpha_h = \lambda/2$ and $\alpha_{h+1} = (\lambda+1)/2$ for h = p + 1,

$$G(t,z) = \sum_{h=1}^{p} \frac{(\alpha_{p+2})_{-\alpha_{h}}^{*} (1-t)^{2\alpha_{h}-\lambda}}{(\rho_{p+1})_{-\alpha_{h}} (4tz)^{\alpha_{h}}} {}_{p+2} F_{p+1} \begin{pmatrix} 1+\alpha_{h}-\rho_{p+1}, \alpha_{h} & \frac{1}{tv} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{-\lambda/2}}{(\rho_{p+1})_{-\lambda/2} (\frac{1}{2})_{\lambda/2} (4tz)^{\lambda/2}} {}_{p+2} F_{p+1} \begin{pmatrix} 1+\lambda/2-\rho_{p+1}, \lambda/2 & \frac{1}{tv} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{-(\lambda+1)/2} \Gamma(-\frac{1}{2}) (1-t)}{(\rho_{p+1})_{-(\lambda+1)/2} \Gamma(\lambda/2) (4tz)^{(\lambda+1)/2}} \times {}_{p+2} F_{p+1} \begin{pmatrix} 1+(\lambda+1)/2-\rho_{p+1}, (\lambda+1)/2 & \frac{1}{tv} \\ 1+(\lambda+1)/2-\alpha_{p}, 3/2 & \frac{1}{tv} \end{pmatrix}, v = -4tz(1-t)^{-2}, \quad |\arg(-v)| < \pi.$$
 (6)

The behavior of G(t, z) for t near $e^{\pm i\theta}$ is more complicated, but can be deduced from the work of Norland (1955). Since

$$(1-t)^2 + 4zt = (t - e^{-i\theta})(t - e^{i\theta}), \tag{7}$$

t near $e^{i\theta}$ implies that $w = -4\pi t(1-t)^{-2}$ is near unity. Nörlund's analysis shows that under conditions (2), (3)

$$\frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\lambda)\Gamma(\alpha_{p})}{2^{\lambda-1}\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})} \Big|_{p+2}F_{p+1} \left(\frac{\lambda/2, (\lambda+1)/2, \alpha_{p}}{\rho_{p+1}} \right) w \right) \\
= \Gamma(-\Delta_{p+2})(1-w)^{\Delta_{p+2}}\psi_{p+2}(w) + \varphi_{p+2}(w), \\
\Delta_{p+2} \neq \text{ integer or zero;} \\
= \frac{(-)^{1+\Delta_{p+2}}}{\Gamma(1+\Delta_{p+2})}(1-w)^{\Delta_{p+2}}\ln(1-w)\psi_{p+2}(w) + \varphi_{p+2}(w), \\
\Delta_{p+2} = \text{a positive integer or zero;} \\
= \Gamma(-\Delta_{p+2})(1-w)^{\Delta_{p+2}}\chi_{p+2}(w) + (-)^{1+\Delta_{p+2}}\ln(1-w)\eta_{p+2}(w) + \varphi_{p+2}(w), \\
\Delta_{p+2} = \text{a negative integer;}$$

where

$$w = -4tz(1-t)^{-2}, \qquad \Delta_{p+2} = C_1 - B_1 - \lambda - \frac{1}{2} = -2\gamma - \lambda,$$
 (9)

 γ as in 7.4.2(9), and where $\psi_{p+2}(w)$, $\eta_{p+2}(w)$, and $\varphi_{p+2}(w)$ are analytic functions of w at w= unity, and $\chi_{p+2}(w)$ is a polynomial in w of degree $-(1+\Delta_{p+2})$, $\psi_{p+2}(w)$ and $\chi_{p+2}(w)$ are normalized so that $\psi_{p+2}(1)=\chi_{p+2}(1)=1$. For $\theta=\pi$, that is, z=1, the singularities at $e^{\pm i\theta}$ coalesce. For this reason the analysis breaks down into the cases 0< z<1 and z=1. We consider the case 0< z<1 first.

By Darboux's method, the coefficients of t^a in those terms of (6) and (8) which are singular at t = unity and w = unity, respectively, must be asymptotically equivalent to the coefficient of t^a in the right-hand side of (1). This leads to the representation 7.4.2(3) and to the evaluation of the coefficients A_1 , h = 1, 2, p + 2 [see 7.4.2(5-7)]. We next illustrate the computation relating to (6)

Let H(t) stand for the first p terms in the expansion (6) for G(t,z)Under the assumption that $2\alpha_k - \lambda$ is not a positive integer or zero, H(t) is not analytic at t = unity Put

$$Q_k(t) = \int_{-a_k}^{a_k} F_{p+1} \left(\frac{1 + a_k - \rho_{p+1}, a_k}{1 + a_k - a_{p+1}^{**}} \right) - \frac{(1 - t)^2}{4tx},$$
 (10)

and in place of t, write 1 - (1 - t) Then

$$\Omega_k(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k \Omega_{kk} (1-t)^k, \quad \Omega_{k0} = 1,$$
 (11)

and

$$\frac{\pi!}{(\lambda)_n}H(t) = \frac{\pi!}{(\lambda)_n}\sum_{k=1}^p \frac{(\alpha_p)_{-a_k}^*(\lambda'2)_{-a_k}[(\lambda+1)/2]_{-a_k}}{(\rho_{p+1})_{-a_k}(4\pi)^{a_k}}\sum_{k=0}^\infty (-)^k\Omega_{k-k}(1-t)^{2a_k-b+k}$$

$$=\frac{\pi^{1}}{(\lambda)_{n}}\sum_{k=1}^{p}\frac{(\alpha_{p})_{-\alpha_{k}}^{*}(\lambda)_{-2\alpha_{k}}}{(\rho_{p+1})_{-\alpha_{k}}Z^{\alpha_{k}}}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}(-)^{k}\Omega_{k}\sum_{s=0}^{\infty}\frac{(\lambda-2\alpha_{k}-k)_{s}t^{s}}{s!}$$

$$= \frac{n!}{(\lambda)_n} \sum_{k=1}^{p} \frac{(x_p)_{-n_k}^k z^{-n_k}}{(\rho_{p+1})_{-n_k}} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \Omega_{k,k} (1-\lambda+2x_k)_k \sum_{p=0}^{n} \frac{(\lambda+1)}{s!} \frac{x_{n_k-1}(\lambda)_p t^p}{s!}$$
(12)

The coefficient of t^n in (12) is easily read and comparing with 7.4.2(3, 5), we see that

$$\frac{(n+\lambda)_{-a_i}}{(n+1)_{a_i}} \mathcal{L}_{p+2}^{(a_j)} {}_{p+1}(z) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_j^{(i)} N^{-j} \sim \frac{(n+\lambda)_{-a_i}}{(n+1)_{a_i}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} d_j^{(i)} V^{-j}, \quad (13)$$

where d_1^{jh} is a rational expression in the a_j 's whose coefficients depend on x. The coefficients d_j^{th} and d_j^{th} are related as follows. If $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+3,p+1}^{p+2}(x)$ is expanded in powers of N^j and this series is multiplied by $\sum_{i=1}^{p+2}d_i^{th}N^i$, the resulting coefficients of N^{ij} must be d_j^{th} since the Poincare coefficients are unique. Suppose onw that among the a_j 's, one of these, call

it α_I , is a negative integer. It follows from 7.4.1(1), 3.2(3), and 7.4.2(2) that

$$F_n(z) = \frac{(n+\lambda)_{-\alpha_t}}{(n+1)_{\alpha_t}} \mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_t)}(z), \tag{14}$$

and as (14) must be the same as the left-hand side of (13), it follows that $c_j^{(l)} = 0$, $j \ge 1$. But for j fixed, $c_j^{(l)}$ has only a finite number of distinct zeros as a rational expression in α_j . Also $c_j^{(l)}$ must vanish when α_j is any one of an infinity of negative integers. Hence $c_j^{(l)} \equiv 0$, $j \ge 1$. Allowing t to take on the values 1, 2, ..., p, we get the first part of the statement 7.4.2(7).

The same kind of computation relating to (8) is straightforward. For 0 < z < 1, the analysis leads to the representation of A_{p+1} as given by 7.4.2(6) and after some lengthy algebra the first few coefficients in the series for A_{p+1} are as stated in 7.4.2(7).

We now discuss the conditions (2)-(4). We can remove (2) in virtue of the remarks surrounding (14). Concerning (3), we can use the duplication formula for gamma functions to write

$$\Gamma(\lambda)G_{p,q}(t,z) = (1-t)^{-\lambda} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\lambda+2k)(\alpha_p)_k}{(\rho_q)_k k!} \left[\frac{-zt}{(1-t)^2} \right]^k$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(\lambda+n)t^n}{n!} {}_{p+2}F_q \left(\frac{-n, n+\lambda, \alpha_p}{\rho_q} \middle| z \right). \tag{15}$$

Then, if λ approaches the nonpositive integer (-m), only the first (m+1) terms on the right of (15) would fail to be defined. But these (m+1) terms can be removed by (m+1) differentiations with respect to t. The analysis of $\partial^{m+1} \{\Gamma(\lambda)G(t,z)\}/\partial t^{m+1}$ can be carried out as before. Finally, if two or more of the α_j 's differ by an integer or zero, then the representation (6) for G(t,z) contains terms involving $\ln w$, see the remarks surrounding 5.1(27-30). But it can be shown that this would not invalidate the analysis based on Darboux's method. Thus the conditions (2)-(4) may be omitted.

We now turn to the situation when z=1, $w=-4t/(1-t)^2$. In the application of Darboux's method, the analysis based on (6) when 0 < z < 1 continues to apply when z=1. As previously remarked, the singularities of G(t,z), $t=e^{\pm i\theta}$, coalesce when z=1, that is, $\theta=\pi$ and w=1. From (1) and (8) we need $n!/(\lambda)_n$ times the coefficient of t^n in

$$G^* = \frac{(1-t)^{-\lambda}2^{\lambda-1}\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(\lambda)\Gamma(\alpha_p)}\Gamma(\lambda+2\gamma)(1-w)^{-\lambda-2\gamma}\psi_{p+2}(w). \tag{16}$$

It is convenient to let

$$(1-t)^{k+ky}\psi_{p+y}(w) = 2^{k+ky}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}g_k(1+t)^k, \quad g_0 = 1$$
 (17)

By direct computation, we find from Norland's analysis

$$\begin{split} g_1 &= -\left[(\lambda + 1)/2 + B_1 - C_1 \right], \\ g_2 &= \frac{(\lambda - \frac{1}{4} + \frac{B_1}{4} - C_1)^{-1}}{4} \left[2 \left(\frac{\lambda + 1}{2} + B_1 - C_1 \right) \left(\frac{\lambda}{2} + B_1 - C_1 \right) \right], \\ &\times (\lambda - 1 + B_1 - C_1) + B_1(B_1 - C_1) - (B_2 - C_2) \right], \\ g_3 &= -\frac{((\lambda - 1)/2 + B_1 - C_1)}{4(\lambda - \frac{1}{2} + B_1 - C_1)} \left[\frac{2}{3} \left(\frac{\lambda + 1}{2} + B_1 - C_1 \right) \left(\frac{\lambda}{2} + B_1 - C_1 \right) \right], \\ &\times (\lambda - 2 + B_1 - C_1) + B_1(B_1 - C_1) - (B_2 - C_2) \right] \end{split}$$

Combining (16) and (17), we have

$$G^{*} = \frac{2^{2i+4r-1}\Gamma(\lambda + 2r)\Gamma(p_{r+1})}{\Gamma(k)\Gamma(p_{r+1})}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} g_{k}(1+t)^{k-4r-2k}$$

$$= \frac{2^{2i+4r-1}\Gamma(\lambda + 2r)\Gamma(p_{r+1})}{\Gamma(k)\Gamma(k)\Gamma(r)}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} g_{k}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{r}(-k+4r+2k)J_{r}^{r}}{r!}, \quad (19)$$

and with V_n equal to $n!/(\lambda)_n$ times the coefficient of t^n in (19), we get

$$V_n = \frac{(-)^n(\lambda + n)_{\lambda+k}\Gamma(\rho_{p+1})}{\Gamma(\alpha_p)\Gamma(\lambda + 2\gamma + 1)} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{g_k(1 - 4\gamma - 2\lambda)_k}{(1 - 4\gamma - 2\lambda - n)_k}$$
(20)

Now from 2 11(12) and the definition of N, for n sufficiently large,

$$(\lambda + n)_{\lambda+4\gamma} \sim n^{\lambda+4\gamma} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h_k n^{-k}, \quad (\lambda + n)_{\lambda+4\gamma} \sim N^{\lambda+4\gamma} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h_k^{+} N^{-k},$$
 (21)

where the h_k 's and the $h_k^{\pm i}$'s are readily evaluated. We can also develop for n sufficiently large

$$[(1-4\gamma-2\lambda-n)_k]^{-1}=N^{-k}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}u_kN^{-k}, \qquad (22)$$

and so we can denote an asymptotic expansion for V_n in descending powers of N

Putting all our results together for z = 1, we get

$$\frac{1}{\rho_{p+1}} \left(-n, \frac{n+\lambda}{\rho_{p+1}}, \alpha_{p} \right) \sim \sum_{t=1}^{p} \frac{(n+\lambda)_{-\alpha_{t}}}{(n+1)_{\alpha_{t}}} \mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_{t})}(1) + \frac{(-)^{n} \Gamma(\rho_{p+1}) N^{\lambda+4\gamma}}{\Gamma(\lambda+2\gamma+\frac{1}{2}) \Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \{1 + EN^{-2} + O(N^{-4})\}, \tag{23}$$

where

$$\begin{split} 4\gamma &= 1 + 2B_1 - 2C_1 \,, \\ E &= (24)^{-1} \{ (\lambda + 1 + 2B_1 - 2C_1)[3\lambda^2 - (\lambda + 2B_1 - 2C_1)(\lambda + 2 + 2B_1 - 2C_1)] \\ &\quad + 24(\lambda + B_1 - C_1)[B_1^2 - B_1C_1 + C_2 - B_2] \}, \end{split} \tag{24}$$

and the notation is as in 7.4.2(9). Had (20) been used as is, and $[(1-4\gamma-2\lambda-n)_k]^{-1}$ developed as a descending series in $(n+\lambda)$, the last term of (23) would have contained nonzero terms of order $(n+\lambda)^{-r}$, r=1, 3. The advantage in expanding in powers of 1/N is manifest.

A special case of (23) is interesting. Suppose p=1 and the $_3F_2$ is Saalschützian, see 3.13.3(2, 4). This implies that $(\lambda + 2\gamma + \frac{1}{2})$ is nil and so the last term in (23) is nil.

S. O. Rice (1940) used Darboux's method for the polynomials ${}_{3}F_{2}(-n, n+1, \zeta; 1, p; v)$ and obtained the analogs of 7.4.2(8) and (23) as modified by the discussion following (24). His analysis was simplified, however, by the fact that the generating function G(t, z) of these polynomials reduces to the classical Gaussian hypergeometric function by cancellation of factors.

7.4.4. Case 2, $q \leq p$

In this situation, we must presume that n is a positive integer or zero. As before $F_n(z)$ obeys 7.4.1(2), which is of order M = p + 2, and there are (p + 2) descending solutions of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{p+2,q}^{(\alpha_t)}(z) = \frac{(\alpha_p)_{-\alpha_t}^* z^{-\alpha_t}}{(\rho_q)_{-\alpha_t}} \times_{q+1} F_{p+1} \left(\frac{\alpha_t}{1 + \alpha_t + n, 1 + \alpha_t - n - \lambda, 1 + \alpha_t - \alpha_p^*}{1 + \alpha_t + n, 1 + \alpha_t - n - \lambda, 1 + \alpha_t - \alpha_p^*} \right) \frac{(-)^{q-p+1}}{z},$$

$$t = 1, 2, ..., p, \quad (1)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}^{(1)}(z) = \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{n}}{(\rho_{q})_{n}} (-z)^{n}_{q+1} F_{p+1} \left(\frac{-n, -n - \rho_{q} + 1}{1 - 2n - \lambda, 1 - n - \alpha_{p}} \middle| \frac{(-)^{q-p+1}}{z} \right), \quad (2)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}^{(q)}(z) = \frac{(a_{2})_{-q-1}}{(\rho_{2})_{-q-1}} z^{-g-1} \times e^{\pm i F_{p+1}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \pi + \lambda_{1} \pi + \lambda - \rho_{q} + 1 \\ 1 + 2\pi + \lambda + \mu + \lambda - \mu_{q} \end{array} \right\} \frac{(-)^{q-p+1}}{(-1)^{q-p+1}}$$
(3)

The restriction 7.4.3(4) guarantees that the solutions (1)-(3) are linearly independent, but this requirement may be waived as in the case a = b + 1

q = p + 1In general, $F_n(z)$ is a linear combination of (1)-(3) In fact, under any particular set of restrictions on the parameters α_t and λ , $F_n(z)$ equals one and only one of these b + 2 solutions. e.g.

$$F_n(z) = \frac{(n + \lambda)_{-\alpha_n}}{(n + 1)} \mathcal{L}_{p+2}^{(\alpha_n)}(z) \qquad (4)$$

if some one α_m is a negative integer, $-\alpha_m \leq n$, λ is not a negative integer,

$$F_n(z) = \frac{1}{(n+1)\dots \mathcal{H}_2^{(2)}} \mathcal{H}_2^{(2)}(z),$$
 (5)

if no a_1 is a negative integer, λ is a negative integer, $2\pi > -\lambda$, etc We remark that although the $\mathcal{L}_{p+2}^{(n)}(a_2)$, $\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(n)}(2)$, and $\mathcal{L}_{2}^{(n)}(a)$ are descending series in a, the way n appears makes them suitable for computation for large n. For the purposes of asymptotic equivalence for large n, one permits all solutions to appear, and writes for $q \leq p$.

$$_{s \mapsto s} F_{\theta} \left(\frac{-n, n + \lambda}{\rho_{\theta}} \alpha_{\theta} \Big| z \right) \sim \sum_{i=1}^{p} \frac{(n + \lambda)_{-i, i}}{(n + 1)_{n, i}} \mathcal{L}_{s \mapsto 1}^{(i)}(z) + \frac{1}{(n + 1)_{n+1}} \mathcal{L}_{s \mapsto 1}^{(i)}(z),$$
 (6)

where the connecting constants of the various solutions are those values which hold in the particular situation when $F_k(z)$ exactly equals that solution. Then the dominant term of (6) under any set of conditions is that solution to which $F_k(z)$ is exactly equal A as in our previous analysis, this actually determines the coefficients of the solutions (1) in (6) only asymptotically when no z_k is a negative integer or zero However, by an argument similar to that used for the case q = p + 1, see the discussions surrounding 74.3(13), one can determine these coefficients precisely and so write (6) as we did

If p > q, (6) is suitable for computational purposes for large n

However, if p = q, the (in general) dominant term (2) converges very slowly. If p = q, then by elementary series manipulation,

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}^{(1)}(z) = \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{n}}{(\rho_{p})_{n}} (-z)^{n}_{p+1} F_{p+1} \begin{pmatrix} -n, -n - \rho_{p} + 1 \\ 1 - 2n - \lambda, 1 - n - \alpha_{p} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{1}{z}$$

$$= \frac{(\alpha_{p})_{n}}{(\rho_{p})_{n}} (-z)^{n} \exp \left\{ -\frac{n(n + \rho_{p} - 1)}{z(2n + \lambda - 1)(n - 1 + \alpha_{p})} \right\}$$

$$\times \left\{ 1 - \frac{(n + \rho_{p} - 1)}{8(2n + \lambda - 1)(n - 1 + \alpha_{p})z^{2}} + O(n^{-2}z^{-2}) \right\}.$$
 (7)

We note that (6) holds for all z except at the singular points zero and infinity as $n \to \infty$. For fixed n and variable z, it appears sufficient to require $|z| \ge O(1)$ to insure that the correction terms remain small. Finally observe that by confluence,

$$\lim_{\sigma \to \infty} p_{+3} F_{q} \left(\frac{-n, n+\lambda, \alpha_{p}, \sigma}{\rho_{q}} \middle| \frac{z}{\sigma} \right) = {}_{p+2} F_{q} \left(\frac{-n, n+\lambda, \alpha_{p}}{\rho_{q}} \middle| z \right), \tag{8}$$

and that confluences on the $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,q}^{(\alpha_t)}(z)$ terms in (6) can be carried out in a similar fashion. By p+1-q such confluences, we drop from Case 2 to Case 1, and by comparison of the $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,p+1}^{(\alpha_t)}(z)$ terms, we see the consistency of our choice of the connecting constants A_t , t=1,2,...,p, in 7.4.2(8).

7.4.5. Case 3, $q \ge p + 2$

In this instance, we take

$$N^{\beta} = n(n+\lambda), \quad \beta = q-p+1, \quad \beta \geqslant 3.$$
 (1)

The analysis is similar to Case 1 ($\beta=2$). $F_n(z)$ obeys 7.4.1(2), which is of order $M=p+\beta$. The $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,q}^{(\alpha_i)}(z)$ functions of 7.4.4(1) are p formal, descending series in z which satisfy 7.4.1(2). Although in general they are divergent, they serve as asymptotic expansions for large z to valid solutions of 7.4.1(2), and as mentioned before, are suitable for computation if n is large. The confluence argument at the end of 7.4.4 indicates that the $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,q}^{(\alpha_i)}(z)$ solutions and their connecting constants for $F_n(z)$ are independent of the case number. The lead terms of the exponential asymptotic expansions of the remaining $M-p=\beta$ solutions around infinity are computed by the formal procedure given in 7.4.1, and are denoted by $\mathcal{K}_{\beta}^{(j)}(z)$, $j=1,2,...,\beta$. Thus under suitable restrictions on z,

$$F_n(z) \sim \sum_{t=1}^{p} \frac{(n+\lambda)_{-\alpha_t}}{(n+1)_{\alpha_t}} \mathcal{L}_{p+2,q}^{(\alpha_t)}(z) + \sum_{j=1}^{g} A_{p+j} \mathcal{K}_{\beta}^{(j)}(z). \tag{2}$$

The constants A_{p+1} , $j=1,2, \,\,$, β , are determined asymptotically in their lead terms by exploitation of the fact that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} F_n\left(\frac{z}{n(n+\lambda)}\right) = {}_{\theta}F_n\left(\frac{\alpha_p}{\rho_q}\right) - z\right), \tag{3}$$

 $|\arg z| \le \pi - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$, (4)

and that for $0 \ll |z| \ll n(n + \lambda)$, the representation (2) coalesces with the asymptotic representation of the latter ${}_pF_q$ for large z, see 5.11.2(1). Thus we write, through the r_z terms [see 7.4.1(6)],

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{n \geq 1} F_n \left(-^{m_1, n} + h, \alpha_p \left[z \right] \right) \\ & \sim \sum_{i \geq 1} \left(\frac{n + \lambda_i}{n + 1} \sum_{n \leq i \leq n} \sum_{j \leq i \leq n} (z) + \frac{2(2\pi)^{(i-p)/2} \Gamma(p_j)}{\beta^2 \Gamma(x_j)} (N^2 z)^{\nu} \\ & \times \exp(N^2 z^2 \beta^2 \cos(\pi \beta) + \alpha z) \beta - (N^2 z^2) \cdot 2(z) \cos(\pi \beta) + O(N^2 z) \\ & \times \cos(N^2 z^2) \beta^2 \sin(\pi \beta) + \pi y + (N^2 z^2 + 1) \Omega(x) \sin(\pi \beta) + O(N^2 z) \end{split}$$

 $\cos(Nz^{-\alpha}\beta)\sin(\pi\beta) + \pi\gamma + (Nz^{-\alpha})^{-\alpha}2(z)\sin(\pi\beta) + O(N^{-\alpha})$ + $(\beta - 2)$ exponentially lower order terms,

where

$$N^p = \pi(\pi + \lambda),$$
 $\beta = q - p + 1,$

$$B_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \alpha_i,$$
 $C_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \rho_i,$

$$B_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} \alpha_i \rho_i,$$
 $C_3 = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \sum_{i=1}^{p} \rho_i \rho_i,$

$$\gamma = (2\beta)^{-1}(\beta - 1 + 2B_1 - 2C_1),$$

$$\Omega(x) = (2\beta - 1)^{-1} \lambda_1 x^2 + (\beta - 1)^{-1} \lambda_2 x - \lambda_3,$$

$$\lambda_1 = \alpha' \beta_i,$$

$$\lambda_2 = \lambda_1 (3\lambda + 2B_1 - 2C_1 + 1) - b,$$

$$\lambda_3 = C_1 - B_2 + (2\beta)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)[\beta(B_1 + C_1) + B_1 - C_1 - 2] + (2\beta)^{-1}(\beta - 1)[\beta - 1]$$

a=1 if $\beta=3$, a=0 if $\beta\neq 3$, b=1 if $\beta\approx 4$, b=0 if $\beta\neq 4$

We point out that this procedure and hence (4) fails to include higher order terms in the connecting constants. In this regard, see the remarks surrounding 7.4.2(5-7).

A representation valid along the negative real axis can be similarly constructed. The connecting constants are determined from (4) by comparing the dominant terms in those overlapping regions where both representations are valid. Hence

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{p+2}^{p} F_{q} \left(\begin{array}{c} -n, n+\lambda, \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{q} \end{array} \right| -z \right) \\ & \sim \sum_{t=1}^{p} \frac{(n+\lambda)_{-\alpha_{t}}}{(n+1)_{\alpha_{t}}} \, \mathcal{L}_{p+2,q}^{(\alpha_{t})}(ze^{i\delta\pi}) + \frac{(2\pi)^{(1-\beta)/2} \Gamma(\rho_{q})}{\beta^{1/2} \Gamma(\alpha_{p})} \, (N^{\beta}z)^{\gamma} \\ & \times \exp\{Nz^{1/\beta}\beta - (az/3) - (Nz^{1/\beta})^{-1}\Omega(-z) + O(N^{-2})\} \\ & + (\beta-1) \quad \text{exponentially lower order terms,} \\ & |\arg z| \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \qquad \epsilon > 0, \qquad \delta = +(-) \quad \text{if} \quad \arg z \leqslant (>)0, \quad (6) \end{split}$$

where the notations are as in (4), (5).

For fixed z, (4) and (6) hold for all z save at the singular points zero and infinity as $n \to \infty$. But for n fixed and z varying, it seems sufficient to have $|z| \ge O(n^{-2})$ near zero and $|z| \le O(n^{\beta-2})$ near infinity to insure that the correction terms remain small.

7.4.6. CONFLUENT FUNCTIONS AND POLYNOMIALS

By confluence, if n is a positive integer,

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} {}_{p+2}F_q\left(\frac{-n, n+\lambda, \alpha_p}{\rho_q} \left| \frac{z}{n+\lambda} \right) = {}_{p+1}F_q\left(\frac{-n, \alpha_p}{\rho_q} \left| z \right).$$
 (1)

From 3.5(21), we see that this relation is still valid if n is not a positive integer provided that p+1 < q, $|z| < \infty$, or p+1 = q, $|z| < |n+\lambda|$. Thus the asymptotic representation for the right-hand side of (1) may be derived from those for the above $p+2F_q$ except when p=q, which can be treated directly by the methods used to get 7.4.2(8). If p=0 and q=1, the right-hand side of (1) is essentially the Laguerre polynomial see 8.1(33). If q=p+1, we call (1) a generalized

Laguerre polynomial, see 8.1(33). If q = p + 1, we call (1) a generalized Laguerre polynomial, and in general we call (1) an extended Laguerre polynomial.

We first treat the case q = p + 1 explicitly. Replacing z by $z/(n + \lambda)$ corresponds to replacing θ by $2\{z/(n + \lambda)\}^{1/2}\{1 + O(\lambda^{-1})\}$ in 7.4.2(8).

Thus.

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{s=1}^{n} F_{s+1} \left(\frac{-n, \alpha_s}{\rho_{s+1}} \right| z) \\ &\sim \sum_{s=1}^{n} \frac{(\alpha_s)^{n}_{s} x^{-\alpha_s}}{(n+1)_{s}(\rho_{s+1})_{s-1}} \sup_{s=1}^{n} F_s \left(\frac{\alpha_s, 1+\alpha_s-\rho_{s+1}}{(n+s+n, 1+\alpha_s-\rho_{s+1})} \right| - \frac{1}{z} \right) \\ &+ \frac{I'(\rho_{s+1})}{I'(\alpha_s)^{n-1}} (\alpha_s)^{n} \exp((z/2) + (\alpha_s)^{1/2} y_{s}(x) - (\alpha_s)^{-1/2} b_{s}^{1}(z) + O(x^{-3/2})), \\ &\times \cos(2(\alpha_s)^{1/2} + \pi \gamma - (\alpha_s)^{-1/2} b_{s}^{1}(z) - (\alpha_s)^{-1/2} b_{s}^{1}(z) + O(x^{-3/2})), \\ &= |\alpha_s x| \leq \tau - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0. \quad (2) \end{split}$$

where

$$\psi_1(z) = (12)^{-1}z^2 + (2)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)z + \omega_1$$

$$\psi_1(z) = (16)^{-1}z^2 + a_1^*z + \omega_1$$

$$a_{\star}^{*} = (8)^{-1}(B_{1} - C_{1})(2B_{1} + 2C_{1} - 1) + (2)^{-1}(C_{1} - B_{2}),$$

$$\psi_3(z) = (320)^{-1}z^4 + (48)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)z^3 + \omega_2z^2 + \omega_4z + \omega_5$$

$$\omega_1 = (4)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)(3B_1 + C_2 - 2) + C_4 - B_4 - 3/16$$

$$\omega_2 = (16)^{-1}(C_1 - B_1)(8B_2 - 8B_1^2 + 11B_1 + C_1 - 2)$$

+ (4)
$${}^{1}(C_{2}-B_{2})(2B_{1}-3)-(2)^{-1}(C_{3}-B_{3})+3/64$$
,

$$\omega_3 = (32)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)(2 - B_1 - 3C_1) + (8)^{-1}(B_2 - C_2) - 1/128,$$

(3)

$$\omega_k = (16)^{-1}(B_1 - C_1)(8B_2 - 5B_1^2 - C_2^2 - 2B_1C_1 + 6B_1 + 2C_1 - 3/4)$$

$$+(4)^{-1}(B_2-C_2)(B_1+C_1-2)-(2)^{-1}(B_3-C_3),$$

$$\omega_{5} = (192)^{1}(B_{1} - C_{1})(C_{1}^{2} + 5B_{1}C_{1}^{2} + 35B_{1}^{4}C_{1} - 105B_{1}^{2} + 236B_{1}^{4}$$

$$+160B_1B_2-24B_2C_1-8C_1C_2-40B_1C_1-4C_1^2-192B_2$$

$$-64B_2-291B_1/2-C_1/2+9)-(24)^{-1}(B_2-C_2)(2C_2-10B_2)$$

$$-6C_1 - 30B_1 - 7B_1C_1 + 15B_1^2 + 73/4)$$

$$+(6)^{-1}(B_2-C_3)(C_1-3B_2+6)+(3)^{-1}(B_4-C_4)+21/1024,$$

and the B_i 's, C_i 's, and γ are as in 7.4.2 (9)

Note that in the notation of 74.2(9) $\omega_3 = \mu_3$, $\omega_4 = \mu_3$, and $\omega_5 = \mu_{10}3$ Further, we can show that $-\omega_2$ is the coefficient of λP in μ_3 and ω_4 is the coefficient of λ in μ_3 and ω_4 is the coefficient of λ in μ_3

As usual (2) holds for all fixed z as $n \to \infty$ except at the singular points zero and infinity, and along the negative real axis. If n is fixed and z is allowed to vary, additional restrictions must be put on z to insure that the correction terms remains small

Treating 7.4.2(10) in a similar fashion and using the same notations as in (2), we have

Again by confluence of 7.4.5(4, 6), (2), and (4), we can get asymptotic representations for ${}_{p}F_{q}(\alpha_{p}; \rho_{q}; z)$, p < q, for large z. These results are given by 5.11.4(2-5).

As remarked in the discussion following (1), results for the case p = q are found by the same techniques employed to get 7.4.2(8). For the Darboux analysis, we employ 9.1(39). We suppose that n is a large positive integer, though the equations hold for more general n under suitable restrictions. Let

$$\overline{\mathscr{L}}_{p+1,p}^{(\alpha_t)}(z) = \frac{(\alpha_p)_{-\alpha_t}^* z^{-\alpha_t}}{(\rho_p)_{-\alpha_t}} {}_{p+1}F_p \left(\begin{matrix} \alpha_t , 1 + \alpha_t - \rho_p \\ \alpha_t + n + 1, 1 + \alpha_t - \alpha_p^* \end{matrix} \middle| \frac{1}{z} \right), \tag{5}$$

$$\gamma = B_1 - C_1, \quad u = B_2 - C_2 + \gamma (1 - B_1),
v = C_2 - B_2 + \frac{1}{2}\gamma (B_1 + C_1 - 1),$$
(6)

where the notation is as in 7.4.5(5) with $\beta = 1$. We find that

$$F_{p+1}F_{p}\left(\frac{-n,\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{p}}\left|z\right) \sim \sum_{t=1}^{p} \frac{1}{(n+1)_{\alpha_{t}}} \overline{\mathcal{L}}_{p+1,p}^{(\alpha_{t})}(z) + \frac{\Gamma(\rho_{p})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{p})} (1-z)^{n} \left(\frac{nze^{-i\pi}}{1-z}\right)^{\gamma} \exp\left\{\frac{u}{nz} + \frac{v}{n} + O(n^{-2})\right\},$$

$$z \neq 0, \quad |\arg(1-z)| \leq \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0, \tag{7}$$

and the sign of $[nze^{-i\pi}/(1-z)]^{\gamma}$ is chosen so that this term is positive if γ is real and z < 0. Here z can take on unity if it is approached from the left. Equation (7) is also valid for $|\arg(z-1)| \le \pi - \epsilon$, $\epsilon > 0$, provided in the second term of (7) we replace $[nze^{-i\pi}/(1-z)]^{\gamma}$ by $[nz/(z-1)]^{\gamma}$ and choose the sign of the latter so that it is positive if γ

VII ASYMPTOTIC EXPANSIONS OF J. is real and z > 1. In this situation z can take on the value unity if it is

approached from the right Further,

$$F_{\theta}\left(\frac{-n, \alpha_{\theta}}{\rho_{\theta}} \left| -z \right\rangle \sim \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{(n+1)_{n}} \widetilde{S}^{(n)}_{\theta > 1}_{2}(ze^{i\alpha})$$

$$+ \frac{I(\rho_{\theta})}{I(\alpha_{\theta})} (1+z)^{n} \left(\frac{nz}{1+z}\right)^{n} \exp \left\{ -\frac{u}{nz} + \frac{v}{n} + O(x^{-1}) \right\},$$

$$z \neq 0, \quad |\arg x| \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$

$$\delta = \phi(-1) \quad \text{if } \arg x \in \langle c \rangle , \quad 0$$
(2)

$$+\frac{i(\rho_0)}{I(\alpha_0)}(1+x)^n\left(\frac{nx}{1+x}\right)^n\exp\left\{-\frac{nx}{nx}+x\right\}$$

$$z\neq 0, \quad |\arg x|\leqslant \pi-\epsilon, \quad \epsilon>0,$$

$$\delta=+(-) \quad \text{if } \arg x<(>)0$$

$$\delta = + (-) \quad \text{if} \quad \arg z < (>) \, 0$$
 a (8), $[z/(1+z)]^{\gamma}$ is positive if $z>0$ and γ is real

$$+\frac{t(\theta_{\theta})}{t(\alpha_{\theta})}(1+z)^{\alpha}\left(\frac{nz}{1+z}\right)^{\epsilon}\exp\left\{-\frac{u}{nz} + \frac{v}{n} + z\right\}$$

$$z \neq 0, \quad |\arg z| \leq w - \epsilon, \quad \epsilon > 0,$$

$$\delta = +(-) \quad \text{if } \arg z < (>)0$$

(8)

Chapter VIII ORTHOGONAL POLYNOMIALS

8.1. Orthogonal Properties

In virtually all of our work, we are concerned with the classical orthogonal polynomials. However, to introduce the concept of orthogonality and its applications, it is convenient to consider real functions defined over real intervals, although the ideas are readily extended to complex functions defined over paths in the complex plane. See the remark following (34).

The standard book on the subject is by Szegö (1959). For other references, see Kacmarz and Steinhaus (1951), Erdélyi et al. (1953, Vol. 2, Chapter 10), Tricomi (1955), Sansone (1959), Geronimus (1960), and Abramowitz and Stegun (1964).

Consider an interval (a, b) and a weight function w(x) which is nonnegative over this interval. Let $\{\theta_n(x)\}$ be a sequence of functions, such that $w\theta_n^2$ is integrable in (a, b). We define the scalar product.

$$(\theta_n, \theta_m) = \int_a^b w(x) \, \theta_n(x) \, \theta_m(x) \, dx. \tag{1}$$

If a(x) is a nondecreasing function, we may generalize (1) by the Stieltjes integral

$$(\theta_n, \theta_m) = \int_a^b \theta_n(x) \, \theta_m(x) \, da(x). \tag{2}$$

So if a(x) is absolutely continuous, (2) becomes (1) with w(x) = a'(x). If a(x) is a jump function which is constant except for jumps w_i at $x = x_i$, then (2) reduces to

$$(\theta_n, \theta_m) = \sum_{i=0}^n w_i \theta_n(x_i) \theta_m(x_i). \tag{3}$$

This is the appropriate definition for the scalar product for functions of a discrete variable.

The sequence of functions $\{\theta_n(x)\}$ is said to be orthogonal [with respect to a weight function w(x)] over the interval (a, b) if

$$(\theta_n \,,\, \theta_m) = h_n \delta_{mn} \tag{4}$$

where

$$h_n = (\theta_n, \theta_n) = \int_0^b w(x)[\theta_n(x)]^2 dx,$$
 (5)

and &_ is the Kronecker delta function That is,

$$\delta_{mn} = 0$$
 if $m \neq n$

$$= 1$$
 if $m = n$

If $h_n = 1$ for all n, the system is said to be orthonormal. Clearly any orthogonal system can be made orthonormal if we replace $\theta_n(x)$ by $\theta_n(x)/h^{1/2}$.

 $n_h(x)/m_h^2$. A natural question concerns the possibility of representing an arbitrary function $f \equiv f(x)$ as a sum of orthogonal functions, thus

$$f = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k \theta_k$$
 (7)

(6)

Assuming this is so, then on a formal basis we have

$$(f, \theta_k) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n(\theta_k, \theta_n) = a_k h_k, \quad a_k = h_k^3 (f, \theta_k)$$
 (8)

The a_k 's are often called the Fourier coefficients associated with f_* and the series on the right of (7) is called a generalized Fourier series. The fact that we can calculate a_k does not guarantee that the series on the right of (7) converges, or if the series converges that its sum is f. Throughout the discussion we suppose that $f_*^0 f^*(x)$ w(x) dx exists and is finite in the Lebesgue sense. The class of functions for which this is true is called $L_{a_k}^{-1}$. We further suppose that $\{\theta_{a_k}(x)\}$ belongs to this class Let

$$f_n = \sum_{k=0}^{n} b_k \theta_k$$
 (9)

We call f_n an approximation to f of order n. A measure of the accuracy of this approximation is afforded by the integral

$$I_n(b_k) \equiv I_n(b_0 - b_n) = \int_a^b \left[f(x) - \sum_n^a b_k \theta_k(x) \right]^2 tr(s) dx$$
 (10)

A best choice for the b_h 's is that which makes $I_n(b_h)$ a minimum, if such exists, in which event we speak of a best mean square approximation to f(x). We now prove the following theorem

Theorem 1. Of all the nth order approximations to f(x), the best in the mean square sense occurs when $b_k = a_k$.

In other words, the best approximation is the (n + 1)th partial sum of the series on the right-hand side of (7).

PROOF. We have

$$I_n(b_h) = \int_a^b f^2(x) \, w(x) \, dx - 2 \sum_{k=0}^n b_k \int_a^b f(x) \, \theta_k(x) \, w(x) \, dx$$
$$+ \sum_{k=0}^n b_k^2 \int_a^b \theta_k^2(x) \, w(x) \, dx + \sum_{\substack{k,m=0\\k \neq m}}^n b_k b_m \int_a^b \theta_k(x) \, \theta_m(x) \, w(x) \, dx.$$

Use the orthogonality property, and (8). Then

$$\begin{split} I_n(b_h) &= \int_a^b f^2(x) \, w(x) \, dx - 2 \, \sum_{k=0}^n a_k b_k h_k + \sum_{k=0}^n b_k^2 h_k \\ &= \int_a^b f^2(x) \, w(x) \, dx + \sum_{k=0}^n (b_k - a_k)^2 \, h_k - \sum_{k=0}^n a_k^2 h_k \,, \end{split}$$

and this is least when $b_k=a_k$. Then a measure of the accuracy of the approximation is given by

$$I_n(a_h) = \int_a^b f^2(x) \, w(x) \, dx - \sum_{k=0}^n a_k^2 h_k \,. \tag{11}$$

Since $I_n(a_k) \ge 0$, $\sum_{k=0}^n a_k^2 h_k$ converges as $n \to \infty$, and we have Bessel's inequality

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k^2 h_k \leqslant \int_a^b f^2(x) \, w(x) \, dx. \tag{12}$$

When there is equality (the formula then goes by the name of Parseval) for every function in L_{w}^{2} , then $\{\theta_{n}(x)\}$ is said to be closed in L_{w}^{2} . In this case

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\int_a^b \left[f(x)-\sum_{k=0}^n a_k\theta_k(x)\right]^2 w(x)\,dx=0,\tag{13}$$

and the partial sums of the generalized Fourier series are said to converge in the mean to f(x).

In the case of functions of a discrete variable [see the discussion around (3)] suppose that

$$f_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} c_k \theta_k(x), \qquad (14)$$

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} \theta_k(x_i) \theta_m(x_i) W_i = H_m \delta_{km}$$
(15)

where $W_i = W(x_i)$ is positive and δ_{km} is the Kronecker delta function Now multiply both sides of (14) by $\theta_m(x_i)$ W_{ϵ} and sum on t from 0 to n Apply (15) Then

$$c_k = H_k^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_k(x_i) f_n(x_i) W_i$$
 (16)

Thus, if f(x) is known at the (n+1) distinct points x_i , i=0,1,...,n, $f(x_i) = f_n(x_i)$, then $f_n(x)$ as given by (14) is a curve fit to f(x). Suppose we have another curve fit to f(x) in the form

$$f_n^*(x) \neq \sum_{i=1}^n d_k \theta_k(x)$$
 $f_n^*(x_i) = f_n(x_i) = f(x_i)$ (17)

Then a measure of the accuracy of the curve fitting process may be described by

$$I(d_k) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \left\{ f_n(x_i) - \sum_{k=0}^{n} d_k \theta_k(x_i) \right\}^2 W_i$$
 (18)

After the manner of deriving Theorem 1 we have the following

Theorem 2 The best approximation to $f_n(x)$ in the sense that $I_n(d_k)$ is least happens when $c_k = d_k$, and in this instance

$$I_n(c_k) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} W_i f_n^2(x_i) - \sum_{k=0}^{n} h_k c_k^2$$
 (19)

We omit the proof Such an approximation is said to be best in the sense of least squares

Next we consider orthogonal polynomials for which we use the symbol $q_n(x)$. They possesse some unportant properties (given by Theorems 3.5 below) which make them very suitable for use in approximation theory

Theorem 3. The zeros of $q_n(x)$ are simple and lie in the interior of [a, b].

PROOF. Now any polynomial of degree m < n is a linear sum of the polynomials $q_i(x)$, i = 0, 1,..., m, and so is orthogonal to $q_n(x)$. If $q_n(x) = 0$ for $x = b_i$, i = 1, 2,..., m < n, $b_i \in (a, b)$, then

$$p(x) = \prod_{i=1}^{m} (x - b_i) q_n(x)$$

is one-signed throughout [a, b]. This would imply that

$$\int_a^b w(x) \, p(x) \, dx \neq 0.$$

However, in view of orthogonality, this can happen only if m = n.

Theorem 4. Let

$$f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k q_k(x), \qquad f_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k q_k(x).$$

Then $[f(x) - f_n(x)]$ vanishes at least (n + 1) times in [a, b].

The idea of the proof is similar to that for Theorem 3 and we omit details.

Theorem 5. Any three consecutive orthogonal polynomials satisfy a recurrence formula of the form

$$q_{n+1}(x) = (A_n x + B_n) q_n(x) - C_n q_{n-1}(x), \qquad n = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (20)

Furthermore, with

$$q_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^n a_{k,n} x^k,$$

we prove that

$$A_{n} = \frac{a_{n+1,n+1}}{a_{n,n}}, \qquad B_{n} = A_{n}(r_{n+1} - r_{n}), \qquad r_{n} = \frac{a_{n-1,n}}{a_{n,n}},$$

$$C_{n} = \frac{A_{n}h_{n}}{A_{n-1}h_{n-1}} = \frac{a_{n-1,n+1}a_{n-1,n-1}h_{n}}{(a_{n,n})^{2}h_{n-1}}, \qquad h_{n} = (q_{n}, q_{n}).$$
(21)

PROOF. First we note that with A_n defined as in (21), $q_{n+1}(x) - A_n x q_n(x)$ is a polynomial of degreee n or less, and of necessity, we must have

$$q_{n+1}(x) - A_n x q_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^n c_k q_k(x).$$

Multiply both sides of the last equation by $q_m(x)$ m(x) and integrate from a to b. Then by orthogonality, we see that $c_0 = c_1 = c_{n-1} = 0$ and

$$-A_n(xq_{n-1}, q_n) = \epsilon_{n-1}h_{n-1}$$
. (22)

Thus,

$$q_{n+1}(x) - A_n x q_n(x) \approx \epsilon_{n-1} q_{n-1}(x) + \epsilon_n q_n(x)$$

which proves (20) when we identify $c_{n-1} = -C_n$, $c_n = B_n$ Now

$$xq_{n-1}(x) - \frac{a_{n-1}}{a_{n-n}}q_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} d_k q_k(x)$$

since the polynomial on the left is of degree (n-1) or less Multiply both sides of the latter by $q_n(x)$ w(x), integrate from a to b to get

$$c_{n-1} = -C_n = -A_n h_n | A_{n-2} h_{n-1}$$
 (23)

Finally, the value of \mathcal{B}_n follows upon equating like coefficients of x^n in (20). Note that (20) is also valid for n=0 provided we put $q_{-1}(x)=0$

From (20), we easily obtain the Christoffel-Darboux formulas

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} h_{k}^{-1} q_{k}(x) q_{k}(y) = (A_{n}h_{n})^{-1} \frac{q_{n+1}(x) q_{n}(y) - q_{n}(x) q_{n+1}(y)}{x - y}.$$
(24)

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} h_k^{-1} q_k^{-1}(x) = (A_n h_n)^{-1} [q_n(x) q_{n+1}(x) - q_n(x) q_{n+1}(x)]$$

Orthogonal polynomials also play an important role in numerical integration 'This topic is considered in 16.3.1

As previously remarked we are primarily interested in the classical orthogonal polynomials. These polynomials are special cases of Gaussian confined proper polynomials are special cases of Gaussian in the later sections can be derived from the material in Chapters III and IV. The data in Chapters VIII and IX are also perturent From (25)-(34), we see that all the classical orthogonal polynomials stem from the Jacobi polynomial $P_2^{\text{in}}(y_0)$ of degree in II, in the hypergeometric representation of $P_2^{\text{in}, \text{fig.}}(x)$, the parameter n is allowed to be an arbitrary complex number, then the hypergeometric function is called a Jacobi function of the first kind. The Jacobi function of the first kind. The Jacobi function of the second kind is exentially the second solution, of the differential equation satisfied by the function of the first kind. Similarly, we speck of Legendre functions

TABLE 8.1

Name	а	b	w(x)	Eq.
• • •				

Jacobi:

$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \frac{(\alpha+1)_n}{n!} {}_2F_1\left(\frac{-n, n+\alpha+\beta+1}{\alpha+1} \left| \frac{1-x}{2} \right| -1 \right) -1 \qquad 1 \quad (1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta} \quad (25)$$

Jacobi (shifted):

$$R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(2x-1)$$
 0 1 $(1-x)^{\alpha}x^{\beta}$ (26)

Gegenbauer or ultraspherical:

$$C_n^{(\alpha+1/2)}(x) = \frac{(2\alpha+1)_n}{(\alpha+1)_n} P_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(x) \qquad -1 \qquad 1 \qquad (1-x^2)^{\alpha}$$
 (27)

Legendre:

$$P_n(x) = P_n^{(0,0)}(x)$$
 -1 1 (28)

Chebyshev (first kind):

$$T_n(x) = \frac{n!}{(1/2)_n} P_n^{(-1/2, -1/2)}(x) \qquad -1 \qquad 1 \qquad (1 - x^2)^{-1/2} \qquad (29)$$

Chebyshev (first kind, shifted):

$$T_n^*(x) = T_n(2x-1)$$
 0 1 $[x(1-x)]^{-1/2}$ (30)

Chebyshev (second kind):

$$U_{n}(x) = \frac{(n+1)!}{(3/2)_{n}} P_{n}^{(1/2,1/2)}(x) \qquad -1 \qquad 1 \qquad (1-x^{2})^{1/2} \qquad (31)$$

Chebyshev (second kind, shifted):

$$U_n^*(x) = U_n(2x-1)$$
 0 1 $[x(1-x)]^{1/2}$ (32)

Laguerre:

$$L_{n}^{(\alpha)}(x) = \lim_{\beta \to \infty} P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(1 - \frac{2x}{\beta} \right) \qquad 0 \quad \infty \qquad e^{-x} x^{\alpha}$$

$$= \lim_{\beta \to \infty} R_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(1 - \frac{x}{\beta} \right)$$

$$= (-)^{n} \lim_{\beta \to \infty} R_{n}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(x/\beta),$$

$$L_{n}^{(\alpha)}(x) = \frac{(\alpha+1)_{n}}{n!} {}_{1}F_{1}(-n; \alpha+1; x) \qquad (33)$$

The polynomial introduced by Laguerre is the case $\alpha = 0$.

Hermite:

$$H_{2m+\epsilon}(x) = (-)^m 2^{2m+\epsilon} m! x^{\epsilon} L_m^{(\epsilon-1/2)}(x^2), \qquad -\infty \quad \infty \qquad e^{-x^2}$$

$$\epsilon = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \epsilon = 1$$
(34)

Though numerous properties of Jacobi polynomials carry over to Jacobi functions, we delineate results for the polynomials only

The classical orthogonal polynomials may be briefly described by Table 81 which gives the name of the polynomial, its analytical name, the parameters describing the range of integration, and the weight function in addition, data are given to show that all the polynomial are special cases of the Jacob polynomial identification of the Jacob polynomial and the Laguerre polynomial in terms of a $_2F_1$ and $_4F_1$, respectively, is also presented by

The Bessel polynomials $_{*}F_{6}(-n, n + \nu, 1/2)$, which are confluent forms of the Jacobi polynomials, form an orthogonal set where the integration is performed over complex paths [see 14 2(26)]

8.2. Jacobi Polynomials

The Jacobi polynomial has been defined by 8 I(25) We suppose that $\alpha > -1$, $\beta > -1$ so that w(x) is nonnegative and integrable in $\{-1, 1\}$ However, many of the formal results are valid without this restriction. The term $\alpha + \beta + 1$ occurs very frequently and for simplification we put

$$\lambda = \alpha + \beta + 1$$
 (1)

In hypergeometric form, we have

$$P_n^{(\alpha,0)}(x) = \frac{(\alpha+1)_n}{n!} {}_2F_1\left(\frac{-n, n+\lambda}{\alpha+1}, \frac{1-x}{2}\right)$$
 (2)

$$= \frac{(-)^{n} (\beta + 1)_{n}}{n!} {}_{2}F_{2} \left(-\frac{n}{\beta + 1} + \frac{1 + x}{2} \right)$$
(3)

Clearly,

$$P_n^{(a,b)}(-x) = (-)^n P_n^{(a,b)}(x),$$
 (4)

$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1) = \frac{(\alpha+1)_n}{n!}$$
 $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(-1) = \frac{(-)^n(\beta+1)_n}{n!}$

Also

$$P_n^{(s-1/2)}(2x^3-1) = \frac{(2n)!(\alpha+1)_n}{n!(\alpha+1)_{n}} P_{2n}^{(s-n)}(x), \tag{5}$$

$$P_n^{(n-1/2)}(2x^2-1) = \frac{(2n+1)!(\alpha+1)_n}{n!(\alpha+1)_{2n+1}}x^{-1}P_{2n+1}^{(n-n)}(x)$$
 (6)

Thus $P_n^{(a \ a)}(x)$ is an even (odd) polynomial if n is even (odd)

Rodrigues' formula is

$$2^{n}n! P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = (-)^{n}(1-x)^{-\alpha}(1+x)^{-\beta} \left(\frac{d^{n}}{dx^{n}}\right) \{(1-x)^{\alpha+n}(1+x)^{\beta+n}\}, \quad (7)$$

and from this we have

$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = 2^{-n} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n+\alpha}{k} \binom{n+\beta}{n-k} (x-1)^{n-k} (x+1)^k.$$
 (8)

Also,

$$P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \sum_{r=0}^{n} k_{r,n}^{(\alpha,\beta)} x^{r},$$

$$k_{r,n}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \frac{(-)^{r} (\alpha+1)_{n} (-n)_{r} (n+\lambda)_{r}}{r! (\alpha+1)_{r} 2^{r} n!} {}_{2}F_{1} {r-n, n+\lambda+r \mid \frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{n} (\beta+1)_{n} (-n)_{r} (n+\lambda)_{r}}{r! (\beta+1)_{r} 2^{r} n!} {}_{2}F_{1} {r-n, n+\lambda+r \mid \frac{1}{2}}.$$
(9)

In particular,

$$k_{n,n}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \frac{(n+\lambda)_n}{2^n n!}, \qquad k_{n-1,n}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \frac{(\alpha-\beta) \Gamma(2n+\lambda-1)}{2^n (n-1)! \Gamma(n+\lambda)}.$$
 (10)

In general a more simple expression for (9) is not known unless $\alpha = \beta$.

$$k_{r,n}^{(\alpha,\alpha)} = \frac{(-)^n (\alpha+1)_n (-n)_r (n+2\alpha+1)_r \Gamma(\alpha+1+r) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{2^r r! (\alpha+1)_r \Gamma(r-n+1)/2] \Gamma(r+n)/2 + \alpha+1] n!}$$
(11)

and (11) vanishes whenever n-r is an odd positive integer. We have the following differential-difference properties:

$$(1-x^2)\frac{d^2P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)}{dx^2} + \left[\beta - \alpha - (\lambda+1)x\right]\frac{dP_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)}{dx} + n(n+\lambda)P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = 0.$$
(12)

$$(2n + \lambda - 1)(1 - x^2) \frac{dP_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)}{dx} = n[(\alpha - \beta) - (2n + \lambda - 1) x] P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) + 2(n + \alpha)(n + \beta) P_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x).$$
(13)

$$2(n+1)(n+\lambda)(2n+\lambda-1) P_{n+1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$$

$$= (2n+\lambda)[(2n+\lambda-1)(2n+\lambda+1) x + \alpha^2 - \beta^2] P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$$

$$-2(n+\alpha)(n+\beta)(2n+\lambda+1) P_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x).$$
(14)

$$(2n+\lambda+1)(1-x)P_n^{(n+1,0)}(x) = 2(n+\alpha+1)P_n^{(n,0)}(x) - 2(n+1)P_{n+1}^{(n,0)}(x)$$
(15)

$$(2n + \lambda + 1)(1 + x) P_n^{(\alpha, \beta + 1)} = 2(n + \beta + 1) P_n^{(\alpha, \beta)}(x) + 2(n + 1) P_{n+1}^{(\alpha, \beta)}(x)$$
(16)

$$(1-x)P_{\alpha}^{(a+1,0)}(x) + (1+x)P_{\alpha}^{(a,0+1)}(x) = 2P_{\alpha}^{(a,0)}(x).$$
 (17)

$$(2n + \lambda - 1) P_n^{(\alpha-1-\beta)}(x) = (n + \lambda - 1) P_n^{(\alpha-\beta)}(x) - (n + \beta) P_{n-1}^{(\alpha-\beta)}(x)$$
 (18)

$$(2n + \lambda - 1) P_n^{(\alpha \beta - 1)}(x) = (n + \lambda - 1) P_n^{(\alpha \beta)}(x) + (n + \alpha) P_{n-1}^{(\alpha \beta)}(x)$$
 (19)

$$P_n^{(a \beta-1)}(x) - P_n^{(a-1 \beta)}(x) = P_{n-1}^{(a \beta)}(x)$$
 (20)

$$2^{m} \frac{d^{m} P_{n}^{(n)\beta(x)}}{dx^{m}} = (n+\lambda)_{m} P_{n-m}^{(n+m)\beta+m}(x) \qquad m = 1, 2, , n$$
 (21)

The orthogonality property is given by

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1 - x)^{\alpha} (1 + x)^{\beta} P_{n}^{(a,\beta)}(x) P_{n}^{(a,\beta)}(x) dx = h_{n} \delta_{mn},$$

$$h_{n} = \frac{2^{3} \Gamma(n + \alpha + 1) \Gamma(n + \beta + 1)}{(2n + \lambda)^{n} \Gamma(n + \lambda)}$$
(22)

(24)

Some integrals involving the Jacobi polynomial follow

$$\int_{-2}^{\pi} \frac{f^{\alpha}}{f^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial f(t)}{\partial t} dt$$

$$= 2 \frac{(n + \lambda)}{((2\sigma + \lambda + 1)(2\sigma + \lambda)} P_{\alpha+1}^{f(\alpha, \beta)}(x) + \frac{(\alpha - \beta)}{(2\sigma + \lambda + 1)(2\sigma + \lambda - 1)} P_{\alpha}^{f(\alpha, \beta)}(x)$$

$$- \frac{(n + \beta)(n + \alpha)}{(2\sigma + \lambda)(2\sigma + \lambda - 1)(n + \lambda - 1)} P_{\alpha-1}^{f(\alpha, \beta)}(x) \Big| + \frac{2(-)^{\alpha} f(n + \beta + 1)}{(n + \lambda - 1)(n + 1)^{\alpha} f(\beta)}$$

$$2\pi \int_{0}^{\pi} (1 - t)^{\alpha} (1 + t)^{\beta} P_{\alpha}^{f(\alpha, \beta)}(t) dt$$

$$= P_{\alpha+1}^{f(\alpha, 1, \beta)}(0) - (1 - x)^{\alpha+1} (1 + x)^{\alpha+1} P_{\alpha+1}^{f(\alpha, 1, \beta)}(x)$$
(24)

$$2n\int_a^x (1-t^2)^n P_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(t) dt$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{(x+2)^{n-1} (x+2)_{n-1} \Gamma(x+2) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{(n-1)! \Gamma((2-n)/2) \Gamma((n+3+2n)/2)} - (1-x^{2})^{n} \Gamma_{n-1}^{(n+1)+1} \Gamma(x)$$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1-x)^{\rho} (1+x)^{\sigma} P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) dx$$

$$= (-)^{n} \int_{-1}^{1} (1-x)^{\sigma} (1+x)^{\rho} P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) dx$$

$$= \frac{(-)^{n} (\beta+1)_{n} 2^{\rho+\sigma+1} \Gamma(\rho+1) \Gamma(\sigma+1)}{n! \Gamma(\rho+\sigma+2)} {}_{3}F_{2} \left(\frac{-n, n+\lambda, \sigma+1}{\beta+1, \rho+\sigma+2} \middle| 1 \right),$$

$$R(\rho) > -1, \quad R(\sigma) > -1. \tag{26}$$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1-x)^{\alpha} (1+x)^{\sigma} P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$$

$$= \frac{(-)^n 2^{\alpha+\sigma+1} \Gamma(\sigma+1) \Gamma(n+\alpha+1)(\beta-\sigma)_n}{n! \Gamma(\alpha+\sigma+n+2)},$$

$$R(\alpha) > -1, \quad R(\sigma) > -1. \tag{27}$$

For other integrals involving Jacobi polynomials, see Erdélyi et al. (1954, Chapter 16). See also 3.6(26), 5.6.4(13, 17).

For the expansion of integral powers of x in series of Jacobi polynomials, we have

$$x^{m} = \sum_{n=0}^{m} a_{n} P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x),$$

$$a_{n} = \frac{2^{n} m! \Gamma(n+\lambda)}{(m-n)! \Gamma(2n+\lambda)^{2}} {}_{2}F_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} n-m, \alpha+n+1 \\ 2n+\lambda+1 \end{array} \right) 2 \right), \qquad (28)$$

$$x^{2m+\epsilon} = \sum_{n=0}^{m} b_{n} P_{2n+\epsilon}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(x), \qquad \epsilon = 0 \quad \text{or} \quad \epsilon = 1,$$

$$b_{n} = \frac{(2m+\epsilon)! (2n+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon) \Gamma(2n+2\alpha+1+\epsilon) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2})}{2^{2m+2\alpha+\epsilon}(m-n)! \Gamma(2n+\alpha+\epsilon+1) \Gamma(m+n+\alpha+\frac{3}{2}+\epsilon)}. \qquad (29)$$

Also,

$$(1-x)^m = \sum_{n=0}^m c_n P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x),$$

$$c_n = \frac{(-)^n 2^m m! \ \Gamma(\alpha+m+1)(2n+\lambda) \ \Gamma(n+\lambda)}{(m-n)! \ \Gamma(\alpha+n+1) \ \Gamma(m+n+\lambda+1)}.$$
(30)

See 8.4 for expansions of arbitrary functions in series of Jacobi polynomials.

We have the generating functions

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n^{(s,0)}(x) z^n = 2^{s+8} R^{-1} (1-z+R)^{-\alpha} (1+z+R)^{-8},$$

$$R = (1 - 2xz + z^2)^{1/2}, \quad -1 < x < 1, \quad |z| < 1, \quad R = 1 \quad \text{if} \quad x = 0, \tag{31}$$

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[(\lambda)_n (\beta + 1)_n \right] P_n^{(a,\beta)}(x) x^n = (1+z)^{-a} {}_*F_1 \left(\frac{\lambda^2 2, (\lambda + 1)/2}{\beta + 1} \right) \frac{2(x+1) x}{(1+z)^2},$$

$$-1 < x < 1, \quad |x| < 1$$
(32)

Szego (1933) has shown that there exist functions f_m (θ) which are regular in $0 \le \theta < \pi$ so that

$$P_n^{(a,b)}(\cos\theta) \sim (\sin\theta/2)^{-a}(\cos\theta/2)^{-b}(\theta\sin\theta)^{1/2}\sum_{m=0}^{\infty}\theta^m\left\{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}f_{n,n}(\theta)f_{n+n,m}(n,\theta)\right\}.$$

$$0 < \theta \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \quad 0 < \epsilon < \pi$$
 (33)

where

$$n = n + \lambda/2,$$
 $J_{rm}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} {m \choose k} J_{m-2k+r}(z)$ (34)

The first few of the f_m ,'s are as follows

$$f_{\theta, \theta} = 1$$
, $f_{1,\theta}(\theta) = -\frac{\beta}{2} \left(\frac{\tan \theta/2}{2\theta} \right)^{1/2}$,
 $f_{1,1}(\theta) = -\frac{\alpha}{2\theta} \left[\left(\frac{\theta}{2 \tan \theta/2} \right)^{1/2} - 1 \right]$
 $f_{2, \theta} = \frac{\theta \cos \theta - \sin \theta}{32\theta^2 \sin \theta} + \frac{\alpha}{8} \frac{(\theta, 2) \cos \theta/2 - \sin \theta/2}{\theta^4 \sin \theta/2}$
 $-\frac{\beta}{16} \frac{\tan \theta/2}{\theta} + \frac{\beta(\beta - 1)}{\theta} \frac{\tan \theta/2}{\theta}$,
 $f_{2, 1} = \frac{\alpha \beta}{\theta \theta} \left[1 - \left(\frac{2 \tan \theta/2}{2} \right)^{1/2} \right]$,

$$f_{2,2}(\theta) = \frac{\alpha(\alpha+1)}{8\theta^2} \left[\left(\frac{\theta}{2 + 2\alpha \theta/2} \right)^{1/2} - 1 \right]^2$$

Further, if the series in (33) is truncated after m = p - 1 terms, $p \ge 1$, and the error in the Jacobi polynomial is notated R_p , then

$$R_{p} = \theta^{p-\sigma_{p}-\alpha}O(n^{-\sigma_{p}}) \quad \text{if} \quad n\theta \geqslant c,$$

$$= O(n^{\alpha-p}) \quad \text{if} \quad n\theta \leqslant c,$$

$$\sigma_{p} = \frac{1}{2} + \left[\frac{1}{2}(p+1)\right], \quad (36)$$

uniformly in $0 < \theta \leqslant \pi - \epsilon$, $0 < \epsilon < \pi$. Here c is a fixed positive number.

For the ultraspherical case $(\alpha = \beta)$, with $\mu = \alpha + \frac{1}{2}$, we have

$$P_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(\cos\theta) \sim \frac{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) 2^{1/2-\mu}}{\Gamma(\mu)} \left(\frac{\theta}{\sin\theta}\right)^{\mu} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{f_m(\theta) \theta^{m-\mu+1/2} J_{\mu-m-1/2}[(n+\mu) \theta]}{(n+\mu)^{m-\mu+1/2}},$$

$$0 < \theta \leqslant \pi - \epsilon, \qquad 0 < \epsilon < \pi, \tag{37}$$

$$f_0(\theta) = 1$$
, $f_1(\theta) = \frac{\mu(\mu - 1)}{2} \frac{(\theta \cos \theta - \sin \theta)}{\theta^2 \sin \theta}$,

$$f_2(\theta) = \frac{\mu(\mu - 1)(\mu - 2)}{8} \tag{38}$$

$$\times \frac{\left[(\mu - 3)\sin^2\theta - 2(\mu - 1)\theta\sin\theta\cos\theta + (\mu + 1)\theta^2\cos^2\theta + \frac{4}{3}\theta^2\sin^2\theta \right]}{\theta^4\sin^2\theta},$$

$$R_{p} = \theta^{p-\mu} O(n^{\mu-p-1}) \quad \text{if} \quad n\theta \geqslant c$$

$$= O(n^{2\mu-2p-1}) \quad \text{if} \quad n\theta \leqslant c, \tag{39}$$

uniformly in $0 < \theta \le \pi - \epsilon$, $0 < \epsilon < \pi$, where c is a fixed positive number.

If $\alpha = \beta = 0$ so that $\mu = \frac{1}{2}$, then we can replace asymptotic equality by equality in (37) and the series is uniformly convergent for $0 \le \theta \le \theta_0 - \epsilon$, $0 < \epsilon < \theta_0$, where $\theta_0 = 2(2^{1/2} - 1)\pi$, and

$$P_n(\cos\theta) = \left(\frac{\theta}{\sin\theta}\right)^{1/2} \sum_{m=0}^{p-1} \frac{(-)^m f_m(\theta) \, \theta^m J_m[(n+\frac{1}{2}) \, \theta]}{(n+\frac{1}{2})^m} + O(n^{-p-1/2}). \tag{40}$$

Here $f_m(\theta)$ is given by (38) with $\mu = \frac{1}{2}$. Equation (40) has also been proved by Szegő (1932).

A number of inequalities are known for the Jacobi polynomials. In view of our applications it is sufficient to quote the following [see Szegő (1959)]. We take $\alpha > -1$, $\beta > -1$.

Then

Thus.

$$\max_{-1 \le n \le 1} |P_n^{(s,n)}(x)| = \max |P_n^{(s,n)}(\pm 1)| = \frac{(q+1)_n}{n!} = \frac{n^q}{\Gamma(q+1)} [1 + O(n^{-1})],$$

$$q = \max(\alpha, \beta) \geqslant -\frac{1}{2},$$
 (41)

(44)

$$\max_{1 \le n \le 1} |P_n^{(n,n)}(x)| = |P_n^{(n,n)}(x)| = n^{-3\cdot n}[1 + O(n^{-1})],$$

$$q = \max(\alpha, \beta) < -\frac{1}{2},$$
(42)

where x is one of the two maximum points nearest $x_0 = (\beta - \alpha)/\lambda$

$$P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = O(n^{\alpha}), \quad -1 \leqslant x \leqslant 1, \quad n \to \infty, \quad q = \max(-\frac{1}{2}, \alpha, \beta)$$
 (43)

We also have

$$\frac{d^{m}P^{l_{\alpha},0}(x)}{dx^{m}} = O(n^{\alpha}), \qquad -1 \leqslant x \leqslant 1, \qquad n \to \infty$$

$$\sigma = \max(2m + \alpha \ 2m + \beta, m - \frac{\alpha}{2})$$

Better estimates can be deduced from 7 2(8) or 7 4 2(8) and 7 4 3(23) See also (33)-(40)

In many applications, it is more convenient to use the shifted Jacobi polynomial defined by 8 1(26). We have the connecting relations

$$R_n^{(a\ b)}(x) = P_n^{(a\ b)}(2x-1) \qquad P_n^{(a\ b)}(x) \approx R_n^{(a\ b)}[(1+x)\ 2], \qquad (45)$$

so that expressions for $R_n^{(a,b)}(x)$ corresponding to those for $P_n^{(a,b)}(x)$ are easily set down. It is convenient to record some of these for the applications. We also develop some results for repeated integrals of the shifted polynomials.

$$R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \{(\alpha + 1)_n/n!\}_2 F_1 \left\{ -\frac{n}{\alpha + 1}, \frac{n + \lambda}{1} \right\} 1 - x$$

$$= (-)^n \{(\beta + 1)_n/n!\}_2 F_1 \left\{ -\frac{n}{\beta + 1}, \frac{n + \lambda}{1} \right\} x$$
(46)

$$R_n^{(a,b)}(1-x) = (-)^n R_n^{(0,a)}(x)$$
 (47)

$$R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1) = (\alpha+1)_n/n!, \quad R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(0) = (-)^n(\beta+1)_n/n!$$
 (48)

$$n^{\dagger} R_n^{(a \beta)}(x) = (-)^n (1-x)^{-n} x^{-\theta} (d^n_i dx^n) \{(1-x)^{s+n} x^{\theta+n}\}$$
 (49)

In some considerations, we need the repeated integrals of

$$Q_n^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(x) \equiv Q_{n,0}^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(x) = x^{\nu} R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x), \tag{50}$$

which we define by

$$Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(x) = \int_0^x Q_{n,r-1}^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(t) dt$$

$$= \frac{1}{(r-1)!} \int_0^x (x-t)^{r-1} t^{\nu} R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) dt, \qquad R(\nu) > -1.$$
 (51)

If v = 0, we simply write

$$Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\beta,0)}(x) = R_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x); \qquad R_{n,0}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) \equiv R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x). \tag{52}$$

Clearly,

$$Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(x) = \frac{(-)^n(\beta+1)_n x^{\nu+r}}{n! (\nu+1)_r} {}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{matrix} -n, n+\lambda, \nu+1\\ \beta+1, \nu+r+1 \end{matrix} \middle| x\right), \tag{53}$$

$$Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\nu,\nu)}(x) = \frac{(\nu+1)_n x^{\nu+r}}{(\nu+1)_r (\nu+r+1)_n} R_n^{(\alpha-r,\nu+r)}(x), \tag{54}$$

$$Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\nu,\nu)}(1) = \frac{(-)^n(\nu+1)_n}{n!(\nu+1)_n(\nu+r+1)_n(r-\alpha)_n},$$
 (55)

$$Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\nu,\nu)}(1) = 0 \tag{56}$$

for α a positive integer or zero and $r - \alpha = 1, 2, ..., n$,

$$Q_{n,n}^{(0,\nu,\nu)}(x) = \frac{(-)^n x^{n+\nu} (1-x)^n}{n!},$$
(57)

$$|\underbrace{O_{n \leq x \leq 1}^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(x)}| \leq \frac{x^{r+R(\nu)}}{(R(\nu)+1)_r} \max_{0 \leq x \leq 1} |R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)|. \tag{58}$$

Estimates of $Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(x)$ for large n with α , β , ν , and r fixed and $0 < x \le 1$ are readily deduced from 7.4.2(8) and 7.4.3(23). Thus,

$$Q_{n,r}^{(\alpha,\beta,\nu)}(x) = \frac{(-)^n(\sin\theta/2)^{2r-2}(n+\lambda)^{\beta-2\nu-2}}{(r-1)!} \left[1 + O((n+\lambda)^{-1})\right] + (-)^n \frac{(\sin\theta/2)^{r+2\nu-\beta-1/2}(\cos\theta/2)^{r-\alpha-1/2}}{(n+\lambda)^{r+1/2}\Gamma(\frac{1}{2})} \times \cos\{(n+\lambda/2)\theta - (\pi/2)(\beta+r+\frac{1}{2}) + O((n+\lambda)^{-1})\} \times \left[1 + O((n+\lambda)^{-1})\right], \quad x = \sin^2\theta/2, \quad 0 < x < 1, \quad (59)$$

$$Q_{\bullet, r, \lambda}^{(s, s)}(\mathbf{i}) = \frac{(-)^{n}\Gamma(r+1)N^{s-n-1}}{(r-1)^{n}\Gamma(\beta-r)} \left[1 - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2N} + O(N^{-1})\right] + \frac{N^{s-n}}{(r+1)^{n}} \left[1 - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2N} + O(N^{-1})\right],$$

$$N^{2} = n(n+\lambda)$$

 $N^2 = n(n + \lambda)$ (60) An alternate development of (60) can be proved as follows From

3 13 3(11), $Q_{n,r}^{(n,p,n)}(1) = A + B,$

$$A = \frac{(-)^n \Gamma(n+\beta+1) \Gamma(\nu+1-n-\lambda)}{\Gamma(-n-\alpha) \Gamma(\nu+r+1-n-\lambda) \Gamma(2n+\lambda+1)}$$

$$\times {}_2F_2\left(\stackrel{n+\lambda}{n}, \frac{n+\alpha+1}{n+\lambda-\nu-r} \right) \frac{1}{n}, \quad (63)$$

(61)

(66)

$$B = \frac{(-)^{n}\Gamma(\nu + 1)\Gamma(n + k + 1)\Gamma(n + k - 1 - \nu)}{\Gamma(\beta - \nu)(r - 1)^{n}\Gamma(n + \nu + 2)\Gamma(n + k)}$$

$$\times \mathcal{F}_{\pi}\left(\nu + 1 + 1 - \beta, 1 - \nu\right)$$

$$\times \mathcal{F}_{\pi}\left(\nu + 1 - \beta, 1 - \nu\right)$$
(63)

For A, use 3 13 3(14, 16) in the form

$$F_p(0, 4, 5) = F_p(0, 2, 3)$$
 $a = n + \lambda,$ $b = n + \alpha + 1,$
 $c = n + \lambda - r,$ $c = n + \lambda - r,$ $f = 2n + \lambda + 1$ (64)

Thus.

$$A = \frac{\Gamma(n+\beta+1)\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)\Gamma(n+\lambda-\nu-r)}{\Gamma(n+\beta+1-\nu)\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(n+\lambda)}$$

$$\times {}_{2}F_{2} \begin{pmatrix} -\nu, n+1 & r-\alpha \\ +1 & r+\beta+1 & -\nu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and from this we deduce

$$A \approx \frac{N^{\alpha-4r}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1-r)} \left[1 - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2N} + O(N^{-4})\right]$$
 (65)

Now use 3 13 3(31) for B with

$$g \neq 2$$
, $F_g(0) = F_g(0, 4, 5)$, $F_g(1) = F_g(1, 4, 5)$, $a \Rightarrow v + 1 - \beta$, $b = v + 1$ $c = 1 - v$, $c = v + 2 - \pi - \lambda$.

Then

$$B = \frac{(-)^{n}\Gamma(n+\beta+1)\Gamma(n+\lambda-r-\nu)(n+r-1)!\Gamma(\nu+1)}{\Gamma(n+\lambda+1-r)\Gamma(n+r+\nu+1)n!(r-1)!\Gamma(\beta-\nu)} \times {}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{matrix} 1-r,\alpha+1-r,\nu+1\\ 1-r-n,n+\lambda+1-r \end{matrix} \right) 1,$$
(67)

where B=0 if r=0 and for $r\geqslant 1$, the latter $_3F_2$ is to be interpreted as a finite sum of (r-1) terms. We find that

$$B = \frac{(-)^n \Gamma(\nu+1) N^{\beta-2\nu-2}}{(r-1)! \Gamma(\beta-\nu)} \left[1 - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2N} + O(N^{-2}) \right], \tag{68}$$

and the combination (61), (65), (68) yields (60).

8.3. Expansion of Functions in Series of Jacobi Polynomials

Suppose formally that

We quote the following theorem.

the integrals

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x). \tag{1}$$

Multiply both sides by $(1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta} P_m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ and integrate from -1 to 1. Then in view of 8.2(22),

$$c_n = (h_n)^{-1} \int_{-1}^1 f(x)(1-x)^{\alpha} (1+x)^{\beta} P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) dx.$$
 (2)

The coefficients c_n are often called the Fourier coefficients associated with f(x). The evaluation and estimation of these quantities for various types of functions are discussed in 8.4. Here we are concerned with the representation of f(x) by (1). As in the case of Fourier series, we seek conditions to insure that the series converges and that its sum is f(x).

Theorem 1. Let f(x) be Lebesgue-measurable in $-1 \le x \le 1$, and let

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1-x)^{\alpha} (1+x)^{\beta} |f(x)| dx, \qquad \int_{-1}^{1} (1-x)^{\alpha/2-1/4} (1+x)^{\beta/2-1/4} |f(x)| dx$$

exist. Let $s_n(x)$ denote the nth partial sum of the expansion of f(x) in series of Jacobi polynomials, and $s_n^*(x)$ the nth partial sum of the Fourier cosine series of

$$(1 - \cos \theta)^{\alpha/2+1/4} (1 + \cos \theta)^{\beta/2+1/4} f(\cos \theta).$$

Then for
$$-1 < x < 1$$
,

$$\lim \left\{ t_n(x) - (1-x)^{-\alpha/2-1/4} (1+x)^{-\beta/2-1/4} t_n^{\beta}(x) \right\} = 0,$$

uniformly in
$$-1 + \epsilon \leq x \leq 1 - \epsilon$$
, $0 < \epsilon < 1$

This is called an equiconvergence theorem. For proof, see Szegő (1959, p. 244). Clearly, application of the theorem requires knowledge of the convergence of the Fourier series for f(x). In this connection, it is sufficient to quote the following result [see Zygmund (1959)].

Theorem 2 Let f(x) be periodic and have period 2π If f'(x) is continuous $m-\pi \leqslant x \leqslant m$ except for a finite number of bounded jumps, then the Fourier series for f(x) concrege pointiess to f(f(x-0)+f(x+0)). Furthermore, the convergence is uniform in any closed interval which does not include a bound of discontinuity of f(x)

Rau (1950) has proved the following theorem

Theorem 3. If f(x) is continuous in the closed interval $-1 \le x \le 1$ and has a piecewise continuous derivative there, then with a > -1, $\beta > -1$, the Jacob series (1) associated with f(x) converges uniformly to f(x) in $-1 + \varepsilon \le x \le 1 - \varepsilon$, $0 \le \varepsilon \le 1$

In the case of analytic functions (see Szego (1959, p. 243)) we have

Theorem 4. If f(x) is analytic in the closed interval $-1 \le x \le 1$, then the Jacobs series (1) associated with f(x) is convergent in the interior of the largest ellipse with foci at ± 1 in which f(x) is analytic

For an application of Theorem 1, we have

$$x^{\mu} = I(\mu + \beta + 1) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n}(2n + \lambda) I(n + \lambda)(-\mu)_{n}}{I(n + \beta + 1) I(n + \lambda + \mu + 1)} R_{n}^{(n + \beta)}(x)$$
 (3)

valid for

$$\alpha > -1$$
, $\beta > -1$ $-R(\mu) < \min(\beta + 1, \beta/2 + 3/4)$,
 $\epsilon \le x \le 1 - \epsilon$, $0 < \epsilon < 1$
(4)

The coefficient of $R_*^{los} \theta(x)$ in (3) readily follows from 8 2(27, 30) Suppose $R(\mu)>0$ if $x\to 0$, $x\to 0$, the series on the right-hand side of (3) converges and its sum is zero. Since $\beta>-1$, min(0, $\beta+1$, $\beta/2+3/4)=0$ and so (3) is valid for

$$\alpha > -1$$
, $\beta > -1$, $R(\mu) > 0$, $0 \leqslant x \leqslant 1 - \epsilon$, $0 < \epsilon < 1$ (5)

If x = 1, the right-hand side of (3) converges to unity if $R(\mu) > \frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \beta)$. Hence (3) is valid for

$$\alpha > -1, \quad \beta > -1, \quad -R(\mu) < \min(0, \frac{1}{2}(\beta - \alpha)), \quad 0 \le x \le 1.$$
 (6)

With the aid of 8.2(43) and 2.11(11), it readily follows that (3) holds in $0 \le x \le 1$ when $R(\mu) > \frac{1}{2}(q - \beta)$, that is, when

$$-R(\mu) < \min(0, \frac{1}{2}(\beta - \alpha), \frac{1}{2}\beta + \frac{1}{4}).$$

However, the latter is more restrictive than (6). We can also show that the equiconvergence theorem gives better conditions for (3) than Rau's theorem.

If μ is a positive integer or zero, x^{μ} is analytic, and (3) is valid for all x. An easily proved generalization of (3) is

$$x^{\mu}e^{zx} = \Gamma(\mu + \beta + 1) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n(2n+\lambda)\Gamma(n+\lambda)(-\mu)_n}{\Gamma(n+\beta+1)\Gamma(n+\lambda+\mu+1)}$$
$$\times {}_2F_2\left({\mu+1, \mu+\beta+1 \atop \mu-n+1, \mu+n+\lambda+1} \middle| z \right) R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x), \tag{7}$$

valid under any of the conditions (4)–(6) and $|z| < \infty$. For further generalizations of (7), see 9.1(1, 12) and 9.2(2, 7, 14).

Another expansion of interest is

$$x^{\rho} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{k,\rho} P_k^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x),$$

$$\alpha > -1, \quad \beta > -1, \quad R(\rho) \geqslant 0, \quad 0 < x < 1,$$
(8)

where

$$c_{k,\rho} = \frac{(-)^{k}(-\rho)_{k}2^{\rho}(2k+\lambda)\Gamma(\beta+\rho+1)\Gamma(k+\lambda)}{\Gamma(k+\beta+1)\Gamma(k+\rho+\lambda+1)} {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} k-\rho, -k-\rho-\lambda \\ -\rho-\beta \end{pmatrix} \left[\frac{1}{2} \right] + \frac{(-)^{k+1}\pi(2k+\lambda)\Gamma(k+\lambda)e^{i\pi(\rho+\beta)}}{2^{\beta+1}\Gamma(k+\alpha+1)\Gamma(\rho+\beta+2)\Gamma(-\rho)\cos\pi(\rho+\beta)} \times {}_{2}F_{1} \begin{pmatrix} -k-\alpha, k+\beta+1 \\ +\beta+2 \end{pmatrix} \left[\frac{1}{2} \right].$$

$$(9)$$

If $\alpha = \beta$,

$$c_{k,\rho} = \frac{(-\rho)_k (2k + 2\alpha + 1) \Gamma(k + 2\alpha + 1) \Gamma[(1 + \rho - k)/2]}{2^{k+2\alpha+2} \Gamma(k + \alpha + 1) \Gamma[(k + 2\alpha + \rho + 3)/2]} \times [(-)^k + e^{i\pi\rho}].$$
(10)

If, further, ρ is a positive integer or zero, we can recover 8.2(29).

84. Evaluation and Estimation of the Goefficients in the Expansion of a Given Function f(x) in Series of Jacobi Polynomials

8 4 1 THE CONFRICIENTS AS AN INTEGRAL TRANSFORM

We suppose throughout that $\alpha > -1$, $\beta > -1$ From 8 3(1, 2), we have formally at least

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n P_n^{(n,n)}(x) \tag{1}$$

$$c_n = (h_n)^{-2} \int_{-1}^{1} f(x)(1-x)^n (1+x)^n P_n^{(n,n)}(x) dx$$
 (2)

When $\alpha = \beta$, $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$, an analysis of approximations for c_n , which follow from (2) by application of two trapezoidal type rules of integration, is given in 8.5.4. In particular, see the remarks following 8.5.4(11)

From (2) and 8 2(7) we get

$$c_n = \frac{(-)^n (h_n)^{-1}}{2^n n!} \int_{-1}^1 f(x) \frac{d^n}{dx^n} \{(1-x)^{n+n}(1+x)^{n+n}\} dx,$$
 (3)

and after integrating (3) by parts n times, it follows that

$$c_n = \frac{(-)^n (h_n)^{-1}}{2^n n!} \int_{-1}^1 f^{(n)}(x) (1-x)^{n+n} (1+x)^{n+n} dx$$
 (4)

We note that (4) is a beta transform. Thus if f(x) is a member of the hypergeometric family, so also is c_c as readily follows from (4), 3 4 (1)). And 36 (10) Likewise, if f(x) is a G function, then c_c is also a G-function in view of S 6 4(10). Other types of transforms are useful to identify c_n . In this connection the references noted at the end of 3 2 are pertinent For a general dilustration, suppose

$$f(x) = \int_{t}^{x} h(x \ t) g(t) dt \tag{5}$$

$$h(x \ t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n(t) P_n^{(n \ t)}(x)$$
 (6)

Combine (5) and (6), interchange the order of integration and summation (which we assume is valid), and compare with (1) to get

$$c_n = \int_a^d b_n(t) g(t) dt \tag{7}$$

Observe that both f(x) and c_n are from the same family of transforms. Thus if f(x) is defined by (5) and the kernel of the transform has a known expansion in series of Jacobi polynomials, then c_n is defined by a like transform with kernel $b_n(t)$.

For a more concrete but still general example, suppose f(x) is the Laplace transform of a known function g(t). Thus,

$$f(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-xt} g(t) dt.$$
 (8)

Now it can be shown that [see 9.3.2(2) and 9.3.3(7)]

$$e^{-xt} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n \Omega_n I_{n+\alpha+1/2}(t)}{t^{\alpha+1/2}} P_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(x), \qquad -1 \leqslant x \leqslant 1,$$

$$\Omega_n = \frac{(2\pi)^{1/2} (n+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}) \Gamma(n+2\alpha+1)}{2^{\alpha} \Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}, \qquad \alpha \neq -\frac{1}{2},$$

$$\Omega_n = n! \, \epsilon_n / (\frac{1}{2})_n \,, \quad \epsilon_0 = 1, \quad \epsilon_n = 2 \quad \text{if} \quad n > 0, \quad \text{when} \quad \alpha = -\frac{1}{2}. \tag{9}$$

Thus,

$$c_n = (-)^n \Omega_n \int_0^\infty t^{-\alpha - 1/2} I_{n + \alpha + 1/2}(t) g(t) dt, \qquad (10)$$

which is a Hankel transform, see Erdélyi et al. (1954). We write

$$\mathcal{H}\{F(t), y, \nu\} = \int_0^\infty F(t) J_{\nu}(yt)(yt)^{1/2} dt.$$
 (11)

Then

$$c_n = \Omega_n \exp[i\pi(n-\alpha-1)/2] \mathcal{H}\{g(t)/t^{\alpha+1}, e^{i\pi/2}, n+\alpha+\frac{1}{2}\}.$$
 (12)

The case $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$ is important for the applications. Thus with

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n T_n(x), \tag{13}$$

and f(x) also given by (8), then

$$a_n = \epsilon_n \exp[i\pi(n-\frac{1}{2})/2] \mathcal{H}\{g(t)/t^{1/2}, e^{i\pi/2}, n\}.$$
 (14)

For expansions in series of the "shifted" polynomials, suppose

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n R_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(x), \tag{15}$$

$$f(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-xt} g(t) dt.$$
 (16)

Since

$$e^{-et} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n \Omega_n e^{-t/2} I_{n+n+1/2}(t/2)}{(t/2)^{n+1/2}} R_n^{(sr,a)}(x),$$
 (17)

we find

$$a_n = 2(-)^n \Omega_n \int_0^{\infty} \frac{e^{-t}I_{n+n+1}v(t)g(2t)}{t^{n+1/2}} dt,$$

 $a_n = 2\Omega_n \exp[im(n-\alpha-1)/2] \mathcal{S}^{\mu}(|e^{-t}v(2t)|,t^{n+1},e^{iv/2},n+\alpha+1).$
(18)

In particular, with (16) and

$$f(x) \approx \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n T_n^*(x), \tag{19}$$

$$c_n = 2c_n \exp[i\pi(n-1)/2] \mathcal{H}([e^{-i}g(2t)]/t^{1/2}, e^{i\pi/2}, n)$$
 (20)

The formulations (8)-(20) are due to Wimp (1961). For an application of these results to $\ln I'(z)$ and its derivatives, see 2.10.2

Next suppose that f(x) is defined as a Fourier transform Let

$$f(x) = \int_0^{\infty} e^{ixt} g(t) dt = f_1(x) + i f_2(x), \tag{2i}$$

$$f_1(x) = \int_0^\infty (\cos xt) g(t) dt$$
, $f_2(x) = \int_0^\infty (\sin xt) g(t) dt$, (22)

$$f_1(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n P_n^{(s \ o)}(x), \qquad f_2(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n P_n^{(a \ o)}(x)$$
 (23)

Then

$$C_{2n+1} = 0$$
, $C_{2n} = (-)^n \Omega_{2n} \mathcal{H} \{g(t) t^{n+1}, 1, 2n + \alpha + \frac{1}{2}\},$ (24)

$$S_{2n} = 0, S_{2n+1} = (-)^n \Omega_{2n+2} \mathcal{H}(g(t))^{n+1}, 1, 2n + \alpha + \frac{\pi}{2}$$
 (25)

In particular, using (21), (22), $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$, and

$$f_3(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_{2n}(x)$$
 $f_2(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} s_n T_{2n+1}(x),$ (26)

we have

$$c_n = (-)^n \epsilon_n \mathcal{H}^2\{g(t)/t^{1/2}, 1, 2n\}, \quad s_n = 2(-)^n \mathcal{H}^2\{g(t)/t^{1/2}, 1, 2n + 1\}$$
 (2)

We next consider the situation where f(x) is defined by an inverse Laplace transform. This approach is due to Elliott and Szekeres (1965). Suppose

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n R_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(x), \tag{28}$$

$$g(p) = \int_0^\infty e^{-px} f(x) dx, \qquad (29)$$

or

$$f(x) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} e^{xz} g(z) dz,$$
 (30)

where c > 0 and c lies to the right of all singularities of g(z). Then

$$a_n = (2\pi i)^{-1} \Omega_n \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} \frac{e^{z/2} I_{n+\alpha+1/2}(z/2) g(z)}{(z/2)^{\alpha+1/2}} dz.$$
 (31)

Let

$$z = c - \rho e^{i\theta}, \quad -\pi/2 \leqslant \theta \leqslant \pi/2$$

and consider the locus of points $L_c = \{z \mid R(z) \leqslant c\}$. If

$$\lim_{z\to\infty} z^{1/2}g(z) = 0, \quad z \text{ on } L_c,$$

then

$$a_n = \text{sum of residues of } \frac{\Omega_n e^{z/2} I_{n+\alpha+1/2}(z/2) g(z)}{(z/2)^{\alpha+1/2}}.$$
 (32)

Suppose now that

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n P_n^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(x). \tag{33}$$

Then from (30), f(x) = 0 for x < 0 and the right-hand side of (30) gives $\frac{1}{2}f(0)$ for x = 0. To account for negative values of x, let us define

$$\begin{aligned}
f_1(x) &= f(x), & x > 0 \\
&= \frac{1}{2}f(0), & x = 0 \\
&= 0, & x < 0
\end{aligned} \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{aligned}
f_2(x) &= f(x), & x < 0 \\
&= \frac{1}{2}f(0), & x = 0 \\
&= 0, & x > 0
\end{aligned}, \quad (34)$$

so that for all real x,

$$f(x) = f_1(x) + f_2(x). (35)$$

Let

$$g_1(p) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-px} f(x) dx, \quad g_2(p) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-px} f(-x) dx,$$
 (36)

$$f_1(x) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \begin{cases} c_1 + i\infty \\ e^{2\pi}g_1(z) dz, \end{cases}$$
 (37)

$$f_1(-x) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{z_1 - i\omega}^{z_2 + i\omega} e^{xy} g_1(x) dz, \quad x > 0,$$

$$f_2(x) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{z_1 - i\omega}^{z_2 + i\omega} e^{xy} g_1(-x) dx, \quad x < 0$$
(38)

Here
$$\epsilon_r > 0$$
 and ϵ_r has to the right of all singularities of $\rho_r(z)$, $r = 1, 2$

Thus

$$f(x) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \left\{ \int_{-1}^{c_1+i\infty} e^{xz} g_1(z) dz + \int_{-1-i\infty}^{-c_2+i\infty} e^{xz} g_2(-z) dz \right\}$$
(39)

and so

$$c_n = (2\pi i)^{-1}\Omega_n \left\{ \int_{c_1-i\pi}^{c_1+i\pi} \frac{\int_{a_1a_1-1/2}^{a_1+i\pi} (z) g_1(z)}{x^{a_1}1^2} dz + \int_{-c_2-i\pi}^{c_1+i\pi} \frac{\int_{a_1a_2-1/2}^{a_1+i\pi} (z) g_2(-z)}{x^{a_11/2}} dz \right\} (40)$$

Again we remark that if f(z) can be expressed as a G-function, then

the same is true for e, In this instance see the material in 56 842 EVALUATION OF THE COEFFICIENTS WHEN f(x) Is DEFINED BY A TAYLOR SERIES

It is convenient to generalize and present work due to Fields and Wimp (1963) Let f(x) be analytic at x = 0 and write

$$f(\omega x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \xi_k \omega^k x^k, \quad \xi_k = f^{(k)}(0) k^{\gamma}$$
 (1)

Let $g_n(x)$ be a polynomial in x of degree n. Then there exist constants $a_{k,n}$ such that

$$x^{k} = \sum_{n=0}^{k} \sigma_{k} \, a g_{n}(x) \tag{2}$$

Combining (1) and (2), we have

$$f(\omega x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n g_n(x), \tag{3}$$

$$C_n = \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \sigma_{k,n} \xi_k \omega^k. \tag{4}$$

Note that if $\sigma_{k,n} = O(1)$ uniformly in n as $k \to \infty$, then most certainly (4) converges if $|\omega|$ is less than the radius of convergence of f(x). Equation (3) is called the basic series for $f(\omega x)$ corresponding to the set of functions $\{g_n(x)\}$. For a general discussion of basic series, see the work of Boas and Buck (1958). Here we consider the basic series where $g_n(x)$ is either the extended Jacobi polynomial

$$G_n(x,\lambda) = {}_{p+2}F_q\left(\begin{array}{c} -n,\, n+\lambda,\, \alpha_p \\ \rho_q \end{array} \middle| x\right) \tag{5}$$

or its confluent form, the extended Laguerre polynomial

$$G_n(x) = \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} G_n(x/\lambda, \lambda) = \Pr_{p+1} F_q \begin{pmatrix} -n, \alpha_p \\ \rho_q \end{pmatrix} x.$$
 (6)

In the sequel, we use the notation

$$x^{\lambda} = \sum_{n=0}^{\lambda} \sigma_{\lambda,n}(\lambda) G_n(x,\lambda),$$

$$f(\omega x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} C_n(\omega, \lambda) G_n(x, \lambda),$$

$$C_n(\omega,\lambda) = \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} \sigma_{k,n}(\lambda) \, \xi_k \omega^k, \qquad \xi_k = f^{(k)}(0)/k! \,, \tag{7}$$

and if $G_n(x, \lambda)$ is replaced by $G_n(x)$, we simply replace $\sigma_{k,n}(\lambda)$ and $C_n(\omega, \lambda)$ by $\sigma_{k,n}$ and $C_n(\omega)$, respectively.

The principal result of Fields and Wimp is as follows. Let none of the quantities $\lambda + 1$, α , and ρ , be a negative integer or zero. Then

$$\sigma_{k,n}(\lambda) = \frac{(-k)_n (2n+\lambda)(\rho_q)_k}{n! (n+\lambda)(n+\lambda+1)_k (\alpha_p)_k},$$
(8)

$$C_n(\omega,\lambda) = \frac{(-)^n \omega^n(\rho_0)_n}{(n+\lambda)_n(\alpha_p)_n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(n+1)_k (n+\rho_0)_k \xi_{k+n} \omega^k}{(2n+\lambda+1)_k (n+\alpha_p)_k k!}, \tag{9}$$

and for the confluent case.

$$\sigma_{k,\eta} = \frac{(-k)_{\eta}(\rho_{\eta})_k}{n! (\alpha_{\lambda})_{\eta}}, \quad (10)$$

$$C_n(\omega) = \frac{(-)^n \omega^n (\rho_q)_n}{(\alpha_p)_n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(n+1)_k (n+\rho_q)_k \xi_{k+q} \omega^k}{(n+\alpha_p)_k k!}$$
(11)

Note that in view of (8),

$$x^{k} = \frac{(\rho_{\sigma})_{k}}{(\alpha_{-})_{h}} \sum_{k}^{\infty} \frac{(-k)_{\sigma}(2n+\lambda)}{(n+\lambda+1)_{\sigma}(n+\lambda)} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{p,q} F_{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} -n, n+\lambda & \alpha_{p} \\ \rho_{\sigma} \end{pmatrix} x$$
(12)

The proof is by induction on p and q using Laplace transform techniques When p=0, q=1, $p_1=\beta+1$, and $\lambda=\alpha+\beta+1$, (12) may be deduced from the classical result 32(9). Thus (12) is also true when p=q=0 by confluence Suppose then that (12) is true for some p and p In (12) replace x by x, multiply both sides of this equation by $e^{-t}t^{r-1}$ and apply 36(13). With an obvious change of notation, we get (12) with p replaced by p+1 and the induction on p is complete in the above derivation we must suppose R(r)>0, but this condition can be tracked by continuity For the induction on q, in (12) replace x by xlt, multiply both sides of this equation by $e^{t}t^{r}$ and take the inverse Laplace transform, that s, use 36(19)

For the expansion of f(z) in series of the shifted Jacobi polynomials, we have

$$f(\omega x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n(\omega) R_n^{(u,0)}(x), \qquad (13)$$

$$S_n(\omega) = \frac{n! \, \omega^n}{(n+\lambda)!} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(n+\beta+1)_k (n+1)_k \xi_{k+n} \omega^k}{(2n+\lambda+1)! \, k!}$$
(14)

When $\alpha = \beta = -\frac{1}{2}$, that is, $\lambda = 0$, we get the important expansion in

series of shifted Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind. Thus,
$$f(\omega x) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} A_n(\omega) T_n^{\alpha}(x), \qquad A_0(\omega) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left[(\frac{1}{2})_k \xi_k \omega^k \right]/k!,$$

$$A_n(\omega) = 2\left(\frac{\omega}{4}\right)^n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(n+\frac{1}{2})_k (n+1)_k \xi_{k+n} \omega^k}{(2n+1)_k k!} \qquad n \geqslant 1$$
 (15)

In a similar fashion, using 8 2(28), we can derive an expression for

 $f(\omega x)$ in series of the Jacobi polynomials $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$. The case $\alpha=\beta$ is of particular interest. Thus from 8.2(29) and (3), (4), we find

$$x^{\epsilon}f(\omega x^2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} E_n(\omega) P_{2n+\epsilon}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(x), \quad \epsilon = 0 \text{ or } \epsilon = 1,$$

$$E_{n}(\omega) = \frac{2^{\epsilon}(2n+\epsilon)! (4\omega)^{n}}{(2n+2\alpha+1+\epsilon)_{2n+\epsilon}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(n+\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon)_{k}(n+1)_{k}\xi_{k+n}\omega^{k}}{(2n+\alpha+\frac{3}{2}+\epsilon)_{k}k!}, \quad (16)$$

where ξ_k has the same meaning as in (1). For the case $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$, we have

$$x^{\epsilon}f(\omega x^2) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} F_n(\omega) T_{2n+\epsilon}(x), \quad \epsilon = 0 \text{ or } \epsilon = 1,$$

$$F_n(\omega) = 2^{1-\epsilon} \left(\frac{\omega}{4}\right)^n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(n+\frac{1}{2}+\epsilon)_k (n+1)_k \xi_{k+n} \omega^k}{(2n+1+\epsilon)_k k!}.$$
 (17)

Note that if $\epsilon = 0$, (17) and (15) coalesce when in the latter x is replaced by x^2 in view of 8.5.2(2).

The foregoing analysis may be used to derive expansions of hypergeometric functions in series of functions of the same kind. This investigation is deferred to Chapter IX where we employ a different point of view to get some very general expansion formulas.

8.4.3. Asymptotic Estimates of the Coefficients

As so much of our work bears on Chebyshev polynomials, in the sequel we consider the coefficients in the expansion 8.4.1(1) with the Jacobi polynomial replaced by $T_n(x)$, even though results could readily be obtained for the more general situation.

Consider

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{2}c_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k T_k(x), \qquad c_k = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{f(x) T_k(x)}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} dx. \tag{1}$$

Let C be a completely closed contour such that f(x) is analytic on and within C. Further let the line segment $-1 \le x \le 1$ lie within C. By Cauchy's formula

$$f(x) = (2\pi i)^{-1} \int_{C} [f(z)/(z-x)] dz.$$
 (2)

So

$$c_k = \frac{1}{1\pi^2} \int_C f(z) \left\{ \int_{-1}^1 \frac{T_k(z) dz}{(1-z^2)^{1/2}(z-z)} \right\} dz$$

 $= \frac{1}{1\pi} \left\{ \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2\pi}}^{\pi} \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2\pi}}^{\pi} \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2\pi}}^{\pi} dz, \quad (3)$

in view of 8 5 1(41, 42) If

$$z \Rightarrow u + \iota v \approx \cosh v \quad v \Rightarrow \alpha + \iota \beta.$$
 (4)

then

formation

$$u^2/\cosh^2 \alpha + v^2/\sinh^2 \alpha = 1$$
, $|z + (z^2 - 1)^{1/2}| = |e^{\alpha}| = e^{\alpha} = \rho$ (5)

Thus the latter equation generates an ellipse which we call E_p with foci at $z=\pm 1$ and semiaxes $\cosh\alpha$ and $\sinh\alpha$, respectively. Observe that if z=x, $-1 \le x \le 1$, then p=1 and $\alpha=0$. Introduce the trans-

$$r = \sigma$$
 (6)

This maps the exterior of the ellipse E_{s} onto the exterior of the circle C_{s} of radius ρ with center at the origin in the σ -plane. In (3), let C be this circle. Then

$$c_k = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_C \frac{f(\frac{1}{2}(\sigma + \sigma^{-1}))}{\sigma^{k+1}} d\sigma,$$
 (7)

$$|c_k| \leqslant 2M(\rho)/\rho^k$$
, $M(\rho) = \max_{k \geq 0} |f(z)|$ (8)

If ρ^* is that ρ which minimizes this bound, then with

$$f_n(x) = \frac{1}{4}\epsilon_n + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \epsilon_n T_n(x)$$
 $\epsilon_n(x) = f(x) - f_n(x),$
 $|\epsilon_n(x)| \leq \frac{2M(\epsilon^n)}{(\epsilon^{-1})^{n/2}(\epsilon^n - 1)}, \quad \rho^n > 1$

$$(9)$$

This proves that the expansion (1) converges in the domain in which f(x) is analytic Clearly the rate of convergence depends on how large an ellipse we can have in the complex plane without encountering a singularity of f(x)

For another point of view, it follows from 8 5 1(38) that

$$\frac{1}{x-y} = \frac{T_n(x)}{nT_n(x)} + \frac{T_n(y)}{(x-y)} \frac{1}{T_n(x)} + \frac{2}{T_n(x)} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \frac{T_{n-k}(x)}{n-k} \frac{T_k(y)}{n-k}$$
(10)

and this coupled with (2) gives

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{2}c_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_k T_k(x) + \delta_{n-1}(x),$$

$$c_k = \frac{1}{i\pi} \int_C \frac{f(z) \ T'_{n-k}(z)}{(n-k) \ T_n(z)} \ dz, \qquad \delta_{n-1}(x) = \frac{T_n(x)}{2\pi i} \int_C \frac{f(z) \ dz}{(z-x) \ T_n(z)} \ . \tag{11}$$

To evaluate c_k , we need the residues due to the zeros of $T_n(z)$. Thus with the notation of Lemma 1 of 8.5.4, we have

$$c_k = 2 \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \frac{T'_{n-k}(x_{\alpha})f(x_{\alpha})}{(n-k) T'_n(x_{\alpha})} = \frac{2}{n} \sum_{\alpha=1}^n T_k(x_{\alpha})f(x_{\alpha}).$$
 (12)

If (12) is inserted in the expansion for f(x) in (11), then this representation with c_k replaced by d_k when compared with the combination of Theorems 1 and 2 of 8.5.4 gives a formulation for the remainder $\delta_{n-1}(x)$. In this connection, see also the work of Elliott (1965). If M is the maximum of |f(z)| for z on C, then

$$|\delta_{n-1}(x)| \leqslant \frac{M}{2\pi} \int_C \left| \frac{dz}{(z-x) T_n(z)} \right|.$$

Now take z as in (4). Then $|T_n(z)|^2 \geqslant \sinh^2 n\alpha$, $|z - x| \geqslant \cosh \alpha - 1$, and the length of C does not exceed $2\pi \cosh \alpha$. Hence,

$$|\delta_{n-1}(x)| \leqslant \frac{M \cosh \alpha}{\sinh n\alpha(\cosh \alpha - 1)}.$$
 (13)

Notice that (9) and (13) are essentially the same when α is large if in the latter n is replaced by n + 1, and if in the former ρ^* is replaced by ρ .

When f(x) is entire, (8) furnishes a bound for c_k . To achieve an estimate of this coefficient for large k, we follow Elliott and Szekeres (1965). The idea is to deform C in (3) such that it never passes through the branch points $z = \pm 1$, and then use the method of steepest descent. Let

$$e^{\omega(z)} = \frac{f(z) e^{-\lambda \varphi}}{\sinh \varphi}, \qquad z = \cosh \varphi$$
 (14)

so that

$$\omega'(z) = \frac{f'(z)}{f(z)} - \frac{(k + \coth \varphi)}{\sinh \varphi},$$

$$\omega''(z) = \frac{f''(z)}{f(z)} - \left\{ \frac{f'(z)}{f(z)} \right\}^2 + \frac{\frac{1}{2}k \sinh 2\varphi + \cosh^2 \varphi + 1}{\sinh^4 \varphi}.$$
(15)

Let ξ be a number such that $\omega'(\xi) = 0$ Thus for k sufficiently large,

$$\sinh \theta [f(\xi)|f(\xi)] \sim k, \quad \xi = \cosh \theta$$
 (16)

Upon application of the method of steepest descent, we have for k sufficiently large

$$c_k \sim -\frac{i(2^i \eta)^{1/2} \eta f(\xi) e^{-kt}}{|\omega'(\xi)|^{1/2} \sinh \xi}, \quad \eta = \exp\{\frac{1}{2} i\pi - \frac{1}{2} i \arg \omega'(\xi)\},$$
 (17)

or a sum of such relations, one for each point ξ which lies on the contour

In many considerations, use of (17) is binuted since solution of the transcendental equation for ξ can be a formidable task. In numerous situations where (17) is applicable, the same and often better estimates can be deduced directly from known closed form expressions for the coefficients In illustration, from 9 3 2(5),

$$\begin{split} {}_{p}F_{q}\begin{pmatrix} a_{p} \\ b_{q} \end{pmatrix} \pi \omega &\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{q} B_{n}T_{n}^{*}(\omega), \\ B_{q} &= \epsilon_{n}\frac{(a_{q})_{n}(\pi^{j}b_{q}^{*})}{(b_{q}^{*})_{n}^{*}} {}_{p+1}F_{q+1}\left(\frac{1}{1}+\frac{n}{2}a_{p}+\frac{n}{n}\right)x \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

$$p \leqslant q \mid x \mid < \infty, \mid \omega \mid < \infty, \quad p = q + 1, \quad x \neq 1, \quad |\arg(1 - x)| < \pi,$$

$$0 \leqslant \omega \leqslant 1 \qquad (18)$$

Then for n sufficiently large, excellent estimates of B_n follow from 7 3(7-9)

For estimates of the coefficients when f(x) has poles or branch points, see Elliott (1964) There it is indicated how the results can be extended to expansions in series of the Jacobi polynomials

Asymptotic estimates of the coefficients of the expansion for Whittake functions of argument z_0 in series of Chebysher polynomials of the first kind of argument $1/\omega$ have been studied by Nemeth (1965a,b) and G F Miller (1966) These results have been generalized by Wimp (1967) [see 9.2(14-20)].

8.5. Chebyshev Polynomials

851 The Polynomials $T_n(x)$ and $U_n(x)$

The Chebyshev polynomials have already been noted in 8 1(29-32) We have

$$T_n(x) \approx \frac{n!}{(\frac{1}{4})_n} P_n^{(-1/2-1/2)}(x), \qquad U_n(x) = \frac{(n+1)!}{(\frac{3}{4})_n} P_n^{(1/2-1/2)}(x),$$
 (1)

and it is readily shown that

$$T_n(x) = \cos n\theta$$
, $U_n(x) = \csc \theta \sin(n+1) \theta$, $x = \cos \theta$. (2)

Also,

$$T_{2n}(\sin \theta) = (-)^n \cos 2n\theta, \qquad T_{2n+1}(\sin \theta) = (-)^n \sin(2n+1)\theta, \quad (3)$$

$$U_{2n}(\sin \theta) = \frac{(-)^n \cos(2n+1) \theta}{\cos \theta}, \quad U_{2n+1}(\sin \theta) = \frac{(-)^n \sin(2n+2) \theta}{\cos \theta}. \quad (4)$$

Thus many identities involving the Chebyshev polynomials are paraphrases of well-known trigonometric identities. We present a short list of results as other identities may be deduced from 8.2. Hypergeometric representations and other properties are as follows:

$$T_n(x) = {}_2F_1\left(\frac{-n, n}{\frac{1}{2}} \left| \frac{1-x}{2} \right| = (-)^n {}_2F_1\left(\frac{-n, n}{\frac{1}{2}} \left| \frac{1+x}{2} \right| \right). \tag{5}$$

$$T_n(x) = \frac{1}{2}n \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \frac{(-)^k (n-k-1)!}{k! (n-2k)!} (2x)^{n-2k}, \qquad n = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (6)

$$T_{2n}(x) = (-)^n {}_2F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} -n, & n \\ \frac{1}{2} & \end{array} \middle| x^2\right) = {}_2F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} -n, & n \\ \frac{1}{2} & \end{array} \middle| 1 - x^2\right). \tag{7}$$

$$T_{2n}(x) = T_n(2x^2 - 1). (8)$$

$$T_{2n+1}(x) = (-)^n (2n+1) x_2 F_1 \begin{pmatrix} -n, n+1 \\ \frac{3}{2} \end{pmatrix} x^2 = x_2 F_1 \begin{pmatrix} -n, n+1 \\ \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} 1 - x^2$$
 (9)

$$T_n(1) = 1$$
, $T_n(-1) = (-)^n$, $T_{2n}(0) = (-)^n$, $T_{2n+1}(0) = 0$. (10)

$$2^{n}(\frac{1}{2})_{n}T_{n}(x) = (-)^{n}(1-x^{2})^{1/2}\frac{d^{n}}{dx^{n}}(1-x^{2})^{n-1/2}.$$
 (11)

$$(1-x^2)\frac{d^2T_n(x)}{dx^2} - \frac{x\,dT_n(x)}{dx} + n^2T_n(x) = 0.$$
 (12)

$$(1 - x^2) \frac{dT_n(x)}{dx} = n[T_{n-1}(x) - xT_n(x)]. \tag{13}$$

If

$$y_n(x) = AT_n(x) + BU_n(x),$$

where A and B are constants independent of n and x, then

$$y_{n+1}(x) = 2xy_n(x) - y_{n-1}(x), n > 0,$$

$$T_1(x) = xT_0(x) = x, U_1(x) = 2xU_0(x) = 2x,$$
(14)

$$y_{y_{n+2}(x)} = 2(2x^2 - 1) y_{y_n}(x) - y_{y_{n-2}}(x)$$
 $n > 0$,
 $T_2(x) = (2x^2 - 1) T_2(x) = 2x^2 - 1$,
 $U_n(x) = (4x^2 - 1) U_n(x) = 4x^2 - 1$ (15)

$$y_{2n+3}(x) = 2(2x^2-1)y_{2n+3}(x) - y_{2n-3}(x), \quad n > 0,$$

$$T_1(x) = 2(2x^2 - 1) T_1(x) - T_1(x) = (4x^2 - 3) T_1(x) = 4x^3 - 3x,$$

$$U_1(x) = 2(2x^2 - 1) U_1(x) = 8x^2 - 4x$$
(16)

$$2T_{m}(x) T_{n}(x) = T_{m+n}(x) + T_{(m-n)}(x)$$
 (17)

$$2I_{m}(x) I_{n}(x) = I_{m+n}(x) + I_{m-n}(x)$$

$$2(x^{2} - 1) U_{m-1}(x) U_{m-1}(x) = I_{m+n}(x) - I_{m-n}(x)$$
(18)

$$2T_{n}(x) U_{n-1}(x) = U_{n+n-1}(x) + U_{n-n-1}(x), \quad n > m$$
 (19)

$$2T_n(x) U_{m-1}(x) = U_{n+m-1}(x) - U_{n-m-1}(x), \quad n > m,$$
 (20)

$$T_m(x) U_n(x) - U_m(x) T_n(x) = T_j(x) U_{n-m-1}(x)$$
 $n > m$ (21)

$$x^m = 2^{2-m} \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} {m \choose k} T_{m-2k}(x), \quad m > 0$$
 (22)

$$x^{m}T_{n}(x) = 2^{-m}\sum_{k} {m \choose k} T_{[n+m-2k]}(x)$$
 (23)

$$\frac{dT_{2n}(x)}{dx} \simeq 4\pi \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} T_{2k+1}(x) \tag{24}$$

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \frac{2x+(x)}{x+(x)}$$

$$\frac{dT_{2n+1}(x)}{dx} = (2\pi + 1) + 2(2\pi + 1) \sum_{k=1}^{n} T_{2k}(x)$$
 (25)

$$x \frac{dT_{2n}(x)}{dx} = 2n(T_0(x) + T_{2n}(x)) + 4n \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} T_{2k}(x)$$
 (26)

$$x \frac{dT_{2n+1}(x)}{dx} = 2(2n+1) \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} T_{2k+1}(x) + (2n+1) T_{2n+1}(x)$$

$$x^{2} \frac{dT_{2n}(x)}{dx} = 4n \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} T_{2k+1}(x) + \frac{3}{4} T_{2n+1}(x) + \frac{1}{4} T_{2n+1}(x) \right]$$
(28)

$$x^{2} \frac{dT_{2n+1}(x)}{dx} = 2(2n+1) \left[\frac{1}{2} T_{0}(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} T_{2n}(x) + \frac{1}{2} T_{2n}(x) + \frac{1}{2} T_{2n+2}(x) \right],$$

$$n \ge 1, \quad x^2 \frac{dT_1(x)}{dT_2(x)} = \frac{1}{2} \{T_0(x) + T_2(x)\}$$
 (29)

$$\frac{d^2T_{2n}(x)}{dx^2} = 4n^3T_0(x) + 8n\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (n^2 - k^2) T_{2k}(x).$$
 (30)

$$\frac{d^2T_{2n+1}(x)}{dx^2} = 4(2n+1)\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (n-k)(n+1+k) T_{2k+1}(x),$$

$$n \geqslant 1, \qquad \frac{d^2 T_1(x)}{dx^2} = 0. \tag{31}$$

$$x\frac{d^2T_{2n}(x)}{dx^2} = 4n\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \{2n^2 - k^2 - (k+1)^2\} T_{2k+1}(x).$$
 (32)

$$x \frac{d^2 T_{2n+1}(x)}{dx^2} = 2(2n+1) \left[n(n+1) T_0(x) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^n (n^2 + n - k^2) T_{2k}(x) \right]. \quad (33)$$

$$x^{2} \frac{d^{2}T_{2n}(x)}{dx^{2}} = 2n \left[(2n^{2} - 1)T_{0}(x) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (2n^{2} - 2k^{2} - 1)T_{2k}(x) + (2n - 1)T_{2n}(x) \right].$$
(34)

$$x^{2} \frac{d^{2}T_{2n+1}(x)}{dx^{2}} = 2(2n+1) \left[\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (2n^{2} + 2n - 2k^{2} - 2k - 1) T_{2k+1}(x) + nT_{2n+1}(x) \right],$$

$$n\geqslant 1. (35)$$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1 - x^{2})^{-1/2} T_{n}(x) T_{m}(x) dx = 0 \quad \text{if} \quad m \neq n,$$

$$= \pi/2 \quad \text{if} \quad m = n \neq 0,$$

$$= \pi \quad \text{if} \quad m = n = 0. \quad (36)$$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1 - x^2)^{1/2} U_n(x) \ U_m(x) \ dx = (\pi/2) \delta_{mn} \ . \tag{37}$$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (x - y)^{-1} (1 - x^2)^{-1/2} [T_n(x) - T_n(y)] dx = \pi U_{n-1}(y).$$
 (38)

P.V.
$$\int_{-1}^{1} (x - y)^{-1} (1 - x^2)^{-1/2} T_n(x) dx = \pi U_{n-1}(y), \quad -1 < y < 1.$$
 (39)

P.V.
$$\int_{-1}^{1} (x - y)^{-1} (1 - x^2)^{1/2} U_{n-1}(x) dx = -\pi T_n(y), \quad -1 < y < 1.$$
 (40)

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (z - x)^{-1} (1 - x^2)^{-1/2} T_n(x) \, dx = \frac{\pi e^{-n\varphi}}{\sinh \varphi}, \tag{41}$$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (z-x)^{-1} (1-x^2)^{1/2} U_{n-1}(x) dx = \pi e^{-nx}, \qquad n > 0,$$

$$z = \cosh \varphi, \qquad e^{\varphi} = z \pm (z^2 - 1)^{1/2}$$
(42)

and the sign is chosen so that $|e^{\epsilon}| > 1$

$$\int_{0}^{x} T_{2n}(t) dt = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{T_{2n+1}(x)}{2n+1} - \frac{T_{12n-1}(x)}{2n-1} \right]$$
(43)

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} T_{2n+1}(t) dt = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{T_{2n+2}(x)}{2n+2} - \frac{T_{2n}(x)}{2n} \right] + \frac{(-)^{n}}{4} \left(\frac{1}{n} + \frac{1}{n+1} \right), \quad n > 0,$$

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} T_{1}(t) dt = \frac{1}{4} [T_{2}(x) + T_{0}(x)]$$
(44)

$$(n+1)\int_{a}^{x}U_{n}(t)\,dt=T_{n+1}(x)-T_{n+1}(0) \tag{45}$$

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\pi} \int_{0}^{t} T_{to}(s) \, ds \, dt &\approx \frac{T_{to}(s)}{4(2n+1)(2n+2)} - \frac{T_{to}(s)}{2(4n^{2}-1)} + \frac{T_{to}(s)}{4(2n-1)(2n-2)} \\ &+ \frac{(-)^{n}}{2(4n^{2}-1)}, \quad \pi > 1, \end{split}$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{t} T_{0}(u) du dt = \frac{1}{4} [T_{0}(x) + T_{2}(x)],$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{t} T_{0}(u) du dt = -\frac{3T_{0}(x)}{16} - \frac{T_{0}(x)}{6} + \frac{T_{0}(x)}{48}$$
(46)

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} T_{2n+1}(u) du dt = \frac{T_{2n+2}(x)}{4(2n+2)(2n+3)} - \frac{T_{2n+1}(x)}{2(2n+2)(2n)} + \frac{T_{2n-1}(x)}{4(2n)(2n-1)} + \frac{(-)^{n}(2n+1)}{4n(n+1)} T_{1}(x) \qquad n > 0,$$

$$+\frac{1}{4n(n+1)}T_1(x) \qquad n > 0,$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{1} T_1(u) du dt = \frac{1}{24}[3T_1(x) + T_3(x)] \qquad (47)$$

852 THE POLYNOMIALS $T_{x}^{*}(x)$ AND $U_{x}^{*}(x)$

The shifted Chebyshev polynomials of the first and second kinds are denoted by $T_n^*(x)$ and $U_n^*(x)$, respectively. We have the connecting relations

$$T_n^*(x) = T_n(2x-1), T_n(x) = T_n^*[(1+x)/2]$$
 (1)

$$T_{*a}(x) = T_{a}^{*}(x^{2}),$$
 (2)

$$U_n^*(x) \approx U_n(2x-1), \quad U_n(x) \approx U_n^*[(1+x)/2]$$

$$U_{a_{-1}}(x) \approx 2x U_a^a(x^2)$$
 (4)

Identities for the shifted polynomials are readily derived from those of the unshifted polynomials. We omit further properties of $U_n^*(x)$. For the applications, it is convenient to enumerate some relations involving $T_n^*(x)$.

$$T_n^*(x) = {}_2F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} -n, n \\ \frac{1}{2} \end{array} \middle| 1 - x\right) = (-)^n {}_2F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} -n, n \\ \frac{1}{2} \end{array} \middle| x\right). \tag{5}$$

$$T_n^*(1-x) = (-)^n T_n^*(x). (6)$$

$$T_n^*(1) = 1, T_n^*(0) = (-)^n.$$
 (7)

$$T_{n+1}^*(x) = 2(2x-1) T_n^*(x) - T_{n-1}^*(x).$$
 (8)

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{T_{n}^{*}(x) T_{m}^{*}(x)}{[x(1-x)]^{1/2}} dx = 0 \quad \text{if} \quad m \neq n,$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}\pi \quad \text{if} \quad m = n \neq 0,$$

$$= \pi \quad \text{if} \quad m = n = 0.$$
(9)

$$x^{m} = 2^{-2m} \left[{2m \choose m} T_{0}^{*}(x) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{m} {2m \choose m-k} T_{k}^{*}(x) \right].$$
 (10)

$$x^{m}T_{n}^{*}(x) = 2^{-2m} \sum_{k=0}^{2m} {2m \choose k} T_{|n+m-k|}^{*}(x).$$
 (11)

$$\frac{dT_{2n}^*(x)}{dx} = 8n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} T_{2k+1}^*(x). \tag{12}$$

$$\frac{dT_{2n+1}^*(x)}{dx} = 2(2n+1) T_0^*(x) + 4(2n+1) \sum_{k=1}^n T_{2k}^*(x).$$
 (13)

$$x\frac{dT_n^*(x)}{dx} = 2n\left[\frac{1}{2}\{T_0^*(x) + T_n^*(x)\} + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} T_k^*(x)\right]. \tag{14}$$

$$x^{2} \frac{dT_{n}^{*}(x)}{dx} = 2n \left[\frac{1}{2} T_{0}^{*}(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n-2} T_{k}^{*}(x) + \frac{7}{8} T_{n-1}^{*}(x) + \frac{1}{2} T_{n}^{*}(x) + \frac{1}{8} T_{n-1}^{*}(x) \right], \qquad n \geqslant 2;$$

$$x^{2} \frac{dT_{1}^{*}(x)}{dx} = \frac{3}{4} T_{0}^{*}(x) + T_{1}^{*}(x) + \frac{1}{4} T_{2}^{*}(x), \qquad x^{2} \frac{dT_{0}^{*}(x)}{dx} = 0.$$
 (15)

$$\frac{d^2T_{2n}^*(x)}{dx^2} = 16n^3T_0^*(x) + 32n\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (n^2 - k^2) T_{2k}^*(x).$$
 (16)

$$\frac{d^2T_{2n+1}^*(x)}{dx^2} = 16(2n+1)\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (n-k)(n+1+k) T_{2k+1}^*(x). \tag{17}$$

302

$$x \frac{d^{2} T_{pa}^{*}(x)}{dx^{2}} = 8\pi \left[n^{2} T_{0}^{*}(x) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} (n^{2} - k^{2}) T_{2k}^{*}(x) \right]$$

$$+\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \{2n^{2}-k^{2}-(k+1)^{2}\} T_{3k+3}^{k}(x)$$
 (18)

$$x \frac{d^2 T_{2n+1}^n(x)}{dx^2} = 8(2n+1) \left[\frac{n(n+1)}{2} T_0^n(x) + \sum_{k=1}^n (n^2 + n - k^2) T_{2k}^n(x) \right]$$

$$+\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (n-k)(n+1+k) T_{2k+1}^{*}(x)$$
 (19)

$$x^{2} \frac{d^{2}T_{\frac{2n}{n-1}}^{n}}{dx^{2}} = 2\pi \left[(4n^{2} - 1) T_{0}^{n}(x) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \{4(n^{2} - k^{2}) - 1\} T_{10}^{n}(x) \right]$$

$$+ (2n-1) T_{2n}^{u}(x) + 4 \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (2n^{2} - k^{2} (k+1)^{k}) T_{2k+2}^{u}(x)$$
(20)

$$x^{2} \frac{d^{2}T_{n+1}^{*}(x)}{dx^{2}} = (2n+1) \left[4n(n+1) T_{n}^{*}(x) + 8 \sum_{k=1}^{n} (n^{2}+n-k^{2}) T_{2k}^{*}(x) \right]$$

$$+2\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(4n^{2}+4n-4k^{2}-4k-1\right) T_{2k+1}^{*}(x)+2nT_{2n+1}^{*}(x)\right\}$$
(21)

$$\int_{a}^{x} T_{n}^{*}(t) dt = \frac{1}{4} \left[\frac{T_{n+1}^{*}(x)}{n+1} - \frac{T_{n-1}^{*}(x)}{n-1} \right] - \frac{(-)^{n}}{2(n^{2}-1)} \qquad n = 0 \ 2,3$$

$$\int_0^x T_0^*(t) dt = \frac{1}{2} [T_2^*(x) - T_0^*(x)] \qquad \int_0^x T_0^*(t) dt = \frac{1}{2} [T_1^*(x) + T_0^*(x)]$$
(17)

$$\int_{a}^{x} \int_{0}^{t} T_{n}^{*}(u) \, du \, dt = \frac{T_{n+1}^{*}(x)}{16(n+2)(n+1)} - \frac{T_{n}^{*}(x)}{8(n^{2}-1)} + \frac{T_{n-1}^{*}(x)}{16(n-1)(n-2)}$$

$$-\frac{(-)^{2}T_{n}^{*}(x)}{4(n^{2}-1)} - \frac{(-)^{2}T_{n}^{*}(x)}{4(n^{2}-4)} \qquad n > 2$$

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} \int_{0}^{t} T_{0}^{*}(u) du dt = \frac{1}{2}x^{2} = \frac{1}{10} [3T_{0}^{*}(x) + 4T_{1}^{*}(x) + T_{2}^{*}(x)]$$
 (23)

$$\int_{0}^{s} \int_{0}^{t} T_{1}^{h}(u) du dt = \frac{1}{4} \left[-8T_{0}^{h}(x) - 9T_{1}^{h}(x) + T_{1}^{h}(x) \right]$$

$$\int_{0}^{s} \int_{0}^{t} T_{2}^{h}(u) du dt = \frac{1}{12} \left[-9T_{0}^{h}(x) - 16T_{1}^{h}(x) - 8T_{2}^{h}(x) + T_{4}^{h}(x) \right]$$

8.5.3. Minimax Properties and Comparison with the Truncated Mean Square Approximation

Let f(x) and s(x) be real and continuous in [a, b] and consider

$$Q_{n,m}(x) = \frac{s(x) q_n(x)}{p_m(x)}, \qquad q_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^n a_k x^k, \qquad p_m(x) = \sum_{k=0}^m b_k x^k \qquad (1)$$

where m and n are given. The problem proposed by Chebyshev is that of finding real numbers a_k and b_k so that the maximum deviation of $Q_{n,m}(x)$ from f(x) is least. Such an approximation is called best in the Chebyshev sense. We discuss very briefly only the special case s(x) = 1 and m = 0. For the general case, related topics, and further considerations of the special case just noted, see Akhiezer (1956), Walsh (1960), Todd (1962), P. J. Davis (1963), J. R. Rice (1964), Meinardus (1964), Cheney (1966), and Handscomb (1966).

A striking feature of the Chebyshev polynomial $T_n(x)$ is manifested by the following.

Theorem 1. Of all polynomials of degree n with leading coefficient unity, that which deviates least from zero in [-1, 1] is the Chebyshev polynomial $2^{1-n}T_n(x)$.

PROOF. Let $q_n(x)$ be given as in (1) with $a_0 = 1$. Let

$$\nu(q_n) = \max_{1 \le r \le 1} |q_n(x)|.$$

Then we want to prove that $\nu(q_n) \geqslant 2^{1-n}$ and equality obtains if and only if $q_n(x) = T_n(x)$. Suppose the theorem is false. Then there is a polynomial with leading coefficient unity, call it $q_n^*(x)$, such that $\nu(q_n^*) < 2^{1-n}$. Put

$$r(x) = q_n^*(x) - 2^{1-n}T_n(x),$$

which is a polynomial of degree (n-1). It cannot vanish identically, for if it did, we would have $q_n^*(x) = 2^{1-n}T_n(x)$, whence $\nu(q_n^*) = 2^{1-n}$, which contradicts our assumption. It is clear from 8.5.1(2) that

$$T_n(x_{\beta}) = (-)^{\beta}, \quad x_{\beta} = \cos \pi \beta / n, \quad \beta = 0, 1, ..., n,$$
$$|T_n(x)| \leq 1, \quad -1 \leq x \leq 1.$$

Now consider the values of r(x) at the points x_{β} . Since $|q_n^*(x)| < 2^{1-n}$, $\operatorname{sign}[r(x_{\beta})] = (-)^{\beta}$. It follows that r(x) must vanish between x_{β} and $x_{\beta+1}$. That is, r(x) must vanish n times in [-1, 1]. But this is impossible since r(x) is a polynomial of degree (n-1). Thus r(x) must vanish identically and the theorem follows.

Some further theorems concerning polynomials of best approximation in the Chebyshev sense to a continuous function follow. For proof, see the references already noted

Theorem 2. If f(x) is continuous in [a, b], then there exists a polynomial of degree n, $Q_n(x)$, such that

$$E_n(f) = \max_{x \in x \le h} |f(x) - Q_n(x)| < \max_{x \in x \le h} |f(x) - r_n(x)|$$

for any $r_n(x) \neq Q_n(x)$ $Q_n(x)$ is called the best approximation of degree n

Theorem 3. There are (n+2) points $a \leqslant x_0 < x_2 < \cdots < x_n < x_{n+1} \leqslant b$ such that

$$|f(x_i) - Q_n(x_i)| = E_n(f), \quad i = 0, 1, , n + 1,$$

and $f(x_i) - Q_n(x_i)$ alternates in sign for i = 0, 1, n + 1

Theorem 4. If there exist (n + 2) points

$$a \leqslant x_0 < x_1 < \qquad < x_n < x_{n+1} \leqslant b$$

such that

$$f(x_i) - r_n(x_i) = \omega_i$$
, $s = 0.1$, $n + 1$

where the oi alternate in sign, then

$$E_n(f) \geqslant \min(|\omega_0|, |\omega_1|, , |\omega_{n+1}|)$$

Further, if

$$\omega_i = \max_{x \in \mathcal{X}_n} |f(x_i) - r_n(x_i)|$$
 $t = 0, 1, , n + 1,$

then $r_{-}(x) = O_{-}(x)$

Theorem 5. If $Q_n(x)$ is the best polynomial approximation to f(x) of degree n, then

$$f(x) - Q_n(x) = \omega T_{n+1}(x), \qquad \omega = \max_{\alpha \leqslant x \leqslant b} |f(x) - Q_n(x)|$$

Only in a few cases it is possible to obtain $Q_n(x)$ in closed form In this connection, see Rivlin (1962), whose work includes that of Bernstein (1926), Hornecker (1958), and Talbot (1962) as special cases See also Naturezer (1956, p 64) for an example of (1) with m=n Algorithms for the computation of $Q_{n,m}(x)$ have been studied by many authors. See, for example, the references cited following (1). The algorithms are, in general, not finite and numerical values of the pertinent parameters are produced by iterative processes.

Next we turn to some results which enable us to compare the best approximation in the Chebyshev sense with the truncated mean square approximation, each with the same number of terms and over the same interval [-1, 1]. Let

$$f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k T_k(x), \qquad f_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k T_k(x),$$

$$s_n(x) = f(x) - f_n(x) = \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} a_k T_k(x),$$

$$S_n = \max_{-1 \le x \le 1} |s_n(x)| \le \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} |a_k| = S_n^*.$$
(2)

Let $Q_n(x)$ be the best polynomial approximation of degree n to f(x) in $-1 \le x \le 1$. Let

$$E_n = \max_{-1 \le x \le 1} |f(x) - Q_n(x)|.$$
 (3)

Theorem 6.

$$A_n \leqslant E_n \leqslant S_n \leqslant \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} |a_k| = S_n^*, \tag{4}$$

where A_n is any one of the values

$$A_{n,1} = 2^{-1/2} \left(\sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} a_k^2 \right)^{1/2}, \quad A_{n,2} = 2^{-1/2} |a_{n+1}|, \quad A_{n,3} = \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_{(2k-1)(n+1)} \right|,$$
(5)

and if the a_k 's are nonnegative, we can replace $A_{n,3}$ by a_{n+1} .

PROOF. Note that $E_n \leq S_n$ follows from Theorem 2. The inequality involving $A_{n,2}$ follows from that involving $A_{n,1}$, so it is sufficient to consider the latter. From Theorem 1 of 8.1,

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \frac{s_n^2(x)}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} dx \leqslant \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{\{f(x) - Q_n(x)\}^2}{(1-x^2)^{1/2}} dx.$$

Now the integral on the right cannot exceed πE_n^2 and the integral on the left is easily evaluated using the orthogonality properties of $T_n(x)$.

Thus the stated inequality readily emerges. The weaker inequality with $2^{-1/2}$ in $A_{n,k}$ replaced by $\pi/4$ has been proved by Blum and Curtis (1961).

The inequality involving $A_{n,3}$ is a classic result due to de la Vallee Poussin (1952) Let us write

$$\begin{split} F &= \frac{1}{2} \{ \{ f(\cos \varphi_0) - Q_n(\cos \varphi_0) \} \cos(n+1) \varphi_0 \\ &+ \{ f(\cos \varphi_{n+1}) - Q_n(\cos \varphi_{n+1}) \} \cos(n+1) \varphi_{n+1} \} \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^n \{ f(\cos \varphi_i) - Q_n(\cos \varphi_i) \} \cos(n+1) \varphi_i \,, \end{split}$$

where $\varphi_n = \alpha n/(n+1)$, $\alpha = 0, 1, \quad n+1$ Clearly $|F| \le (n+1)E_n$ Now let

$$Q_n(\cos \varphi_i) = \sum_{i=1}^n b_i \cos k\varphi_i$$

From 8.5.4(7), F = 0 when $f(x) \equiv 0$ Thus, $F = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} a_k F_{k+k+1}$, where V_{k+k+1} is given by 8.5.4(7). (There replace j, k and n by k, n+1 and n+1, respectively j In view of 8.5.4(8), V_{j+1} , at zero unless k is an odd multiple of n+1, in which event it has the value n+1. So $F = (n+1)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_{1k}$, y_{1k+1} and the result readily follows. This completes the proof of Theorem 6

Given the coefficients in the Chebyshev expansion for f(z) as in (2), the best approximation in the Chebyshev sense can often be determined by use of formulas due to Hornecker (1958). However, the gain in accuracy is usually slight For a numerical illustration, see Cleinski (962) in particular, for the expansion of $p_{i}^{2}(a_{i}^{2}, a_{i}^{2}, a_{i}^{2})$ like 84 3\(^{1}(8)\) the results 7\(^{1}(7^{2})\) show that for n sufficiently large, $A_{n,k}$ is very near $1a_{n+1}$ is a good approximation to S_{n}^{2} in the applications as endenced by the numerous expansions in series of Chebyshev polynomials which we give in Chapter XVIII, we see that $A_{n,k}$ is indeed extremely close to $\{a_{n+k}\}$ and S_{n}^{2} seldom exceeds $2\{a_{n+k}\}$ for n sufficiently large

The periment to discuss some further aspects of the relative ments of the best approximation in the Chebshev stense, $Q_n(x)$, and the best in the mean square sense, $f_n(x)$ As previously remarked, $Q_n(x)$ is known in closed form for very few functions. In general, finite algorithms are not known and one must use iterative processes Here a rather extensive table of f(x) must be a salable. In general, there is no known connection between $Q_n(x)$ for the internal [a, b] and $Q_n(x)$ for the other of the property of

determined by use of recursion formulas, see Chapters IX and XII. For the most part, we need not postulate the existence of a mathematical table for f(x). Further, the approximations $f_n(x)$ are much like that of a Taylor series in that if we are given $f_n(x)$ and desire greater accuracy, we need only add more terms.

8.5.4. ORTHOGONALITY PROPERTIES OF CHEBYSHEV POLYNOMIALS WITH RESPECT TO SUMMATION

We first prove the following

Lemma 1. Let

$$T_n(x_\alpha) = \cos n\theta_\alpha = 0,$$

$$x_\alpha = \cos \theta_\alpha, \qquad \theta_\alpha = (\pi/2n)(2\alpha + 1), \qquad \alpha = 0, 1, ..., n - 1,$$

$$U_{j,k} = \sum_{\alpha=0}^{n-1} T_j(x_\alpha) T_k(x_\alpha) = \sum_{\alpha=0}^{n-1} \cos j\theta_\alpha \cos k\theta_\alpha.$$

Then

$$U_{j,k} = 0$$
 if $j, k < n, j \neq k,$
 $= n/2$ if $j = k, 0 < j < n,$
 $= n$ if $j = k = 0.$ (1)

We also have some further properties of $U_{j,k}$. For convenience put m = j + k, p = |j - k|, and let s and t be positive integers. Then

$$U_{j,0} = (-)^s n \qquad \text{if } j = 2sn,$$

$$= 0 \qquad \text{if } j \neq 2sn.$$

$$U_{j,j} = n \qquad \text{if } j = 2sn,$$

$$= n/2 \qquad \text{if } j \neq sn,$$

$$= 0 \qquad \text{if } j = (2s+1)n.$$

$$U_{j,k} = 0 \qquad \text{if } j \neq k, \ m \neq 2sn, \ p \neq 2tn,$$

$$= n \qquad \text{if } j \neq k, \ m = 2sn, \ p = 2tn, \ and \ s \ and \ t \ are \ both \ even,$$

$$= -n \qquad \text{if } j \neq k, \ m = 2sn, \ p = 2tn, \ and \ s \ and \ t \ are \ both \ odd,$$

$$= 0 \qquad \text{if } j \neq k, \ m = 2sn, \ p = 2tn, \ and \ s \ and \ t \ are \ of \ opposite \ parity,$$

$$= (-)^s n/2 \qquad \text{if } j \neq k, \ m = 2sn, \ p = 2tn,$$

$$= (-)^t n/2 \qquad \text{if } j \neq k, \ m \neq 2sn, \ p = 2tn.$$

PROOF We prove only (1) The result is trivial if j = k = 0 Now

$$\begin{split} &U_{l-1} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{l-1} \cos(j + k) \, \theta_i + \sum_{i=0}^{l-1} \cos(j - k) \, \theta_i \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{4} R \left[\exp \left(\frac{l \pi m}{2n} \right) \sum_{i=0}^{l-1} \exp \left(\frac{l \pi / m}{n} \right) \right] + \frac{1}{4} R \left[\exp \left(\frac{l \pi / p}{2n} \right) \sum_{i=0}^{l-1} \exp \left(\frac{l \pi / p}{n} \right) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{4} R (\beta_1 + A_2), \\ &A_J = \frac{d^m \left[e^{2 \log n} - 1 \right]}{2}, \qquad \varphi_1 = \frac{m \pi}{2}, \qquad \varphi_2 = \frac{p \pi}{2}. \end{split}$$

Note that if j = k, 0 < j < n, p = 0, and $A_2 = n$. Thus for this assignment of j and k or if j, k < n, $j \neq k$, it is sufficient to prove that $R(A_1) = 0$. Now (dropping subscripts)

$$A = \frac{e^{i\phi}(e^{2\pi i\phi} - 1)(\cos 2\phi - 1 - \epsilon \sin 2\phi)}{2(1 - \cos 2\phi)}$$

Clearly $m/2\pi < 1$ and so $1-\cos 2\phi \neq 0$ A straightforward computation shows that

$$R(A) = \frac{[(-)^{m} - 1]}{2(1 - \cos 2m)} (\cos \varphi \cos 2\varphi + \sin \varphi \sin 2\varphi - \cos \varphi) = 0,$$

which completes the proof of (1)

Next we establish the following expansion formula

Theorem 1. If $f_n(x)$ is an approximation to f(x),

$$f_n(\cos\theta) = \tfrac12 d_0 + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} d_k \cos k\theta \qquad \text{or} \qquad f_n(x) = \tfrac12 d_0 + \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} d_k T_k(x)$$

then

$$d_k = (2/n) \sum_{n=0}^{n-1} f(\cos \theta_n) \cos k\theta_n = (2n) \sum_{n=0}^{n-1} f(x_n) T_k(x_n)$$
 (3)

PROOF In $f_n(\cos \theta)$ replace θ by θ_n , multiply this equation by $\cos j\theta_n$ and sum on α from 0 to (n-1) The desired result follows from (1)

We can use our developments to get a formula for the error in this approximation process. We suppose that f'(x) is continuous in [-1, 1] except for a finite number of bounded jumps. Then from Theorems 1 and 2 of 8.3, f(x) can be expanded in a convergent series as

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{2}c_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k T_k(x),$$

$$c_k = (2/\pi) \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{f(x) T_k(x)}{(1 - x^2)^{1/2}} dx = (2/\pi) \int_{0}^{\pi} f(\cos \theta) \cos k\theta d\theta. \tag{4}$$

We first obtain a connection between the d_k 's and the c_k 's. Thus combine d_k as in (3) with f(x) above and use (1), (2) to get

Lemma 2.

$$d_0 = c_0 + 2 \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-)^r c_{2rn}$$

$$d_k = c_k + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-)^r c_{2rn-k} + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-)^r c_{2rn+k}, \qquad k = 1, 2, ..., n-1.$$
 (5)

Theorem 2. If

$$\epsilon_n(x) = f(x) - f_n(x),$$

where f(x) and $f_n(x)$ are given by (4) and (3), respectively, then

$$\epsilon_{n}(\cos\theta) = \cos n\theta \left\{ c_{n} + 2 \sum_{r=1}^{2n-1} c_{n+r} \cos r\theta + c_{3n} \cos 2n\theta \right\}$$

$$-\sin 2n\theta \left\{ c_{3n} \sin n\theta + 2 \sum_{r=1}^{2n-1} c_{3n+r} \sin(n+r)\theta + c_{5n} \sin 3n\theta \right\}$$

$$+\cos 3n\theta \left\{ c_{5n} \cos 2n\theta + 2 \sum_{r=1}^{2n-1} c_{5n+r} \cos(2n+r)\theta + c_{7n} \cos 4n\theta \right\} - \cdots,$$

$$\epsilon_{n}(\cos\theta_{\alpha}) = 0,$$

$$(6)$$

REMARK. See the comments after 8.4.3(12).

 $\epsilon_n(\cos\theta) \sim c_n \cos n\theta [1 + (2c_{n+1}/c_n)\cos\theta].$

PROOF Form $\epsilon_n(x)$ and use (5) Then

$$\begin{split} \epsilon_{\alpha}(\cos\theta) &= \sum_{k=n}^{n} \epsilon_{\alpha} T_{k}(x) - \frac{1}{3} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \{-\gamma^{r} \epsilon_{2nr} \\ &+ \sum_{r=1}^{n-1} \epsilon_{n+r}(\cos(n+r)\theta + \cos(n-r)\theta) \\ &+ \sum_{r=1}^{n-1} \epsilon_{2n+r}(\cos(2n+r)\theta + \cos r\theta) \\ &+ \sum_{r=1}^{n-1} \epsilon_{2n+r}(\cos(3n+r)\theta - \cos(n-r)\theta) \\ &+ \sum_{r=1}^{n-1} \epsilon_{4n+r}(\cos(4n+r)\theta - \cos r\theta) \\ &+ \sum_{r=1}^{n-1} \epsilon_{n+r}(\cos(5n+r)\theta + \cos(n-r)\theta) \\ &+ \sum_{r=1}^{n-1} \epsilon_{n+r}(\cos(5n+r)\theta + \cos r\theta) + , \end{split}$$

and the desired result follows upon using an elementary identity

Obviously in (3) we restrict z so that $-1 \leqslant z \leqslant 1$ Observe that each z, les in the interior of this interval. In numerous applications, it is useful to have z curve fit which uses the end point $z = \pm 1$ and the points which lie midway between the points θ . Here again the Chebyshev polynomials possess an orthogonality property which leads to an expansion formula based on the abscissas just named. We state lemmas and theorems analogous to those above Proofs are omitted

Lemma 3. Let

$$\begin{split} x_s &= \cos \varphi_s \qquad \varphi_s = \alpha \pi / \pi_s \qquad \alpha = 0 \quad 1, \quad , \pi_s \\ V_{I:k} &= \frac{1}{2} \{T_i(x_0) \; T_k(x_0) + T_j(x_n) \; T_k(x_n)\} + \sum_{p=1}^{n-1} T_j(x_0) \; T_k(x_n) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \{\operatorname{Uta}_2 \gamma_{\mathfrak{p}_2} \operatorname{Uta}_3 \gamma_{\mathfrak{p}_3} \operatorname{Uta}_3 \gamma_{\mathfrak{p}_4} \cos \beta \varphi_n + \sum_{p=1}^{n-1} \operatorname{Cos}_3 \gamma_{\mathfrak{p}_n} \cos \beta \varphi_n \right. \end{split}$$

Then

$$V_{j,k} = 0$$
 if $j, k < n, j \neq k,$
 $= n/2$ if $j = k, 0 < j < n,$
 $= n$ if $j = k = 0$ or $j = k = n.$ (7)

Some further values of $V_{j,k}$ follow. It is convenient to put m = j + k, p = |j - k|, and let s and t be positive integers. Then

$$V_{j,0} = n if j = 2sn, = 0 if j \neq 2sn.$$

$$V_{j,j} = n if j \neq 0, j \neq n, j = sn, = n/2 if j \neq 0, j \neq n, j \neq sn.$$

$$V_{j,k} = 0 if j \neq k, m \neq 2sn, p \neq 2tn, = n if j \neq k, m = 2sn, p = 2tn, = n/2 if j \neq k, m = 2sn, p \neq 2tn, = n/2 if j \neq k, m \neq 2sn, p = 2tn.$$

$$(8)$$

Theorem 3. If $f_n(x)$ is an approximation to f(x),

$$f_n(\cos \varphi) = \frac{1}{2}e_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} e_k \cos k\varphi + \frac{1}{2}e_n \cos n\varphi$$

or

$$f_n(x) = \frac{1}{2}e_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} e_k T_k(x) + \frac{1}{2}e_n T_n(x),$$

then

$$e_k = \frac{2}{n} \left[\frac{f(1) + (-)^k f(-1)}{2} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} f(\cos \varphi_\alpha) \cos k \varphi_\alpha \right], \tag{9}$$

or

$$e_k = \frac{2}{n} \left[\frac{f(1) + (-)^k f(-1)}{2} + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} f(x_\alpha) T_k(x_\alpha) \right].$$

Lemma 4.

$$e_0 = c_0 + 2 \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} c_{2rn}, \qquad e_n = 2c_n + 2 \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} c_{(2r+1)n},$$

$$e_k = c_k + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} c_{2rn-k} + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} c_{2rn+k}, \qquad k = 1, 2, ..., n-1.$$
(10)

Theorem 4 If

$$\delta_n(x) \Rightarrow f(x) - f_n(x),$$

where f(x) and $f_n(x)$ are given by (4) and (9), respectively, then

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\cos \varphi) = -2 \sin n\varphi \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} c_{n+r} \sin r\varphi,$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\cos \varphi_{\alpha}) = 0,$$

$$\delta_{\alpha}(\cos \varphi) \sim -2 \sin n\varphi \sin \varphi c_{n+2} \left[1 + \frac{2c_{n+1}}{2} \cos \varphi\right]$$
(11)

If ϵ_k in (4) is evaluated approximately by the trapezoidal rule, then ϵ_k is an approximation to ϵ_k and (10) may be interpreted as the error this process Similarly, if ϵ_k is evaluated by what we call the modified trapezoidal rule, that is, if ϵ_k is approximated by d_k [see (3)], then (5) may be interpreted as the error in this numerical integration scheme Note that $\frac{1}{2}(d_k + \epsilon_k)$ is a numproved approximation for ϵ_k , k = 0, 1, ..., n

In the above, we dealt with expansions in series of $T_n(x)$ We now give without proof analogous statements for expansions in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the second kind $U_n(x)$

Lemma 5. Let

$$\begin{split} &U_{\alpha}(x_{\alpha}) \simeq \frac{\sin(\alpha+1)\,\theta_{\alpha}}{\sin\theta_{\alpha}}\,, \\ &x_{\alpha} = \cos\theta_{\alpha}\,, \quad \theta_{\alpha} = \frac{\pi}{2\pi}(2\alpha+1) \qquad \alpha = 0, 1, \quad n-1, \\ &W_{\beta} \, \approx \, \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}(1-x_{n}^{2})\,U_{\beta-1}(x_{n})\,U_{\beta-1}(x_{n}) \simeq \sum_{n=1}^{n-1} \sin\beta_{\alpha}\sin k\theta_{\alpha} \end{split}$$

Then

$$W_{j,k} = 0$$
 if $j, k < n$, $j \neq k$,
 $= n/2$ if $j = k$ $0 < j < n$,
 $= 0$ if $j = 0$ for all k or if $k = 0$ for all $j = 0$ (12)

Some further properties of $W_{j,k}$ and also of $X_{j,k}$ [see (18)] like (2) and (8) can be deduced, but we omit details

Theorem 5. If $f_n(x)$ is an approximation to f(x),

$$f_n(\cos \theta) \approx \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} q_k \sin k\theta$$
 or $f_n(x) = (1-x^2)^{1/2} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} q_k U_{k-1}(x)$

then

$$q_k = \frac{2}{n} \sum_{\alpha=0}^{n-1} f(\cos \theta_{\alpha}) \sin k\theta_{\alpha} = \frac{2}{n} \sum_{\alpha=0}^{n-1} (1 - x_{\alpha}^2)^{1/2} f(x_{\alpha}) U_{k-1}(x_{\alpha}).$$
 (13)

Again we suppose that f'(x) is defined as in the discussion surrounding (4). Then

$$f(x) = (1 - x^2)^{1/2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} p_k U_{k-1}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} p_k \sin k\theta,$$

$$p_k = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{-1}^{1} f(x) \ U_{k-1}(x) \ dx = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} f(\cos \theta) \sin k\theta \ d\theta.$$
 (14)

Lemma 6.

$$q_j = p_j - \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-)^r p_{2nr-j} + \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-)^r p_{2nr+j}, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n-1.$$
 (15)

Theorem 6. If

$$\epsilon_n(x) = f(x) - f_n(x)$$

where f(x) and $f_n(x)$ are given by (14) and (13), respectively, then

$$\epsilon_n(\cos\theta) = p_n \sin n\theta + 2\cos n\theta \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} p_{n+r} \sin r\theta,$$

$$\epsilon_n(\cos\theta_{\alpha}) = (-)^{\alpha} p_n,$$

$$\epsilon_n(\cos\theta) \sim p_n \sin n\theta \left(1 + \frac{2p_{n+1}}{p_n} \cot n\theta \sin\theta\right).$$
(16)

Lemma 7, Let

$$x_{\alpha} = \cos \varphi_{\alpha}, \qquad \varphi_{\alpha} = \alpha \pi / n, \qquad \alpha = 0, 1, ..., n,$$

$$X_{j,k} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} (1 - x_{\alpha}^{2}) U_{j-1}(x_{\alpha}) U_{k-1}(x_{\alpha}) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n-1} \sin j\varphi_{\alpha} \sin k\varphi_{\alpha}. \tag{17}$$

Then

$$X_{j,k} = 0 if j, k < n, j \neq k,$$

$$= n/2 if j = k, 0 < j < n,$$

$$= 0 if j = 0 for all k or if k = 0 for all j. (18)$$

Theorem 7. If $f_n(x)$ is an approximation to f(x),

$$f_n(\cos \varphi) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} r_k \sin k\varphi$$
 or $f_n(x) = (1 - x^2)^{1/2} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} r_k U_{k-1}(x)$

then

$$r_k = \frac{2}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{n-1} f(\cos \varphi_n) \sin k \varphi_n = \frac{2}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{n-1} (1 - x_n^2)^{1/2} f(x_n) U_{k-1}(x_n)$$
 (19)

Lemma 8

$$r_i = p_i - \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} p_{ten-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} p_{ten-i}$$
 (20)

Theorem 8 If

$$\delta_{-}(x) = f(x) - f_{-}(x)$$

where f(x) and $f_n(x)$ are given by (14) and (19), respectively, then

$$\delta_n(\cos \varphi) = p_n \sin n\varphi + 2 \sin n\varphi \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} p_{n+r} \cos r\varphi$$

 $\delta_n(\cos \varphi_n) = 0$
 $\delta_n(\cos \varphi) \sim p_n \sin n\varphi \left(1 + \frac{2p_{n+1}}{n} \cos \varphi\right)$
(21)

Note that (15) and (20) may be interpreted as the error when
$$p_k$$
 in (14)

Note that (13) and (20) may be interpreted as the error when p_k in (14) is approximated by the modified trapezoidal rule and the trapezoidal rule, respectively. See the comments following (11). Also $\frac{1}{2}(q_k + r_k)$ is an improved approximation for p_k : k = 0, 1, ..., n.

For some references pertinent to the material of this section, see von Sanden (1959), Zurmuhl (1964), Elliott (1965), and Cooper (1967)

8 6 Differential and Integral Properties of Expansions in Series of Chebyshev Polynomials of the First Kind

Advantages of expansions in series of the Chebyshev polynomials $T_n(x)$ have been discussed in 853 Further, in 87 we show that the sum of a truncated expansion in series of Chebyshev polynomials can be evaluated in much the same fashion as one computes an ordinary polynomial Now given the coefficients in the expansion for f(x) in series of the shifted polynomials $T_n^2(x)$, one can readily obtain the

coefficients in the corresponding expansions for [f(x) - f(0)]/x, $\int_0^x f(t) dt$, $\int_0^x t^2 f(t) dt$, etc. Such formulas, and others which follow from the material in 8.5.1 and 8.5.2, are developed in 8.6.1. In 8.6.1(10), we prove that the pertinent coefficients may be computed by use of a backward recursion scheme. Similar results for expansions in series of the even and odd Chebyshev polynomials $T_{2n}(x)$ and $T_{2n+1}(x)$, respectively, are taken up in 8.6.2 and 8.6.3, respectively.

We assume throughout that f(x) is restricted to insure that all expansions are valid (see 8.3).

8.6.1. Series of Shifted Chebyshev Polynomials

We suppose that

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n T_n^*(x).$$
 (1)

Throughout this section, as well as in 8.6.2 and 8.6.3, we use the notation

$$\epsilon_0 = 1, \quad \epsilon_n = 2 \quad \text{if} \quad n > 0.$$
 (2)

If f(0) = 0, then

$$f(x) = x \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_n^*(x),$$

$$c_n = 2\epsilon_n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k (k+1) b_{k+n+1},$$

$$b_0 = \frac{1}{2}c_0 + \frac{1}{4}c_1, \quad b_1 = \frac{1}{2}c_0 + \frac{1}{2}c_1 + \frac{1}{4}c_2,$$

$$b_n = \frac{1}{4}(c_{n-1} + 2c_n + c_{n+1}), \quad n = 2, 3, ...,$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k b_k = 0.$$
(3)

$$xf(x) = \frac{1}{4} \left\{ (2b_0 + b_1) T_0^*(x) + (2b_0 + 2b_1 + b_2) T_1^*(x) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (b_{k-1} + 2b_k + b_{k+1}) T_k^*(x) \right\}.$$

$$(4)$$

$$x^{2}f(x) = \frac{1}{16} \left\{ (6b_{0} + 4b_{1} + b_{2}) T_{0}^{*}(x) + (8b_{0} + 7b_{1} + 4b_{2} + b_{3}) T_{1}^{*}(x) + (2b_{0} + 4b_{1} + 6b_{2} + 4b_{3} + b_{4}) T_{2}^{*}(x) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (b_{k-2} + 4b_{k-1} + 6b_{k} + 4b_{k+1} + b_{k+2}) T_{k}^{*}(x) \right\}.$$
 (5)

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_n T_n^*(x),$$

$$d_n = 2\epsilon_n \sum_{k=0}^n (n+2k+1) b_{n+2k+1},$$

$$2d_n/\epsilon_n = d_{n+3} + 4(n+1)b_{n+2}$$
 (6)

$$\int_{a}^{\pi} f(t) dt = \left\{ \frac{b_{0}}{2} - \frac{b_{1}}{8} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-Pb_{n})}{n^{2} - 1} \right\} T_{0}^{n}(x) + \frac{1}{4} (2b_{0} - b_{2}) T_{1}^{n}(x)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(b_{0} - \frac{1}{2} - b_{0} + 1)}{n^{2} - 1} T_{n}^{n}(x)$$
(7)

If f(0) = 1,

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} t^{-1}[1 - f(t)] dt = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_{n} T_{n}^{n}(x),$$

$$d_{0} = -b_{1} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-)^{n} \left[2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} k^{1} + n^{-1} \right] b_{n},$$

$$d_n = -\frac{b_n}{n} + \frac{2(-)^{n-1}}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (-)^i b_i, \quad n = 1, 2, ,$$

$$d_{n+1} = -\frac{nd_n}{n+1} + \frac{b_{n+1} - b_n}{n+1}, \qquad n = 0, 1,$$
 (8)

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} y(t) dt = \frac{1}{4} \left\{ \frac{3b_0}{4} + \frac{b_1}{12} - \frac{19b_2}{48} + 3 \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^k b_k}{(k^2 - 1)(k^2 - 4)} \right\} T_0^k(x) + \frac{1}{3} (4b_0 + b_1 - 2b_2 - b_3) T_1^k(x) + \frac{1}{3} (2b_0 + 2b_2 - 2b_3 - b_4) T_2^k(x)$$

$$+\frac{1}{16}\sum_{k=3}^{\infty} \left\{ \frac{b_{k-1} + 2b_{k-1} - 2b_{k+1} - b_{k+2}}{k} \right\} T_{k}^{*}(x) \tag{9}$$

If $f(0) \neq 0$,

$$\int_{0}^{x} t^{\mu} f(t) dt = x^{\mu-1} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e_{n} T_{n}^{*}(x), \quad R(\mu) > -1,$$

$$-\mu t_1 + 2(\mu + 1)e_0 = 2b_0 - b_1,$$

$$(n - \mu)e_{n+1} + (n + \mu + 1)e_n = b_n - b_{n+1},$$

$$n = 1, 2, 3,$$

$$n = 1, 2, 3,$$
(10)

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-)^n b_n = f(0), \qquad \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-)^n e_n = f(0)/(\mu + 1)$$

This is essentially a generalization of (9). The restriction $f(0) \neq 0$ is not essential. For if f(0) = 0, but $f'(0) \neq 0$, then from (3), f(x) = xh(x), $h(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_n^*(x)$. Thus apply (10) with f(x) and μ replaced by h(x) and $\mu + 1$, respectively.

It is of interest to develop a convenient procedure for the evaluation of the e_n 's. We first suppose that μ is not a positive integer. Write

$$e_n^{(N)} = -\frac{(n-\mu)}{n+\mu+1} e_{n+1}^{(N)} + \frac{(b_n - b_{n+1})}{n+\mu+1}, \qquad n = 1, 2, ..., N,$$

$$e_{N+1}^{(N)} = 0, \qquad k = 1, 2, 3,$$
(11)

Thus we can evaluate $e_{N-k}^{(N)}$ for k=0,1,...,N-1 most easily by recursion. The closed form formula

$$e_{N-k}^{(N)} = (-)^k \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^r (N-k-\mu)_{k-r}}{(N+\mu-k+1)_{k+1-r}} (b_{N-r}-b_{N-r-1}), \quad k=0,1,...,N-1,$$
(12)

is also available. We prove that

$$e_n = \lim_{N \to \infty} e_n^{(N)}, \qquad n = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
 (13)

For the proof, we first note from the difference equation for e_n given in (10) that

$$e_{n+1} = e_1 H_{n+1} + P_{n+1}, H_{n+1} = \frac{(-)^n (\mu + 2)_n}{(1 - \mu)_n},$$

$$P_{n+1} = \frac{(-)^{n+1} (\mu + 2)_n}{(\mu + 2)(1 - \mu)_n} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-)^m (1 - \mu)_m}{(\mu + 3)_m} (b_{m+1} - b_{m+2}). (14)$$

Thus H_{n+1} and P_{n+1} are the homogeneous and particular solutions of this difference equation, respectively. The solution of (11) is of the form

$$e_n^{(N)} = \alpha H_n + P_n \tag{15}$$

where α is a constant. Since $e_{N+1}^{(N)} = 0$, α is determined and

$$e_n^{(N)} = -\frac{P_{N+1}}{H_{N+1}}H_n + P_n$$
.

Now

$$q = \lim_{N \to \infty} -\frac{P_{N+1}}{H_{N+1}} = \frac{1}{\mu + 2} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^m (b_{m+1} - b_{m+2})(1 - \mu)_m}{(\mu + 3)_m}.$$

But from (10),

$$b_{m+1} - b_{m+2} = (m+1-\mu)e_{m+2} + (m+\mu+2)e_{m+1}$$

and so

$$\begin{split} q &= \frac{1}{\mu + 2} \left[\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^m (1 - \mu)_m}{(\mu + 1)_m} (m + 1 - \mu) \epsilon_{n+2} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^m (1 - \mu)_m}{(\mu + 2)_m} (m + \mu + 2) \epsilon_{n+1} \right] \\ &= -\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^m (1 - \mu)_m}{(\mu + 2)_m} \epsilon_{n+1} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^n (1 - \mu)_m}{(\mu + 2)_m} \epsilon_{n+1} = \epsilon_1 \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\lim_{N\to\infty}e_{n+1}^{(N)}=e_1H_{n+1}+P_{n+1}=e_{n+1}\,,\qquad n=0,1,2,.\ ,$$

which was to be proved

If μ is a positive integer, say $\mu=z$, the procedure must be slightly altered. In this event, we have

$$(n-s)e_{n+1} + (n+s+1)e_n = b_n - b_{n+1}, \quad n = 1, 2, .s.$$
 (16)

$$ne_{n+a+1} + (n+1+2s)e_{n+s} = b_{n+a} - b_{n+a+1}, \quad n = 1, 2, 3,$$
 (1)

and from the former,

$$e_n = \frac{(s-n)!(s+n)!}{(2s+1)!} \sum_{r=0}^{s-n} \frac{(-)^r(-2s-1)_r}{r!} (b_{s-r} - b_{s-r-1}), \quad n = 1, 2, ,s$$
(18)

Now write

$$e_{n+k}^{(N)} = -\frac{n}{n+1+2r} e_{n+k+1}^{(N)} + \frac{(b_{n+k}-b_{n+k+1})}{n+1+2r}, \quad n=1,2,,N,$$
 $e_{N+k+1}^{(N)} = 0, \quad k=1,2,3,$
(19)

and so evaluate $e_{N+s}^{(N)}$, $e_{N+s-1}^{(N)}$, , $e_{s+1}^{(N)}$ by recursion. We also have

$$e_{N+s-k}^{(N)} = (-)^k \sum_{r=0}^k \frac{(-)^r (N-k)_{k-r}}{(N+2r-k+1)_{k+1}} (b_{N+s-r} - b_{N+s-r+1})$$
 (20)

Then we prove that

$$\epsilon_{s+n} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \epsilon_{s+N}^{(N)}, \quad n = 1, 2, 3,$$
 (21)

The manner of proof is much akin to that for the case when μ is not a positive integer. Using (17), we get

$$\begin{split} e_{n+1+s} &= e_{s+1} H_{n+1}^{(s)} + P_{n+1}^{(s)}, \qquad H_{n+1}^{(s)} &= \frac{(-)^n (2s+2)_n}{n!}, \\ P_{n+1}^{(s)} &= \frac{(-)^{n+1} (2s+n+1)!}{n! (2s+2)!} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{(-)^m m!}{(2s+3)_m} (b_{s+1+m} - b_{s+2+m}). \end{split}$$

From (19), we have

$$e_{s+n}^{(N)} = \alpha H_n^{(s)} + P_n^{(s)}$$

where α is a constant which is readily determined since $e_{s+N+1}^{(N)} = 0$. Thus,

$$e_{s+N}^{(N)} = -\frac{P_{N+1}^{(s)}}{H_{N+1}^{(s)}} H_n^{(s)} + P_n^{(s)}.$$

With the aid of (16) and (17), we find that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} - \frac{P_{N+1}^{(s)}}{H_{N+1}^{(s)}} = e_{s+1}$$

which leads to the statement (21).

If

$$\int_0^x f(t)(\ln t) dt = \sum_{n=0}^\infty a_n T_n^*(x) + (\ln x) \sum_{n=0}^\infty g_n T_n^*(x),$$

then

$$g_{0} = \frac{b_{0}}{2} - \frac{b_{1}}{8} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n} b_{n}}{n^{2} - 1}, \qquad g_{1} = \frac{1}{4} (2b_{0} - b_{1}),$$

$$g_{n} = (1/4n)(b_{n-1} - b_{n+1}), \qquad n = 2, 3, ...,$$

$$a_{0} = -\left\{ \frac{h_{0}}{2} - \frac{h_{1}}{8} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n} h_{n}}{n^{2} - 1} \right\}, \qquad (22)$$

$$h_{n} = 2\epsilon_{n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^{k} (k+1) g_{k+n+1}, \qquad a_{1} = g_{1} - 2g_{0},$$

$$a_{n} = -(1/n) \left\{ g_{n} - 2 \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^{k} g_{k+n+1} \right\}, \qquad n = 2, 3,$$

$$\int_{0}^{s} \int_{0}^{t} f(u) du dt = \frac{1}{4} \left\{ \frac{3b_{0}}{4} - \frac{b_{1}}{3} - \frac{3b_{1}}{16} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-)b_{k}}{k^{2} - 4} \right\} T_{0}^{*}(x)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \left\{ b_{0} - \frac{3b_{1}}{3} - \frac{b_{2}}{3} + \frac{b_{3}}{4} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-)^{2}b_{1}}{k^{2} - 1} \right\} T_{1}^{*}(x)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4\pi} \{ (b_{0} - 4b_{2} + \frac{b}{2}) T_{1}^{*}(x) + \frac{1}{16} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \left\{ \frac{(k+1)b_{2k-1} - 2kb_{2} + (k-1)b_{2k+1}}{k(k^{2} - 1)} \right\} T_{1}^{*}(x)$$
(23)

Let

$$A(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n T_n^*(x), \qquad B(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n T_n^*(x), \qquad C(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_n^*(x)$$

If

$$C(x) \approx A(x) B(x),$$

 $c_0 = a_0 b_0 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n b_n$

then

$$c_n = a_0b_n + \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left(\frac{b_{n+m}}{2} + \frac{b_{[n-m]}}{c_{[n-m]}}\right)a_m$$

 $= b_0a_n + \sum_{m=1}^{n} \left(\frac{a_{n+m}}{2} + \frac{a_{[n-m]}}{c_{[n-m]}}\right)b_m, \quad n > 0,$
 $c_n = 1, \quad c_n = 2 \quad \text{for } n \ge 1$ (24)

(25)

This result is also true if in A(x), B(x), and C(x), $T_n^*(x)$ is replaced by $T_n(x)$ or $T_{2n}(x)$

The above system of equations may be expressed in matrix form as follows. Let $A = (\alpha_{ij})$ and $B = (\beta_{ij})$ be infinite matrices where

$$\alpha_i = \alpha_{i-1}$$
 $\alpha_{i,1} = \alpha_i$ for $i = 1, 2, 3, .$

$$\alpha_{i,j} = \frac{1}{2}\alpha_j$$
 for $j = 2, 3, .$

$$\alpha_{i,j} = \alpha_i + \frac{1}{2}\alpha_{i,1}$$
 for $i = 2, 3, .$

$$a_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}(a_{i+j} + a_{j-\ell+1})$$
 for $j > i \ge 2$,

$$\alpha_{ij} = \alpha_{ji}$$
, $i, j, = 2, 3, ...$

and where (25) is also valid if a_i , α_i , and α_{ij} are replaced by b_i , β_i , and β_{ii} , respectively. Let α , β , and γ stand for the infinite vectors

$$\alpha = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \alpha_2 \\ \alpha_3 \\ \vdots \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \beta = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \beta_2 \\ \beta_3 \\ \vdots \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 \\ \gamma_2 \\ \gamma_3 \\ \vdots \end{pmatrix}. \tag{26}$$

Then

$$A\beta = B\alpha = \gamma. \tag{27}$$

8.6.2. Series of Chebyshev Polynomials of Even Order

In this section we suppose that

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n T_{2n}(x).$$
 (1)

Again we make use of the notation 8.6.1(2). Some of the results of this section are essentially restatements of results in 8.6.1 since $T_n^*(x^2) = T_{2n}(x)$. For example, if f(0) = 0, then

$$f(x) = x^2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_{2n}(x), \tag{2}$$

where c_n is given by 8.6.1(3).

$$xf(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{2b_n}{\epsilon_n} + b_{n+1} \right) T_{2n+1}(x).$$
 (3)

$$x^{2}f(x) = \frac{1}{4}(2b_{0} + b_{1}) T_{0}(x) + \frac{1}{4}(2b_{0} + 2b_{1} + b_{2}) T_{2}(x)$$

$$+\frac{1}{4}\sum_{n=2}^{\infty}(b_{n-1}+2b_n+b_{n+1})T_{2n}(x). \tag{4}$$

$$f'(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_n T_{2n+1}(x), \qquad d_n = 4 \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (n+k+1) b_{n+k+1},$$

$$d_n = d_{n+1} + 4(n+1) b_{n+1}.$$
(5)

$$\int_0^x f(t) dt = (b_0 - \frac{1}{2}b_1) T_1(x) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{(b_n - b_{n+1})}{2n+1} T_{2n+1}(x).$$
 (6)

$$x^{-1} \int_{0}^{x} f(t) dt = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \epsilon_{n} T_{2n}(t),$$

$$\epsilon_{n} = \frac{b_{n}}{2n+1} + 2(-)^{n} \epsilon_{n} \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{k} b_{k}}{4k! - 1},$$

$$\epsilon_{n+1} = -\epsilon_{n} + \frac{b_{n} - b_{n+1}}{2n+1}, \quad n = 1, 2, 3,$$

$$\epsilon_{n} = -2b_{n} + 2b_{n} - b, \quad (7)$$

If f(0) = 1, then

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T} t^{-1} \{1 - f(t)\} \, dt &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} g_{n} T_{2n}(x), \\ g_{0} &= \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} (-1^{r}) b_{r} \left\{ \sum_{k=1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{2r} \right\}, \\ g_{0} &= -\frac{b_{n}}{2n} - \frac{(-1)^{n}}{n} \sum_{r}^{\infty} (-1^{r}) b_{k}, \quad \pi = 1, 2, 3, \quad . \end{split}$$

$$q_{n+1} = -\frac{nq_n}{n+1} + \frac{b_{n+1} - b_n}{2(n+1)}, \quad n = 1, 2, 3,$$

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-)^n b_n = 1, \quad \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-)^n q_n = 0 \quad (8)$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} tf(t) dt = \frac{1}{4} \left[b_{0} - \frac{b_{1}}{4} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n}b_{n}}{n! - 1} \right] T_{0}(x) + \frac{1}{8} (2b_{0} - b_{2}) T_{0}(x)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(b_{n-1} - b_{n+1})}{n! - n!} T_{n}(x)$$
(6)

$$+\frac{1}{8}\sum_{n=3}^{\infty}\frac{\{b_{n-1}-b_{n+1}\}}{n}T_{2n}(x)$$

$$\int_{-\pi}^{\pi}f(t)\ln t dt = \sum_{n=3}^{\infty}a_{n}T_{2n+2}(x) + \ln x \sum_{n=3}^{\infty}g_{n}T_{2n+2}(x),$$
(9)

$$g_0 = b_0 - \frac{1}{2}b_1$$
, $g_n = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{b_n - b_{n+1}}{2n+1}\right)$, $n = 1, 2, \dots$

$$a_n = \frac{g_n}{2n+1} + \frac{2}{2n+1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-)^k g_{n+k}$$
 (10)

Let

$$g(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n T_{2n}(x), \quad f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n T_n^*(x),$$

so that

$$\int_{0}^{x} t^{\nu}g(t) dt = \int_{0}^{x^{2}} t^{(\nu-1)/2}f(t) dt,$$
 (11)

since $T_n^*(x^2) = T_{2n}(x)$. Then evaluation of the integral on the left follows from 8.6.1(10) if there we replace b_n , μ , and x by $\frac{1}{2}b_n$, $\frac{1}{2}(\nu-1)$, and x^2 , respectively.

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{t} f(u) \, du \, dt = \frac{1}{4} \left[b_{0} - \frac{3b_{1}}{4} + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n} b_{n}}{n^{2} - 1} \right] T_{0}(x) + \frac{1}{24} [6b_{0} - 4b_{1} + b_{2}] T_{2}(x)
+ \frac{1}{8} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{\left[(2n+1) b_{n-1} - 4nb_{n} + (2n-1) b_{n+1} \right]}{n(4n^{2} - 1)} T_{2n}(x). \tag{12}$$

$$\int_{0}^{x} \int_{0}^{t} u f(u) \, du \, dt = \frac{1}{4} \left[\frac{b_{0}}{2} - \frac{b_{1}}{4} - \frac{b_{2}}{12} - \sum_{n=3}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n} b_{n}}{n^{2} - 1} \right] T_{1}(x)
+ \frac{1}{96} [4b_{0} - b_{1} - 2b_{2} + b_{3}] T_{3}(x)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{16} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{\left[(n+1) \{ b_{n-1} - b_{n+1} \} - n \{ b_{n} - b_{n+2} \} \right]}{n(n+1)(2n+1)} T_{2n+1}(x). \tag{13}$$

8.6.3. Series of Chebyshev Polynomials of Odd Order

We suppose throughout that

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n T_{2n+1}(x).$$
 (1)

The notation of 8.6.1(2) is again used. If

$$f(x) = x \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_{2n}(x),$$

then

$$c_n/\epsilon_n + \frac{1}{2}c_{n+1} = b_n$$
, $c_n = \epsilon_n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^k b_{n+k}$,

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-)^n (2n+1) b_n = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-)^n c_n.$$
 (2)

$$xf(x) = \frac{1}{2}b_0T_0(x) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (b_{n-1} + b_n) T_{2n}(x).$$
 (3)

$$x^{s}f(x) = \frac{1}{4}(3b_{0} + b_{1}) T_{1}(x) + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (b_{n-1} + 2b_{n} + b_{n+1}) T_{2n+1}(x)$$
 (4)

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_n T_{0n}(x), \quad d_n = \epsilon_n \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (2n + 2k + 1) b_{n+k},$$

$$d_{n+k} = \frac{2d_n}{n} + 2(2n + 1) b_n \quad (5)$$

(5)

(8)

$$\int_{0}^{a} f(t) dt = \frac{1}{4} \left\{ b_{0} + \sum_{k}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{k}(2k+1)b_{k}}{k(k+1)} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k}^{\infty} \frac{(b_{m-1} - b_{n})}{n} T_{bn}(x) \right\}$$
(6)

$$\int_{0}^{x} t^{-1}f(t) dt = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r_{n}T_{2n+1}(x),$$

 $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} (2n+1) b_{n} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} (2n+1) r_{n}$

$$r_n = \frac{b_n}{2n+1} + \frac{2}{2n+1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-)^k b_{n+k}$$

$$\int_{a}^{x} tf(t) dt = \frac{(b_0 - b_1)}{4} T_1(x) + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{a}^{\infty} \frac{(b_{n-1} - b_{n+1})}{2a + 1} T_{2n+1}(x)$$

Let

$$g(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_n T_{\pm n+1}(x) = x \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_{\pm n}(x) \qquad f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n T_n^*(x),$$

where the c_n 's are found from (2) with b_n replaced by d_n . Then

$$\int_{a}^{x} t'g(t) dt = \int_{a}^{x} t'' f(t) dt \qquad (9)$$

and evaluation of the integral on the left follows from 8 6 1(10) if there we replace b_n , μ , and x by $\frac{1}{2}c_n$, $\frac{1}{2}\nu$, and x^2 , respectively Let

 $A(x^2) \approx \int_0^x f(t) \ln t \, dt \Rightarrow \int_0^x t \ln t \sum_{n=0}^\infty c_n T_{2n}(t) \, dt$

where c_n is defined in (2) Replace t by $\tau^{1/2}$ and x by $y^{1/2}$ So

$$A(y) = \frac{1}{4} \int_{-\pi}^{y} \ln \tau \int_{-\pi}^{\infty} c_{\alpha} T_{\alpha}^{\alpha}(\tau) d\tau$$

which can be evaluated with the aid of 8.6.1(22). Indeed, if we now write

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n T_{2n+1}(x),$$

$$A(x) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n T_{2n}(x) + \frac{1}{2} (\ln x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} g_n T_{2n}(x),$$

then

$$g_{0} = \frac{c_{0}}{2} - \frac{c_{1}}{8} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n} c_{n}}{n^{2} - 1}, \qquad g_{1} = B_{0} + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-)^{k} B_{k},$$

$$g_{n} = \frac{1}{2n} (B_{n-1} - B_{n}), \qquad n = 2, 3, ...,$$

$$a_{0} = -\left\{ \frac{h_{0}}{2} - \frac{h_{1}}{8} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n} h_{n}}{n^{2} - 1} \right\}, \qquad (10)$$

$$h_{n} = 2\epsilon_{n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^{k} (k+1) g_{k+n+1},$$

$$a_{1} = g_{1} - 2g_{0}, \qquad a_{n} = -(1/n) \left\{ g_{n} - 2 \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-)^{k} g_{k+n+1} \right\}, \qquad n = 2, 3, ...,$$

where c_n is defined in (2) with b_n replaced by B_n .

$$\int_{0}^{z} \int_{0}^{t} f(u) \, du \, dt = \frac{1}{4} \left[\frac{b_{0}}{2} - b_{1} + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-)^{n} (2n+1) b_{n}}{n(n+1)} \right] T_{1}(x)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{8} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left[(n+1) b_{n-1} - (2n+1) b_{n} + n b_{n+1} \right]}{n(n+1)(2n+1)} T_{2n+1}(x).$$

$$\tag{11}$$

8.7. A Nesting Procedure for the Computation of Expansions in Series of Functions Where the Functions Satisfy Linear Finite Difference Equations

Suppose we have to evaluate

$$f_N(x) = \sum_{n=0}^N a_n x^n, \tag{1}$$

an approximation to

$$f(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n x^n. \tag{2}$$

Here our functions are the monomials x^n Define the backward recurrence scheme

$$B_n = a_n + xB_{n+1}$$
, $n = N, N - 1, 1, 0, B_{N+1} = 0$

We then get the well known result

$$f_N(x) = B_0$$
 (4)

(3)

It is of interest to examine the effect of a round-off error in a_n when evaluating $f_N(x)$ in this manner. We note that the general solution of

$$u_n = a_n + xu_{n+1} \tag{5}$$

18

$$u_n = \alpha x^{-n} - x^{-n} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} a_k x^k \qquad (6)$$

where α is a constant. Thus a rounding error δ_n in a_n or B_n produces an error $\epsilon_n(n)$ in B_n for $s \leq n$ given by

$$\epsilon_s(n) \approx \alpha x^{-s} - x^{-s} \sum_{k=0}^{s-1} \delta_k x^k$$
 (7)

Also

$$0 = \alpha x^{-n-1} - x^{-n-1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \delta_k x^k$$
 (8)

We can solve the latter for a and so find

$$\epsilon_{a}(n) \approx x^{-a} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \delta_{k} x^{k}$$
 (9)

The error mf(x) is (9) with s=0, which is exactly that produced by an error δ_s , in a_s when the series is summed in the usual fashion. Thus, if B_s is rounded to the same number of places as a_s , the maximum rounding error in $f_s(x)$ is only doubled. If one or two guard units are retained in a_n or B_n , this error may be made negligible when compared with the truncation error due to the approximation of f(x) by $f_n(x)$. The above analysis shows that although the error in B_n may become quite large when N is large, the error in $f_s(x)$ is the same as that obtained if we form the required powers of x and sum according to (1). The computation of $f_s(x)$ by the backward recurrence scheme requires only N additions and N multiplications A in alternative method for the computation of $f_s(x)$ is to use (1) where the needed nowers of x are obtained

by recurrence from $x^n = x \cdot x^{n-1}$. This approach requires (2N-1) multiplications and N additions and so is not as economical as the backward recursion scheme.

To generalize the preceding results, let

$$f_N(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_k p_k(x),$$

$$p_{n+1}(x) + \alpha_n p_n(x) + \beta_n p_{n-1}(x) = 0, \quad n \geqslant 1,$$
(10)

where α_n and β_n may depend on both n and x. Here $p_k(x)$ need not be a polynomial. Consider the backward recursion system

$$B_n = -\alpha_n B_{n+1} - \beta_{n+1} B_{n+2} + a_n, \qquad n = N, N - 1, ..., 1, 0,$$

$$B_{N+1} = B_{N+2} = 0.$$
(11)

Then

$$f_N(x) = B_0 p_0(x) + B_1 \{ p_1(x) + \alpha_0 p_0(x) \}. \tag{12}$$

This is easily proved by solving for a_n from (11), substituting in $f_N(x)$ and using the recurrence formula in (10). The extension of this principle to the case where the sequence $\{p_k(x)\}$ satisfies a higher order difference equation is direct. Suppose

$$p_{n+1}(x) + \alpha_{n,0}p_n(x) + \alpha_{n,1}p_{n-1}(x) + \dots + \alpha_{n,r}p_{n-r}(x) = 0, \qquad r < N.$$
 (13)

Consider

$$B_n = -\alpha_{n,0}B_{n+1} - \alpha_{n+1,1}B_{n+2} - \alpha_{n+2,2}B_{n+3} - \dots - \alpha_{n+r,r}B_{n+r+1} + a_n,$$

$$B_{N+1} = B_{N+2} = \dots = 0.$$
(14)

Then

$$f_{V}(x) = \sum_{s=0}^{r} B_{s} \{ p_{s} + \alpha_{s-1,0} p_{s-1} + \dots + \alpha_{s-1,s-1} p_{0} \}.$$
 (15)

We now show that a similar nesting procedure is available for evaluation of $f'_N(x)$. It is sufficient to treat the system (10), (11). We have

$$f'_{N}(x) = (B_{0} + B_{1}\alpha_{0}) p'_{0}(x) + B_{1}p'_{1}(x) + B_{1}\alpha'_{0}p_{0}(x) - g_{N}(x),$$

$$g_N(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} b_k p_k(x), \qquad b_k = B_{k+1} \alpha_k' + B_{k+2} \beta_{k+1}', \tag{16}$$

and $g_N(x)$ is readily evaluated using (10)-(12). Thus, let

$$C_n = -\alpha_n C_{n+1} - \beta_{n+1} C_{n+2} + b_n$$
, $\pi = N - 1, N - 2, 1, 0,$
 $C_N = C_{N+1} = 0$ (17)

$$f_N(x) = (B_0 + B_1\alpha_0)p_0(x) + B_1p_1(x) + B_1\alpha_0p_0(x)$$

 $- C_0p_0(x) - C_1\{p_1(x) + \alpha_0p_0(x)\}$ (18)

The algorithm $\{10\}-\{12\}$ for the evaluation of $f_p(s)$ when $p_n(s)$ is the Chebyshev polynomal $T_n(s)$ is due to Clenshaw $\{1955\}$ list importance lies in the fact that series of Chebyshev polynomials can be evaluated in a manner very much like that a polynomial. Thus the conversion of a series of Chebyshev polynomials to an ordinary polynomial is not necessary for its evaluation. The extension of the Clenshaw procedure to the calculation of $f_p(s)$ when $p_n(s)$ is a polynomial and has the recurrence formula $\{10\}$ is due to Smith $\{1955\}$. We should like to emphasize that the treatment given here is quite general since $p_n(s)$ need not be a polynomial. Thus, for example, the algorithm $\{10\}-\{12\}$ is applicable to sum an example in the Ressel functions.

When $p_n(x)$ satisfies a three-term recurrence formula as in (10), we study the growth of round-off errors in the evaluation of $f_n(x)$ by (12) after the manner of Smith (1965) Let x_n be the error introduced during the calculation of B_n from B_{n+1} and B_{n+2} due to rounding and maccuracies in the coefficients a_n , β_{n+1} , and a_n . If the total error in B_n is E_n , then

$$B_n + E_n = -\alpha_n(B_{n+1} + E_{n+1}) - \beta_{n+1}(B_{n+2} + E_{n+2}) + \alpha_n + \epsilon_n$$
, (19)

and in view of (11),

$$E_n \approx -\alpha_n E_{n+1} - \beta_{n+1} E_{n+2} + \epsilon_n \qquad (20)$$

Thus E_n and B_n satisfy the same recurrence system if in (11) we replace a_n by ϵ_n . Since $E_n=0$ for n>N, we have

$$E_0 p_0(\mathbf{v}) + E_1 \{ p_1(\mathbf{x}) + \alpha_0 p_0(\mathbf{x}) \} = \sum_{n=0}^{n} \epsilon_k p_k(\mathbf{x})$$
 (21)

So an error introduced at the mth step only contributes an error $\epsilon_n P_n(x)$ to the final answer and does not increase the errors introduced in the subsequent n steps. Notice that the total error m the calculation of $f_n(x)$ by f(12) is the same as that obtained by evaluating f(x) as the

sum in (10) when we interpret ϵ_n as the error in a_n . Similar remarks pertain to the evaluation of $f_N'(x)$ by the algorithms (16)–(18). An error analysis for the evaluation of $f_N(x)$ by (10)–(12) when $p_n(x) = T_n(x)$ has been given by Clenshaw (1955). See Cooper (1967) also.

For the case of expansions in series of Chebyshev polynomials of the first kind, the algorithms (10)-(12) and (16)-(18) can be summarized as follows:

$$f_N(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_k p_k(x), \qquad f'_N(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k p'_k(x),$$
$$p_{n+1}(x) + \alpha_n p_n(x) + p_{n-1}(x) = 0. \tag{22}$$

$$B_{n} = -\alpha_{n}B_{n+1} - B_{n+2} + a_{n}, \qquad n = N, N - 1, ..., 0,$$

$$B_{N+1} = B_{N+2} = 0,$$

$$C_{n} = -\alpha_{n}C_{n+1} - C_{n+2} + b_{n}, \qquad n = N - 1, N - 2, ..., 0,$$

$$C_{N} = C_{N+1} = 0.$$
(23)

$p_n(x)$	α_n	b_n	$f_N(x)$	$f'_N(x)$
$T_n(x)$ $T_{2n}(x)$ $T_{2n+1}(x)$ $T_n^*(x)$	$-2(2x^2-1)$	$-8xB_{n+1} \\ -8xB_{n+1}$	$B_0 - xB_1 B_0 - (2x^2 - 1)B_1 x(B_0 - B_1) B_0 - (2x - 1)B_1$	$-B_1 - C_0 + xC_1$ $-4xB_1 - C_0 + (2x^2 - 1)C_1$ $B_0 - B_1 - x(C_0 - C_1)$ $-2B_1 - C_0 + (2x - 1)C_1$ (24)

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abramowsty M and Stemm I (eds.) (1954) Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas Graphs and Mathematical Tables. And Math. Ser. \$5 U.S. Govi. Printing Office Washington D.C. Akhieser N I (1956) Theory of Approximation (trans) from Russian) Unpar

New York Al Salam N. A. (1966) Duke Math. 7 33 109-121

Arthurs A. VI and VicCarroll R (1961) Viath Come 15 159-162

Bailey W N (1935) Generalized Hypergeometric Series Cambridge Univ Press

London and New York Bailey W N (1954) Proc Glassom Math Assoc 2 62-65

Baker G A, Ir and Gammel I L (1961) I Math Anal Apol 2 21 30

Raker G A, Ir Gammel I L, and Wills I G (1961) I Math Anal Appl 2 405-418

Barakat R. (1961) Math Comp 15 7 10

Barnes E. W (1899) Messenger of Math 29 64-128

Bellman R. E (1952) J Wath and Phys 30 226-231

Bellman, R. E. and Cooke K. L. (1963) Differential Difference Equations. Academic Press New York. Bellman R. E. Kalaba R. E. and Lockett J (1966) Numerical Inversion of the

Laplace Transform. Elsevier Amsterdam.

Bernstein S (1926) Leçons sur les proprié és extrémales et la medleure approximation des fonctions analyt ques d'une variable réele Gauthier Villars Paris

Bhagwandin K (1962) Lapproximation uniforme des fonctions d'Airy Stokes et fonctions de Bessel dund ces fractionna res. Ind Congr. Assoc Frant. Calcul et Trante ment Information Paris 1961 pp 137 145 Gauthier Villars Paris

Barkhoff G and Tre tzinsky W I (1932) Acta Math 60 1 89 Biorck A (1961) Nordisk Mat Tidsler 9 65-70

Blanch G (1964) SIAM Rev 6 383-421

Blum E. K and Curtis P C Ir (1951) I Assoc Comput Mach 8 645-647 Boas R. P Jr and Buck R. C (1958) Polynomial Espans ons of Analytic Functions

Springer Berlin.

Bocher M (1936) Introduction to Higher Algebra Macmillan New York Boersma, J (1960) Math Comp 14 380

Booth A D (1955) MTAC 9 21 23

Braaksma B L. J (1963) Composit o Math 15 239-338

Brotowich T J I a (1949) An Introduct on to the Theory of Infinite Series Macmillan New York

Buchholz H (1953) De konfluente hypergeometrische Funktion Springer Berlin. Burgovne F D (1962) Math Comp 16 497-498

Burgoyne F D (1963) Math Camp 17 295-298 Burlisch R. (1967) Numer Math 9 380-385

Burunova N M (1959) Handbook on Mathematical Tables Suppl. No 1 (in Russian) Moscow Also in English Pergamon Press Oxford (1960)

Byrd, P. F., and Friedman, M. D. (1954). "Handbook of Elliptic Integrals for Engineers and Physicists." Springer, Berlin.

Callender, A., Hartree, D. R., and Porter, A. (1936). Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 235, 415-444.

Carslaw, H. S., and Jaeger, J. C. (1959). "Conduction of Heat in Solids." Oxford Univ. Press, London and New York.

Cayley, A. (1961). "An Elementary Treatise on Elliptic Functions." Dover, New York. Cheney, E. W. (1966). "Introduction to Approximation Theory." McGraw-Hill, New York.

Cheney, E. W., and Southard, T. H. (1963). SIAM Rev. 5, 219-231.

Clenshaw, C. W. (1955). MTAC 9, 118-120.

Clenshaw, C. W. (1957). Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 53, 134-149.

Clenshaw, C. W. (1962). Chebyshev series for mathematical functions. Nat. Phys. Lab. Math. Tables, Vol. V. H.M. Stationery Office, London.

Clenshaw, C. W., Miller, G. F., and Woodger, M. (1962/1963). Numer. Math. 4, 403-419.

Clenshaw, C. W., and Norton, H. J. (1963). Comput. J. 6, 88-92.

Clenshaw, C. W., and Picken, S. M. (1966). Chebyshev series for Bessel functions of fractional order. Nat. Phys. Lab. Math. Tables, Vol. VIII. H.M. Stationery Office, London.

Cody, W. J. (1965a). Math. Comp. 19, 105-112.

Cody, W. J. (1965b). Math. Comp. 19, 249-259.

Cody, W. J. (1966). Math. Comp. 20, 207.

Cody, W. J., and Hillstrom, K. E. (1967). Math. Comp. 21, 198-203.

Cody, W. J., and Thacher, H. C., Jr. (1967). Math. Comp. 21, 30-40.

Cooper, G. J. (1967). Comput. J. 10, 94-100.

Copson, E. T. (1955). "Theory of Functions of a Complex Variable." Oxford Univ. Press, London and New York.

Copson, E. T. (1965). "Asymptotic Expansions." Cambridge Univ. Press, London and New York.

Corbato, F. J., and Uretsky, J. L. (1959). J. Assoc. Comput. Mach. 6, 366-375.

Courant, R., and Hilbert, D. (1955). "Methods of Mathematical Physics." Vol. I. Wiley (Interscience), New York.

Curtis, A. R. (1964). "Coulomb Wave Functions." Cambridge Univ. Press, London and New York.

Davis, H. T. (1962). "Introduction to Nonlinear Differential and Integral Equations." Dover, New York.

Davis, P. J. (1963). "Interpolation and Approximation." Ginn (Blaisdell), Boston.

Davis, P. J., and Rabinowitz, P. (1967). "Numerical Integration." Ginn (Blaisdell), Boston. de Balbine, G., and Franklin, J. N. (1966). Math. Comp. 20, 570-589.

de Bruijn, N. G. (1958). "Asymptotic Methods in Analysis." Wiley (Interscience), New York. Doetsch, G. (1943). "Theorie und Anwendung der Laplace-Transformation." Dover,

New York.

Dottsch. G. (1958) "Einführung in Theorie und Anwendung der Lanlace-Trans-

Doetsch, G. (1958). "Einführung in Theorie und Anwendung der Laplace-Transformation." Birkhäuser-Verlag, Basel.

Dzrbasjan, V. A. (1964). Ž. Vyčisl. Mat. i Mat. Fiz. 4, 348-351.

Elliott, D. (1960). J. Austral. Math. Soc. 1, Pt. 3, 344-356.

Elliott, D. (1961). Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 57, 823-832.

Elliott, D. (1963). Comput. J. 6, 102-111.

Elliott, D. (1964). Math. Comp. 18, 274-284.

Elliott, D. (1965). Math. Comp. 19, 234-248.

Elliott, D. (1967). Math. Comp. 21, 398-406.

Elliott, D., and Szekeres, G. (1965). Math. Comp. 19, 25-32.

137 RIBI JOSEPHY

Erdéby A (1943a) Philos Mag 34 (T) 533-536

Russ an) Gordon and Breach New York.

Erdely, A (1943b) J London Wath Soc 18 72-77

Erdelyi A. (1956) Asymptotic Expansions Dover New York

Erdelys A Magnus W Oberhettinger F and Tricoms F G (1953) Higher Trans

rendental Functions Vols I II III McGraw Hall New York. Erdelys A. Magnus W. Oberhertunger F and Tracoms F G (1954) "Tables of

Integral Transforms Vols I II McGraw Hill New York.

Erdélys A. and Wyman, M. (1963) Arch Rational Vech Anal 14 217 260

Evgrafov VI A (1961) Asymptotic Estimates and Entire Functions (transl. from

Fair W. G. (1964) Math. Comb 18 627-634

Fair W G and Luke Y L (1966a) Wath Comp 20 602-605 Fair W G and Luke Y L. (1966b) Intern | Non Linear Vech 1 209-216

Fair W G and Luke Y L (1967) Math Comp 21 418-422.

Fasenmeyer Sister Mary C (1947) Bull Amer Math Soc 53 806-812. Fasenmeyer Sister Mary C (1949) Amer Math Monthly 56 14-17

Felix M Sajaloli C and Kuntzman J (1958) Chiffres 1 63-74

Femis H E (1955) MTAC 9 85-92.

Fettis H E (1958) Z Anomi Math Mach 38 159-160

Fields J. L. (1965a) Math. Comp. 19 606-624

Fields | L (1965b) | Math Anal Anni 12 593-601

Fields J L (1966) Proc Ed abrank Math. Soc 15 (2) 43-45

Fields 1 L (1968) Arch Rational Mech Anal 27 289-305

Fields J L and Luke Y L (1963) J Math Anal Appl 6 394-403 ibid 7 440-451

Fields | L. and Wann 1 (1961) Math Comp 15 390-395

Fields 1 L and Wimn 1 (1963) Proc Cambridge Philos Soc 59 599-605

Fields I L. Luke Y L. and Womp I (1968) I Approx Theory I (In press.) Fletcher A. Miller I C P Rosenhead L. and Comme L. 1 (1962) An Index of Mathematical Tables Vols I II Addison Wesley Reading Massachusetts

Ford W B (1960) Stud es on Divergent Series and Summability and the Asymptotic Developments of Functions Defined by Maclaurin Series Chelsea New York.

Fox C (1927) Proc London Math Soc 26 (2) 201 210

Fox C (1961) Trans Amer Vath Soc 98 395-429 Fox L. (1962) Comput 1 4 318 331

Fox L and Goodwin E T (1953) Philos Trans Roy Soc London Ser A 245 501 534 Friedlander F G (1941) Proc Cambridge Philos Soc 37 134-149

Froman N and Froman P O (1965) JN KB Approximation North Holland Publ Amsterdam.

Cautschi W (1959) J Math Phys 38 77 81 Gautschi W (1961a) J Assoc Combut Mach 8 21-40

Gautschi W (1961b) Math Comp 15 227-232

Gautschi V. (1966) Vath Comp 20 209-214

Gautschs V. (1967) SIAM Ret. 9 24-82

Geronumus Ya L. (1960) Polynomials Orthogonal on a Circle and Interval (transl from Russian) Pergamon Press Oxford Gloden R F (1964) Approximation des fonctions de Bessel Optimisation des

programmes correspondants Communauté Européene de l'Energie Atomique-EURATOM Centre Commun de Recherche Aucleauxe Etablissement d'Ispra Italie Centre de Trastement de I Information CETIS Brussels

Goldenberg H (1962) SIAM Ret 4 94-104

Goldstein M and Thaler R. M (1959) MTAC 13 102 108

Goldstein, S. (1932). Proc. London Math. Soc. 34 (2), 51-88.

Goodwin, E. T. (1949). Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 45, 241-245.

Gram, J. P. (1895). Kongl. Danske Videnskab. Selskabs Forhandl., Oversigt pp. 303-308.

Gram, J. P. (1903). Acta. Math. 27, 289-304.

Gröbner, W., and Hofreiter, N. (1949, 1950). "Integraltafel, erster Teil, unbestimmte Integrale" (1949); "Integraltafel, zweiter Teil, bestimmte Integrale" (1950). Springer, Berlin.

Grosswald, E. (1951). Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 71, 197-210.

Handscomb, D. C. (ed.) (1966). "Methods of Numerical Approximation." Pergamon Press, Oxford.

Hangelbroek, R. J. (1967). J. Eng. Math. 1, 37-50.

Heading, J. (1962). "An Introduction to Phase-Integral Methods." Wiley, New York.

Hildebrand, F. B. (1956). "Introduction to Numerical Analysis." McGraw-Hill, New York.

Hobson, E. W. (1955). "The Theory of Spherical and Ellipsoidal Harmonics." Chelsea, New York.

Hornecker, G. (1958). Chiffres 1, 157-169.

Hummer, D. G. (1964). Math. Comp. 18, 317-318.

Hunter, D. B. (1964). Math. Comp. 18, 123-128.

Hunter, D. B. (1968). Math. Comp. 22, 440-444.

Jeffreys, H. (1962). "Asymptotic Approximations." Oxford Univ. Press, London and New York.

Kacmarz, St., and Steinhaus, H. (1951). "Theorie der Orthogonalreihen." Chelsea, New York.

Khovanskii, A. N. (1963). "The Application of Continued Fractions and Their Generalizations to Problems in Approximation Theory" (transl. from Russian). Noordhoff, Groningen.

Knopp, K. (1949). "Theory and Application of Infinite Series," Hafner.

Knottnerus, U. J. (1960). "Approximation Formulae for Generalized Hypergeometric Functions for Large Values of the Parameters with Applications to Expansion Theorems for the Function $G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z)$." J. B. Wolters, Groningen.

Komatu, Y. (1955). Rep. Statist. Appl. Res. Un. Japan. Sci. Engrs. 4, 69-70.

Kopal, Z. (1955). "Numerical Analysis." Wiley, New York.

Kovalenko, A. D. (1967). Dopovidi Akad. Nauk Ukrain, RSR Ser. A, 208-212.

Kratzer, A., and Franz, W. (1960). "Tranzendente Funktionen." Akad. Verlagsges., Leipzig.

Kreyszig, E., and Todd, J. (1959). Pacific J. Math. 9, 123-127.

Krumhaar, H. (1965). Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 45, 245-255.

Krylov, V. I. (1962). "Approximate Calculation of Integrals" (transl. from Russian). Macmillan, New York.

Kublanovskaia, V. N., and Smirnova, F. N. (1959). Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov, 186-192.
 English transl.—Zeros of Hankel functions and some related functions. TN-60-1128,
 Air Force Cambridge Res. Lab., Cambridge, Massachusetts (1960).

Kuznecov, D. S. (1965). "Special Functions" (in Russian), Izdat. "Vysŝ. Škola," Moscow.

Laguerre, E. M. (1885). J. Math. Pures Appl. 1 (4), 135-165.

Lanczos, C. (1938). J. Math. and Phys. 17, 123-199.

Lanczos, C. (1952). "Tables of Chebyshev Polynomials $S_n(x)$ and $C_n(x)$, Introduction." Nat. Bur. Std., U.S. Govt. Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

Lanczos, C. (1956). "Applied Analysis." Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

Lanczos, C. (1964). J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math. Ser. B, Numerical Anal. 1, 86-96.

Lauwerier, H. A. (1966). "Asymptotic Expansions." Mathematisch Centrum, Amsterdam.

Lawrynow cz. J. (1966). Ann. Polon. Math. 7. 245-257. ibid. 8. 43-52. 147. 161. Lebedev. A. V. and Feodorova. R. M. (1956). Guide to Mathematical Tables. (in

Russ an) Moscow Also in English, Pergamon Press Oxford (1960)

Lebedev N N (1965) Spec al Functions and the r Appl cations (transl from Russian)

Prentice-Hall Englewood Cliffs New Jersey
Lewin L. (1958) Dilogarithms and Associated Functions Macdonald, London

Longman I M (1966) Bull Seismol Soc America 56 1045-1065

Luke Y L (1955) J Soc Indust Appl Math 3 179-191

Luke Y L. (1956) J Math and Phys 34 298-307 Luke Y L (1957) J Assoc Comput Mach 4 24-9

Luke Y L (1953) J Misse Compile Mach 4 24-Luke Y L (1958) J Math and Phys 37 110-127

Luke Y L (1959) MTAC 13 261 271

Luke Y L. (1960) J Math. and Phys 38 279-294
Luke Y L. (1961) Numer Math 3 76-78

Luke Y L. (1961) Numer Math 3 76-78

Luke Y L. (1962a) "Integrals of Bessel Functions McGraw Hill New York.

Luke \ L (1962b) On the approximate inversion of some Laplace transforms 4th

US Congr Appl Mechan Berkeley Cal form a 1962 pp 269-276 Amer Soc. Mech. Engrs New York

Luke Y L (1963) On the approximate solution of integral equations of the convolution type Rept. ARL 63-33. Aeron. Res. Lab. Wright Patterson. Air. Force. Base. Ohio.

Luke Y L (1964) Quant J Meth Appl Math 17 Pt 1 91 103 Luke Y L (1968a) SIAM Rev 10 229-232.

Luke Y L (1968b) Math Comp 22 627-634

Luke Y L (1968c) Approximations for the Debre functions TPR No C00-1619-5

AEC VI dwest Res Inst Kansas City VI ssouri Luke Y L and Coleman R L (1961) Math Comp 15 233-237

Luke Y L Far W Coombs G and Moran R (1965) Math Comp 19 501 502.

Luke Y L. and Wimp J (1963) Math Comp 17 395-403

Lyusternik L. A. Chervonenkis O. A. and Yanpol skii A. R. (1965) Handbook for

Computing Elementary Functions (transl from Russ an) Pergamon Press Oxford. McNamee J (1964) Math Comp 18 368-381

MacRobert T M (1937 1938) Proc Ed nburgh Math Soc 58 1 13

MacRobert T M (1961) Proc Glasgoss Math Assoc 5 30-34

MacRobert, T. M. (1962a) Functions of a Complex Variable 5th ed. Macmillan London and 5t Martin a Press. New York. MacRobert T. M. (1962b). Pacific 1 Math. 12, 999-1002.

Magnus W and Obe hettinger F Formeln und Satzie für die anez ellen Funktionen

der Mathematuschen Physik (1943) Springer Berlin Also Formulas and theorems for the Functions of Mathematical Physics (transl. from German) (1954) Chelses New York. Also Formulas and Theorems for the Spec al Functions of Mathematical Physics (1966) Springer Berlin

Frys C. (1965) "Handbook of Series for Scientists and Engineers" Academic Press New York.

Press New York.

Nesson J. C. (1966) Some new approximations for the solution of differential equations.

Tech. Note BN-438. Univ. of Maryland. College Park. Maryland.

Mason J C (1967a) SIAM J Appl Mash 15 172 181
Mason J C (1967b) A Chebyshev method for the numerical solution of the one-dimensional hest equation. Tech. Rept. TR 67-44 NsiG-398. Univ. of Maryland.

College Park, Maryland. Mechel F (1966) Math Comp 20 407-412.

Me jer C S (1936) Nieuw Arch Wuk 18 (2) 10-39

- Meijer, C. S. (1940). Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A. 43, 198-210, 366-378.
- Meijer, C. S. (1941a). Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 44, 81-92, 186-194, 298-307, 442-451, 590-598.
- Meijer, C. S. (1941b). Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 44, 435-441, 599-605.
- Meijer, C. S. (1941c). Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 44, 1062-1070.
- Meijer, C. S. (1946). Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A. 49, 344-356, 457-469, 632-641, 765-772, 936-943, 1063-1072, 1165-1175.
- Meijer, C. S. (1952-1956). Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 55, 369-379, 483-487 (1952); 56, 43-49, 187-193, 349-357 (1953); 57, 77-82, 83-91, 273-279 (1954); 58, 243-251, 309-314 (1955); 59, 70-82 (1956).
- Meinardus, G. (1964). "Approximation von Funktionen und ihre Numerische Behandlung." Springer, Berlin.
- Merkes, E. P., and Scott, W. T. (1962). J. Math. Anal. Appl. 4, 309-327.
- Mersman, W. A. (1959). Methods of calculating fundamental solutions of the wave equation with tables. NASA TN D-86, Washington D.C.
- Miles, J. W. (1959). "The Potential Theory of Unsteady Supersonic Flow." Cambridge Univ. Press, London and New York.
- Miller, G. F. (1966). J. SIAM Numer. Anal. 3, 390-409.
- Miller, J. C. P. (1952). See Introduction to Bessel Functions, Part II, "Mathematical Tables," Vol. X. Brit. Assoc. Advance. Sci., Cambridge.
- Miller, J. C. P. (1955). "Tables of Weber Parabolic Cylinder Functions." H.M. Stationery Office, London.
- Miller, M. K., and Guy, W. T., Jr. (1966). SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 3, 624-635.
- Milne-Thomson, L. M. (1950). "Jacobian Elliptic Function Tables." Dover, New York. Mitrinović, D. S., and Djoković, D. Ž. (1964). "Specijalne Funkcije." Gradjevinska Knjiga, Belgrade.
- Moody, W. T. (1967). Math. Comp. 21, 112.
- Narain, R. (1962, 1963). Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 13, 950-959; ibid. 14, 18-28, 271-277.
- Németh, G. (1963). Magyar Tud. Akad. Mat. Kutató Int. Közl. 8, 641-643.
- Németh, G. (1964a). Polynomial approximations for the evaluation of $\int_x^{\infty} u^{-1} e^{-u} du$. Rept. Central Inst. for Physics, Budapest.
- Németh, G. (1964b). Polynomial approximations for the calculation of $\int_0^x e^{-u^2} du$. Rept. Central Inst. for Physics, Budapest.
- Nemeth, G. (1965a). Numer. Math. 7, 310-312.
- Németh, G. (1965b). Polynomial approximation to the function $\psi(a, c; x)$, Chebyshev expansion of integral sine and cosine functions. Repts. of the Central Inst. for Physics, Budapest.
- Németh, G. (1965c). Chebyshev expansion of Gauss' hypergeometric function. Rept. Central Inst, for Physics, Budapest.
- Nemeth, G. (1966). Chebyshev expansion of the function $e^{-x^2/2} \int_0^x e^{u^2/2} du$. Rept. Central Inst. for Physics, Budapest.
- Neville, E. H. (1951). "Jacobian Elliptic Functions." Oxford Univ. Press, London and New York.
- Niblett, J. D. (1952). Pacific J. Math. 2, 219-225.
- Nielsen, N. (1965). "Handbuch der Theorie der Gammafunktionen," Band I; "Theorie des Integrallogarithmus und Verwandter Transzendenten," Band II. Chelsea, New York.
- Nörlund, N. E. (1954). "Vorlesungen über Differenzenrechnung." Chelsea, New York. Nörlund, N. E. (1955). Acta Math. 94, 289-349.
- Nörlund, N. E. (1960). Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei. Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. 28, 532-538.
- Nörlund, N. E. (1961). Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 10 (2), 27-44.

Northand N. E. (1961) Mat Fus Shr Danske Vid Solsk 2 No. 5 Nuceyre I B (1960) Chiff et 3 102 116

Oberhettinger F (1957) Tabellen zur Fourier Transformation Springer Berlin. Oberhettunger F and H gams T P (1961) Tables of Lebedev Mehler and generalized Mehler transforms Ma h Note No 246 Boeing Sci. Res Lab Seartle

Obe bettinger F and Magnus W (1949) Anwendung der Ell puschen Funktionen

in Physik and Technik Springer Berlin. Ol ver 1 (1967) Aumer Math 9 323-340

Olver F W 1 (1954) Philos Trans Roy Soc London Ser A 247 307 368 Olver F W J (1956) Philas Trans Ray Soc London Ser A 249 65-97

Olver F N J (1958) Philos Trans Roy Soc London Ser A 250 479-517

Ol er F W J (ed.) (1960) Royal Society Mathematical Tables Vol VII Bessel Functions Pt. 3 Zeros and Associated Values Cambridge Univ Press London and New York

Olver F V I (1964) Vlath Comp 18 65-74

Panoulis A (1956) Oug t Appl Math. 14 405-414

Perlin I E and Garret J R. (1960) Math Comp 14 270-274

Perron O (1915-1918) S B Heidelberger Akad Wus Math Natur Kl Part I (1915-1916)

No 9 Part II (1917 1918) No 1 Perron, O. (1950). Die Lehie von den Kettenbrüchen. Chelses. New York.

Perron O (1954 1957) De Lehre van den Kettenbrüchen Vol I (1954) Vol II (1957) Teubner Le pz e

Peters I (1957) Ten Place Logarithm Tables Vol I Numbers from 1 to 100000

Ungar New York

P cone M (1935) Rend Aced Nax des XL 13 (6) 306-313 Perre D A (1964) I Soc Indust Appl Math 12 93-104

Po sson S D (1823) Mem Acad Scs Inst France 6 571-602.

Pollak H O (1956) Rep Statut Appl Res Un Japan Scs Engrs 4 110

Poole E G C (1960) Introduction to the Theory of Linear Differential Equations Dover New York

Ramville E D (1960) Special Functions Macmillan New York,

Randels I B and Reeves R F (1958) Comm ACM 1 3-5 Rau H (1950) Arch Math 2 251 257

Ray W D and P tman A E N T (1963) Ann Math Statut 34 892 902.

Rice J. R. (1964) The Approximation of Functions Vol. I Linear Theory Addison

Wesley Reading Massachusetts Rice S O (1940) Duke Math. 1 6 108-119

Runes T D (1956) Proc Amer Math Soc 7 245-249

Runey T D (1958) Trans Amer Math Sec 88 214-226.

Riney T D (1959) Proc Amer Math Soc 10 511 518 Ritch e R H and Sakakura A. Y (1956) J Appl Phys 27 1453-1457

Rivlin T J (1962) Numer Wath 4 345-349

Roberts G E. and Kaufman H (1966) 'Table of Laplace Transforms Saunders

Philadelphia Pennsylvania Robin L. (1957) Fonctions Sphériques de Legendre et Fonctions Sphéro dales

Vols I II III Gauth er V liars Paris Rotenberg A (1960) Mah Comp 14 274-276

Rowe C H (1931) Ann of Math 32 10-16. Ryshik I M and Gradste n I S Summen Produkt und Interraltafeln. Tables of Series, Products and Integrals (trans) from Russian into Geoman transi from German unto English (1957) Deutscher Verlag Berlin, Also Tables of Integrals

Series, and Products," 4th ed. (prepared by Yu. V. Geronimus and M. Yu. Tseytlin) (transl. from Russian into English) (1965). Academic Press, New York.

Salzer, H. E. (1955). MTAC 9, 164-177.

Salzer, H. E. (1957). MTAC 11, 197-200.

Salzer, H. E. (1958). J. Math. and Phys. 37, 89-109.

Salzer, H. E. (1961). J. Math. and Phys. 40, 72-86.

Sansone, G. (1959). "Orthogonal Functions." Wiley (Interscience), New York.

Saxena, R. K. (1962). Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 58, 489-491.

Saxena, R. K. (1963). Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 59, 347-350.

Schäfke, F. W. (1963). "Einfuhrung in die Theorie der Spezielle Funktionen." Springer, Berlin.

Sharma, K. C. (1964): Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 60, 539-542.

Shirtliffe, C. J., and Stephenson, D. G. (1961). J. Math. and Phys. 40, 135-141.

Simauti, T. (1964). Comment. Math. Univ. St. Paul 12, 23-25.

Skoblja, N. (1964). "Tables for the Numerical Inversion of the Laplace Transform" (in Russian). Izdat. Nauka i Tehnika, Minsk. Also available as Rept. AF CRL-TN CO-1128, Electron. Res. Directorate, Air Force Cambridge Res. Lab., Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Slater, L. J. (1960). "Confluent Hypergeometric Functions." Cambridge Univ. Press, London and New York.

Slater, L. J. (1966). "Generalized Hypergeometric Functions," Cambridge Univ. Press, London and New York.

Smith, F. J. (1965), Math. Comp. 19, 33-36.

Sneddon, I. N. (1956). "Special Functions of Mathematical Physics and Chemistry." Oliver and Boyd, London. Also "Spezielle Funktionen der mathematischen Physik und Chemie" (transl. from English) (1963). Bibliographisches Institut, Mannheim.

Snow, C. (1952). The hypergeometric and Legendre functions with applications to integral equations of potential theory. Appl. Math. Ser. 19, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

Snyder, M. A. (1966). "Chebyshev Methods in Numerical Approximation." Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

Spielberg, K. (1961). Math. Comp. 15, 409-417.

Spielberg, K. (1962). Math. Comp. 16, 205-217.

Spinelli, R. A. (1966). SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 3, 636-649.

Steffensen, J. F. (1950). "Interpolation." Chelsea, New York.

Stegun, I. A., and Abramowitz, M. (1957). MTAC 11, 255-257.

Stroud, A., and Secrest, D. (1966). "Gaussian Quadrature Formulas." Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

Szegő, G. (1932). Proc. London Math. Soc. 36 (2), 427-450.

Szegö, G. (1933). Schriften der Königsberger Gelehrten Gesellschaft Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse 10, 35-112.

Szegö, G. (1959). "Orthogonal Polynomials" (Colloq. Publ., Vol. 23). Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, Rhode Island.

Talbot, A. (1962). Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 58, 244-267.

Thacher, H. C. Jr. (1960). J. Chem. Phys. 32, 638.

Thomson, W. E. (1952). Wireless Engr. 29, 256-263, 309.

Titchmarsh, E. C. (1948). "Introduction to the Theory of Fourier Integrals." Oxford Univ. Press, London and New York.

Todd, J. (ed.) (1962). "A Survey of Numerical Analysis." McGraw-Hill, New York.

Tricomi, F. G. (1935a). Rend. Accad. Naz. dei. XL. 13 (6), 232-239.

Tricomi, F. G. (1935b). Rend. Accad. Naz. dei. XL. 13 (6), 420-426.

Tricom F G (1948) Elliptische Funktionen Akad Verlagsges Le vizie Tricotti F G (1953) Boll Un Mat Ital 8 (3) 107 109

Tricom F G (1954) Funz uns pergeometriche confluenti, Ed Cremonese Rome Trecome F G (1955) Vorlesungen über Orthogonalreihen Sonnger Berlin

Trooms F G and Erdélys A (1951) Pacific J Math 1 133 142

Tunng A M (1945) Proc London Math Soc 48 (2) 180-197

Vallée Poussin, C de La. (1952) Leçons d'approximation des fonct ons d'une variable reelle Gauthier Villars Paris

Van der Cortiut, I. G. (1957) Aederl Akad Wetensch Proc Ser A 60 337 351 Van der Corput 1 G (1959) Nederl Akad Wetensch Proc Ser A 62 153-164 van Rossum H (1955) Nederl Akad Wetensch Proc Ser A 58 517 525 526-534

675-682 van Rossutti H (1958) Nederl Ahad Wetensch Proc Ser A 61 366-375

von Sanden H (1959) Z Angew Math Mech 39 327 328

Verma A. (1965) Math Comp 19 664-666 Vonnet M (1959) Ch ffres 2 77 96.

Vionnet M (1960) Ch ffres 3 65-78 Wall H S (1948) Continued Fract ons Van Nostrand Princeton New Jersey

Walsh 1 L (1960) Interpolat on and Approximation 3rd ed (Collog Publ Vol 20) Amer Math Soc Providence Rhode Island

Ward E E (1954) Proc Cambridge Philos Soc 50 49-59

Ward G N (1955) Linearized Theory of Steady High Speed Flow Cambridge Univ Press London and New York

Wasow W (1965) Asymptotic Expans one for Ordinary Differential Equations Wifey New York

Watson G N (1918) Trans Cambridge Philos Soc 22 277 308

Watson G N (1945) A Treatise on the Theory of Bessel Functions Cambridge Univ Press London and New York

Werner H and Collinge R (1961) Wath Comp 15 195-197

Werner H and Rayman G (1963) Math Comp 17 193-194

Whittak r E T and Watson G N (1927) A Course of Modern Analysis Cambridge

Un Press London and New York W look C H (ed.) (1964) Asymptot c Solutions of Differential Equations and their Applications Wiley New York.

Wilf H S (1962) Mathemat es for the Phys cal Sciences Wiley New York Wanp J (1961) Math Comp 15 174-178

Wamp J (1962) Math Comp 16 445-458

Wimp J (1964) Proc Ed nburgh Math Soc 14 (2) 33-40

Wimp J (1965) Proc Amer Math Soc 16 281 283 Wamp J (1967) Math Comp 21 639-646

Wamp J (1968) Math Comp 22 363 373

Wmp J and Luke Y L (1962) Rend Circ Mat Palermo 11 (2) 351 366 Wood V E (1967) Math Comp 21 494-495

Wright E M (1935) I London Math Soc 10 286-291

Wright E M (1939) I London Wath Soc 14 389-408 Wright E. M (1958) Proc Glargow Math Assoc 4 18-41

Wright K (1964) Comput 1 6 358-365

Wyman M (1964) Trans Rov Soc Canada Sect III 2 (4) 227 256 Wynn P (1960) Math Comp 14 147 186

Zurmühl R. (1964) Numer Math 6 1 5

Zygmund A (1959) Trigonometric Senes Vol I Cambridge Univ Press London and New York

NOTATION INDEX

The system of notation employed to locate specific material lists, in the following order, chapter, section, and subsection (if any).

EXAMPLE. 2.10.3 means Chapter II, tenth section, third subsection. A number in parentheses refers to an equation.

EXAMPLE. 2.10.3(4) refers to the fourth equation in 2.10.3. An equation number in parentheses, standing by itself, refers to the equation of the particular section or subsection in which the reference occurs.

EXAMPLE. A reference to (4) in 2.10.3 means the fourth equation of 2.10.3.

There is much ad hoc notation which is explained in the text near where it occurs. Data of this kind are excluded in the index.

In the listings below, the numbers refer to the equations which define the functions in accordance with the discussion given above.

Α

A, used to denote a certain condition,

$$A = A_{q}^{m,n}$$
, $\bar{A} = \bar{A}_{q}^{m,n}$, 5.9.2(2)
Ai(z), Airy function, 6.2.8(2)
(a)_k = $\Gamma(a + k)/\Gamma(a)$, see 2.1(7)

R

B, used to denote a certain condition, 5.7(4)

$$B = B_p^{n,n}, \bar{B} = \bar{B}_p^{n,n}, 5.9.2(3, 4)$$

 $B_k \equiv B_k(0),$ Bernoulli number, 2.8(5)

 $B_t^{(a)}(x)$, generalized Bernoulli polynomial, 2.8(1)

 $B_k(x) \equiv B_k^{(1)}(x).$ Bernoulli polynomial, 2.8(4)

 $B_r(p, q)$, incomplete beta function, 13.6(1) Bi(z), Airy function, 6.2.8(3)

 $B(\alpha, \beta)$, beta function, 2.6(1)

ber,(z), bei,(z), 6.2.7(47)

C

C, used to denote a certain condition, 5.7(5) $C_n^{(\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}(x)$, Gegenbauer or ultraspherical polynomial, 8.1(27) $C_{\nu}(z)$, cylinder function, 6.2.7(7) C(z), Fresnel integral, 6.2.11(39)

Ci(z), cosine integral, 6.2.11(19) $Ci(\alpha, z), 6.2.11(4)$

$$c_k = c_k \left(p, q + 1 \mid \frac{\alpha_p}{\rho_0, \rho_q} \right), 2.11(29)$$

cn(x, k), Jacobi's elliptic function, 10.5(21)

D

D = d/dz, derivative operator, 2.9(1)

 $D(\lambda) = D_{p,q}^{m,n}(\lambda), 5.9.2(19)$ $D_{\nu}(z)$, parabolic cylinder function, 6.2.6(5)

E

 $E_1(z) = -\text{Ei}(-z)$, exponential integral, 6.2.11(8)

E. (280) 57(7)

E(s) Weber's function 629(7) Es(x) exponential integral 6 2 11(9)

Erf(a) error function 6 2 11(29) Erfc(a) complementary error function

6 2 11(30) Erfi(a) modified error function 6.2 11(31) E(a, a, a, b, b, b, z) = E(a, b, z)

MacRobert's E-function 5 2(20) E(k) complete elliptic integral of the second kind 6.2 5(2) $E(\lambda) = E_{\bullet}^{m,n}(\lambda) \ \bar{E}(\lambda) = \bar{E}_{\bullet}^{m,n}(\lambda) \ 5.9.2(13)$

E(w A) incomplete ell ptic integral of the second kind 10 4(53) erf(z) error function 62 11(30)

erfc(x) complementary error function 6 2 11(34)

$$F$$
 $_{\sigma}F_{\sigma}(\alpha_1 \quad \alpha_2 \quad \alpha_{\sigma} \quad \rho_1 \quad \rho_1 \quad \rho \quad z)$
 $\approx {}_{\sigma}F_{\sigma}\begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \quad \alpha_2 \quad \alpha_{\sigma} \\ \rho_1 \quad \rho_2 \quad \rho_2 \quad \rho_2 \end{pmatrix} generalized$

$$= {}_{p}F_{q} \left(\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\rho_{2}} \frac{\alpha_{2}}{\rho_{3}} + \frac{\alpha_{3}}{\rho_{4}} \right) z \right) \quad \text{generalized}$$
hypergeometric function 3 2(1)
$${}_{p}F_{q}(\alpha_{p}, \rho_{e}, z) = {}_{p}F_{q} \left(\frac{\alpha_{p}}{\rho_{4}} \right) z \right) \quad \text{generalized}$$

hypergeometric function 3 2(2)

hypergeometric function 3 2(2)

$$_{2}P_{x}\begin{pmatrix}1+\alpha_{3}&\rho_{4}\\1+\alpha_{3}&\alpha_{4}^{2}\end{pmatrix}z$$
 $h=0$

F. (24)

F_L(η ρ) Coulomb wave function 626(2) F.(u v w) 3 13 3(14) F_(u v w) 3 13 3(15)

F_(2) extended Jacobs polynomial 7.4 1(1) F(w 4) incomplete elliptic integral of the first kind 10 4(43)

fla b c z) 37(14) f(a e =) 44(10)

G(a b c z) 3 11 2(2)

G(a c z) 462(2) Gi(n p) Coulomb wave function 6 2 6(3)

$$G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{ccc} a_1 & a_2 & a_p \\ b_1 & b_2 & b_q \end{array}\right) = G_{p,q}^{m,n}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{ccc} a_p \\ b_q \end{array}\right)$$

$$= G_{p,q}^{m,n}(z) \text{ Menjer } z \text{ } G \text{ function } 52(1)$$

$$G_{p,q}^{n,a}\left(z\left|\begin{array}{c}a_{p}\\b_{k}&b_{k}^{*}\end{array}\right)\operatorname{sec}_{p}F_{q}\left(\begin{array}{c}1+a_{p}-\rho_{k}\\1+\rho_{k}-\rho_{k}^{*}\end{array}\right|z\right)$$

G(1(2 | a) 5 7(6) Gla b c z) 3 11 2(3)

G(a c z) 462(3) "E (a) 2 11(28) Es(a b c z) 3 11 2(5)

z (a b c z) 3 11 2(6) g(a c a) 462(5) g(a b c z) 3 11 2(4)

g(a c z) 462(4)

н

H_a(x) Hermite polynomial 8 1(34) H. (2) 57(13) H., (2) an associated Bessel function

6 2 9(26) $H_s^{(i)}(z)$ $H_s^{(i)}(z)$ Hankel functions of the

first and second kinds respectively 6.2 7(10)

H.(a) Strave function 6.2.9(3) *(F(t) v v) Hankel transform 8 4 1(11) July 2 11(22)

h. .(a) an associated Bessel function. 6 2 9(25)

I_a(a b) incomplete beta function 6.2.1(18) L(z) modified Bessel function of the first

kind 6 2 7(2) s" erfc(x) repeated integral of the comple mentary error function 62 [1(34)

L(z) Bessel function of the first kind, 627(1)

L(a) Anger's function 6 2 9(6) Ja ,(z) fractional or repeated integral of L(a) 6 2 10(6)

K

K. (a) 5 11 1(19) K. (z) fractional or repeated integral of L.(a) 15 5(2)

K,(x) mod fied Bessel function of the second kind 6.2.7(8)

K(k), complete elliptic integral of the first kind, 6.2.5(1) $\ker_{\nu}(z)$, $\ker_{\nu}(z)$, $\ker_{\nu}(z)$, 6.2.7(48) $\ker_{\nu}(z)$, 2.11(25)

L

 $L_{p,q}(z), L_{p,q}^{(t)}(z), 5.11.1(7)$ $L_n^{(q)}(x), \text{ Laguerre polynomial, } 8.1(33)$ $L_p(z), \text{ modified Struve function, } 6.2.9(5)$ $\mathcal{L}_{p+2,q}^{(q_1)}(z), 7.4.4(1)$ $\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{p+1,q}^{(q_1)}(z), 7.4.6(5)$

M

$$M_k = M_k \left(p, q + 1 \mid \begin{array}{c} 1 - \alpha_p \\ 0, 1 - \rho_q \end{array} \right), 5.11.5(1)$$

 $M_{k,m}(z)$, Whittaker's confluent hypergeometric function, 4.9(1)

N

$$N_k = N_k \left(p, q \mid \frac{\alpha_p}{\rho_q} \right), 5.11.5(1)$$

$$N^{\beta} = n(n+\lambda), 7.4.1(2)$$

n!, factorial function, 2,1(5)

o

O, order symbol, 1.1(1) o, order symbol, 1.1(2)

P

 $P_n(x)$, Legendre polynomial, 8.1(28) $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$, Jacobi polynomial, 8.1(25) $P_\nu^{\mu}(z)$, associated Legendre function of the first kind, 6.2,3(1)

Q

 $Q_{\nu}^{\mu}(z)$, associated Legendre function of the second kind, 6.2.3(2)

ŀ

 $R_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$, shifted Jacobi polynomial, 8.1(26) $R(h,\lambda) = R_{p,q}^{m,n}(h,\lambda)$, 5.9.2(17)

S

 $S_{\mu,\nu}(z)$, Lommel function, 6.2.9(2) Si(z), sine integral, 6.2.11(19) $Si(\alpha, z)$, 6.2.11(4) S(z), Fresnel integral, 6.2.11(39) $s_{\mu,\nu}(z)$, Lommel function, 6.2.9(1) si(z), sine integral, 6.2.11(25) sn(x, k), Jacobi's elliptic function, 10.5(18)

T $T_n(x)$, Chebyshev polynomial of the first

kind, 8.1(29) $T_n^*(x)$, shifted Chebyshev polynomial of the first kind, 8.1(30) $T_{p,q}^{m,n} \left(z \begin{vmatrix} 1, 1 + \tau_q - \tau_2 \\ 1 + \sigma_p - \tau_2 \end{vmatrix}\right)$, 5.1(23) T(z), 3.10(5)

U

 $T(l, \lambda) = T_{n,a}^{m,n}(l, \lambda), 5.9.2(18)$

 $U_n(x)$, Chebyshev polynomial of the second kind, 8.1(31) $U_n^*(x)$, shifted Chebyshev polynomial of the second kind, 8.1(32) U(z), 3.10(8)

V

V(z), 3.10(1)

W

 $W_{k,m}(z)$, Whittaker's confluent hyper-

geometric function, 4.9(2) $W_{\nu}(z)$, function used to represent any of the Bessel functions of the first three kinds or the modified Bessel functions of the first and second kind, 6.2.7(16)

 $W\{u(z), v(z)\}\$, Wronskian, 6.2.7(26) W(z), 3.10(3)

Y

 $Y_{\nu}(z)$, Bessel function of the second kind, 6.2.7(5)

Greek Letters

8 a parameter used in connection with .F. λ a parameter used in connection with Isonbi and extended Isonbi polynomials to denote a + 1 - p 5 11 1(5) to denote a + 3 + 1 8 2(1)

1" (k) 5 11 1(14)

I'(a a) complementary incomplete gamma function 6.2.11(2)

I'(a) marraria function 2 ((1) y Euler-Mascheron; constant 21(14) See also Chapter XVII Table 1 In the literature this is often referred to as

simply Euler's constant v(a z) uncomplete gamms function

62.15(1) A" 3(1) 4(1) 592(1)

 $\delta = zD = zd dz$ a derivative operator 5 ... Kronecker delta function 8 1(6)

a narameter used in connection with G. (a) 5 7(2) e, a parameter such that e, = 1 if

n - 0 = 2 if n > 0Ux) Remann zeta function 2 10 1(7)

e a narameter used in connection with $G_{n,r}^{m,r}(z)$ to denote $\frac{2}{3}q - \frac{1}{4}p - m - n + 2$

5 7(1) $\theta(l, r) = \theta_{*}^{m, r}(l, r) \quad \theta(l, r) = \theta_{*}^{m, r}(l, r)$ 59 2(14)

x = x + iy $i = (-)^{1/2}$ is a complex number x and y real x = x - iy

R(z) = x = real part of zI(z) = y = imaginary part of z $|z| = absolute value of z |z| - (x^2 + y^3)^{1/2}$ are x = argument of x tan(arg x) = v/xin z = principal value of the natural

togarithm of a in z = in | z | + sarg z - n < arg z < n ze = enan with in a defined as above $(a)_k = I(a + k)/I(a)$ see 2 1(7)

 $\binom{m}{n}$ = binomial coefficient = m! [n!(m-n)!] 2,1(11)m as in A " (z) usually means d"A(z)/dz" $eg \phi^{m}(z) = d^{m} \psi(z)/dz^{m}$

» a parameter used in connection with

G" (2) to denote a - m - n 57(1) e a parameter used in connection with

 $G_{n,n}^{m,n}(x)$ to denote $m+n-\frac{1}{2}(p+q)$ 5 7(1) or a parameter used in connection with

G. (2) to denote a - p 5 7(1) r a parameter used in connection with

 $G_{-}^{m}(z)$ to denote m + n - n = 5.7(1)P(a e z) confluent hypergrometric func tion 44(4)

 $\Phi(h, \lambda) = \Phi^{**}(h, \lambda) \Phi(h, \lambda) = \Phi^{**}(h, \lambda)$ 5 9 2(15)

ψ(a c x) confluent hypergeometric function 4 2(7)

 $\phi(h, \lambda) = \phi_{\bullet}^{\bullet}(h, \lambda) \ \phi(h, \lambda) = \phi_{\bullet}^{\bullet}(h, \lambda)$ 592(16)

ψ(z) logarithmic derivative of the gamma function 2.4(1)

 $\Omega(k) = \Omega^{m} \tilde{J}(k) \ \tilde{D}(k) = \tilde{\Omega}^{m} \tilde{J}(k) \ 5.9.2(5)$

Muscellaneous Notations

[x] = largest integer contained in <math>x = 0 $(-)^a = (-1)^a$ is an integer of zero p v I means Cauchy principal value of an integral

~ means asymptotic equality see [2(6) This symbol is sometimes used to denote approximate equality e.g. #~314

 $\alpha_s = \prod_{i=1}^s \alpha_i$ and $(\alpha_s)_k = \prod_{i=1}^s (\alpha_i)_s$ are frequently used in connection with generalized hypergeometric functions and G-functions

* as in $_{p}F_{r}\left(\begin{array}{c}a_{p}\\1+p_{0}-p_{1}\end{array}\middle|z\right)h=0$ i means to omit the parameter 1 + pr - pa

when I - h Also la - all stands for $\prod_{i=1}^{n} a_i (\alpha_i - \alpha_i)$ etc

Miscellaneous Notations (cont.)

d as in 6d means six decimals s as in 7s means seven significant figures. The notation x = 0(0.2) 2.0, for example, is used in connection with the description of tabular data and means that data are given for x from 0 to 2.0 in gaps of 0.2

A number in parentheses following a base numerical number indicates the power of ten by which the base number is to be multiplied. In illustration, 2.35786(-3) means 2.35786 · 10⁻³

SUBJECT INDEX

The following index is for Volume I only Volume II has a cumulative Subject Index for both volumes.

•

Aury functions 205 217 see also Bessel functions Anger function, 218

Approximation, best in Chebyshev sense 303 305

in least square sense 270 in mean square sense 268 305

Associated Bessel function, 219
Asymptotic expansion, see Chapter I
I 7 modifiers such as gamma func

tion, asymptotic expansion definition, 2

elementary properties, 3 4 Warson's lemma, 4-7

Basse series 291

Ber and bei functions, 216
Bernoulli and generalized Bernoulli
polynomials

definition and elementary properties 18-22 Forum stress for B.(v) 23

Fourier series for $B_a(x)$ 23 integrals of 22, 23 recurrence formulas, 20 22, 35 table of B2 (x) 19

of B_a(x) 20 of B_a^(x)(s) 34 Bernoulls numbers

deficution 19
expension of cot z tan z esc z and
ln cos z in teries involving 23

cable of 20

Bessel functions associated, 219

asymptotic expansions 204 215 confluent hypergeometric function, connection with 130 135 213

definitions, connecting relations, power

series, 39 40 212, 213 derivatives with respect to order at half an odd integer 216

had an odd integer 216 difference-differential properties, 48 214

differential equations, (20 214 expansion of exponential function in series of 287

G functions, connection with, 226-233 integrals involving, 115 165 177 219 220 287

Jacobi polynomial connection with 52 products, 216 223-230 237 234

Wronskians, 214 215 zeros of 205 Bessel polynomials, 274

Bessel polynomials, 274 Beta function complete 15 16 18

incomplete 210 Beta transform 58 59 170-175 286

Binomial coefficient 9 35 Binomial function, 38 40 49 709 210

•

Chebyshev best approximation in sense of 303 Chebrshev polynomials of first kind, see

also Jacobs polynomials
approximations in series of (based on

orthogonality properties with respect D to summation), 308-312 D Operator, 24-26 definition and basic properties, 273, 296, Darboux, method of generating functions, 297, 300, 301 254-259 difference-differential properties, 297-Delta (δ) operator, 24-26 299, 301, 302, 316, 321, 324 Difference equations, use of in backward evaluation of series of, by use of backdirection, 317-319, 325-329 ward recurrence formula, 325-329 Dixon's theorem, 103, 104 expansions in series of (based on orthogonality property with respect to E integration) asymptotic estimate of coefficients E-Function, 148 293-296 Elliptic integrals, 211 evaluation of coefficients, 286-293 Error functions, 135, 223, 224 differential and integral properties, Euler-Mascheroni constant, y, 9 314-325 Expansions, see also particular functions expansion of $x^m T_n(x)$ in series of, 298 evaluation of, in series of functions where of $x^m T_n^*(x)$ in series of, 301 functions satisfy a linear finite of a $_{p}F_{q}$ in series of, 296 difference equation, 325-329 integrals involving, 293-295, 299, Exponential function, 38, 40, 48, 209, 287, 300-302, 316-325 Jacobi polynomial, connection with, Exponential integral, 3, 7, 135, 221, 222 273, 296 minimax and mean square properties, F 303-307 orthogonality property with respect to Fresnel integrals, 135, 224, 227 integration, 273, 299, 301 summation, 307, 310, 311 G Chebyshev polynomials of second kind, see also Jacobi polynomials G-Function, see Chapter V, 135-208 approximations in series of (based on analytic continuation, 148, 149, 194 orthogonality properties with respect asymptotic expansion to summation), 312-314 exponential, recurrence formula for definition and basic properties, 273, coefficients in, 200, 202, 205-208 296-300 large variable, 178-180, 189-194 integrals involving, 299, 300 definition, 139, 142-145 Jacobi polynomial, connection with, 273 differential equation and solutions, 181, orthogonality property with respect to integration, 299 elementary properties, 149-152 summation, 312, 313 expansion of in series of Christoffel-Darboux formulas, 272 G-functions, 147, 148, 152-157, Confluence principle and theorems, 48-57 183-189 Confluent hypergeometric function, see generalized hypergeometric func-Hypergeometric function (confluent) tions, 139, 142, 145-147 Cosine, 23, 39, 210 hypergeometric functions and named Cosecunt, 23, 210 functions, connection with, 225-234 Cosine integral, 135, 221-223, 227 integral representations, 59, 143-145, Cotangent, 23 159, 164-175, 177 Coulomb wave functions, 135, 212 integrals involving Cylinder function, 204, 213 Euler and related transforms, 170-177

Fourier transform 166 169 Laplace and inverse Laplace transforms 166-169

forms 166–169
Mell n and inverse Mellin transforms
147 159

157 159
other transform pa is 177
product of two G functions 159-166
mult plication theorems 152 157

named functions expressed in terms of 225 230 Gamma function see Chapter II 8-37

Incomplete gamma funct on analytic continuation 10 11

eaymptotic expansion $\Gamma(z) \text{ and in } \Gamma(z) \text{ 31-33}$

ratio of products of gamma functions 33 37

recurrence formula for coefficients in asymptotic expansion for ratio of products of gamma functions 205-208

definite integrals expressed in terms of 15 16 60 61 157 177

definition and elementary properties: 8-10

expansion for Γ(z) and in Γ(z) in series of Chebyshev polynomials of first kind 28 29 integral representations 8 14–18

logarithmic derivative of see Psi function milt plication formula 11 12 power series and other expans ons, 26-31 Gegenbauer polynomial 273 279

H

H Transform 165 Hankel functions 135 204 213 215 230 234

Hankel transform 165 287

Hermite polynomials 135 273

Hypergeometric function (confluent) ₁F₁

₂-function Whitaker functions see

Chapter IV 115-134 G-Function

Hypergeometric function (Gaussian)

"Fi Hypergeometric function (gener
alized) "Fi Incomplete gamma
function and related functions
asymptotic expansion

large parameter(s) 129 133 134

iarge variable 127 128 confluence principle 48 confluence principle 48 confluence 48 118 119 126 definition 40 47 49 difference-differential properties 48

difference-differential properties 4 117 119 125 126 differential equation 119 120

solutions (2) 124

complete 121 124 degenerate 120 121 logarathmuc 122 123

ordinary 119
elementary relations 117 118
evaluation of certain ,F₁ for special

value of argument, 113 expansion in series of Bessel functions 129-133

129-133
expressed as asmed function 224
G-function connection with 225 226

228 231 234
integral representations 115 117

Kuntmer representations 121 124-126 named functions expressed in terms of 2ff 2f3 220-223

other notations and related functions 134 135

products 211 228 233 234 Wronskians 124

Hypergeometric function (Gaussian) ,F, see Chapter III 38-114 Hypergeometric function (generalized) ,F, analytic continuation 68-71

asymptotic expansions for large para meter(s) 235-242 confluence principle 49 cont guous relations 47 89

convergence of series 65 68 definition 39 41 difference differential properties 44-47 88 275 276

differential equation 64 93 solutions complete 65 72-84

degenerate 65 66 69 77-84 logarathmic 75-84 ordinary 64 65 67 71

elementary relations 44-46
evaluation of for apecial values of
argument 99 103 114

expansion in series of 1F1 s 130

expressed as named function, 224 integral representations, 58-63 G-function, connection with, 139 integrals involving, 58-62, 164, 168, 169 integrals involving, 170, 172-174 multiplication theorem, 155 integral representations, 57, 58, 62, 63, named functions expressed in terms of, 209-224 89-91 Kummer relations, 67, 68, 85-92 nearly poised, 103 named functions expressed in terms of, polynomial, 42 truncated series, 42, 210 209-211 well poised, 103, 104 polynomial, 40 quadratic transformations, 92-98 truncated series, 42, 109, 110 Ι Wronskians, 84 Hypergeometric function (generalized), Incomplete gamma function and related _nF_a, see Chapters III (38-114), IV functions, 38, 40, 135, 220-224 (115–134), V (135–208); G-functions; Integrals, see appropriate modifiers such special cases of $_{p}F_{\sigma}$ as Bessel functions, integrals involving analytic continuation, 149 asymptotic expansion exponential, recurrence formula for J coefficients in, 200, 202, 205-208 large parameter(s), 51, 55, 56, 133, Jacobi function, 274 242-266 Jacobi polynomials large variable, 195-203 asymptotic expansion for large order, confluence principle and theorems, 49, 53, 54, 237, 250-259, 278, 279 51, 53-56 Bessel function, connection with, 52 contiguous relations, 48 definition and basic properties, 273convergence of series, 43, 44 275, 280 definition, 41, 42, 136 difference-differential properties, 275, difference-differential properties, 44, 48 276 differential equation, 136-138, 247 expansion of functions in series of, solutions 283-286, 290-293 complete, 147, 148 of x^{ρ} in series of, 277, 284, 285, 291 logarithmic, 140-143 of $x^{\mu}e^{zx}$ in series of, 285, 287 ordinary, 137-139 extended and generalized elementary relations, 44 asymptotic expansion for large order, evaluation of certain 2F2 for special 53, 54, 247-263, 281-283 values of argument, 113 definition, 247 evaluation of p+1 F_p for special values expansion of functions in series of, 291 of argument generating function, 254 general p, 26, 113, 114, 257-259 evaluation and estimation of coefficients p = 3, 112–114 of given f(x) when expanded in p = 2, 103-111, 113, 259series of, 286-296 p = 1, 99, 101, 102, 114asymptotic estimates of coefficients, expansion in series of Chebyshev 293 polynomials of first kind, 296 coefficients expansion theorem for large parameter, as integral transform, 286-290 51, 55, 56 when f(x) is defined by Taylor expressed as named function, 224, 225 series, 290-293 G-function, connection with, 139, 142, generating functions, 254, 278 145-147, 225, 230, 231 inequalities, 280

integrals involving 276–277 281 282, 286 orthogonal polynomials connection with other 273

other 273 orthogonality property 276

v

K Transform, 165
Ker and ke functions 216
Kontorovich-Lebedev transforms 177
Kummer's formula 57
Kumme s solutions 67

L

Laguerre polynom al asymptotic expans on for large order 264-265

confluent hypergeometric function con nection with 135 definition and orthogonality property

definition and orthogonality property 273 expansion of functions a series of 291

292 generalized and extended

asymptotic espans on for large order 263-266 definition 263 expans on of functions in series of

291 292

Jacobi polynomial connection with 273

Legendre functions 178 211

Legendre polynomials, 273 279

Logarthm, 38 40 210 Lommel functions 217 227 234

R.C

Mehler transforms 178

N

Named functions expressed as G-functions 225-230 as F. s. 209-224 O

Order symbols 1 Orthogonal functions 267 270 Orthogonal polynomials see Chapter VIII

267 329 Jacob polynomials, Cheby shev polynomials class cal, orthogonal properties of 273

class cal orthogonal properties of 213 definition and bas c properties 267 272

-

Parabolic cylinder functions 135 212

P (st) asymp one expansion for 35 36

Polynomials, see modifiers such as Bessel orthogonal

p-funct on see Hypergeometric function (confluent) F

p-function White ker functions

| F | Fine Const. | Fine Const. | Fine Const. |

p-function | Fine Const. |

Par (4)-function or logarithmic derivative

of the gamma function asymptotic expans on, 33 defin tion and elementary properties

12, 13
expansion in series of Chebyshev
polynomials of the first kind 28 29

polynomials of the first kind 28 2 integral representations, 13-15 28 power series expans on 26

R

Recurrence formulas use of in backward direction, 317 319 325-329

5

Saalschütz a formula 103 Sinc 39 210

Sine integral 135 221 223 227 Stokes phenomenon 128 199 Strice functions

asymptotic expans on 219

definition 217 difference-differential properties 218 expressed as G-function, 227 233 integrals involving 165 220 T

Tangent, 23 inverse of or arc tan, 38, 40, 210

U

Ultraspherical polynomial, 273, 279

v

Vandermonde's theorem, 99

W

Watson's formula, 104 Watson's lemma, 4-7 Weber function, 218
Whipple's formula, 104
Whittaker functions, see also Hypergeometric function, confluent definition, 134
expressed as G-function, 225, 226, 228,

231, 233, 234 Wronskians, 84, 124

Y

Y-Transform, 165

Z

Zeta-function (Riemann), 27

Mathematics in Science and Engineering

A Series of Monographs and Textbooks

Edited by RICHARD BELLMAN, University of Southern California

- 1 TRACY Y THOMAS Concents from Tensor Analysis and Differential Geometry Second Edition 1965
- 2 Tearr V THOMAS, Planter Flow and Fracture in Solide 1961
- 3 Retruction Acts. The Optimal Design of Chemical Reactors. A Study in Dynamic Programming 1961
- 4 JOSEPH LASALER and SOLOMON LEPSCHETZ Stability by Lapponov's Direct Method with Applications 1967
- 5 Grover Lerrycenn (ed.) Ontomization Techniques. With Applications to Aerospace Systems, 1962
- 6 Ricition Relevant and Konnery L. Court Differential Difference Educations 1963
- 7 Farmy & Harrier Mathematical Theorems of Tradia Claw 1061
- 8 F V Ayringon Discrete and Contingons Boundary Problems, 1964
- A JEFFREY and T Tanton Non Linear Wave Propagation With Applications to Physics and Magnetohydrodynamics 1961 JULIUS T TOU Optimum Design of Digital Control Systems 1963 10
- HARLEY FLANDERS Differential Forms. With Applications to the Physical Sciences. 11
- 1963 12 Sanyoup M. Rosents, Dynamic Programming in Chemical Engineering and Process
 - Control 1964
- 13 SOLOMON LEPSCHETZ Stability of Nonlinear Control Systems 1965
- 14 DIMITRIS N CHORAGAS Systems and Simulation 1965
- 15 A. A. PERVOZVANSKII. Random Processes in Nanlinear Cantrol Systems, 1965. 36 MARSHALL C. PEASE, III, Methods of Matrix Aleebra 1965
- 17 V. E. BENES Mathematical Theory of Connecting Networks and Telephone Traffic 1065
- 28 WILLIAM F AMES Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations in Engineering 1965 19 I Aczer, Lectures on Functional Equations and Their Applications, 1966
- 20 R E. MURPHY Adaptive Processes in Economic Systems, 1965
- 21 S E DERYPLS Dynamic Programming and the Calculus of Variations 1965
- 22 A A Fel'phat m Optimal Control Systems 1965
- 23 A HALANAY Differential Equations Stability Oscillations, Time Lags, 1966
- 71 M NAMIK OCCUTORELI Time-Luc Control Systems, 1966
- 25 DAYID SWORDER Optimal Adaptive Control Systems 1966
- 26 Militon Asia Optimal Shutdown Control of Nuclear Reactors, 1966
- 27 DIMITRIS N. CHORAFAS. Control System Functions and Programming Approaches (In Two Volumes) 1966
- 22 N P ERLCTV Linear Systems of Ordinary Differential Equations. 1966
- 29 SOLOMON MARCIS Algebrase Linguistics, Analytical Models 1967 30 A M LASTINGS Stability of Motion, 1966.

- 31. George Leitmann (ed.). Topics in Optimization. 1967
- 32. MASANAO AOKI. Optimization of Stochastic Systems. 1967
- 33. HAROLD J. KUSHNER. Stochastic Stability and Control. 1967
- 34. MINORU URABE. Nonlinear Autonomous Oscillations. 1967
- 35. F. CALOGERO. Variable Phase Approach to Potential Scattering. 1967
- 36. A. KAUFMANN. Graphs, Dynamic Programming, and Finite Games. 1967
- A. Kaufmann and R. Cruon. Dynamic Programming: Sequential Scientific Management. 1967
- J. H. Ahlberg, E. N. Nilson, and J. L. Walsh. The Theory of Splines and Their Applications. 1967
- 39. Y. SAWARAGI, Y. SUNAHARA, and T. NAKAMIZO. Statistical Decision Theory in Adaptive Control Systems. 1967
- RICHARD BELLMAN. Introduction to the Mathematical Theory of Control Processes Volume I. 1967 (Volumes II and III in preparation)
- 41. E. STANLEY LEE. Quasilinearization and Invariant Imbedding. 1968
- 42. WILLIAM AMES. Nonlinear Ordinary Differential Equations in Transport Processes.

 1968
- 43. WILLARD MILLER, JR. Lie Theory and Special Functions. 1968
- 44. PAUL B. BAILEY, LAWRENCE F. SHAMPINE, and PAUL E. WALTMAN. Nonlinear Two Point Boundary Value Problems. 1968
- 45. IU. P. Petrov. Variational Methods in Optimum Control Theory. 1968
- O. A. LADYZHENSKAYA and N. N. URAL'TSEVA. Linear and Quasilinear Elliptic Equations. 1968
- 47. A. KAUFMANN and R. FAURE. Introduction to Operations Research. 1968
- 48. C. A. Swanson. Comparison and Oscillation Theory of Linear Differential Equations. 1968
- 49. ROBERT HERMANN. Differential Geometry and the Calculus of Variations. 1968
- 50. N. K. JAISWAL. Priority Queues. 1968
- 51. HUKUKANE NIKAIDO. Convex Structures and Economic Theory. 1968
- 52. K. S. Fu. Sequential Methods in Pattern Recognition and Machine Learning. 1968
- YUDELL LUKE. The Special Functions and Their Approximations (In Two Volumes). 1968
- ROBERT P. GILBERT. Function Theoretic Methods in the Theory of Partial Differential Equations.

In preparation

V. LAKSHMIKANTHAM and S. LEELA, Differential and Integral Inequalities

Masao Int. Network Flow, Transportation, and Scheduling: Theory and Algorithms

S. HENRY HERMES and JOSEPH P. LASALLE. Functional Analysis and Time Optimal Control